
REVISED 
 
 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT BOARD MEETING/ 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

AGENDA 

Monday, January 27, 2020 

Regular Meeting ‐ 7:00 P.M. 
 

Union Sanitary District 
Administration Building 

5072 Benson Road 
Union City, CA 94587 

Directors 

Manny Fernandez 

Tom Handley 

Pat Kite 

Anjali Lathi 

Jennifer Toy 

 

 

Officers 

Paul R. Eldredge 

General Manager/ 

District Engineer 

 

Karen W. Murphy 

Attorney 

1. Call to Order.   
 

 

2.  Salute to the Flag. 
   

 

3.  Roll Call. 
 

 

Motion  4.  Approve Minutes of the Union Sanitary District Board Meeting of January 13, 2020. 
 

 

Motion  5.  Approve  Minutes  of  the  Union  Sanitary  District  Special  Board  Meeting  of               
January 14, 2020. 
 

 

Information  6.  December 2019 Monthly Operations Report (to be reviewed by the Budget & Finance 
and Legal/Community Affairs Committees). 
 

 

  7.  Written Communications. 
 

 

8.  Public Comment. 
  Public Comment is limited to three minutes per individual, with a maximum of 30 minutes per subject.  

If the comment relates to an agenda item, the speaker should address the Board at the time the item 
is considered.  Speaker cards will be available in the Boardroom and are requested to be completed 
prior to the start of the meeting. 
 

 

Motion  9.  Consider a Board Resolution of the Union Sanitary District to Authorize the Issuance 
of Not to Exceed $70,000,000 Revenue Bonds by the Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority, Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents in Connection 
Therewith and Authorizing Certain Other Actions  (to be  reviewed by  the Budget & 
Finance Committee). 

 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
USDFA Info  10.  Presentation of Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement and Report by Executive Director 

Regarding Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (to be reviewed by the Budget 
& Finance Committee). 
 

 

USDFA Motion  11.  Consider Appointment of General Counsel of  the Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority (to be reviewed by the Budget & Finance Committee). 
 

 

1 of 567



REVISED 
USDFA Motion  12.  Consider Adoption  of  the Union  Sanitary District’s Conflict  of  Interest Code, Debt 

Management  Policy  and  Investment  Policy  as  such  Codes  and  Policies  of  Union 
Sanitary  District  Financing  Authority  (to  be  reviewed  by  the  Budget  &  Finance 
Committee). 
 

 

USDFA Motion  13.  Consider  a Board Resolution  of  the Union  Sanitary District  Financing Authority  to 
Authorize the Issuance of Not to Exceed $70,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of 
Revenue  Bonds  and  Approving  Certain  Documents  in  Connection  Therewith  and 
Certain Other Matters (to be reviewed by the Budget & Finance Committee). 

Motion  14.  Consider  a  Resolution  to  Accept  the  Construction  of  the  Primary  Digester  No.  3 
Rehabilitation Project  from Monterey Mechanical Company  (to be  reviewed by  the 
Engineering and Information Technology Committee).  
 

 

Motion  15.  Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Carollo Engineers, 
Inc.  for  the Primary Digester No. 7 Project  (to be  reviewed by  the Engineering and 
Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Motion  16.  Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 3 with Brown and Caldwell 
for  the  Primary  Digester  No.  7  Project  (to  be  reviewed  by  the  Engineering  and 
Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Motion  17.  Award the Construction Contract for the Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation 
Project  to  C.  Overaa  &  Co.  (to  be  reviewed  by  the  Engineering  and  Information 
Technology Committee). 
 

 

Information  18.  Update on the Subsurface Investigation at the Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant 
(to be reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Information  19.  Solar and Cogeneration Facilities Operational Update (to be reviewed by the Budget & 
Finance Committee). 
 

 

Information  20.  Boardmember  Expenses,  Second Quarter  Fiscal  Year  2020  (to  be  reviewed  by  the 
Budget & Finance Committee). 
 

 

Information  21.  Cal‐Card  2nd  Quarter  Activity  Report  (to  be  reviewed  by  the  Budget  &  Finance 
Committee). 
 

 

Information  22.  Report on the East Bay Dischargers Authority (EBDA) Meeting of December 19, 2019. 
 

 

Information  23.  Check Register. 
 

 

Information  24.  Committee Meeting Reports. (No Board action is taken at Committee meetings):  
a. Legal/Community Affairs Committee – Thursday, January 23, 2020, at 12:00 p.m. 

 Director Fernandez and Director Handley 

b. Budget & Finance Committee – Thursday, January 23, 2020, at 12:30 p.m. 

 Director Kite Director Toy and Director Lathi 

c. Engineering and Information Technology Committee – Friday, January 24, 2020, at 10:00 a.m. 

 Director Toy and Director Fernandez 

2 of 567



REVISED 
d. Personnel Committee – will not meet. 

e. Legislative Committee – will not meet. 

f. Audit Committee – will not meet. 
 

 

Information   25.   General Manager’s Report. (Information on recent issues of interest to the Board). 
 

 

26.    Other Business: 
a.  Comments and questions. Directors can share information relating to District business and are 

welcome to request information from staff. 
b.  Scheduling matters for future consideration.  
 
 

 

27.  Adjournment  –  The  Board  will  adjourn  to  a  Board  Workshop  in  the  Alvarado 
Conference Room on Wednesday, January 29, 2020, at 5:30 p.m. 
 

 

28.  Adjournment – The Board will then adjourn to the next Regular Board Meeting in the 
Boardroom on Monday, February 10, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. 
 

The facilities at the District Offices are wheelchair accessible.  Any attendee requiring special accommodations at the 
meeting should contact the General Manager’s office at (510) 477‐7503 at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

3 of 567



 

 

 

 
 

 

LEGAL/COMMUNITY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE MEETING  

Committee Members:  Director Fernandez and Director Handley 

 

AGENDA 

Thursday, January 23, 2020 

12:00 P.M. 

 

Alvarado Conference Room 

5072 Benson Road 

Union City, CA 94587 
 

Directors 

Manny Fernandez 

Tom Handley 

Pat Kite 

Anjali Lathi 

Jennifer Toy 

 

 

Officers 

Paul R. Eldredge 

General Manager/ 

District Engineer 

 

Karen W. Murphy 

Attorney 

 
1.    Call to Order 

 

 

2.  Roll Call 
 

 

3.  Public Comment 
Public Comment is limited to three minutes per individual, with a maximum of 30 minutes per subject.  If 
the comment relates to an agenda item, the speaker should address the Board at the time the item is 
considered.  Speaker cards will be available and are requested to be completed prior to the start of the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.  Items to be reviewed for the Regular Board meeting of January 27, 2020: 

 December Monthly Operations Report – Odor and Work Group Reports 
 

 

5.  Adjournment 
 

Items reviewed at committee meetings will be included in the agenda packet for the upcoming Board meeting.  

No action will be taken at committee meetings. 

 

The facilities at the District Offices are wheelchair accessible.  Any attendee requiring special accommodations at 
the meeting should contact the General Manager’s office at (510) 477‐7503 at least 24 hours in advance of the 

meeting. 

4 of 567



REVISED 

 

 

 

BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING  

Committee Members:  Director Kite and Director Lathi and 

Director Toy 

 

AGENDA 

Thursday, January 23, 2020 

12:30 P.M. 

 

Alvarado Conference Room 

5072 Benson Road 

Union City, CA 94587 
 

Directors 

Manny Fernandez 

Tom Handley 

Pat Kite 

Anjali Lathi 

Jennifer Toy 

 

 

Officers 

Paul R. Eldredge 

General Manager/ 

District Engineer 

 

Karen W. Murphy 

Attorney 

1.    Call to Order 
 

 

2.  Roll Call 
 

 

3.  Public Comment 
Public Comment is limited to three minutes per individual, with a maximum of 30 minutes per subject.  If 
the comment relates to an agenda item, the speaker should address the Board at the time the item is 
considered.  Speaker cards will be available and are requested to be completed prior to the start of the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.  Items to be reviewed for the Regular Board meeting of January 27, 2020: 

 December 2019 Monthly Operations Report – Financial Reports 

 Consider a Board Resolution of the Union Sanitary District to Authorize the 
Issuance of Not to Exceed $70,000,000 Revenue Bonds by the Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority, Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of Certain 
Documents in Connection Therewith and Authorizing Certain Other Actions 

 Presentation of Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement and Report by Executive 
Director Regarding Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 

 Consider Appointment of General Counsel of the Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority 

 Consider Adoption of the Union Sanitary District’s Conflict of Interest Code, Debt 
Management Policy and Investment Policy as such Codes and Policies of Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority 

 Solar and Cogeneration Facilities Operational Update 

 Boardmember Expenses, Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2020 

 Cal‐Card 2nd Quarter Activity Report 

 General Manager’s Expense Reimbursement 
 

 

5.  Adjournment 
 

Items reviewed at committee meetings will be included in the agenda packet for the upcoming Board meeting.  

No action will be taken at committee meetings. 

 

The facilities at the District Offices are wheelchair accessible.  Any attendee requiring special accommodations at 
the meeting should contact the General Manager’s office at (510) 477‐7503 at least 24 hours in advance of the 

meeting. 

5 of 567



 

 

 

 
 

 

ENGINEERING AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE MEETING  

Committee Members:  Director Toy and Director Fernandez 

 

AGENDA 

Friday, January 24, 2020 

10:00 A.M. 

 

Alvarado Conference Room 

5072 Benson Road 

Union City, CA 94587 
 

Directors 

Manny Fernandez 

Tom Handley 

Pat Kite 

Anjali Lathi 

Jennifer Toy 

 

 

Officers 

Paul R. Eldredge 

General Manager/ 

District Engineer 

 

Karen W. Murphy 

Attorney 

 
1.    Call to Order 

 

 

2.  Roll Call 
 

 

3.  Public Comment 
Public Comment is limited to three minutes per individual, with a maximum of 30 minutes per subject.   
If the comment relates to an agenda item, the speaker should address the Board at the time the item is 
considered.  Speaker cards will be available and are requested to be completed prior to the start of the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.  Items to be reviewed for the Regular Board meeting of January 27, 2020: 

 Consider  a  Resolution  to  Accept  the  Construction  of  the  Primary  Digester  No.  3 
Rehabilitation Project from Monterey Mechanical Company 

 Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Carollo Engineers, Inc. 
for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project 

 Award  the  Construction  Contract  for  the  Alvarado  Influent  Valve  Box  Rehabilitation 
Project to C. Overaa & Co. 

 Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 3 with Brown and Caldwell for 
the Primary Digester No. 7 Project 

 Update on the Subsurface Investigation at the Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant 
 

 

5.  Adjournment 
 

Items reviewed at committee meetings will be included in the agenda packet for the upcoming Board meeting.  

No action will be taken at committee meetings. 

 

The facilities at the District Offices are wheelchair accessible.  Any attendee requiring special accommodations at 
the meeting should contact the General Manager’s office at (510) 477‐7503 at least 24 hours in advance of the 

meeting. 

6 of 567



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

January 13, 2020 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
President Toy called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
SALUTE TO THE FLAG 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
 
PRESENT: Jennifer Toy, President  

Tom Handley, Vice President 
Pat Kite, Secretary 
Anjali Lathi, Director 
Manny Fernandez, Director 

 
STAFF: Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 

Karen Murphy, District Counsel  
  Sami Ghossain, Technical Services Manager 

Armando Lopez, Treatment and Disposal Services Manager 
James Schofield, Collection Services Manager 
Robert Simonich, Fabrication, Maintenance, and Construction Manager 
Laurie Brenner, Business Services Coach 
Shawn Nesgis, Collection Services Coach 
Jose Rodrigues, Collection Services Coach 
Ric Pipkin, Enhanced Treatment and Site Upgrade Program Manager 
Curtis Bosick, Enhanced Treatment and Site Upgrade Assistant Program Manager 
Blake Ehlers, Assistant Engineer 
Regina McEvoy, Executive Assistant to the General Manager/Board Clerk 

 
VISITORS:   Roelle Balan, Tri-City Voice Newspaper  
  Marc Solomon, Hazen and Sawyer 
  Irene Chu, Hazen and Sawyer 
  Dave Richardson, Woodard & Curran 
  Jeff Naff, C. Overaa & Co.  
  Paul Casinelli, C. Overaa & Co.  
  Patricia Haskin, C. Overaa & Co. 
  Douglas Brown, Stradling Attorneys at Law 
  Laura Carpenter, Stradling Attorneys at Law 
  Mike Marzano 
  
 
 
 

7 of 567



APPROVE MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OF DECEMBER 3, 2019 
 
It was moved by Secretary Kite, seconded by Director Fernandez, to Approve Minutes of 
the Special Board Meeting of December 3, 2019.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
APPROVE MINUTES OF THE BOARD MEETING OF DECEMBER 9, 2019 
 
It was moved by Director Lathi, seconded by Secretary Kite, to Approve Minutes of the 
Board Meeting of December 9, 2019.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
APPROVE MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OF DECEMBER 16, 2019 
 
It was moved by Director Fernandez, seconded by Vice President Handley, to Approve 
Minutes of the Special Board Meeting of December 16, 2019.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
OCTOBER 2019 MONTHLY OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
This item was reviewed by the Budget & Finance and Legal/Community Affairs 
Committees. General Manager Eldredge provided details regarding one odor complaint, 
and an overview of the October 2019 Monthly Operations Report included in the Board 
meeting packet.  Business Services Coach Brenner provided an overview of the 
financial reports included in the Board packet.  
 
NOVEMBER 2019 MONTHLY OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
This item was reviewed by the Budget & Finance and Legal/Community Affairs 
Committees. General Manager Eldredge provided details regarding two odor 
complaints, and an overview of the November 2019 Monthly Operations Report included 
in the Board meeting packet.  Business Services Coach Brenner provided an overview 
of the financial reports included in the Board packet.  
 
WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS 
 
There were no written communications. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT AND TASK 
ORDER NO. 1 WITH HAZEN AND SAWYER FOR THE ENHANCED TREATMENT AND 
SITE UPGRADE PHASE 1A PROJECT 
 
This item was reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee.  
General Manager Eldredge introduced Enhanced Treatment and Site Upgrade (ETSU) 
Program Manager Pipkin.  ETSU Program Manager Pipkin stated the Enhanced 
Treatment and Site Upgrade (ETSU) Program is the culmination of the District’s 

8 of 567



planning efforts and is based on the outcomes and findings of the Plant Solids 
System/Capacity Assessment – Phases 1 and 2, Administration/Control/FMC Buildings 
Evaluation, the Effluent Management Study, and the Secondary Treatment Process 
Improvements Evaluation.  Staff developed a Phase 1A Project scope which includes 
the Aeration Basin Modifications project and the Campus Building project.  The two 
projects will be designed together for initial construction because they are the first two 
concurrent projects that must both be completed before the remainder of Phase 1 can 
be accomplished.  The major scope items for the Project and descriptions for Task Order 
No. 1 were outlined in the Board meeting packet.  Staff anticipates Hazen will complete 
design of the Project and required environmental review under the California 
Environmental Quality Act by July 2021; the currently anticipated construction start date 
is late 2021 or early 2022.  Staff recommended the Board authorize the General 
Manager to execute an agreement and Task Order No. 1 with Hazen and Sawyer in the 
amount of $6,752,860 for the Enhanced Treatment and Site Upgrade Phase 1A Project. 
 
It was moved by Secretary Kite, seconded by Vice President Handley, to Authorize the 
General Manager to Execute an Agreement and Task Order No. 1 with Hazen and 
Sawyer in the amount of $6,752,860 for the Enhanced Treatment and Site Upgrade 
Phase 1A Project.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
REJECT THE BID PROTEST FROM KIEWIT INFRASTRUCTURE WEST CO. AND 
AWARD THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR THE PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 7 
PROJECT TO C. OVERAA & CO. 
 
This item was reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee.  
Technical Services Manager Ghossain stated the Primary Digester No. 7 Project was 
one of the outcomes of the Plan Solids System/Capacity Assessment – Phase 1 that 
was completed in November 2016.  Brown and Caldwell completed the Project’s design 
in June 2019 and the major elements were outlined in the Board meeting packet.  Staff 
rejected the sole bid received for the Project since it exceeded the Engineer’s Estimate 
by a large percentage.  The Project was re-advertised, five bids were received, and 
Overaa was the apparent low bidder.  Staff received a bid protest on behalf of the second 
low bidder, Kiewit; staff sent a letter addressing the matter to Kiewit November 19, 2019.  
Staff has not received a response to date.  The contractor will have 610 calendar days 
to complete the Project from Notice to Proceed, the estimated substantial completion 
date is September 2021.  Staff recommended the Board reject the bid protest from Kiewit 
Infrastructure West Co. and award the construction contract for the Primary Digester No. 
7 Project to C. Overaa & Co. in the amount of $23,342,575. 
 
It was moved by Director Fernandez, seconded by Secretary Kite, to Reject the Bid 
Protest from Kiewit Infrastructure West Co. and Award the Construction Contract, 
Including Bid Alternates A and B, for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project to C. Overaa & 
Co. in the Amount of $23,342,575.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER A RESOLUTION OF THE UNION SANITARY DISTRICT AUTHORIZING 
THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS BY AND 
BETWEEN UNION SANITARY DISTRICT AND CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL FINANCE 
AUTHORITY AND THE MASTER CMFA AGREEMENT; CONSIDER A RESOLUTION 

9 of 567



OF THE UNION SANITARY DISTRICT REGARDING ITS INTENTION TO 
REIMBURSE CERTAIN PROJECT COSTS FROM PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT 
OBLIGATIONS; AND CONSIDER APPROVAL OF DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY 
NO. 2060 
 
This item was reviewed by the Budget & Finance Committee.  General Manager 
Eldredge stated staff prepared a desk item to reflect edits to Debt Management Policy 
No. 2060 as discussed at the Budget & Finance Committee meeting, hard copies of the 
desk item were provided at the Board meeting.  District staff identified approximately 
$37 million in capital project funding needs that may be financed with tax-exempt debt.  
Financing for District capital project costs may be obtained through the issuance of 
revenue bonds by a joint powers authority (JPA) or through the execution and delivery 
of certificates of participation (COPs) by the District.  The District’s underwriter reports 
that issuing revenue bonds generally results in a lower interest cost than COPs; 
pursuing the creation of a JPA to issue revenue bonds is expected to provide savings 
benefits to the District’s ratepayers.  A JPA must be formed, pursuant to the California 
Joint Exercise of Powers Act, to issue revenue bonds.  District staff and bond counsel 
prepared and negotiated a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement with the California 
Municipal Finance Authority (CMFA), as included in the Board packet, to create the 
Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (USDFA).  Under the terms of the joint 
exercise of powers agreement, the USDFA’s board is comprised of the District’s 
Boardmembers and all USD Authority officers are District staff members.   
 
Under certain circumstances, projects to be financed with tax-exempt bonds may need 
to proceed prior to the issuance of the bonds.  The Internal Revenue Code allows the 
District to reimburse project costs from tax-exempt bonds; staff presented a resolution 
stating the District’s intention.   
 
The revised Debt Management Policy provides guidance for the issuance and 
management of District debt.  The Policy included changes necessary to comply with 
updated state and federal regulations that were outlined in the Board meeting packet.   
 
Staff recommended the Board adopt a resolution authorizing execution and delivery of 
Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement by and between Union Sanitary District and the 
California Municipal Finance Authority and the Master CMFA Agreement, adopt a 
resolution of the Union Sanitary District stating its intention to reimburse certain project 
costs from proceeds of tax-exempt obligations, and make a motion to approve revised 
Debt Management Policy No. 2060.   
 
It was moved by Director Lathi, seconded by Vice President Handley, to Adopt 
Resolution No. 2875, Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a Joint Exercise of 
Powers Agreement by and Between the Union Sanitary District and California Municipal 
Finance Authority (“CMFA”) and the Master CMFA Agreement.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Vice President Handley, seconded by Director Fernandez, to Adopt 
Resolution No. 2876, Regarding Union Sanitary District’s Intention to Reimburse Certain 
Costs From Proceeds of Tax-Exempt Obligations.  Motion carried unanimously. 

10 of 567



 
It was moved by Director Lathi, seconded by Secretary Kite, to Approve Revised Debt 
Management Policy No. 2060 as presented in the Desk Item.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT AND TASK 
ORDER NO. 1 WITH TANNER PACIFIC, INC. FOR THE PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 2 
REHABILITATION PROJECT 
 
This item was reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee.  
Technical Services Manager Ghossain stated expects to issue the Project’s Notice to 
Proceed by January 2020 with an anticipated construction completion date of October 
2020.  The Project’s major elements were listed in the Board meeting packet.  The scope 
of Task Order No. 1 will include the pre-construction phase, construction phase, and 
project close out phase.  The total not to exceed fee of $138,600 is 4.5% of the 
construction contract amount of $3,057,530.  Staff recommended the Board authorize 
the General Manager to execute an agreement and Task Order No. 1 with Tanner 
Pacific, Inc. in the amount of $138,600 to provide construction management services for 
the Primary Digester No. 2 Rehabilitation Project. 
 
It was moved by Vice President Handley, seconded by Secretary Kite, to Authorize the 
General Manager to Execute an Agreement and Task Order No. 1 with Tanner Pacific, 
Inc. in the Amount of $138,600 to Provide Construction Management Services for the 
Primary Digester No. 2 Rehabilitation Project.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE TASK ORDER NO. 2 WITH 
CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. FOR THE PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 2 
REHABILITATION PROJECT 
 
This item was reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee.  
Technical Services Manager Ghossain stated Carollo completed design in October 
2019 and reviewed the Project’s major elements listed in the Board meeting packet.  
The task order’s not to exceed amount of $112,714 is about 3.7% of the construction 
contract amount of $3,057,530.  Staff recommended the Board authorize the General 
Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with Carollo Engineers, Inc. in the amount of 
$112,714 to provide engineering services during construction of the Primary Digester 
No. 2 Rehabilitation Project. 
 
It was moved by Director Fernandez, seconded by Director Lathi, to Authorize the 
General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Carollo Engineers, Inc. in the 
Amount of $112,714 to Provide Engineering Services During Construction of the 
Primary Digester No. 2 Rehabilitation Project.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT FOR 
TRACT 8344 – MONARCH AT SOARES RANCH, LOCATED NEAR THE 
INTERSECTION OF WESTERN AVENUE AND ALVARADO-NILES ROAD, IN THE 
CITY OF UNION CITY 

11 of 567



 
This item was reviewed by the Legal/Community Affairs Committee.  Technical Services 
Manager Ghossain stated the developer, D.R. Horton BAY, Inc., constructed a 
residential development consisting of 63 townhomes for Tract 8344 located near 
Western Avenue and Alvarado-Niles Road in Union City.  Sanitary sewer service to the 
residential development will be provided by new mains in the development’s roadways; 
the roadways of the development do not meet the City of Union City’s street dimensions 
and structure setback requirement for public streets and have been designated as 
private streets.  D.R. Horton BAY, Inc., has constructed the new sewer mains and 
granted the District sanitary sewer easements that provide for access and maintenance 
for the new mains. 
 
It was moved by Director Lathi, seconded by Vice President Handley, to Adopt 
Resolution No. 2877, Accepting a Sanitary Sewer Easement for Tract 8344 – Monarch 
at Soares Ranch, Located Near the Intersection of Western Avenue and Alvarado-Niles 
Road in the City of Union City, California.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER AND ADOPT A RESOLUTION TO CERTIFY UNION SANITARY 
DISTRICT’S SANITARY SEWER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SSMP) 
 
This item was reviewed by the Legal/Community Affairs Committee.  Collection Services 
Coach Rodrigues stated the District is required to develop a Sewer System 
Management Plan, to self-audit the plan every two years, and to update every five years 
from the previous adoption date.  Updates to the SSMP were included in the Board 
meeting packet and were described at the Board meeting.  Staff stated the SSMP is an 
operating manual for the District’s Collection System.  Staff recommended the Board 
consider and adopt a resolution approving the District’s SSMP in accordance with the 
California Water Resources Control Board Statewide General Waste Discharge 
Requirement. 
 
It was moved by Director Fernandez, seconded by Vice President Handley, to Adopt 
Resolution No. 2878, Approving the Union Sanitary District Sewer System Management 
Plan in Accordance with the California Water Resources Control Board Statewide 
General Waste Discharge Requirement.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
REVIEW AND CONSIDER APPROVAL OF ROBOTIC CUTTER SYSTEM PURCHASE 
 
This item was reviewed by the Budget & Finance Committee.  Collection Services Coach 
Nesgis stated the Collection Services Workgroup began trenchless sewer main repairs 
in 2005; such repairs were limited to four-foot sections.  The trenchless repair process 
made it possible to complete repairs more quickly than the traditional open excavation 
repair, and trenchless repairs cost approximately one-quarter less than open 
excavation.  The downside to the trenchless repair process was that installations were 
done based upon measurement as camera equipment was not available to pinpoint the 
repair location during installation.  District staff have since been trained for a new but 
similar process for performing trenchless repairs called the Inversion Lining Process 
(ILP).  The ILP uses a camera to assist with exact placement of repairs and allows for a 
much larger range of repair lengths but is limited to repairs between laterals.  The 

12 of 567



Schwalm Talpa 1330 Sewer Rehab Robotic System will enable staff to reinstate laterals, 
grind down mineral build-up in cast iron connections, remove roots, trim protruding 
laterals, and smooth out moderate offsets.  The Collections Workgroup rented the 
Schwalm Sewer Rehab Robotic System and the manufacturer has stated they will credit 
two months of rental fees toward the purchase price for a cost of $90,275, not including 
tax and freight.  Staff recommended the Board consider approval of the purchase of one 
Robotic Cutter System at an estimated purchase price of $138,000. 
 
It was moved by Vice President Handley, seconded by Director Kite, to Authorize District 
Staff to Purchase One Robotic Cutter at an Estimated Purchase Price of $138,000.  
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
CONSIDER A MOTION TO CANCEL THE MAY 25, NOVEMBER 23, AND DECEMBER 
28, 2020, BOARD MEETINGS, AND PROVIDE DIRECTION TO STAFF REGARDING 
CANCELING BOARD MEETINGS FOR ONE MONTH OUT OF THE YEAR 
 
Executive Assistant to the General Manager/Board Clerk McEvoy outlined impacts to 
regularly scheduled Board meetings throughout calendar year 2020 and presented 
options for the Board’s consideration.   
 
It was moved by Director Lathi, seconded by Vice President Handley, to: 
 

• Cancel the May 25, 2020, Board Meeting and Schedule a Special Meeting for 
Tuesday, May 26, 2020; 

• Cancel the November 23, 2020, Board Meeting and Authorize Staff to Schedule 
a Special Meeting for November 16, 2020, if needed; 

• Cancel the December 28, 2020, Board Meeting and Authorize Staff to Schedule 
a Special Meeting for December 21, 2020, if needed. 

 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 
Report on the East Bay Dischargers Authority (EBDA) Meeting of                   
November 21, 2019 
 
Director Handley provided an overview of the EBDA meeting minutes included in the 
Board meeting packet. 
 
Check Register 
Staff responded to Boardmember questions regarding the Check Register.  
 
COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS: 
 
The Engineering and Information Technology, Budget & Finance, and Legal/Community 
Affairs committees met.  
 

13 of 567



GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 
General Manager Eldredge reported the following: 

• Introduced Assistant Engineer Blake Ehlers. 
• The California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) Winter Conference will 

be held in Indian Wells, January 21 – 23, 2020. 
• General Manager Eldredge and District staff members will soon attend rating 

agency interviews. 
• City of Union City staff requested an opportunity to present information regarding 

the City’s Measure U for a Public Safety Parcel Tax at a future Board meeting. 
• The District received a courtesy notice for a lawsuit involving the environmental 

impact review of a Newark development area west of Stevenson. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
Director Kite attended the recent Alameda County Water District Finance Authority 
meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:14 p.m. to a Fiscal Model Board Workshop in the 
Alvarado Conference Room on Tuesday, January 14, 2020, at 4:30 p.m. 
 
The Board will then adjourn to the next Regular Meeting in the Boardroom on Monday, 
January 27, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
SUBMITTED:     ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________   _________________________ 
REGINA McEVOY     PAT KITE 
BOARD CLERK     SECRETARY 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
________________________ 
JENNIFER TOY 
PRESIDENT 

 
Adopted this 27th day of January 2020 

14 of 567



MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

January 14, 2020 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
President Toy called the special meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PRESENT: Anjali Lathi, President 
  Manny Fernandez, Vice President 
  Jennifer Toy, Secretary 
  Tom Handley, Director 
  Pat Kite, Director 
 
STAFF: Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
BOARD WORKSHOP  
 
General Manager Eldredge presented information related to the District’s Fiscal Model. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
The special meeting was adjourned at approximately 6:30 p.m. to the next Regular Meeting in the 
Boardroom on Monday, January 27, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
SUBMITTED:      ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________   __________________________ 
REGINA McEVOY     PAT KITE 
BOARD CLERK     SECRETARY 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
__________________________ 
JENNIFER TOY 
PRESIDENT 

 
Adopted this 27th day of January, 2020 

15 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 6 

 
TITLE: Monthly Operations Report for December 2019 (This is an Information Item)  
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
   
 
Recommendation 
 
Information only. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None 
 
Background 
 
Attached are Monthly Operations Reports for December 2019.  Staff is available to answer 
questions regarding information contained in the report. 
 
Work Group Managers 
 
General Manager/Administration   Paul Eldredge  GM   
Collection Services     James Schofield CS   
Technical Support     Sami Ghossain  TS   
Treatment and Disposal Services   Armando Lopez  T&D  
Fabrication, Maintenance, and Construction  Robert Simonich FMC 
 
ODOR COMPLAINTS:   
During the month of December 2019, there were three odor complaints received by the 
Collection System.   
 
 

16 of 567



SAFETY 
• Looking into Terradex as a web-based tool to allow the District to identify potentially 

contaminated soil. 

• Updating District’s Commercial Driving Policy to reflect new law changes for Class A and 
B drivers with the Clearinghouse. 

STAFFING & PERSONNEL:   
 
Completed Recruitments:  

• Administrative Specialist I – Collection Services (replacement for Paulette Roberson – 
retirement effective 1/30/2020.)  Jessica Rodriguez started 12/10/19. 

• Assistant/Associate Engineer – Limited Duration (replacement for Curtis Bosick – 
promotion).  Blake Ehlers to start 1/6/2020. 

  
Separations: 

• Mike Marzano – 12/20/19 – Retirement. 
 
G.M. ACTIVITIES:  For the month of December, the General Manager was involved in the 

following: 
 

• Attended the East Bay Dischargers Authority (EBDA) JPA Commission Meeting 
• Attended the EBDA Manager’s Advisory Committee Meeting 
• Attended a Special Closed Session Board Meeting 
• Attended the District’s Holiday Potluck 
• Attended a Board Rebranding Workshop 

 
 
Attachments: Odor Report and Map 
 Hours Worked and Leave Time by Work Group 
 Business Services 
 Technical Services 
 Collection Services 
 Fabrication, Maintenance, and Construction 
 Treatment and Disposal Services 

17 of 567



 

  
 ODOR REPORT 
 December 2019 

 

 During the recording period from December 01, 2019 through December 31, 2019, there were  
 three odor related service requests received by the District. 
 

 City:  Fremont 
 
 1. Complaint Details: 
 
 Date:  12/17/2019 Time:  11:32 am 
 Location:   BALLANTINE PL Reported By: 441 

 Wind (from): N/A Wind Speed:  13 mph 
 Temperature:   50 Degrees FWeather:cold 
 
 Response and Follow-up: 
 USD staff met with the homeowner and conducted inspection of main, storm drains, weather  
 app, and inside the home where initial odors were reported.  No issues were found.  Provided  
 tips to homeowner on how to maintain p-traps.  No follow up action required. 
 

 City:  Newark 
 
 2. Complaint Details: 
 
 Date:  12/9/2019 Time:   1:29 pm 
 Location:   POTRERO DR Reported By: 278 

 Wind (from): North West Wind Speed:  5 mph 
 Temperature:   62 Degrees FWeather:sunny 
 
 Response and Follow-up: 
 USD staff met with homeowner and conducted inspection of main sewer line, D/I, and water  
 channel.  No odors were detected during inspection.  Provided homeowner handouts on vents  
 and laterals.  No follow up action required. 
 

 City:  Union City 
 
 3. Complaint Details: 
 
 Date:  12/2/2019 Time:   4:11 pm 
 Location:   CHESAPEAKE CT Reported By: 366 

 Wind (from): West Wind Speed:  5 mph 
 Temperature:   65 Degrees FWeather:cloudy 
 
 Response and Follow-up: 
 USD staff met with homeowner and conducted inspection of main, storm D/I, and storm line m/h.   
 No odors were found coming from USD system.  Some odors were found coming from nearby  
 PG&E box.  Odors from PG& E box smelled like mildew or standing water.  Advised homeowner  
 to call PG&E to report smell from their box.  Follow up may be needed by Environmental  
 Compliance staff if PG&E does not respond. 

18 of 567



1. No odor found

#

#

^

#

^

#

#

!

!

#

!

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont
Newark

Union City

Fremont

Newark

Union City

Location of Odor Reports
January to December 2019 .0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles

Legend
Odor Complaints: December 2019

Odor Complaints: Jan. to Nov. 2019
No odor found (3)

Odor found, not related to USD (3)
Odor found, USD resolved (2)

No odor found (11)

#

!

^

#

! Odor found, not related to USD (0)
^ Odor found, USD resolved (0)

1. No odor found

2. No odor found

3. No odor found

19 of 567



NOTES
(1) Regular hours does not include hours worked by part-time or temporary employees.
(2) Overtime hours includes call outs. 
(3) Discretionary Leave includes Vacation, HEC, Holiday, MAL, FLEX, Funeral, Jury Duty, Military, OT Banked Use, 
     Paid Admin., SLIP, VRIP, Holiday Banked Use leaves.
(4) Sick Leave includes sick and catastrophic sick leaves as well as protected time off, of which the District has
     no discretion.

An employee using 15 vacation, 11 holiday, 2 HEC, and 5 sick days will work an average of 34.9 hours

per week over the course of a year; with 20 vacation days, 34.2 hours per week.

HOURS WORKED AND LEAVE TIME BY WORK GROUP
June 27, 2019 through December 24,2019

Weeks to Date: 26 out of 52 (50.00%)

33.1 
24.0 

20.2 22.2 
27.3 30.9 

25.4 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

GM BS FMC TD TS CS All Groups

Average Annual Sick Leave Used Per Employee to Date 

Target is 47

34.1 
37.4 

34.6 35.9 35.2 35.4 35.5 

 -

 5.0

 10.0

 15.0

 20.0

 25.0

 30.0

 35.0

 40.0

GM BS FMC TD TS CS All Groups

At-Work Hours Per Employee Per Week

Target is 34

20 of 567



Regular                       
(1)

Overtime               
(2)

Discretionary 
(3)

Short Term 
Disability

Workers 
Comp 

Sick                     
(4)

Average 
Number of 
Employees

At-Work 
Hours Per 
Week Per 
Employee

Annual 
Sick Leave 

Used

GM 2 1,750.75           2.00                 34.1 238.25            24.80         -             66.20             33.1 2 34.8 38.5
BS 17 16,117.18         241.58            37.4 1,754.29         -              -             408.53           24.0 16 35.5 41.1

FMC 28 24,671.30         267.99            34.6 3,636.22         247.39       -             565.09           20.2 28 34.5 39.3
TD 26 23,776.75         203.58            35.9 3,129.06         49.30         -             576.89           22.2 26 35.4 35.2
TS 33 29,747.87         143.25            35.2 3,128.39         196.26       -             900.92           27.3 32 34.6 46.2
CS 31 26,809.60         1,442.40         35.4 3,281.85         219.83       562.00       957.72           30.9 30 36.1 59.3

All Groups 137 122,873.45       2,300.80         35.5 15,168.06      737.58       562.00       3,475.35       25.4 134 35.1 50.5

SICK LEAVE INCENTIVE PROGRAM TARGETS ≥34 ≤47
The Sick Leave Incentive Program target goals are 47 or less hours of sick leave per employee annually, and 34 or more hours of at-work time per week per employee. 

NOTES

(1) Regular hours does not include hours worked by part-time or temporary employees.

(2) Overtime hours includes call outs. 

(3) Discretionary Leave includes Vacation, HEC, Holiday, MAL, FLEX, Funeral, Jury Duty, Military, OT Banked Use, Paid Admin., SLIP, VRIP, Holiday Banked Use leaves.

(4) Sick Leave includes sick and catastrophic sick leaves, as well as protected time off, of which the District has no discretion.

An employee using 15 vacation, 11 holiday, 2 HEC, and 5 sick days will work an average of 34.9 hours per week over the course of a year;  

with 20 vacation days, 34.2 hours per week.

LEAVE HOURS FY19

HOURS WORKED AND LEAVE TIME BY WORK GROUP
June 27, 2019 through December 24,2019

Weeks to Date: 26 out of 52 (50.00%)

Average Annual Sick 
Leave Used Per 

Employee To Date

AT-WORK HOURS At-Work Hours 
Per Employee 

Per Week

Group Average 
Number of 
Employees

21 of 567



 BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT

FY 2020       Year-to-date as of 12/31/2019 50% of year elapsed

Audited
Revenues % of  Last Year

Budget Actual Budget Rec'd Actuals 6/30/19
  Capacity Fees 13,567,000$      8,766,593$        65% 16,158,027$           
  Sewer Service Charges 60,099,000        30,300,049        50% 57,330,651             
  Operating (Work Groups) 1,283,500          556,288             43% 1,321,729               
  Interest 1,350,000          1,564,471          116% 2,657,357               
  Misc. (LAVWMA, Forfeited Deposits) 512,000             9,290                 2% 866,298                  

 Subtotal Revenues 76,811,500$      41,196,691        54% 78,334,062$           

  SRF Loan Proceeds -                     -                     -                          

Total Revenues + SRF Proceeds 76,811,500$      41,196,691$      54% 78,334,062$           

Expenses % of  Last Year
Budget Actual Budget Used Actuals

  Capital Improvement Program:
       Capacity Proj. 7,600,500$        241,733$           3% 1,973,416$             
       Renewal & Repl. Proj. 12,132,000        478,501             4% 4,620,499               
  Operating (includes fund 85) 42,205,365        19,706,160        47% 40,313,960             
  Special Projects 4,354,600          466,512             11% 913,255                  
  Retiree Medical (ADC) 1,375,000          688,484             50% 369,961                  
  Vehicle & Equipment 153,050             6,396                 4% 725,877                  
  Information Systems 857,700             315,449             37% 690,885                  
  Plant & Pump Stat. R&R 250,000             59,366               24% 321,343                  
  Emerg. Fund -                     -                     0% -                          
  Cty Fee for SSC Admin. 109,000             54,994               50% 108,344                  
  Debt Servicing:
     SRF Loans 3,902,080          2,842,433          73% 3,862,731               

Total Expenses 72,939,295$      24,860,028$      34% 53,900,272$           

Total Revenue & Proceeds less Expenses 3,872,205$       16,336,663$      24,433,790            

Audited
Operating (Work Group) Expenses % of  Last Year

Budget Actual Budget Used Actuals
Board of Directors 179,176$           64,922$             36% 145,194$                
General Manager/Admin. 1,066,367          470,481             44% 875,354                  
Business Services 4,342,141          1,799,041          41% 3,667,607               
Collection Services 7,316,485          3,357,848          46% 7,350,328               
Technical Services 6,639,720          3,173,009          48% 6,886,241               
Treatment & Disposal Services 12,913,507        6,217,294          48% 11,901,128             
Fabrication, Maint. & Construction 8,837,463          4,258,855          48% 8,898,853               
Non-Departmental 910,506             364,712             40% 589,255                  

Total 42,205,365$      19,706,160$      47% 40,313,960$           

Operating (Work Group) Expenses by Type % of  Last Year
Budget Actual Budget Used Actuals

Personnel (incl D&E) 28,878,209$      13,606,982$      47% 28,941,712$           
Repairs & Maintenance 2,256,400          1,184,081          52% 2,331,549               
Supplies & Matls (chemicals, small tools) 3,351,150          1,326,025          40% 2,728,181               
Outside Services (utilities, biosolids, legal) 7,489,606          3,576,080          48% 6,233,756               
Fixed Assets 230,000             12,993               6% 78,762                    

Total 42,205,365$      19,706,160$      47% 40,313,960$           

22 of 567



REVENUES AND EXPENSES REPORT 
as of 12/31/19

13,567,000

60,099,000 

1,283,500 1,350,000 512,000 -
8,766,593

30,300,049 

556,288 1,564,471 9,290 -
 $-

 $10,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $50,000,000

 $60,000,000

 $70,000,000

  Capacity Fees   Sewer Service
Charges

  Operating (Work
Groups)

  Interest   Misc. (LAVWMA,
Forfeited Deposits)

  SRF Loan Proceeds

Total Revenues
 Budget  Actual

7,600,500

12,132,000 

42,205,365 

4,354,600 1,375,000 
153,050 857,700 

250,000 
-

109,000 

3,902,080 

241,733 478,501 

19,706,160 

466,512 
688,484 6,396 315,449 59,366 

- 54,994 

2,842,433 

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $45,000,000

       Capacity
Proj.

       Renewal
& Repl. Proj.

  Operating
(includes fund

85)

  Special
Projects

  Retiree
Medical (ADC)

  Vehicle &
Equipment

  Information
Systems

  Plant &
Pump Stat.

R&R

  Emerg. Fund   Cty Fee for
SSC Admin.

     SRF Loans

Total Expenses
 Budget  Actual

23 of 567



REVENUES AND EXPENSES REPORT 
as of 12/31/19

179,176
1,066,367

4,342,141

7,316,485
6,639,720

12,913,507

8,837,463

910,506

64,922
470,481

1,799,041

3,357,848 3,173,009

6,217,294
4,258,855

364,712

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

Operating Expenses by Work Group
 Budget  Actual

28,878,209

2,256,400
3,351,150

7,489,606

230,000

13,606,982

1,184,081 1,326,025 
3,576,080 

12,993 
 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

Personnel (incl D&E) Repairs & Maintenance Supplies & Matls
(chemicals, small tools)

Outside Services
(utilities, biosolids, legal)

Fixed Assets

Operating Expenses by Type
 Budget  Actual

24 of 567



 
 

 
 
 

 
• Recruitment for Collection Services Administrative Specialist was completed; Jessica Rodriguez was 

hired on 12/9/2019. 
 
 
 

Performance Measures for the USD Investment Portfolio    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Average Monthly Yield

LAIF 2 Year Treasury USD Yield

Business Services Group  
December 2019 

25 of 567



 

26 of 567



Union Sanitary District
Portfolio Holdings
Board Report - Holdings
Report Format: By Transaction
Group By: Asset Class
Average By: Cost Value
Portfolio / Report Group: All Portfolios
As of 12/31/2019

Description CUSIP/Ticker
Credit 

Rating 1
Settlement 

Date
Face 

Amount/Shares Cost Value
Coupon 

Rate Market Value
YTM @ 

Cost
Next Call 

Date
Maturity 

Date
% of 

Portfolio

Agencies

FFCB 1.59 3/23/2020-17 3133EFR25 Moodys-
Aaa 3/23/2016 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 1.590 1,000,010.00 1.590 3/23/2020 0.63

FFCB 1.7 5/3/2021-17 3133EF5T0 Moodys-
Aaa 5/3/2016 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 1.700 999,660.00 1.700 5/3/2021 0.63

FHLB 2 10/26/2021-19 3130AB3D6 None 4/26/2017 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 2.000 1,006,260.00 2.000 10/26/2021 0.63

FNMA 1.5 6/16/2021-16 3136G3QX6 Moodys-
Aaa 6/16/2016 1,000,000.00 995,000.00 1.500 993,370.00 1.604 6/16/2021 0.62

FNMA 1.625 10/15/2024 3135G0W66 Fitch-AAA 11/25/2019 1,000,000.00 997,860.00 1.625 995,440.00 1.671 10/15/2024 0.62

Sub Total / Average 
Agencies 5,000,000.00 4,992,860.00 1.683 4,994,740.00 1.713 3.12

CAMP

CAMP LGIP LGIP4000 None 5/31/2011 38,782,644.42 38,782,644.42 1.800 38,782,644.42 1.800 N/A N/A 24.26

Sub Total / Average 
CAMP 38,782,644.42 38,782,644.42 1.800 38,782,644.42 1.800 24.26

Cash in Banks

Union Bank Cash LGIPUNIONBANK None 12/31/2016 3,274,649.50 3,274,649.50 1.240 3,274,649.50 1.240 N/A N/A 2.05

Sub Total / Average 
Cash in Banks 3,274,649.50 3,274,649.50 1.240 3,274,649.50 1.240 2.05

Certificates of Deposit

American Expr Centurion 
2.45 4/5/2022 02587DN38 None 4/5/2017 247,000.00 247,000.00 2.450 251,207.05 2.450 4/5/2022 0.15

Belmont Savings Bank 
2.15 3/22/2022 080515BV0 None 3/20/2017 248,000.00 248,000.00 2.150 250,506.04 2.150 3/22/2022 0.16

BMW Bank 2.15 
3/10/2022 05580AGR9 None 3/10/2017 247,000.00 247,000.00 2.150 249,462.86 2.150 3/10/2022 0.15

140420L99 None 10/26/2016 248,000.00 248,000.00 1.500 247,158.64 1.500 10/26/2020 0.16

27 of 567



Description CUSIP/Ticker
Credit 

Rating 1
Settlement 

Date
Face 

Amount/Shares Cost Value
Coupon 

Rate Market Value
YTM @ 

Cost
Next Call 

Date
Maturity 

Date
% of 

Portfolio

Capital One Bank 1.5 
10/26/2020

Credit Agricole CIB NY 
2.83 4/2/2021 22535CDU2 None 4/4/2019 575,000.00 575,000.00 2.830 581,462.77 2.830 4/2/2021 0.36

Discover Bank 2.25 
12/29/2021 254672Y36 None 12/29/2016 247,000.00 247,000.00 2.250 249,608.72 2.250 12/29/2021 0.15

DNB Nor Bank ASA 2.04 
12/2/2022 23341VZT1 NR 12/6/2019 430,000.00 430,000.00 2.040 434,415.93 2.040 12/2/2022 0.27

Lakeside Bank 1.75 
5/29/2020 51210SMU8 None 5/30/2017 249,000.00 249,000.00 1.750 248,855.41 1.750 5/29/2020 0.16

Ponce De Leon Federal 
Bank 1.85 5/28/2021 732333AJ8 None 5/31/2017 249,000.00 249,000.00 1.850 248,842.23 1.850 5/28/2021 0.16

State Bank of India 2.25 
1/26/2022 8562846A7 None 1/26/2017 247,000.00 247,000.00 2.250 249,832.65 2.250 1/26/2022 0.15

Summit Community Bank 
1.65 5/29/2020 86604XLT1 None 5/31/2017 249,000.00 249,000.00 1.650 248,752.15 1.650 5/29/2020 0.16

Synchrony Bank 2.3 
2/24/2022 87165ELT2 None 2/28/2017 247,000.00 247,000.00 2.300 250,206.26 2.300 2/24/2022 0.15

Sub Total / Average 
Certificates of Deposit 3,483,000.00 3,483,000.00 2.163 3,510,310.71 2.163 2.18

Commercial Paper

BNP Paribas 1.87 
6/24/2020 09659BFQ8 Fitch-F1 10/28/2019 1,000,000.00 987,533.33 1.870 999,985.80 3.819 6/24/2020 0.62

MUFG BANK LTD/NY 
1.93 6/24/2020 62479LFQ3 Moodys-P1 10/28/2019 1,000,000.00 987,133.33 1.930 991,115.30 3.943 6/24/2020 0.62

Sub Total / Average 
Commercial Paper 2,000,000.00 1,974,666.66 1.900 1,991,101.10 3.881 1.24

Corporate Issues

Amazon.com Inc. 2.4 
2/22/2023 023135AW6 Fitch-A+ 4/15/2019 675,000.00 668,499.75 2.400 687,001.50 2.664 2/22/2023 0.42

American Express Credit 
2.7 3/3/2022 0258M0EG0 Moodys-A2 5/15/2017 1,000,000.00 1,013,279.67 2.700 1,016,790.00 2.406 3/3/2022 0.63

Bank of America Corp 
4.1 7/24/2023 06053FAA7 Fitch-A 3/22/2019 500,000.00 520,405.00 4.100 533,345.00 3.087 7/24/2023 0.33

BB&T Corporation 3.05 
6/20/2022-22 05531FBG7 Fitch-A+ 3/22/2019 525,000.00 525,714.00 3.050 538,119.75 3.006 5/20/2022 6/20/2022 0.33

Chevron Corp 2.1 
5/16/2021 166764BG4 Moodys-

Aa2 5/10/2017 1,000,000.00 999,500.00 2.100 1,006,320.00 2.113 5/16/2021 0.63

Exxon Mobil Corporation 
2.726 3/1/2023 30231GAR3 Moodys-

Aaa 6/14/2019 985,000.00 1,001,400.25 2.726 1,008,915.80 2.256 3/1/2023 0.63

28 of 567



Description CUSIP/Ticker
Credit 

Rating 1
Settlement 

Date
Face 

Amount/Shares Cost Value
Coupon 

Rate Market Value
YTM @ 

Cost
Next Call 

Date
Maturity 

Date
% of 

Portfolio

GE Capital International 
2.04 11/15/2020

36164QMS4 S&P-AA 3/10/2017 1,000,000.00 1,010,642.28 2.040 1,000,810.00 1.738 11/15/2020 0.63

HSBC 4.875 8/24/2020 4042Q1AE7 Moodys-A1 5/17/2016 2,000,000.00 2,191,145.28 4.875 2,034,480.00 2.500 8/24/2020 1.37

JPMorgan Chase & Co 
2.7 5/18/2023-23 46625HRL6 Fitch-A+ 3/22/2019 525,000.00 517,970.25 2.700 534,555.00 3.045 3/18/2023 5/18/2023 0.32

Paccar Financial Corp 
2.65 5/10/2022 69371RP83 None 5/10/2019 580,000.00 579,686.80 2.650 590,817.00 2.669 5/10/2022 0.36

State Street Corp 1.95 
5/19/2021 857477AV5 Fitch-AA- 3/22/2019 530,000.00 520,566.00 1.950 531,097.10 2.805 5/19/2021 0.33

Sub Total / Average 
Corporate Issues 9,320,000.00 9,548,809.28 3.100 9,482,251.15 2.471 5.97

LAIF

LAIF LGIP LGIP1002 None 4/30/2011 61,100,610.13 61,100,610.13 2.043 61,100,610.13 2.043 N/A N/A 38.22

Sub Total / Average 
LAIF 61,100,610.13 61,100,610.13 2.043 61,100,610.13 2.043 38.22

Municipal

City of Riverside CA 
2.125 6/1/2021 769036BA1 S&P-AA- 6/1/2017 500,000.00 500,000.00 2.125 501,155.00 2.125 6/1/2021 0.31

State of California 2.152 
4/1/2022 13063DAD0 Moodys-

Aa3 4/27/2017 1,000,000.00 1,010,000.00 2.152 1,014,010.00 1.938 4/1/2022 0.63

Victor Valley College 
General Obligation Bond 
2.35

92603PER9 Moodys-
Aa2 12/28/2016 500,000.00 490,150.00 2.350 501,235.00 2.811 8/1/2021 0.31

Sub Total / Average 
Municipal 2,000,000.00 2,000,150.00 2.194 2,016,400.00 2.199 1.25

Treasury

T-Bill 0 1/2/2020 912796RT8 S&P-A1+ 12/26/2019 1,500,000.00 1,499,582.77 0.000 1,500,000.00 1.451 1/2/2020 0.94

T-Bill 0 1/7/2020 912796WM7 S&P-A1+ 12/30/2019 3,280,000.00 3,278,956.23 0.000 3,279,376.80 1.452 1/7/2020 2.05

T-Bill 0 2/6/2020 912796TE9 None 9/27/2019 335,000.00 332,795.14 0.000 334,514.25 1.832 2/6/2020 0.21

T-Bill 0 2/6/2020 912796TE9 None 10/3/2019 1,000,000.00 993,918.75 0.000 998,550.00 1.772 2/6/2020 0.62

T-Note 1.25 7/31/2023 912828S92 Fitch-AAA 4/2/2019 1,790,000.00 1,712,806.25 1.250 1,766,014.00 2.302 7/31/2023 1.07

T-Note 1.375 6/30/2023 912828S35 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,914,609.38 1.375 1,982,580.00 2.431 6/30/2023 1.20

T-Note 1.375 9/30/2023 912828T26 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,909,531.25 1.375 1,980,080.00 2.436 9/30/2023 1.19

T-Note 1.5 3/31/2023 912828Q29 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,929,140.63 1.500 1,992,740.00 2.428 3/31/2023 1.21

T-Note 1.75 7/15/2022 9128287C8 Fitch-AAA 7/31/2019 1,000,000.00 998,789.06 1.750 1,003,870.00 1.792 7/15/2022 0.62

T-Note 1.75 9/30/2022 912828L57 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,954,531.25 1.750 2,008,040.00 2.426 9/30/2022 1.22

T-Note 1.875 2/28/2022 912828W55 Fitch-AAA 4/2/2019 1,050,000.00 1,037,572.27 1.875 1,056,436.50 2.298 2/28/2022 0.65

29 of 567



Description CUSIP/Ticker
Credit 

Rating 1
Settlement 

Date
Face 

Amount/Shares Cost Value
Coupon 

Rate Market Value
YTM @ 

Cost
Next Call 

Date
Maturity 

Date
% of 

Portfolio

T-Note 1.875 8/31/2024 9128282U3 Fitch-AAA 9/3/2019 780,000.00 797,732.81 1.875 786,731.40 1.402 8/31/2024 0.50

T-Note 2 4/30/2024 912828X70 Fitch-AAA 6/7/2019 960,000.00 964,875.00 2.000 973,161.60 1.891 4/30/2024 0.60

T-Note 2 6/30/2024 912828XX3 Fitch-AAA 7/3/2019 500,000.00 505,156.25 2.000 506,935.00 1.783 6/30/2024 0.32

T-Note 2.125 1/31/2021 912828B58 Fitch-AAA 10/28/2019 2,475,000.00 2,488,535.16 2.125 2,487,944.25 1.683 1/31/2021 1.56

T-Note 2.125 12/31/2022 912828N30 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 1,580,000.00 1,562,903.91 2.125 1,604,063.40 2.426 12/31/2022 0.98

T-Note 2.125 2/29/2024 912828W48 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,970,625.00 2.125 2,037,120.00 2.442 2/29/2024 1.23

T-Note 2.125 6/30/2022 912828XG0 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 1,420,000.00 1,406,909.38 2.125 1,438,744.00 2.418 6/30/2022 0.88

T-Note 2.125 7/31/2024 9128282N9 Fitch-AAA 8/29/2019 965,000.00 998,737.30 2.125 983,769.25 1.388 7/31/2024 0.62

T-Note 2.25 12/31/2023 912828V23 Fitch-AAA 3/20/2019 2,000,000.00 1,982,968.75 2.250 2,045,540.00 2.439 12/31/2023 1.24

T-Note 2.25 2/29/2020 9128283Y4 Fitch-AAA 10/28/2019 1,245,000.00 1,247,334.38 2.250 1,246,145.40 1.690 2/29/2020 0.78

T-Note 2.625 11/15/2020 912828PC8 Fitch-AAA 11/15/2019 1,170,000.00 1,181,380.08 2.625 1,179,828.00 1.640 11/15/2020 0.74

T-Note 2.75 11/30/2020 9128285Q9 Fitch-AAA 11/29/2019 980,000.00 990,412.50 2.750 989,682.40 1.677 11/30/2020 0.62

T-Note 2.75 8/15/2021 9128284W7 Fitch-AAA 10/28/2019 1,045,000.00 1,064,757.03 2.750 1,064,060.80 1.678 8/15/2021 0.67

Sub Total / Average 
Treasury 35,075,000.00 34,724,560.53 1.606 35,245,927.05 2.013 21.72

Total / Average 160,035,904.05 159,881,950.52 1.927 160,398,634.06 2.004 100

All investment actions executed since the last report have been made in full compliance with the District’s Investment Policy. The District will meet its expenditure obligations for 
the next six months. Market value sources are the LAIF, CAMP, and BNY Mellon monthly statements. Broker/Dealers utilized per USD Investment Policy and at the discretion of 
investment portfolio advisor.

Reviewer:

Approver:

30 of 567



Union Sanitary District
Transactions Summary
Board Report - Activity
Group By: Action
Portfolio / Report Group: All Portfolios
Begin Date: 11/30/2019, End Date: 12/31/2019

Description CUSIP/Ticker Face Amount/Shares Principal Interest/Dividends Coupon Rate YTM @ Cost Settlement Date Total

Buy

DNB Nor Bank ASA 2.04 12/2/2022 23341VZT1 430,000.00 430,000.00 0.00 2.040 2.040 12/6/2019 430,000.00

T-Bill 0 1/2/2020 912796RT8 1,500,000.00 1,499,582.77 0.00 0.000 1.451 12/26/2019 1,499,582.77

T-Bill 0 1/7/2020 912796WM7 3,280,000.00 3,278,956.23 0.00 0.000 1.452 12/30/2019 3,278,956.23

Sub Total / Average Buy 5,210,000.00 5,208,539.00 0.00 5,208,539.00

Called

FHLB 2.05 12/29/2021-17 3130AAET1 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 10,250.00 2.050 0.000 12/30/2019 1,010,250.00

FHLMC 2 12/30/2021-17 3134GAYV0 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 10,000.00 2.000 0.000 12/30/2019 1,010,000.00

Landmark Bank 2.1 3/29/2021-17 51506VCA9 248,000.00 248,000.00 1,298.43 2.100 0.000 12/30/2019 249,298.43

Sub Total / Average Called 2,248,000.00 2,248,000.00 21,548.43 2,269,548.43

Deposit

CAMP LGIP LGIP4000 53,318.26 53,318.26 0.00 N/A 0.000 12/31/2019 53,318.26

CAMP LGIP LGIP4000 7,000,000.00 7,000,000.00 0.00 N/A 0.000 12/18/2019 7,000,000.00

LAIF LGIP LGIP1002 22,000,000.00 22,000,000.00 0.00 N/A 0.000 12/13/2019 22,000,000.00

Union Bank Cash LGIPUNIONBANK 3,274,649.50 3,274,649.50 0.00 N/A 0.000 12/31/2019 3,274,649.50

Sub Total / Average Deposit 32,327,967.76 32,327,967.76 0.00 32,327,967.76

Interest

BB&T Corporation 3.05 6/20/2022-22 05531FBG7 0.00 0.00 8,006.25 3.050 0.000 12/20/2019 8,006.25

CAMP LGIP LGIP4000 0.00 0.00 53,318.26 N/A 0.000 12/31/2019 53,318.26

City of Riverside CA 2.125 6/1/2021 769036BA1 0.00 0.00 5,312.50 2.125 0.000 12/2/2019 5,312.50

Discover Bank 2.25 12/29/2021 254672Y36 0.00 0.00 2,786.36 2.250 0.000 12/30/2019 2,786.36

FHLMC 1.5 12/30/2019-17 3134GAYY4 0.00 0.00 7,500.00 1.500 0.000 12/30/2019 7,500.00

FNMA 1.5 6/16/2021-16 3136G3QX6 0.00 0.00 7,500.00 1.500 0.000 12/16/2019 7,500.00

Lakeside Bank 1.75 5/29/2020 51210SMU8 0.00 0.00 358.15 1.750 0.000 12/30/2019 358.15

Lakeside Bank 1.75 5/29/2020 51210SMU8 0.00 0.00 370.09 1.750 0.000 12/2/2019 370.09

732333AJ8 0.00 0.00 391.24 1.850 0.000 12/31/2019 391.24

31 of 567



Description CUSIP/Ticker Face Amount/Shares Principal Interest/Dividends Coupon Rate YTM @ Cost Settlement Date Total

Ponce De Leon Federal Bank 1.85 
5/28/2021

Ponce De Leon Federal Bank 1.85 
5/28/2021 732333AJ8 0.00 0.00 378.62 1.850 0.000 12/2/2019 378.62

Summit Community Bank 1.65 
5/29/2020 86604XLT1 0.00 0.00 348.94 1.650 0.000 12/31/2019 348.94

Summit Community Bank 1.65 
5/29/2020 86604XLT1 0.00 0.00 337.68 1.650 0.000 12/2/2019 337.68

T-Note 1.375 6/30/2023 912828S35 0.00 0.00 13,750.00 1.375 0.000 12/31/2019 13,750.00

T-Note 2 6/30/2024 912828XX3 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 2.000 0.000 12/31/2019 5,000.00

T-Note 2.125 12/31/2022 912828N30 0.00 0.00 16,787.50 2.125 0.000 12/31/2019 16,787.50

T-Note 2.125 6/30/2022 912828XG0 0.00 0.00 15,087.50 2.125 0.000 12/31/2019 15,087.50

T-Note 2.25 12/31/2023 912828V23 0.00 0.00 22,500.00 2.250 0.000 12/31/2019 22,500.00

T-Note 2.75 11/30/2020 9128285Q9 0.00 0.00 13,475.00 2.750 0.000 12/2/2019 13,475.00

Sub Total / Average Interest 0.00 0.00 173,208.09 173,208.09

Matured

FHLMC 1.5 12/30/2019-17 3134GAYY4 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 0.00 1.500 0.000 12/30/2019 1,000,000.00

T-Bill 0 12/26/2019 912796SY6 1,500,000.00 1,500,000.00 0.00 0.000 0.000 12/26/2019 1,500,000.00

Sub Total / Average Matured 2,500,000.00 2,500,000.00 0.00 2,500,000.00

Sell

T-Note 2.125 12/31/2022 912828N30 420,000.00 426,513.28 3,856.18 2.125 0.000 12/6/2019 430,369.46

Sub Total / Average Sell 420,000.00 426,513.28 3,856.18 430,369.46

Withdraw

Union Bank Cash LGIPUNIONBANK 5,185,430.10 5,185,430.10 0.00 N/A 0.000 12/30/2019 5,185,430.10

Sub Total / Average Withdraw 5,185,430.10 5,185,430.10 0.00 5,185,430.10

32 of 567



             Union Sanitary District's Internal Retiree Medical Fund
             Quarterly Report

     For Period Ended 12/31/19

Fund Balance 9/30/19: ($602,421.22)

Revenues:

Expenses:

Quarterly Net Medical Reimbursments (119,634.83)

Transfers Out:

12/16/19 CalPERS OPEB Trust Actuarially Determined Contrib. (ADC) (227,005.50)
(payment 2 of 4)

Ending Fund Balance 12/31/19: ($949,061.55)

33 of 567



Union Sanitary District

Please note the Grand Total is your actual fund account balance at the end of the period, including all contributions per GASB 74 paragraph 22 and accrued disbursements.  Please review your statement promptly. All information contained in your statement
will be considered true and accurate unless you contact us within 30 days of receipt of this statement. If you have questions about the validity of this information, please contact CERBT4U@calpers.ca.gov.

439,746.959 439,746.959

$8,003,113.08 $8,003,113.08

18.19936018.199360Period Ending Unit Value

17.19261117.525001Period Beginning Unit Value

0.000

25,491.180

414,255.779

0.000

12,558.176

427,188.783

Year to DateCurrent Period

Ending Units

Unit Sales for Withdrawals

Unit Purchases from Contributions

Beginning Units

Unit Value Summary:Market Value Summary:

$8,003,113.08$8,003,113.08Grand Total

0.00

(1,832.93)

0.00

430,136.73

454,011.00

$7,122,138.40

0.00

(943.32)

0.00

291,257.06

227,005.50

$7,486,483.57

Year to DateCurrent Period

Ending Balance

Disbursement

Administrative Expenses

Other

Investment Earnings

Contribution

Beginning Balance

QTD Fiscal QTD Fiscal

FY End Contrib per GASB 74 Para 22 0.00 0.00

Transfer In

Transfer Out

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Unit Transfer In

Unit Transfer Out

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(1,340.12)(689.73)Investment Expense

CERBT Strategy 2
Entity #:  SKB7-6011550262
Quarter Ended December 31, 2019

FY End Disbursement Accrual 0.00 0.00

Page 1 of 2

34 of 567



Statement of Transaction Detail for the Quarter Ending 12/31/2019

Union Sanitary District

Entity #:  SKB7-6011550262

Date Description Amount Unit Value Units NotesCheck/Wire

12/16/2019 Contribution $227,005.50 $18.076311 12,558.176 WIRE
2019121600412
270

If you have any questions or comments regarding the new statement format please contact CERBT4U@CalPERS.ca.gov

Client Contact:

CERBT4U@CalPERS.ca.gov

Page 2 of 2

35 of 567



 MONTHLY OPERATIONS REPORT FOR THE MONTH DECEMBER 2019 
TECHNICAL SUPPORT WORK GROUP SUMMARY 

 
 
Capital Improvement Program 

 
Alvarado Influent Pump Station Improvements Project – Submittals review in progress.  
 
Headworks Screens Replacement Project - Submittals review in progress.  
 
Primary Digester No. 2 Rehabilitation Project – Construction contract was awarded on December 9th. 
 
Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project – Project closeout in progress. 
 
Sludge Degritter System Project – Evaluation of new Degritter performance in progress. 

 
Wet Weather Flow Management - Calcium Thiosulfate Chemical Tank Project – Construction of concrete pad in 
progress. 

  

36 of 567



Customer Service 
 

Trouble Calls dispatched from the Front Desk during business hours: 

Month Fremont Newark Union City Total

December-19 5 2 3 10

November-19 4 5 0 9

October-19 6 1 3 10

September-19 8 1 0 9

August-19 12 1 1 14

July-19 13 4 3 20

December-18 6 1 1 8

6-Month Total 72

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Fremont

Newark

Union City

Total

 
Sewer Permits Issued 
 

Month Repairs Mains New Laterals Restaurants Other

December-19 23 1 23 1 3

November-19 16 2 115 1 2

October-19 23 2 88 1 1
New Laterals - New residential lateral connections

Other - Non-residential construction (except restaurants)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

October-19 November-19 December-19

Repairs

Mains

New Laterals

Restaurants

Other

 
37 of 567



Communication 
 

• Social Media posts:  
o Sewer emergency instructions for customers 
o Less-toxic flea control for pets 
o Holiday FOG message 
o Office closures Christmas and New Year holidays 
o Office closures New Year’s Eve and New Year’s Day 

• Worked with Tri-City Voice reporter on story re: CASA flushable wipes study 

• Continued activities regarding District Branding initiative 

• Participated in Chamber of Commerce Board activities as Director and Past-President 
o December Chamber meeting 
o Masonic Home tree decorating – community event 
o Tree of Angels lighting – City Hall, Union City 

 
Environmental Compliance 
 

Pollution Prevention/Stormwater Programs 
 

USD’s Environmental Compliance (EC) team conducts pollution prevention inspections at restaurants, car wash 
businesses, and other commercial facilities.  EC also conducts inspections and enforcement for the City of 
Fremont’s Environmental Services group.  Over 600 Stormwater compliance inspections are conducted every year 
to ensure that commercial facilities, including restaurants and auto shops, comply with City Ordinance 
requirements, and do not discharge pollutants to the creeks and bay.  
 
During the past month, the EC team conducted 87 Stormwater (Urban Runoff), and 20 FOG (restaurant) 
inspections.  During this reporting period, Inspectors identified 11 Stormwater and 8 FOG enforcement actions.  
Three (3) of the Stormwater enforcements resulted in administrative fines ranging from $100 to $200.   One (1) 
of the administrative fines were for illicit discharges or for repeated violations. 
 
Urban Runoff Inspections and Enforcements 

December 
2019 

No. of UR 
Inspections VW WL NOV AF LA 

 
 

NOD 
Total 

Enforcements  
No. of Illicit 
Discharge/s 1 

87 6 0 2 3 0 0 11  % Enforcement 13% 

 
FOG Inspections and Enforcements 

December 
2019 

No. of FOG 
Inspections VW WL NOV AF LA 

 
 

NOD Total Enforcements  % Enforcement 40% 

20 3 4 0 0 0 1 8    
 

Enforcements: 
VW –Verbal Warning   WL – Warning Letter   NOV – Notices of Violation 
AF – Administrative Fine  LA – Legal Action   NOD – Notice of Deficiency 
AO – Administrative Order  C&D – Cease & Desist Order  SNC – Significant Non-Compliance   

38 of 567



Dental Inspections, School Outreach, and Plant Tours 

# of Dental Inspections # of School Outreach Events  
 

# of Plant Tours 

8 9  

 
Industrial Pretreatment  
 

The Industrial Pretreatment program has pending permits as shown in the table below.  USD inspectors are working 
with each of these companies to establish permitted industrial discharges. 
 

    Pending Permits 

New Industrial/Groundwater Permits Groundwater/Temporary 

N7K (Neuralink) Union Pacific Railroad 

Silicon Valley RO DI  

Rigetti Computing  

Facebook Commissary  
 

Permits Issued  

Company Name Date Permit Issued 

  
 

    Industrial Permit Closures  

Company Name Date of Closure 

  
 

Reports (Annual & Semi-Annual Pretreatment Report, Union City Report, etc.) 

Report Name Date Report Completed and Submitted 

  

 
Enforcement Action 

IU Name & Nature of 
Business 

Comments City  Parameter 
Violated 

Discharge 
concentratio

n 
(mg/L) 

USD/Fed Limit 
Violated(mg/L) 

Enforce- 
ment 

 

Aryzta – Food 
Manufacturer 

 Newark Oil & Grease 
(Animal 

Vegetable) 

360 300 NOV N19-
009 

Addendum 

Kimco Realty- 
Fremont Hub 

property 
management 

company 

NOV issued 
because the 

11/22/19 SSO is 
the second SSO 

after the 1/11/19 
incident in the 

same area  

Fremont SUO 36.04 § 
2.01.1(b)(2), 

(16) 

 Prohibited 
discharges 

NOV N19-
012 

(1) WL   – Warning Letter NOV – Notices of Violation AO – Administrative Order 
 C&D – Cease and Desist Order  SNC – Significant Non-Compliance EM – Enforcement Meeting 
 

Other - Training, Special Meetings, Conferences, IAC (topics) 

Activity Date of Event Attendees 

Boyce Lift Station Inspection 
Training 

11   12/5/19 Joe, Alex, Jose, Michael D., Marian, Doug, and 
Victor 

39 of 567



Engineering/Construction 
 
No. of projects under construction: 6 

 Construction Projects Capital 
($1000) 

Scheduled 
Completion 

Completed 
Scope 

Completed 
Time 

Comments for  
December 2019 Activities 

1.  Alvarado Influent Pump 
Station Improvements 
Project – Thomas 

$8,890 10/21 0% 8% Submittals review in progress.  

2.  Headworks Screens 
Replacement Project – 
Thomas 

$1,822 11/20 0% 21% Submittals review in progress.  

3.  Primary Digester No. 2 
Rehabilitation Project – 
Derek 

$3,058 10/20 0% 0% Construction contract was 
awarded on December 9th. 
Contractor is procuring bonds 
and insurance. 

4.  Primary Digester No. 3 
Rehabilitation – Derek 

$2,410 03/19 100% 100% Closeout and punch list work in 
progress. 

5.  Sludge Degritter System 
Project – Kevin 

$1,436 10/19 95% 100% Evaluation of Degritter 
performance in progress. 

6.  Wet Weather Flow 
Management - Calcium 
Thiosulfate Chemical Tank 
Project - Kevin 

$257 01/20 90% 90% Construction of concrete pad in 
progress. 

  

40 of 567



Design/Study 
 

No. of projects in design/study phase: 17 

 Design/Study Projects Capital 
($1000) 

Scheduled 
Completion 

Completed 
Scope 

Completed 
Time 

Comments for 
December 2019 Activities 

1.  Aeration Blower No. 11 
Project - Derek 

$123 06/20 10% 24% Basis of design technical 
memo was received on 
December 18th. 

2.  Alvarado Influent Valve Box 
Rehabilitation Project – Kevin 

$89 01/20 100% 100% Project construction 
advertised on December 
17th.  Submittal review of 
pre-purchased valves in 
progress.  

3.  Centrifuge Building 
Improvements Project – 
Somporn 

$574 08/20 15% 15% Preparation of 50% 
design documents in 
progress and will be due 
in January 

4.  Cogeneration Feasibility Study 
– Somporn 

$92 02/20 75% 70% The consultant will 
proceed with detailed 
evaluation of four 
technologies. 

5.  Emergency Outfall 
Improvements Project – 
Andrew  

$365 04/19 97% 100% Permitting and easement 
acquisition in progress. 

6.  Force Main Condition 
Assessment – Andrew 

$121 10/20 60% 78% Next round of inspection 
will be scheduled with 
the next phase of Force 
Main Corrosion Repairs 
project.  

7.  Force Main Corrosion Repairs 
Project Phase 3 – Andrew 

$60 02/19 75% 85% Project construction is 
pending the completion 
of Force Main relocation 
project. 

8.  Gravity Sewer Rehabilitation / 
Replacement Project – Phase 
VII – Andrew 

$176 03/20 7% 20% Completed land surveying 
for project. 50% design 
submittal due late  
January. 

9.  Irvington and Newark Odor 
Control Study - Kevin 

$99 12/19 85% 85% Initial findings and 
recommendations 
completed. Draft odor 
study report in progress. 

10.  Newark Basin Masterplan – 
Andrew 

$318 08/19 100% 100% Final report completed 
and finalized.    

11.  Odor Control Alternatives 
Study – Kevin 

$465 07/19 99% 100% Report will be finalized 
after the pilot testing 
project is completed.   

12.  Odor Control Pilot Study - 
Somporn 

$99 12/20 30% 25% Preparation of RFP for 
odor control pilot unit in 
progress. 

41 of 567



 Design/Study Projects Capital 
($1000) 

Scheduled 
Completion 

Completed 
Scope 

Completed 
Time 

Comments for 
December 2019 Activities 

13.  Plant Network Architecture 
Study – Somporn 

$100 12/19 90% 100% Study workshop held on 
December 10th.  Follow-
up workshop scheduled 
for January 29th.  

14.  Plant Paving Project – 
Somporn 

In-
house 

01/20 90% 90% Final design in progress.  
Will advertise for bid in 
January. 

15.  Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
– Curtis 

$1,904 06/19 100% 100% Authority to Construct 
documents were received 
from BAAQMD on 
December 11th.  
Construction contract to 
be recommended for 
award at January 13th 
Board meeting.  

16.  Standby Power Generation 
System Upgrade Project – 
Kevin 

$2,019 11/20 60% 60% CWSRF design submittal 
and SRF loan application 
completed.  Application 
submitted December 
27th. 

17.  WAS Thickener Replacement 
Project – Derek 

$284 05/19 40% 100% Consultant and staff 
continued to work on 
thickening technology 
selection process.  

 

42 of 567



 

COLLECTION SERVICES  
ACTIVITIES REPORT 

December 2019 
 

    
Progress/Accomplishments   

• No Spills in December 

• Completed 22.4 miles of sewer main cleaning in December. 

• Completed 5.8 miles of sewer main inspection in December. 

• Responded to 15 service request calls in December. 

• Completed a total of 16 sewer main repairs in December. 

• Sewer Rehab Robot Demo 
Trainings 

• SSO Sampling (2 employees 

• Forklift Assessment (2 employees) 
Reported Bay Area Spills 

December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2019 

 
 

 

 
   

  

43 of 567



December 30, 2018 to December 30, 2019 Spills Per 100 Miles of Pipe 
Union Sanitary District, State & Regional Average 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
44 of 567



Performance Measures 

 
 

45 of 567



Other Collection Services Status Data: 
 

Support Team Work Order Status: 
 

 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C/S Maintenance Status: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

46 of 567







 EBDA Pump 6 overhaul and impeller repair
 Co-gen 2 XT4 repaired auto blend issue
 NPS Sewage Pumps 3, 4 & 5 non drive bearing replacements
 Installation of new WAS Sampler 

Future Planning
 Incline Conveyor 1 hangar bearing replacement
 Odor Scrubber 17 overhaul
 Centrifuge 2 2k service
 Centrifuge 4 16k service
 Gas Conditioning Skid Sulfa Treat swap in tank 

Performance Measurements

Fabrication, Maintenance and Construction
Activities Report
December 2019

Progress/Accomplishments
Completed 98.83% of preventive maintenance activities for the month of December
Completed 94 corrective maintenance work orders for the month of December

0

5

10

15

20

Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19

N
o.

 o
f W

O
s

Priority A Repairs Required

Total Target

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

N
o.

  o
f  

W
O

s

Number of Work Orders Initiated & Completed Within Month

Initiated
Completed

1
47 of 567



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160
N

o.
 o

f W
O

s

Number of Work Orders over 90 Days

# WO's Target

2
48 of 567



l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

Future Planning

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

Other

l

Attended the Plant Network Architecture Study Workshop

Begin recruitment process for Plant Operator III Trainees

Attended the Blower 11 Kick Off Meeting 

Attended the BACWA Quartery Air Committee Meeting

Attended the Pump Station Odor Control Workshop

Researched potential impacts of Brine addition to influent wastewater

Attend the ETSU Phase 1A Plant Design Kick Off Meeting

Attend the BACWA Annual Meeting

Treatment & Disposal

Activities Report

December 2019

Progress/Accomplishments

Completed 99.3% preventive maintenance activities for the month of December

Maintained 100% compliance with NPDES permits

Met with EC and TPO to discuss service level committements for the LIMS project

Reviewed proposals from the ETSU architects

Participate in the NPDES audit conducted by the Regional Board

Began researching whether the use of  biogas for purposes other than fuel would trigger 

additional requirements under federal or state safety requirements

Submit mercury loading to the Hayward Marsh as required by the Mercury and PCB Watershed 

Permit

Create the Annual Biosolids Report for 2019 as required by 40CFR Part 503

Begin piloting new total solids meter for the WAS Thickening Project

Complete the implementation of LIMS communication of laboratory results to the EC IPACS 

system

Cogen system produced 73% of power consumed for the month of December

Visit Fairfield Wastewater Treatment Plant to view the master control panel used for their 

aeration and blower controls

Participated in ETSU Phase 1A Lead Design Consultant Selection

Attend the Standby Power Project Pre-selection/SRF Submittal Workshop

49 of 567



Performance Measurements

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

M
G

D

m
g

/l

Lab Results and Effluent Flow

EFF SS CBOD EFF SS Limit CBOD Limit Flow MGD

57%
69% 74%

58%

22%
38% 32%

0% 10%

55%

77% 79% 73%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

kW
h

 /
1

0
0

0
0

P
er

ce
n

t 
P

ro
d

u
ce

d
Cogen Power Produced

Percent Produced kWh /10000

Parameter EBDA Limit Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19

Copper, µg/l 78 4.5 4.6 3.7

Mercury, µg/l 0.066 0.0022 0.0022 0.0026

Cyanide, µg/l 42 < 0.9 < 0.9 < 0.9

Ammonia- N, mg/L (Range) 130 41.6 - 45.9 42 - 47.5 43 - 46.2

Fecal Coliform, MPN/100ml (Range)

• 5-Day Geometric Mean 500 12 - 17 25 - 38 34 - 72

• 11-Sample 90th Percentile 1100 38 - 60 39 58 - 77

Enterococci

• Monthly Geometric Mean 240 13.3 14.1 10.0

USD's Final Effluent Monthly Monitoring Results

E = Estimated value, concentration outside calibration range.  For SIP, E = DNQ, estimated 

concentration.

50 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 9 

 
TITLE: Consider Adoption of a Resolution of the Union Sanitary District to Authorize 

the Issuance of Not to Exceed $70,000,000 Revenue Bonds by the Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority, Authorizing the Execution and Delivery 
of Certain Documents in Connection Therewith and Authorizing Certain Other 
Actions (This is a Motion Item) 

 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
  
  
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board of Directors of the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) adopt 
the attached resolution to authorize the issuance of not to exceed $70,000,000 Revenue Bonds 
by the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority  and authorizing the execution and delivery of 
certain documents and other actions by the District in connection therewith. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
On December 9, 2019, the Board adopted a resolution to authorize the District’s staff, legal 
counsel and the municipal advisor to prepare documents for the issuance of revenue bonds 
(the “Bonds”).  The Board also appointed Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth as Bond Counsel, 
Quint & Thimmig as Disclosure Counsel, Fieldman Rolapp & Associates as Municipal Advisor, 
and RBC as Underwriter for the transaction.  
 
On January 13, 2020, the Board adopted a resolution to approve a Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement with the California Municipal Finance Authority to create the USD Authority. The 
proposed Bonds will be issued by the USD Authority and the Bonds will be secured by payments 
to be made by the District to the USD Authority pursuant to an installment purchase agreement 
in the form presented at this meeting.   

51 of 567



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 
 
Background and Overview 
 
The District’s staff has identified approximately $37 million in capital project funding needs as 
well as potential savings to be achieved through the refunding of the District’s outstanding 
State Revolving Fund Loans with the State Water Resources Control Board (the “State Loans”).   
If approved, the items presented at this meeting authorize the issuance of the Bonds by the 
USD Financing Authority (“USDFA”) and the execution of certain agreements and documents by 
the District in connection therewith to finance such capital projects and refunding of the State 
Loans.  Based on current market conditions, the refunding is estimated to save the District 
approximately $1.8 million in net present value savings (or approximately 4.96% of the 
refunded amount).  
 
 
District Resolution 
 
The resolution presented for adoption by the Board of Directors authorizes the issuance of the 
Bonds by the USDFA and authorizes staff to finalize and execute, as applicable, the following 
documents: 
 

1. Installment Purchase Agreement between the District and the USDFA which establishes 
the specific terms and conditions under which Wastewater Revenues are pledged to pay 
the installment payments securing the Bonds.  The Installment Purchase Agreement 
contains certain financial covenants of the District to provide security for the funds to be 
applied to repay the Bonds.  
 

2. Continuing Disclosure Certificate pursuant to which District agrees to provide certain 
updated information on an annual basis relating to the District and the Bonds to the 
market. 
 

3. Bond Purchase Agreement pursuant to which RCB Capital Markets, as underwriter, 
agrees to purchase all of the Bonds for resale to investors, subject to certain closing 
conditions.  
 

4. The District Portion of the Preliminary Official Statement setting forth material 
information relating to the District’s operations and finances, which will be provided to 
potential investors of the Bonds. 

 

52 of 567



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
Good Faith Estimates 
 
Set forth below are good faith estimates of Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc., the Municipal 
Advisor, as required under Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code (the “Code”). The 
following estimates have no bearing on, and should not be misconstrued as, any not-to-exceed 
financial parameters authorized by resolution presented. 
 

(a) The true interest cost of the Bonds is estimated at 2.59%, calculated as provided in 
Section 5852.1(a)(1)(A) of the Code. 

(b) The finance charge of the Bonds, including all fees and charges paid to third parties, is 
estimated at $469,202. 

(c) Proceeds of the Bonds to be received by the District from the sale of the Bonds, 
including the estimated principal amount of the proposed Bonds of $62,575,000, plus 
the proposed premium of $10,985,407 and the District payment of $1,117,770 for 
interest accrued on the existing loans, less the finance charges set forth in (b) above, is 
equal to $74,208,975. 

(d) The total payment amount of the Bonds calculated as provided in Section 
5852.1(a)(1)(D) of the Code is estimated at $100,108,192. 

The foregoing are estimates and the final costs will depend on market conditions and can be 
expected to vary from the estimated amounts set forth above. 
 
The resolutions being presented at this meeting approve the execution and delivery of the 
proposed bonds and authorize staff and the finance team to execute certain actions in 
connection therewith. 
 
Attachments: 
District Resolution 
Installment Purchase Agreement 
Continuing Disclosure Certificate 
Bond Purchase Agreement 
Preliminary Official Statement  

53 of 567



Page 1 of 3 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $70,000,000 
REVENUE  BONDS BY THE UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING 
AUTHORITY, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 
CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH AND 
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS 

WHEREAS, the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) is a sanitary district duly organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California; and 

WHEREAS, the District, acting pursuant to Article I (commencing with Section 6500) of 
Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California (the “JPA 
Law”), may enter into a joint exercise of powers agreement with one or more other public 
agencies pursuant to which such contracting parties may jointly exercise any power common to 
them and, pursuant to Government Code Section 6588, exercise certain additional powers; and 

WHEREAS, the District is a member of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
(the “USDFA”); and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is in the public interest and for the public 
benefit that the District finance the acquisition and construction of certain public 
improvements of the District’s wastewater system and refinance all or a portion of the District’s 
outstanding loans from the State Water Resources Control Board through the USDFA; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UNION 
SANITARY DISTRICT AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. The statements, findings, and determinations set forth above and in the 
preambles of the documents approved by this Resolution are true and correct. 

SECTION 2. The form of the Installment Purchase Agreement on file with the Board 
Clerk of the District, is hereby approved.  The President of the Board of Directors of the District, 
the Vice President of the Board of Directors of the District, the General Manager of the District 
(each, an “Authorized Officer”) are each hereby authorized and directed, on behalf of the 
District, to execute and deliver the Installment Purchase Agreement substantially in the 
approved form, with such changes as may be recommended by General Counsel or Stradling 
Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, as Bond Counsel (“Bond Counsel”), said 
execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 3. The form of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate on file with the Board 
Clerk of the District, is hereby approved. Each Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and 

54 of 567



Page 2 of 3 
 

directed, on behalf of the District, to execute and deliver the Continuing Disclosure Certificate 
substantially in the approved form, with such changes as may be recommended by General 
Counsel or Bond Counsel, said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 4. The proposed form of the Bond Purchase Agreement, as made available 
to the Board of Directors, is hereby approved.  Any Authorized Officer is authorized and 
directed to execute and deliver the Bond Purchase Agreement with such changes, insertions 
and omissions as may be recommended by Bond Counsel, and approved by the Authorized 
Officer executing the same, said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval;  
provided, however, that in no event shall the aggregate principal amount of the revenues 
bonds to be issued by the Authority (the “2020A Bonds”) exceed $70,000,000, nor shall the 
underwriting discount for the 2020A Bonds exceed 0.325% of the principal amount of the 
2020A Bonds, nor shall the true interest cost of the 2020A Bonds exceed 4.00% per annum.   

SECTION 5. The preparation and distribution of the information in the Preliminary 
Official Statement relating to the 2020A Bonds under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” 
“WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO 
THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS” and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in 
Appendices B, D, G and H thereto (collectively, the “District Portion”) in the form as made 
available to the Board of Directors is hereby approved.  Any Authorized Officer is authorized 
individually to sign a certificate pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 promulgated under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”) relating to the District Portion.  Any Authorized Officer is 
authorized and directed to execute, approve and deliver the District Portion to the final Official 
Statement in the form of the District Portion to the Preliminary Official Statement, with such 
changes, insertions and omissions as are consistent with this Resolution and which may be 
recommended by Bond Counsel, in accordance with the Rule, and approved by such Authorized 
Officer executing the same, said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval.   

SECTION 6. The Board hereby authorizes the sale issuance of the 2020A Bonds by the 
Authority in an amount not to exceed $70,000,000. 

SECTION 7. U.S. Bank, National Association, is hereby appointed to act as trustee 
under the Indenture of Trust. 

SECTION 8. The Board acknowledges that the good faith estimates required by 
Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code are disclosed in the staff report and are 
available to the public at the meeting at which this Resolution is approved. 

SECTION 9. Each Authorized Officer and the Business Services Work Group 
Manager/Chief Financial Officer of the District or the designee thereof and any other proper 
officers of the District, acting singly, are each authorized and directed to do any and all things 
and to execute and deliver any and all documents and certificates which such officers may 
deem necessary or advisable in order to consummate the sale, execution and delivery of the 
Bonds, the delivery of the Installment Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 
Certificate, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the District Portion to the Preliminary Official 

55 of 567



Page 3 of 3 
 

Statement and the District Portion to the final Official Statement and otherwise effectuate the 
purposes of this Resolution, and such actions previously taken by such officers are hereby 
ratified and confirmed. 

SECTION 10.  The Board acknowledges that the good faith estimates required by Section 
5852.1 of the California Government Code are disclosed in the staff report and are available to 
the public at the meeting at which this Resolution is approved. 

SECTION 11. The Board hereby finds that the proposed financing of the acquisition and 
construction of improvements to the District’s wastewater system the refinancing of all or a 
portion of the District’s outstanding loans from the State Water Resources Control Board as 
authorized by this Resolution is consistent with the District’s Debt Management Policy (Policy 
No. 2060) (the “Policy”) and, to the extent that such proposed financing and refinancing is 
inconsistent with any provisions of the Policy, such provisions of the Policy are hereby waived.   

SECTION 12. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage. 

ON A MOTION by Director ____________, and seconded by Director 
____________, the foregoing resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of 
the Union Sanitary District this 27th day of January, 2020, by the following vote, to wit: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

President of the Board of Directors 

 

Board Clerk 

56 of 567



 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

and 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

Dated as of January 1, 2020 

Relating to 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 

 
 

57 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

i 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions ................................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations by the District ............................................................................. 10 
Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA .................................................... 10 

ARTICLE III 
THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT 

Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project ................................................. 11 
Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project .................................................................................. 11 
Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA ................................................................ 11 
Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project ............................................ 12 
Section 3.05. Title ........................................................................................................................ 12 
Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund .................................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE IV 
INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purchase Price ........................................................................................................ 13 
Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments ......................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE V 
SECURITY 

Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues ...................................................................................... 13 
Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues ................................................................................ 14 
Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds ............................................................................ 15 
Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt ................................................................................................... 15 
Section 5.05. Investments ............................................................................................................ 16 
Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve................................................................................................ 16 

ARTICLE VI 
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary 
Agreements ............................................................................................................ 17 

Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances ........................................................................................... 17 
Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property ....................................................... 17 
Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities ................................................................................ 18 
Section 6.05. Tax Covenants ........................................................................................................ 18 
Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction .................................................................... 19 
Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System ...................................... 19 
Section 6.08. Payment of Claims ................................................................................................. 19 

58 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

ii 
 

Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts .................................................................................... 19 
Section 6.10. Insurance ................................................................................................................ 19 
Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports ............................. 20 
Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA .................................................... 20 
Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations .................... 20 
Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges ............................................................................... 21 
Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges ............................................................................ 21 
Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds ..................................................................................... 21 
Section 6.17. Further Assurances ................................................................................................ 22 
Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts ...................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.01. Prepayment ............................................................................................................ 22 
Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment ......................................................................................... 23 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities ................................................. 23 
Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration ............................................................... 24 
Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA ............................................................................... 24 
Section 8.04. Non-Waiver ............................................................................................................ 25 
Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive ......................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE IX 
DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations ........................................................................................ 25 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.01. Liability Limited ...................................................................................................... 26 
Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties ........................... 26 
Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor .......................... 26 
Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability ................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References ......................................... 27 
Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity ..................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.07. Assignment ............................................................................................................. 27 
Section 10.08. Net Contract ........................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.09. California Law ......................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.10. Notices ................................................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.11. Effective Date ......................................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts ..................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA ...................................................................................... 28 

59 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

iii 
 

Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted ........................................................................................ 28 
 
Signatures ............................................................................................................................... S-1 
Exhibit A Description of the 2020 Project ........................................................................... A-1 
Exhibit B Refunded Obligations and Refunding Project ....................................................... B-1 
Exhibit C Purchase Price ....................................................................................................... C-1 
Exhibit D Form of Substitution Statement........................................................................... D-1 
Exhibit E Form of Requisition from Acquisition Fund .......................................................... E-1 

60 of 567



 

 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2020, is entered into by 
and between UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “District”), and UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “USDFA”). 

RECITALS 

A. The District proposes to finance the acquisition and construction of certain 
improvements, betterments, renovations and expansions of facilities within its Wastewater System, 
as described in Exhibit A (the “2020 Project”) and refinance the acquisition and construction of 
certain improvements, betterments, renovations and expansions of facilities within its Wastewater 
System as described in Exhibit B (the “Refunding Project”). 

B. The USDFA has agreed to assist the District in financing the 2020 Project and 
refinancing the Refunding Project on the terms and conditions that are set forth herein. 

C. The USDFA is authorized by Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government 
Code of the State of California, including but not limited to Section 6540 et seq., to finance and 
refinance the acquisition and construction of property for its members. 

D. The District is authorized by Division 6 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of 
California, including but not limited to Article 3 of Chapter 1 thereof, to acquire and construct 
facilities for its Wastewater System. 

E. The District is authorized by Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government 
Code of the State of California to refinance outstanding bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness. 

F. The District and the USDFA have duly authorized the execution of this Installment 
Purchase Agreement. 

G. All acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, to have happened and to 
have been performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and delivery of this 
Installment Purchase Agreement do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and 
due time, form and manner as required by law, and the parties hereto are now duly authorized to 
execute and enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THESE PREMISES AND OF THE MUTUAL 
AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS CONTAINED HEREIN AND FOR OTHER VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, 
THE PARTIES HERETO DO HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

61 of 567



 

2 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are 
defined in this section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement 
hereto and of any report or other document that is mentioned herein or therein have the meanings 
that are defined herein, the following definitions to be equally applicable to both the singular and 
plural forms of any of the terms that are defined herein.  All capitalized terms that are used herein 
and not defined herein shall have the meanings that are ascribed thereto in the Indenture. 

Accountant’s Report 

The term “Accountant’s Report” means a report signed by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant. 

Acquisition Fund 

The term “Acquisition Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to Section 
3.06. 

Bonds 

The term “Bonds” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District that are authorized, 
executed, issued and delivered by the District, the payments of which are payable from Net 
Revenues on a parity with the Series 2020 Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge 
of and lien on Gross Revenues as described in Section 5.01 hereof. 

Contracts 

The term “Contracts” means all contracts of the District previously or hereafter authorized 
and executed by the District, the payments under which are payable from Net Revenues on a parity 
with the Series 2020 Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge and lien on Gross 
Revenues as described in Section 5.01 hereof; and excluding contracts entered into for operation 
and maintenance of the Wastewater System. 

Date of Operation 

The term “Date of Operation” means, with respect to any uncompleted Project, the 
estimated date by which such Project will have been completed and, in the opinion of an engineer, 
will be ready for commercial operation by or on behalf of the District. 

Debt Service 

The term “Debt Service” means, for any period of calculation, the sum of: 

(i) the interest accruing during such period on all outstanding Bonds, assuming that all 
outstanding serial Bonds are retired as scheduled and that all outstanding term Bonds are 

62 of 567



 

3 

redeemed or paid from sinking fund payments as scheduled (except to the extent that such interest 
is capitalized or is reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of 
America pursuant to Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 
17, 2009)), or any future similar program); 

(ii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding serial Bonds maturing in 
such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); 

(iii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding term Bonds required to be 
paid in such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); and 

(iv) those portions of the Contracts that are required to be paid during such period, 
(except to the extent that the interest that is evidenced and represented thereby is capitalized or is 
reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of America pursuant to 
Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 17, 2009)), or 
any future similar program and excluding Excluded Principal); 

but less the earnings to be derived from the investment of moneys on deposit in debt service 
reserve funds established for Bonds or Contracts; 

provided that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts bearing or comprising interest at other than a 
fixed rate, the rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall, for all purposes, be assumed to 
be a fixed rate equal to the higher of: (1) the then current variable interest rate borne by such 
Bonds or Contract plus 1%; and (2) the highest variable rate borne over the preceding 3 months by 
outstanding variable rate debt issued by the District or, if no such variable rate debt is at the time 
outstanding, by variable rate debt of which the interest rate is computed by reference to an index 
that is comparable to that to be utilized in determining the interest rate for the debt then proposed 
to be issued;  

provided further that if any series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts have twenty-five percent 
(25%) or more of the aggregate principal amount of such series or issue due in any one year (and 
such principal is not Excluded Principal), Debt Service shall be determined for the period of 
determination as if the principal of and interest on such series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts 
were being paid from the date of incurrence thereof in substantially equal annual amounts over a 
period of twenty-five (25) years from the date of calculation; and 

provided further that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts or portions thereof which bear no interest 
but which are sold at a discount and which discount accretes with respect to such Bonds or 
Contracts or portions thereof, such accreted discount shall be treated as interest in the calculation 
of Debt Service; and  

provided further that if the Bonds or Contracts constitute interest rate swap agreements or other 
paired obligations, the interest rate on such Bonds or Contracts shall be the resulting linked rate or 
the effective fixed interest rate to be paid by the District with respect to such paired obligations; 
and 

63 of 567



 

4 

provided further that the amount on deposit in a debt service reserve fund on any date of 
calculation of Debt Service shall be deducted from the amount of principal due at the final maturity 
of the Bonds and Contracts for which such debt service reserve fund was established and, to the 
extent that the amount in such debt service reserve fund is in excess of such amount of principal, 
such excess shall be applied to the full amount of principal due, in each preceding year, in 
descending order, until such amount is exhausted. 

District 

The term “District” means Union Sanitary District, a sanitary district that is duly organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California. 

EBDA 

The term “EBDA” means the East Bay Dischargers Authority, a joint exercise of powers 
agency created pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement. 

EBDA Joint Powers Agreement 

The term “EBDA Joint Powers Agreement” means the East Bay Dischargers Authority 
Amended and Restated Joint Powers Agreement, dated December [13], 2020, among the parties 
listed therein, as amended and supplemented from time-to-time in accordance with the terms 
thereof. 

Event of Default 

The term “Event of Default” means an event that is described in Section 8.01. 

Excluded Principal 

The term “Excluded Principal” means each payment of principal of any Bond or Contract for 
which there is on file with the Trustee (i) a certificate of an Independent Municipal Consultant to 
the effect that such Bond or Contract is commercial paper or otherwise of a short term or revolving 
nature and has a maturity of less than 60 months and (ii) a certificate of an Authorized 
Representative to the effect that the District intends to pay such principal from the proceeds of 
Bonds or Contracts or other bonds, notes or other obligations of the District.  No such 
determination shall affect the security for such Bonds or Contracts or the obligation of the District 
to pay such Bonds or Contracts from Net Revenues. 

Fiscal Year 

The term “Fiscal Year” means: the period from July 1 of each year through June 30 of the 
following year, or any other twelve-month period that is selected and designated as the official 
Fiscal Year of the District. 

64 of 567



 

5 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

The term “Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” means the uniform accounting and 
reporting procedures set forth in publications of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants or its successor, or by any other generally accepted authority on such procedures, and 
includes, as applicable, the standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board or 
its successor. 

 

Gross Revenues 

The term “Gross Revenues” means all income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other moneys 
derived from the ownership or operation of the Wastewater System, including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing: 

(i) rates and charges collected by the District on the Alameda County, California 
tax roll in accordance with Section 5473 et.seq. of the Health and Safety Code (or any successor 
provisions thereto); 

(ii) all other income, rents, rates, fees, charges or other moneys derived by the 
District through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Wastewater 
System; 

(iii) the proceeds of any stand-by or availability charges, development fees and 
connection charges collected by the District; and 

(iv) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of amounts 
described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above and from District reserves;  

but excluding: 

(1) customers’ deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to 
refund until such deposits or advances have become the property of the District;  

(2) any proceeds of taxes or assessments which are restricted by law to 
be used by the District to pay bonds or other obligations heretofore or hereafter issued; and  

(3) gain or loss on the sale of any capital assets as permitted hereby. 

“Gross Revenues” also include all amounts transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 
Revenue Fund in accordance with Section 5.06.  “Gross Revenues” do not include any amounts 
transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve during any Fiscal Year in accordance 
with Section 5.02(c). 

Indenture 

65 of 567



 

6 

The term “Indenture” means the Indenture of Trust, dated as of the date hereof, by and 
between the USDFA and the Trustee, relating to the 2020 Bonds, as originally executed and as it 
may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance therewith.. 

Independent Certified Public Accountant 

The term “Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any firm of certified public 
accountants that is appointed by the District, and each of whom is independent pursuant to the 
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

Independent Municipal Consultant 

The term “Independent Municipal Consultant” means a municipal advisor or firm of such 
municipal advisors appointed by the District, and who, or each of whom: (1) is in fact independent 
and not under domination of the District; (2) does not have any substantial interest, direct or 
indirect, with the District; (3) is not connected with the District as an officer or employee thereof, 
but who may be regularly retained to make reports thereto; and (4) is registered as a “municipal 
advisor,” as defined in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Installment Payment Date  

The term “Installment Payment Date” means any date on which Installment Payments are 
scheduled to be paid by the District under and pursuant to any Contract.   

Installment Payments  

The term “Installment Payments” means the Installment Payments of interest and principal 
scheduled to be paid by the District under and pursuant to the Contracts.   

Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “Installment Purchase Agreement” means this Installment Purchase Agreement, 
by and between the District and the USDFA, dated as of January 1, 2020, as originally executed and 
as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance herewith. 

JPA Agreement 

The term “JPA Agreement” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated January 
13, 2020, by and between the District and California Municipal Finance Authority, pursuant to which 
the USDFA is established, as such JPA Agreement may be amended and supplemented from time-
to-time on accordance therewith. 

Law 

The term “Law” means the Sanitary District Act of 1923, of the State of California (being 
Division 6 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California, as amended) and all laws 
amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto, including but not limited to Chapter 5 of Division 7 of 
Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California. 

66 of 567



 

7 

Manager 

The term “Manager” means the General Manager/Chief Executive Officer of the District, or 
any other person that is designated by the General Manager to act on behalf of the General 
Manager. 

Net Proceeds 

The term “Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any casualty insurance or 
condemnation award, the proceeds from such insurance or condemnation award remaining after 
payment of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

Net Revenues 

The term “Net Revenues” means, for any Fiscal Year, the Gross Revenues for such Fiscal 
Year less the Operation and Maintenance Costs for such Fiscal Year.  When held by the Trustee in 
any funds or accounts established hereunder, Net Revenues shall include all interest or gain derived 
from the investment of amounts in any of such funds or accounts. 

Operation and Maintenance Costs 

The term “Operation and Maintenance Costs” means: (i) costs spent or incurred for 
maintenance and operation of the Wastewater System calculated in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles, including (among other things) the reasonable expenses of 
management and repair and other expenses that are necessary to maintain and preserve the 
Wastewater System in good repair and working order, and including administrative costs of the 
District that are charged directly or apportioned to the Wastewater System, including but not 
limited to salaries and wages of employees, payments to the Public Employees Retirement System, 
overhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, attorneys or engineers and 
insurance premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of the District or 
charges (other than debt service payments) required to be paid by it to comply with the terms of 
the Installment Purchase Agreement or of the Indenture or any Contract or of any resolution or 
indenture authorizing the issuance of any Bonds or of such Bonds; and (ii) costs allocable to the 
District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement which constitutes maintenance and operation 
costs of the EBDA calculated on accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles; but 
excluding in all cases (x) depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor 
and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, (y) all capital 
charges, and (z) all amounts allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement for 
capital costs thereof, including principal and interest on any bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness of EBDA. 

67 of 567



 

8 

Parity Debt Reserve 

The term “Parity Debt Reserve” means the fund by that name that is established pursuant 
to Section 5.06. 

Project 

The term “Project” means additions, betterments, extensions or improvements to the 
District’s facilities designated by the Board of Directors of the District as a Project, the acquisition 
and construction of which is to be paid for by the proceeds of any Contracts or Bonds.   

Purchase Price 

The term “Purchase Price” means the principal amount plus interest thereon owed by the 
District to the USDFA under the terms hereof as provided in Section 4.01. 

Refunded Obligations 

The term “Refunded Obligations” means the loans from the SWRCB described in Exhibit B 
hereto. 

Refunding Project 

The term “Refunding Project” means the facilities described in Exhibit B hereto. 

Revenue Fund 

The term “Revenue Fund” means the fund by that name that is established pursuant to 
Section 5.02.   

Series 2020 Installment Payment Date 

The term “Series 2020 Installment Payment Date” means August 31, 2020 and the last day 
of each February and the last day of each August thereafter. 

Series 2020 Installment Payments  

The term “Series 2020 Installment Payments” means the Installment Payments scheduled to 
be paid by the District under and pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

SWRCB 

The term “SWRCB” means the California State Water Resources Control Board. 

Subordinate Debt 

68 of 567



 

9 

The term “Subordinate Debt” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District the payments 
on which are payable subordinate to Debt Service and all contracts of the District the payments 
under which are payable subordinate to Debt Service as set forth in Section 5.04(c) hereof. 

Subordinate Debt Service 

The term “Subordinate Debt Service” means debt service on Subordinate Debt calculated in 
accordance with the definition of Debt Service with respect to Contracts and Bonds. 

Treasurer 

The term “Treasurer” means the Business Service Group Manager/Chief Financial Officer of 
the District or the successor thereto. 

Trustee 

The term “Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity as Trustee 
under and pursuant to the Indenture, and its successors and assigns. 

USDFA 

The term “USDFA” means Union Sanitary District Financing Authority, a joint exercise of 
powers agency that is duly organized pursuant to the JPA Agreement and existing under and by 
virtue of the laws of the State of California. 

 

Wastewater Service 

The term “Wastewater Service” means the wastewater collection, conveyance, treatment 
and disposal service that is made available or provided by the Wastewater System including but not 
limited to recycled water service. 

Wastewater System 

The term “Wastewater System” means the whole and each and every part of the 
wastewater collection, conveyance, treatment and disposal system of the District, including all real 
property and buildings, including the portion thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all 
additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to such wastewater system or any part 
thereof hereafter acquired or constructed, including recycled water facilities of the District and the 
District’s interest in the facilities of the EBDA pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement and 
related agreements. 

2020 Project 

The term “2020 Project” means the additions, betterments, extensions and improvements 
to the District’s Wastewater System facilities, including real property and buildings, if any, which are 
described as such in Exhibit A, to the extent: (i) approved pursuant to the California Environmental 

69 of 567



 

10 

Quality Act; and (ii) paid for with the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds, and as modified in conformance 
with Section 3.02 hereof. 

2020 Bonds 

The term “2020 Bonds” means the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2020A, issued pursuant to the Indenture. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations by the District.  The District makes the following 
representations: 

(a) The District is a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under and 
pursuant to the laws of the State of California. 

(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment 
Purchase Agreement, carry out its obligations hereunder and carry out and consummate all other 
transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Agreement, and the District has 
complied with the provisions of the Law in all matters relating to such transactions. 

(c) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due 
performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement. 

(d) The District will not take or, to the extent within its power, permit any action to be 
taken which results in the interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and 
the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in 
the gross income of the USDFA or its assigns for purposes of federal or State of California personal 
income taxation. 

(e) The District has determined that it is necessary and proper for District uses and 
purposes within the terms of the Law that the District finance and acquire the 2020 Project and 
refinance the Refunding Project in the manner that is provided for in this Installment Purchase 
Agreement in order to provide essential services and facilities to persons residing in the District. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA.  The USDFA makes the 
following representations and warranties: 

(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized under the JPA 
Agreement and in good standing under the laws of the State of California, has full legal right, power 
and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement and to carry out and consummate 
all transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Agreement and by proper action 
has duly authorized the execution and delivery and due performance of this Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

70 of 567



 

11 

(b) The execution and delivery of this Installment Purchase Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions herein contemplated will not violate any provision of law, any 
order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, material agreement or other 
instrument to which the USDFA is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is 
bound, or be in conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default (with due notice or the 
passage of time or both) under any such indenture, agreement or other instrument, or result in the 
creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever 
upon any of the properties or assets of the USDFA. 

(c) The USDFA will not take or permit any action to be taken which results in interest 
that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the 
terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in the gross income of the USDFA or 
its assigns for purposes of federal or State of California personal income taxation. 

ARTICLE III 
 

THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT 

Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project.  The USDFA hereby agrees 
to cause the 2020 Project and any additions or modifications thereto to be constructed, acquired 
and installed by the District as its agent.  The District shall enter into contracts and provide for, as 
agent for the USDFA, the complete design, construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 
Project in accordance with all applicable laws.  The District hereby agrees that it will cause the 
construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 Project to be diligently performed after the 
deposit of funds into the Acquisition Fund pursuant to Section 3.02 of the Indenture, upon 
satisfactory completion of design work and compliance with the California Environmental Quality 
Act and approval by the Board of Directors of the District, and that it will use its best efforts to 
cause the construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 Project to be substantially 
completed by [February 1, 2023], unforeseeable delays beyond the reasonable control of the 
District only excepted.  It is hereby expressly understood and agreed that the USDFA shall be under 
no liability of any kind or character whatsoever for the payment of any cost of the 2020 Project and 
that all such costs and expenses shall be paid by the District. 

Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project.  The District may substitute other 
improvements for those listed as components of the 2020 Project in Exhibit A, but only if the 
District first files with the USDFA and the Trustee a statement of the District in the form attached as 
Exhibit D: (a) identifying the improvements to be substituted and the improvements to District 
facilities they replace in the 2020 Project; and (b) stating that the estimated costs of construction, 
acquisition and installation of the substituted improvements are not less than such costs for the 
improvements previously planned. 

Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA.  In consideration for assistance in 
refinancing the Refunding Project, the District agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the Corporation 
and the Corporation agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases from the District, the Refunding 
Project. 

71 of 567



 

12 

Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project.  In consideration for the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments, the USDFA agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the District, and 
the District agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases, from the USDFA, the 2020 Project and the 
Refunding Project at the purchase price that is specified in Section 4.01 hereof and otherwise in the 
manner and in accordance with the provisions of the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

Section 3.05. Title.  All right, title and interest in the Refunding Project shall vest in the 
District immediately upon the original execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. Each component of the 2020 Project shall vest in the District immediately upon 
acquisition or construction thereof.  Such vesting shall occur without further action by the USDFA or 
the District, and the USDFA shall, if requested by the District or if necessary, to assure such 
automatic vesting, deliver any and all documents which are required to assure such vesting. 

Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund.  The District shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a 
separate fund designated as the “Acquisition Fund.”  The moneys in the Acquisition Fund shall be 
held by the District in trust and applied by the Treasurer of the District to the payment of the costs 
of acquisition and construction of the 2020 Project and of expenses incidental thereto. 

Before any payment is made from the Acquisition Fund by the Treasurer, the General 
Manager of the District, acting as agent of the USDFA, shall cause to be filed with the Treasurer a 
certificate of the District in the form set forth in Exhibit E to the Installment Purchase Agreement.  

Upon receipt of each such certificate, the Treasurer will pay the amount that is set forth in 
such certificate as directed by the terms thereof or disburse funds to the District for such payment 
as directed by the District in such certificate.  The Treasurer need not make any such payment if it 
has received notice of any lien, right to lien, attachment upon or claim affecting the right to receive 
payment of any of the moneys to be so paid, which has not been released or will not be released 
simultaneously with such payment. 

When the 2020 Project shall have been constructed and acquired in accordance with the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, a statement of the District stating the fact and date of such 
acquisition, construction and acceptance and stating that all of such costs of acquisition and 
incidental expenses have been determined and paid (or that all of such costs and expenses have 
been paid less specified claims which are subject to dispute and for which a retention in the 
Acquisition Fund is to be maintained in the full amount of such claims until such dispute is 
resolved), shall be delivered to the Treasurer by the General Manager of the District.  Upon the 
receipt of such statement, the Treasurer shall transfer any remaining balance in the Acquisition 
Fund which is not needed for Acquisition Fund purposes (but less the amount of any such retention, 
which amount shall be certified to the Treasurer by the General Manager of the District) to the 
Trustee for deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund for payment of 2020A Bonds in accordance 
with the Indenture. 

72 of 567



 

13 

ARTICLE IV 
 

INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purchase Price. 

(a) The Purchase Price to be paid by the District hereunder to the USDFA is the sum of 
the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest to accrue on the 
unpaid balance of such principal amount from the effective date hereof over the term hereof, 
subject to prepayment as provided in Article VII. 

(b) The principal amount of the payments to be made by the District hereunder is set 
forth in Exhibit C. 

(c) The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount is as specified 
in Section 4.02 and Exhibit C, and shall be paid by the District as and constitute interest paid on the 
principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder. 

Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to its rights of 
prepayment provided in Article VII, pay the USDFA the Purchase Price in installment payments of 
interest and principal in the amounts and on the Series 2020 Installment Payment Dates as set forth 
in Exhibit C. 

Each Series 2020 Installment Payment shall be paid to the USDFA in lawful money of the 
United States of America.  In the event that the District fails to make any of the payments which are 
required to be made by it under this section, such payment shall continue as an obligation of the 
District until such amount shall have been fully paid, and the District agrees to pay the same with 
interest accruing thereon at the rate or rates of interest then applicable to the remaining unpaid 
principal balance of the Series 2020 Installment Payments if paid in accordance with their terms. 

The obligation of the District to make the Series 2020 Installment Payments is absolute and 
unconditional, and until such time as the Purchase Price shall have been paid in full (or provision for 
the payment thereof shall have been made pursuant to Article IX), the District will not discontinue 
or suspend any Series 2020 Installment Payment which is required to be made by it under this 
section when due, whether or not the Wastewater System or any part thereof is operating or 
operable or its use is suspended, interfered with, reduced or curtailed or terminated in whole or in 
part, and whether or not the 2020 Project has been completed, and such payments shall not be 
subject to reduction whether by offset or otherwise and shall not be conditional upon the 
performance or nonperformance by any party of any agreement for any cause whatsoever. 

ARTICLE V 
 

SECURITY 

Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues.  The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on 
deposit in the Revenue Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 
Revenue Fund as described in Section 5.06, and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale 

73 of 567



 

14 

of the 2020 Bonds) which are held in any fund or account that is established pursuant to the 
Installment Purchase Agreement (except the Parity Debt Reserve (other than those amounts which 
are transferred by the District from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund)), are irrevocably 
pledged to the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments.  Except for the payment of the 
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the Gross Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose 
while any of the Series 2020 Installment Payments remain unpaid; provided that out of the Gross 
Revenues there may be apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted 
herein.  This pledge shall constitute a first lien on Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other 
funds and accounts that are created hereunder for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments and all other Contracts and Bonds in accordance with the terms hereof and of the 
Indenture. 

Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the 
pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Gross Revenues shall be 
received by the District in trust hereunder and shall be deposited when and as received in a special 
fund designated as the “Revenue Fund,” which fund is hereby established and which fund the 
District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold separate and apart from other funds so long 
as any Installment Payments or Bonds remain unpaid.  Moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be used 
and applied by the District as provided in this Installment Purchase Agreement.   

The District shall, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs (including amounts which are reasonably required to be set aside in contingency 
reserves for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not then immediately 
required) as they become due and payable.  All remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be set 
aside by the District at the following times in the following respective special funds in the following 
order of priority, and all moneys in each of such funds shall be held in trust and shall be applied, 
used and withdrawn only for the purposes hereinafter authorized in this section: 

(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment 
Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for 
deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the interest and principal 
payable and coming due on the next succeeding Series 2020 Installment Payment Date.  The District 
shall also, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit in 
the applicable payment fund, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, any other Debt Service in 
accordance with the provisions of the Contract, Bond, resolution or indenture relating thereto. 

Any moneys which are on deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund on each Series 2020 
Installment Payment Date (other than amounts required for the payment of past due principal or 
interest with respect to any 2020 Bonds not presented for payment) shall be credited to the 
payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments due and payable on such date.  No deposit need 
be made in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund as Series 2020 Installment Payments if the amount in 
the 2020A Bond Payment Fund is at least equal to the amount of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payment that is due and payable on the next succeeding Series 2020 Installment Payment Date. 

74 of 567



 

15 

(b) Reserve Funds.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the 
District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or 
priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or 
preference, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit to such other reserve fund or account for 
Bonds or Contracts an amount that is equal to the amount required to be deposited therein. 

(c) Surplus.  Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make 
any of the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for any 
purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of Subordinate Debt, or deposited 
in the Parity Debt Reserve. 

Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds.  The District may at any time execute any 
Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, in accordance herewith; provided that: 

(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during 
the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the 
District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent 
Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have 
produced a sum equal to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such 
twelve month period; and   

(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during 
the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the 
District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve 
month period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved 
and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an 
Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, 
shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service 
for such twelve month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued on any Contracts 
executed or Bonds issued since the end of such twelve month period, assuming that such Contracts 
had been executed or Bonds had been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period, plus 
the Debt Service which would have accrued had such proposed additional Contract been executed 
or proposed additional Bonds been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds issued or Contracts executed to refund Bonds or 
prepay Contracts may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service 
in each Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts executed is not 
greater than 105% of the Debt Service which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior 
to the issuance of such Bonds or execution of such Contracts. 

Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt.  The District may at any time execute or issue any 
Subordinate Debt in accordance herewith; provided that: 

(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any 
consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 

75 of 567



 

16 

the date of issuance or execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special report 
prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file 
with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the 
Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period.    

(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any 
consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 
the issuance or the execution of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give effect as of 
the first day of such twelve month period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the 
Wastewater Service approved and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special 
report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor 
on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of 
the Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service 
which would have accrued on any Subordinate Debt issued since the end of such twelve month 
period, assuming that such Subordinate Debt had been issued or executed had been issued at the 
beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would have 
accrued had such proposed Subordinate Debt been executed or issued at the beginning of such 
twelve month period.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Subordinate Debt executed to refund Bonds or prepay 
Contracts or to prepay or refund Subordinate Debt may be delivered without satisfying the 
conditions set forth above if Debt Service and Subordinate Debt Service in each Fiscal Year after the 
Fiscal Year in which such Subordinate Debt issued or executed is not greater than 105% of the Debt 
Service and Subordinate Debt which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior to the 
issuance of or execution of such Subordinate Debt. 

Section 5.05. Investments.  All moneys which are held by the District in the Revenue Fund, 
the Acquisition Fund and the Parity Debt Reserve shall be invested in Permitted Investments, and 
the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in such fund, except as otherwise provided 
herein. 

Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve.  The District shall establish a special fund designated as 
the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under the Installment 
Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold such fund separate 
and apart from other funds so long as any Contracts or Bonds remain unpaid.  Money transferred by 
the District from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve in accordance with Section 5.02(c) 
will be held in the Parity Debt Reserve and applied in accordance with the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

The District may withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Parity Debt 
Reserve and transfer such amounts to the Revenue Fund for application in accordance with 
Section 5.02 or, in the event that all or a portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments are 
discharged in accordance with Article VII, transfer all or any portion of such amounts for application 
in accordance with Article VII; provided that any such withdrawals and transfers may be made up to 
and including the date that is 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year or 12 calendar month period 
for which such withdrawals and transfers will be taken into account in calculating Gross Revenues.  

76 of 567



 

17 

Any such amounts withdrawn from the Parity Debt Reserve and transferred to the Revenue Fund 
constitute Gross Revenues. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary Agreements.  
The District will punctually pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments in strict conformity with the 
terms hereof, and will faithfully observe and perform all of the agreements, conditions, covenants 
and terms contained herein which are required to be observed and performed by it, and will not 
terminate the Installment Purchase Agreement for any cause including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, 
destruction of or damage to the 2020 Project or the Refunding Project, commercial frustration of 
purpose, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or of the State of 
California or any political subdivision of either or any failure of the USDFA to observe or perform 
any agreement, condition, covenant or term which is contained herein and required to be observed 
and performed by it, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or 
connected herewith or the insolvency, or deemed insolvency, or bankruptcy or liquidation of the 
USDFA or any force majeure, including acts of God, tempest, storm, earthquake, war, rebellion, riot, 
civil disorder, acts of public enemies, blockade or embargo, strikes, industrial disputes, lock outs, 
lack of transportation facilities, fire, explosion or acts or regulations of governmental authorities. 

The District will faithfully observe and perform all of the agreements, conditions, covenants 
and terms which are required to be observed and performed by it pursuant to all outstanding 
Contracts and Bonds as such may from time to time be executed or issued, as the case may be. 

Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances.  The District will not make any pledge of or place any 
lien on Gross Revenues or the moneys in the Revenue Fund except as provided herein.  In addition, 
the District may at any time, or from time to time, issue evidences of indebtedness or incur other 
obligations for any lawful purpose which are payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien on 
Gross Revenues or any moneys in the Revenue Fund as may from time to time be deposited therein 
(as provided in Section 5.02), provided that such pledge and lien shall be subordinate in all respects 
to the pledge of and lien thereon provided herein. 

Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not enter into 
any agreement or lease which materially impairs the operation of the Wastewater System or any 
part thereof which is necessary to secure adequate Gross Revenues for the payment of the Series 
2020 Installment Payments, or which would otherwise materially impair the rights of the USDFA 
hereunder or the operation of the Wastewater System.  Any real or personal property which has 
become nonoperative or which is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of the 
Wastewater System, or any material or equipment which has become worn out, may be sold if such 
sale will not materially impair the ability of the District to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments 
and if the proceeds of such sale are deposited in the Revenue Fund. 

Nothing herein shall restrict the ability of the District to sell any portion of the Wastewater 
System if such portion is immediately repurchased by the District and if such arrangement cannot 

77 of 567



 

18 

by its terms result in the purchaser of such portion of the Wastewater System exercising any 
remedy which would deprive the District of or otherwise interfere with its right to own and operate 
such portion of the Wastewater System. 

Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities.  The District will not, to the extent permitted 
by law, acquire, construct, maintain or operate and will not, to the extent permitted by law and 
within the scope of its powers, permit any other public or private agency, corporation, district or 
political subdivision or any person whomsoever to acquire, construct, maintain or operate within 
the District any wastewater system competitive with the Wastewater System. 

Section 6.05. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of 
the interest on the 2020 Bonds will not be adversely affected for federal income tax purposes, the 
District covenants to comply with all applicable requirements of the Code which are necessary to 
preserve such exclusion from gross income with respect to the 2020 Bonds and specifically 
covenants, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as follows: 

(a) Private Activity.  The District will take no action or refrain from taking any 
action, and the District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other moneys 
or property, which would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “private activity bonds” within the meaning 
of Section 141 of the Code; 

(b) Arbitrage.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds 
or of any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any 
action or refrain from taking any action, which will cause the 2020 Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” 
within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code; 

(c) Federal Guarantee.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 
2020 Bonds, and the District will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the 2020 
Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code; 

(d) Information Reporting.  The District will take or cause to be taken all 
necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the 
Code which is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the 2020 Bonds pursuant to 
Section 103(a) of the Code; 

(e) Hedge Bonds.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 
Bonds or any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any 
action or refrain from taking any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds to be considered “hedge 
bonds” within the meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code unless the District takes all necessary 
action to assure compliance with the requirements of Section 149(g) of the Code to maintain the 
exclusion from gross income of interest on the 2020 Bonds for federal income tax purposes; and 

(f) Miscellaneous.  The District will not take any action or refrain from taking 
any action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the 
District in connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds and will comply with the covenants and 
requirements that are stated therein and incorporated by reference herein. 

78 of 567



 

19 

This section and the covenants that are set forth herein shall not be applicable to, and 
nothing that is contained herein shall be deemed to prevent the District from causing the USDFA to 
issue revenue bonds or issuing bonds or executing and delivering contracts that are payable on a 
parity with the 2020 Bonds, the interest with respect to which has been determined to be subject to 
federal income taxation. 

Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction.  The District will take all necessary and 
appropriate steps to acquire and construct the 2020 Project, as agent of the USDFA, with all 
practicable dispatch and in an expeditious manner and in conformity with law so as to complete the 
same as soon as possible. 

Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System.  The District will 
maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working order at all times, 
operate the Wastewater System in an efficient and economical manner and pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs as they become due and payable. 

Section 6.08. Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful 
claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Gross Revenues 
or the funds or accounts created hereunder or under the Indenture or on any funds in the hands of 
the District pledged to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments or the Bonds, or which might 
impair the security of the Series 2020 Installment Payments. 

Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts.  The District will comply with, keep, observe and 
perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, which are required to 
be performed by it contained in all contracts for the use of the Wastewater System and all other 
contracts affecting or involving the Wastewater System, to the extent that the District is a party 
thereto. 

Section 6.10. Insurance. 

(a) The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured and maintained 
insurance on the Wastewater System, excluding coverage for earthquake damage or destruction, 
with responsible insurers in such amounts and against such risks (including accident to or 
destruction of the Wastewater System) as are usually covered in connection with facilities that are 
similar to the Wastewater System so long as such insurance is available at reasonable rates. 

In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Wastewater System caused by the perils 
covered by such insurance, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied to the reconstruction, repair 
or replacement of the damaged or destroyed portion of the Wastewater System.  The District shall 
begin such reconstruction, repair or replacement promptly after such damage or destruction shall 
occur, and shall continue and properly complete such reconstruction, repair or replacement as 
expeditiously as possible, and shall pay out of such Net Proceeds all costs and expenses in 
connection with such reconstruction, repair or replacement so that the same shall be completed 
and the Wastewater System shall be free and clear of all claims and liens. 

If such Net Proceeds exceed the costs of such reconstruction, repair or replacement, then 
the excess Net Proceeds shall be applied in part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment 

79 of 567



 

20 

Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate 
and used for the retirement of Bonds and Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate 
unpaid principal balance of Series 2020 Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid 
principal amount of such Bonds and Contracts.  If such Net Proceeds are sufficient to enable the 
District to retire the entire obligation that is evidenced hereby prior to the final due date of the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments as well as the entire obligations that are evidenced by Bonds and 
Contracts then remaining unpaid prior to their final respective due dates, the District may elect not 
to reconstruct, repair or replace the damaged or destroyed portion of the Wastewater System, and 
thereupon such Net Proceeds shall be applied to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment 
Payments as provided in Article VII and to the retirement of such Bonds and Contracts. 

(b) The District will procure and maintain such other insurance which it shall deem 
advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the USDFA, which insurance shall 
afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are usually covered in connection with 
municipal water systems similar to the Wastewater System. 

(c) Any insurance that is required to be maintained by paragraph (a) above and, if the 
District determines to procure and maintain insurance pursuant to paragraph (b) above, such 
insurance, may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as such self-insurance is 
maintained in the amounts and manner usually maintained in connection with water systems 
similar to the Wastewater System and is, in the opinion of an accredited actuary, actuarially sound. 

All policies of insurance which are required to be maintained herein shall provide that the 
USDFA or its assignee shall be given thirty (30) days’ written notice of any intended cancellation 
thereof or reduction of coverage provided thereby. 

Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports. 

(a) The District will keep appropriate accounting records in which complete and correct 
entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Wastewater System, which records shall be 
available for inspection by the USDFA and the Trustee at reasonable hours and under reasonable 
conditions. 

(b) The District will prepare and file with the USDFA or its assignee, annually within two 
hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year 
ending June 30, 2020) financial statements of the District for the preceding Fiscal Year prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, together with an Accountant’s Report 
thereon.  The Trustee shall have no obligation to review any such financial statements. 

Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA.  The District will preserve 
and protect the security hereof and the rights of the USDFA to the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments hereunder and will warrant and defend such rights against all claims and demands of all 
persons. 

Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations.  The 
District will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 
hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Wastewater System, or any part thereof or upon the Gross 

80 of 567



 

21 

Revenues when the same shall become due.  The District will duly observe and conform with all 
valid regulations and requirements of any governmental authority relative to the operation of the 
Wastewater System, or any part thereof, but the District shall not be required to comply with any 
regulations or requirements so long as the validity or application thereof shall be contested in good 
faith. 

Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges.   

(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District shall fix and prescribe, at the 
commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are 
reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year (i) Net Revenues equal 
to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year and (ii) Net 
Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) of 
Subordinate Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year.   

The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may 
make such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges 
then in effect unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably 
expected to be sufficient to meet the requirements of this Section 6.14.  

(b) For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set 
forth in Section 6.14(a) above, the failure of Net Revenues to meet the thresholds set forth in 
Section 6.14(a) above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not constitute a default or an Event of Default 
so long as the District has complied with Section 6.14(a) at the commencement of the succeeding 
Fiscal Year. 

Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges.  The District will have in effect at all times 
by-laws, rules and regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable to 
the Wastewater Service to such customer’s land and providing for the billing thereof and for a due 
date and a delinquency date for each bill.  In each case where such bill remains unpaid in whole or 
in part after it becomes delinquent, the District may discontinue such service from the Wastewater 
System, and such service shall not thereafter be recommenced except in accordance with District 
by-laws or rules, regulations and State Law governing such situations of delinquency. 

Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Wastewater System shall 
be taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows: 

(a) If: (1) the District files with the USDFA and the Trustee a certificate showing: (i) the 
estimated loss of annual Net Revenues, if any, suffered or to be suffered by the District by reason of 
such eminent domain proceedings; (ii) a general description of the additions, betterments, 
extensions or improvements to the Wastewater System that are proposed to be acquired and 
constructed by the District from such Net Proceeds, and (iii) an estimate of the additional annual 
Net Revenues to be derived from such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements, and 
(2) the District, on the basis of such certificate filed with the USDFA and the Trustee, determines 
that the estimated additional annual Net Revenues will sufficiently offset the estimated loss of 
annual Net Revenues resulting from such eminent domain proceedings so that the ability of the 
District to meet its obligations hereunder will not be substantially impaired (which determination 

81 of 567



 

22 

shall be final and conclusive), then the District shall promptly proceed with the acquisition and 
construction of such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements substantially in 
accordance with such certificate and such Net Proceeds shall be applied for the payment of the 
costs of such acquisition and construction, and any balance of such Net Proceeds not required by 
the District for such purpose shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund. 

(b) If the foregoing conditions are not met, then such Net Proceeds shall be applied in 
part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to 
such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for the retirement of Bonds and 
Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate unpaid principal balance of Series 2020 
Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Bonds and 
Contracts. 

Section 6.17. Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any 
and all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper 
to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and for the better assuring and 
confirming unto the USDFA of the rights and benefits provided to it herein. 

Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts.  So long as any of the 2020 Bonds are 
outstanding, the District will not voluntarily consent to or permit any rescission of, nor will it 
consent to any amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in connection with any 
contracts previously or hereafter entered into which contracts provide for water to be supplied to 
the District which consent, revision, amendment or other action will reduce the supply of water 
thereunder (except as provided therein), unless the Board of Directors of the District determines by 
resolution that such rescission or amendment would not materially adversely affect the ability of 
the District to pay Series 2020 Installment Payments. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.01. Prepayment. 

(a) The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay from Net Proceeds as provided 
herein the Series 2020 Installment Payments in whole, or in part, on any date in the order of 
payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal to the sum of the principal 
amount to be prepaid plus accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment, without premium. 

(b) The District may prepay the Series 2020 Installment Payments as a whole, or in part, 
on September 1, 20__ or any date thereafter in the order of payment date as directed by the 
District, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments to be prepaid, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment, 
without premium. 

(c) Notwithstanding any such prepayment, the District shall not be relieved of its 
obligations hereunder, including its obligations under Article IV, until the Purchase Price shall have 

82 of 567



 

23 

been fully paid (or provision for payment thereof shall have been provided to the written 
satisfaction of the USDFA). 

Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to 
Section 7.01, the District shall, within five (5) days following the event permitting the exercise of 
such right to prepay or creating such obligation to prepay, give written notice to the USDFA and the 
Trustee describing such event and specifying the date on which the prepayment will be paid, which 
date shall be not less than sixty (60) (or such shorter number of days as is acceptable to the Trustee) 
days from the date that such notice is given. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities.  If one or more of the 
following Events of Default shall happen: 

(1) if default shall be made by the District in the due and punctual 
payment of any Series 2020 Installment Payment or any Contract or Bond when and as the same 
shall become due and payable; 

(2) if default shall be made by the District in the performance of any of 
the agreements or covenants which are required herein to be performed by it, and such default 
shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after the District shall have been given notice in 
writing of such default by the USDFA; or 

(3) if the District shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or 
reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States 
of America or any state therein, or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall approve a petition filed 
with or without the consent of the District seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal 
bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or 
if under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors any court of competent 
jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the District or of the whole or any substantial part of 
its property; or 

(4) if payment of the principal of any Contract or Bond is accelerated in 
accordance with its terms; 

then and in each and every such case during the continuance of an Event of Default, the USDFA 
shall, by notice in writing to the District, declare the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 
2020 Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon to be due and payable immediately, 
and upon any such declaration the same shall become immediately due and payable, anything 
contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding.  This section, however, is subject to the condition 
that if at any time after the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 2020 Installment Payments 
and the accrued interest thereon shall have been so declared due and payable, but before any 
judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered, the 
District shall deposit with the USDFA an amount that is sufficient to pay the unpaid principal 

83 of 567



 

24 

amount of the Series 2020 Installment Payments or the unpaid payment of any other Contract or 
Bond referred to in clause (1) above due prior to such declaration and the accrued interest thereon, 
with interest on such overdue installments, at the rate or rates applicable to the remaining unpaid 
principal balance of the Series 2020 Installment Payments or such Contract or Bond if paid in 
accordance with their terms, and the reasonable expenses of the USDFA, and any and all other 
defaults known to the USDFA (other than in the payment of the entire principal amount of the 
unpaid Series 2020 Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon due and payable solely 
by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to the satisfaction of the USDFA 
or provision deemed by the USDFA to be adequate shall have been made therefor, then and in 
every such case the USDFA, by written notice to the District, may rescind and annul such 
declaration and its consequences; but no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall 
affect any subsequent default or shall impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration.  Upon the date of the declaration of 
acceleration as provided in Section 8.01, all Gross Revenues thereafter received by the District shall 
be applied in the following order: 

First, to the payment, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such Gross Revenues ratably without any discrimination or preference, of the fees, costs and 
expenses of the Trustee and its assigns and thereafter to the USDFA, as the case may be, in carrying 
out the provisions of this article, including reasonable compensation to their respective accountants 
and counsel; 

Second, to the payment of the Operation and Maintenance Costs; and 

Third, to the payment of the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 2020 Installment 
Payments and the unpaid principal amount of all Bonds and Contracts and the accrued interest 
thereon, with interest on the overdue installments at the rate or rates of interest applicable to the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments and such Bonds and Contracts if paid in accordance with their 
respective terms. 

Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA.  The USDFA shall have the right: 

(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce its 
rights against the District or any director, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the District or 
any such director, officer or employee to perform and carry out its or his or her duties under the 
Law and the agreements and covenants required to be performed by it or him or her contained 
herein; 

(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the rights 
of the USDFA; or 

(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the District 
and its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the USDFA shall have no security interest in or 
mortgage on the 2020 Project, the Refunding Project, the Wastewater System or other assets of the 

84 of 567



 

25 

District and no default hereunder shall result in the loss of the 2020 Project, the Refunding Project, 
the Wastewater System or other assets of the District. 

Section 8.04. Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall 
affect or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the Series 
2020 Installment Payments to the USDFA at the respective due dates or upon prepayment from the 
Net Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds herein pledged for such payment, or shall 
affect or impair the right of the USDFA, which is also absolute and unconditional, to institute suit to 
enforce such payment by virtue of the contract embodied herein. 

A waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the USDFA shall not affect any 
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or impair any rights or remedies on any such 
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract.  No delay or omission by the USDFA to exercise 
any right or remedy accruing upon any default or breach of duty or contract shall impair any such 
right or remedy or be construed to be a waiver of any such default or breach of duty or contract or 
an acquiescence therein, and every right or remedy that is conferred upon the USDFA by the Law or 
by this article may be enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as shall be deemed 
expedient by the USDFA. 

If any action, proceeding or suit to enforce any right or exercise any remedy is abandoned or 
determined adversely to the USDFA, the District and the USDFA shall be restored to their former 
positions, rights and remedies as if such action, proceeding or suit had not been brought or taken. 

Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy that is conferred upon or reserved to 
the USDFA herein is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be 
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter 
existing in law or in equity or by statute or otherwise and may be exercised without exhausting and 
without regard to any other remedy conferred by the Law or any other law. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations.  When: 

(a) all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have become due 
and payable in accordance herewith or a written notice of the District to prepay all or any portion of 
the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have been filed with the Trustee; and 

(b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee at or prior to the Series 2020 
Installment Payment Date or dates specified for prepayment, in trust for the benefit of the USDFA 
or its assigns and irrevocably appropriated and set aside to the payment of all or any portion of the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments, sufficient moneys or sufficient moneys and non-callable 
Permitted Investments that are described in clause (A) of the definition thereof, the principal of and 
interest on which Permitted Investments when due will provide money that is sufficient in the 
opinion of an Independent Certified Public Accountant to pay all principal, prepayment premium, if 

85 of 567



 

26 

any, and interest of such Series 2020 Installment Payments to their respective Series 2020 
Installment Payment Dates, as the case may be; and 

(c) provision shall have been made for paying all fees and expenses of the Trustee, then 
and in that event, the right, title and interest of the USDFA herein and the obligations of the District 
hereunder shall, with respect to all or such portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments as have 
been so provided for, thereupon cease, terminate, become void and be completely discharged and 
satisfied (except for the right of the Trustee and the obligation of the District to have such moneys 
and such Permitted Investments applied to the payment of such Series 2020 Installment Payments). 

In such event, upon request of the District, the Trustee shall cause an accounting for such 
period or periods as may be requested by the District to be prepared and filed with the District and 
shall execute and deliver to the District all such instruments as may be necessary or desirable to 
evidence such total or partial discharge and satisfaction, as the case may be, and, in the event of a 
total discharge and satisfaction, the Trustee shall pay over to the District, after payment of all 
amounts due the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture, as an overpayment of Series 2020 Installment 
Payments, all such moneys or such Permitted Investments held by it pursuant hereto, other than 
such moneys and such Permitted Investments as are required for the payment or prepayment of 
the Series 2020 Installment Payments, which moneys and Permitted Investments shall continue to 
be held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments and shall 
be applied by the Trustee to the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments of the District. 

ARTICLE X 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.01. Liability Limited.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the District 
shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other than the 
Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds provided herein for the payment of 
amounts due hereunder or for the performance of any agreements or covenants that are required 
to be performed by it contained herein.  The District may, however, advance moneys for any such 
purpose so long as such moneys are derived from a source legally available for such purpose and 
may be legally used by the District for such purpose. 

The obligation of the District to make the Series 2020 Installment Payments is a special 
obligation of the District payable from the Net Revenues and does not constitute a debt of the 
District or of the State of California or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. 

Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing 
contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District or 
the USDFA any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto, and any agreement or covenant 
that is required herein to be performed by or on behalf of the District or the USDFA shall be for the 
sole and exclusive benefit of the other party. 

Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  Whenever 
either the District or the USDFA is named or referred to herein, such reference shall be deemed to 

86 of 567



 

27 

include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that are presently vested in the District or 
the USDFA, and all agreements and covenants which are required hereby to be performed by or on 
behalf of the District or the USDFA shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors 
thereof whether so expressed or not. 

Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the District 
shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments, 
but nothing contained herein shall relieve any director, officer or employee of the District from the 
performance of any official duty provided by any applicable provisions of law or hereby. 

Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or titles 
of the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof, and 
words of any gender shall be deemed and construed to include all genders.  All references herein to 
“Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions or clauses are to the corresponding articles, sections, 
subdivisions or clauses hereof and the words “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herewith” 
and other words of similar import refer to the Installment Purchase Agreement as a whole and not 
to any particular article, section, subdivision or clause hereof. 

Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or 
portions thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the USDFA 
shall be contrary to law, then such agreement or agreements, such covenant or covenants or such 
portions thereof shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining 
agreements and covenants or portions thereof and shall in no way affect the validity hereof.  The 
District and the USDFA hereby declare that they would have executed the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, and each and every other article, section, paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause and 
phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more articles, sections, paragraphs, 
subdivisions, sentences, clauses or phrases hereof or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstance may be held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable or invalid. 

Section 10.07. Assignment.  The Installment Purchase Agreement and any rights hereunder 
may be assigned by the USDFA, as a whole or in part, without the necessity of obtaining the prior 
consent of the District.  In addition to the rights and remedies assigned by the USDFA to the 
Trustee, to the extent that the Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement confer upon or 
give or grant to the Trustee any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of the Indenture or the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, the Trustee is hereby explicitly recognized as being a third party 
beneficiary hereunder and may enforce any such right, remedy or claim conferred given or granted. 

Section 10.08. Net Contract.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed and 
construed to be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely net during the term hereof the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments and all other payments required hereunder, free of any 
deductions and without abatement, diminution or set-off whatsoever. 

Section 10.09. California Law.  THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. 

87 of 567



 

28 

Section 10.10. Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given by mail to 
the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at such other address as such party may 
provide to the other party in writing from time to time, namely: 

If to the District: Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  General Manager 

If to the USDFA: Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
c/o Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  Executive Director 

If to the Trustee: U.S. Bank National Association 
One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Attn: Global Corporate Trust 
Reference: Union Sanitary District, Series 2020A 

Section 10.11. Effective Date.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall become effective 
upon its execution and delivery, and shall terminate when the Purchase Price shall have been fully 
paid (or provision for the payment thereof shall have been made to the written satisfaction of the 
USDFA). 

Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts.  The Installment Purchase Agreement may be 
executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA.  The District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless the USDFA and its assigns and its officers and directors if and to the extent permitted by 
law, from and against all claims, advances, damages and losses, including legal fees and expenses, 
arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or the performance of its duties hereunder and 
under the Indenture; provided that no indemnification will be made for willful misconduct, 
negligence or breach of an obligation hereunder or under the Indenture by the USDFA. 

Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted. 

(a) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or 
amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding when the written 
consents of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 2020 Bonds then 
Outstanding, exclusive of 2020 Bonds disqualified as provided in Section 11.09 of the Indenture.  No 
such modification or amendment may: (1) extend the fixed maturity of any 2020 Bonds, or reduce 
the amount of principal thereof or premium (if any) thereon, or extend the time of payment, or 
change the rate of interest or the method of computing the rate of interest thereon, or extend the 

88 of 567



 

29 

time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the Owner of each 2020 Bond so 
affected; or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of 2020 Bonds the consent of the Owners of which 
is required to affect any such modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the 
Gross Revenues and other assets pledged under the Installment Purchase Agreement prior to or on 
a parity with the lien created by the Installment Purchase Agreement except as permitted herein, or 
deprive the Owners of the 2020 Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture on such Gross Revenues 
and other assets except as permitted herein, without the consent of the Owners of all of the 2020 
Bonds then Outstanding. 

(b) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds may also be modified or amended at 
any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding upon adoption, without the consent 
of the Owners of any 2020 Bonds, but only to the extent permitted by law and only for any one or 
more of the following purposes: (1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the District 
contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement other covenants and agreements thereafter to be 
observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the 2020 Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to 
surrender any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the District; (2) to make such 
provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency or omission, or of curing or 
correcting any defective provision, contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement, or in regard 
to matters or questions arising under the Installment Purchase Agreement, as the District may 
deem necessary or desirable; and (3) to modify, amend or supplement the Installment Purchase 
Agreement in such manner as to cause interest on the 2020 Bonds to remain excludable from gross 
income under the Code.  No amendment without consent of the Owners may modify any of the 
rights or obligations of the Trustee without the written consent thereto. 

89 of 567



 

1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and attested this Installment 
Purchase Agreement by their officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first written 
above. 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

 By:   
  President of the Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

  
Board Clerk 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
 Chair of the Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

  
Secretary of the Board of Directors 
 

90 of 567



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2020 PROJECT  

Component Estimated Capital Cost 

  $   
  
  
  
TOTAL  

91 of 567



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS AND REFUNDING PROJECT 

Set forth below are the SWRCB loans being refinanced pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement (collectively, the “Refunded Obligations”), the outstanding principal amount thereof on 
the date of execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater 
System facilities financed by such Refunded Obligations (collectively, the “Refunding Project”). 

SWRCB LOAN 
 (Contract Number) 

OUTSTANDING 
PRINCIPAL 

WASTEWATER 
FACILITY FINANCED 

01-815-550-0 $3,424,735.81 Irvington Equalization Storage  
07-813-550-0 780,457.63 Willow/Central Avenue Sanitary Sewer 
07-829-550-0 5,937,182.50 Newark Pump Station 
07-835-550-0 1,102,542.68 Lower Hetch Hetchy Corridor 
09-813-550-0 1,114,567.15 Cedar Boulevard Sanitary Sewer 
10-808-550-0 6,394,372.67 Primary Clarifier at Alvarado 
10-816-550-0 1,716,788.15 Substation No. 1 at Alvarado 
10-817-550-0 4,772,589.15 Boyce Road Lift Station 
13-814-550-0 11,516,874.09 Thickener Control Building Improvements at 

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plan 

 

 

92 of 567



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

PURCHASE PRICE 

1. The principal amount of payments to be made by the District hereunder is 
$_________. 

2. The Series 2020 Installment Payments of principal and interest are payable in the 
amounts and on the Series 2020 Installment Payment Dates as follows: 

Installment 
Payment Dates 

Amount Attributable 
to Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to Interest Total 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

93 of 567



 

C-2 

Installment 
Payment Dates 

Amount Attributable 
to Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to Interest Total 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

94 of 567



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF SUBSTITUTION STATEMENT 

Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  Chair 

One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Attn: Global Corporate Trust 
Reference: Union Sanitary District, Series 2020A 
 

The undersigned General Manager of the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) hereby 
states pursuant to Section 3.02 of the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2020, 
by and between Union Sanitary District Financing Authority and the District (the “Installment 
Purchase Agreement”) that each component of the 2020 Project (as such term is defined in the 
Installment Purchase Agreement) described in the first column of Exhibit A attached hereto, with an 
estimated cost set forth in the second column of Exhibit A, will be replaced by the corresponding 
improvement described in the third column of Exhibit A with an estimated cost set forth in the 
fourth column of Exhibit A. 

Dated:  _________ __, 20__ 

  
General Manager 

 

95 of 567



 

D-2 

EXHIBIT A 

Components of 
2020 Project to 

be Replaced 

Cost of Each 
Components of 

2020 Project 
to be Replaced 

Improvements 
to be 

Substituted 

Cost of Each 
Improvement 

to be 
Substituted 

    
    

96 of 567



 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF REQUISITION FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 
 

REQUISITION NO. _ FOR 
DISBURSEMENT FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

The undersigned hereby states and certifies: 

(i) that the undersigned is the duly appointed, qualified and acting General Manager of 
the Union Sanitary District, a sanitary district that is organized and existing under the Constitution 
and laws of the State of California (the “District”), and as such, is familiar with the facts herein 
certified and is authorized to certify the same; 

(ii) that, pursuant to Section 3.06 of that certain Installment Purchase Agreement, 
dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”), by and between the Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority and the District, the undersigned hereby requests the 
Treasurer to disburse this date the following amounts from the Acquisition Fund established under 
the Installment Purchase Agreement relating to the above-captioned obligations, to the payees 
designated on the attached Exhibit A; 

(iii) that each obligation mentioned herein has been incurred by the District and is a 
proper charge against the Acquisition Fund; 

(iv) that any approval required under the California Environmental Quality Act, as 
amended (Division 13 of the California Public Resources Code), prior to the expenditure of such 
amount for the purpose set forth on the attached Exhibit A has been received and is final; and 

(v) that there has not been filed with or served upon the District notice of any lien, right 
to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of the moneys 
payable to any of the payees named on the attached Exhibit A, which has not been released or will 
not be released simultaneously with the payment of such obligation, other than materialmen’s or 
mechanics’ liens accruing by mere operation of law. 

Dated:    , 20__ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

By:   
General Manager 

97 of 567



 

E-2 

EXHIBIT A 

ACQUISITION FUND DISBURSEMENTS 

Item 
Number Payee Name and Address Purpose of Obligation Amount 

    
 

98 of 567



 

 

 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
 
 

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed 
and delivered by the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (the “District”) in connection with the issuance by 
the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “Authority”) of its $_______* Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued 
pursuant to an indenture of trust, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (the “Indenture”), and a resolution adopted by the Board Directors of the 
Authority on January 27, 2020. The District covenants and agrees as follows: 

 
Section 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth above and, in the Indenture, which 

apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section 1, 
the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

 
“Annual Report” means any Annual Report provided by the District pursuant to, and as described 

in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 
“Annual Report Date” means March 31 after the end of the District’s fiscal year. 
 
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean, initially, ____________, or any successor Dissemination 

Agent designed in writing by the District and which has been filed with the then current Dissemination 
Agent a written acceptance of such designation. 

 
“Fiscal Year” means any twelve–month period beginning on July 1 in any year and extending to the 

next succeeding June 30, both dates inclusive, or any other twelve–month period selected and designated 
by the District as its official fiscal year period under a Certificate of the District filed with the Trustee. 

 
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for purposes of the 
Rule, or any other repository of disclosure information that may be designated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission as such for purposes of the Rule in the future. 

 
“Official Statement” means the final official statement executed by the District in connection with 

the issuance of the Bonds. 
 
“Participating Underwriter” means the original underwriter of the Bonds. 
 
“Rule” means Rule 15c2–12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
“Significant Events” means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

99 of 567



 

-2- 

Section 2. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed and 
delivered by the District for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to 
assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2– 12(b)(5). 

 
Section 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 
 
(a) The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than the Annual Report 

Date, commencing March 31, 2020, with the report for fiscal year 2018-19 provide to the MSRB, in an 
electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, an Annual Report that is consistent with the requirements of 
Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. The filing of the Official Statement with the MSRB shall satisfy the 
2020 filing requirement. Not later than 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date, the District shall 
provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if other than the District). If by 15 Business Days 
prior to the Annual Report Date the Dissemination Agent (if other than the District) has not received a copy 
of the Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the District to determine if the District is in 
compliance with the previous sentence. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as 
separate documents comprising a package and may include by reference other information as provided in 
Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided that the audited financial statements of the District may 
be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report, and later than the Annual Report Date, if 
not available by that date. If the District’s fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same 
manner as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). The District shall provide a written certification with 
each Annual Report furnished to the Dissemination Agent to the effect that such Annual Report constitutes 
the Annual Report required to be furnished by the District hereunder. 

 
(b) If the District does not provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) an Annual Report 

by the Annual Report Date, the District in a timely manner shall provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent 
to provide) to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, a notice in substantially the 
form attached as Exhibit A. 

 
(c) With respect to each Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall: 
 

(i) determine each year prior to the Annual Report Date the then–applicable rules and 
electronic format prescribed by the MSRB for the filing of annual continuing disclosure reports; 
and 

 
(ii) if the Dissemination Agent is other than the District, file a report with the District 

certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate, and 
stating the date it was provided. 

 
Section 4. Content of Annual Reports. The District’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate 

by reference the following: 
 
(a) The District’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board. If the District’s audited financial statements are not available 
by the Annual Report Date, the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format 
similar to the financial statements contained in the final Official Statement, and the audited financial 
statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available. 

 

100 of 567



 

-3- 

 (b) Unless otherwise provided in the audited financial statements filed on or prior to the annual 
filing deadline for Annual Reports provided for in Section 3 above, financial information and operating data 
with respect to the District for preceding fiscal year, substantially similar to that provided in the Official 
Statement, as follows: 

 
(i) Revenues by User Category; 
(ii) Ten Largest Rate Payers; and 
(iii) Historical Debt Service Coverage.  

 
(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under this Disclosure 

Certificate, the District shall provide such further material information, if any, as may be necessary to make 
the specifically required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not 
misleading. 

 
(d) Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, 

including official statements of debt issues of the District or related public entities, which are available to 
the public on the MSRB’s Internet web site or filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The 
District shall clearly identify each such other document so included by reference. 

 
Section 5. Reporting of Significant Events. 
 
(a) The District shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following 

Significant Events with respect to the Bonds: 
 

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
 
(ii) Non–payment related defaults, if material; 
 
(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
 (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
 
(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701–TEB) or other material 
notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events 
affecting the tax status of the security; 

 
(vii) Modifications to rights of security holders, if material; 
 
(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
 
(ix) Defeasances; 
 
(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if 

material; 
 

101 of 567



 

-4- 

(xi) Rating changes; 
 
(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the District or other obligated 

person; 
 
(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the District 

or an obligated person, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the District or an obligated 
person (other than in the ordinary course of business), the entry into a definitive agreement to 
undertake such an action, or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, 
other than pursuant to its terms, if material; or 

 
(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, 

if material; 
 
(xv) The incurrence of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, if 

material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 
terms of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, any of which affect security 
holders, if material; or 

 
(xvi) A default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 

similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, any 
of which reflect financial difficulties.  

 
 (b) Whenever the District obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Significant Event, the District 

shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the District) to, file a notice of such occurrence with 
the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 
business days after the occurrence of the Significant Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of 
Significant Events described in subsection (a)(viii) above need not be given under this subsection any earlier 
than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of affected Bonds under the Indenture. 

 
(c) The District acknowledges that the events described in subparagraphs (a)(ii), (a)(vii), (a)(viii) 

(if the event is a bond call), (a)(x), (a)(xiii), (a)(xiv) and (a)(xv) of this Section 5 contain the qualifier “if 
material.” The District shall cause a notice to be filed as set forth in paragraph (b) above with respect to any 
such event only to the extent that the District determines the event’s occurrence is material for purposes of 
U.S. federal securities law. The District intends that the words used in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) and the 
definition of “financial obligation” to have the meanings ascribed thereto in SEC Release No. 34-83885 
(November 8, 2018) and/or any further guidance or releases provided by the SEC. 

 
 (d) For purposes of this Disclosure Certificate, any event described in paragraph (a)(xii) above is 

considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar 
officer for the District in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding 
under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the District, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving 
the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders 
of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the District. 

 

102 of 567



 

-5- 

Section 6. Identifying Information for Filings with the MSRB. All documents provided to the 
MSRB under this Disclosure Certificate shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by 
the MSRB. 

 
Section 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The District’s obligations under this Disclosure 

Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. 
If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the District shall give notice of such 
termination in the same manner as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). 

 
Section 8. Dissemination Agent. The District may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 

Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may 
discharge any Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. Any 
Dissemination Agent may resign by providing 30 days’ written notice to the District. 

 
Section 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 

Certificate, the District may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure 
Certificate may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 

 
(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5(a), it may only be 

made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change 
in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type 
of business conducted; 

 
(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the 
primary offering of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as 
well as any change in circumstances; and 

 
(c) the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the Bonds in the manner 

provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of holders, or (ii) does not, in 
the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the holders or beneficial 
owners of the Bonds. 

 
If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is amended 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first annual financial information filed pursuant hereto containing the 
amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the 
amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being 
provided. 

 
If an amendment is made to the undertaking specifying the accounting principles to be followed in 

preparing financial statements, the annual financial information for the year in which the change is made 
shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new 
accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison 
shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the 
change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information, in order to provide 
information to investors to enable them to evaluate the ability of the District to meet its obligations. To the 
extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall be quantitative. 

 

103 of 567



 

-6- 

The Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any amendment increasing or affecting 
its duties or obligations hereunder. 

 
A notice of any amendment made pursuant to this Section 9 shall be filed in the same manner as for 

a Significant Event under Section 5(b). 
 
Section 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to 

prevent the District from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth 
in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in 
any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Significant Event, in addition to that which is required by 
this Disclosure Certificate. If the District chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice 
of occurrence of a Significant Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure 
Certificate, the District shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information 
or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Significant Event. 

 
Section 11. Default. If the District fails to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Certificate, 

the Participating Underwriter or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may take such actions as may 
be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause 
the District to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure 
Certificate shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this 
Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Certificate 
shall be an action to compel performance. 

 
Section 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. (a) Article VIII of the 

Indenture is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Certificate as if this Disclosure Certificate were 
(solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture. The Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the 
protections and limitations from liability afforded to the Trustee thereunder. The Dissemination Agent 
shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the District agrees 
to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless 
against any loss, expense and liabilities which they may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance 
of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of 
defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s negligence 
or willful misconduct. The Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review any information 
provided to it by the District hereunder and shall not be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary capacity for 
the District, the Bond holders or any other party. The obligations of the District under this Section shall 
survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds. 

 
(b) The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the District for its services provided 

hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time, and shall be reimbursed 
for all expenses, legal fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance 
of its duties hereunder. 

 

104 of 567



 

-7- 

Section 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the District, 
the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the owners and Beneficial Owners from time 
to time of the Bonds and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.  

 
Date: [Closing Date] 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
ACKNOWLEDGED: 
 
________________, as Dissemination 
Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 

105 of 567



 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE TO EMMA OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Name of Issuer:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
 
Name of Obligor:  Union Sanitary District 
 
Name of Issue:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
 
Date of Issuance: [Closing Date] 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Obligor has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-
named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, dated [Closing Date], furnished by the Obligor in 
connection with the Issue. The Obligor anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by _____________. 

 
Dated: ______________________ 

__________________, Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
cc: Trustee 

 

106 of 567



 

 
 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

_________, 2020 

Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 

Union Sanitary District  
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) hereby offers to enter into this Bond Purchase 
Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with you, the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
(the “USDFA”) and the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), for the purchase by the Underwriter 
and the delivery by the USDFA of the above-referenced Bonds (the “Bonds”).  The proceeds of the 
Bonds will be used to: (i) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the “Wastewater 
System”) owned and operated by the District, (ii) refund the District’s obligations under various 
prior agreements with the California State Water Resources Control Board, the proceeds of which 
were used to finance improvements to the Wastewater System, and (iii) pay the costs of issuing the 
Bonds. This offer is subject to your acceptance prior to 11:59 p.m., California time, on the date 
hereof and if not so accepted will be subject to withdrawal by the Underwriter upon written notice 
delivered to the USDFA and the District at any time prior to the acceptance thereof by the USDFA 
and the District.  Upon such acceptance, this Purchase Agreement shall be in full force and effect in 
accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon you and the Underwriter.  All terms not 
defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture and the Installment Purchase 
Agreement (each defined below). 

The USDFA and the District acknowledge and agree that: (i) the purchase and sale of the 
Bonds pursuant to this Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction among the 
District, the USDFA and the Underwriter in which the Underwriter is acting solely as a principal and 
not as an agent of the USDFA or the District and the Underwriter is not acting as a municipal 
advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the USDFA or the District; (ii) the Underwriter has not 
assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the USDFA or the District with respect to the 
transaction contemplated by this Purchase Agreement and the discussions, undertakings or 
procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriter, or any affiliate of the 
Underwriter has provided other services or is currently providing other services to the USDFA or the 
District on other matters); (iii) the only obligations the Underwriter has to the USDFA and the 

107 of 567



2 
 

District with respect to the transaction contemplated by this Purchase Agreement are expressly set 
forth in this Purchase Agreement; and (iv) the USDFA and the District have consulted their own 
financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent the 
USDFA and the District have deemed appropriate. The USDFA acknowledges that it has previously 
provided the Underwriter with an acknowledgement of receipt of the required Underwriter 
disclosure under Rule G-17 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”). 

1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations herein set 
forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the USDFA for offering to the public, and the 
USDFA hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the Underwriter, all (but not less than all) of the 
$_________ aggregate principal amount of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2020A to be dated the Closing Date, at a price of $________, being the principal 
amount of the Bonds, plus net original issue premium of $_______, less an Underwriter’s discount 
of $_______. 

The Bonds shall mature in the amounts and on the dates, and bear interest at the rates, set 
forth in Exhibit A hereto. The Bonds shall be as described in and shall be secured under and 
pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Indenture”), by and between 
the USDFA and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), substantially in the form 
previously submitted to the Underwriter with only such changes therein as shall be mutually agreed 
upon by the USDFA, the District, the Trustee and the Underwriter. 

The obligation of the USDFA to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds is a special 
obligation of the USDFA, payable solely from USDFA Revenues (as defined in the Indenture), and 
certain other amounts held under the Indenture. USDFA Revenues consist primarily of Installment 
Payments made by the District to the USDFA pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement (as 
defined below). The principal of and interest on the Bonds are not required to be paid from any 
other funds of the USDFA, including any proceeds of any taxes, and does not constitute a debt or 
pledge of the faith and credit of the USDFA or the State of California (the “State”) or any political 
subdivision thereof in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. 

The USDFA and the District hereby ratify the use by the Underwriter of the Preliminary 
Official Statement, dated January ___, 2020 relating to the Bonds (together with the cover page and 
all appendices thereto, and any supplements thereof, the “Preliminary Official Statement”), and 
authorizes the Underwriter to use and distribute the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official 
Statement (as defined below), the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
January 1, 2020, between the USDFA and the District (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”), the 
Continuing Disclosure Certificate as required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 
(“Rule 15c2-12”), and substantially in the form attached as an appendix to the Official Statement, 
dated February ___, 2020 (the “Continuing Disclosure Certificate”), executed by the District and 
this Purchase Agreement, and all information contained therein, and all other documents, 
certificates and statements furnished by the USDFA and the District to the Underwriter in 
connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter.  The USDFA and the District 
have heretofore “deemed final” the Preliminary Official Statement within the meaning of Rule 
15c2-12. 

108 of 567



3 
 

The District will undertake pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to provide 
certain annual financial and operating information and notices of the occurrence of certain events.  
A description of this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and will also be 
set forth in the final Official Statement.  This undertaking will be entered into in order to assist the 
Underwriter in complying with the Rule. 

2. The Underwriter agrees to offer all the Bonds to the public initially at the prices (or 
yields) set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement of the USDFA pertaining to the 
Bonds, dated February __, 2020 (together with all appendices thereto, and with such changes 
therein and supplements thereto and as are consented to in writing by the Underwriter, and with 
the Preliminary Official Statement, are herein called the “Official Statement”).  Subsequent to the 
initial public offering of the Bonds, the Underwriter reserves the right to change the public offering 
prices (or yields) as it deems necessary in connection with the marketing of the Bonds subject to 
Section 5 hereof.  The Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers at prices lower than such 
initial public offering prices. “Public Offering” shall include an offering to a representative number 
of institutional investors or registered investment companies, regardless of the number of such 
investors to which the Bonds are sold.  The Underwriter agrees that prior to the time the final 
Official Statement relating to the Bonds is available, the Underwriter will send to any potential 
purchaser of the Bonds, upon the request of such potential purchaser, a copy of the most recent 
Preliminary Official Statement.  Such Preliminary Official Statement shall be sent by first class mail 
or electronic distribution (or other equally prompt means) not later than the first business day 
following the date upon which each such request is received. 

3. The USDFA shall also deliver a sufficient number of copies of the Official Statement 
to enable the Underwriter to distribute a single copy of each Official Statement to any potential 
customer of the Underwriter requesting an Official Statement during the time period beginning 
when the Official Statement becomes available and ending on the End Date (defined below).  The 
USDFA shall deliver these copies to the Underwriter no later than the earlier of (i) seven (7) 
business days after the execution of this Purchase Agreement or (ii) one (1) business day prior to 
the Closing Date in order to permit the Underwriter to comply with Rule 15c2-12, and the 
applicable rules of the MSRB, with respect to distribution of the Official Statement.  The USDFA and 
the District shall prepare the Official Statement, including any amendments thereto, in word-
searchable PDF format as described in the MSRB’s Rule G-32 and shall provide the electronic copy 
of the word-searchable PDF format of the Official Statement to the Underwriter no later than one 
(1) business day prior to the Closing Date to enable the Underwriter to comply with MSRB Rule 
G-32. The Underwriter shall inform the District in writing of the End Date, and covenants to file the 
Official Statement with the MSRB on a timely basis. 

The Official Statement, as of its date, as of the Closing Date (as defined herein) and as of the 
date of any update, amendment or supplement thereto as required hereby subsequent to the 
Closing, up to and including the date which is twenty-five (25) days following the end (the “End 
Date”) of the Underwriting Period (as hereinafter defined), will be correct and complete in all 
material respects and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 

109 of 567



4 
 

If, after the date of this Purchase Agreement and until the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after 
the end of the “underwriting period” (as defined in Rule 15c2-12) (the “Underwriting Period”), or 
(ii) twenty-five (25) days following the end of the Underwriting Period if the Official Statement is 
available to any person from the MSRB as contemplated by Rule 15c2-12(b)(4), any event shall 
occur or circumstance shall exist of which the USDFA or the District have knowledge that would 
cause the Official Statement to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading, the USDFA or the District, as the case may be, shall notify 
the Underwriter (and for the purpose of this Section provide the Underwriter with such information 
as it may from time to time reasonably request), and, if in the opinion of the District, the USDFA or 
the Underwriter such event or circumstance requires the preparation and publication of a 
supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the USDFA and the District will, at their 
expense, supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and manner jointly approved by 
the District, the USDFA and the Underwriter and furnish to the Underwriter a reasonable number of 
copies of such supplement or amendment provided that the Underwriter agrees that it will 
promptly notify the USDFA and the District of the end of the Underwriting Period. 

4. At 8:30 a.m., Pacific Time, on February __, 2020, or at such other time or date as 
shall be agreed upon by the Underwriter, USDFA and the District (such time and date being herein 
referred to as the “Closing Date”), the USDFA will deliver to the Underwriter, the Bonds, in book-
entry form, through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company or its agent (all Bonds having 
had the CUSIP numbers assigned to them thereon), duly executed by an authorized officer of the 
USDFA as provided in the Indenture, and the other documents herein mentioned at the offices of 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California (“Bond 
Counsel”) or another place to be mutually agreed to by the District and the Underwriter and the 
Underwriter will accept such delivery and pay the purchase price of the Bonds as set forth in 
Section 1 in immediately available funds (such delivery and payment being herein referred to as the 
“Closing”). 

Upon initial issuance, the ownership of such Bonds shall be registered in the registration 
books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee of The Depository Trust 
Company. 

It is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be printed on the Bonds, but neither the failure to 
provide such numbers nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute a cause for failure or 
refusal by the Underwriter to accept delivery of the Bonds in accordance with the terms of this 
Purchase Agreement. 

5. A. The Underwriter agrees to assist the USDFA in establishing the issue price of 
the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the USDFA at Closing an “issue price” or similar 
certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, substantially 
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, with such modifications as may be appropriate or 
necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the USDFA  and Bond Counsel (as 
defined herein), to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering 
price or prices to the public of the Bonds.   

110 of 567



5 
 

B. Except as otherwise set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, the USDFA will 
treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public 
as the issue price of that maturity.  At or promptly after the execution of this Purchase Agreement, 
the Underwriter shall report to the USDFA the price or prices at which it has sold to the public each 
maturity of Bonds.  If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any maturity of the 
Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the USDFA the prices at which it sells the 
unsold Bonds of that maturity to the public. That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not 
the Closing Date has occurred, until either (i) the Underwriter has sold all Bonds of that maturity or 
(ii) the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the 
Underwriter’s reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or 
otherwise upon request of the USDFA or Bond Counsel.  For purposes of this Section, if Bonds 
mature on the same date but have different interest rates, each separate CUSIP number within that 
maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the Bonds. 

C. The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or 
before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering 
price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, except as 
otherwise set forth therein.  Exhibit A also sets forth, as of the date of this Purchase Agreement, the 
maturities, if any, of the Bonds for which the Underwriter represents that (i) the 10% test has been 
satisfied (assuming orders are confirmed by the close of the business day immediately following the 
date of this Purchase Agreement) and (ii) the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the 
USDFA  and the Underwriter agree that the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, 
which will allow the USDFA  to treat the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as 
of the sale date as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  So long as 
the hold-the-offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter 
will neither offer nor sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than 
the initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the 
earlier of the following: 

a. the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

b. the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that 
maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price 
to the public. 

The Underwriter will advise the USDFA promptly after the close of the fifth (5th) business 
day after the sale date whether it has sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price 
that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 

D. The Underwriter confirms that: 

 (i) any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement relating to 
the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will 
contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of the selling group and each broker-
dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement, as applicable: 

111 of 567



6 
 

 (A)(i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each 
maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of that 
maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter that the 10% test has 
been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the 
Closing Date may be reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter 
and (ii) to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, if and for so long as directed by 
the Underwriter,  

 (B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that, to its knowledge, 
are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below), and  

 (C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-dealer, 
the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to 
the public.   

(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, 
together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer that 
is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale 
of the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party 
distribution agreement to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of 
each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of 
that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter or the dealer that 
the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting 
obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request 
of the Underwriter or the dealer, and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, 
if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter or the dealer and as set forth in the related pricing 
wires. 

E. The USDFA acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this 
section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection 
with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of 
the selling group to comply with the requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, 
including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if 
applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and 
(ii) in the event that a third-party  distribution agreement was employed in connection with the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such 
agreement to comply with the requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, including, 
but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the 
Bonds, as set forth in the third-party distribution agreement and the related pricing wires. The 
USDFA further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer 
who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a third-party 
distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply with the 
requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its 
agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds. 

112 of 567



7 
 

F. The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is 
a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each 
such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this 
section.  Further, for purposes of this section: 

a. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related 
party; 

b. “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a 
written contract with the USDFA  (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that 
agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause 
(A) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including a member of a 
selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial 
sale of the Bonds to the public); 

c. a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an 
underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) 
more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if 
both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), 
(B) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both 
entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (C) 
more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation 
or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the 
applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other); and 

d. “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement 
by all parties. 

6. The Underwriter represents to and agrees with the USDFA and the District that, as 
of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date: 

(a) The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement and 
to take any action under this Purchase Agreement required to be taken by it; 

(b) The Underwriter is in compliance with MSRB Rule G-37 with respect to the 
USDFA and the District, and is not prohibited thereby from acting as the underwriter with respect to 
securities of the USDFA and the District; 

(c) The Underwriter has, and has had, no financial advisory relationship, as that 
term is defined in California Government Code Section 53590 (c) or MSRB Rule G-32, with the 
District with respect to the Bonds, and no investment firm controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with such Underwriter have or has had any such financial advisory relationship; 
and 

113 of 567



8 
 

(d) The Underwriter has reasonably determined that the undertaking to provide 
continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate is 
sufficient to effect compliance with Rule 15c2-12. 

7. The USDFA represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that: 

(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and validly 
existing pursuant to the laws of the State of California and has all necessary power and authority to 
enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement and this 
Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “Authority Documents”) and, when executed and delivered 
by the respective parties thereto, the Authority Documents will constitute the legal, valid and 
binding obligations of the USDFA in accordance with their respective terms. 
 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents, or the 
approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the 
USDFA’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions herein and 
therein contemplated, nor the fulfillment of the terms hereof and thereof, conflicts with or 
constitutes a breach of or default under nor contravenes any law, administrative regulation, 
judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other 
instrument to which the USDFA is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, nor does 
any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result in the security interest or encumbrance 
of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets of the USDFA under the terms of any 
such law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, 
resolution, agreement or other instrument, except as provided by the Authority Documents. 

(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any 
state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification 
by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the USDFA required for the execution and 
delivery of the Bonds or the consummation by the USDFA of the other transactions contemplated 
by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(d) To the best of the knowledge of the USDFA, there is, and on the Closing 
there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court 
or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the USDFA to restrain or enjoin the 
delivery of any of the Bonds, or the payments to be made pursuant to the Indenture, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the validity of the Authority Documents or of the USDFA to enter into the 
Authority Documents or contesting the powers of the USDFA to perform its obligations under any of 
the foregoing or in any way contesting the powers of the USDFA in connection with any action 
contemplated by this Purchase Agreement, or in any way questioning or challenging the tax status 
of the Bonds. 

(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and 
including the End Date, the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement 
will be complete and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit 
to state any material fact (unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 7(j) below) 
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

114 of 567



9 
 

made, not misleading.  As of its date and as of the date hereof, the information relating to the 
USDFA and the Bonds contained in the Official Statement is true and correct in all material respects 
and such information does not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or 
omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

(f) The USDFA agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to 
qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of 
the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that the USDFA will not be 
required to execute a special or general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction in which it 
is not now so subject or to qualify to do business as a foreign agency in any jurisdiction where it is 
not so qualified. 

(g) By official action of the USDFA prior to or concurrently with the execution 
hereof, the USDFA has duly approved the distribution of the Official Statement (excepting the 
information under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS” 
and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in Appendices B, D, G and H thereto), and has duly authorized 
and approved the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the USDFA of the obligations 
on its part contained in the Authority Documents and the consummation by it of all other 
transactions contemplated by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(h) The USDFA is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment 
or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument 
to which the USDFA is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, and no event has 
occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
constitute a default or an event of default under any such instrument. 

(i) The USDFA is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the 
payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the USDFA or successor of 
the USDFA or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the USDFA as guarantor or successor of a 
guarantor. 

(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event 
occurs, of which the USDFA has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to 
the USDFA or the USDFA’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement, 
as then supplemented or amended, to contain an untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to 
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in 
the light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading, the USDFA will notify 
the Underwriter, and if, in the opinion of the Underwriter, such event requires the preparation and 
publication of a supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the USDFA will cooperate 
with the Underwriter in the preparation of an amendment or supplement to the Official Statement 
in a form and in a manner approved by the Underwriter, provided all expenses thereby incurred will 
be paid for by the District. 

115 of 567



10 
 

(k) If the information relating to the USDFA, its functions, duties and 
responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the 
immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and 
(unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such subsection) at all times 
subsequent thereto up to and including the date of the Closing, the portions of the Official 
Statement so supplemented or amended (including any financial and statistical data contained 
therein) will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading. 

(l) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or 
regulatory authority that has not been obtained is or will be required of the USDFA for the delivery 
and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by this 
Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement, except as may be required under the state 
securities or blue sky laws in connection with the sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter. 

(m) The USDFA will deliver all opinions, Bonds, letters and other instruments and 
documents reasonably required to be delivered by the USDFA by the Underwriter and this Purchase 
Agreement. 

(n) Any certificate of the USDFA delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a 
representation and warranty by the USDFA to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein. 

(o) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of 
acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the USDFA does not and will not have outstanding any 
indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the USDFA Revenues superior to or on a parity with the 
lien of the Bonds thereon. 

(p) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the 
USDFA will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the 
Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money, or 
incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent. 

(q) The USDFA is not presently and as a result of the execution of the Authority 
Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation 
limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or statutes or any additional debt or 
similar provision of any bond, note, contract or other evidence of indebtedness to which the USDFA 
is a party or to which the USDFA is bound. 

(r) The USDFA will not knowingly take or omit to take any action, which action 
or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 
other than as provided in the Authority Documents, unless otherwise required by law. 

8. The District represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that: 

(a) The District is a sanitary district duly organized under the laws of the State of 
California, and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the 

116 of 567



11 
 

Installment Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and this 
Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “District Documents”) and, when executed and delivered by 
the respective parties thereto, the District Documents will constitute the legal, valid and binding 
obligations of the District in accordance with their respective terms. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the District Documents, or the 
approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the 
District’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions herein and 
therein contemplated, nor the fulfillment of the terms hereof and thereof, conflicts with or 
constitutes a breach of or default under nor contravenes any law, administrative regulation, 
judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other 
instrument to which the District is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, nor does 
any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result in the security interest or encumbrance 
of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets of the District under the terms of 
any such law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, 
resolution, agreement or other instrument, except as provided by the District Documents. 

(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any 
state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification 
by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the District required for the execution and 
delivery of the Bonds or the consummation by the District of the other transactions contemplated 
by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(d) To the best of the knowledge of the District, there is, and on the Closing 
there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court 
or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the District to restrain or enjoin the 
delivery of any of the Bonds, or the payments to be made pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement and Indenture, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the District 
Documents or of the District to approve or enter into the District Documents, or in any way 
questioning or challenging the tax status of the Bonds. 

(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and 
including the End Date, the information relating to the District, the Installment Purchase Agreement 
and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement will be complete and will not 
contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact 
(unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 8(j) below) necessary to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  
As of its date and as of the date hereof, the information relating to the District, the Installment 
Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement is true and 
correct in all material respects and such information does not contain any untrue or misleading 
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements 
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

(f) The District agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to 
qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of 
the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that the District will not be 

117 of 567



12 
 

required to execute a special or general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction in which it 
is not now so subject or to qualify to do business as a foreign agency in any jurisdiction where it is 
not so qualified. 

(g) By official action of the District prior to or concurrently with the execution 
hereof, the District has duly approved the distribution of the information in the Official Statement 
under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS” 
and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in Appendices B, D, G and H thereto, and has duly authorized 
and approved the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the District of the obligations 
on its part contained in the District Documents and the consummation by it of all other transactions 
contemplated by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(h) The District is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment 
or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument 
to which the District is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, and no event has 
occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
constitute a default or an event of default under any such instrument. 

(i) The District is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the 
payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the District or successor of 
the District or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the District as guarantor or successor of a 
guarantor. 

(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event 
occurs, of which the District has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to 
the District, the Wastewater System or the District’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained 
in the Official Statement, as then supplemented or amended, to contain an untrue statement of a 
material fact or to omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make 
such information therein, in the light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not 
misleading, the District will notify the Underwriter, and if, in the opinion of the Underwriter, such 
event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement or amendment to the Official 
Statement, the District will cooperate with the Underwriter in the preparation of an amendment or 
supplement to the Official Statement in a form and in a manner approved by the Underwriter, 
provided all expenses thereby incurred will be paid for by the District. 

(k) If the information relating to the Wastewater System, the District, its 
functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or 
supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement 
or amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such 
subsection) at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the date of the Closing, the portions 
of the Official Statement so supplemented or amended (including any financial and statistical data 
contained therein) will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading. 

118 of 567



13 
 

(l) The District covenants that it will comply with all tax covenants relating to it 
in the District Documents and the Tax Certificate of the District. 

(m) The written information supplied by the District to the Underwriter with 
respect to the financial information relating to the Wastewater System is true, correct and 
complete in all material respects for the purposes for which it was supplied. 

(n) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or 
regulatory agency that has not been obtained is or will be required of the District for the delivery 
and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by this 
Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement, except for such licenses, certificates, approvals, 
variances or permits which may be necessary for the construction or operation of the Wastewater 
System which the District has applied for (or will apply for in the ordinary course of business) and 
expects to receive, and except as may be required under the state securities or blue sky laws in 
connection with the sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter. 

(o) The District will not take or omit to take any action which action or omission 
will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner contrary to 
that provided in the Indenture and as described in the Official Statement, unless otherwise required 
by law. 

(p) The District will deliver all opinions, certificates, letters and other 
instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the District by the Underwriter 
and this Purchase Agreement. 

(q) Any certificate of the District delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a 
representation and warranty by the District to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein. 

(r) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of 
acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the District does not and will not have outstanding any 
indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the Revenues superior to or on a parity with the lien of 
the Bonds thereon. 

(s) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the 
District will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the 
Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money, or 
incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent payable from the Net Revenues. 

(t) The District is not presently and as a result of the execution of the District 
Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation 
limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or statutes or any additional debt or 
similar provision of any bond, note, contract or other evidence of indebtedness to which the District 
is a party or to which the District is bound. 

(u) The District will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate 
to provide annual reports and notices of certain events in accordance with the requirements of Rule 
15c2-12. 

119 of 567



14 
 

9. The Underwriter has entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the 
representations, warranties and agreements of the USDFA and the District contained herein, and 
the opinions of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, Counsel to the Trustee, counsel to the District 
and counsel to the USDFA required hereby.  The Underwriter’s obligations under this Purchase 
Agreement are and shall be subject to the following further conditions: 

(a) At the time of Closing, this Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, and the Continuing Disclosure Certificate (collectively the “Legal 
Documents”), all as described in the Official Statement, shall be in full force and effect as valid and 
binding agreements between or among the various parties thereto, and the Legal Documents and 
the Official Statement shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented except as may have 
been agreed to in writing by the Underwriter, and there shall be in full force and effect such 
resolutions as, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, shall be necessary in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 

(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall receive the following 
documents, in each case satisfactory in form and substance to them: 

(1) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date 
of Closing, addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (or a reliance 
letter to the Underwriter), in substantially the form attached as Appendix E to the 
Official Statement. 

(2) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated as of the date of 
Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

(3) The negative assurance letter of Quint & Thimmig LLP, Disclosure 
Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect 
that, based upon the information made available to them in the course of their 
participation in the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement and Official 
Statement and without passing on and without assuming any responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness and fairness of the statements in the Official Statement, and 
having made no independent investigation or verification thereof, no facts have 
come to their attention that lead them to believe that the Preliminary Official 
Statement as of its date, and the Official Statement as of its date or as of the Closing 
Date (except for any CUSIP numbers, financial or statistical data or forecasts, 
numbers, charts, estimates, projections, assumptions or expressions of opinion, the 
information under the captions “LITIGATION,” “RATINGS” and “UNDERWRITING” 
and in the appendices thereto (excluding Appendix C - “FORM OF THE CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE,”), information with respect to the USDFA, any 
information about DTC and its book-entry only system, as to which no opinion or 
view need be expressed) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omitted to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  

120 of 567



15 
 

(4) An opinion of Counsel to the USDFA, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to 
the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the USDFA is a joint powers authority duly organized and 
validly existing under the laws of the State of California; 

(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement 
and the Authority Documents have been duly approved by the USDFA; 

(iii) the resolutions of the USDFA approving and authorizing the 
execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the Authority 
Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of 
the USDFA which were called and held pursuant to law and with all public 
notice required by law and at which a quorum was present and acting 
throughout and such resolutions have not been amended or modified and 
are in full force and effect; 

(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the USDFA, 
which would adversely impact the USDFA’s ability to complete the 
transactions described in and contemplated by the Official Statement, to 
restrain or enjoin the payments under, or in any way contesting or affecting 
the validity of the Authority Documents, or the transactions described and 
defined in the Official Statement wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or 
finding would adversely affect the validity and enforceability of the Authority 
Documents; 

(v) the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and 
the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions 
thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not 
and will not in any material respect conflict with or constitute on the part of 
the USDFA a breach of or default under any agreement or other instrument 
to which the USDFA is a party or by which it is bound or any existing law, 
regulation, court order or consent decree to which the USDFA is subject; 

(vi) the Authority Documents and the Official Statement have 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and, assuming 
due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the 
Authority Documents constitute legal, valid and binding agreements of the 
USDFA  enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as the 
enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by the 
application of equitable principles if sought and by the limitations on legal 
remedies imposed on actions against public agencies in the State of 
California; 

121 of 567



16 
 

(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the 
State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the 
State of California other than the USDFA is required for the valid 
authorization, execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement by the USDFA; and 

(viii) nothing has come to their attention which would lead them 
to believe that the information relating to the USDFA contained in the 
Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading. 

(5) An opinion of counsel to the District, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to 
the USDFA and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the District is a sanitary district created in accordance with 
the laws of the State of California; 

(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement 
and the District Documents have been duly approved by the District; 

(iii) the resolutions of the District approving and authorizing the 
execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the District Documents 
have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the District 
which were called and held pursuant to law and with all public notice 
required by law and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout 
and such resolutions have not been amended or modified and are in full 
force and effect; 

(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel , there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the 
District, which would adversely impact the District’s ability to complete the 
transactions described in and contemplated by the Official Statement, to 
restrain or enjoin the payments under the Installment Purchase Agreement, 
or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the District Documents, 
or the transactions described and defined in the Official Statement wherein 
an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the validity 
and enforceability of the District Documents; 

(v) the execution and delivery of the District Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions 
thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not 
and will not in any material respect conflict with or constitute on the part of 
the District a breach of or default under any agreement or other instrument 

122 of 567



17 
 

to which the District is a party or by which it is bound or any existing law, 
regulation, court order or consent decree to which the District is subject; 

(vi) the District Documents and the Official Statement have been 
duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District, and, assuming due 
authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the 
District Documents constitute legal, valid and binding agreements of the 
District enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as the 
enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by the 
application of equitable principles if sought and by the limitations on legal 
remedies imposed on actions against public agencies in the State of 
California; 

(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the 
State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the 
State of California other than the District is required for the valid 
authorization, execution and delivery of the District Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement by the District; 

(viii) the District’s charges and fees with respect to the 
Wastewater System were duly approved and adopted by the District, and 
are valid and enforceable at the current levels levied by the District; and 

(ix) nothing has come to the such counsel’s attention which 
would lead such counsel to believe that the information relating to the 
District or the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement 
contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading. 

(6) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, and 
addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the Trustee is a national banking association duly organized 
and validly existing under the laws of the United States; 

(ii) the Trustee has duly authorized the execution and delivery of 
the Indenture; 

(iii) the Indenture has been duly entered into and delivered by 
the Trustee and assuming due, valid and binding authorization, execution 
and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding obligation of the Trustee enforceable against the Trustee in 
accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be 
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws affecting 

123 of 567



18 
 

the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, or by general principles of 
equity; 

(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds 
in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture; 

(v) acceptance by the Trustee of the duties and obligations 
under the Indenture and compliance with provisions thereof will not conflict 
with or constitute a breach of or default under any law or administrative 
regulation to which the Trustee is subject; and 

(vi) all approvals, consents and orders of any governmental 
authority or agency having jurisdiction in the matter which would constitute 
a condition precedent to the performance by the Trustee of its duties and 
obligations under the Indenture have been obtained and are in full force and 
effect. 

(7) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the 
Underwriter, of Kutak Rock LLP, counsel to the Underwriter (“Underwriter’s 
Counsel”), in such form as may be acceptable to the Underwriter. 

(8) A certificate, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized 
official of the USDFA satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and 
Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warranties of 
the USDFA contained in this Purchase Agreement; (b) certifying that the USDFA has 
complied with all agreements, covenants and conditions to be complied with by the 
USDFA at or prior to the Closing under the Authority Documents; and (c) certifying 
that to the best of such official’s knowledge, no event affecting the USDFA has 
occurred since the date of the Official Statement which either makes untrue or 
incorrect in any material respect as of the Closing the statements or information 
contained in the Official Statement with respect to the USDFA or is not reflected in 
the Official Statement but should be reflected therein in order to make the 
statements and information therein with respect to the USDFA not misleading in any 
material respect. 

(9) A certificate or certificates, dated the date of Closing, signed by a 
duly authorized official of the District satisfactory in form and substance to the 
Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations 
and warranties of the District contained in this Purchase Agreement; (b) certifying 
that the District has complied with all agreements, covenants and conditions to be 
complied with by the District at or prior to the Closing under the District Documents; 
and (c) certifying that to the best of such official’s knowledge, no event affecting the 
District has occurred since the date of the Official Statement which either makes 
untrue or incorrect in any material respect as of the Closing the statements or 
information contained in the Official Statement with respect to the Wastewater 
System or the District or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be 
reflected therein in order to make the statements and information therein with 

124 of 567



19 
 

respect to the Wastewater System or the District not misleading in any material 
respect. 

(10) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, 
signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA deeming the Preliminary Official 
Statement “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 except for the information with 
respect to the District.  

(11) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, 
signed by a duly authorized official of the District deeming the information 
contained in the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the District “final” for 
purposes of Rule 15c2-12. 

(12) An executed or certified copy of each of the Legal Documents. 

(13) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized 
officer of the District of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the District 
relating to the approval of the District Documents and the authorization, issuance, 
sale and delivery of the Bonds, together with a certificate dated as of the date of 
Closing of a duly authorized officer of the District to the effect that each included 
resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of the one duly adopted by the Board 
of Directors of the District and that none have been amended, modified or 
rescinded since adoption (except as reflected in said transcript or as may have been 
agreed to in writing by the Underwriter) and is in full force and effect as of the date 
of Closing. 

(14) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized 
officer of the USDFA of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the USDFA 
relating to the approval of the Authority Documents and the authorization, issuance, 
sale and delivery of the Bonds, together with a certificate dated as of the date of 
Closing of a duly authorized officer of the USDFA  to the effect that each included 
resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of the one duly adopted by the Board 
of Directors of the USDFA and that none have been amended, modified or rescinded 
since adoption (except as reflected in said transcript or as may have been agreed to 
in writing by the Underwriter) and is in full force and effect as of the date of Closing. 

(15) An executed copy of the Official Statement. 

(16) A certified copy of the general resolution of the Trustee authorizing 
the execution and delivery of certain documents by certain officers of the Trustee, 
which resolution authorizes the execution and delivery of documents such as the 
Bonds and the Indenture. 

(17) A Tax Certificate of the USDFA and the District in form and substance 
acceptable to Bond Counsel. 

(18) A Certificate of the Trustee, dated the Closing Date to the effect that: 

125 of 567



20 
 

(i) the Trustee is duly organized and existing as a national 
banking association in good standing under the laws of the United States, 
having the full power and authority to accept and perform its duties under 
the Indenture; 

(ii) subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee will 
apply the proceeds from the Bonds to the purposes specified in the 
Indenture;  

(iii) the Trustee has duly authorized and executed the Indenture; 
and  

(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds 
in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture. 

(19) Evidence that the Bonds have been given the ratings set forth in the 
Official Statement and that such ratings continue in effect as of the date of Closing. 

(20) Evidence that a federal tax information form 8038-G has been 
prepared for filing with respect to the Bonds. 

(21) A copy of the Notice of Final Sale required to be delivered to the 
California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission pursuant to Section 8855 of 
the California Government Code. 

(22) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments 
and other documents as Bond Counsel, the Underwriter and Underwriter’s Counsel 
may reasonably request to evidence compliance with legal requirements, the truth 
and accuracy, as of the time of Closing, of the representations contained herein and 
in the Official Statement and the due performance or satisfaction by the Trustee and 
the USDFA at or prior to such time of all agreements then to be performed and all 
conditions then to be satisfied. 

If the conditions to the Underwriter’s obligations contained in this Purchase Agreement are 
not satisfied or if the Underwriter’s obligations shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this 
Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall terminate and none of the Underwriter, the 
District nor the USDFA shall have any further obligation hereunder. 

10. The Underwriter may terminate its obligation to purchase the Bonds at any time 
before the Closing Date if the market price or marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the 
Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds shall be materially adversely affected in 
the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter by the occurrence of any of the following: 

(i) Legislation shall be enacted by or introduced in the Congress 
of the United States or recommended to the Congress for passage by the 
President of the United States, or the Treasury Department of the United 
States or the Internal Revenue Service or favorably reported for passage to 

126 of 567



21 
 

either House of the Congress by any committee of such House to which such 
legislation has been referred for consideration, a decision by a court of the 
United States or of the State or the United States Tax Court shall be 
rendered, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary or proposed), 
press release, statement or other form of notice by or on behalf of the 
Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal Revenue Service or 
other governmental agency shall be made or proposed, the effect of any or 
all of which would be to alter, directly or indirectly, federal income taxation 
upon interest received on obligations of the general character of the Bonds, 
or the interest on the Bonds as described in the Official Statement, or other 
action or events shall have transpired which may have the purpose or effect, 
directly or indirectly, of changing the federal income tax consequences of 
any of the transactions contemplated herein; or 

(ii) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by 
the Congress or an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or 
proposed), press release or other form of notice issued or made by or on 
behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any other 
governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter, to the effect 
that obligations of the general character of the Bonds are not exempt from 
registration under or other requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or that the Indenture is not exempt from qualification under or 
other requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or that 
the issuance, offering, or sale of obligations of the general character of the 
Bonds, as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement or otherwise, is 
or would be in violation of the federal securities law as amended and then in 
effect; or 

(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York 
Stock Exchange or any other national securities exchange, the establishment 
of minimum or maximum prices on any such national securities exchange, 
the establishment of material restrictions (not in force as of the date hereof) 
upon trading securities generally by any governmental authority or any 
national securities exchange, or any material increase of restrictions now in 
force (including, with respect to the extension of credit by, or the charge to 
the net capital requirements of, the Underwriter); or 

(iv) A general banking moratorium shall have been established by 
federal, New York or California authorities; or 

(v) Establishment of any new restrictions in securities materially 
affecting the free market for securities of the same nature as the Bonds 
(including the imposition of any limitations on interest rates) or the charge 
to the net capital requirements of the Underwriter established by the New 
York Stock Exchange, the Securities and Exchange Commission, any other 

127 of 567



22 
 

Federal or state agency or the Congress of the United States, or by Executive 
Order; or 

(vi) Any amendment to the federal or California Constitution or 
action by any federal or California court, legislative body, regulatory body or 
other authority materially adversely affecting the tax status of the USDFA or 
the District, its property, income or securities (or interest thereon), or the 
ability of the District to execute the Installment Purchase Agreement or the 
USDFA to issue the Bonds and pledge the USDFA Revenues as contemplated 
by the Indenture and the Official Statement; or 

(vii) There shall have occurred any (1) new material outbreak of 
hostilities (including, without limitation, an act of terrorism) or (2) new 
material other national or international calamity or crisis, or any material 
adverse change in the financial, political or economic conditions affecting 
the United States, including, but not limited to, an escalation of hostilities 
that existed prior to the date hereto; or 

(viii) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or 
clearance services affecting the Bonds shall have occurred; or 

(ix) Any event occurring, or information becoming known which, 
in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, makes untrue in any 
material respect any statement or information contained in the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement, or results in the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement containing any untrue statement 
of a material fact or omitting to state a material fact required to be stated 
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or  

(x) Any fact or event shall exist or have existed that requires or 
has required an amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement; or 

(xi) Any rating of the Bonds or other obligations of the USDFA or 
the District by a national rating agency shall have been withdrawn or 
downgraded or placed on negative outlook or negative watch. 

11. Performance by the USDFA and the District of their respective obligations under this 
Purchase Agreement is conditioned upon (i) performance by the Underwriter of its obligations 
hereunder, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriter of all opinions and certificates to be delivered at 
Closing by persons and entities other than the USDFA or the District. 

12. After the Closing and until the End Date (a) neither the USDFA nor the District will 
adopt any amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement to which the Underwriter shall 
object in writing, and (b) if any event relating to or affecting the USDFA or the District shall occur as 
a result of which it is necessary, in the opinion of the Underwriter, to amend or supplement the 
Official Statement in order to make the Official Statement not misleading in the light of the 

128 of 567



23 
 

circumstances existing at the time it is delivered to an initial purchaser of the Bonds, and the USDFA 
will forthwith prepare and furnish to the Underwriter a reasonable number of copies of an 
amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement (in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Underwriter) which will amend or supplement the Official Statement so that it will not contain an 
untrue statement of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances existing at the time the Official Statement is delivered to an initial purchaser of 
the Bonds, not misleading.  The costs of preparing any necessary amendment or supplement to the 
Official Statement to be utilized until the End Date shall be borne by the District.  For the purposes 
of this Section, the USDFA and the District will furnish such information with respect to itself as the 
Underwriter may from time to time request. 

13. (a) The Underwriter shall be under no obligation to pay, and the District or 
USDFA shall pay or cause to be paid out of the proceeds of the Bonds, all expenses incident to the 
performance of the USDFA’s and District’s obligations hereunder, including but not limited to: the 
cost of photocopying and delivering the Bonds to the Underwriter; the cost of preparing, printing 
(and/or word processing and reproducing), distributing and delivering the District Documents and 
the Authority Documents, and the cost of printing, distributing and delivering the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the Official Statement in such reasonable quantities as requested by the 
Underwriter; and the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, the Municipal 
Advisor, any accountants, financial advisors or other engineers or experts or consultants the USDFA 
or the District have retained in connection with the Bonds and expenses (included in the expense 
component of the Underwriter’s spread) incurred on behalf of the USDFA or District officers or 
employees which are incidental to implementing this Purchase Agreement, including, but not 
limited to, meals, transportation, and lodging of those officers or employees. 

(b) Whether or not the Bonds are delivered to the Underwriter as set forth 
herein, neither the USDFA nor the District shall be under any obligation to pay, and the USDFA and 
the District shall not pay, any expenses incurred by the Underwriter in connection with its public 
offering and distribution of the Bonds (except those specifically enumerated in subsection (a) of this 
section), including any advertising expenses and the fees of the California Debt and Investment 
Advisory Commission, CUSIP Services Bureau charges, the cost of preparation of any “blue sky” or 
legal investment memoranda, and the fees and disbursements of Underwriter’s Counsel. 

14. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter may be given by 
delivering the same to RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200, San 
Francisco, California 94111; Attention: Municipal Finance Department. Any notice or other 
communication to be given to the USDFA or the District may be given by delivering the same to 
addresses initially provided herein, Attention: Executive Director with respect to the USDFA and 
Attention: General Manager with respect to the District.  The approval of the Underwriter when 
required hereunder or the determination of satisfaction as to any document referred to herein shall 
be in writing signed by the Underwriter and delivered to you. 

15. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the USDFA, the District 
and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns thereof) and no other person shall acquire 
or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. 

129 of 567



24 
 

16. This Purchase Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

17. The representations and warranties of the USDFA and the District set forth in or 
made pursuant to this Purchase Agreement shall not be deemed to have been discharged, satisfied 
or otherwise rendered void by reason of the Closing or termination of this Purchase Agreement and 
regardless of any investigations made by or on behalf of the Underwriter (or statements as to the 
results of such investigations) concerning such representations and warranties of the USDFA and 
the District and regardless of delivery of and payment for the Bonds. 

18. The primary role of the Underwriter, as underwriter, is to purchase the Bonds for 
resale to investors in an arms-length commercial transaction among the District, the USDFA and the 
Underwriter.  The Underwriter, as underwriter, has financial and other interests that differ from 
those of the USDFA and the District. 

19. This Purchase Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the respective 
parties hereto upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by the USDFA, the District and the 
Underwriter, and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such acceptance. 

20. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  
This Purchase Agreement shall not be assigned by either party hereto. 

21. This Purchase Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, 
agreements and understandings between the parties hereto in relation to the sale of Bonds by the 
USDFA and the District and represents the entire agreement of the parties as to the subject matter 
herein. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

130 of 567



 

25 

22. Any provision of this Purchase Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in 
any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Purchase Agreement or 
affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction. 

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 
 
 
 
By:  

Robert L. Williams, Jr. 
Managing Director 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted as of the date first above written: 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:   

Authorized Officer 

Time of Execution: _____________ p.m. California time 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

Time of Execution: _____________ p.m. California time 

.  

 

[EXECUTION PAGE OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT – UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING 
AUTHORITY REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A]

131 of 567



 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

$______ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 

Maturity 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate Yield Price 

10% Test 
Satisfied* 

10% Test 
Not 

Satisfied 

Subject to 
Hold-The-

Offering-Price 
Rule 

2020          
2021        
2022          
2023          
2024          
2025          
2026          
2027          
2028          
2029          
2030          
2031          
2032          
2033          
2034          
2035          
2036          
2037          
2038          
2039        
20__(T)        
20__(T)        
_________________ 
(T) Term Bond. 
(C) Priced to optional call at [par] on September 1, 20__. 
* At the time of execution of this Purchase Agreement and assuming orders are confirmed by the 
close of the business day immediately following the date of this Purchase Agreement. 

132 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

EXHIBIT B 

$_____ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A  
 
 

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC (“RBC”) hereby certifies as set forth 
below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”). 

 1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each 
Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was 
sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

 2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.   

 (a) RBC offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for purchase at the 
respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) on or before the 
Sale Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds is attached to this 
certificate as Schedule B. 

 (b) As set forth in the Purchase Agreement, RBC has agreed in writing that, (i) for each 
Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds 
of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such 
Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) 
any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the 
selling group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-
dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-
price rule.  Pursuant to such agreement, no Underwriter (as defined below) has offered or sold any 
Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective Initial 
Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period. 

 3. Defined Terms.   

 (a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in Schedule A 
hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in Schedule A 
hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the period 
starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the 
Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which RBC has sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price 

133 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturity. 

 (d) Issuer means Union Sanitary District Financing Authority. 

 (e) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 
are treated as separate maturities. 

 (f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 
Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 
more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a 
Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is February ___, 2020. 

(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Issuer 
(or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or 
indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution 
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

4. Yield.  RBC has provided the schedule attached in Schedule C with respect to the arbitrage 
yield on the Bonds. 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this 
certificate represents RBC’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The 
undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with 
respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to 
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Stradling Yocca Carlson & 
Rauth, a Professional Corporation in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the 
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the 
Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the 
Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds. 

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

 

By:______________________________________ 

134 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

Name:___________________________________ 

Dated:  February __, 2020  

135 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE A 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 
INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

(Attached)  

136 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE B 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

(Attached) 

137 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE C 

ARBITRAGE YIELD PROOF 

(Attached) 

  

138 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

EXHIBIT C 

$_____ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A  
 
 

FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 
 

 

February __, 2020 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC 
Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, California 94111 

Re: $___________ Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority (the “USDFA”), a joint exercise of powers agency organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of California, of $_________ aggregate principal amount of Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A (the “Bonds”), under and 
pursuant to the provisions relating to the joint exercise of powers found in Chapter 5 of Division 7 
of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California, as amended (the “Government Code”) 
and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, 
the “Act”), and under and pursuant to the Indenture of Trust (the “Indenture”), dated as of January 
1, 2020 by and between the USDFA and U.S. Bank National Association., as trustee.  Capitalized 
terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the 
Indenture. 

On the date hereof, we delivered to the USDFA our opinion relating to, among other things, 
the validity of the Bonds and the Indenture (the “Approving Opinion”).  You are authorized to rely 
upon the Approving Opinion as if addressed to you. 

Based upon the foregoing and our review of such other information, documents and 
matters of law as we considered necessary and in reliance on the foregoing, as appropriate, we are 
of the opinion that: 

(i) The Bond Purchase Agreement, dated ______ __, 2020 (the “Purchase Agreement”), 
by and between the USDFA and RBC Capital Markets, LLC, as underwriter (the “Underwriter”), 

139 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

relating to the Bonds, has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and 
assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Underwriter, is a valid and binding 
agreement of the USDFA enforceable in accordance with its terms;  

(ii) The statements contained in the Official Statement under the captions 
[“INTRODUCTION-Security for the Bonds,” “THE BONDS,” ‘”SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 
FOR THE 2020 BONDS,” “TAX MATTERS,” in APPENDIX A – “SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL 
DOCUMENTS,” and in APPENDIX C – “FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION,”] insofar as such 
statements purport to summarize certain provisions of the Bonds and certain provisions of the 
Indenture and our Approving Opinion with respect to certain federal and state income tax matters 
related to the Bonds, are accurate in all material respects; and 

(iii) The Bonds are exempt from registration pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and the Indenture is exempt from qualification pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act of 
1939, as amended. 

The opinions expressed herein are based upon our analysis and interpretation of existing 
laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by 
such authorities.  We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Purchase 
Agreement, the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Bonds are subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or transfer and other 
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles if equitable 
remedies are sought, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on 
legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. 

By delivering this letter, we are not expressing any opinion with respect to any 
indemnification, contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed to 
constitute a penalty), right of set-off, arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum, 
choice of venue, non-exclusivity of remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the 
Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment Purchase Agreement, nor are we expressing any opinion 
with respect to the state or quality of title to or interest in any assets described in or as subject to 
the lien of the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment Purchase Agreement or the accuracy or 
sufficiency of the description of such assets, or the remedies available to enforce liens on, any such 
assets.   

Except as expressly set forth in the Approving Opinion, we express no opinion regarding any 
tax consequences with respect to the Bonds.  No opinion is expressed herein with respect to the 
compliance with, or applicability of, any “blue sky” laws of any state as they relate to the offer or 
sale of the Bonds. 

This opinion is limited to matters governed by the laws of California and federal securities 
laws, and we assume no responsibility with respect to the applicability or the effect of the laws of 
any other jurisdiction.   

This letter is being furnished to you solely for your benefit in connection with your purchase 
of the Bonds in accordance with the Purchase Agreement and is not to be used, circulated, quoted 

140 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

or otherwise referred to or relied upon for any other purpose or by any other person without our 
prior written consent.  The Underwriter has been represented in connection with the purchase of 
the Bonds by its counsel; and no attorney-client relationship has existed or exists between the 
Underwriter and our firm in connection therewith or by virtue of this letter.   

Respectfully submitted, 

141 of 567



 
Th

is
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
O

ffi
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
he

re
in

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
or

 a
m

en
dm

en
t. 

Th
es

e 
se

cu
rit

ie
s 

m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ffe

rs
 to

 b
uy

 b
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 p
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

tim
e 

th
e 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t i

s 
de

liv
er

ed
 in

 fi
na

l f
or

m
. U

nd
er

 n
o 

ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l t

hi
s 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t c

on
st

itu
te

 a
n 

of
fe

r t
o 

se
ll 

or
 a

 s
ol

ic
ita

tio
n 

of
 a

n 
of

fe
r t

o 
bu

y 
no

r s
ha

ll 
th

er
e 

be
 a

ny
 s

al
e 

of
 th

es
e 

se
cu

rit
ie

s 
in

 a
ny

 ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

in
 w

hi
ch

 s
uc

h 
of

fe
r, 

so
lic

ita
tio

n 
or

 s
al

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

un
la

w
fu

l p
rio

r t
o 

re
gi

st
ra

tio
n 

or
 q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
n 

un
de

r t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 la

w
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

ju
ris

di
ct

io
n.

 
 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JANUARY 29, 2020 
 
NEW ISSUE—FULL BOOK-ENTRY RATINGS:  
 Fitch: “___” 
 S&P: “___” 
 See “RATINGS” herein 
 
In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation (“Bond Counsel”), under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the accuracy of certain representations 
and compliance with certain covenants and requirements described herein, interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference 
for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals.  In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein. 
 

 

 

$_________* 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

FINANCING AUTHORITY 
(Alameda County, California) 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 

 

 

Dated: As of Date of Delivery Due: September 1, as shown below 
 
The $________* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”) are being issued by the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “Authority”), in fully 
registered form without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). Payments of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds will be made by U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee for the Bonds (the “Trustee”), to DTC, which is obligated in turn to remit such principal and interest to DTC participants for subsequent 
disbursement to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. The Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Indenture”), by and between the Authority and the Trustee. 
Interest on the Bonds will be payable semi-annually on each March 1 and September 1, commencing on September 1, 2020. 
 
The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to (i) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the “Wastewater System”) owned and operated by the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), (ii) 
refund the District’s obligations under various prior agreements with the California State Water Resources Control Board, the proceeds of which were used to finance improvements to the Wastewater 
System, and (iii) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds. See “THE FINANCING PLAN” herein. The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable from Authority Revenues (as defined herein) 
consisting primarily of installment payments (the “Installment Payments”) payable by the District under an installment purchase agreement, dated as of February 1, 2020, by and between the Authority, as 
seller, and the District, as purchaser (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”). 
  
The District is obligated under the Installment Purchase Agreement to make Installment Payments from Net Revenues of the Wastewater System, on a parity with obligations of the District (“Parity 
Obligations”) hereafter issued or incurred by the District. “Net Revenues” are the Gross Revenues of the Wastewater System, less Operating and Maintenance Costs of the Wastewater System. The 
Installment Payments are scheduled in an amount sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the Bonds. The District has covenanted under the Installment Purchase Agreement to prescribe, 
revise and collect such charges from the services and facilities of the Wastewater System which will produce gross revenues sufficient in each Fiscal Year to provide Net Revenues equal to at least 1.20 times 
the aggregate of obligations of the District with respect to the Installment Payments and payments with respect to the Parity Obligations in such Fiscal Year. The Installment Payments are not subject to 
abatement. A debt service reserve fund will not be funded for the Bonds. 
 
THE OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT TO MAKE THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS DESCRIBED HEREIN IS A SPECIAL OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
NET REVENUES OF THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE DISTRICT, ALAMEDA COUNTY, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OF ITS 
POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION. 
 
The Bonds are subject to optional redemption, redemption from insurance and condemnation proceeds and redemption from scheduled sinking fund payments, as described herein. See “THE 
BONDS—Redemption” herein. 
 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AUTHORITY REVENUES 
(PRIMARILY DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT) AND AMOUNTS HELD IN 
CERTAIN FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE. 
 

MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, YIELDS  AND PRICES 
 

CUSIP† Prefix: _____ 
 

Maturity Principal Interest   CUSIP†  Maturity Principal Interest   CUSIP† 
September 1 Amount Rate Yield Price Suffix  September 1 Amount Rate Yield Price Suffix 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             

 

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR GENERAL REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE OF BONDS. INVESTORS MUST READ THE 
ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE PURCHASE OF 
THE BONDS. 
 
The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter and subject to the approval as to their validity by Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California, 
Bond Counsel to the District. Certain legal matters will also be passed upon for the District by Quint & Thimmig LLP, Larkspur, California, as Disclosure Counsel, and by Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, 
California, counsel to the District. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, California. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter  by 
Kutak Rock LLP, Irvine, California. It is anticipated that the Bonds will be delivered in definitive form through the facilities of DTC on or about February 26, 2020. 

 
Dated: February __, 2020 
    
*Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Copyright 2020, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, operated by S&P Capital IQ. This data is not 
intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for CUSIP Global Services. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the Authority or the District and are 
included solely for the convenience of the registered owners of the Bonds. None of the Authority, the District or the Underwriter is responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers and no representation is made as 
to their correctness on the Bonds or as included herein. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the delivery of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, 
a refunding in whole or in part or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds. 

142 of 567



143 of 567



GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the Bonds, nor shall there be any sale of the 
Bonds in any state or other jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale in such state or jurisdiction. 
 
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. Statements contained in this Official 
Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as 
such and are not to be construed as representations of fact. No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the 
Authority, the District or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations other than as contained herein in 
connection with the offering of the Bonds, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as 
having been authorized by the Authority, the District or the Underwriter. 
 
All summaries of the documents referred to in this Official Statement are made subject to the provisions of such documents, respectively, 
and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions. 
 
The Underwriter has submitted the following statement for inclusion in this Official Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed the 
information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws 
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. 
 
Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so 
described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a representation of facts. The information set forth herein has 
been obtained from sources which are believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be 
construed as a representation by the Authority or the District. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change 
without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder, under any circumstances, shall create any 
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any party described herein subsequent to the date as of which such information 
is presented. 
 
When used in this Official Statement and in any continuing disclosure by the Authority or the District, in any press release and in any oral 
statement made with the approval of an authorized officer of the Authority or the District, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are 
expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “expect,” “intend” and similar expressions 
identify “forward looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking 
statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be realized 
and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual results, 
and those differences may be material. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and 
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder will, under any circumstances, give rise to any implication that 
there has been no change in the affairs of the Authority or the District since the date hereof. 
 
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS 
WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT 
OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 
ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITER MAY OFFER AND SELL THE BONDS TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND DEALER BANKS 
AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENTS AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER 
PAGE HEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE 
UNDERWRITER. 
 
THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE 
UPON AN EXCEPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE BONDS HAVE 
NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. 
 
The District maintains a website. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, the information presented on such website is not incorporated 
by reference as part of this Official Statement and should not be relied upon in making investment decisions with respect to the 
Certificates. 

144 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................. 1 
Issuance of Bonds ........................................................... 1 
Security for the Bonds .................................................... 1 
Installment Payments ...................................................... 2 
The Authority ................................................................. 4 
The District .................................................................... 4 
The Wastewater System ................................................. 4 
District Finances ............................................................. 5 
Tri-City Area and the County ......................................... 5 
Book-Entry System ......................................................... 5 
Continuing Disclosure .................................................... 5 
Tax Matters .................................................................... 6 
Certain Risk Factors ....................................................... 6 
Forward-Looking Statements ......................................... 6 
Other Information ........................................................... 6 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ......... 7 
THE FINANCING PLAN ................................................. 8 

Prepayment of SWRCB Agreements .............................. 8 
2020 Projects .................................................................. 8 
Costs of Issuance ............................................................ 9 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ................................ 9 
THE BONDS ................................................................... 10 

General ......................................................................... 10 
Transfer and Exchange of Bonds ................................... 11 
Redemption ................................................................... 11 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 
BONDS ............................................................................. 13 

General ......................................................................... 13 
Installment Purchase Agreement .................................. 14 

THE DISTRICT .............................................................. 17 
General Background ..................................................... 17 
Service Area and Land Use ........................................... 18 
District Board ............................................................... 19 
Management and Employees ........................................ 19 

WASTEWATER SYSTEM ............................................. 19 
Wastewater Treatment Plant ........................................ 20 
Regulatory Requirements .............................................. 21 
Wastewater Collection System ..................................... 21 
Wastewater System Customers .................................... 22 
Wastewater System Rates ............................................. 23 

Billing and Collection of Wastewater System 
Charges ........................................................................ 26 

DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION .................. 28 
Budget Process ............................................................. 28 
Financial Statements .................................................... 28 
Outstanding Debt ......................................................... 29 
Historical and Projected Operating Results and 
Debt Service Coverage ................................................. 29 
Capital Improvement Program ...................................... 30 
Risk Management .......................................................... 31 
Joint Ventures ............................................................... 31 
Employee Pension Plans ................................................ 32 
Other Post-Employment Benefits ................................. 36 

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS ........... 37 
Limited Obligations ....................................................... 37 
Net Revenues; Rate Covenant ...................................... 38 
Risks Related to Facilities and Operations .................... 38 
Future Land Use Regulations ........................................ 39 
Limitations on Rate Setting Under the 
California Constitution ................................................. 40 
Limited Recourse on Default ........................................ 43 
Limitations on Remedies ............................................... 43 
Initiatives ....................................................................... 43 
Bankruptcy ................................................................... 44 
Tax Exemption ............................................................. 44 
Future Parity Obligations ............................................. 44 
Secondary Market ........................................................ 44 
Risks Related to Cyber Security .................................... 45 
Climate Change ............................................................. 45 
Pension Benefit Liability ............................................... 45 

INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS ........................ 45 
TAX MATTERS .............................................................. 45 
CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS ....................................... 47 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR ................................................. 48 
LITIGATION .................................................................. 48 
RATINGS ........................................................................ 48 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ...................................... 48 
UNDERWRITING .......................................................... 49 
MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................ 49 
 

 
APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS 
APPENDIX B: COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT 

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE 
INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

APPENDIX C: FORM OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
APPENDIX D: TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
APPENDIX E: FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 
APPENDIX F: BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 
APPENDIX G: DISTRICT’S INVESTMENT POLICY 
APPENDIX H: CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE 
 

145 of 567



DISTRICT LOCATION AND SERVICE AREA MAPS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

146 of 567



 
 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
5072 Benson Road 

Union City, CA 94587-2508 
Phone: (510) 477-7500  

http://www.unionsanitary.com* 
 
 

Authority and District Boards of Directors 
 

Jennifer Toy, President, Ward 3 (Fremont) 
Tom Handley, Vice President, Ward 3 (Fremont) 

Pat Kite, Secretary, Ward 2 (Newark) 
Manny Fernandez, Member, Ward 1 (Union City) 

Anjali Lathi, Member, Ward 3 (Fremont) 
 
 

District Staff and Officials 
 

Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
Armando Lopez, Treatment & Disposal Services Manager 

Robert Simonich, Fabrication Maintenance & Construction Manager 
Sami Ghossain, Technical Services Manager 

James Schofield, Collection Services Manager 
Laurie Brenner, Finance & Acquisition Services Coach 

Karen W. Murphy, Esq., General Counsel 
 
 

Special Services 
 

Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP 
Oakland, California 

District Counsel 
 

Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc. 
Irvine, California 
Municipal Advisor 

 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation 

Newport Beach, California 
Bond Counsel 

 
Quint & Thimmig LLP 

Larkspur, California 
Disclosure Counsel 

 
U.S. Bank National Association 

San Francisco, California 
Trustee 

 
*Information therein is not incorporated by reference into this Official Statement. 

 

147 of 567



 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
 

$__________* 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

(Alameda County, California) 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 

This Introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description of, and 
guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the remainder of this 
Official Statement and the documents summarized or described herein. The offering of the above-
captioned Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement and 
potential investors should thoroughly review it prior to purchasing such Bonds.  

 
Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used in this Official Statement that are 

defined in the Indenture (defined below) will have the meanings set forth therein, some of which are set 
forth in APPENDIX A—SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS. 

 
Issuance of Bonds 

 
The $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (Alameda County, California) 

Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”) are being issued by the Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority (the “Authority”) to provide funds to (a) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the 
“Wastewater System”) owned and operated by the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), (b) refund 
the District’s obligations under various prior agreements with the California State Water Resources 
Control Board (the “SWRCB”), the proceeds of which were used to finance improvements to the 
Wastewater System, and (c) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds. 

 
The Bonds will be issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the 

“Indenture”), by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”). The Bonds will be issued under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 
1 (commencing with section 6584) of the California Government Code and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 
1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, the “Act”). See “THE BONDS” and 
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.” 

 
Security for the Bonds 

 
The Bonds are special limited obligations of the Authority payable from and secured by a pledge 

of the Authority Revenues, consisting primarily of installment payments (the “Installment Payments”) 
payable by the District under an Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and 
between the Authority, as seller, and the District, as purchaser (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”). 
See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.” 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

148 of 567



-2- 

 
A debt service reserve fund will not be funded for the Bonds. 
 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AMOUNTS HELD IN CERTAIN 
FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE AND THE AUTHORITY REVENUES 
DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE 
INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF 
THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA (THE “COUNTY”) OR 
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA (THE “STATE”) OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION 
THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT 
OR RESTRICTION, AND THEY DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE 
AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR 
PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR FOR WHICH THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS 
LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF TAXATION. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING 
POWER. 

 
Installment Payments 

 
In general, the District is required to pay to the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, the 

Installment Payments which are designed to be sufficient in both time and amount to pay, when due, the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

 
Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District is obligated to pay the Installment 

Payments described in the Installment Purchase Agreement. The obligation of the District to make the 
Installment Payments is a special obligation of the District secured solely from the Gross Revenues and 
other funds described in the Installment Purchase Agreement, and does not constitute a debt of the 
Authority, the District or of the State or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction and does not constitute an obligation for which the 
District is obligated to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for which the District has levied or pledged 
any form of taxation. 

 
In order to carry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained in the Installment Purchase 

Agreement, the District has agreed and covenanted that all Gross Revenues (as defined below), will be 
received by the District in trust thereunder and will be deposited when and as received in the Revenue 
Fund, which fund the District has agreed and covenanted to maintain so long as any Installment Payments 
remain unpaid. 

 
All amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund have been irrevocably pledged to the payment of the 

Installment Payments as provided in the Installment Purchase Agreement.  Such pledge constitutes a first 
lien on, subject to application of amounts on deposit therein as permitted in the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, the Revenue Fund for the payment of the Installment Payments and all other Parity 
Obligations (as defined below) in accordance with the terms of the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
“Gross Revenues” means all income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other moneys derived by the 

District from the ownership or operation of the Wastewater System, including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing: (i) rates and charges collected by the District on the Alameda County, 
California tax roll in accordance with section 5473 et seq. of the California Health and Safety Code (or any 

149 of 567



-3- 

successor provisions thereto); (ii) all other income, rents, rates, fees, charges or other moneys derived by 
the District through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Wastewater 
System; (iii) the proceeds of any stand-by or availability charges, development fees and connection 
charges collected by the District; and (iv) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of 
amounts described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above and from District reserves; but excluding: (1) 
customers’ deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or advances 
have become the property of the District; (2) any proceeds of taxes or assessments which are restricted by 
law to be used by the District to pay bonds or other obligations heretofore or hereafter issued; and (3) gain 
or loss on the sale of any capital assets as permitted by the Installment Purchase Agreement.  

 
“Gross Revenues” also include all amounts transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 

Revenue Fund in accordance with the Installment Purchase Agreement. “Net Revenues” do not include 
any amounts transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve during any Fiscal Year in 
accordance with the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
“Operation and Maintenance Costs” means (i) costs spent or incurred for maintenance and 

operation of the Wastewater System calculated in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles, including (among other things) the reasonable expenses of management and repair and other 
expenses that are necessary to maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working 
order, and including administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the 
Wastewater System, including but not limited to salaries and wages of employees, payments to the Public 
Employees Retirement System, overhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, 
attorneys or engineers and insurance premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of 
the District or charges (other than debt service payments) required to be paid by it to comply with the 
terms of the Installment Purchase Agreement or of the Indenture or any Parity Obligations or of any 
resolution or indenture authorizing the issuance of any Parity Obligations or of such Parity Obligations; 
and (ii) costs allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement which constitutes 
Operation and Maintenance Costs of the EBDA calculated on accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles; but excluding in all cases (x) depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges 
or reserves therefor and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, (y) all 
capital charges, and (z) all amounts allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement for 
capital costs thereof, including principal and interest on any bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness of EBDA. 

 
“Wastewater System” means the whole and each and every part of the wastewater collection, 

conveyance, treatment and disposal system of the District, including all real property and buildings, 
including the portion thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all additions, betterments, 
extensions and improvements to such wastewater system or any part thereof hereafter acquired or 
constructed, including recycled water facilities of the District and the District’s interest in the facilities of 
the EBDA pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement and related agreements. 

 
The District has covenanted in the Installment Purchase Agreement to, the fullest extent 

permitted by law, fix and prescribe, at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the 
Wastewater Service which are reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year 
(i) Net Revenues equal to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal 
Year and (ii) Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) 
of Subordinate Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year. 

 

150 of 567



-4- 

The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make 
such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect 
unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably expected to be sufficient to 
meet the above requirements. 

 
For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth above, 

the failure of Net Revenues to meet the threshold set forth above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not 
constitute a default or an Event of Default so long as the District has made required adjustments to rates 
and charges for the Wastewater Service at the commencement of the succeeding Fiscal Year. 

 
The District may issue additional bonds or notes and may execute additional contracts which are 

secured by Gross Revenues and payable from Net Revenues on a parity with the Installment Payments.  
Such additional "Bonds" and "Contracts" (as such terms are defined in Appendix A hereto) are referred to 
in this Official Statement as "Parity Obligations." 

 
THE OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT TO MAKE THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR 
THE STATE OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT OR RESTRICTION, AND DOES NOT 
CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE 
COUNTY OR THE STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION 
OR FOR WHICH THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF 
TAXATION.  

 
The Authority 

 
The Authority is a joint exercise of powers entity duly organized and existing under and pursuant 

to that certain Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of January 13, 2020, between the District and 
the California Municipal Finance Authority, for the primary purpose of providing financial assistance to 
the District. The Board of Directors of the Authority consists of the Board of Directors of the District (the 
“Board”). 

 
The District 

 
The District was formed in 1918 to serve Newark and the Centerville area of what is now the city 

of Fremont. Between 1949 and 1962, the Niles, Decoto, Irvington and Alvarado Sanitary Districts joined 
the District. The District provides wastewater collection, treatment and disposal services to the residents 
and businesses of the cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City, commonly referred to as the “Tri-City 
Area,” with a combined population of approximately 356,100. The Tri-City Area is located along 
Interstates 680 and 880, between Oakland and San Jose in southern Alameda County. See “THE 
DISTRICT.” 

 
The Wastewater System 

 
The District owns and operates the Wastewater System consisting of 834 total miles of pipeline, 7 

pumping stations and a wastewater treatment plant in order to provide wastewater collection, treatment 
and disposal services to users in its service area. See “THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM.” 

 

151 of 567



-5- 

District Finances 
 
The District’s fiscal year 2018-19 sewer service charges totaled $57,330,651. Wastewater 

revenues account for approximately 96.3% of total District operating revenues. Other revenue sources 
include investment earnings and capital improvement fees. The District does not receive any property tax 
revenues. 

 
The District has the power and authority to establish charges for service without the review or 

approval of any other governmental body. The District’s rates and charges are established by ordinance of 
the Board. The District can refuse or terminate service to delinquent customers and can require full 
payment of delinquent amounts and reconnection charges to resume service. Unpaid charges may become 
a lien on real property by recordation of a notice thereof. 

 
For further information concerning District finances, see “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 

INFORMATION.” 
 

Tri-City Area and the County 
 
For further information concerning the Tri-City Area and the County, see APPENDIX D—

GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY. 
 

Book-Entry System 
 
The Bonds are being issued as fully registered bonds, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and ultimate purchasers of Bonds will not receive 
physical certificates representing their interests in the Bonds. Transfers and exchanges of Bonds will be 
conducted in accordance with DTC procedures. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 
Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners thereof means 
Cede & Co. as aforesaid, and not the Beneficial Owners (as defined in Appendix F) of the Bonds. See 
“THE BONDS—General” and APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 

 
Continuing Disclosure 
 

The ultimate security for the payments of principal and interest on the Bonds comes from the 
Installment Payments to be made by the District, and, therefore, the District, as an obligated person 
within the meaning of the Rule (defined below), has agreed to undertake the continuing disclosure 
responsibilities required by the Rule as applicable to the Bonds. The Authority has not undertaken a 
commitment to provide any continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds. 

 
The District has covenanted in a continuing disclosure certificate (the “Continuing Disclosure 

Certificate”) to provide, or cause to be provided, certain annual financial information and operating data 
including, but not limited to, its audited financial statements and, in a timely manner, notice of certain 
enumerated events for purposes of Rule 15c2–12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “Rule”). See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and APPENDIX C—FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE for a description of the specific nature of the annual 
reports and notices of certain enumerated events to be provided by the District, and a description of the 
terms of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate pursuant to which such reports and notices are to be made.  

 

152 of 567



-6- 

Tax Matters 
 

In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, 
California, Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest on 
the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item of tax 
preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the 
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax. See “TAX MATTERS.” 

 
Certain Risk Factors 
 

Certain events could affect the ability of the Authority to make payments when due on the Bonds 
and the ability of the District to make the Installment Payments when due. See “RISK FACTORS” for a 
discussion of some of the risk factors that should be considered, in addition to other matters set forth 
herein, in evaluating an investment in the Bonds. 

 
Forward-Looking Statements 

 
This Official Statement, and particularly the information contained under the headings entitled 

“THE FINANCING PLAN,” “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” “SECURITY 
FOR THE BONDS,” “THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM” AND APPENDIX D—TRI-CITY AREA 
AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION, contains statements relating to 
future results that are “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 2000. When used in this Official Statement, the words “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” 
“expect” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to 
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such 
forward-looking statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions 
used to develop the forecasts will not be realized and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. 
Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual results, and those differences 
may be material. The District is not obligated to issue any updates or revisions to the forward-looking 
statements if or when its expectations, or events, conditions or circumstances on which such statements 
are based occur. See “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS.” 

 
Other Information 

 
There follows in this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices hereto, a 

brief description of the Authority, the District, the Wastewater System, the Bonds, the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and other documents, risk factors and certain other information relevant 
to the issuance of the Bonds. All references herein to the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement 
and other documents, agreements and statutes, and the description of the Bonds included in this Official 
Statement, do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and such summaries, references and 
descriptions are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document, agreement or statute, and 
to the form of the Bonds included in the Indenture. A summary of certain provisions of the Indenture and 
the Installment Purchase Agreement is included in APPENDIX A—SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL 
LEGAL DOCUMENTS. The audited financial statements of the District for fiscal years 2018 and 2019 
are included in APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE 
DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018. 

153 of 567



-7- 

 
During the initial offering period for the Bonds, copies of the Installment Purchase Agreement 

and the Indenture may be obtained, upon written request and payment of the costs of duplication and 
mailing, from the Authority, c/o Union Sanitary District, 5072 Benson Road, Union City, CA 94587-
2508, Attention: General Manager. After delivery of the Bonds, copies of such documents may be 
obtained from the Trustee. 

 
The information set forth herein and in the Appendices hereto has been furnished by the District 

and the Authority and includes information which has been obtained from other sources which are 
believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be construed as a 
representation by the District, the Authority or the Underwriter (hereinafter defined).  

 
The information and expressions of opinion herein speak only as of the date of this Official 

Statement and are subject to change without notice. Neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any 
sale made hereunder nor any future use of this Official Statement will, under any circumstances, create 
any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the District or the Authority since the date 
hereof. 

 
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the 

District and the Authority from their records, except for information expressly attributed to other sources. 
The presentation of information is intended to show recent historic information and is not intended to 
indicate future or continuing trends in the financial or other affairs of the District and the Authority. No 
representation is made that past experience, as it might be shown by such financial and other information, 
will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. 

 
 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 
 

The estimated sources and uses of funds are as follows: 
 

Sources:  
Principal Amount of Bonds  
Plus: District Contribution  
Plus: Net Original Issue Premium  

TOTAL SOURCES  
  
Uses:   
Payment of the SWRCB Agreements (1)  
Payment to the District to finance the 2020 Projects (2)  
Costs of Issuance (3)  

TOTAL USES  
    
(1) Amount required to prepay the SWRCB Agreements. See “THE FINANCING PLAN—Prepayment of SWRCB 

Agreements.” 
(2) Amount required to finance the 2020 Projects. See “THE FINANCING PLAN—2020 Projects.” 
(3) Costs of Issuance include the Underwriter’s discount, legal fees, printing costs, rating agency fees and other miscellaneous 

expenses. 
 
 

154 of 567



-8- 

THE FINANCING PLAN 
 
Prepayment of SWRCB Agreements 

 
A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be applied, on the date of delivery of the Bonds, to the 

prepayment of the following agreements between the SWRCB and the District (the “SWRCB 
Agreements”): 

 
    Outstanding 
    Amount 
  Maturity Interest (As of Date 

SWRCB Agreement Project Financed Date Rate (of Delivery) 
2003 State Revolving Fund Loan Irvington Equalization Storage Facilities 8/30/23 2.4%  $ 3,424,735.81 
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Willow/Central Avenue Sanitary Sewer 

Rehabilitation 
11/16/27 2.4% 780,457.63 

     
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Newark Pump Station 1/26/30 2.7% 5,937,182.50 
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Lower Hetch Hetchy Sewer 

Rehabilitation 
11/17/28 2.7% 1,102,542.68 

2009 State Revolving Fund Loan Cedar Boulevard Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation 

2/26/30 2.5% 1,114,567.15 

     
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan 
 

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Primary Clarifiers 

1/15/33 2.7% 6,394,372.67 

     
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan Replacement of Substation 1 2/28/32 2.6% 1,716,788.15 
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan Replacement of Boyce Road Lift Station 7/31/33 2.6% 4,772,589.15 
2014 State Revolving Fund Loan Thickener Control Building 

Improvements 
3/31/37 2.1% 11,516,874.09 

Total    $36,760,109.83 

 
2020 Projects 

 
In addition, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be transferred to the District and applied 

to finance the 2020 Projects. The 2020 Projects include the following: 
 

Primary Digester No. 7 Project. The Primary Digester No. 7 Project will improve the overall reliability, 
operational ease, and maintainability of the Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant’s solids treatment 
process. The project will include the construction of a new 2.4 million gallon anaerobic digester, 
installation of new biosolids conveyance equipment and piping systems, replacement of the hot water 
boiler, and construction of a new chemical storage and pump facility. 
  
Alvarado Influent Pump Station Improvements Project. The Alvarado Influent Pump Station 
Improvements Project is to replace or rehabilitate the mechanical and electrical equipment and structural 
assets that have reached or are near the end of their useful lives.  The project will include the replacement 
of the wastewater pumps and piping, variable frequency drives, isolation valves and gates, supply and 
exhaust fans, and electrical switchboard.  The project will also include the seismic retrofit of the pump 
station building’s structure and interior platforms, replacement of the building’s roofing, and repairs of 
the building’s interior reinforced concrete. 
  

155 of 567



-9- 

Headworks Screens Replacement Project. The Headworks Screens Replacement Project is to replace 
the existing mechanical bar screens that have reached the end of their useful lives with new mechanical 
bar screens that will capture more debris, such as rags, plastics, and fibrous materials from the influent 
wastewater.  The removal of debris from the influent wastewater at the beginning of the Alvarado 
Wastewater Treatment Plant will improve the downstream treatment process and reduce the wear of 
mechanical equipment and valves. 
 
Costs of Issuance 

 
In addition, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be applied to pay the costs of issuance the 

Bonds. 
 
 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Annual debt service on the Bonds (assuming no redemptions of the Bonds) is presented below. 
 

Maturity    

September 1 Principal Interest Total 

2020    
2021    
2022    
2023    
2024    
2025    
2026    
2027    
2028    
2029    
2030    
2031    
2032    
2033    
2034    
2035    
2036    
2037    
2038    
2039    
2040    
2041    
2042    
2043    
2044    
2045    
2046    
2047    
2048    
2049    
2050    

TOTALS    

156 of 567



-10- 

 
Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District is required to make Installment 

Payments which have been calculated to be sufficient to fund the scheduled interest and principal 
payments due on the Bonds. The Installment Payments are due on the last day of the month preceding 
each Interest Payment Date. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS—
Installment Payments.” 

 
 

THE BONDS 
 
General 

 
The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or 

any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will mature on September 1 in each of the years and in the 
amounts, and will bear interest (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) at the 
rates set forth on the cover page hereof. 

 
Interest on the Bonds will be payable semiannually on each March 1 and September 1, 

commencing September 1, 2020 (each, an “Interest Payment Date”), to the persons whose names appear 
on the Registration Books as the Owners thereof as of the 15th calendar day of the month immediately 
preceding each such Interest Payment Date (each, a “Record Date”), such interest to be paid by check of 
the Trustee mailed by first-class mail to the Owners at the respective addresses of such Owners as they 
appear on the Registration Books; provided, however, that payment of interest may be made by wire 
transfer in immediately available funds to an account in the United States of America to any Owner of 
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more who furnishes written wire instructions to 
the Trustee at least five days before the applicable Record Date. Principal of any Bond and any premium 
upon redemption will be paid by check of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender thereof at the 
corporate trust office of the Trustee, except as provided in APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 
Principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds will be payable in lawful money of the United 
States of America. 

 
Each Bond will be dated as of its date of authentication and will bear interest from the Interest 

Payment Date next preceding such date of authentication thereof, unless (a) it is authenticated after a 
Record Date and on or before the following Interest Payment Date, in which event it will bear interest 
from such Interest Payment Date, or (b) it is authenticated on or before August 15, 2020, in which event it 
will bear interest from the Closing Date; provided, however, that if, as of the date of authentication of any 
Bond, interest thereon is in default, such Bond will bear interest from the Interest Payment Date to which 
interest has previously been paid or made available for payment thereon. 

 
The Bonds, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC,” and together with any successor securities 
depository, the “Securities Depository”). DTC will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. Individual 
purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry form. Purchasers will not receive certificates 
representing their ownership interest in the Bonds. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 
Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or the Owners of the Bonds means 
Cede & Co. as aforesaid, and not the Beneficial Owners (as defined in Appendix F) of the Bonds. So long 
as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable by 
wire transfer of same day funds by the Trustee to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. DTC is obligated, in 

157 of 567



-11- 

turn, to remit such amounts to the Participants for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners. See 
APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 

 
Transfer and Exchange of Bonds 
 

Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred on the Registration Books by the 
person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his or her duly authorized attorney, upon surrender 
of such Bond at the Office of the Trustee for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written 
instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form acceptable to the Trustee. The Trustee shall not be 
required to register the transfer of any Bond during the period in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for 
redemption and any Bond that has been selected for redemption. 

 
Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Authority shall execute and 

the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denomination or 
denominations for a like series and aggregate principal amount of the same maturity. The Trustee shall 
require the Bond Owner requesting such transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge that is 
required to be paid with respect to such transfer. Following any transfer of Bonds, the Trustee will cancel 
and destroy the Bonds that it has received. 

 
Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of 

other authorized denominations of the same series and maturity. The Trustee shall not be required to 
exchange any Bond during the period in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for redemption and any 
Bond that has been selected for redemption. The Trustee shall require the Bond Owner requesting such 
exchange to pay any tax or other governmental charge that is required to be paid with respect to such 
exchange. Following any exchange of Bonds, the Trustee will cancel and destroy the Bonds that it has 
received. 

 
Redemption 

 
Extraordinary Redemption of Bonds. The Bonds are subject to extraordinary redemption prior to 

their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the order of maturity and within 
maturities as directed by the Authority in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such 
lesser number of days acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the 
convenience of the Trustee) prior to such date in integral multiples of $5,000 from Net Proceeds of 
insurance or condemnation, upon the terms and conditions of, and as provided for in, the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest 
thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

 
Optional Redemption of Bonds. The Bonds with stated maturities on or after September 1, 20__, 

are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part as directed by 
the Authority in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such lesser number of days 
acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the convenience of the 
Trustee) and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000, on September 1, 20__, or any 
date thereafter at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon 
to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

 
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__, are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part, by lot, on September 1, 20__, and each September 

158 of 567



-12- 

1 thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following 
schedule: 

 
Sinking Account 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

 
Principal Amount to be 

Redeemed 

  
  
  
  
  

    
†Maturity 

 
The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__, are subject to mandatory sinking fund 

redemption in part, by lot, on September 1, 20__, and each September 1 thereafter, in integral multiples 
of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for 
redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following schedule: 

 
Sinking Account 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

 
Principal Amount to be 

Redeemed 

  
  
  
  
  

    
†Maturity 

 
In the event that the Trustee redeems Bonds maturing on September 1, ____, or September 1, 

____, in part but not in whole pursuant to the other redemption provisions of the Indenture, the amount 
of the Bonds maturing on September 1, ____, or September 1, ___, to be redeemed in each subsequent 
year as described above will be reduced, by $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, as designated by the 
Authority in a Certificate of the Authority filed with the Trustee. 

 
Selection of Bonds for Redemption. Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for the redemption 

of less than all of the Bonds, the Trustee shall select the Bonds for redemption as a whole or in part on any 
date as directed by the Authority and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000 in 
accordance with the Indenture. The Trustee will promptly notify the Authority in writing of the numbers 
of the Bonds or portions thereof so selected for redemption. 

 
Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail not less than twenty 

(20) days nor more than sixty (60) days before any Redemption Date, to the respective Owners of any 
Bonds that are designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the Registration Books, to the 
Securities Depositories and the Information Services. Each notice of redemption shall state the date of 
notice, the redemption date, the place or places of redemption and the Redemption Price, and shall 
designate the maturities, CUSIP numbers, if any, and, in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, 
the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. Each such notice shall also state 

159 of 567



-13- 

that on the redemption date there will become due and payable on each of said Bonds or parts thereof that 
are designated for redemption the Redemption Price thereof or of said specified portion of the principal 
thereof in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part only, together with interest accrued thereon to the 
redemption date, and that (provided that moneys for redemption have been deposited with the Trustee) 
from and after such redemption date interest thereon shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such 
Bonds be then surrendered to the Trustee. Neither the failure to receive such notice nor any defect in the 
notice or the mailing thereof will affect the validity of the redemption of any Bond. Notice of redemption 
of Bonds shall be given by the Trustee, at the expense of the Authority, for and on behalf of the Authority. 

 
With respect to any notice of optional redemption of Bonds, such notice may state that such 

redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such 
redemption of moneys that are sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such 
Bonds to be redeemed and that, if such moneys shall not have been so received, said notice shall be of no 
force and effect and the Trustee shall not be required to redeem such Bonds. In the event that such notice 
of redemption contains such a condition and such moneys are not so received, the redemption shall not be 
made, and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner in which the 
notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received. 

 
Partial Redemption of Bonds. Upon surrender of any Bond redeemed in part only, the Authority 

shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the 
Authority, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations equal in aggregate principal amount to the 
unredeemed portion of the Bonds surrendered and of the same series, interest rate and maturity. 

 
Effect of Redemption. Notice of redemption having been duly given as aforesaid, and moneys for 

payment of the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption on, 
the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption being held by the Trustee, on the redemption 
date designated in such notice, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption shall become due 
and payable, interest on the Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, said Bonds (or portions 
thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture, and the Owners of said 
Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof. 
The Trustee shall, upon surrender for payment of any of the Bonds to be redeemed on their Redemption 
Dates, pay such Bonds at the Redemption Price. 

 
All Bonds redeemed pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture will be cancelled upon surrender 

thereof and destroyed. 
 
 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 
 

General 
 
The Bonds are special limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from and secured solely 

by the Authority Revenues pledged therefor under the Indenture, together with amounts on deposit from 
time to time in the funds and accounts (except the Rebate Fund) held by the Trustee under the Indenture. 
“Authority Revenues” means (a) all Installment Payments received by the Authority or the Trustee 
pursuant to or with respect to the Installment Purchase Agreement; and (b) all interest or gain derived 
from the investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts established under the Indenture. 

 

160 of 567



-14- 

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Authority, irrevocably assigns and transfers to the Trustee without 
recourse, for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds as set forth in the Indenture, all of its rights, title, and 
interest in all Installment Payments payable by the District pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, including all rights of the Authority thereunder as may be necessary to enforce compliance 
with said provisions (including enforcement of payment obligations and rate covenants, if any, contained 
in the Installment Purchase Agreement, or otherwise to protect the interest of the Owners of the Bonds). 

 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AMOUNTS HELD IN CERTAIN 
FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE AND THE AUTHORITY REVENUES 
DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE 
INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF 
THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE STATE OR OF ANY POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR 
STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT OR RESTRICTION, AND THEY DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN 
OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE 
STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR FOR WHICH 
THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF TAXATION. THE 
AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

 
Installment Purchase Agreement 
 

Special Obligation. The District’s obligation to pay the Installment Payments will be a special 
obligation limited solely to Net Revenues. Under no circumstances will the District be required to advance 
any moneys derived from any source of income other than the Net Revenues and other sources 
specifically identified in the Installment Purchase Agreement for the payment of the Installment 
Payments, nor will any other funds or property of the District be liable for the payment of the Installment 
Payments. 

 
Pledge of Gross Revenues. The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on deposit in the Revenue 

Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund and any other 
amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) which are held in any fund or account that is 
established pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement (except the Parity Debt Reserve (other than 
those amounts which are transferred by the District from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund)), 
are irrevocably pledged to the payment of the Installment Payments.  Except for the payment of the 
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the Gross Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose while any 
of the Installment Payments remain unpaid; provided that out of the Gross Revenues there may be 
apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted in the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

 
Deposit to Revenue Fund; Transfer to Pay Installment Payments. In order to carry out and effectuate 

the pledge and lien contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District agrees and covenants 
therein that all Gross Revenues shall be received by the District in trust under the Installment Purchase 
Agreement and shall be deposited when and as received in a special fund designated as the “Revenue 
Fund.” 

 
The District shall withdraw from the Revenue Fund such amounts at such times as shall be 

required to pay all Operation and Maintenance Costs (including amounts which are reasonably required to 

161 of 567



-15- 

be set aside in contingency reserves for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not 
then immediately required)as they come due and payable. 

 
All remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be set aside by the District at the following times 

in the following respective special funds in the following order of priority, and all moneys in each of such 
funds shall be held in trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn only for the purposes so authorized: 

 
(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund. On or before each Installment Payment Date, the District 

shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for deposit in 
the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the interest and principal 
payable and coming due on the next succeeding Installment Payment Date. The District 
shall also, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the applicable trustee for 
deposit in the applicable payment fund, without preference or priority, and in the event of 
any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, any 
other Debt Service in accordance with the provisions of the Parity Obligation relating 
thereto. 
 
Any moneys which are on deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund on each Installment 
Payment Date (other than amounts required for the payment of past due principal or 
interest with respect to any Bonds not presented for payment) shall be credited to the 
payment of the Installment Payments due and payable on such date. No deposit need be 
made in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund as Installment Payments if the amount in the 
2020A Bond Payment Fund is at least equal to the amount of the Installment Payment 
that is due and payable on the next succeeding Installment Payment Date. 

 
(b) Reserve Funds. On or before each Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from 

remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or priority, and in 
the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or 
preference, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit to such reserve fund or account 
for Parity Obligations an amount that is equal to the amount required to be deposited 
therein. 
 

(c) Surplus. Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make any of 
the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for 
any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of subordinated Debt, 
or deposited in the Parity Debt Reserve. 

 
Parity Debt Reserve.  Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District shall establish a 

special fund designated as the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under 
the Installment Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold such 
fund separate and apart from other funds so long as the Installment Payments and any Parity Obligations 
remain unpaid.  

 
The District may withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Parity Debt 

Reserve and transfer such amounts to the Revenue Fund for application in accordance with the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and described under (a) through (c) under "Deposit to Revenue Fund; 
Transfer to Pay Installment Payments" above or, in the event that all or a portion of the Installment 
Payments are discharged in accordance with the prepayment provisions of the Installment Purchase 

162 of 567



-16- 

Agreement, transfer all or any portion of such amounts for application in in connection with such 
prepayment; provided that any such withdrawals and transfers may be made up to and including the date 
that is 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year or 12 calendar month period for which such withdrawals 
and transfers will be taken into account in calculating Gross Revenues.  Any such amounts withdrawn 
from the Parity Debt Reserve and transferred to the Revenue Fund constitute Gross Revenues. 

 
Rates, Fees and Charges. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District will fix and prescribe, 

at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are 
reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year (i) Net Revenues equal to one 
hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year and (ii) Net Revenues 
remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) of Subordinate Debt 
Service payable in such Fiscal Year. 

 
The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make 

such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect 
unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably expected to be sufficient to 
meet the above requirements. 

 
For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth above, 

the failure of Net Revenues to meet the threshold set forth above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not 
constitute a default or an Event of Default so long as the District has made required adjustments to rates 
and charges for the Wastewater Service at the commencement of the succeeding Fiscal Year. 

 
Incurrence of Parity Obligations. The District may at any time issue or incur Parity Obligations 

provided that: 
 
(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen 

calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the 
resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or the date of execution of the contract which are Parity 
Obligations, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or 
Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one 
hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such twelve month period; and 

 
(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen 

calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the 
resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or the date of execution of the contract which are Parity 
Obligations, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve month period to 
increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved and in effect as of the 
date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal 
to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such twelve month period, plus the 
Debt Service which would have accrued on any Parity Obligations executed or Bonds issued since the end 
of such twelve month period, assuming that such Parity Obligations had been executed or issued at the 
beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued had such 
proposed additional Parity Obligations been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parity Obligations executed to refund the Bonds or Parity 

Obligations may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service in each 

163 of 567



-17- 

Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Parity Obligations are issued is not greater than 105% of the 
Debt Service which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such Parity 
Obligations. 

 
Subordinate Debt. The District may at any time execute or issue any Subordinate Debt in 

accordance herewith; provided that: 
 
(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve 

calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of issuance or 
execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent 
Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have 
produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Subordinate Debt Service for such 
twelve month period. 

 
(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve 

calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the issuance or the execution 
of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve month 
period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved and in effect as 
of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal 
to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period, 
plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would have accrued on any Subordinate Debt issued since the 
end of such twelve month period, assuming that such Subordinate Debt had been issued or executed had 
been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would 
have accrued had such proposed Subordinate Debt been executed or issued at the beginning of such 
twelve month period. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Subordinate Debt executed to refund Subordinate Debt may be 

delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service and Subordinate Debt Service 
in each Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Subordinate Debt issued or executed is not greater 
than 105% of the Debt Service and Subordinate Debt which would have been payable in each such Fiscal 
Year prior to the issuance of or execution of such Subordinate Debt. 

 
 

THE DISTRICT 
 

General Background 
 
The District was formed in 1918 to serve Newark and the Centerville area of what is now 

Fremont. Between 1949 and 1962, the Niles, Decoto, Irvington, and Alvarado Sanitary Districts joined 
the District. The District is an independent special district which provides wastewater collection 
treatment and disposal services to the residents and businesses of the cities of Fremont, Newark and 
Union City, commonly referred to as the Tri-City Area, with a combined population of approximately 
356,100. The Tri-City Area is located along Interstates 680 and 880, between Oakland and San Jose in 
southern Alameda County (the “County”). Independent special districts are voted into existence by the 
citizens they serve and are sanctioned under California law to perform specific local government functions 
within certain boundaries. The District was organized under sections 6400-6830 of the California Health 
& Safety Code, the Sanitary District Act of 1923. The District owns and operates the Wastewater System. 

164 of 567



-18- 

 
Service Area and Land Use 

 
The District serves a service area of approximately 60.2 square miles in the Tri-City Area of the 

County including most of the area of cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City. The developable portion 
of the District includes 97,870 distinct parcels comprised of a largely residential community with 
approximately 87,750 residential parcels (90%), 3,115 non-residential parcels (3%), and 7,005 parcels of 
vacant land (7%). The District maintains 834 miles of sewers (including the force main and all gravity 
sewers) in the Tri-City Area. 

 
A Map of the District’s Service area is as follows: 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SERVICE AREA 

 

 
 
Additional demographic and economic information relating to the Tri-City Area and the County 

is set forth in APPENDIX D—TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION. 

 

165 of 567



-19- 

District Board 
 
The District is governed by the five-member Board which is independently and directly elected by 

voters to staggered four-year terms.  
 
The Board appoints the General Manager to manage and oversee the day-to-day operations. The 

members of the Board, their occupations, and the expiration date of their terms are as follows: 
 

Name and Office Ward 
Current 

Term Expires 
Jennifer Toy, President 3 (Fremont) 2022 
Tom Handley, Vice President 3 (Fremont) 2022 
Pat Kite, Secretary 2 (Newark) 2020 
Manny Fernandez, Boardmember 1 (Union City) 2020 
Anjali Lathi, Boardmember 3 (Fremont) 2020 

 
Management and Employees 

 
The District employs approximately 136.45 full-time equivalent staff and is operates under the 

day-to-day direction of Paul Eldredge, the District’s General Manager and the District Engineer. District 
Departments are referred to as Workgroups. There are five Workgroups managed by directors and within 
the Workgroups there are teams managed by Coaches (mid-managers). The five Workgroups are Business 
Services (“BS”); Collection Services (“CS”); Fabrication Maintenance and Construction (“FMC”); 
Technical Support and Customer Service (“TSCS”); and Treatment and Disposal Services (“TDS”).  

 
 BS supports the District’s organization, employees and customers through its Finance, 

Purchasing, Materials Management, Organizational Support, and Human Resources. CS maintains the 
District’s sewer mains through construction, maintenance, and television-inspection of its lines. The 
group also provides planning and scheduling services, fleet and equipment maintenance, building and 
grounds maintenance and data administration support.  

 
FMC provides professional equipment installation, operation, service, and repair that supports 

the District’s plant, pump stations, and administrative offices and information technology activities. 
TSCS provides engineering and capital improvement project management services, enforcement of the 
District’s ordinances and specifications for sewer construction and repairs, calculation of sewer service 
charges, and implementation of environmental protection and compliance programs. TDS is responsible 
for safe, reliable, and effective operation of the District’s wastewater treatment plant and its associated 
equipment. The group provides plant operations, laboratory, and support services. 

 
 

WASTEWATER SYSTEM 
 
The District owns and manages the Wastewater System. Its service area is 60.2 square miles with 

over 356,100 residents and over 3,000 commercial or industrial customers. The number of sewer 
connections for all Wastewater System customers in fiscal year 2018-19 was 113,710. The District 
maintains 834 miles of gravity flow pipeline, 24 miles of pressurized force main pipeline, 7 remote pump 
stations and one wastewater treatment plant (the “WWTP”). The WWTP is a 33-acre facility located in 
Union City. The WWTP has a permitted capacity of 33 million gallons per day (mgd) and it treated an 
average of 23.73 gallons of wastewater each day in fiscal year 2018-19.  

166 of 567



-20- 

 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
 

The WWTP is owned and managed by the District. District staff is responsible for the treatment 
of wastewater in an environmentally safe manner to ensure its discharge meets the NPDES water quality 
requirements. The WWTP treats approximately eight billion gallons of sewage and beneficially reuses or 
disposes of 20,000 wet tons of biosolids each year. WWTP staff conduct thousands of laboratory tests 
each year to monitor the performance of the plant. The Environmental Compliance team administers the 
Industrial Pre-Treatment Program; and monitors Industrial User Compliance through daily observation 
and weekly analysis of discharge. WWTP operations are funded by user fees charged to customers for 
Sanitary Sewer Service. 

 
Treatment involves separating solids from water, then stabilizing them through a natural 

biological process. The stabilized solids are dewatered in a high-speed centrifuge, then hauled away in 
covered trucks for beneficial reuse. The water is further treated, clarified and disinfected before release in 
the deep waters of San Francisco Bay. The WWTP currently meets the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit requirements for secondary treatment by using activated sludge as 
its biological liquid treatment process. The District’s treatment also includes primary and secondary 
clarification, and chlorination. The solids are handled on site through sludge thickening, digestion, and 
dewatering. The WWTP has a cogeneration facility located next to the primary anaerobic digesters, which 
uses the digesters’ biogas to produce electricity and heat. 

 
The following table shows the 12-month daily average (in MGD) of influent to the Treatment 

Plant for each of the last ten years: 
 

Table 1 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

INFLUENT TO TREATMENT PLANT 
(Million Gallons per Day) 

 

Fiscal 
Year 

Influent 
Flow 

(MGD) 
2009-10 25.80 
2010-11 26.00 
2011-12 24.79 
2012-13 24.20 
2013-14 23.03 
2014-15 22.35 
2015-16 23.27 
2016-17 24.36 
2017-18 23.29 
2018-19 23.73 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
Note: The WWTP is permitted for a capacity of 33.00 MGD. 

 

167 of 567



-21- 

Regulatory Requirements 
 

The District is an agency member of the East Bay Dischargers Authority (“EBDA”), a Joint 
Powers Agency that consists of five local agencies. EBDA was formed in 1974 to collectively manage the 
wastewater treatment and disposal of the agencies. EBDA also provides services to the cities of 
Pleasanton, Dublin and Livermore through an agreement with the Livermore-Amador Valley Water 
Management Agency (“LAVWMA”). The combined final effluent from the EBDA and LAVWMA 
agencies is dechlorinated and discharged from the EBDA Common Outfall to Lower San Francisco Bay.  

 
Because the District discharges treated wastewater to waters of the state through the EBDA and 

the Hayward marsh, the District’s wastewater operations are subject to many regulatory requirements. 
These requirements are contained in the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, (the “Clean 
Water Act”), and in the State of California Porter Cologne Water Quality Control Act of 1969, as 
amended. Both federal and State regulations are administered through the California State Water 
Resources Control Board (“SWRCB”), and generally deal with the quality of effluent discharged from the 
sewer treatment facilities. 

 
The Environmental Protection Agency works with the SWRCB to enforce applicable water 

quality objectives by allowing the SWRCB to issue discharge permits called NPDES permits. The District 
has three NPDES permits, EBDA Permit (NPDES No. CA0037869), Old Alameda Creek (Emergency 
Wet Weather. NPDES No. CA0038733) and the Hayward Marsh (NPDES No. CA0038636). The 
District believes it is in compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements related to the Wastewater 
System. 

 
Wastewater Collection System 
 

All domestic, commercial, and light industrial wastewater is collected by the Wastewater System. 
Any industrial or commercial waste that does not meet District discharge requirements must be pre-
treated prior to discharging into the Wastewater System. Most commercial and industrial operations are 
monitored at various times, depending on their type of discharge. Everyone in the District is required to 
connect to the Wastewater System. 

 
The small pipes (typically 4 inches in diameter) that connect homes and businesses to the 

collection system sewer mains are called service laterals. The portion of the service laterals located within 
the public right-of-way (from the connection to the sewer main to the property line) in addition to the 
portion of the service lateral from the back of curb (property line) to the residence are owned by the 
private property owners who are responsible for their maintenance and repair. The wastewater generated 
within the District flows through the collection system to the WWTP. 

 
The District maintains approximately 834 miles of sewers (including the force main and all gravity 

sewers) in its service area with District equipment, including television camera inspection and 
hydrocleaning.  
 

168 of 567



-22- 

Wastewater System Customers 
 

In fiscal year 2018-19, the Wastewater System had 113,710 active customer accounts, of which 
110,595 (97.2%) were residential, 1,286 (1.1%) were commercial and 1,347 (1.2%) were industrial. The 
remaining 482 (0.5%) accounts belonged to Institutional and Other customers.  

 
The following tables shows the number of active sewer customer accounts for the most recent five 

fiscal years. 
 

Table 2 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

HISTORY OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS BY TYPE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Residential 107,740 107,916 108,688 109,611 110,595 
Commercial 1,287 1,288 1,283 1,283 1,286 
Industrial 1,348 1,346 1,351 1,350 1,347 
Institutional 233 232 234 232 228 
Other 257 256 257 256 254 

Total Accounts 110,865 111,038 111,813 112,732 113,710 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 

 
The tables below show the billings generated by each category of Wastewater System users for the 

most recent five fiscal years. 
 

Table 3 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

REVENUES BY USER CATEGORY(1) 
 
 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Residential $36,407,135 $38,232,125 $38,868,654 $40,572,233 $42,194,986 
Commercial 3,697,782 3,604,284 3,925,805 3,975,571 4,345,016 
Industrial 4,484,564 4,658,484 5,512,630 5,594,399 6,195,125 
Institutional 1,044,492 1,035,324 1,118,060 1,112,227 1,169,004 
Other 2,751,673 2,637,267 2,970,483 3,039,532 3,438,272 
   Total Revenues $48,385,648 $50,167,486 $52,395,633 $54,293,962 $57,342,403 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) The data in this table is compiled by City staff and does not directly correlate to the totals in the audited financial statements. 

 

169 of 567



-23- 

The following table lists the top ten 2018-19 industrial rate payers of the Wastewater System, 
including their percentage of the total 2019 Wastewater System billings. The top ten rate payers represent 
4.68% of the total Wastewater System sewer service charges.  
 

Table 4 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

TEN LARGEST INDUSTRIAL RATE PAYERS 
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019 

 
 

Customer 

Total 
Annual 
Billing 

% of Total  
Billings(1) 

1. Tesla $1,228,862 2.14% 
2. Washington Hospital 221,799 0.39 
3. US Pipe 216,296 0.38 
4. Western Digital 174,219 0.30 
5. Ranch 99/Warm Springs Shopping 157,421 0.27 
6. Ranch 99/Newark 152,401 0.27 
7. Marriott Hotel 141,572 0.25 
8. Union Square Shopping Center 138,482 0.24 
9. Lam Research 125,330 0.22 
10. Gateway Plaza Shopping Center 125,202 0.22 
    Total Top 10 $2,681,584 4.68% 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
(1) The District collected a total of $57,330,651 of customer billings in FY2018-19. 

 
Wastewater System Rates 
 

The District receives its revenue from four primary sources: sewer service charges; capacity fees; 
other minor operating revenues such as permits, inspections and outside work that is performed in 
cooperation with other municipalities; and interest earnings on reserve funds. 
 

The sewer service charges and capacity fees are established by ordinance adopted by a majority 
vote of the District Board. Prior to rate increases being implemented they must be presented to the rate 
payers through a Proposition 218 protest hearing process. This process has been completed for the rate 
increases associated with this financing. See “CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON 
APPROPRIATIONS AND FEES.” 
 

Sewer Service Charge. The sewer service charge is divided into four primary categories of 
customers: residential, commercial, institutional, and industrial. Sewer service charges for residential 
customers are based on a flat rate using a two-tiered system. On January 25, 2016, the District Board 
adopted Ordinance No. 31.39, which set sewer service charges to be charged in the District beginning in 
Fiscal Year 2016-17 and increasing in each Fiscal Year through 2020-21 to the amounts specified in the 
ordinance. The District is currently working on a new cost of service analysis that takes into consideration 
current and future operational and capital cost requirements for the net five years. This analysis is 
expected to be completed in March/April 2020. 

 
Charges for commercial and industrial customers are based on the volume and pollutant strength 

of the wastewater being treated. The volume of wastewater is determined from water meter records 

170 of 567



-24- 

obtained from the Alameda County Water District. Credit is given for water used that is not discharged to 
the sanitary sewer, such as landscape irrigation. Due to the lead time involved to get yearly charges placed 
on the County property tax statements, the Sewer Service Charges on the current year's tax statement 
reflect services already provided. Water use for purposes of computing the service charge is measured 
from March through February of the previous year. The Sewer Service Charge for this period is then 
placed on the property tax statement that is mailed out in October, with the first installment due 
December 10th. 

 
Pollutant strength is measured in samples of wastewater for two components: chemical oxygen 

demand (COD), and suspended solids (SS). Wastewater with high strength costs the District more to 
treat. For example, wastewater with high levels of suspended solids produces more sludge (a by-product 
of treatment). Sludge is treated and then disposed of at an agricultural site. If more sludge is produced, the 
District’s hauling and disposal costs are higher. Therefore, rates are structured so that customers are 
charged based on the volume of solids they contribute to the system. 

 
Most commercial and industrial customers, or properties that include several different types of 

businesses, are calculated by the General Assignment method. With this method, commercial and 
industrial customers are assigned a general strength of strong, moderate or weak. The three rate 
components, colume, COD, and SS are combined into one rate per 1,000 gallons of wastewater 
discharged.  
 

Charges for certain industrial customers with industrial discharge permits are calculated using a 
direct assessment method. Under this method, samples of wastewater are collected and sent to a 
laboratory for analysis. Both COD and SS are measured and then averaged with other samples taken that 
year to determine an average strength for use in calculating Sewer Service Charges. The sum of three 
components determines the total charge. 

 

171 of 567



-25- 

The following table lists sewer service charge rate table for Wastewater System customers as 
approved in Ordinance 31.39 and currently in effect:  

 
Table 5 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SEWER SERVICE CHARGE RATE TABLE 

Fiscal Years 2016-17 through 2020-21 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
RESIDENTIAL ($/dwelling unit)      

Single family residences $ 380.05 $ 393.35 $ 407.12 $ 421.37 $ 436.12 
Multifamily residences 329.50 341.03 352.97 365.32 378.11 

      
COMMERCIAL(1)      

Strong 9.59 9.93 10.28 10.64 11.01 
Moderate 4.74 4.90 5.07 5.25 5.43 
Weak 3.95 4.08 4.23 4.37 4.53 
Fast-Food Restaurant 8.97 9.29 9.61 9.95 10.30 
Full-Service Restaurant 11.89 12.30 12.73 13.18 13.64 

      
INDUSTRIAL(1)      

Volume ($/1,000 gals) 2.23 2.31 2.39 2.48 2.56 
COD ($/1,000 gals) 296.05 306.41 317.14 328.24 339.72 
SS ($/1,000 lbs) 688.62 712.72 737.66 763.48 790.20 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District Ordinance No. 31.39. 
(1) The District imposes a minimum charge per account for all non-residential customers. 
 

Capacity Fees. The purpose of the Capacity Charges is to provide revenue to recover costs for 
existing and future facilities that are of proportional benefit to the person or property being charged as 
they connect to the Wastewater System. On April 25, 2016, the Union Sanitary District Board of 
Directors adopted Ordinance No. 35.22, which set Capacity Charges to be charged in the District 
beginning in Fiscal Year 2015-16. The ordinance sets forth the Capacity Charges for new and existing 
users to buy a share of the District's system's capacity for the discharge of their wastewater. The Capacity 
Charges will increase each Fiscal Year from 2016-17 through 2019-20 to the amounts specified in the 
ordinance. 

 
The following table lists capacity charge rate table for residential Wastewater System customers 

as approved in Ordinance 35.22 and currently in effect. As they pertain to residential Wastewater System 
customers, capacity charges are applied to new construction only and do not apply to additions or repairs. 
Residential capacity charges are applied per dwelling unit. 

 

172 of 567



-26- 

Table 6 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

PER DWELLING UNIT CAPACITY CHARGE RATE TABLE 
FOR RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS 
Fiscal Years 2015-16 through 2019-20 

 
 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Single Family (<= 4,500 square feet) $5,595.66 $6,421.17 $7,246.69 $8,072.20 $8,897.71 
      
Single Family (> 4,500 square feet)(1) $5,595.66 $6,421.17 $7,246.69 $8,072.20 $8,897.71 
      
Multi-Family $4,796.28 $5,503.86 $6,211.45 $6,919.03 $7,626.61 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District Ordinance No. 35.22. 

(1) Dwelling units greater than 4,500 square feet are charged the per-unit charge plus a proportionate charge for per square 
foot above 4,500 square feet (ex. Capacity charge for 4,600 square feet unit is 4,600/4,500 * unit charge). 
 
Capacity charges for commercial, industrial and institutional customers are based on square 

footage and other factors as detailed in Ordinance No. 35.22. A copy of Ordinance No. 35.22 which 
includes the complete rate table for capacity charges applicable to all Wastewater System customers is 
attached to this Official Statement as APPENDIX H—CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE. 

 
Billing and Collection of Wastewater System Charges 
 

Billing Procedures. Each year the District transmits its sewer service charges to the County 
Treasurer-Tax Collector for collection on the County property tax roll. The property tax billings are due 
in two equal installments on December 10 and April 10. The District generally receives the first and 
second installments from the County in December and April, respectively, with final reconciliation 
payments in June and July. 

 
Delinquent Charges. The Board of Supervisors of the County has adopted the Alternative Method 

of Distribution of Tax Levies and Collections and of Tax Sale Proceeds (the "Teeter Plan"), as provided 
for in section 4701 et seq. of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. Under the Teeter Plan, each 
taxing entity receives 100% of the taxes and assessments levied, without regard to delinquencies. 

 
The District's wastewater rates and charges are currently covered under the County's Teeter 

Plan. However, there can be no assurance that the County will not choose to discontinue the Teeter Plan in the 
future, or modify its Teeter Plan to exclude or limit the coverage for sanitary districts, or choose to remove the 
District from its Teeter Plan coverage. At the date of this Official Statement, no such discontinuation or removal 
is under consideration. 

 
No Information Regarding Delinquencies. No information is available from the County regarding 

actual delinquency rates. All enforcement and collection is handled by the County. The District has no 
independent procedure for enforcing the collection of its rates and charges. 

 

173 of 567



-27- 

Rate Comparison 
 

The following table shows the District’s average annual wastewater rates as compared to other 
agencies in the region. 

 
Table 7 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
BAY AREA 2019-20 AVERAGE ANNUAL WASTEWATER RATE COMPARISON 

 
Agency Rate 

City of Berkeley $1,537 
City of San Carlos 1,228 
West Bay Sanitary District 1,177 
City of San Mateo 992 
City of Redwood City 981 
Ross Valley Sanitary District 961 
City of Richmond 880 
City of Oakland 874 
San Rafael Sanitary District 861 
City of Alameda 746 
City of South San Francisco 739 
North San Mateo County Sanitation District 710 
Stege Sanitary District 694 
City of Livermore 676 
City of Concord 637 
City of Sunnyvale 616 
City of Milpitas 615 
Central Contra Costa Sanitary District 598 
City of Pittsburg 589 
West Valley Sanitary District 586 
Cupertino Sanitary District 581 
West County Wastewater District 576 
City of Brentwood 569 
City of Antioch 563 
City of Santa Clara 529 
City of Mountain View 505 
City of Pleasanton 497 
City of Palo Alto 496 
City of San Jose 481 
Castro Valley Sanitary District 458 
Dublin San Ramon Services District 447 
City of San Leandro 446 
Union Sanitary District 421 
City of Hayward 412 
Oro Loma Sanitary District 275 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
 

 

174 of 567



-28- 

DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Budget Process 
 

The District holds a mid-year workshop with the Board in February or March. The purpose of 
this workshop is to provide current year-to-date budget vs. actual information, projections for the end of 
the year, and a first look at budget issues for the upcoming fiscal year. In April there is a subsequent 
workshop, providing the upcoming fiscal year’s projected budget, including revenue estimates, operating 
costs, capital projects, rates, and special projects. The budget workshops give the Board the opportunity 
to comment, ask questions, make recommendations for changes, and provide direction to staff. At the 
second Board meeting in May, the preliminary (draft) budget is brought to the Board as an information 
item, noting any changes since the workshop. The final budget is typically reviewed and considered at the 
second Board meeting in June. 

 
Budgetary controls are maintained by the District to ensure compliance with the annual budget 

adopted by the Board. All financial activities for the fiscal year are included in the annual budget, along 
with the 20-year capital improvement budget. Budgetary control is maintained at the Work Group level 
for administrative and operating budgets, and at the project level for capital improvements. Monthly 
budget reports are provided to the Executive Team and the Board. The Executive Team conducts a 
detailed quarterly review, as well. 

 
Financial Statements 

 
APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT 

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018, includes the audited financial statements of the District (the 
“Financial Statements”) for Fiscal Year 2018-19 prepared by the District and audited by Lance, Soll & 
Lunghard, LLP, Sacramento, California (the “Auditor”). The audited combined financial statements of 
the District for prior years are available upon request or by visiting the District website. 
 

The Auditor’s letter concludes that the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the District as of June 30, 2019, and the results of its operations and the 
cash flows for the Fiscal Year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. The Financial Statements should be read in their entirety. The District has 
not requested nor did the District obtain permission from the Auditor to include the audited financial 
statements as an appendix to this Official Statement. Accordingly, the Auditor has not performed any 
post-audit review of the financial condition or operations of the District. In addition, the Auditor has not 
reviewed this Official Statement. 
 

See APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE 
DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 for a more complete summary of the District’s accounting 
policies. 
 

175 of 567



-29- 

Outstanding Debt 
 

The only outstanding debt of the District are the SWRCB Agreements to be prepaid from the 
proceeds of the Bonds. 

 
Historical and Projected Operating Results and Debt Service Coverage 

 
The following two tables provide a history and projection of the operating results and debt service 

coverage of the District for ten fiscal years. 
 
The following table presents the Historical Summary of Operating Revenues, Operating Expenses 

and Debt Service Coverage for the past five fiscal years. Data for fiscal years 2014-15 through 2018-19 are 
based on figures from the District’s Audited Financial Statements.  

 
Table 8 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF OPERATING REVENUES, 

OPERATING EXPENSES AND DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
OPERATING REVENUES      

Charges for services $48,379,254 $50,112,566 $52,384,709 $54,260,096 $57,330,651 
Other revenues 1,581,031 1,791,783 2,154,364 1,631,870 2,188,027 

Total Operating Revenues $49,960,285 $51,904,349 $54,539,073 $55,891,966 $59,518,678 
      
NON-OPERATING REVENUES      

Developer Connection Fees(1) $4,820,637 $7,233,338 $12,595,637 $23,623,947 $16,158,027 
Investment earnings(2) 130,369 441,426 720,067 1,436,216 2,657,356 

Total Non-Operating Revenues $4,951,006 $7,674,764 $13,315,704 25,060,163 $18,815,383 
      
TOTAL REVENUES $54,911,291 $59,579,110 $67,854,777 $80,952,129 $78,334,061 
      
OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 
COSTS(3) 

$32,630,756 $33,609,699 $35,910,541 $40,442,197 $41,902,599 

      
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR 
DEBT SERVICE 

$22,280,535 $25,969,411 $31,944,236 $40,509,932 $36,431,462 

      
SWRCB Agreements Debt Service $3,127,110 $3,127,110 $3,127,111 $3,902,080 $3,902,104 
      
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 7.12x 8.30x 10.22x 10.38x 9.34x 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) Excludes contributed capital amounts which are non-cash items. 
(2) Excludes unrealized gains/losses in investments which are non-cash items. 
(3) Excludes depreciation, amortization, debt service and capital expenditures. 
 

176 of 567



-30- 

The following table presents the Projected Summary of Operating Revenues, Operating Expenses 
and Debt Service Coverage for the fiscal years 2019-20 through 2023-24 based upon certain assumptions 
which the District believes are reasonable. However, the District cannot guarantee that its actual results 
will not differ. 

 
Table 9 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SUMMARY OF PROJECTED OPERATING REVENUES, 

OPERATING EXPENSES AND DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
OPERATING REVENUES      

Charges for services (1) $60,282,535 $62,640,224 $65,090,389 $67,636,664 $70,282,830 
Other revenues 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 

Total Operating Revenues $61,619,085 $63,976,774 $66,426,939 $68,973,214 $71,619,380 
      
NON-OPERATING REVENUES      

Developer Connection Fees $13,567,000 $5,700,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 
Interest Earnings (2) 864,301 1,997,271 2,292,222 2,095,807 2,081,507 

Total Non-Operating Revenues $14,431,301 $7,697,271 $5,292,222 $5,095,807 $5,081,507 
      
TOTAL REVENUES $76,050,386 $71,674,046 $71,719,161 $74,069,021 $76,700,888 
      
OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 
COSTS (3) $48,035,965 $46,915,276 $50,308,903 $52,912,592 $55,251,555 
      
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR 
DEBT SERVICE $28,014,421 $24,758,770 $21,410,258 $21,156,428 $21,449,333 
      
DEBT SERVICE      

SWRCB Agreements $3,902,088 — — — — 
2020 Installment Payments (4) — $4,874,332 $5,019,300 $5,022,400 $5,021,300 
2022 Installment Payments (5) — — 1,702,454 1,702,454 1,702,454 

Total Debt Service $3,902,088 $4,874,332 $6,721,754 $6,724,854 $6,723,754 
      
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 7.18x 5.08x 3.19x 3.15x 3.19x 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) The projected revenues assumes the overall increase in sewer accounts is less than 1% and an average annual increase in 

sewer service charges of 3.4%. 
(2) The projections assume  interest earnings on revenues and fund balances of  1% annually. 
(3) Excludes depreciation, amortization, debt service and capital expenditures. The projections assume annual Operation and 

Maintenance Costs of the Wastewater System will increase 4% annually, primarily as a result of inflation, increased pension 
costs and increased costs for operations and maintenance. 

(4) Preliminary, subject to change. 
(5) Assumes the District issues $28,700,000 of additional bonds in fiscal year 2020-21at an assumed interest rate of 4.2%. 
 
Capital Improvement Program 
 

The Capital Improvement Program, or CIP, is a 20-year plan that identifies capital projects, 
budget amounts and sources, as well as planning schedule and priority. Funding sources for the CIP 
program are usually through low interest loans from the California State Water Resources Board or pay-
as-you-go from the charges for service, connection fees and reserves. In addition, the District expects to 
issue approximately $28,700,000 of additional bonds in fiscal year 2020-21. For FY2019-20, the CIP 

177 of 567



-31- 

budget represents about 25.7% of the overall District budget. Capital projects are identified from studies 
and master plans, as well as customer needs and regulatory requirements. 

 
The proposed improvements and the sources for payment are described in the following table: 
 

Table 10 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

FIVE YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
PROJECT      

Administrative Facilities $    180,000 $      90,000 $    495,000 — $     270,000 
Collection Systems 1,395,000 1,350,000 1,706,400 $ 3,178,800 1,528,330 
Transport Systems 2,497,500 4,455,000 6,480,000 2,610,000 2,565,000 
Treatment Systems 14,872,500 32,315,448 42,705,000 25,830,000 23,220,000 
   Total $18,945,000 $38,210,448 $51,386,400 $31,618,800 $27,583,330 

      
FUNDING SOURCE      

Sewer Service Charges/Reserves $ 6,558,750 $16,515,000 $24,228,900 $18,343,800 $1,813,330 
State Revolving Fund Loans — — 630,000 900,000 6,660,000 
Bond Proceeds 10,800,000 16,880,448 22,050,000 18,800,000 4,500,000 
Capacity Fees 1,586,250 4,815,000 4,477,500 1,575,000 2,160,000 

Total $18,945,000 $38,210,448 $51,386,400 $31,618,800 $27,583,330 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 

 
Risk Management 

 
The District is a member of the California Sanitation Risk Management Authority (“CSRMA”). 

CSRMA covers general liability and workers’ compensation claims. In addition, commercial insurance is 
purchased for excess liability, property, and employee dishonesty coverage. The District has a $500,000 
deductible for general liability coverage, and no deductible for workers’ compensation coverage. 

 
Claims and judgments, including a provision for claims incurred but not reported, are recorded 

when a loss is deemed probable of assertion and the amount of the loss is reasonably determinable. As 
discussed above, the District has coverage for such claims, but it has retained the risk for the deductible or 
uninsured portion of these claims. The District’s liability for uninsured claims is limited to general liability 
claims, as discussed above. Settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three years. 

 
Joint Ventures 

 
Alameda County Water District Financing Authority. The Alameda County Water District 

Financing Authority, a Joint Powers Authority, was established through Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement between the Alameda County Water District (“ACWD”) and the District on November 14, 
2011 for the purpose of assisting in the financing and refinancing of capital improvement projects of the 
ACWD and to finance working capital for the ACWD. The assets, debts, liabilities, and obligations of the 
Authority do not constitute assets, debts, liabilities, and obligations of the District. The Authority is 
administered by the Board, which consists of one member from the District and five members from the 
Alameda County Water District. 

178 of 567



-32- 

 
Investment in East Bay Dischargers Authority. The District has an interest in the East Bay 

Discharges Authority (“EBDA”) by capacity, a joint powers authority established under the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act of the State. The District is entitled to 42.1 percent by capacity but is responsible 
for approximately 48.8% of the operating costs under the terms of the revised and restated JPA 
Agreement, dated January 1, 2020. As a separate legal entity, EBDA exercises full power and authority 
within the scope of the related Joint Powers Agreement, including the preparation of annual budgets, 
accountability for all funds, the power to make and execute contracts and the right to sue and be sued. 
Obligations and liabilities of EBDA are not those of the District and the other participating entities. 

 
EBDA constructed and operates an export pumping facility through which all treated wastewater 

in the area is discharged. The other participants (and their ownership percentages) are the City of 
Hayward (14.72 percent), the City of San Leandro (3.74 percent), and the Oro Loma and Castro Valley 
Sanitary Districts (collectively, 29.4 percent). The District has rights to 42.1 percent of EBDA’s capacity. 

 
EBDA is governed by a board of directors consisting of representatives from each member agency. 

The board controls the operations of EBDA, including selection of management and approval of operating 
budgets, independent of any influence by member agencies beyond their representation on the Board. 

 
Because the District has the ability to exercise influence over operating and financial policies of 

the EBDA, the District’s proportionate share of EBDA’s net position, excluding sole use of facilities, and 
the District’s share of its undivided ownership (18.7 percent) in EBDA’s total net equity, has been 
recorded as an investment in EBDA accounted for under the equity method. 

 
During fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the District was charged $1,231,219 by EBDA primarily 

for operating costs. Such costs are included in the wastewater treatment expenses by the District for 
financial reporting purposes. 

 
The financial statement for EBDA may be obtained from the EBDA, 2651 Grant Avenue, San 

Lorenzo, CA 94580-1841. 
 

Employee Pension Plans 
 

The information set forth below regarding the CalPERS program, other than the information provided by 
the District regarding its annual contributions thereto, has been obtained from publicly available sources which are 
believed to be reliable but are not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and should not to be construed as a 
representation by either the District or the Underwriter. 

 
Plan Description. All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in 

the District’s Miscellaneous Plan (the “Plan”), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”), which acts as a 
common investment and administrative agent for its participating member employers. Benefit provisions 
under the Plan is established by State statute and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available 
reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and 
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and 

death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on 

179 of 567



-33- 

years of credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment. Members with five years of total 
service are eligible to retire at age 50 to 62 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for 
non-duty disability benefits after five (5) years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the 
Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of 
living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  
 

Employees Covered. At June 30, 2019, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms 
for the Plan. 
 

Table 11 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

CALPERS MISCELLANEOUS PLAN MEMBERSHIP 
 

Inactive employee or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 172 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 68 
Active employees 137 
   Total 377 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
 

Contributions. Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (“PERL”) 
requires that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by 
the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total plan 
contributions are determined through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer is 
required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of 
employees. Employer contribution rates may change if plan contracts are amended. Payments made by the 
employer to satisfy contribution requirements that are identified by the pension plan terms as plan 
member contribution requirements are classified as plan member contributions. 

 
Net Pension Liability. The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total 

pension liability, less the plan’s fiduciary net position. As of June 30, 2019, the District reported a net 
pension liability for the Plan of $46,738,719. 

 
Changes in the District’s net pension liability for the prior year are shown in the table below: 
 

180 of 567



-34- 

The following table shows the changes in net pension liability recognized over the measurement 
period for the Plan. 

 
Table 12 

UNION SANITY DISTRICT 
CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITIY 

During FY2018-19 
 

Service costs $ 2,751,248 
Interest on total pension liability 9,904,222 
Difference between actual and expected experience 810,456 
Changes in assumptions (1,225,530) 
Contribution – employer (3,473,052) 
Contribution – employee (1,296,037) 
Net investment income (7,910,460) 
Administrative expenses 426,382 
Benefit payments (incl. refunds of employee contributions) - 

Net changes (12,540) 
Balance at June 30, 2017 46,751,259 
Balance at June 30, 2018 $46,738,719 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 

 
Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. For the year ended June 30, 

2019, the District recognized pension expense of $7,340,061. At June 30, 2019, the District reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:  

 
Table 13 

UNION SANITY DISTRICT 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 
 Deferred Deferred 
 Outflows of inflows of 
 Resources Resources 
Contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 4,221,019 $ - 
Difference between actual and expected experience 1,029,233 - 
Changes in Assumptions 3,125,081 (885,105) 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments 270,326 - 
   Total $8,645,659 $(885,105) 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 

 
For more information, including actuarial assumptions, a discussion of the discount rate used, and 

schedules of funding progress for the District’s pension plan, see APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018—Notes to 
Basic Financial Statements—NOTE 7. 

 
Recent Actions Taken by CalPERS. At its April 17, 2013, meeting, CalPERS’ Board of 

Administration (the “Board of Administration”) approved a recommendation to change the CalPERS 

181 of 567



-35- 

amortization and smoothing policies. Prior to this change, CalPERS employed an amortization and 
smoothing policy that spread investment returns over a 15-year period with experience gains and losses 
paid for over a rolling 30-year period. As a result, CalPERS now employs an amortization and smoothing 
policy that will pay for all gains and losses over a 20-year period with a five-year ramp-up, and five-year 
ramp-down, period. The new amortization and smoothing policy was used for the first time in the June 30, 
2013 actuarial valuations in setting employer contribution rates for fiscal year 2015-16. 

 
On February 18, 2014, the Board of Administration approved new demographic actuarial 

assumptions based on a 2013 study of recent experience. The largest impact, applying to all benefit 
groups, is a new 20-year mortality projection reflecting longer life expectancies and that longevity will 
continue to increase. Because retirement benefits will be paid out for more years, the cost of those benefits 
will increase as a result. The Board of Administration also assumed earlier retirements for Police 3%@50, 
Fire 3%@55, and Miscellaneous 2.7%@55 and 3%@60, which will increase costs for those groups. As a 
result of these changes, rates increased beginning in fiscal year 2016-17 (based on the June 30, 2014 
valuation) with full impact in fiscal year 2020-21.  

 
On November 18, 2015, the Board of Administration adopted a funding risk mitigation policy 

intended to incrementally lower its discount rate – its assumed rate of investment return – in years of good 
investment returns, help pay down the pension fund's unfunded liability, and provide greater 
predictability and less volatility in contribution rates for employers. The policy establishes a mechanism to 
reduce the discount rate by a minimum of 0.05 percentage points to a maximum of 0.25 percentage points 
in years when investment returns outperform the existing discount rate, currently 7.5%, by at least four 
percentage points. CalPERS staff modeling anticipates the policy will result in a lowering of the discount 
rate to 6.5% in about 21 years, improve funding levels gradually over time and cut risk in the pension 
system by lowering the volatility of investment returns. More information about the funding risk 
mitigation policy can be accessed through CalPERS’ web site. The reference to this Internet website is 
provided for reference and convenience only. The information contained within the website may not be current, has 
not been reviewed by the District or the Underwriter and is not incorporated in this Official Statement by 
reference. 

 
On December 21, 2016, the Board of Administration voted to lower its discount rate from the 

current 7.5% to 7.0% over the next three years according to the following schedule.  
 

Fiscal Year Discount Rate 
2017-18 7.375% 
2018-19 7.250 
2019-20 7.000 

 
For public agencies like the District, the new discount rate took effect on July 1, 2018. Lowering 

the discount rate means employers that contract with CalPERS to administer their pension plans will see 
increases in their normal costs and unfunded actuarial liabilities. Active members hired after January 1, 
2013, under the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act will also see their contribution rates rise. The 
three-year reduction of the discount rate will result in average employer rate increases of about 1% to 3% of 
normal cost as a percent of payroll for most miscellaneous retirement plans, and a 2% to 5% increase for 
most safety plans. Additionally, many CalPERS employers will see a 30 to 40% increase in their current 
unfunded accrued liability payments. These payments are made to amortize unfunded liabilities over 20 
years to bring the pension fund to a fully funded status over the long-term. 

 

182 of 567



-36- 

PERS Amortization Period Reform. On February 13, 2018, the CalPERS Board voted to shorten the 
period over which actuarial gains and losses are amortized from 30 years to 20 years for new pension 
liabilities. The new 20-year amortization period begins with new gains or losses accrued starting with the 
June 30, 2019 actuarial valuations. The first payments on the new 20-year amortization schedule will take 
place in 2021. 

 
A shorter amortization period will increase annual Unfunded Accrued Liability (“UAL”) 

contributions for public agencies that participate in CalPERS so long as CalPERS remains underfunded. 
The shortened amortization period will also lead to reductions of periods of negative amortization of the 
UAL, interest cost savings, and faster recoveries of funded status after market downturns.  

 
Public agencies that participate in CalPERS will also see additional volatility in their future UAL 

contributions due to market performance as gains or losses will be amortized faster under the new 
amortization period. 

 
The District cannot currently estimate the impact the shorter amortization period will have on its 

required contributions for the Plan. 
 
Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 

Plan Description. The District’s defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan provides medical 
benefits to employees who satisfy the requirements for retirement under CalPERS (attained age 50 with 
five years of service or satisfaction of the requirements for a disability retirement.) The amount of the 
retiree’s medical benefit is dependent upon both years of service with the District and the year the 
employee retires. 

 
The District contracts with CalPERS to administer its retiree health benefit plan (an agent 

multiple-employer plan) and to provide an investment vehicle, the California Employers’ Retiree Benefit 
Trust Fund, to prefund future OPEB costs. A menu of benefit provisions as well as other requirements is 
established by State statute within the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. The District chooses among 
the menu of benefit provisions and adopts certain benefit provisions by Board resolution. CalPERS issues 
a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. Copies of the CalPERS annual financial report may 
be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Office at 400 P Street, Sacramento, CA, 95814.  

 
Membership of the OPEB Plan as of June 30, 2019 consisted of 133 inactive employees or 

beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, 0 inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits, 
and 137 active employees. 

 
Funding Policy. The OPEB Plan and its contribution requirements are established by a 

Memorandum of Understanding with the applicable employee bargaining unit. The annual contribution is 
based on the actuarially determined contribution. For the year ended June 30, 2019 the District’s cash 
contributions were $708,037 in total payments, which were recognized as a reduction to the OPEB 
liability. 

 

183 of 567



-37- 

Net OPEB Liability. The following table shows the amount contributed to the plan, and changes in 
the City’s net OPEB liability in fiscal year 2018-19: 
 

Table 14 
UNION SANITY DISTRICT 

CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABLITY 
 During Fiscal Year 2018-19 

 
Service cost $  388,943 
Interest on OPEB Liability 773,775 
Expected investment income (358,335) 
Employer Contribution (920,935) 
Investment experience 32,143 
Administrative expenses 9,654 

Change in Fund Balance (74,755) 
Balance at June 30, 2017 6,239,652 
Balance at June 30, 2018 $6,164,897 

    
Source:  Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
 

For additional information about the District’s OPEB Plan, see APPENDIX B—
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED 
JUNE 30, 2018, Note 8. 

 
 

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS 
 
The following section describes certain special considerations and risk factors affecting the risk of 

nonpayment or the security for the Bonds. The following discussion is not meant to be an exhaustive or definitive 
description of the risks associated with a purchase of any Bond and does not necessarily reflect the relative 
importance of the various risks. Potential investors are advised to consider the following special factors regarding 
the Bonds, together with all other information in this Official Statement in order to make an informed investment 
decision with respect to the Bonds. There can be no assurance that other risk factors are not or will not become 
material in the future. 
 

Payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds depends primarily upon the revenues derived 
from operation of the Wastewater System. Some of the events which could affect the revenues received by 
the Wastewater System are set forth below. The following discussion of risks is not meant to be an 
exhaustive list of the risks associated with the purchase of the Bonds and the order in which the risks are 
discussed does not necessarily reflect the relative importance of the various risks. 

 
Limited Obligations 

 
The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Authority and are not secured by a legal or 

equitable pledge or charge or lien upon any property of the District or any of its income or receipts, except 
the Authority Revenues.  

 
The District is obligated under the Installment Purchase Agreement to make Installment 

Payments solely from Net Revenues. The obligation of the District to make Installment Payments from 

184 of 567



-38- 

Net Revenues does not constitute an obligation of the District to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for 
which the District has levied or pledged any form of taxation. There is no assurance that the District can 
succeed in operating the Wastewater System such that the Net Revenues in the future will be sufficient 
for that purpose. 

 
Net Revenues; Rate Covenant 

 
Net Revenues are dependent upon the demand for wastewater services, which can be affected by 

population factors, more stringent wastewater standards, wastewater regulations, water conservation, 
water shortages, problems with the District's wastewater collection and other factors, and increases in 
operation and maintenance expenses. There can be no assurance that wastewater service demand will be 
consistent with the levels contemplated in this Official Statement. A decrease in demand could require an 
increase in rates or charges in order generate sufficient Net Revenues to pay the Installment Payments and 
comply with the rate covenant contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
The District's ability to meet its rate covenant and make Installment Payments may be dependent 

upon its ability to increase rates in the future to levels sufficient to make Installment Payments and 
payments with respect to any Parity Obligations. There can be no assurance that the District will be able to 
raise rates in the future in amounts sufficient to pay debt service or to meet the rate covenant. While the 
District has covenanted to comply with the rate covenant, the rate covenant is not a guarantee that there 
will be sufficient Net Revenues to make Installment Payments. 

 
Risks Related to Facilities and Operations 
 

The operation of the Wastewater System and physical condition of the Wastewater System 
facilities are subject to a number of risk factors that could adversely affect the reliability of sewer service or 
increase the operating expenses of the Wastewater System. Prolonged damage to the Wastewater System 
could interrupt the ability of the District to realize Net Revenues sufficient to make the Installment 
Payments, require substantial increases in rates or charges in order to make the Installment Payments and 
comply with the rate covenant in the Installment Purchase Agreement (which could drive down demand 
for wastewater and related services), or require the District to increase expenditures for repairs 
significantly enough to adversely impact the District's ability to make the Installment Payments. 

 
These factors could include, among others, the following: 
 

Aging Facilities. The Wastewater System's facilities are aging and in need of repair or 
replacement. Long-lived facilities result in decreased reliability due to unplanned outages and 
place a greater maintenance burden on District operations. 

 
Private Sewer Laterals. Private sewer laterals are not owned or operated by the District; 

however, faulty private sewer laterals can increase inflow and infiltration into the District's 
facilities. Excessive inflow and infiltration into the facilities due to faulty sewer laterals may cause 
damage to the District's facilities. 

 
Operation and Maintenance Expenses. There can be no assurance that operation and 

maintenance expenses of the District related to the Wastewater System will be consistent with the 
levels contemplated in this Official Statement.  

 

185 of 567



-39- 

Seismic Hazards and Natural Disasters. The Wastewater System is located in a seismically 
active region. From time to time, the service area of the District may be subject to other natural 
disasters, including without limitation wildfires, flooding and landslides, tsunamis, or manmade 
disasters that could interrupt operation of the Wastewater System or its wastewater treatment and 
disposal service provider, CMSA, or adversely affect economic activity in the District's service 
area. See "THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM – Environmental Hazards." 

 
There can be no assurance that the occurrence of any natural calamity would not cause 

substantial damage to the Wastewater System, including exacerbated infiltration and/or inflow of 
ground and other waters into the Wastewater System, or that the District would have insurance or 
other resources available to make repairs in order to generate sufficient Net Revenues to pay make 
the Installment Payments when due. The casualty and liability insurance maintained by the 
District may not cover damages and losses to the Wastewater System due to earthquake, fire or 
flood. 

 
Statutory and Regulatory Compliance. The operation of the Wastewater System is subject 

to a variety of federal and State statutory and regulatory requirements. Any failure by the District 
to comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in significant fines and penalties. See 
"—Risk of Additional Fines and Litigation." Further, compliance with these laws and regulations 
may result in significant increases in the capital and operating costs of the District. In the future, 
state and federal agencies could impose additional statutory or regulatory requirements on the 
operation of the Wastewater System.  Such could result in the District being required to construct 
facilities or alter operations to meet such requirements. At this time the District is not aware of 
any requirements to be imposed in the near or distant future. 
 

Casualty Losses. The Installment Purchase Agreement obligates the District to obtain and 
keep in force various forms of insurance or self-insurance, subject to deductibles, for repair or 
replacement of a portion of the Wastewater System in the event of damage or destruction to such 
portion of the Wastewater System. No assurance can be given as to the adequacy of any such self-
insurance or any additional insurance to fund necessary repair or replacement of any other portion 
of the Wastewater System. 

 
Future Land Use Regulations 

 
Development within the District’s service area is contingent upon the future construction and 

acquisition of a number of public improvements such as arterial streets, water distribution facilities, 
sewage collection and transmission facilities, drainage facilities and street lighting, as well as the necessary 
local in-tract improvements. The installation of the necessary infrastructure improvements and the 
construction of the residential development are subject to the receipt of discretionary approvals from a 
number of public agencies concerning the layout and design of the development, the nature and extent of 
the improvements, land use, health and safety requirements and other matters. The failure to obtain any 
such approval could adversely affect the planned land development within the District. 

 
In addition, there can be no assurance that land development operations within the District will 

not be adversely affected by future government policies, including, but not limited to, governmental 
policies to restrict or control development. 

 

186 of 567



-40- 

Limitations on Rate Setting Under the California Constitution 
 
On November 5, 2005, the voters of the State approved Proposition 218, a constitutional 

initiative, entitled the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act” (“Proposition 218”). Proposition 218 added Articles 
XIIIC and XIIID to the California Constitution and contained a number of interrelated provisions 
affecting the ability of local governments, including the District, to levy and collect both existing and 
future taxes, assessments, fees and charges. 
 

Section 3 of Article XIIIC expressly extends the initiative power to give voters the power to 
reduce or repeal local taxes, assessments, fees and charges, regardless of the date such taxes, assessments, 
fees or charges were imposed. Section 3 expands the initiative power to include reducing or repealing 
assessments, fees and charges, which had previously been considered administrative rather than legislative 
matters and therefore beyond the initiative power. This extension of the initiative power is not limited by 
the terms of Article XIIIC to fees imposed after November 6, 2005, the effective date of Proposition 218, 
and absent other legal authority could result in the reduction in any existing taxes, assessments or fees and 
charges imposed prior to November 6, 2005. 

 
“Fees” and “charges” are not expressly defined in Article XIIIC or in SB 919, the Proposition 

218 Omnibus Implementation Act enacted in 1997 to prescribe specific procedures and parameters for 
local jurisdictions in complying with Article XIIIC and Article XIIID (“SB 919”). However, on July 24, 
2006, the California Supreme Court ruled in Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Virjil (Kelley) (the 
“Bighorn Decision”) that charges for ongoing water delivery are property-related fees and charges within 
the meaning of Article XIIID and are also fees or charges within the meaning of Section 3 of Article XIIIC. 
The California Supreme Court held that such water service charges may, therefore, be reduced or 
repealed through a local voter initiative pursuant to Section 3 of Article XIIIC. 

 
In the Bighorn Decision, the Supreme Court did state that nothing in Section 3 of Article XIIIC 

authorizes initiative measures that impose voter-approval requirements for future increases in fees or 
charges for water delivery. The Supreme Court stated that water providers may determine rates and 
charges upon proper action of the governing body and that the governing body may increase a charge 
which was not affected by a prior initiative or impose an entirely new charge. 

 
The Supreme Court further stated in the Bighorn Decision that it was not holding that the 

initiative power is free of all limitations and was not determining whether the initiative power is subject to 
the statutory provision requiring that water service charges be set at a level that will pay debt service on 
bonded debt and operating expenses. Such initiative power could be subject to the limitations imposed on 
the impairment of contracts under the contract clause of the United States Constitution. Additionally, SB 
919 provides that the initiative power provided for in Proposition 218 “shall not be construed to mean that 
any owner or beneficial owner of a municipal security, purchased before or after [the effective date of 
Proposition 218] assumes the risk of, or in any way consents to, any action by initiative measure that 
constitutes an impairment of contractual rights” protected by the United States Constitution. No 
assurance can be given that the voters of the District will not, in the future, approve initiatives which 
repeal, reduce or prohibit the future imposition or increase of assessments, fees or charges, including the 
District’s sewer service fees and charges, which are the source of Net Revenues pledged to the payment of 
debt service on the Bonds or any additional Parity Obligations. 

 

187 of 567



-41- 

Notwithstanding the fact that sewer service charges may be subject to reduction or repeal by voter 
initiative undertaken pursuant to Section 3 of Article XIIIC, the District has covenanted to levy and 
charge rates which meet the requirements of the Indenture in accordance with applicable law. 

 
Article XIIID defines a “fee” or “charge” as any levy other than an ad valorem tax, special tax, or 

assessment imposed upon a parcel or upon a person as an incident of property ownership, including a user 
fee or charge for a property-related service. A “property-related service” is defined as “a public service 
having a direct relationship to a property ownership.” In the Bighorn Decision, the California Supreme 
Court held that a public water agency’s charges for ongoing water delivery are fees and charges within the 
meaning of Article XIIID. Article XIIID requires that any agency imposing or increasing any property-
related fee or charge must provide written notice thereof to the record owner of each identified parcel 
upon which such fee or charge is to be imposed and must conduct a public hearing with respect thereto. 
The proposed fee or charge may not be imposed or increased if a majority of owners of the identified 
parcels file written protests against it. As a result, the local government’s ability to increase such fee or 
charge may be limited by a majority protest. 

 
The District has ratified prior sewer rate measures and otherwise complied with the applicable 

notice and protest procedures of Article XIIID for its current sewer rates and charges. There has not been 
nor is there any pending challenge to any of the District’s sewer fees and charges approved since the 
effective date of Proposition 218. While the District’s counsel is of the opinion, based upon the judicial 
precedent in place during the period of these rate increases, that a reviewing court could reasonably 
uphold the validity of those increases, neither the District nor the District’s counsel can predict with 
certainty the outcome of a challenge to the increases in the District’s sewer rates and charges that were 
not approved in accordance with the notice and hearing requirements of Article XIIID if one were 
brought. 

 
In addition, Article XIIID also includes a number of limitations applicable to fees and charges 

including provisions to the effect that (i) revenues derived from the fee or charge shall not exceed the 
funds required to provide the property-related service; (ii) such revenues shall not be used for any purpose 
other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed; (iii) the amount of a fee or charge imposed upon 
any parcel or person as an incident of property ownership shall not exceed the proportional cost of the 
service attributable to the parcel; and (iv) no such fee or charge may be imposed for a service unless that 
service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property in question. Property-
related fees or charges based on potential or future use of a service are not permitted. 

 
On November 2, 2010, voters in the State approved Proposition 26. Proposition 26 amends 

Article XIIIC of the State Constitution to expand the definition of “tax” to include “any levy, charge, or 
exaction of any kind imposed by a local government” except the following: (1) a charge imposed for a 
specific benefit conferred or privilege granted directly to the payor that is not provided to those not 
charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of conferring the benefit 
or granting the privilege; (2) a charge imposed for a specific government service or product provided 
directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable 
costs to the local government of providing the service or product; (3) a charge imposed for the reasonable 
regulatory costs to a local government for issuing licenses and permits, performing investigations, 
inspections, and audits, enforcing agricultural marketing orders, and the administrative enforcement and 
adjudication thereof; (4) a charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the 
purchase, rental, or lease of local government property; (5) A fine, penalty, or other monetary charge 
imposed by the judicial branch of government or a local government, as a result of a violation of law; (6) a 

188 of 567



-42- 

charge imposed as a condition of property development; and (7) assessments and property-related fees 
imposed in accordance with the provisions of Article XIIID. Proposition 26 provides that the local 
government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other 
exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the 
governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or 
reasonable relationship to the payor’s burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity. 

 
Article XIIID establishes procedural requirements for the imposition of assessments, which are 

defined as any charge upon real property for a special benefit conferred upon the real property. Standby 
charges are classified as assessments. Procedural requirements for assessments under Article XIIID 
include conducting a public hearing and mailed protest procedure, with notice to the record owner of each 
parcel subject to the assessment. The assessment may not be imposed if a majority of the ballots returned 
oppose the assessment, with each ballot weighted according to the proportional financial obligation of the 
affected parcel. 

 
Existing, new or increased assessments are subject to the procedural provisions of Proposition 

218. However, certain assessments existing on November 6, 2005, are classified as exempt from the 
procedures and approval process of Article XIIID. Expressly exempt assessments include (i) an 
assessment imposed exclusively to finance capital costs or Operation and Maintenance expenses for 
sewers, water, flood control and drainage systems, but subsequent increases are subject to the procedures 
and approval requirements; (ii) an assessment imposed pursuant to a petition signed by all affected 
landowners (but subsequent increases are subject to the procedural and approval requirements); (iii) 
assessments, the proceeds of which are used exclusively to pay bonded indebtedness, where failure to pay 
would violate the U.S. Constitution’s prohibition against the impairment of contracts; and (iv) any 
assessment which has previously received approval by a majority vote of the voters (but subsequent 
increases are subject to the procedural and approval requirements). 

 
On July 14, 2008, the California Supreme Court ruled in Silicon Valley Taxpayers Association, Inc. 

v. Santa Clara County Open Space City (the “SCCOSA Decision”) that the Santa Clara County Open 
Space City’s county-wide assessment which was designed to fund the acquisition and maintenance of 
unspecified open-space lands in the County was invalid under Proposition 218. The Court held that 
deference should not be accorded to local agencies when Proposition 218 legislative acts are challenged. 
Under Proposition 218, courts must make an independent review of whether the assessment and 
formation of an assessment district meet the “special benefit” and proportionality requirements of Article 
XIIID. Further, while an assessment will not be invalidated because it confers a benefit upon the public at 
large, the “special benefit” must affect the assessed property in a distinct and particular manner not 
shared by other parcels and the public at large. Specifically, in the SCCOSA Decision the assessment did 
not meet the requirements of a “special benefit” and the assessment was not proportional to the special 
benefits conferred. Finally, the Court held that the Santa Clara Open Space City did not meet the 
proportionality requirement of Article XIIID because it did not specifically identify the improvements to 
be financed by the assessment and failed to sufficiently connect any costs of and benefits received from the 
open space assessment to the specific assessed parcels. 

 
The District and the District’s counsel are of the opinion that current sewer fees and charges that 

are subject to Proposition 218 comply with the provisions thereof. The District and the District’s counsel 
are also of the opinion that current sewer capacity fees are not subject to Proposition 218. Should it 
become necessary to increase the sewer fees and charges above current levels, the District would be 
required to comply with the requirements of Article XIIID in connection with such proposed increase. To 

189 of 567



-43- 

date, there have been no legal challenges to sewer rate increases implemented by the District pursuant to 
Proposition 218 or otherwise. It is unclear whether under existing standards, rates and charges may be 
established at levels which would permit deposits to a Rate Stabilization Fund or maintenance of 
uncommitted cash reserves. 

 
The interpretation and application of Proposition 218 will ultimately be determined by the courts 

or through implementing legislation with respect to a number of the matters described above, and it is not 
possible at this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determination or the nature or scope of 
any such legislation. 

 
Limited Recourse on Default 

 
Failure by the Authority to pay debt service on the Bonds constitutes an event of default under the 

Indenture and the Trustee is permitted to pursue remedies at law or in equity to enforce the Authority’s 
obligation to make such payments. Failure by the District to make the Installment Payments constitutes an 
event of default under the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, 
is permitted to pursue remedies at law or in equity to enforce the District’s obligation to make such 
payments. Although the Trustee has the right to accelerate the total unpaid principal amount of the 
Bonds, there is no assurance that the District would have sufficient funds to pay the accelerated amounts. 

 
Limitations on Remedies 

 
The ability of the District to comply with its covenants under the Installment Purchase 

Agreement and to generate Net Revenues sufficient to make Installment Payments to pay principal of and 
interest on the Bonds may be adversely affected by actions and events outside of the control of the District 
and may be adversely affected by actions taken (or not taken) by voters, property owners, taxpayers or 
persons obligated to pay assessments, fees and charges. Furthermore, the remedies available to the owners 
of the Bonds upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Indenture are in many respects 
dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay and could prove both 
expensive and time consuming to obtain. 

 
In addition to the limitations on remedies contained in the Indenture, the rights and obligations 

under the Indenture may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent 
conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of 
equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal 
remedies against governmental entities in the State of California. The opinions to be delivered by Bond 
Counsel concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds will be subject to such limitations and the various 
other legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds will be similarly qualified. 
See APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. If the District fails to comply with its 
covenants in the Installment Purchase Agreement or fails to make Installment Payments to pay principal 
of and interest due on the Bonds, there can be no assurance of the availability of remedies adequate to 
protect the interest of the holders of the Bonds. 

 
Initiatives 

 
In recent years several initiative measures have been proposed or adopted which affect the ability 

of local governments to increase taxes and rates. There is no assurance that the electorate or the State 
legislature will not at some future time approve additional limitations which could affect the ability of the 

190 of 567



-44- 

District to implement rate increases which could reduce Net Revenues and adversely affect the security 
for the Bonds. 

 
Bankruptcy 

 
The rights and remedies provided in the Indenture may be limited by and are subject to the 

provisions of federal bankruptcy laws, to other laws or equitable principles that may affect the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to 
limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. The various opinions of 
counsel to be delivered with respect to the Bonds and the Indenture, including the opinion of Bond 
Counsel, will be similarly qualified. If the District were to file a petition under Chapter 9 of the 
Bankruptcy Code, the Owners of the Bonds and the District could be prohibited from taking any steps to 
enforce their rights under the Indenture. 

 
Tax Exemption  

 
The District has covenanted in the Installment Purchase Agreement that it will take all actions 

permitted by law and the Indenture to assure that interest paid on the Bonds is excluded from gross 
income for purposes of federal income taxes and that it will take no action that could result in such interest 
not being excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxes. Future actions or omissions of 
the District could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS.” 

 
Future Parity Obligations 

 
The Installment Purchase Agreement permits the District to issue Parity Obligations, under 

which its obligations would be secured by Gross Revenues and payable from Net Revenues on a parity 
with the payment of the Installment Payments. 

 
The coverage tests described in “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS—Limitations on Future 

Obligations Secured by Net Revenues” involve, to some extent, projections of Net Revenues. If Parity 
Obligations are issued, the debt service coverage for the Installment Payments could be diluted below 
what it otherwise would be. Moreover, there is no assurance that the assumptions that form the basis of 
such projections, if any, will be actually realized subsequent to the date of such projections. If such 
assumptions are not realized, the amount of future Net Revenues may be less than projected, and the 
actual amount of Net Revenues may be insufficient to provide for the payment of the Bonds and any 
future Parity Obligations. 
 
Secondary Market 

 
There can be no guarantee that there will be a secondary market for the Bonds or, if a secondary 

market exists, that any Bonds can be sold for any particular price. Occasionally, because of general market 
conditions or because of adverse history or economic prospects connected with a particular issue, 
secondary marketing practices in connection with a particular issue are suspended or terminated. 
Additionally, prices of issues for which a market is being made will depend upon then-prevailing 
circumstances. Such prices could be substantially different from the original purchase price. 

 

191 of 567



-45- 

Risks Related to Cyber Security 
 
The District faces various cyber security threats, including, but not limited to, hacking, viruses, 

malware, ransomware and other attacks on its computers and its networks. No assurance can be given that 
the District’s efforts to manage cyber threats and attacks will be successful in all cases, or that any such 
attack will not materially impact the operations or finances of the District to make timely payments on the 
Bonds. The District is also reliant on other entities and service providers. No assurance can be given that 
the District and these other entities will not be adversely affected by cyber threats and attacks in a manner 
that may affect owners of the Bonds. 

 
Climate Change 

 
The State has historically been susceptible to wildfires and hydrologic variability. As greenhouse 

gas emissions continue to accumulate in the atmosphere as a result of economic activity, climate change is 
expected to intensify, increasing the frequency, severity and timing of extreme weather events such as 
coastal storm surges, drought, wildfires, floods and heat waves and raising sea levels. The future fiscal 
impact of climate change on the District is difficult to predict but it could be significant and it could have a 
material adverse effect on the District’s finances by requiring greater expenditures to counteract the 
effects of climate change or by changing the business and activities of District customers. While the 
District has plans in place to mitigate the foreseeable effects of future climate change, no assurance can be 
given that such plans will be sufficient and future climate change could have unpredictable material 
adverse effects on the District’s finances. 

 
Pension Benefit Liability 

 
Many factors influence the amount of the District’s pension benefit liabilities, including, without 

limitation, inflationary factors, changes in statutory provisions of CalPERS retirement system laws, 
changes in the level of benefits provided or in the contribution rates of the District, increases or decreases 
in the number of covered employees, changes in actuarial assumptions or methods (including but not 
limited to the assumed rate of return), and differences between actual and anticipated investment 
experience of CalPERS. Any of these factors could give rise to additional liability of the District to its 
pension plans as a result of which the District would be obligated to make additional payments to its 
pension plans in order to fully fund the District’s obligations to its pension plans. It is expected that 
required contributions to CalPERS will go up in future years. 

 
 

INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS 
 

Moneys held by the District, including Wastewater System moneys, will be invested in 
accordance with the District’s adopted investment policies. See APPENDIX G—DISTRICT’S 
INVESTMENT POLICY. 

 
 

TAX MATTERS 
 

In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, 
California (“Bond Counsel”), under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest 
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item of tax 

192 of 567



-46- 

preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the 
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax. 

 
The difference between the issue price of a Bond (the first price at which a substantial amount of 

the Bonds of a maturity is to be sold to the public) and the stated redemption price at maturity with 
respect to the Bond (to the extent the redemption price at maturity is greater than the issue price) 
constitutes original issue discount. Original issue discount accrues under a constant yield method, and 
original issue discount will accrue to a Beneficial Owner before receipt of cash attributable to such 
excludable income. The amount of original issue discount deemed received by a Beneficial Owner will 
increase the Beneficial Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the amount 
of original issue discount that accrues to the Beneficial Owner of a Bond is excluded from gross income of 
such Beneficial Owner for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of 
the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the amount 
of original issue discount that accrues to the Beneficial Owner of a Bond is exempt from State of California 
personal income tax. 

 
Bond Counsel’s opinion as to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of 

interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is based upon certain representations of fact and 
certifications made by the Authority and the District and others and is subject to the condition that 
Authority and the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”), that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to assure that 
interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds will not become includable in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements of the Code might cause the interest (and 
original issue discount) on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority and the District will covenant to comply 
with all such requirements. 

 
The amount by which a Beneficial Owner’s original basis for determining loss on sale or exchange 

in the applicable Bond (generally, the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on maturity (or on an 
earlier call date) constitutes amortizable bond premium, which must be amortized under Section 171 of the 
Code; such amortizable bond premium reduces the Beneficial Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond (and 
the amount of tax-exempt interest received), and is not deductible for federal income tax purposes. The 
basis reduction as a result of the amortization of bond premium may result in a Beneficial Owner realizing 
a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the Beneficial Owner for an amount equal to or less (under certain 
circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the Beneficial Owner. Purchasers of the Bonds should 
consult their own tax advisors as to the treatment, computation and collateral consequences of 
amortizable bond premium. 

 
Bond Counsel’s opinions may be affected by actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring (or 

not occurring) after the date hereof. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine, or to inform any 
person, whether any such actions or events are taken or do occur. The Indenture and the Tax Certificate 
relating to the Bonds permit certain actions to be taken or to be omitted if a favorable opinion of a bond 
counsel is provided with respect thereto. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to the effect on the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest (or original issue discount) on any 
Bond if any such action is taken or omitted based upon the advice of counsel other than Bond Counsel. 

 

193 of 567



-47- 

Although Bond Counsel will render an opinion that interest (and original issue discount) on the 
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes provided that the Authority and the 
District continue to comply with certain requirements of the Code, the ownership of the Bonds and the 
accrual or receipt of interest (and original issue discount) with respect to the Bonds may otherwise affect 
the tax liability of certain persons. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such tax 
consequences. Accordingly, before purchasing any of the Bonds, all potential purchasers should consult 
their tax advisors with respect to collateral tax consequences relating to the Bonds. 

 
The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has initiated an expanded program for the auditing of 

tax-exempt bond issues, including both random and targeted audits. It is possible that the Bonds will be 
selected for audit by the IRS. It is also possible that the market value of the Bonds might be affected as a 
result of such an audit of the Bonds (or by an audit of similar bonds). No assurance can be given that in the 
course of an audit, as a result of an audit, or otherwise, Congress or the IRS might not change the Code (or 
interpretation thereof) subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to the extent that it adversely affects the 
exclusion from gross income of interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds or their market value. 

 
SUBSEQUENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS THERE MIGHT BE FEDERAL, 

STATE, OR LOCAL STATUTORY CHANGES (OR JUDICIAL OR REGULATORY CHANGES TO 
OR INTERPRETATIONS OF FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW) THAT AFFECT THE 
FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL TAX TREATMENT OF THE BONDS INCLUDING THE 
IMPOSITION OF ADDITIONAL FEDERAL INCOME OR STATE TAXES ON OWNERS OF TAX-
EXEMPT STATE OR LOCAL OBLIGATIONS, SUCH AS THE BONDS. THESE CHANGES 
COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE MARKET VALUE OR LIQUIDITY OF THE BONDS. NO 
ASSURANCE CAN BE GIVEN THAT SUBSEQUENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS 
STATUTORY CHANGES WILL NOT BE INTRODUCED OR ENACTED OR JUDICIAL OR 
REGULATORY INTERPRETATIONS WILL NOT OCCUR HAVING THE EFFECTS DESCRIBED 
ABOVE. BEFORE PURCHASING ANY OF THE BONDS, ALL POTENTIAL PURCHASERS 
SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING POSSIBLE STATUTORY CHANGES 
OR JUDICIAL OR REGULATORY CHANGES OR INTERPRETATIONS, AND THEIR 
COLLATERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES RELATING TO THE BONDS. 

 
A copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Bonds is attached 

hereto in APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. 
 
 

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS 
 

The validity of the Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to the approving opinion of 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California, Bond Counsel 
to the District. A complete copy of the proposed form of Bond Counsel opinion is contained in 
APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. Bond Counsel undertakes no responsibility 
for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Certain legal matters will also be 
passed upon for the District by Quint & Thimmig LLP, Larkspur, California, as Disclosure Counsel. 
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the District by Burke Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, 
California, for the Authority for by Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, 
and for the Underwriter by Kutak Rock LLP, Irvine, California. Payment of the fees and expenses of Bond 
Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, counsel to the Authority and counsel to the Underwriter is contingent upon issuance 
of the Bonds. 

194 of 567



-48- 

 
 

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 
 

The District has retained Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc. of Irvine, California, as its 
municipal advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”) in connection with the authorization, issuance and sale of 
the Bonds. The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an 
independent verification or assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the 
information contained in this Official Statement. 

 
The Municipal Advisor is an independent financial advisory firm and is not engaged in the 

business of underwriting, trading or distributing municipal securities or other public securities. The 
payment of the fees of the Municipal Advisor is contingent upon the authorization, issuance and sale of 
the Bonds. 

 
LITIGATION 

 
To the best knowledge of the District, there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law 

or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the 
District to restrain or enjoin the authorization, execution or delivery of the Bonds, or the pledge of the Net 
Revenues or the collection of the payments to be made pursuant to the Indenture, or in any way contesting 
or affecting validity of the Bonds, the Indenture or the agreement for the sale of the Bonds, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the transactions described in this Official Statement. 

 
 

RATINGS 
 
Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) and S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 

business (“S&P”), have assigned the ratings of “___” and “___,” respectively, to the Bonds. Such 
ratings reflects only the view of Fitch and S&P and any desired explanation of the significance of such 
rating should be obtained from Fitch and S&P. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the 
information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There 
is no assurance such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such ratings will not be 
revised downward or withdrawn entirely by Fitch and/or S&P if in the judgment of Fitch and/or S&P, 
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an 
adverse effect on the market price for the Bonds. 

 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

The District has covenanted for the benefit of owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds to 
provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Wastewater System by not later 
than nine months following the end of the District’s fiscal year (currently ending June 30) (the “Annual 
Report”), commencing with the report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and to provide notices of 
the occurrence of certain enumerated events. The Annual Report and the notices of enumerated events 
will be filed by the District with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through the Electronic 
Municipal Access (EMMA) System. The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual 
Report or the notices of enumerated events is summarized below under the caption APPENDIX C—

195 of 567



-49- 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE. These covenants have been made in order 
to assist the Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”). The District has no 
prior obligations to provide continuing disclosure information under the Rule. 

 
 

UNDERWRITING 
 

The Bonds are being purchased by RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) at a price of 
$__________ (consisting of $___________ aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, plus 
$__________ of net original issue premium, less $__________ of Underwriter’s discount). The 
Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers and others at prices different from the prices 
stated on the cover page of this Official Statement. The offering prices may be changed from time to time 
by the Underwriter. 

 
The initial public offering prices stated on the cover of this Official Statement may be changed 

from time to time by the Underwriter. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers 
(including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts), dealer banks, banks acting as agent and others 
at prices lower than said public offering prices. 

 
The Underwriter and its respective affiliates are full-service financial institutions engaged in 

various activities that may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, municipal 
advisory, brokerage, and asset management. In the ordinary course of business, the Underwriter and its 
respective affiliates may actively trade debt and, if applicable, equity securities (or related derivative 
securities) and provide financial instruments (which may include bank loans, credit support or interest 
rate swaps). The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may engage in transactions for their own 
accounts involving the securities and instruments made the subject of this securities offering or other 
offering of the District. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may make a market in credit default 
swaps with respect to municipal securities in the future. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may 
also communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and publish 
independent research views in respect of this securities offering or other offerings of the District. 

 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

So far as any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion, assumptions, 
projections, anticipated events or estimates, whether or not expressly stated, they are set forth as such and 
not as representations of fact, and actual results may differ substantially from those set forth herein. 
Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing is to 
be construed as a contract with the owners of the Bonds. 

 
The summaries of certain provisions of the Bonds, statutes and other documents or agreements 

referred to in this Official Statement do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to each of them 
for a complete statement of their provisions. Copies are available for review by making requests to the 
District. 

 
The Appendices are an integral part of this Official Statement and must be read together with all 

other parts of this Official Statement. The audited financial statements of the District, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, are contained in 

196 of 567



-50- 

APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018. 

 
The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been authorized by the Authority 

and the District. 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By    
 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. 

Executive Director 
 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT  
 
 
 
By    
 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. 

General Manager 

197 of 567



Appendix A 

APPENDIX A 
 

SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS 
 
 

[TO COME] 
 

198 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

199 of 567



Appendix B 
Page 1 

APPENDIX B 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH 

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

200 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

201 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 1 

APPENDIX C 
 

FORM OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
 

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and 
delivered by the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (the “District”) in connection with the issuance by the Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “Authority”) of its $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to an indenture of 
trust, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the 
“Indenture”), and a resolution adopted by the Board Directors of the Authority on January 27, 2020. The District 
covenants and agrees as follows: 

 
Section 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth above and, in the Indenture, which apply to 

any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section 1, the following 
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

 
“Annual Report” means any Annual Report provided by the District pursuant to, and as described in, 

Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 
“Annual Report Date” means March 31 after the end of the District’s fiscal year. 
 
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean, initially, ____________, or any successor Dissemination Agent 

designed in writing by the District and which has been filed with the then current Dissemination Agent a written 
acceptance of such designation. 

 
“Fiscal Year” means any twelve–month period beginning on July 1 in any year and extending to the next 

succeeding June 30, both dates inclusive, or any other twelve–month period selected and designated by the District 
as its official fiscal year period under a Certificate of the District filed with the Trustee. 

 
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated by the Securities 

and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for purposes of the Rule, or any other 
repository of disclosure information that may be designated by the Securities and Exchange Commission as such for 
purposes of the Rule in the future. 

 
“Official Statement” means the final official statement executed by the District in connection with the 

issuance of the Bonds. 
 
“Participating Underwriter” means the original underwriter of the Bonds. 
 
“Rule” means Rule 15c2–12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
“Significant Events” means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

202 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 2 

Section 2. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed and delivered 
by the District for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the 
Participating Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2– 12(b)(5). 

 
Section 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 
 
(a) The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than the Annual Report Date, 

commencing March 31, 2020, with the report for fiscal year 2018-19 provide to the MSRB, in an electronic format as 
prescribed by the MSRB, an Annual Report that is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure 
Certificate. The filing of the Official Statement with the MSRB shall satisfy the 2020 filing requirement. Not later 
than 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date, the District shall provide the Annual Report to the 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the District). If by 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date the 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the District) has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the Dissemination 
Agent shall contact the District to determine if the District is in compliance with the previous sentence. The Annual 
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package and may include by 
reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided that the audited 
financial statements of the District may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report, and later 
than the Annual Report Date, if not available by that date. If the District’s fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of 
such change in the same manner as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). The District shall provide a written 
certification with each Annual Report furnished to the Dissemination Agent to the effect that such Annual Report 
constitutes the Annual Report required to be furnished by the District hereunder. 

 
(b) If the District does not provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) an Annual Report by the 

Annual Report Date, the District in a timely manner shall provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) to 
the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, a notice in substantially the form attached as Exhibit 
A. 

 
(c) With respect to each Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall: 
 

(i) determine each year prior to the Annual Report Date the then–applicable rules and electronic 
format prescribed by the MSRB for the filing of annual continuing disclosure reports; and 

 
(ii) if the Dissemination Agent is other than the District, file a report with the District certifying 

that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate, and stating the date it was 
provided. 

 
Section 4. Content of Annual Reports. The District’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by 

reference the following: 
 
(a) The District’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. If the District’s audited financial statements are not available by the Annual Report Date, the 
Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained 
in the final Official Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual 
Report when they become available. 

 
 (b) Unless otherwise provided in the audited financial statements filed on or prior to the annual filing 

deadline for Annual Reports provided for in Section 3 above, financial information and operating data with respect to 
the District for preceding fiscal year, substantially similar to that provided in the Official Statement, as follows: 

 
(i) Revenues by User Category; 
(ii) Ten Largest Rate Payers; and 
(iii) Historical Debt Service Coverage.  

203 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 3 

 
(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under this Disclosure Certificate, 

the District shall provide such further material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the specifically 
required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. 

 
(d) Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, including 

official statements of debt issues of the District or related public entities, which are available to the public on the 
MSRB’s Internet web site or filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The District shall clearly identify 
each such other document so included by reference. 

 
Section 5. Reporting of Significant Events. 
 
(a) The District shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following Significant 

Events with respect to the Bonds: 
 

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
 
(ii) Non–payment related defaults, if material; 
 
(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
 (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
 
(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701–TEB) or other material notices or 
determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events affecting the tax status 
of the security; 

 
(vii) Modifications to rights of security holders, if material; 
 
(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
 
(ix) Defeasances; 
 
(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material; 
 
(xi) Rating changes; 
 
(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the District or other obligated person; 
 
(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the District or an 

obligated person, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the District or an obligated person 
(other than in the ordinary course of business), the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an 
action, or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its 
terms, if material; or 

 
(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 

material; 
 

204 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 4 

(xv) The incurrence of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial 
obligation of the District or other obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material; or 

 
(xvi) A default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar 

events under the terms of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, any of which reflect 
financial difficulties.  

 
 (b) Whenever the District obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Significant Event, the District shall, or 

shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the District) to, file a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB, in an 
electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after the 
occurrence of the Significant Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of Significant Events described in 
subsection (a)(viii) above need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the 
underlying event is given to holders of affected Bonds under the Indenture. 

 
(c) The District acknowledges that the events described in subparagraphs (a)(ii), (a)(vii), (a)(viii) (if the 

event is a bond call), (a)(x), (a)(xiii), (a)(xiv) and (a)(xv) of this Section 5 contain the qualifier “if material.” The 
District shall cause a notice to be filed as set forth in paragraph (b) above with respect to any such event only to the 
extent that the District determines the event’s occurrence is material for purposes of U.S. federal securities law. The 
District intends that the words used in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) and the definition of “financial obligation” to have 
the meanings ascribed thereto in SEC Release No. 34-83885 (November 8, 2018) and/or any further guidance or 
releases provided by the SEC. 

 
 (d) For purposes of this Disclosure Certificate, any event described in paragraph (a)(xii) above is 

considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for 
the District in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or 
federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 
business of the District, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials 
or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry 
of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority 
having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the District. 

 
Section 6. Identifying Information for Filings with the MSRB. All documents provided to the MSRB under 

this Disclosure Certificate shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 
 
Section 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The District’s obligations under this Disclosure Certificate 

shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. If such termination 
occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the District shall give notice of such termination in the same manner 
as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). 

 
Section 8. Dissemination Agent. The District may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination 

Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any 
Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. Any Dissemination Agent may 
resign by providing 30 days’ written notice to the District. 

 
Section 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the 

District may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, 
provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 

 
(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5(a), it may only be made in 

connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change 
in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted; 

 

205 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 5 

(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the opinion of nationally 
recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the 
Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in 
circumstances; and 

 
(c) the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the Bonds in the manner 

provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of holders, or (ii) does not, in the 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the holders or beneficial owners of 
the Bonds. 

 
If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is amended 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first annual financial information filed pursuant hereto containing the 
amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and 
the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

 
If an amendment is made to the undertaking specifying the accounting principles to be followed in preparing 

financial statements, the annual financial information for the year in which the change is made shall present a 
comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles 
and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative 
discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles 
on the presentation of the financial information, in order to provide information to investors to enable them to 
evaluate the ability of the District to meet its obligations. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall be 
quantitative. 

 
The Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any amendment increasing or affecting its 

duties or obligations hereunder. 
 
A notice of any amendment made pursuant to this Section 9 shall be filed in the same manner as for a 

Significant Event under Section 5(b). 
 
Section 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the 

District from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure 
Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice 
of occurrence of a Significant Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the 
District chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Significant Event in 
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the District shall have no obligation 
under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of 
occurrence of a Significant Event. 

 
Section 11. Default. If the District fails to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the 

Participating Underwriter or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may take such actions as may be necessary 
and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the District to comply 
with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed 
an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any 
failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance. 

 
Section 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. (a) Article VIII of the Indenture is 

hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Certificate as if this Disclosure Certificate were (solely for this purpose) 
contained in the Indenture. The Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections and limitations from 
liability afforded to the Trustee thereunder. The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically 
set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the District agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its 
officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which they may incur 
arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses 

206 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 6 

(including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the 
Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation 
to review any information provided to it by the District hereunder and shall not be deemed to be acting in any 
fiduciary capacity for the District, the Bond holders or any other party. The obligations of the District under this 
Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds. 

 
(b) The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the District for its services provided hereunder 

in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time, and shall be reimbursed for all expenses, legal 
fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of its duties hereunder. 

 
Section 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the District, the 

Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the owners and Beneficial Owners from time to time of the 
Bonds and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.  

 
Date: [Closing Date] 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
ACKNOWLEDGED: 
 
________________, as Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
  

207 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 7 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE TO EMMA OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Name of Issuer:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
 
Name of Obligor:  Union Sanitary District 
 
Name of Issue:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
 
Date of Issuance: [Closing Date] 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Obligor has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the 
above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, dated [Closing Date], furnished by the 
Obligor in connection with the Issue. The Obligor anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by 
_____________. 

 
Dated: ______________________ 

__________________, Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
cc: Trustee 
 
 

208 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

209 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 1 

APPENDIX D 
 

TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY 
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

 
 
The following information concerning the Tri-City Area and Alameda County is included only for the purpose of 

supplying general information regarding the community. The Bonds are not a debt of the cities of Fremont, Newark or Union 
City, the County, the State or any of its political subdivisions, and neither the cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City, the 
County, the State nor any of its political subdivisions is liable therefor. 

 
Although reasonable efforts have been made to include up-to-date information in this Appendix D, some of the 

information is not current due to delays in reporting of information by various sources. It should not be assumed that the 
trends indicated by the following data would continue beyond the specific periods reflected herein. 

 
Introduction 

 
The area consisting of the cities of Fremont, Newark (an enclave of Fremont), and Union City 

(formed from the communities of Alvarado and Decoto), is known as the Tri-City Area. 
 
The City of Fremont has a population of around 232,532. It is the fourth most populous city in 

the San Francisco Bay Area, and the largest suburb in the Tri-City Area. The City of Newark has a 
population of around 48,712 residents and is an enclave, surrounded by the city of Fremont. The City of 
Union City has over 74,916 residents. All of the Tri-City Area cities sit at the edge of Silicon Valley and 
shares in its economic pattern. 

 
Alameda County (the “County”) is located in the East San Francisco Bay Area of the State of 

California. The County seat is Oakland. The County was formed on March 25, 1853 from a large portion 
of Contra Costa County and a smaller portion of Santa Clara County. The County has a total area of 821 
square miles (2,130 km2), of which 739 square miles (1,910 km2) is land and 82 square miles (210 km2) 
(10.0%) is water. 

 
The San Francisco Bay borders the County on the west, and the city and county of San Francisco, 

California has a small land border with the city of Alameda due to land filling. The crest of the Berkeley 
Hills form part of the northeastern boundary, and reach into the center of the County. A coastal plain 
several miles wide lines the bay; it is home to Oakland and the most populous regions. Livermore Valley 
lies in the eastern part of the County. 

 

210 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 2 

Population 
 

The table below summarizes population of the Cities of the Tri-City Area, the County, and the 
State of California for the last five years. 
 

FREMONT, NEWARK, UNION CITY, ALAMEDA COUNTY, and CALIFORNIA 
Population 

 

Year 
City of 

Fremont 
City of 
Newark 

City of 
Union City 

Alameda  
County 

State of 
California 

2015 228,119 44,549 73,203 1,613,168 38,952,462 
2016 229,687 44,882 73,430 1,631,088 39,214,803 
2017 230,525 45,479 74,100 1,646,156 39,504,609 
2018 231,252 47,178 74,058 1,656,884 39,740,508 
2019 232,532 48,712 74,916 1,669,301 39,927,315 

    
Source: California Department of Finance, E-4 Population Estimate for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011-19, with 2010 

Census Benchmark. 
 

211 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 3 

Employment 
 

The following table summarizes historical employment and unemployment for the County, the 
State of California and the United States: 

 
ALAMEDA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, and UNITED STATES 

Civilian Labor Force, Employment, and Unemployment 
(Annual Averages) 

 
     Unemployment 

Year Area Labor Force Employment Unemployment Rate (1) 
2014 Alameda County 812,000 764,300 47,700 5.9% 

 California 18,811,400 17,397,100 1,414,300 7.5 
 United States 155,922,000 146,305,000 9,617,000 6.2 
      

2015 Alameda County 824,800 785,700 39,100 4.7 
 California 18,981,800 17,798,600 1,183,200 6.2 
 United States 157,130,000 148,834,000 8,296,000 5.3 
      

2016 Alameda County 837,900 802,400 35,500 4.2 
 California 19,102,700 18,065,000 1,037,700 5.4 
 United States 159,187,000 151,436,000 7,751,000 4.9 
      

2017 Alameda County 848,500 817,600 30,900 3.6 
 California 19,312,000 18,393,100 918,900 4.8 
 United States 160,320,000 153,337,000 6,982,000 4.4 
      

2018(2) Alameda County 848,200 822,800 25,400 3.0 
 California 19,398,200 18,582,800 815,400 4.2 
 United States 162,075,000 155,761,000 6,314,000 3.9 

    
Source: California Employment Development Department, Monthly Labor Force Data for Counties, Annual Average 2010-
2018, and US Department of Labor. 

(1) The unemployment rate is computed from unrounded data; therefore, it may differ from rates computed from rounded 
figures available in this table. 

(2) Latest available full-year data. 
 

212 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 4 

Major Employers 
 

The following table lists the top 10 employers within the County as of June 30, 2018. 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY 
Top 10 Employers 
as of June 30, 2018 

 
  % of 

Employer Employees Total  
Kaiser Permanente 2,305 4.21% 
Sutter Health 2,092 1.25 
Tesla 1,700 1.22 
Alameda County 1,602 1.17 
Safeway Inc. 1,600 1.15 
John Muir Health 850 0.79 
Chevron Corp. 750 0.64 
PG&E Corp. 700 0.62 
Wells Fargo Bank 600 0.62 
UPS 319 0.55 
   Total Top 10 99,925 12.21% 

    
Source: Alameda County fiscal year 2017-18 CAFR. 
 
Construction Activity 

 
The following table reflects the five-year history of building permit valuation for the County:  

 
ALAMEDA COUNTY 

Building Permits and Valuation 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

 
 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Permit Valuation:       

New Single-family  $ 400,498 $ 576,948 $ 791,891 $ 763,677 $ 689,529 
New Multi-family  392,331 456,361 497,341 1,307,093 1,431,985 
Res. Alterations/Additions  325,493 344,975 466,239 501,276 469,158 

Total Residential  1,118,323 1,378,285 1,755,471 2,572,048 2,590,673 
Total Nonresidential 1,026,771 1,146,437 1,332,034 1,587,834 1,762,395 

Total All Building  2,145,094 2,524,722 3,087,506 4,159,882 4,353,068 
      
New Dwelling Units:       

Single Family  1,076 1,671 2,348 2,175 1,867 
Multiple Family  2,048 3,370 3,171 6,889 6,540 

Total  3,124 5,041 5,519 9,064 8,407 
    
Source: Construction Industry Research Board: “Building Permit Summary.”  
Note:  Columns may not sum to totals due to independent rounding. 
 

213 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 5 

Median Household Income 
 
The following table summarizes the median household effective buying income for the Cities of 

the Tri-City Area, the County, the State of California and the nation for the past five years. 
 
UNION CITY, ALAMEDA COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND UNITED STATES 

Median Household Effective Buying Income 
 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Fremont $ 84,913 $ 88,392 $ 94,649 $ 101,688 $ 110,407 
Newark 73,560 76,872 81,833 87,798 92,618 
Union City 70,407 74,907 80,767 85,990 91,021 
Alameda County 64,030 67,631 73,633 79,446 84,835 
California 53,589 55,681 59,646 62,637 65,870 
United States 46,738 48,043 50,735 52,841 55,303 

 
    
Source: Nielsen, Inc. 

 

214 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

215 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 1 

APPENDIX E 
 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 
 
 

Upon issuance of the Bonds, Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Bond Counsel, 
proposes to render its final approving opinion in substantially the following form: 
 
 

[Closing Date] 
 
Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
 

Re: $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
 
Members of the Board of Directors: 
 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Union Sanitary District 
Financing Authority (the “Authority”), a joint exercise of powers agency organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of California, of $_________ aggregate principal amount of Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”), under and pursuant to the 
provisions relating to the joint exercise of powers found in Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code of the State of California, as amended (the “Government Code”) and Article 11 of 
Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, the “Act”), and under 
and pursuant to the Indenture of Trust (the “Indenture”), dated as of January 1, 2020 by and between the 
Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined 
herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. 

 
Our services as Bond Counsel were limited to a review of the legal proceedings required for the 

authorization and issuance of the Bonds. We have reviewed originals or copies identified to our 
satisfaction as being true copies of (i) the Indenture; (ii) the Installment Purchase Agreement (the 
“Installment Purchase Agreement”), dated as of January 1, 2020, between the Authority and the Union 
Sanitary District (the “District”); and (iii) certain other records of the Authority and the District. As to 
questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and other 
certifications of Authority and District officers and other officials of public agencies furnished to us 
without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigations. 

 
Based upon the foregoing and after the examination described above, and after examination of 

such questions of law as we have deemed relevant in the circumstances, but subject to the limitations set 
forth above, we are of the opinion that: 

 
1. The Authority has lawful authority under the Act to enter into the Indenture and the 

Installment Purchase Agreement, the Authority has duly authorized, executed and delivered the 
Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement and, assuming due authorization, execution and 
delivery by the respective other parties thereto, the Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement 
are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Authority enforceable in accordance with their terms. The 

216 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 2 

Indenture creates a valid pledge of the Authority Revenues, subject to the provisions thereof permitting 
the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein. 

 
2. The Authority has lawful authority to issue the Bonds and the Bonds have been duly and 

validly authorized and issued by the Authority in accordance with the Constitution and statutes of the 
State of California, including the Act and the Indenture. The Bonds constitute legal, valid and binding 
special obligations of the Authority enforceable in accordance with their terms. The Bonds are special 
obligations of the Authority payable solely from Authority Revenues and amounts on deposit in certain 
funds and accounts held under the Indenture. The Bonds are not an obligation of the State of California, 
any public agency thereof (other than the Authority) or any member of the Authority; and neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of California or any public agency thereof, any member 
of the Authority is pledged for the payment of the Bonds. 

 
3. Under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the 

accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants and requirements described 
herein, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an 
item of tax preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on 
individuals. 

 
4. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal income tax. 
 
5. The difference between the issue price of a Bond (the first price at which a substantial 

amount of the Bonds of a maturity are to be sold to the public) and the stated redemption price at maturity 
with respect to such Bond constitutes original issue discount. Original issue discount accrues under a 
constant yield method, and original issue discount will accrue to a Bond Owner before receipt of cash 
attributable to such excludable income. The amount of original issue discount deemed received by a Bond 
Owner will increase the Bond Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond. Original issue discount that accrues 
to the Bond Owner is excluded from the gross income of such owner for federal income tax purposes, is 
not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals 
and is exempt from State of California personal income tax. 

 
6. The amount by which a Bond owner’s original basis for determining loss on sale or 

exchange in the applicable Bond (generally, the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on maturity 
(or on an earlier call date) constitutes amortizable Bond premium, which must be amortized under Section 
171 of the Code; such amortizable Bond premium reduces the Bond owner’s basis in the applicable Bond 
(and the amount of tax-exempt interest received), and is not deductible for federal income tax purposes. 
The basis reduction as a result of the amortization of Bond premium may result in a Bond owner realizing 
a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the owner for an amount equal to or less (under certain 
circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the owner. 

 
The opinions expressed herein as to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes of interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is subject to the condition that the 
Authority and the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to assure that such 
interest (and original issue discount) will not become includable in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements of the Code might cause interest (and original issue 
discount) on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the 
date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority and the District have covenanted to comply with all such 
requirements. 

217 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 3 

 
The opinions expressed herein may be affected by actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring 

(or not occurring) after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, 
whether any such actions or events are taken or occur. The Indenture and the Tax Certificate permit 
certain actions to be taken or to be omitted if a favorable opinion of Bond Counsel is provided with respect 
thereto. No opinion is expressed herein as to the effect on the exclusion from gross income of interest on 
the Bonds (and original issue discount) for federal income tax purposes with respect to any Bond if any 
such action is taken or omitted based upon the opinion or advice of counsel other than ourselves. Other 
than expressly stated herein, we express no other opinion regarding tax consequences with respect to the 
Bonds. 

 
The opinions expressed herein are based upon our analysis and interpretation of existing laws, 

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such 
authorities. We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and the Bonds are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or transfer and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, to the 
application of equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought, to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. 

 
By delivering this letter, we are not expressing any opinion with respect to any indemnification, 

contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed to constitute a penalty), right of 
set-off, arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum, choice of venue, non-exclusivity of 
remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, nor are we expressing any opinion with respect to the state or quality of title to or 
interest in any assets described in or as subject to the lien of the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment 
Purchase Agreement or the accuracy or sufficiency of the description of such assets, or the remedies 
available to enforce liens on, any such assets.  

 
Our opinion is limited to matters governed by the laws of the State of California and federal law. 

We assume no responsibility with respect to the applicability or the effect of the laws of any other 
jurisdiction. 

 
We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official 

Statement (the “Official Statement”) relating to the Bonds or other offering material relating to the 
Bonds and expressly disclaim any duty to advise the owners of the Bonds with respect to matters 
contained in the Official Statement. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

218 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

219 of 567



Appendix F 
Page 1 

APPENDIX F 
 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 
 
 
The information in this Appendix F, concerning The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), 

and DTC’s book-entry system, has been furnished by DTC for use in official statements and the District takes no 
responsibility for the completeness or accuracy thereof. The District cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, DTC 
Participants or Indirect Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners (a) payments of principal of or interest on the 
Bonds, (b) certificates representing ownership interest in or other confirmation of ownership interest in the Bonds, or (c) 
redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as the registered owner of the Bonds, or that they will so 
do on a timely basis, or that DTC, DTC Participants or DTC Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this 
Appendix F. The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
current “Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC. Information Furnished 
by DTC Regarding its Book-Entry Only System  

 
1. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the 

Bonds (as used in this Appendix F, the “Securities”). The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security certificate will be issued for each maturity of the 
Securities, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the 
aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds $500 million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 
million of principal amount, and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any remaining principal 
amount of such issue.  

 
2. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 

New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of 
the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial 
Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, 
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s 
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct 
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement 
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is 
owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both 
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear 
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and 
www.dtc.org. 

 
3. Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which 

will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each 
Security (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial 
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, 
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their 
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. 
Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and 
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates 

220 of 567



Appendix F 
Page 2 

representing their ownership interests in Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the 
Securities is discontinued. 

 
4. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered 

in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such 
other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual 
Beneficial Owners of the Securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose 
accounts such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect 
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.  

 
5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants 

to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed 
by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to 
time. Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices 
of significant events with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed 
amendments to the Security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain that the 
nominee holding the Securities for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit the notices to Beneficial Owners. 
In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that 
copies of notices be provided directly to them.  

 
6. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being 

redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue 
to be redeemed.  

 
7. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the 

Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus 
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Securities 
are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).  

 
8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & 

Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit 
Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the District 
or the paying agent or bond trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s 
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary 
practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street 
name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the paying agent or bond 
trustee, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 
Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the District or the paying agent or 
bond trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants.  

 
9. DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by 

giving reasonable notice to the District or the paying agent or bond trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be printed and delivered.  

 
10. The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or 

a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.  
 
11. The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from 

sources that the District believes to be reliable, but the District takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 

221 of 567



Appendix G 
 

APPENDIX G 
 

DISTRICT’S INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

222 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

223 of 567



Appendix H 
 

APPENDIX H 
 

CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE 
 

224 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

225 of 567



 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA ITEM # 10 
 
TITLE: Presentation of Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement and Report by Executive 

Director Regarding Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (This is an 
Information Item) 

 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, Executive Director 
  
  
Previous Board Action 
 
On January 13, 2020, the Board approved a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (the “Joint 
Powers Agreement”) between the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) and the California 
Municipal Finance Authority (“CMFA”).   CMFA’s board has also approved the Joint Powers 
Agreement and the Joint Powers Agreement has now been signed by both parties.   The 
approval and execution of the Joint Powers Agreement established the Union Sanitary District 
Financing Authority (“USDFA”).   
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None 
 
Background 
 
Pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement, the members of the Board of Directors of the District 
shall be members the Board of Directors of the USDFA.   The President and Vice President of 
the Board of Directors of the District are the Chair and Vice Chair of the Board of the Directors 
of the USDFA, respectively.    
 

226 of 567



Agenda Item No. 10 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
In addition, pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement, the General Manager of the District is the 
Executive Director of the USDFA and the Business Services Work Group Manager/Chief 
Financial Officer, or such other position as may be designated by the General Manager, is the 
Treasurer of the Authority.    
 
Finally, in accordance with State law, the Joint Powers Agreement has been filed with the 
Secretary of State.   The USDFA is now authorized to assist the District in the financing of capital 
projects through the issuance of bonds and other obligations. 

227 of 567



 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 
TITLE: Consider Appointment of General Counsel of the Union Sanitary District 

Financing Authority (This is a Motion Item) 
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, Executive Director 
  
  
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
(“USDFA”) appoint the Districts General Counsel as general counsel to the USDFA. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None 
 
Background 
 
The Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (“USDFA”) has been established through the 
execution and delivery of a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (the “Joint Powers Agreement”) 
between the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) and the California Municipal Finance 
Authority.   
 
The Joint Powers Agreement authorizes the Board of Directors of the USDFA appoint general 
counsel to the Authority.   General counsel to the USDFA will draft and review documents and 
render legal opinions for the USDFA from time-to-time as needed by the USDFA.   
 
 

228 of 567



 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA ITEM # 12 
 
TITLE: Consider Adoption of the Union Sanitary District’s Conflict of Interest Code, 

Debt Management Policy and Investment Policy as such Codes and Policies of 
Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (This is a Motion Item) 

 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, Executive Director 
  
  
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
(“USDFA”) adopt the Conflict of Interest Code, Debt Management Policy and Investment Policy 
of the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) as such codes and policies of the USDFA.    
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None 
 
Background  
 
The USDFA has been established through the execution and delivery of a Joint Exercise of 
Powers Agreement (the “Joint Powers Agreement”) between the District and the California 
Municipal Finance Authority.   
 
The Joint Powers Agreement authorizes the Board of Directors of the USDFA to adopt a Conflict 
of Interest Code, Debt Management Policy and Investment Policy and further provides that 
such codes and policies may be the same as those of the District.      
 

229 of 567



Agenda Item No. 12 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
Given that: (i) the Board of Directors of the USDFA is comprised of the same members as the 
Board of Directors of the District; (ii) the officers of the USDFA are staff members of the District; 
and (iii) the USDFA was formed primarily to assist in the financing capital projects for the 
District, the adoption by the USDFA of the Conflict of Interest Code, Debt Management Policy 
and Investment Policy of the District would facilitate the administration of the USDFA.    
 
Passing of this motion will adopt the Conflict of Interest Code, Debt Management Policy and 
Investment Policy of the District as those of the USDFA.   

230 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA ITEM # 13 
 
TITLE: Consider Adoption of a Resolution of the Union Sanitary District Financing 

Authority to Authorize the Issuance of Not to Exceed $70,000,000 Aggregate 
Principal Amount of Revenue Bonds and Approving the Execution and Delivery 
of Certain Documents in Connection Therewith and Certain Other Matters 
(This is a Motion Item) 

 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, Executive Director 
  
  
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board of Directors of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority  adopt 
the attached resolution to authorize the issuance of not to exceed $70,000,000 Revenue Bonds 
by the Authority and authorizing the execution and delivery of certain documents and other 
actions in connection therewith. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
On December 9, 2019, the District’s Board adopted a resolution to authorize the District’s staff, 
legal counsel and the municipal advisor to prepare documents for the issuance of revenue bonds 
(the “Bonds”).  The Board also appointed Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth as Bond Counsel, Quint 
& Thimmig as Disclosure Counsel, Fieldman Rolapp & Associates as Municipal Advisor, and RBC 
as Underwriter for the transaction.  
 
On January 13, 2020, the Board adopted a resolution to approve a Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement with the California Municipal Finance Authority to create the USD Authority. The 
proposed Bonds will be issued by the USD Authority and the Bonds will be secured by payments 

231 of 567



USDFA Agenda Item No. 13 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
to be made by the District to the USD Authority pursuant to an installment purchase agreement 
in the form presented at this meeting. The terms of the Bonds will be governed by the Indenture 
of Trust in the form presented at this meeting. 
 
Background 
 
The Union Sanitary District’s (the “District”) staff has identified approximately $37 million in 
capital project funding needs as well as potential savings to be achieved through the refunding 
of the District’s outstanding State Revolving Fund Loans with the State Water Resources Control 
Board (the “State Loans”). If approved, the items presented at this meeting authorize the 
issuance of the Bonds by the USD Financing Authority (“USDFA”) and the execution of certain 
agreements and documents in connection therewith to assist the District in the financing of such 
capital projects and refunding of the State Loans.  Based on current market conditions, the 
refunding is estimated to save the District approximately $1.8 million in net present value savings 
(or approximately 4.96% of the refunded amount).  
 
USDFA Resolution 
 
The resolution presented for adoption by the Board of Directors of the USDFA authorizes the 
issuance of the Bonds and authorizes staff to finalize and execute, as applicable, the following 
documents: 
 

1. Installment Purchase Agreement between the District and the USDFA which establishes 
the specific terms and conditions under which Wastewater Revenues are pledged to pay 
the installment payments securing the Bonds.  The Installment Purchase Agreement 
contains certain financial covenants of the District to provide security for the funds to be 
applied to repay the Bonds (i.e. setting rates and charges and conditions required in order 
to incur additional debt). 
 

2. Indenture of Trust between the USDFA and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, 
which sets forth the terms of the Bonds including principal amounts, interest rates and 
redemption provisions. 
 

3. Bond Purchase Agreement pursuant to which RCB Capital Markets, as underwriter, agrees 
to purchase all of the Bonds for resale to investors, subject to certain closing conditions.  
 

4. The Preliminary Official Statement (excluding the portion thereof relating to the District’s 
finances and operations, which are separately approved by the District) setting forth 
material information relating to the Bonds be provided to potential investors of the 
Bonds. 

 

232 of 567



USDFA Agenda Item No. 13 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
Good Faith Estimates 
 
Set forth below are good faith estimates of Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc., the Municipal 
Advisor, as required under Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code (the “Code”). The 
following estimates have no bearing on, and should not be misconstrued as, any not-to-exceed 
financial parameters authorized by resolution presented. 
 

(a) The true interest cost of the Bonds is estimated at 2.59%, calculated as provided in Section 
5852.1(a)(1)(A) of the Code. 

(b) The finance charge of the Bonds, including all fees and charges paid to third parties, is 
estimated at $469,202. 

(c) Proceeds of the Bonds to be received by the District from the sale of the Bonds, including 
the estimated principal amount of the proposed Bonds of $62,575,000, plus the proposed 
premium of $10,985,407 and the District payment of $1,117,770 for interest accrued on 
the existing loans, less the finance charges set forth in (b) above, is equal to $74,208,975. 

(d) The total payment amount of the Bonds calculated as provided in Section 5852.1(a)(1)(D) 
of the Code is estimated at $100,108,192. 

The foregoing are estimates and the final costs will depend on market conditions and can be 
expected to vary from the estimated amounts set forth above. 
 
The resolutions being presented at this meeting approve the execution and delivery of the 
proposed bonds and authorize staff and the finance team to execute certain actions in 
connection therewith. 
 
Attachments: 
USDFA Resolution 
Installment Purchase Agreement 
Indenture of Trust 
Bond Purchase Agreement 
Preliminary Official Statement  
 
 
 
 
 
 

233 of 567



Page 1 of 3 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

RESOLUTION NO. __ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF UNION 
SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING THE 
ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $70,000,000 AGGREGATE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF REVENUE BONDS AND APPROVING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH AND CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS 

WHEREAS, the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “USDFA”), a public entity 
duly organized and existing under a joint exercise of powers agreement and under the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California (the “State”), has the powers, among others, to 
issue bonds and to finance and refinance facilities on behalf of its members; and 

WHEREAS, the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), a sanitary district duly organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State, and a member of the USDFA, proposes 
to finance the acquisition and construction of certain District facilities (the “2020A Project”) and 
refinance the acquisition and construction of certain District facilities (the “Refunding Project”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the USDFA (the “Board”) has determined that it is 
desirable to issue one or more series of revenue bonds (the “2020A Bonds”) to assist the 
District in financing the 2020A Project and refinancing the Refunding Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the USDFA to enter 
into an installment purchase agreement with the District in connection therewith, and to 
approve certain other documents; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UNION 
SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Findings.  The Board of Directors hereby specifically finds and declares 
that the actions authorized hereby constitute and are with respect to public affairs of the 
USDFA and that the statements, findings and determinations set forth above and in the 
preambles of the documents approved herein are true and correct. 

SECTION 2. Indenture of Trust.  The proposed form of the Indenture of Trust, as 
made available to the Board of Directors, is hereby approved.  The Chair and the Vice Chair of 
the Board and the Executive Director of the USDFA or the designee thereof (each an 
“Authorized Officer”) are each hereby individually authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver the Indenture of Trust with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be 
recommended by the USDFA General Counsel or Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a 

234 of 567



Page 2 of 3 
 

Professional Corporation, as Bond Counsel (“Bond Counsel”), and approved by the Authorized 
Officer executing the same, said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 3. Installment Purchase Agreement.  The proposed form of the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, as made available to the Board of Directors, is hereby approved.  Any 
Authorized Officer is authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Installment Purchase 
Agreement with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be recommended by USDFA 
General Counsel or Bond Counsel, and approved by the Authorized Officer executing the same, 
said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 4. Bond Purchase Agreement.  The proposed form of the Bond Purchase 
Agreement, as made available to the Board of Directors, is hereby approved.  Any Authorized 
Officer is authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Bond Purchase Agreement with 
such changes, insertions and omissions as may be recommended by USDFA General Counsel or 
Bond Counsel, and approved by the Authorized Officer executing the same, said execution 
being conclusive evidence of such approval;  provided, however, that in no event shall the 
aggregate principal amount of the 2020A Bonds exceed $70,000,000, nor shall the underwriting 
discount for the 2020A Bonds exceed 0.325% of the principal amount of the 2020A Bonds, nor 
shall the true interest cost of the 2020A Bonds exceed 4.00% per annum.   

SECTION 5. Preliminary Official Statement.  The preparation and distribution of the 
Preliminary Official Statement relating to the 2020A Bonds (excepting therefrom the 
information under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF 
DISTRICT FUNDS” and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in Appendices B, D, G and H thereto, the 
“Preliminary Official Statement”) in the form as made available to the Board of Directors is 
hereby approved.  Any Authorized Officer is authorized individually to sign a certificate 
pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”) 
relating to the Preliminary Official Statement.  Any Authorized Officer is authorized and 
directed to execute, approve and deliver the Official Statement in the form of the Preliminary 
Official Statement, with such changes, insertions and omissions as are consistent with this 
Resolution and which may be recommended by USDFA General Counsel or Bond Counsel, in 
accordance with the Rule, and approved by such Authorized Officer executing the same, said 
execution being conclusive evidence of such approval.   

SECTION 6. 2020A Bonds.  The Board hereby authorizes the sale issuance of the 
2020A  Bonds in an amount not to exceed $70,000,000. 

SECTION 7. Trustee.  U.S. Bank National Association, is hereby appointed to act as 
trustee under the Indenture of Trust. 

SECTION 8. Good Faith Estimate of Costs.  The Board acknowledges that the good 
faith estimates required by Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code are disclosed in 
the staff report and are available to the public at the meeting at which this Resolution is 
approved. 

235 of 567



Page 3 of 3 
 

SECTION 9. Bond Counsel.  Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional 
Corporation, is hereby appointed to act as Bond Counsel to the USDFA in accordance with the 
terms of the engagement letter on file with the Secretary. 

SECTION 10. Debt Management Policy. The Board hereby finds that the proposed 
financing of the 2020A Project and the Refunding Project are consistent with the USDFA’s Debt 
Management Policy (being District Policy No. 2060) (the “Policy”) and, to the extent that such 
proposed financing and Refunding Project are inconsistent with any provisions of the Policy, 
such provisions of the Policy are hereby waived.   

SECTION 11. Other Actions.  Each Authorized Officer and the Treasurer of the USDFA 
or the designee thereof and any other proper officers of the USDFA, acting singly, are each 
authorized and directed to do any and all things and to execute and deliver any and all 
documents and certificates which such officers may deem necessary or advisable in order to 
consummate the sale, execution and delivery of the 2020A Bonds, the delivery of the Indenture 
of Trust, the Installment Purchase Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the final Official Statement and otherwise effectuate the purposes of 
this Resolution, and such actions previously taken by such officers are hereby ratified and 
confirmed. 

SECTION 12. Effect.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 

SECTION 13. Recitals.  Each of the foregoing recitals are true and correct.   

ON A MOTION by Director ____________, and seconded by Director 
____________, the foregoing resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of 
the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority this 27th day of January, 2020, by the following 
vote, to wit: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

Chair of the Board of Directors 

______________________________ 
Secretary of the Board of Directors 

236 of 567



 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

and 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

Dated as of January 1, 2020 

Relating to 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 

 
 

237 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

i 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions ................................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations by the District ............................................................................. 10 
Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA .................................................... 10 

ARTICLE III 
THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT 

Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project ................................................. 11 
Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project .................................................................................. 11 
Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA ................................................................ 11 
Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project ............................................ 12 
Section 3.05. Title ........................................................................................................................ 12 
Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund .................................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE IV 
INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purchase Price ........................................................................................................ 13 
Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments ......................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE V 
SECURITY 

Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues ...................................................................................... 13 
Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues ................................................................................ 14 
Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds ............................................................................ 15 
Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt ................................................................................................... 15 
Section 5.05. Investments ............................................................................................................ 16 
Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve................................................................................................ 16 

ARTICLE VI 
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary 
Agreements ............................................................................................................ 17 

Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances ........................................................................................... 17 
Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property ....................................................... 17 
Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities ................................................................................ 18 
Section 6.05. Tax Covenants ........................................................................................................ 18 
Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction .................................................................... 19 
Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System ...................................... 19 
Section 6.08. Payment of Claims ................................................................................................. 19 

238 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

ii 
 

Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts .................................................................................... 19 
Section 6.10. Insurance ................................................................................................................ 19 
Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports ............................. 20 
Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA .................................................... 20 
Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations .................... 20 
Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges ............................................................................... 21 
Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges ............................................................................ 21 
Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds ..................................................................................... 21 
Section 6.17. Further Assurances ................................................................................................ 22 
Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts ...................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.01. Prepayment ............................................................................................................ 22 
Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment ......................................................................................... 23 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities ................................................. 23 
Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration ............................................................... 24 
Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA ............................................................................... 24 
Section 8.04. Non-Waiver ............................................................................................................ 25 
Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive ......................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE IX 
DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations ........................................................................................ 25 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.01. Liability Limited ...................................................................................................... 26 
Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties ........................... 26 
Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor .......................... 26 
Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability ................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References ......................................... 27 
Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity ..................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.07. Assignment ............................................................................................................. 27 
Section 10.08. Net Contract ........................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.09. California Law ......................................................................................................... 27 
Section 10.10. Notices ................................................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.11. Effective Date ......................................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts ..................................................................................... 28 
Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA ...................................................................................... 28 

239 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

iii 
 

Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted ........................................................................................ 28 
 
Signatures ............................................................................................................................... S-1 
Exhibit A Description of the 2020 Project ........................................................................... A-1 
Exhibit B Refunded Obligations and Refunding Project ....................................................... B-1 
Exhibit C Purchase Price ....................................................................................................... C-1 
Exhibit D Form of Substitution Statement........................................................................... D-1 
Exhibit E Form of Requisition from Acquisition Fund .......................................................... E-1 

240 of 567



 

 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2020, is entered into by 
and between UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “District”), and UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “USDFA”). 

RECITALS 

A. The District proposes to finance the acquisition and construction of certain 
improvements, betterments, renovations and expansions of facilities within its Wastewater System, 
as described in Exhibit A (the “2020 Project”) and refinance the acquisition and construction of 
certain improvements, betterments, renovations and expansions of facilities within its Wastewater 
System as described in Exhibit B (the “Refunding Project”). 

B. The USDFA has agreed to assist the District in financing the 2020 Project and 
refinancing the Refunding Project on the terms and conditions that are set forth herein. 

C. The USDFA is authorized by Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government 
Code of the State of California, including but not limited to Section 6540 et seq., to finance and 
refinance the acquisition and construction of property for its members. 

D. The District is authorized by Division 6 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of 
California, including but not limited to Article 3 of Chapter 1 thereof, to acquire and construct 
facilities for its Wastewater System. 

E. The District is authorized by Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government 
Code of the State of California to refinance outstanding bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness. 

F. The District and the USDFA have duly authorized the execution of this Installment 
Purchase Agreement. 

G. All acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, to have happened and to 
have been performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and delivery of this 
Installment Purchase Agreement do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and 
due time, form and manner as required by law, and the parties hereto are now duly authorized to 
execute and enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THESE PREMISES AND OF THE MUTUAL 
AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS CONTAINED HEREIN AND FOR OTHER VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, 
THE PARTIES HERETO DO HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

241 of 567



 

2 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are 
defined in this section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement 
hereto and of any report or other document that is mentioned herein or therein have the meanings 
that are defined herein, the following definitions to be equally applicable to both the singular and 
plural forms of any of the terms that are defined herein.  All capitalized terms that are used herein 
and not defined herein shall have the meanings that are ascribed thereto in the Indenture. 

Accountant’s Report 

The term “Accountant’s Report” means a report signed by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant. 

Acquisition Fund 

The term “Acquisition Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to Section 
3.06. 

Bonds 

The term “Bonds” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District that are authorized, 
executed, issued and delivered by the District, the payments of which are payable from Net 
Revenues on a parity with the Series 2020 Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge 
of and lien on Gross Revenues as described in Section 5.01 hereof. 

Contracts 

The term “Contracts” means all contracts of the District previously or hereafter authorized 
and executed by the District, the payments under which are payable from Net Revenues on a parity 
with the Series 2020 Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge and lien on Gross 
Revenues as described in Section 5.01 hereof; and excluding contracts entered into for operation 
and maintenance of the Wastewater System. 

Date of Operation 

The term “Date of Operation” means, with respect to any uncompleted Project, the 
estimated date by which such Project will have been completed and, in the opinion of an engineer, 
will be ready for commercial operation by or on behalf of the District. 

Debt Service 

The term “Debt Service” means, for any period of calculation, the sum of: 

(i) the interest accruing during such period on all outstanding Bonds, assuming that all 
outstanding serial Bonds are retired as scheduled and that all outstanding term Bonds are 

242 of 567



 

3 

redeemed or paid from sinking fund payments as scheduled (except to the extent that such interest 
is capitalized or is reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of 
America pursuant to Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 
17, 2009)), or any future similar program); 

(ii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding serial Bonds maturing in 
such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); 

(iii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding term Bonds required to be 
paid in such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); and 

(iv) those portions of the Contracts that are required to be paid during such period, 
(except to the extent that the interest that is evidenced and represented thereby is capitalized or is 
reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of America pursuant to 
Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 17, 2009)), or 
any future similar program and excluding Excluded Principal); 

but less the earnings to be derived from the investment of moneys on deposit in debt service 
reserve funds established for Bonds or Contracts; 

provided that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts bearing or comprising interest at other than a 
fixed rate, the rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall, for all purposes, be assumed to 
be a fixed rate equal to the higher of: (1) the then current variable interest rate borne by such 
Bonds or Contract plus 1%; and (2) the highest variable rate borne over the preceding 3 months by 
outstanding variable rate debt issued by the District or, if no such variable rate debt is at the time 
outstanding, by variable rate debt of which the interest rate is computed by reference to an index 
that is comparable to that to be utilized in determining the interest rate for the debt then proposed 
to be issued;  

provided further that if any series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts have twenty-five percent 
(25%) or more of the aggregate principal amount of such series or issue due in any one year (and 
such principal is not Excluded Principal), Debt Service shall be determined for the period of 
determination as if the principal of and interest on such series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts 
were being paid from the date of incurrence thereof in substantially equal annual amounts over a 
period of twenty-five (25) years from the date of calculation; and 

provided further that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts or portions thereof which bear no interest 
but which are sold at a discount and which discount accretes with respect to such Bonds or 
Contracts or portions thereof, such accreted discount shall be treated as interest in the calculation 
of Debt Service; and  

provided further that if the Bonds or Contracts constitute interest rate swap agreements or other 
paired obligations, the interest rate on such Bonds or Contracts shall be the resulting linked rate or 
the effective fixed interest rate to be paid by the District with respect to such paired obligations; 
and 

243 of 567



 

4 

provided further that the amount on deposit in a debt service reserve fund on any date of 
calculation of Debt Service shall be deducted from the amount of principal due at the final maturity 
of the Bonds and Contracts for which such debt service reserve fund was established and, to the 
extent that the amount in such debt service reserve fund is in excess of such amount of principal, 
such excess shall be applied to the full amount of principal due, in each preceding year, in 
descending order, until such amount is exhausted. 

District 

The term “District” means Union Sanitary District, a sanitary district that is duly organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California. 

EBDA 

The term “EBDA” means the East Bay Dischargers Authority, a joint exercise of powers 
agency created pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement. 

EBDA Joint Powers Agreement 

The term “EBDA Joint Powers Agreement” means the East Bay Dischargers Authority 
Amended and Restated Joint Powers Agreement, dated December [13], 2020, among the parties 
listed therein, as amended and supplemented from time-to-time in accordance with the terms 
thereof. 

Event of Default 

The term “Event of Default” means an event that is described in Section 8.01. 

Excluded Principal 

The term “Excluded Principal” means each payment of principal of any Bond or Contract for 
which there is on file with the Trustee (i) a certificate of an Independent Municipal Consultant to 
the effect that such Bond or Contract is commercial paper or otherwise of a short term or revolving 
nature and has a maturity of less than 60 months and (ii) a certificate of an Authorized 
Representative to the effect that the District intends to pay such principal from the proceeds of 
Bonds or Contracts or other bonds, notes or other obligations of the District.  No such 
determination shall affect the security for such Bonds or Contracts or the obligation of the District 
to pay such Bonds or Contracts from Net Revenues. 

Fiscal Year 

The term “Fiscal Year” means: the period from July 1 of each year through June 30 of the 
following year, or any other twelve-month period that is selected and designated as the official 
Fiscal Year of the District. 

244 of 567



 

5 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

The term “Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” means the uniform accounting and 
reporting procedures set forth in publications of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants or its successor, or by any other generally accepted authority on such procedures, and 
includes, as applicable, the standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board or 
its successor. 

 

Gross Revenues 

The term “Gross Revenues” means all income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other moneys 
derived from the ownership or operation of the Wastewater System, including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing: 

(i) rates and charges collected by the District on the Alameda County, California 
tax roll in accordance with Section 5473 et.seq. of the Health and Safety Code (or any successor 
provisions thereto); 

(ii) all other income, rents, rates, fees, charges or other moneys derived by the 
District through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Wastewater 
System; 

(iii) the proceeds of any stand-by or availability charges, development fees and 
connection charges collected by the District; and 

(iv) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of amounts 
described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above and from District reserves;  

but excluding: 

(1) customers’ deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to 
refund until such deposits or advances have become the property of the District;  

(2) any proceeds of taxes or assessments which are restricted by law to 
be used by the District to pay bonds or other obligations heretofore or hereafter issued; and  

(3) gain or loss on the sale of any capital assets as permitted hereby. 

“Gross Revenues” also include all amounts transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 
Revenue Fund in accordance with Section 5.06.  “Gross Revenues” do not include any amounts 
transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve during any Fiscal Year in accordance 
with Section 5.02(c). 

Indenture 

245 of 567



 

6 

The term “Indenture” means the Indenture of Trust, dated as of the date hereof, by and 
between the USDFA and the Trustee, relating to the 2020 Bonds, as originally executed and as it 
may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance therewith.. 

Independent Certified Public Accountant 

The term “Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any firm of certified public 
accountants that is appointed by the District, and each of whom is independent pursuant to the 
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

Independent Municipal Consultant 

The term “Independent Municipal Consultant” means a municipal advisor or firm of such 
municipal advisors appointed by the District, and who, or each of whom: (1) is in fact independent 
and not under domination of the District; (2) does not have any substantial interest, direct or 
indirect, with the District; (3) is not connected with the District as an officer or employee thereof, 
but who may be regularly retained to make reports thereto; and (4) is registered as a “municipal 
advisor,” as defined in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Installment Payment Date  

The term “Installment Payment Date” means any date on which Installment Payments are 
scheduled to be paid by the District under and pursuant to any Contract.   

Installment Payments  

The term “Installment Payments” means the Installment Payments of interest and principal 
scheduled to be paid by the District under and pursuant to the Contracts.   

Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “Installment Purchase Agreement” means this Installment Purchase Agreement, 
by and between the District and the USDFA, dated as of January 1, 2020, as originally executed and 
as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance herewith. 

JPA Agreement 

The term “JPA Agreement” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated January 
13, 2020, by and between the District and California Municipal Finance Authority, pursuant to which 
the USDFA is established, as such JPA Agreement may be amended and supplemented from time-
to-time on accordance therewith. 

Law 

The term “Law” means the Sanitary District Act of 1923, of the State of California (being 
Division 6 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California, as amended) and all laws 
amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto, including but not limited to Chapter 5 of Division 7 of 
Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California. 

246 of 567



 

7 

Manager 

The term “Manager” means the General Manager/Chief Executive Officer of the District, or 
any other person that is designated by the General Manager to act on behalf of the General 
Manager. 

Net Proceeds 

The term “Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any casualty insurance or 
condemnation award, the proceeds from such insurance or condemnation award remaining after 
payment of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

Net Revenues 

The term “Net Revenues” means, for any Fiscal Year, the Gross Revenues for such Fiscal 
Year less the Operation and Maintenance Costs for such Fiscal Year.  When held by the Trustee in 
any funds or accounts established hereunder, Net Revenues shall include all interest or gain derived 
from the investment of amounts in any of such funds or accounts. 

Operation and Maintenance Costs 

The term “Operation and Maintenance Costs” means: (i) costs spent or incurred for 
maintenance and operation of the Wastewater System calculated in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles, including (among other things) the reasonable expenses of 
management and repair and other expenses that are necessary to maintain and preserve the 
Wastewater System in good repair and working order, and including administrative costs of the 
District that are charged directly or apportioned to the Wastewater System, including but not 
limited to salaries and wages of employees, payments to the Public Employees Retirement System, 
overhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, attorneys or engineers and 
insurance premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of the District or 
charges (other than debt service payments) required to be paid by it to comply with the terms of 
the Installment Purchase Agreement or of the Indenture or any Contract or of any resolution or 
indenture authorizing the issuance of any Bonds or of such Bonds; and (ii) costs allocable to the 
District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement which constitutes maintenance and operation 
costs of the EBDA calculated on accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles; but 
excluding in all cases (x) depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor 
and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, (y) all capital 
charges, and (z) all amounts allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement for 
capital costs thereof, including principal and interest on any bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness of EBDA. 

247 of 567



 

8 

Parity Debt Reserve 

The term “Parity Debt Reserve” means the fund by that name that is established pursuant 
to Section 5.06. 

Project 

The term “Project” means additions, betterments, extensions or improvements to the 
District’s facilities designated by the Board of Directors of the District as a Project, the acquisition 
and construction of which is to be paid for by the proceeds of any Contracts or Bonds.   

Purchase Price 

The term “Purchase Price” means the principal amount plus interest thereon owed by the 
District to the USDFA under the terms hereof as provided in Section 4.01. 

Refunded Obligations 

The term “Refunded Obligations” means the loans from the SWRCB described in Exhibit B 
hereto. 

Refunding Project 

The term “Refunding Project” means the facilities described in Exhibit B hereto. 

Revenue Fund 

The term “Revenue Fund” means the fund by that name that is established pursuant to 
Section 5.02.   

Series 2020 Installment Payment Date 

The term “Series 2020 Installment Payment Date” means August 31, 2020 and the last day 
of each February and the last day of each August thereafter. 

Series 2020 Installment Payments  

The term “Series 2020 Installment Payments” means the Installment Payments scheduled to 
be paid by the District under and pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

SWRCB 

The term “SWRCB” means the California State Water Resources Control Board. 

Subordinate Debt 

248 of 567



 

9 

The term “Subordinate Debt” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District the payments 
on which are payable subordinate to Debt Service and all contracts of the District the payments 
under which are payable subordinate to Debt Service as set forth in Section 5.04(c) hereof. 

Subordinate Debt Service 

The term “Subordinate Debt Service” means debt service on Subordinate Debt calculated in 
accordance with the definition of Debt Service with respect to Contracts and Bonds. 

Treasurer 

The term “Treasurer” means the Business Service Group Manager/Chief Financial Officer of 
the District or the successor thereto. 

Trustee 

The term “Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity as Trustee 
under and pursuant to the Indenture, and its successors and assigns. 

USDFA 

The term “USDFA” means Union Sanitary District Financing Authority, a joint exercise of 
powers agency that is duly organized pursuant to the JPA Agreement and existing under and by 
virtue of the laws of the State of California. 

 

Wastewater Service 

The term “Wastewater Service” means the wastewater collection, conveyance, treatment 
and disposal service that is made available or provided by the Wastewater System including but not 
limited to recycled water service. 

Wastewater System 

The term “Wastewater System” means the whole and each and every part of the 
wastewater collection, conveyance, treatment and disposal system of the District, including all real 
property and buildings, including the portion thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all 
additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to such wastewater system or any part 
thereof hereafter acquired or constructed, including recycled water facilities of the District and the 
District’s interest in the facilities of the EBDA pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement and 
related agreements. 

2020 Project 

The term “2020 Project” means the additions, betterments, extensions and improvements 
to the District’s Wastewater System facilities, including real property and buildings, if any, which are 
described as such in Exhibit A, to the extent: (i) approved pursuant to the California Environmental 

249 of 567



 

10 

Quality Act; and (ii) paid for with the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds, and as modified in conformance 
with Section 3.02 hereof. 

2020 Bonds 

The term “2020 Bonds” means the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2020A, issued pursuant to the Indenture. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations by the District.  The District makes the following 
representations: 

(a) The District is a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under and 
pursuant to the laws of the State of California. 

(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment 
Purchase Agreement, carry out its obligations hereunder and carry out and consummate all other 
transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Agreement, and the District has 
complied with the provisions of the Law in all matters relating to such transactions. 

(c) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due 
performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement. 

(d) The District will not take or, to the extent within its power, permit any action to be 
taken which results in the interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and 
the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in 
the gross income of the USDFA or its assigns for purposes of federal or State of California personal 
income taxation. 

(e) The District has determined that it is necessary and proper for District uses and 
purposes within the terms of the Law that the District finance and acquire the 2020 Project and 
refinance the Refunding Project in the manner that is provided for in this Installment Purchase 
Agreement in order to provide essential services and facilities to persons residing in the District. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA.  The USDFA makes the 
following representations and warranties: 

(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized under the JPA 
Agreement and in good standing under the laws of the State of California, has full legal right, power 
and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement and to carry out and consummate 
all transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Agreement and by proper action 
has duly authorized the execution and delivery and due performance of this Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

250 of 567



 

11 

(b) The execution and delivery of this Installment Purchase Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions herein contemplated will not violate any provision of law, any 
order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, material agreement or other 
instrument to which the USDFA is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is 
bound, or be in conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default (with due notice or the 
passage of time or both) under any such indenture, agreement or other instrument, or result in the 
creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever 
upon any of the properties or assets of the USDFA. 

(c) The USDFA will not take or permit any action to be taken which results in interest 
that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the 
terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in the gross income of the USDFA or 
its assigns for purposes of federal or State of California personal income taxation. 

ARTICLE III 
 

THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT 

Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project.  The USDFA hereby agrees 
to cause the 2020 Project and any additions or modifications thereto to be constructed, acquired 
and installed by the District as its agent.  The District shall enter into contracts and provide for, as 
agent for the USDFA, the complete design, construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 
Project in accordance with all applicable laws.  The District hereby agrees that it will cause the 
construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 Project to be diligently performed after the 
deposit of funds into the Acquisition Fund pursuant to Section 3.02 of the Indenture, upon 
satisfactory completion of design work and compliance with the California Environmental Quality 
Act and approval by the Board of Directors of the District, and that it will use its best efforts to 
cause the construction, acquisition and installation of the 2020 Project to be substantially 
completed by [February 1, 2023], unforeseeable delays beyond the reasonable control of the 
District only excepted.  It is hereby expressly understood and agreed that the USDFA shall be under 
no liability of any kind or character whatsoever for the payment of any cost of the 2020 Project and 
that all such costs and expenses shall be paid by the District. 

Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project.  The District may substitute other 
improvements for those listed as components of the 2020 Project in Exhibit A, but only if the 
District first files with the USDFA and the Trustee a statement of the District in the form attached as 
Exhibit D: (a) identifying the improvements to be substituted and the improvements to District 
facilities they replace in the 2020 Project; and (b) stating that the estimated costs of construction, 
acquisition and installation of the substituted improvements are not less than such costs for the 
improvements previously planned. 

Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA.  In consideration for assistance in 
refinancing the Refunding Project, the District agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the Corporation 
and the Corporation agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases from the District, the Refunding 
Project. 

251 of 567



 

12 

Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project.  In consideration for the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments, the USDFA agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the District, and 
the District agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases, from the USDFA, the 2020 Project and the 
Refunding Project at the purchase price that is specified in Section 4.01 hereof and otherwise in the 
manner and in accordance with the provisions of the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

Section 3.05. Title.  All right, title and interest in the Refunding Project shall vest in the 
District immediately upon the original execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. Each component of the 2020 Project shall vest in the District immediately upon 
acquisition or construction thereof.  Such vesting shall occur without further action by the USDFA or 
the District, and the USDFA shall, if requested by the District or if necessary, to assure such 
automatic vesting, deliver any and all documents which are required to assure such vesting. 

Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund.  The District shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a 
separate fund designated as the “Acquisition Fund.”  The moneys in the Acquisition Fund shall be 
held by the District in trust and applied by the Treasurer of the District to the payment of the costs 
of acquisition and construction of the 2020 Project and of expenses incidental thereto. 

Before any payment is made from the Acquisition Fund by the Treasurer, the General 
Manager of the District, acting as agent of the USDFA, shall cause to be filed with the Treasurer a 
certificate of the District in the form set forth in Exhibit E to the Installment Purchase Agreement.  

Upon receipt of each such certificate, the Treasurer will pay the amount that is set forth in 
such certificate as directed by the terms thereof or disburse funds to the District for such payment 
as directed by the District in such certificate.  The Treasurer need not make any such payment if it 
has received notice of any lien, right to lien, attachment upon or claim affecting the right to receive 
payment of any of the moneys to be so paid, which has not been released or will not be released 
simultaneously with such payment. 

When the 2020 Project shall have been constructed and acquired in accordance with the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, a statement of the District stating the fact and date of such 
acquisition, construction and acceptance and stating that all of such costs of acquisition and 
incidental expenses have been determined and paid (or that all of such costs and expenses have 
been paid less specified claims which are subject to dispute and for which a retention in the 
Acquisition Fund is to be maintained in the full amount of such claims until such dispute is 
resolved), shall be delivered to the Treasurer by the General Manager of the District.  Upon the 
receipt of such statement, the Treasurer shall transfer any remaining balance in the Acquisition 
Fund which is not needed for Acquisition Fund purposes (but less the amount of any such retention, 
which amount shall be certified to the Treasurer by the General Manager of the District) to the 
Trustee for deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund for payment of 2020A Bonds in accordance 
with the Indenture. 

252 of 567



 

13 

ARTICLE IV 
 

INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purchase Price. 

(a) The Purchase Price to be paid by the District hereunder to the USDFA is the sum of 
the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest to accrue on the 
unpaid balance of such principal amount from the effective date hereof over the term hereof, 
subject to prepayment as provided in Article VII. 

(b) The principal amount of the payments to be made by the District hereunder is set 
forth in Exhibit C. 

(c) The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount is as specified 
in Section 4.02 and Exhibit C, and shall be paid by the District as and constitute interest paid on the 
principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder. 

Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to its rights of 
prepayment provided in Article VII, pay the USDFA the Purchase Price in installment payments of 
interest and principal in the amounts and on the Series 2020 Installment Payment Dates as set forth 
in Exhibit C. 

Each Series 2020 Installment Payment shall be paid to the USDFA in lawful money of the 
United States of America.  In the event that the District fails to make any of the payments which are 
required to be made by it under this section, such payment shall continue as an obligation of the 
District until such amount shall have been fully paid, and the District agrees to pay the same with 
interest accruing thereon at the rate or rates of interest then applicable to the remaining unpaid 
principal balance of the Series 2020 Installment Payments if paid in accordance with their terms. 

The obligation of the District to make the Series 2020 Installment Payments is absolute and 
unconditional, and until such time as the Purchase Price shall have been paid in full (or provision for 
the payment thereof shall have been made pursuant to Article IX), the District will not discontinue 
or suspend any Series 2020 Installment Payment which is required to be made by it under this 
section when due, whether or not the Wastewater System or any part thereof is operating or 
operable or its use is suspended, interfered with, reduced or curtailed or terminated in whole or in 
part, and whether or not the 2020 Project has been completed, and such payments shall not be 
subject to reduction whether by offset or otherwise and shall not be conditional upon the 
performance or nonperformance by any party of any agreement for any cause whatsoever. 

ARTICLE V 
 

SECURITY 

Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues.  The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on 
deposit in the Revenue Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 
Revenue Fund as described in Section 5.06, and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale 

253 of 567



 

14 

of the 2020 Bonds) which are held in any fund or account that is established pursuant to the 
Installment Purchase Agreement (except the Parity Debt Reserve (other than those amounts which 
are transferred by the District from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund)), are irrevocably 
pledged to the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments.  Except for the payment of the 
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the Gross Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose 
while any of the Series 2020 Installment Payments remain unpaid; provided that out of the Gross 
Revenues there may be apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted 
herein.  This pledge shall constitute a first lien on Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other 
funds and accounts that are created hereunder for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments and all other Contracts and Bonds in accordance with the terms hereof and of the 
Indenture. 

Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the 
pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Gross Revenues shall be 
received by the District in trust hereunder and shall be deposited when and as received in a special 
fund designated as the “Revenue Fund,” which fund is hereby established and which fund the 
District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold separate and apart from other funds so long 
as any Installment Payments or Bonds remain unpaid.  Moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be used 
and applied by the District as provided in this Installment Purchase Agreement.   

The District shall, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs (including amounts which are reasonably required to be set aside in contingency 
reserves for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not then immediately 
required) as they become due and payable.  All remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be set 
aside by the District at the following times in the following respective special funds in the following 
order of priority, and all moneys in each of such funds shall be held in trust and shall be applied, 
used and withdrawn only for the purposes hereinafter authorized in this section: 

(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment 
Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for 
deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the interest and principal 
payable and coming due on the next succeeding Series 2020 Installment Payment Date.  The District 
shall also, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit in 
the applicable payment fund, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, any other Debt Service in 
accordance with the provisions of the Contract, Bond, resolution or indenture relating thereto. 

Any moneys which are on deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund on each Series 2020 
Installment Payment Date (other than amounts required for the payment of past due principal or 
interest with respect to any 2020 Bonds not presented for payment) shall be credited to the 
payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments due and payable on such date.  No deposit need 
be made in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund as Series 2020 Installment Payments if the amount in 
the 2020A Bond Payment Fund is at least equal to the amount of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payment that is due and payable on the next succeeding Series 2020 Installment Payment Date. 

254 of 567



 

15 

(b) Reserve Funds.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the 
District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or 
priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or 
preference, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit to such other reserve fund or account for 
Bonds or Contracts an amount that is equal to the amount required to be deposited therein. 

(c) Surplus.  Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make 
any of the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for any 
purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of Subordinate Debt, or deposited 
in the Parity Debt Reserve. 

Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds.  The District may at any time execute any 
Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, in accordance herewith; provided that: 

(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during 
the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the 
District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent 
Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have 
produced a sum equal to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such 
twelve month period; and   

(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during 
the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the 
District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve 
month period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved 
and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an 
Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, 
shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service 
for such twelve month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued on any Contracts 
executed or Bonds issued since the end of such twelve month period, assuming that such Contracts 
had been executed or Bonds had been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period, plus 
the Debt Service which would have accrued had such proposed additional Contract been executed 
or proposed additional Bonds been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds issued or Contracts executed to refund Bonds or 
prepay Contracts may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service 
in each Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts executed is not 
greater than 105% of the Debt Service which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior 
to the issuance of such Bonds or execution of such Contracts. 

Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt.  The District may at any time execute or issue any 
Subordinate Debt in accordance herewith; provided that: 

(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any 
consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 

255 of 567



 

16 

the date of issuance or execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special report 
prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file 
with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the 
Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period.    

(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any 
consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 
the issuance or the execution of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give effect as of 
the first day of such twelve month period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the 
Wastewater Service approved and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special 
report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor 
on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of 
the Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service 
which would have accrued on any Subordinate Debt issued since the end of such twelve month 
period, assuming that such Subordinate Debt had been issued or executed had been issued at the 
beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would have 
accrued had such proposed Subordinate Debt been executed or issued at the beginning of such 
twelve month period.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Subordinate Debt executed to refund Bonds or prepay 
Contracts or to prepay or refund Subordinate Debt may be delivered without satisfying the 
conditions set forth above if Debt Service and Subordinate Debt Service in each Fiscal Year after the 
Fiscal Year in which such Subordinate Debt issued or executed is not greater than 105% of the Debt 
Service and Subordinate Debt which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior to the 
issuance of or execution of such Subordinate Debt. 

Section 5.05. Investments.  All moneys which are held by the District in the Revenue Fund, 
the Acquisition Fund and the Parity Debt Reserve shall be invested in Permitted Investments, and 
the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in such fund, except as otherwise provided 
herein. 

Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve.  The District shall establish a special fund designated as 
the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under the Installment 
Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold such fund separate 
and apart from other funds so long as any Contracts or Bonds remain unpaid.  Money transferred by 
the District from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve in accordance with Section 5.02(c) 
will be held in the Parity Debt Reserve and applied in accordance with the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

The District may withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Parity Debt 
Reserve and transfer such amounts to the Revenue Fund for application in accordance with 
Section 5.02 or, in the event that all or a portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments are 
discharged in accordance with Article VII, transfer all or any portion of such amounts for application 
in accordance with Article VII; provided that any such withdrawals and transfers may be made up to 
and including the date that is 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year or 12 calendar month period 
for which such withdrawals and transfers will be taken into account in calculating Gross Revenues.  

256 of 567



 

17 

Any such amounts withdrawn from the Parity Debt Reserve and transferred to the Revenue Fund 
constitute Gross Revenues. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary Agreements.  
The District will punctually pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments in strict conformity with the 
terms hereof, and will faithfully observe and perform all of the agreements, conditions, covenants 
and terms contained herein which are required to be observed and performed by it, and will not 
terminate the Installment Purchase Agreement for any cause including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, 
destruction of or damage to the 2020 Project or the Refunding Project, commercial frustration of 
purpose, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or of the State of 
California or any political subdivision of either or any failure of the USDFA to observe or perform 
any agreement, condition, covenant or term which is contained herein and required to be observed 
and performed by it, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or 
connected herewith or the insolvency, or deemed insolvency, or bankruptcy or liquidation of the 
USDFA or any force majeure, including acts of God, tempest, storm, earthquake, war, rebellion, riot, 
civil disorder, acts of public enemies, blockade or embargo, strikes, industrial disputes, lock outs, 
lack of transportation facilities, fire, explosion or acts or regulations of governmental authorities. 

The District will faithfully observe and perform all of the agreements, conditions, covenants 
and terms which are required to be observed and performed by it pursuant to all outstanding 
Contracts and Bonds as such may from time to time be executed or issued, as the case may be. 

Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances.  The District will not make any pledge of or place any 
lien on Gross Revenues or the moneys in the Revenue Fund except as provided herein.  In addition, 
the District may at any time, or from time to time, issue evidences of indebtedness or incur other 
obligations for any lawful purpose which are payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien on 
Gross Revenues or any moneys in the Revenue Fund as may from time to time be deposited therein 
(as provided in Section 5.02), provided that such pledge and lien shall be subordinate in all respects 
to the pledge of and lien thereon provided herein. 

Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not enter into 
any agreement or lease which materially impairs the operation of the Wastewater System or any 
part thereof which is necessary to secure adequate Gross Revenues for the payment of the Series 
2020 Installment Payments, or which would otherwise materially impair the rights of the USDFA 
hereunder or the operation of the Wastewater System.  Any real or personal property which has 
become nonoperative or which is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of the 
Wastewater System, or any material or equipment which has become worn out, may be sold if such 
sale will not materially impair the ability of the District to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments 
and if the proceeds of such sale are deposited in the Revenue Fund. 

Nothing herein shall restrict the ability of the District to sell any portion of the Wastewater 
System if such portion is immediately repurchased by the District and if such arrangement cannot 

257 of 567



 

18 

by its terms result in the purchaser of such portion of the Wastewater System exercising any 
remedy which would deprive the District of or otherwise interfere with its right to own and operate 
such portion of the Wastewater System. 

Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities.  The District will not, to the extent permitted 
by law, acquire, construct, maintain or operate and will not, to the extent permitted by law and 
within the scope of its powers, permit any other public or private agency, corporation, district or 
political subdivision or any person whomsoever to acquire, construct, maintain or operate within 
the District any wastewater system competitive with the Wastewater System. 

Section 6.05. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of 
the interest on the 2020 Bonds will not be adversely affected for federal income tax purposes, the 
District covenants to comply with all applicable requirements of the Code which are necessary to 
preserve such exclusion from gross income with respect to the 2020 Bonds and specifically 
covenants, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as follows: 

(a) Private Activity.  The District will take no action or refrain from taking any 
action, and the District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other moneys 
or property, which would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “private activity bonds” within the meaning 
of Section 141 of the Code; 

(b) Arbitrage.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds 
or of any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any 
action or refrain from taking any action, which will cause the 2020 Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” 
within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code; 

(c) Federal Guarantee.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 
2020 Bonds, and the District will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the 2020 
Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code; 

(d) Information Reporting.  The District will take or cause to be taken all 
necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the 
Code which is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the 2020 Bonds pursuant to 
Section 103(a) of the Code; 

(e) Hedge Bonds.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 
Bonds or any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any 
action or refrain from taking any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds to be considered “hedge 
bonds” within the meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code unless the District takes all necessary 
action to assure compliance with the requirements of Section 149(g) of the Code to maintain the 
exclusion from gross income of interest on the 2020 Bonds for federal income tax purposes; and 

(f) Miscellaneous.  The District will not take any action or refrain from taking 
any action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the 
District in connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds and will comply with the covenants and 
requirements that are stated therein and incorporated by reference herein. 

258 of 567



 

19 

This section and the covenants that are set forth herein shall not be applicable to, and 
nothing that is contained herein shall be deemed to prevent the District from causing the USDFA to 
issue revenue bonds or issuing bonds or executing and delivering contracts that are payable on a 
parity with the 2020 Bonds, the interest with respect to which has been determined to be subject to 
federal income taxation. 

Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction.  The District will take all necessary and 
appropriate steps to acquire and construct the 2020 Project, as agent of the USDFA, with all 
practicable dispatch and in an expeditious manner and in conformity with law so as to complete the 
same as soon as possible. 

Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System.  The District will 
maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working order at all times, 
operate the Wastewater System in an efficient and economical manner and pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs as they become due and payable. 

Section 6.08. Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful 
claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Gross Revenues 
or the funds or accounts created hereunder or under the Indenture or on any funds in the hands of 
the District pledged to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments or the Bonds, or which might 
impair the security of the Series 2020 Installment Payments. 

Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts.  The District will comply with, keep, observe and 
perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, which are required to 
be performed by it contained in all contracts for the use of the Wastewater System and all other 
contracts affecting or involving the Wastewater System, to the extent that the District is a party 
thereto. 

Section 6.10. Insurance. 

(a) The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured and maintained 
insurance on the Wastewater System, excluding coverage for earthquake damage or destruction, 
with responsible insurers in such amounts and against such risks (including accident to or 
destruction of the Wastewater System) as are usually covered in connection with facilities that are 
similar to the Wastewater System so long as such insurance is available at reasonable rates. 

In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Wastewater System caused by the perils 
covered by such insurance, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied to the reconstruction, repair 
or replacement of the damaged or destroyed portion of the Wastewater System.  The District shall 
begin such reconstruction, repair or replacement promptly after such damage or destruction shall 
occur, and shall continue and properly complete such reconstruction, repair or replacement as 
expeditiously as possible, and shall pay out of such Net Proceeds all costs and expenses in 
connection with such reconstruction, repair or replacement so that the same shall be completed 
and the Wastewater System shall be free and clear of all claims and liens. 

If such Net Proceeds exceed the costs of such reconstruction, repair or replacement, then 
the excess Net Proceeds shall be applied in part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment 

259 of 567



 

20 

Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate 
and used for the retirement of Bonds and Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate 
unpaid principal balance of Series 2020 Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid 
principal amount of such Bonds and Contracts.  If such Net Proceeds are sufficient to enable the 
District to retire the entire obligation that is evidenced hereby prior to the final due date of the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments as well as the entire obligations that are evidenced by Bonds and 
Contracts then remaining unpaid prior to their final respective due dates, the District may elect not 
to reconstruct, repair or replace the damaged or destroyed portion of the Wastewater System, and 
thereupon such Net Proceeds shall be applied to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment 
Payments as provided in Article VII and to the retirement of such Bonds and Contracts. 

(b) The District will procure and maintain such other insurance which it shall deem 
advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the USDFA, which insurance shall 
afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are usually covered in connection with 
municipal water systems similar to the Wastewater System. 

(c) Any insurance that is required to be maintained by paragraph (a) above and, if the 
District determines to procure and maintain insurance pursuant to paragraph (b) above, such 
insurance, may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as such self-insurance is 
maintained in the amounts and manner usually maintained in connection with water systems 
similar to the Wastewater System and is, in the opinion of an accredited actuary, actuarially sound. 

All policies of insurance which are required to be maintained herein shall provide that the 
USDFA or its assignee shall be given thirty (30) days’ written notice of any intended cancellation 
thereof or reduction of coverage provided thereby. 

Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports. 

(a) The District will keep appropriate accounting records in which complete and correct 
entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Wastewater System, which records shall be 
available for inspection by the USDFA and the Trustee at reasonable hours and under reasonable 
conditions. 

(b) The District will prepare and file with the USDFA or its assignee, annually within two 
hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year 
ending June 30, 2020) financial statements of the District for the preceding Fiscal Year prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, together with an Accountant’s Report 
thereon.  The Trustee shall have no obligation to review any such financial statements. 

Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA.  The District will preserve 
and protect the security hereof and the rights of the USDFA to the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments hereunder and will warrant and defend such rights against all claims and demands of all 
persons. 

Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations.  The 
District will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 
hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Wastewater System, or any part thereof or upon the Gross 

260 of 567



 

21 

Revenues when the same shall become due.  The District will duly observe and conform with all 
valid regulations and requirements of any governmental authority relative to the operation of the 
Wastewater System, or any part thereof, but the District shall not be required to comply with any 
regulations or requirements so long as the validity or application thereof shall be contested in good 
faith. 

Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges.   

(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District shall fix and prescribe, at the 
commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are 
reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year (i) Net Revenues equal 
to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year and (ii) Net 
Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) of 
Subordinate Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year.   

The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may 
make such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges 
then in effect unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably 
expected to be sufficient to meet the requirements of this Section 6.14.  

(b) For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set 
forth in Section 6.14(a) above, the failure of Net Revenues to meet the thresholds set forth in 
Section 6.14(a) above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not constitute a default or an Event of Default 
so long as the District has complied with Section 6.14(a) at the commencement of the succeeding 
Fiscal Year. 

Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges.  The District will have in effect at all times 
by-laws, rules and regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable to 
the Wastewater Service to such customer’s land and providing for the billing thereof and for a due 
date and a delinquency date for each bill.  In each case where such bill remains unpaid in whole or 
in part after it becomes delinquent, the District may discontinue such service from the Wastewater 
System, and such service shall not thereafter be recommenced except in accordance with District 
by-laws or rules, regulations and State Law governing such situations of delinquency. 

Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Wastewater System shall 
be taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows: 

(a) If: (1) the District files with the USDFA and the Trustee a certificate showing: (i) the 
estimated loss of annual Net Revenues, if any, suffered or to be suffered by the District by reason of 
such eminent domain proceedings; (ii) a general description of the additions, betterments, 
extensions or improvements to the Wastewater System that are proposed to be acquired and 
constructed by the District from such Net Proceeds, and (iii) an estimate of the additional annual 
Net Revenues to be derived from such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements, and 
(2) the District, on the basis of such certificate filed with the USDFA and the Trustee, determines 
that the estimated additional annual Net Revenues will sufficiently offset the estimated loss of 
annual Net Revenues resulting from such eminent domain proceedings so that the ability of the 
District to meet its obligations hereunder will not be substantially impaired (which determination 

261 of 567



 

22 

shall be final and conclusive), then the District shall promptly proceed with the acquisition and 
construction of such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements substantially in 
accordance with such certificate and such Net Proceeds shall be applied for the payment of the 
costs of such acquisition and construction, and any balance of such Net Proceeds not required by 
the District for such purpose shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund. 

(b) If the foregoing conditions are not met, then such Net Proceeds shall be applied in 
part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to 
such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for the retirement of Bonds and 
Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate unpaid principal balance of Series 2020 
Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Bonds and 
Contracts. 

Section 6.17. Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any 
and all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper 
to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and for the better assuring and 
confirming unto the USDFA of the rights and benefits provided to it herein. 

Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts.  So long as any of the 2020 Bonds are 
outstanding, the District will not voluntarily consent to or permit any rescission of, nor will it 
consent to any amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in connection with any 
contracts previously or hereafter entered into which contracts provide for water to be supplied to 
the District which consent, revision, amendment or other action will reduce the supply of water 
thereunder (except as provided therein), unless the Board of Directors of the District determines by 
resolution that such rescission or amendment would not materially adversely affect the ability of 
the District to pay Series 2020 Installment Payments. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.01. Prepayment. 

(a) The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay from Net Proceeds as provided 
herein the Series 2020 Installment Payments in whole, or in part, on any date in the order of 
payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal to the sum of the principal 
amount to be prepaid plus accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment, without premium. 

(b) The District may prepay the Series 2020 Installment Payments as a whole, or in part, 
on September 1, 20__ or any date thereafter in the order of payment date as directed by the 
District, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount of the Series 2020 Installment 
Payments to be prepaid, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment, 
without premium. 

(c) Notwithstanding any such prepayment, the District shall not be relieved of its 
obligations hereunder, including its obligations under Article IV, until the Purchase Price shall have 

262 of 567



 

23 

been fully paid (or provision for payment thereof shall have been provided to the written 
satisfaction of the USDFA). 

Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to 
Section 7.01, the District shall, within five (5) days following the event permitting the exercise of 
such right to prepay or creating such obligation to prepay, give written notice to the USDFA and the 
Trustee describing such event and specifying the date on which the prepayment will be paid, which 
date shall be not less than sixty (60) (or such shorter number of days as is acceptable to the Trustee) 
days from the date that such notice is given. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities.  If one or more of the 
following Events of Default shall happen: 

(1) if default shall be made by the District in the due and punctual 
payment of any Series 2020 Installment Payment or any Contract or Bond when and as the same 
shall become due and payable; 

(2) if default shall be made by the District in the performance of any of 
the agreements or covenants which are required herein to be performed by it, and such default 
shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after the District shall have been given notice in 
writing of such default by the USDFA; or 

(3) if the District shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or 
reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States 
of America or any state therein, or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall approve a petition filed 
with or without the consent of the District seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal 
bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or 
if under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors any court of competent 
jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the District or of the whole or any substantial part of 
its property; or 

(4) if payment of the principal of any Contract or Bond is accelerated in 
accordance with its terms; 

then and in each and every such case during the continuance of an Event of Default, the USDFA 
shall, by notice in writing to the District, declare the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 
2020 Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon to be due and payable immediately, 
and upon any such declaration the same shall become immediately due and payable, anything 
contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding.  This section, however, is subject to the condition 
that if at any time after the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 2020 Installment Payments 
and the accrued interest thereon shall have been so declared due and payable, but before any 
judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered, the 
District shall deposit with the USDFA an amount that is sufficient to pay the unpaid principal 

263 of 567



 

24 

amount of the Series 2020 Installment Payments or the unpaid payment of any other Contract or 
Bond referred to in clause (1) above due prior to such declaration and the accrued interest thereon, 
with interest on such overdue installments, at the rate or rates applicable to the remaining unpaid 
principal balance of the Series 2020 Installment Payments or such Contract or Bond if paid in 
accordance with their terms, and the reasonable expenses of the USDFA, and any and all other 
defaults known to the USDFA (other than in the payment of the entire principal amount of the 
unpaid Series 2020 Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon due and payable solely 
by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to the satisfaction of the USDFA 
or provision deemed by the USDFA to be adequate shall have been made therefor, then and in 
every such case the USDFA, by written notice to the District, may rescind and annul such 
declaration and its consequences; but no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall 
affect any subsequent default or shall impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration.  Upon the date of the declaration of 
acceleration as provided in Section 8.01, all Gross Revenues thereafter received by the District shall 
be applied in the following order: 

First, to the payment, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such Gross Revenues ratably without any discrimination or preference, of the fees, costs and 
expenses of the Trustee and its assigns and thereafter to the USDFA, as the case may be, in carrying 
out the provisions of this article, including reasonable compensation to their respective accountants 
and counsel; 

Second, to the payment of the Operation and Maintenance Costs; and 

Third, to the payment of the entire principal amount of the unpaid Series 2020 Installment 
Payments and the unpaid principal amount of all Bonds and Contracts and the accrued interest 
thereon, with interest on the overdue installments at the rate or rates of interest applicable to the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments and such Bonds and Contracts if paid in accordance with their 
respective terms. 

Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA.  The USDFA shall have the right: 

(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce its 
rights against the District or any director, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the District or 
any such director, officer or employee to perform and carry out its or his or her duties under the 
Law and the agreements and covenants required to be performed by it or him or her contained 
herein; 

(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the rights 
of the USDFA; or 

(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the District 
and its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the USDFA shall have no security interest in or 
mortgage on the 2020 Project, the Refunding Project, the Wastewater System or other assets of the 

264 of 567



 

25 

District and no default hereunder shall result in the loss of the 2020 Project, the Refunding Project, 
the Wastewater System or other assets of the District. 

Section 8.04. Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall 
affect or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the Series 
2020 Installment Payments to the USDFA at the respective due dates or upon prepayment from the 
Net Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds herein pledged for such payment, or shall 
affect or impair the right of the USDFA, which is also absolute and unconditional, to institute suit to 
enforce such payment by virtue of the contract embodied herein. 

A waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the USDFA shall not affect any 
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or impair any rights or remedies on any such 
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract.  No delay or omission by the USDFA to exercise 
any right or remedy accruing upon any default or breach of duty or contract shall impair any such 
right or remedy or be construed to be a waiver of any such default or breach of duty or contract or 
an acquiescence therein, and every right or remedy that is conferred upon the USDFA by the Law or 
by this article may be enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as shall be deemed 
expedient by the USDFA. 

If any action, proceeding or suit to enforce any right or exercise any remedy is abandoned or 
determined adversely to the USDFA, the District and the USDFA shall be restored to their former 
positions, rights and remedies as if such action, proceeding or suit had not been brought or taken. 

Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy that is conferred upon or reserved to 
the USDFA herein is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be 
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter 
existing in law or in equity or by statute or otherwise and may be exercised without exhausting and 
without regard to any other remedy conferred by the Law or any other law. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations.  When: 

(a) all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have become due 
and payable in accordance herewith or a written notice of the District to prepay all or any portion of 
the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have been filed with the Trustee; and 

(b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee at or prior to the Series 2020 
Installment Payment Date or dates specified for prepayment, in trust for the benefit of the USDFA 
or its assigns and irrevocably appropriated and set aside to the payment of all or any portion of the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments, sufficient moneys or sufficient moneys and non-callable 
Permitted Investments that are described in clause (A) of the definition thereof, the principal of and 
interest on which Permitted Investments when due will provide money that is sufficient in the 
opinion of an Independent Certified Public Accountant to pay all principal, prepayment premium, if 

265 of 567



 

26 

any, and interest of such Series 2020 Installment Payments to their respective Series 2020 
Installment Payment Dates, as the case may be; and 

(c) provision shall have been made for paying all fees and expenses of the Trustee, then 
and in that event, the right, title and interest of the USDFA herein and the obligations of the District 
hereunder shall, with respect to all or such portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments as have 
been so provided for, thereupon cease, terminate, become void and be completely discharged and 
satisfied (except for the right of the Trustee and the obligation of the District to have such moneys 
and such Permitted Investments applied to the payment of such Series 2020 Installment Payments). 

In such event, upon request of the District, the Trustee shall cause an accounting for such 
period or periods as may be requested by the District to be prepared and filed with the District and 
shall execute and deliver to the District all such instruments as may be necessary or desirable to 
evidence such total or partial discharge and satisfaction, as the case may be, and, in the event of a 
total discharge and satisfaction, the Trustee shall pay over to the District, after payment of all 
amounts due the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture, as an overpayment of Series 2020 Installment 
Payments, all such moneys or such Permitted Investments held by it pursuant hereto, other than 
such moneys and such Permitted Investments as are required for the payment or prepayment of 
the Series 2020 Installment Payments, which moneys and Permitted Investments shall continue to 
be held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments and shall 
be applied by the Trustee to the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments of the District. 

ARTICLE X 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.01. Liability Limited.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the District 
shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other than the 
Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds provided herein for the payment of 
amounts due hereunder or for the performance of any agreements or covenants that are required 
to be performed by it contained herein.  The District may, however, advance moneys for any such 
purpose so long as such moneys are derived from a source legally available for such purpose and 
may be legally used by the District for such purpose. 

The obligation of the District to make the Series 2020 Installment Payments is a special 
obligation of the District payable from the Net Revenues and does not constitute a debt of the 
District or of the State of California or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. 

Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing 
contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District or 
the USDFA any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto, and any agreement or covenant 
that is required herein to be performed by or on behalf of the District or the USDFA shall be for the 
sole and exclusive benefit of the other party. 

Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  Whenever 
either the District or the USDFA is named or referred to herein, such reference shall be deemed to 

266 of 567



 

27 

include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that are presently vested in the District or 
the USDFA, and all agreements and covenants which are required hereby to be performed by or on 
behalf of the District or the USDFA shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors 
thereof whether so expressed or not. 

Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the District 
shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments, 
but nothing contained herein shall relieve any director, officer or employee of the District from the 
performance of any official duty provided by any applicable provisions of law or hereby. 

Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or titles 
of the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof, and 
words of any gender shall be deemed and construed to include all genders.  All references herein to 
“Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions or clauses are to the corresponding articles, sections, 
subdivisions or clauses hereof and the words “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herewith” 
and other words of similar import refer to the Installment Purchase Agreement as a whole and not 
to any particular article, section, subdivision or clause hereof. 

Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or 
portions thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the USDFA 
shall be contrary to law, then such agreement or agreements, such covenant or covenants or such 
portions thereof shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining 
agreements and covenants or portions thereof and shall in no way affect the validity hereof.  The 
District and the USDFA hereby declare that they would have executed the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, and each and every other article, section, paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause and 
phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more articles, sections, paragraphs, 
subdivisions, sentences, clauses or phrases hereof or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstance may be held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable or invalid. 

Section 10.07. Assignment.  The Installment Purchase Agreement and any rights hereunder 
may be assigned by the USDFA, as a whole or in part, without the necessity of obtaining the prior 
consent of the District.  In addition to the rights and remedies assigned by the USDFA to the 
Trustee, to the extent that the Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement confer upon or 
give or grant to the Trustee any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of the Indenture or the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, the Trustee is hereby explicitly recognized as being a third party 
beneficiary hereunder and may enforce any such right, remedy or claim conferred given or granted. 

Section 10.08. Net Contract.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed and 
construed to be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely net during the term hereof the 
Series 2020 Installment Payments and all other payments required hereunder, free of any 
deductions and without abatement, diminution or set-off whatsoever. 

Section 10.09. California Law.  THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. 

267 of 567



 

28 

Section 10.10. Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given by mail to 
the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at such other address as such party may 
provide to the other party in writing from time to time, namely: 

If to the District: Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  General Manager 

If to the USDFA: Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
c/o Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  Executive Director 

If to the Trustee: U.S. Bank National Association 
One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Attn: Global Corporate Trust 
Reference: Union Sanitary District, Series 2020A 

Section 10.11. Effective Date.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall become effective 
upon its execution and delivery, and shall terminate when the Purchase Price shall have been fully 
paid (or provision for the payment thereof shall have been made to the written satisfaction of the 
USDFA). 

Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts.  The Installment Purchase Agreement may be 
executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA.  The District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold 
harmless the USDFA and its assigns and its officers and directors if and to the extent permitted by 
law, from and against all claims, advances, damages and losses, including legal fees and expenses, 
arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or the performance of its duties hereunder and 
under the Indenture; provided that no indemnification will be made for willful misconduct, 
negligence or breach of an obligation hereunder or under the Indenture by the USDFA. 

Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted. 

(a) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or 
amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding when the written 
consents of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 2020 Bonds then 
Outstanding, exclusive of 2020 Bonds disqualified as provided in Section 11.09 of the Indenture.  No 
such modification or amendment may: (1) extend the fixed maturity of any 2020 Bonds, or reduce 
the amount of principal thereof or premium (if any) thereon, or extend the time of payment, or 
change the rate of interest or the method of computing the rate of interest thereon, or extend the 

268 of 567



 

29 

time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the Owner of each 2020 Bond so 
affected; or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of 2020 Bonds the consent of the Owners of which 
is required to affect any such modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the 
Gross Revenues and other assets pledged under the Installment Purchase Agreement prior to or on 
a parity with the lien created by the Installment Purchase Agreement except as permitted herein, or 
deprive the Owners of the 2020 Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture on such Gross Revenues 
and other assets except as permitted herein, without the consent of the Owners of all of the 2020 
Bonds then Outstanding. 

(b) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds may also be modified or amended at 
any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding upon adoption, without the consent 
of the Owners of any 2020 Bonds, but only to the extent permitted by law and only for any one or 
more of the following purposes: (1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the District 
contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement other covenants and agreements thereafter to be 
observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the 2020 Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to 
surrender any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the District; (2) to make such 
provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency or omission, or of curing or 
correcting any defective provision, contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement, or in regard 
to matters or questions arising under the Installment Purchase Agreement, as the District may 
deem necessary or desirable; and (3) to modify, amend or supplement the Installment Purchase 
Agreement in such manner as to cause interest on the 2020 Bonds to remain excludable from gross 
income under the Code.  No amendment without consent of the Owners may modify any of the 
rights or obligations of the Trustee without the written consent thereto. 

269 of 567



 

1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and attested this Installment 
Purchase Agreement by their officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first written 
above. 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

 By:   
  President of the Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

  
Board Clerk 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
 Chair of the Board of Directors 

ATTEST: 

  
Secretary of the Board of Directors 
 

270 of 567



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2020 PROJECT  

Component Estimated Capital Cost 

  $   
  
  
  
TOTAL  

271 of 567



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS AND REFUNDING PROJECT 

Set forth below are the SWRCB loans being refinanced pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement (collectively, the “Refunded Obligations”), the outstanding principal amount thereof on 
the date of execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater 
System facilities financed by such Refunded Obligations (collectively, the “Refunding Project”). 

SWRCB LOAN 
 (Contract Number) 

OUTSTANDING 
PRINCIPAL 

WASTEWATER 
FACILITY FINANCED 

01-815-550-0 $3,424,735.81 Irvington Equalization Storage  
07-813-550-0 780,457.63 Willow/Central Avenue Sanitary Sewer 
07-829-550-0 5,937,182.50 Newark Pump Station 
07-835-550-0 1,102,542.68 Lower Hetch Hetchy Corridor 
09-813-550-0 1,114,567.15 Cedar Boulevard Sanitary Sewer 
10-808-550-0 6,394,372.67 Primary Clarifier at Alvarado 
10-816-550-0 1,716,788.15 Substation No. 1 at Alvarado 
10-817-550-0 4,772,589.15 Boyce Road Lift Station 
13-814-550-0 11,516,874.09 Thickener Control Building Improvements at 

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plan 

 

 

272 of 567



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

PURCHASE PRICE 

1. The principal amount of payments to be made by the District hereunder is 
$_________. 

2. The Series 2020 Installment Payments of principal and interest are payable in the 
amounts and on the Series 2020 Installment Payment Dates as follows: 

Installment 
Payment Dates 

Amount Attributable 
to Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to Interest Total 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

273 of 567



 

C-2 

Installment 
Payment Dates 

Amount Attributable 
to Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to Interest Total 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

274 of 567



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF SUBSTITUTION STATEMENT 

Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
Attention:  Chair 

One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Attn: Global Corporate Trust 
Reference: Union Sanitary District, Series 2020A 
 

The undersigned General Manager of the Union Sanitary District (the “District”) hereby 
states pursuant to Section 3.02 of the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2020, 
by and between Union Sanitary District Financing Authority and the District (the “Installment 
Purchase Agreement”) that each component of the 2020 Project (as such term is defined in the 
Installment Purchase Agreement) described in the first column of Exhibit A attached hereto, with an 
estimated cost set forth in the second column of Exhibit A, will be replaced by the corresponding 
improvement described in the third column of Exhibit A with an estimated cost set forth in the 
fourth column of Exhibit A. 

Dated:  _________ __, 20__ 

  
General Manager 

 

275 of 567



 

D-2 

EXHIBIT A 

Components of 
2020 Project to 

be Replaced 

Cost of Each 
Components of 

2020 Project 
to be Replaced 

Improvements 
to be 

Substituted 

Cost of Each 
Improvement 

to be 
Substituted 

    
    

276 of 567



 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF REQUISITION FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 
 

REQUISITION NO. _ FOR 
DISBURSEMENT FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

The undersigned hereby states and certifies: 

(i) that the undersigned is the duly appointed, qualified and acting General Manager of 
the Union Sanitary District, a sanitary district that is organized and existing under the Constitution 
and laws of the State of California (the “District”), and as such, is familiar with the facts herein 
certified and is authorized to certify the same; 

(ii) that, pursuant to Section 3.06 of that certain Installment Purchase Agreement, 
dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”), by and between the Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority and the District, the undersigned hereby requests the 
Treasurer to disburse this date the following amounts from the Acquisition Fund established under 
the Installment Purchase Agreement relating to the above-captioned obligations, to the payees 
designated on the attached Exhibit A; 

(iii) that each obligation mentioned herein has been incurred by the District and is a 
proper charge against the Acquisition Fund; 

(iv) that any approval required under the California Environmental Quality Act, as 
amended (Division 13 of the California Public Resources Code), prior to the expenditure of such 
amount for the purpose set forth on the attached Exhibit A has been received and is final; and 

(v) that there has not been filed with or served upon the District notice of any lien, right 
to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of the moneys 
payable to any of the payees named on the attached Exhibit A, which has not been released or will 
not be released simultaneously with the payment of such obligation, other than materialmen’s or 
mechanics’ liens accruing by mere operation of law. 

Dated:    , 20__ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

By:   
General Manager 

277 of 567



 

E-2 

EXHIBIT A 

ACQUISITION FUND DISBURSEMENTS 

Item 
Number Payee Name and Address Purpose of Obligation Amount 

    
 

278 of 567



INDENTURE OF TRUST 
 
 

Dated as of January 1, 2020 
 

By and between 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
as Trustee 

 
 

and the 
 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 
 

Relating to 
 

$_____________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 
 
 

279 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

 

i 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; CONTENT OF CERTIFICATES AND OPINIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions ............................................................................................................... 3 
Section 1.02. Content of Certificates and Opinions ................................................................... 11 
Section 1.03. Interpretation ....................................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE BONDS 

Section 2.01. Authorization of Bonds ......................................................................................... 12 
Section 2.02. Terms of the Bonds ............................................................................................... 12 
Section 2.03. Transfer of Bonds .................................................................................................. 14 
Section 2.04. Exchange of Bonds ................................................................................................ 14 
Section 2.05. Registration Books ................................................................................................ 14 
Section 2.06. Form and Execution of Bonds ............................................................................... 14 
Section 2.07. Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen......................................................... 15 
Section 2.08. Book-Entry System ................................................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE III 
 

ISSUANCE OF BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS 

Section 3.01. Issuance of the Bonds ........................................................................................... 18 
Section 3.02. Application of Proceeds of the Bonds .................................................................. 18 
Section 3.03. Establishment and Application of Costs of Issuance Fund ................................... 18 
Section 3.04. Validity of Bonds ................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 4.01. Terms of Redemption ........................................................................................... 19 
Section 4.02. Selection of Bonds for Redemption ...................................................................... 20 
Section 4.03. Notice of Redemption........................................................................................... 20 
Section 4.04. Partial Redemption of Bonds ................................................................................ 21 
Section 4.05. Effect of Redemption ............................................................................................ 21 

ARTICLE V 
 

REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; 
PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

Section 5.01. Pledge and Assignment; 2020A Bond Payment Fund .......................................... 22 

280 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

 

ii 

Section 5.02. Allocation of USDFA Revenues ............................................................................. 22 
Section 5.03. Application of Interest Account ............................................................................ 23 
Section 5.04. Application of Principal Account........................................................................... 23 
Section 5.05. Application of Redemption Fund .......................................................................... 23 
Section 5.06. Investments .......................................................................................................... 23 
Section 5.07. Rebate Fund .......................................................................................................... 24 
Section 5.08. Application of Funds and Accounts When No Bonds are Outstanding ................ 26 

ARTICLE VI 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS 

Section 6.01. Punctual Payment ................................................................................................. 26 
Section 6.02. Extension of Payment of Bonds ............................................................................ 26 
Section 6.03. Against Encumbrances .......................................................................................... 26 
Section 6.04. Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment .................................... 26 
Section 6.05. Accounting Records and Financial Statements .................................................... 27 
Section 6.06. Tax Covenants ....................................................................................................... 27 
Section 6.07. Payments Under Installment Purchase Agreement ............................................. 28 
Section 6.08. Waiver of Laws ...................................................................................................... 28 
Section 6.09. Further Assurances ............................................................................................... 28 
Section 6.10. Eminent Domain ................................................................................................... 28 

ARTICLE VII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF BOND OWNERS 

Section 7.01. Events of Default .................................................................................................. 28 
Section 7.02. Remedies Upon Event of Default ......................................................................... 29 
Section 7.03. Application of USDFA Revenues and Other Funds After Default ......................... 30 
Section 7.04. Trustee to Represent Bond Owners ..................................................................... 30 
Section 7.05. Bond Owners’ Direction of Proceedings ............................................................... 31 
Section 7.06. Suit by Owners ...................................................................................................... 31 
Section 7.07. Absolute Obligation of the USDFA ........................................................................ 32 
Section 7.08. Remedies Not Exclusive ........................................................................................ 32 
Section 7.09. No Waiver of Default ............................................................................................ 32 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

THE TRUSTEE 

Section 8.01. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee ....................................................... 32 
Section 8.02. Merger or Consolidation ....................................................................................... 33 
Section 8.03. Liability of Trustee ................................................................................................ 34 
Section 8.04. Right to Rely on Documents ................................................................................. 36 
Section 8.05. Preservation and Inspection of Documents ......................................................... 36 

281 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

 

iii 

Section 8.06. Compensation and Indemnification ..................................................................... 37 

ARTICLE IX 
 

MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE 

Section 9.01. Amendments Permitted ....................................................................................... 37 
Section 9.02. Effect of Supplemental Indenture ........................................................................ 38 
Section 9.03. Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds ............................................. 38 
Section 9.04. Amendment of Particular Bonds .......................................................................... 39 

ARTICLE X 
 

DEFEASANCE 

Section 10.01. Discharge of Indenture ......................................................................................... 39 
Section 10.02. Discharge of Liability on Bonds ............................................................................. 39 
Section 10.03. Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee ....................................................... 40 
Section 10.04. Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture.................................................. 40 

ARTICLE XI 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.01. Liability of USDFA Limited to USDFA Revenues .................................................... 41 
Section 11.02. Successor Is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor ........................ 41 
Section 11.03. Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners................................................. 41 
Section 11.04. Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice ................................................ 41 
Section 11.05. Destruction of Bonds ............................................................................................ 42 
Section 11.06. Severability of Invalid Provisions .......................................................................... 42 
Section 11.07. Notices .................................................................................................................. 42 
Section 11.08. Evidence of Rights of Bond Owners ...................................................................... 42 
Section 11.09. Disqualified Bonds ................................................................................................ 43 
Section 11.10. Money Held for Particular Bonds ......................................................................... 43 
Section 11.11. Funds and Accounts .............................................................................................. 43 
Section 11.12. Waiver of Personal Liability .................................................................................. 43 
Section 11.13. Execution in Several Counterparts ....................................................................... 43 
Section 11.14. CUSIP Numbers ..................................................................................................... 44 
Section 11.15. Choice of Law ........................................................................................................ 44 
Section 11.16. Notice to Rating Agency ....................................................................................... 44 
 
Signatures   ............................................................................................................................. S-1 
 
Exhibit A  Form of Bond ...................................................................................................... A-1 
 

282 of 567



 

Page 1 of 57 
 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 
 

THE INDENTURE OF TRUST is made and entered into and dated as of January 1, 2020, by and 
between the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint exercise of powers agency 
that is duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the 
“USDFA”), and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association that is duly 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, as trustee hereunder (the 
“Trustee”). 

RECITALS 
 

A. The USDFA has been created pursuant to the JPA Agreement with the powers, among 
others, to issue bonds and to finance wastewater facilities on behalf of its members. 

B. Union Sanitary District (the “District”), a member of the USDFA, has determined that 
it is in the best interest of the public to finance certain improvements to its Wastewater System with 
the assistance of the USDFA. 

C. The USDFA is authorized pursuant to State law, including but not limited to, Section 
6588(c) of the Government Code of the State of California (the “Government Code”) and pursuant to 
Sections 5 and 10 of the JPA Agreement to incur indebtedness to finance such improvements, and is 
authorized pursuant to State law, including but not limited to Section 6588(m) of the Government 
Code, to assign and pledge to the repayment of such indebtedness amounts payable to the USDFA 
by its members. 

D. The District has determined that it is in the District’s best interest to finance the 
acquisition and construction of certain improvements to its Wastewater System (the “2020 Project”), 
and refinance the acquisition and construction of certain improvements to its Wastewater System 
(the “Refunding Project”) as further described in the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

E. The USDFA hereby finds pursuant to Section 6586 of the Government Code that the 
issuance of the bonds that are authorized pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof (the “Bonds”) to finance 
the 2020 Project and refinance the Refunding Project will have demonstrable savings in effective 
interest rate, bond preparation, bond underwriting or bond issuance costs and significant reductions 
in effective user charges levied by the District. 

F. In order to provide for the authentication and delivery of the Bonds, to establish and 
declare the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are to be issued and secured and to secure 
the payment of the principal thereof and interest and premium, if any, thereon, the USDFA has 
authorized the execution and delivery of the Indenture. 

G. The USDFA has determined that all acts and proceedings which are required by law 
and necessary to make the Bonds, when executed by the USDFA, authenticated and delivered by the 
Trustee, and duly issued, the valid, binding and legal special obligations of the USDFA, and to 
constitute the Indenture a valid and binding agreement for the uses and purposes set forth herein in 
accordance with its terms, have been done and taken, and the execution and delivery of the 
Indenture have been in all respects duly authorized. 

283 of 567



 

Page 2 of 57 
 

 

GRANTING CLAUSES 

The USDFA, in consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts 
hereby created and of the mutual covenants herein contained and of the purchase and acceptance 
of the Bonds by the owners thereof, and for other valuable considerations, the receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, in order to secure the payment of the principal of and the interest and 
premium (if any) on all Bonds at any time issued and Outstanding under the Indenture, and to secure 
the performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions therein and herein set forth, 
does hereby assign and pledge unto, and grant a security interest in, the following (the “Trust Estate”) 
to the Trustee, and its successors in trust and assigns forever, for the securing of the performance of 
the obligations of the USDFA to the Bond Owners hereinafter set forth: 

FIRST 
 

All right, title and interest of the USDFA in and to the USDFA Revenues (as such term is defined 
herein), including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the present and continuing 
right to make claim for, collect, receive and receipt for any USDFA Revenues which are payable to or 
receivable by the USDFA under the Constitution of the State, the Government Code and the Indenture 
and any other applicable laws of this State or otherwise, to bring actions and proceedings thereunder 
for the enforcement thereof, and to do any and all things which the USDFA is or may become entitled 
to do thereunder, subject to the terms hereof. 

SECOND 
 

All moneys and securities held in funds and accounts of the Indenture, except amounts held 
in the Rebate Fund, and all other rights of every name and nature from time to time herein or 
hereafter by delivery or by writing of any kind pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional 
security hereunder to the Trustee by the USDFA or by anyone on its behalf, or with its written 
consent, and to hold and apply the same, subject to the terms hereof. 

THIRD 
 

All of the rights, title, and interest of the USDFA in the Installment Purchase Agreement, 
including all rights of the USDFA to receive payments thereunder and all rights of the USDFA 
thereunder as may be necessary to enforce compliance with said provisions (including enforcement 
of payment obligations and rate covenants, if any, contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement) 
or otherwise to protect the interest of the Owners of the Bonds, subject to the terms hereof, and 
excepting therefrom any rights to indemnification or to receive notices thereunder. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the Trust Estate, whether now owned or hereafter 
acquired, unto the Trustee and its respective successors in trust and assigns forever for the benefit 
of the Owners, and such pledge shall constitute a lien on and security interest in such Trust Estate; 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth for the equal and 
proportionate benefit, security and protection of all present and future owners of the Bonds issued 

284 of 567



 

Page 3 of 57 
 

under and secured by the Indenture without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien or 
otherwise of any of the Bonds over any of the other Bonds; 

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the USDFA, its successors or assigns shall well and truly pay, or 
cause to be paid, the principal of and interest and any redemption premium on the Bonds due or to 
become due thereon, at the times and in the manner provided in the Bonds according to the true 
intent and meaning thereof, and shall well and truly keep, perform and observe all of the covenants 
and conditions pursuant to the terms of the Indenture to be kept, performed and observed by it, and 
shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of money due or to become due in accordance 
with the terms and provisions hereof, then upon such final payments or deposits as herein provided, 
the Indenture and the rights hereby granted shall cease, terminate and be void; otherwise the 
Indenture shall remain in full force and effect. 

THE INDENTURE FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is expressly declared, that all Bonds which are 
issued and secured hereunder are to be issued, authenticated and delivered, and all sold property, 
rights and interests, including, without limitation, the USDFA Revenues, hereby assigned and pledged, 
are to be dealt with and disposed of, under, upon and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, 
covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes hereinafter expressed, and the USDFA has agreed 
and covenanted and does hereby covenant and agree with the Trustee, for the benefit of the 
respective Owners from time to time of the Bonds, as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; CONTENT OF CERTIFICATES AND OPINIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are defined 
in this Section 1.01 shall, for all purposes of the Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto 
and of any certificate, opinion or other document that is mentioned herein, have the meanings that 
are specified herein, to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of any of the terms 
that are defined herein.  Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms that are used 
herein and not defined have the meanings that are ascribed thereto in the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

USDFA.  The term “USDFA” means the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority, a public 
body duly that is organized and existing under the JPA Agreement, and under the Constitution and 
laws of the State of California. 

USDFA Revenues.  The term “USDFA Revenues” means: (a) all Series 2020 Installment 
Payments received by the USDFA or the Trustee pursuant to or with respect to the Installment 
Purchase Agreement; and (b) all interest or gain derived from the investment of amounts in any of 
the funds or accounts established hereunder. 

Authorized Representative.  The term “Authorized Representative” means with respect to the 
USDFA, its Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, Treasurer or Executive Director or any other person 
designated as an Authorized Representative of the USDFA by a Certificate of the USDFA signed by its 
Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, Treasurer or Executive Director and filed with the Trustee.  

285 of 567



 

Page 4 of 57 
 

Bond Counsel.  The term “Bond Counsel” means Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a 
Professional Corporation or another firm of nationally recognized attorneys experienced in the 
issuance of obligations the interest on which is excludable from gross income under Section 103 of 
the Code. 

Bond Year.  The term “Bond Year” means the period beginning on the date of issuance of the 
Bonds and ending on September 1, 2020, and each successive one year or, during the last period prior 
to maturity, shorter period thereafter until there are no Outstanding Bonds. 

Bonds.  The term “Bonds” means the Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A issued by the USDFA and 
at any time Outstanding pursuant to the Indenture. 

Business Day.  The term “Business Day” means: (i) a day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or 
legal holiday on which banking institutions in the State, or in any other state in which the Office of 
the Trustee is located, are closed; or (ii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is not closed. 

Certificate; Direction; Request; Requisition.  The terms “Certificate,” “Direction,” “Request,” 
and “Requisition” of the USDFA mean a written certificate, direction, request or requisition signed in 
the name of the USDFA by its Authorized Representative.  Any such instrument and supporting 
opinions or representations, if any, may, but need not, be combined in a single instrument with any 
other instrument, opinion or representation, and the two or more so combined shall be read and 
construed as a single instrument.  If and to the extent required by Section 1.02, each such instrument 
shall include the statements that are provided for in Section 1.02. 

Closing Date.  The term “Closing Date” means the date on which the Bonds are delivered to 
the original purchaser thereof. 

Code.  The term “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

Costs of Issuance.  The term “Costs of Issuance” means all items of expense directly or 
indirectly payable by or reimbursable to the USDFA and related to the authorization, issuance, sale 
and delivery of the Bonds, including but not limited to costs of preparation and reproduction of 
documents, printing expenses, filing and recording fees, initial fees and charges of the Trustee and 
counsel to the Trustee, legal fees and charges, fees and disbursements of consultants and 
professionals, Rating Agency fees, title insurance premiums, letter of credit fees and bond insurance 
premiums (if any), fees and charges for preparation, execution and safekeeping of the Bonds and any 
other cost, charge or fee in connection with the original issuance of the Bonds. 

Costs of Issuance Fund.  The term “Costs of Issuance Fund” means the fund by that name 
established pursuant to Section 3.03. 

Depository; DTC.  The terms “Depository” and “DTC” mean The Depository Trust Company, 
New York, New York, a limited purpose trust company that is organized under the laws of the State 
of New York, in its capacity as securities depository for the Bonds. 

District.  The term “District” means the Union Sanitary District, a sanitary district that is duly 
organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State. 

286 of 567



 

Page 5 of 57 
 

Event of Default.  The term “Event of Default” means any of the events that are specified in 
Section 7.01. 

Federal Securities.  The term “Federal Securities” means any direct, noncallable general 
obligations of the United States of America (including obligations issued or held in book-entry form 
on the books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America), or noncallable 
obligations the timely payment of principal of and interest on which are fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed by the United States of America. 

Fitch.  The term “Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc., or any successor thereto. 

Government Code.  The term “Government Code” means the Government Code of the State. 

Health and Safety Code.  The term “Health and Safety Code” means the Health and Safety 
Code of the State. 

Indenture.  The term “Indenture” means the Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020, 
by and between the USDFA and the Trustee, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be 
supplemented, modified or amended by any Supplemental Indenture. 

Information Services.  The term “Information Services” means the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board; or, in accordance with then-current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, such other services providing information with respect to called bonds as the USDFA 
may specify in a certificate to the USDFA and the Trustee. 

Installment Purchase Agreement.  The term “Installment Purchase Agreement” means the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the USDFA and the 
District, as amended from time to time. 

Interest Account.  The term “Interest Account” means the account by that name in the 2020A 
Bond Payment Fund established pursuant to Section 5.01. 

Interest Payment Date.  The term “Interest Payment Date” means September 1, 2020 and 
each March 1 and September 1 thereafter. 

Investment Agreement.  The term “Investment Agreement” means an investment agreement 
by a provider, supported by appropriate opinions of counsel, provided that any such Investment 
Agreement shall: (i) be from a provider rated at the time of initial execution by S&P or Moody’s at “A-
” or “A3”, respectively, or above; (ii) require the USDFA or the District to terminate such agreement 
and immediately reinvest the proceeds thereof in other Permitted Investments if the rating assigned 
to the provider by S&P or Moody’s falls to “BBB” or “Baa2”, respectively, or below; and (iii) expressly 
permit the withdrawal, without penalty, of any amounts necessary at any time to fund any 
deficiencies on account of debt service requirements with respect to the Bonds, together with such 
amendments as may be approved by the USDFA and the Trustee from time to time. 

JPA Agreement.  The term “JPA Agreement” means that certain Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement, dated January 13, 2020, by and between the District and California Municipal Finance 

287 of 567



 

Page 6 of 57 
 

USDFA, a public body, corporate and politic which is duly organized and existing under the laws of 
the State, as amended from time to time. 

Letter of Representations.  The term “Letter of Representations” means the letter of the 
USDFA delivered to and accepted by the Depository on or prior to delivery of the Bonds as book-entry 
bonds setting forth the basis on which the Depository serves as depository for such book-entry bonds, 
as originally executed or as it may be supplemented or revised or replaced by a letter from the USDFA 
delivered to and accepted by the Depository. 

Moody’s.  The term “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any successor 
thereto. 

Nominee.  The term “Nominee” means the nominee of the Depository, which may be the 
Depository, as determined from time to time pursuant to Section 2.08 hereof. 

Office.  The term “Office” means with respect to the Trustee, the principal corporate trust 
office of the Trustee at One California Street, Suite 1000, San Francisco, California 94111, Attn: Global 
Corporate Trust, Reference: Union Sanitary District, Series 2020A, or at such other or additional 
offices as may be specified in writing by the Trustee to the USDFA, except that with respect to 
presentation of Bonds for payment or for registration of transfer and exchange such term means the 
office or agency of the Trustee at which, at any particular time, its corporate trust agency business 
shall be conducted. 

Opinion of Counsel.  The term “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of counsel 
(including but not limited to counsel to the USDFA) selected by the USDFA.  If and to the extent 
required by the provisions of Section 1.02, each Opinion of Counsel shall include the statements 
provided for in Section 1.02. 

Outstanding.  The term “Outstanding,” when used as of any particular time with reference to 
Bonds, means (subject to the provisions of Section 11.09) all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, 
authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under the Indenture except: (i) Bonds theretofore 
canceled by the Trustee or surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation; (ii) Bonds with respect to 
which all liability of the USDFA shall have been discharged in accordance with Section 10.02, including 
Bonds (or portions thereof) described in Section 11.10; and (iii) Bonds for the transfer or exchange of 
or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered by 
the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture. 

Owner; Bond Owner.  The terms “Owner” or “Bond Owner,” whenever used herein with 
respect to a Bond, mean the person in whose name the ownership of such Bond is registered on the 
Registration Books. 

Participants.  The term “Participants” means those broker-dealers, banks and other financial 
institutions from time to time for which the Depository holds book-entry certificates as securities 
depository. 

288 of 567



 

Page 7 of 57 
 

Permitted Investments.  The term “Permitted Investments” means any of the following which 
at the time are legal investments under the laws of the State for moneys held hereunder and then 
proposed to be invested therein: 

(A) Federal Securities;  

(B) for all purposes, including defeasance investments in refunding escrow accounts: (1) 
cash (insured at all times by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or otherwise collateralized 
with obligations described in clause (2) below); (2) direct, non-callable obligations of (including 
obligations issued or held in book entry form on the books of: the Department of the Treasury of the 
United States of America; (3) U.S. Treasury Certificates, Notes and Bonds (including State and Local 
Government Series); (4) Resolution Funding Corp. strips (only the interest component of REFCORP 
strips which have been stripped by request to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in book entry 
form are acceptable); (5) Pre-refunded municipal bonds rated “Aaa” by Moody’s and “AAA” by S&P.  
If however, the issue is only rated by S&P (i.e., there is no Moody’s rating), then the pre-refunded 
bonds must have been pre-refunded with cash, direct U.S. or U.S. guaranteed obligations, or “AAA” 
rated pre-refunded municipals to satisfy this condition; and (6) Obligations issued by the following 
agencies which are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S.: a. U.S. Export-Import Bank 
(Eximbank): Direct obligations or fully guaranteed certificates of beneficial ownership; b. Farmers 
Home Administration: Certificates of beneficial ownership; c. Federal Financing Bank; d. General 
Services Administration: Participation Certificates; e. U.S. Maritime Administration: Guaranteed Title 
XI financing; and f. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development: Project Notes, Local USDFA 
Bonds, New Communities Debentures – U.S. government guaranteed debentures, U.S. Public Housing 
Notes and Bonds – U.S. government guaranteed public housing notes and bonds; and 

(C) for all purposes other than defeasance investments in refunding escrow accounts: 

(1) direct obligations of the United States of America (including obligations issued 
or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury, and CATS and TIGRS) or 
obligations of the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United 
States of America; 

(2) obligations of any of the following federal agencies which obligations 
represent the full faith and credit of the United States of America: Farmers Home Administration; 
General Services Administration; United States Maritime Administration; Government National 
Mortgage Association; United States Department of Housing & Urban Development; Federal 
Financing Bank; and Federal Housing Administration Debentures;  

(3) obligations of any of the following federal agencies which obligations do not 
represent the full faith and credit of the United States of America, including the Federal Home Loan 
Bank System; Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC); Federal National Mortgage 
Association (FNMA); Student Loan Marketing Association; Resolution Funding Corp.; and Farm Credit 
System;  

(4) commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in the single highest 
classification, “A-1” by S&P and “P-1” by Moody’s;   

289 of 567



 

Page 8 of 57 
 

(5) investments in a money market fund rated “AAAm”, “AAAm-G” or “AA-m” or 
better by S&P, or “Aaa”, “Aa1” or “Aa2” or better by Moody’s, including any fund for which the 
Trustee or an affiliate acts as investment advisor or provides other services; 

(6) Certificates of deposit secured at all times by collateral described in clauses 
(A) and/or (B)(1) above.  Such certificates must be issued by commercial banks, savings and loan 
associations or mutual savings banks, including the Trustee and its affiliates.  The collateral must be 
held by a third party and the Trustee must have a perfected first security interest in the collateral; 

(7) Certificates of deposit (including those of the Trustee, its parent and its 
affiliates), savings accounts, deposit accounts or money market deposits; 

(8) Investment Agreements, including GICs, Forward Purchase Agreements and 
Reserve Fund Put Agreements;  

(9) Federal Funds or bankers acceptances with a maximum term of one year of 
any bank, including the Trustee and its affiliates, which has an unsecured, uninsured and 
unguaranteed obligation rating of “Prime-1” or “A3” or better by Moody’s and “A-1” or “A” or better 
by S&P; 

(10) Repurchase agreements provide for the transfer of securities from a dealer 
bank or securities firm (seller/borrower) to the Trustee or the District, as applicable, and the transfer 
of cash from the Trustee or the District, as applicable, to the dealer bank or securities firm with an 
agreement that the dealer bank or securities firm will repay the cash plus a yield to the Trustee or 
the District, as applicable, in exchange for the securities at a specified date; 

1. Repurchase agreements must be between the municipal entity and a dealer bank or 
securities firm. 

a. Primary dealers on the Federal Reserve reporting dealer list which are rated 
“A” or better by S&P and Moody’s; or 

b. Banks rated “A” or above by S&P and Moody’s. 

2. The written contract must include the following: 

a. Securities which are acceptable for transfer are: (1) Direct U.S. Government 
securities; or (2) Federal agency securities that are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. 
government (and FNMA and FHLMC); 

b. The term of the repurchase agreement may be up to 30 days; 

c. The collateral must be delivered to the Trustee or the District, as applicable, 
trustee (if trustee is not supplying the collateral) or third party acting as agent for the trustee (if the 
trustee is supplying the collateral) before/simultaneous with payment (perfection by possession of 
certificates securities). 

290 of 567



 

Page 9 of 57 
 

d. The securities must be valued weekly, marked-to-market at current market 
price plus accrued interest.  The value of collateral must be equal to 104% of the amount of cash 
transferred by the Trustee or the District, as applicable, to the dealer bank or security firm under the 
repo plus accrued interest.  If the value of the securities held as collateral slips below the 104% of the 
value of the cash transferred by the Trustee or the District, as applicable, then additional cash and/or 
acceptable securities must be transferred.  If, however, the securities used as collateral are FNMA or 
FHLMC, then the value of collateral must equal 105%. 

3. Legal opinion which must be delivered to the Trustee and the District: the repurchase 
agreement meets guidelines under state law for legal investment of public funds;  

(11) The Local Agency Investment Fund of the State of California created pursuant 
to Section 16429.1 of the California Government Code;  

(12) shares of beneficial interests in investments purchased by the Investment 
Trust of California, doing business as CalTRUST, a joint powers authority created pursuant to Section 
6509.7 of the California Government Code, to the extent the Trustee is authorized to register such 
investment in its name; 

(13) Unsecured certificates of deposit, time deposits, money market deposits, 
demand deposits and bankers’ acceptances of any bank (including those of Trustee, its parent and its 
affiliates) the short term obligations of which are rated on the date of purchase “A-1” or better by 
S&P, “P-1” or better by Moody’s or “F1” or better by Fitch. 

Principal Account.  The term “Principal Account” means the account by that name in the 
2020A Bond Payment Fund established pursuant to Section 5.01. 

Rating.  The term “Rating” means any currently effective rating on the Bonds issued by a 
Rating Agency. 

Rating Agency.  The term “Rating Agency” means S&P and Fitch. 

Rebate Fund.  The term “Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to 
Section 5.07. 

Record Date.  The term “Record Date” means, with respect to any Interest Payment Date, the 
fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month preceding such Interest Payment Date, whether or not 
such day is a Business Day. 

Redemption Date.  The term “Redemption Date” means the date fixed for an optional 
redemption prior to maturity of the Bonds. 

Redemption Fund.  The term “Redemption Fund” means the fund by that name established 
pursuant to Section 5.05. 

Redemption Price.  The term “Redemption Price” means, with respect to any Bond (or portion 
thereof), the principal amount of such Bond (or portion) plus the interest accrued to the applicable 

291 of 567



 

Page 10 of 57 
 

Redemption Date and the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to 
the provisions of such Bond and the Indenture. 

Registration Books.  The term “Registration Books” means the records maintained by the 
Trustee for the registration of ownership and registration of transfer of the Bonds pursuant to Section 
2.05. 

Responsible Officer of the Trustee.  The term “Responsible Officer of the Trustee” means any 
officer within the global corporate trust department (or any successor group or department of the 
Trustee) including any vice president, assistant vice president, assistant secretary or any other officer 
or assistant officer of the Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those performed by the 
persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, with responsibility for the administration 
of the Indenture. 

S&P.  The term “S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 
business, or any successor thereto. 

Securities Depositories.  The term “Securities Depositories” means The Depository Trust 
Company; and, in accordance with then current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, such other securities depositories as the USDFA may designate in a Request of the 
USDFA deliver to the Trustee. 

State.  The term “State” means the State of California. 

Supplemental Indenture.  The term “Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture that is 
hereafter duly authorized and entered into between the USDFA and the Trustee, supplementing, 
modifying or amending the Indenture; but only if and to the extent that such Supplemental Indenture 
is specifically authorized hereunder. 

Tax Certificate.  The term “Tax Certificate” means the Tax Certificate dated the Closing Date, 
concerning certain matters pertaining to the use and investment of proceeds of the Bonds issued by 
the USDFA on the date of issuance of the Bonds, including any and all exhibits attached thereto. 

Trustee.  The term “Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking 
association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, or its 
successor, as Trustee hereunder as provided in Section 8.01. 

2020A Bond Payment Fund.  The term “2020A Bond Payment Fund” means the fund by that 
name established pursuant to Section 5.01(c). 

Valuation Date.  “Valuation Date” means the fifth Business Day preceding the date of 
redemption. 

Value.  The term “Value” which shall be determined as of the end of each month, means that 
the value of any investments shall be calculated as follows: 

292 of 567



 

Page 11 of 57 
 

(a) for the purpose of determining the amount of any fund, all Permitted 
Investments credited to such fund shall be valued at fair market value.  The Trustee shall determine 
the fair market value based on accepted industry standards and from accepted industry providers.  
Accepted industry providers shall include, but are not limited to, pricing services provided by Financial 
Times Interactive Data Corporation, Merrill Lynch and Morgan Stanley Smith Barney. 

(b) As to certificates of deposit and bankers’ acceptances, the face amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest. 

(c) As to any investment that is not specified above, the value thereof established 
by prior agreement between the USDFA and the Trustee. 

Section 1.02. Content of Certificates and Opinions.  Every certificate or opinion that is 
provided for in the Indenture, except the certificate of destruction that is provided for in Section 
11.05 hereof, with respect to compliance with any provision hereof shall include: (1) a statement that 
the person making or giving such certificate or opinion has read such provision and the definitions 
herein relating thereto; (2) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or 
investigation upon which the certificate or opinion is based; (3) a statement that, in the opinion of 
such person he or she has made or caused to be made such examination or investigation as is 
necessary to enable such person to express an informed opinion with respect to the subject matter 
referred to in the instrument to which such person’s signature is affixed; (4) a statement of the 
assumptions upon which such certificate or opinion is based, and that such assumptions are 
reasonable; and (5) a statement as to whether, in the opinion of such person, such provision has been 
complied with. 

Any such certificate or opinion that is made or given by an officer of the USDFA may be based, 
insofar as it relates to legal or accounting matters, upon a certificate or opinion of or representation 
by counsel or an Independent Certified Public Accountant, unless such officer knows, or in the 
exercise of reasonable care should have known, that the certificate, opinion or representation with 
respect to the matters upon which such certificate or statement may be based, as aforesaid, is 
erroneous.  Any such certificate or opinion made or given by counsel or an Independent Certified 
Public Accountant may be based, insofar as it relates to factual matters (with respect to which 
information is in the possession of the USDFA) upon a certificate or opinion of or representation by 
an officer of the USDFA, unless such counsel or Independent Certified Public Accountant knows, or in 
the exercise of reasonable care should have known, that the certificate or opinion or representation 
with respect to the matters upon which such person’s certificate or opinion or representation may 
be based, as aforesaid, is erroneous.  The same officer of the USDFA, or the same counsel or 
Independent Certified Public Accountant, as the case may be, need not certify to all of the matters 
that are required to be certified under any provision of the Indenture, but different officers, counsel 
or Independent Certified Public Accountants may certify to different matters, respectively. 

293 of 567



 

Page 12 of 57 
 

Section 1.03. Interpretation. 

(a) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words expressed in the singular shall 
include the plural and vice versa, and the use of the neuter, masculine, or feminine gender is for 
convenience only and shall be deemed to include the neuter, masculine or feminine gender, as 
appropriate. 

(b) Headings of articles and sections herein and the table of contents hereof are 
solely for convenience of reference, do not constitute a part hereof and shall not affect the meaning, 
construction or effect hereof. 

(c) All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are to 
the corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of the Indenture; the words “herein,” “hereof,” 
“hereby,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to the Indenture as a whole and not 
to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE BONDS 

Section 2.01. Authorization of Bonds.  The USDFA hereby authorizes the issuance 
hereunder from time to time of the Bonds, which shall constitute special obligations of the USDFA, 
for the purpose of financing the 2020 Project and refinancing the Refunding Project.  The Bonds are 
hereby designated the “Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A” in 
the aggregate principal amount of $__________.  The Indenture constitutes a continuing agreement 
with the Owners from time to time of the Bonds to secure the full payment of the principal of and 
interest and premium (if any) on all the Bonds, subject to the covenants, provisions and conditions 
herein contained. 

Section 2.02. Terms of the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form without 
coupons in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.   

The Bonds shall mature on September 1 in each of the years and in the amounts set forth 
below and shall bear interest on each Interest Payment Date at the rates set forth below: 

294 of 567



 

Page 13 of 57 
 

Maturity Date 
(September 1) Principal Amount Interest Rate 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

*   
_______ 
*  Term Bond. 

Interest on the Bonds shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date to the person whose 
name appears on the Registration Books as the Owner thereof as of the Record Date immediately 
preceding each such Interest Payment Date, such interest to be paid by check of the Trustee sent by 
first class mail on the applicable Interest Payment Date to the Owner at the address of such Owner 
as it appears on the Registration Books (except that in the case of an Owner of one million dollars 
($1,000,000) or more in principal amount, such payment may, at such Owner’s option, be made by 
wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account in the United States in accordance with 
written instructions provided to the Trustee by such Owner prior to the Record Date.  Principal of and 
premium (if any) on any Bond shall be paid by check of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender 
thereof at maturity or upon the prior redemption thereof, at the Office of the Trustee.  Both the 
principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds shall be payable in lawful money of the 
United States of America. 

Each Bond shall be dated the date of initial delivery, and shall bear interest from the Interest 
Payment Date next preceding the date of authentication thereof unless: (a) it is authenticated after 
a Record Date and on or before the following Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear 
interest from such Interest Payment Date; or (b) unless it is authenticated on or before ______ 15, 
2020, in which event it shall bear interest from the date of initial delivery; provided, however, that if, 
as of the date of authentication of any Bond, interest thereon is in default, such Bond shall bear 

295 of 567



 

Page 14 of 57 
 

interest from the Interest Payment Date to which interest has previously been paid or made available 
for payment thereon.  Interest on the Bonds shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year 
composed of twelve 30-day months. 

Section 2.03. Transfer of Bonds.  Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred 
on the Registration Books by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his or her duly 
authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond at the Office of the Trustee for cancellation, 
accompanied by delivery of a written instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form acceptable to 
the Trustee.  The Trustee shall not be required to register the transfer of any Bond during the period 
in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for redemption and any Bond that has been selected for 
redemption. 

Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the USDFA shall execute and 
the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denomination or 
denominations for a like series and aggregate principal amount of the same maturity.  The Trustee 
shall require the Bond Owner requesting such transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge 
that is required to be paid with respect to such transfer.  Following any transfer of Bonds, the Trustee 
will cancel and destroy the Bonds that it has received. 

Section 2.04. Exchange of Bonds.  Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for 
a like aggregate principal amount of other authorized denominations of the same series and maturity.  
The Trustee shall not be required to exchange any Bond during the period in which the Trustee is 
selecting Bonds for redemption and any Bond that has been selected for redemption.  The Trustee 
shall require the Bond Owner requesting such exchange to pay any tax or other governmental charge 
that is required to be paid with respect to such exchange.  Following any exchange of Bonds, the 
Trustee will cancel and destroy the Bonds that it has received. 

Section 2.05. Registration Books.  The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept, at the Office of 
the Trustee, sufficient records for the registration and transfer of ownership of the Bonds, which shall 
upon reasonable notice and at reasonable times be open to inspection during regular business hours 
by the USDFA, the District and the Owners; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Trustee 
shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be 
registered or transferred, on such records, the ownership of the Bonds as hereinbefore provided. 

The person in whose name any Bond shall be registered shall be deemed the Owner thereof 
for all purposes hereof, and payment of or on account of the interest on and principal and 
Redemption Price of such Bonds shall be made only to or upon the order in writing of such registered 
Owner, which payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge liability upon such Bond 
to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

Section 2.06. Form and Execution of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be in substantially the form set 
forth in Exhibit A.  The Bonds shall be executed in the name and on behalf of the USDFA with the 
manual or facsimile signature of its Chair, attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its 
Secretary.  The Bonds may carry a seal, and such seal may be in the form of a facsimile of the USDFA’s 
seal and may be reproduced, imprinted or impressed on the Bonds.  The Bonds shall then be delivered 
to the Trustee for authentication by it.  In case any of the officers who shall have signed or attested 
any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer or officers of the USDFA before the Bonds so signed or 

296 of 567



 

Page 15 of 57 
 

attested shall have been authenticated or delivered by the Trustee, or issued by the USDFA, such 
Bonds may nevertheless be authenticated, delivered and issued and, upon such authentication, 
delivery and issue, shall be as binding upon the USDFA as though those who signed and attested the 
same had continued to be such officers of the USDFA, and any Bonds may be signed and attested on 
behalf of the USDFA by those persons who at the actual date of execution of such Bonds are the 
proper officers of the USDFA although at the nominal date of such Bonds any such person shall not 
have been such officer of the USDFA. 

Only such of the Bonds as shall bear thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in 
the form set forth in Exhibit A, manually executed by the Trustee, shall be valid or obligatory for any 
purpose or entitled to the benefits of the Indenture, and such certificate of or on behalf of the Trustee 
shall be conclusive evidence that the Bonds so authenticated have been duly executed, authenticated 
and delivered hereunder and are entitled to the benefits of the Indenture. 

Section 2.07. Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen.  If any Bond shall become 
mutilated, the USDFA, at the expense of the Owner of said Bond, shall execute, and the Trustee shall 
thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor, series and authorized denomination in 
exchange and substitution for the Bonds so mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee of the 
Bond so mutilated.  Every mutilated Bond so surrendered to the Trustee shall be canceled by it and 
upon the written request of the USDFA delivered to, or upon the order of, the USDFA.  If any Bond 
shall be lost, destroyed or stolen, evidence of such loss, destruction or theft may be submitted to the 
Trustee and, if such evidence be satisfactory to the Trustee and indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee 
shall be given, the USDFA, at the expense of the Owner, shall execute, and the Trustee shall 
thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor, series and authorized denomination in 
lieu of and in substitution for the Bond so lost, destroyed or stolen (or if any such Bond shall have 
matured or shall be about to mature, instead of issuing a substitute Bond, the Trustee may pay the 
same without surrender thereof).  The USDFA may require payment by the Owner of a sum not 
exceeding the actual cost of preparing each new Bond issued under this Section and of the expenses 
which may be incurred by the USDFA and the Trustee in the premises.  Any Bond issued under the 
provisions of this Section in lieu of any Bond alleged to be lost, destroyed or stolen shall constitute 
an original additional contractual obligation on the part of the USDFA whether or not the Bond so 
alleged to be lost, destroyed, or stolen be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to 
the benefits of the Indenture with all other Bonds secured by the Indenture.  Notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Section, in lieu of delivering a new Bond for a Bond which has been mutilated, 
lost, destroyed or stolen and which has matured or has been selected for redemption, the Trustee 
may make payment of such Bond upon receipt of indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee. 

Section 2.08. Book-Entry System. 

(a) Election of Book-Entry System.  Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the USDFA 
may provide that such Bonds shall be initially issued as book-entry Bonds.  If the USDFA shall elect to 
deliver any Bonds in book-entry form, then the USDFA shall cause the delivery of a separate single 
fully registered bond (which may be typewritten) for each maturity date of such Bonds in an 
authorized denomination corresponding to that total principal amount of the Bonds designated to 
mature on such date.  Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in 
the Bond Registration Books in the name of the Nominee, as nominee of the Depository, and 

297 of 567



 

Page 16 of 57 
 

ownership of the Bonds, or any portion thereof may not thereafter be transferred except as provided 
in Section 2.08(e). 

With respect to book-entry Bonds, the USDFA and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or 
obligation to any Participant or to any person on behalf of which such a Participant holds an interest 
in such book-entry Bonds.  Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the USDFA and the 
Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to: (i) the accuracy of the records of 
the Depository, the Nominee, or any Participant with respect to any ownership interest in book-entry 
Bonds; (ii) the delivery to any Participant or any other person, other than an Owner as shown in the 
Bond Registration Books, of any notice with respect to book-entry Bonds, including any notice of 
redemption; (iii) the selection by the Depository and its Participants of the beneficial interests in 
book-entry Bonds to be redeemed in the event that the USDFA redeems the Bonds in part; or (iv) the 
payment by the Depository or any Participant or any other person of any amount of principal of, 
premium, if any, or interest on book-entry Bonds.  The USDFA and the Trustee may treat and consider 
the person in whose name each book-entry Bond is registered in the Bond Registration Books as the 
absolute Owner of such book-entry Bond for the purpose of payment of principal of, premium and 
interest on such Bond, for the purpose of giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect 
to such Bond, for the purpose of registering transfers with respect to such Bond, and for all other 
purposes whatsoever.  The Trustee shall pay all principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 
Bonds only to or upon the order of the respective Owner, as shown in the Bond Registration Books, 
or his respective attorney duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective 
to fully satisfy and discharge the USDFA’s obligations with respect to payment of principal of, 
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  No person other 
than an Owner, as shown in the Bond Registration Books, shall receive a Bond evidencing the 
obligation to make payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  Upon 
delivery by the Depository to the USDFA and the Trustee of written notice to the effect that the 
Depository has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of the Nominee, and subject to the 
provisions herein with respect to Record Dates, the word Nominee in the Indenture shall refer to 
such nominee of the Depository. 

(b) Delivery of Letter of Representations.  In order to qualify the book-entry 
Bonds for the Depository’s book-entry system, the USDFA shall execute and deliver to the Depository 
a Letter of Representations.  The execution and delivery of a Letter of Representations shall not in 
any way impose upon the USDFA or the Trustee any obligation whatsoever with respect to persons 
having interests in such book-entry Bonds other than the Owners, as shown on the Registration 
Books.  In addition to the execution and delivery of a Letter of Representations, the USDFA and the 
Trustee, if necessary, shall take such other actions, not inconsistent with the Indenture, as are 
reasonably necessary to qualify book-entry Bonds for the Depository’s book-entry program. 

(c) Selection of Depository.  In the event that: (i) the Depository determines not 
to continue to act as securities depository for book-entry Bonds; or (ii) the USDFA determines that 
continuation of the book-entry system is not in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds 
or the USDFA, then the USDFA will discontinue the book-entry system with the Depository.  If the 
USDFA determines to replace the Depository with another qualified securities depository, the USDFA 
shall prepare or direct the preparation of a new single, separate, fully registered Bond for each of the 
maturity dates of such book-entry Bonds, registered in the name of such successor or substitute 

298 of 567



 

Page 17 of 57 
 

qualified securities depository or its Nominee as provided in subsection (e) hereof.  If the USDFA fails 
to identify another qualified securities depository to replace the Depository, then the Bonds shall no 
longer be restricted to being registered in such Bond Registration Books in the name of the Nominee, 
but shall be registered in whatever name or names the Owners transferring or exchanging such Bonds 
shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 2.03 and 2.04 hereof. 

(d) Payments To Depository.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
Indenture to the contrary, so long as all Outstanding Bonds are held in book-entry form and registered 
in the name of the Nominee, all payments of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest 
on such Bonds and all notices with respect to such Bonds shall be made and given, respectively to the 
Nominee, as provided in the Letter of Representations or as otherwise instructed by the Depository 
and agreed to by the Trustee notwithstanding any inconsistent provisions herein. 

(e) Transfer of Bonds to Substitute Depository. 

(i) The Bonds shall be initially issued as provided in Section 2.01 hereof.  
Registered ownership of such Bonds, or any portions thereof, may not thereafter be transferred 
except: 

(A) to any successor of DTC or its nominee, or of any substitute 
depository designated pursuant to clause (B) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.08(e) (“Substitute 
Depository”); provided that any successor of DTC or Substitute Depository shall be qualified under 
any applicable laws to provide the service proposed to be provided by it; 

(B) to any Substitute Depository, upon: (1) the resignation of DTC 
or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository; or (2) 
a determination by the USDFA that DTC (or its successor) is no longer able to carry out its functions 
as depository; provided that any such Substitute Depository shall be qualified under any applicable 
laws to provide the services proposed to be provided by it; or 

(C) to any person as provided below, upon: (1) the resignation of 
DTC or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository; 
or (2) a determination by the USDFA that DTC or its successor (or Substitute Depository or its 
successor) is no longer able to carry out its functions as depository. 

(ii) In the case of any transfer pursuant to clause (A) or clause (B) of 
subsection (i) of this Section 2.08(e), upon receipt of all Outstanding Bonds by the Trustee, together 
with a written request of the USDFA to the Trustee designating the Substitute Depository, a single 
new Bond, which the USDFA shall prepare or cause to be prepared, shall be issued for each maturity 
of Bonds then Outstanding, registered in the name of such successor or such Substitute Depository 
or their Nominees, as the case may be, all as specified in such written request of the USDFA.  In the 
case of any transfer pursuant to clause (C) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.08(e), upon receipt of all 
Outstanding Bonds by the Trustee, together with a written request of the USDFA to the Trustee, new 
Bonds, which the USDFA shall prepare or cause to be prepared, shall be issued in such denominations 
and registered in the names of such persons as are requested in such written request of the USDFA, 
subject to the limitations of Section 2.01 hereof, provided that the Trustee shall not be required to 

299 of 567



 

Page 18 of 57 
 

deliver such new Bonds within a period of less than sixty (60) days from the date of receipt of such 
written request from the USDFA. 

(iii) In the case of a partial redemption or an advance refunding of any 
Bonds evidencing a portion of the principal maturing in a particular year, DTC or its successor (or any 
Substitute Depository or its successor) shall make an appropriate notation on such Bonds indicating 
the date and amounts of such reduction in principal, in form acceptable to the Trustee, all in 
accordance with the Letter of Representations.  The Trustee shall not be liable for such Depository’s 
failure to make such notations or errors in making such notations and the records of the Trustee as 
to the outstanding principal amount of such Bonds shall be controlling. 

(iv) The USDFA and the Trustee shall be entitled to treat the person in 
whose name any Bond is registered as the Owner thereof for all purposes of the Indenture and any 
applicable laws, notwithstanding any notice to the contrary received by the Trustee or the USDFA; 
and the USDFA and the Trustee shall not have responsibility for transmitting payments to, 
communicating with, notifying, or otherwise dealing with any beneficial owners of the Bonds.  
Neither the USDFA nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation, legal or otherwise, to 
any such beneficial owners or to any other party, including DTC or its successor (or Substitute 
Depository or its successor), except to the Owner of any Bonds, and the Trustee may rely conclusively 
on its records as to the identity of the Owners of the Bonds. 

ARTICLE III 
 

ISSUANCE OF BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS 

Section 3.01. Issuance of the Bonds.  At any time after the execution of the Indenture, the 
USDFA may execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and, upon the Request of the USDFA, deliver 
the Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $_________. 

Section 3.02. Application of Proceeds of the Bonds.  The proceeds received from the sale of 
the Bonds shall be deposited in trust with the Trustee, who shall apply such proceeds as follows 
pursuant to a Direction of the USDFA or the District: 

(a) The Trustee shall pay $_______ to the SWRCB in accordance with a Direction 
from an Authorized Officer; 

(b) The Trustee shall deposit the amount of $_______ in the Costs of Issuance 
Fund. 

(c) The Trustee shall transfer the amount of $__________ to the District for 
deposit by the District in the Acquisition Fund to finance a portion of the costs of the 2020 Project. 

The Trustee may establish temporary funds or accounts in its records to facilitate and record 
the above transfer of proceeds. 

Section 3.03. Establishment and Application of Costs of Issuance Fund.  The Trustee shall 
establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Costs of Issuance Fund.”  The 

300 of 567



 

Page 19 of 57 
 

moneys in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee to pay the Costs of 
Issuance upon submission of Requisitions of the USDFA stating the person to whom payment is to be 
made, the amount to be paid, the purpose for which the obligation was incurred, that such payment 
is a proper charge against said fund and that payment for such charge has not previously been made.  
On the six month anniversary of the Closing Date, or upon the earlier written direction of the USDFA, 
all amounts remaining in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be deposited in the Interest Account and 
the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be closed. 

Section 3.04. Validity of Bonds.  The validity of the authorization and issuance of the Bonds 
is not dependent on and shall not be affected in any way by any proceedings taken by the USDFA, the 
District or the Trustee with respect to or in connection with the Installment Purchase Agreement.  
The recital contained in the Bonds that the same are issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of 
the State shall be conclusive evidence of the validity and of compliance with the provisions of law in 
their issuance. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 4.01. Terms of Redemption.   

(a) The Bonds shall be subject to extraordinary redemption prior to their 
respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the order of maturity and within 
maturities as directed by the USDFA in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such 
lesser number of days acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for 
the convenience of the Trustee) prior to such date in integral multiples of $5,000 from Net Proceeds, 
upon the terms and conditions of, and as provided for in, Sections 6.10 and 6.16 of the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued 
interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

(b) The Bonds with stated maturities on or after September 1, 20__, shall be 
subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part as directed by 
the USDFA in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such lesser number of days 
acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the convenience of the 
Trustee) and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000, on September 1, 20__ or any 
date thereafter at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest 
thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

(c) The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 
thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following 
schedule: 

301 of 567



 

Page 20 of 57 
 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

  
  
  
  

*  
    
* Maturity. 

(a) The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 
thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof 
plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the 
following schedule:    

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

  
  
  
  

*  
    
* Final Maturity. 

If some but not all of the Bonds maturing on September 1, 20__ or September 1, 20__ are 
redeemed pursuant to subsections (a) or (b), above, the principal amount of the Bonds maturing on 
September 1, 20__ or September 1, 20__, as applicable, to be redeemed pursuant to this subsection 
(c) on any subsequent September 1 will be reduced, by $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, as 
designated by the USDFA in a Certificate of the USDFA filed with the Trustee; provided, however, that 
the aggregate amount of such reductions shall not exceed the aggregate amount of Bonds maturing 
on September 1, 20__ or September 1, 20__, as applicable, redeemed pursuant to subsections (a) or 
(b) above. 

Section 4.02. Selection of Bonds for Redemption.  Whenever provision is made in the 
Indenture for the redemption of less than all of the Bonds, the Trustee shall select the Bonds for 
redemption as a whole or in part on any date as directed by the USDFA and by lot within each maturity 
in integral multiples of $5,000 in accordance with Section 4.01 hereof.  The Trustee will promptly 
notify the USDFA in writing of the numbers of the Bonds or portions thereof so selected for 
redemption. 

Section 4.03. Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail 
not less than twenty (20) days nor more than sixty (60) days before any Redemption Date, to the 
respective Owners of any Bonds that are designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on 
the Registration Books, to the Securities Depositories and the Information Services.  Each notice of 

302 of 567



 

Page 21 of 57 
 

redemption shall state the date of notice, the redemption date, the place or places of redemption 
and the Redemption Price, and shall designate the maturities, CUSIP numbers, if any, and, in the case 
of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be 
redeemed.  Each such notice shall also state that on the redemption date there will become due and 
payable on each of said Bonds or parts thereof that are designated for redemption the Redemption 
Price thereof or of said specified portion of the principal thereof in the case of a Bond to be redeemed 
in part only, together with interest accrued thereon to the redemption date, and that (provided that 
moneys for redemption have been deposited with the Trustee) from and after such redemption date 
interest thereon shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such Bonds be then surrendered to the 
Trustee.  Neither the failure to receive such notice nor any defect in the notice or the mailing thereof 
will affect the validity of the redemption of any Bond.  Notice of redemption of Bonds shall be given 
by the Trustee, at the expense of the USDFA, for and on behalf of the USDFA. 

With respect to any notice of optional redemption of Bonds, such notice may state that such 
redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such 
redemption of moneys that are sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 
such Bonds to be redeemed and that, if such moneys shall not have been so received, said notice 
shall be of no force and effect and the Trustee shall not be required to redeem such Bonds.  In the 
event that such notice of redemption contains such a condition and such moneys are not so received, 
the redemption shall not be made, and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give 
notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so 
received. 

Section 4.04. Partial Redemption of Bonds.  Upon surrender of any Bond redeemed in part 
only, the USDFA shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, 
at the expense of the USDFA, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations equal in aggregate 
principal amount to the unredeemed portion of the Bonds surrendered and of the same series, 
interest rate and maturity. 

Section 4.05. Effect of Redemption.  Notice of redemption having been duly given as 
aforesaid, and moneys for payment of the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to the 
date fixed for redemption on, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption being held by 
the Trustee, on the redemption date designated in such notice, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so 
called for redemption shall become due and payable, interest on the Bonds so called for redemption 
shall cease to accrue, said Bonds (or portions thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or 
security under the Indenture, and the Owners of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof 
except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof.  The Trustee shall, upon surrender for 
payment of any of the Bonds to be redeemed on their Redemption Dates, pay such Bonds at the 
Redemption Price. 

All Bonds redeemed pursuant to the provisions of this Article shall be canceled upon 
surrender thereof. 

303 of 567



 

Page 22 of 57 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; 
PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

Section 5.01. Pledge and Assignment; 2020A Bond Payment Fund.   

(a) All of the USDFA Revenues and any other amounts (including proceeds of the 
sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account that is established pursuant to the Indenture (except 
the Rebate Fund) are hereby irrevocably pledged to secure the payment of the principal of and 
interest, and the premium, if any, on the Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of 
the Indenture.  Said pledge shall constitute a lien on and security interest in such amounts and shall 
attach, be perfected and be valid and binding from and after the Closing Date, without any physical 
delivery thereof or further act and shall be valid and binding against all parties having claims of any 
kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the USDFA, irrespective of whether such parties have notice 
hereof. 

(b) The USDFA, for good and valuable consideration in hand received, does 
hereby irrevocably assign and transfer to the Trustee without recourse, for the benefit of the Owners 
of the Bonds as set forth herein, all of its rights, title, and interest in all Series 2020 Installment 
Payments payable by the District pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, including all rights 
of the USDFA thereunder as may be necessary to enforce compliance with said provisions (including 
enforcement of payment obligations and rate covenants, if any, contained in the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, or otherwise to protect the interest of the Owners of the Bonds).  Such 
assignment shall be subject to and limited by the terms of the Indenture. 

(c) There is hereby established with the Trustee the 2020A Bond Payment Fund, 
which the Trustee covenants to maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held 
by it so long as any Series 2020 Installment Payments remain unpaid.  Except as directed in Sections 
5.06 and 5.08, all USDFA Revenues shall be promptly deposited by the Trustee upon receipt thereof 
into the 2020A Bond Payment Fund; except that all moneys received by the Trustee and required 
hereunder to be deposited in the Redemption Fund shall be promptly deposited therein.  All USDFA 
Revenues deposited with the Trustee shall be held, disbursed, allocated and applied by the Trustee 
only as provided in the Indenture.  The Trustee shall also create and maintain an Interest Account 
and a Principal Account within the 2020A Bond Payment Fund.   

Section 5.02. Allocation of USDFA Revenues.  The Trustee shall transfer from the 2020A 
Bond Payment Fund and deposit into the following respective accounts the following amounts in the 
following order of priority and at the following times, the requirements of each such account 
(including the making up of any deficiencies in any such account resulting from lack of USDFA 
Revenues sufficient to make any earlier required deposit) at the time of deposit to be satisfied before 
any transfer is made to any account subsequent in priority: 

(a) Not later than the day preceding each date on which the interest on the Bonds 
shall become due and payable hereunder, the Trustee shall deposit in the Interest Account that sum, 
if any, required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Interest Account to be at least equal 
to the amount of interest becoming due and payable on such date on all Bonds then Outstanding.   

304 of 567



 

Page 23 of 57 
 

(b) Not later than the day preceding each date on which the principal of the Bonds 
shall become due and payable hereunder, the Trustee shall deposit in the Principal Account that sum, 
if any, required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Principal Account to equal the 
principal amount of the Bonds coming due and payable on such date or subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption on such date.   

Section 5.03. Application of Interest Account.  All amounts in the Interest Account shall be 
used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds as it shall 
become due and payable (including accrued interest on any Bonds purchased or accelerated prior to 
maturity pursuant to the Indenture).  

Section 5.04. Application of Principal Account.  All amounts in the Principal Account shall be 
used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely to pay the principal amount of the Bonds at maturity, 
mandatory sinking fund redemption, purchase or acceleration; provided, however, that at any time 
prior to selection for redemption of any such Bonds, upon written direction of the USDFA, the Trustee 
shall apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds at public or private sale, as and when and at such 
prices (including brokerage and other charges, but excluding accrued interest, which is payable from 
the Interest Account) as shall be directed pursuant to a Request of the USDFA, except that the 
purchase price (exclusive of accrued interest) may not exceed the redemption price then applicable 
to the Bonds. 

Section 5.05. Application of Redemption Fund.  There is hereby established with the 
Trustee, when needed, a special fund designated as the “Redemption Fund.”  All amounts in the 
Redemption Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the 
principal of and accrued interest on the Bonds to be redeemed on any Redemption Date pursuant to 
Section 4.01(a) or (b); provided, however, that at any time prior to selection for redemption of any 
such Bonds, upon the Request of the USDFA, the Trustee shall apply such amounts to the purchase 
of Bonds at public or private sale, as and when and at such prices (including brokerage and other 
charges, but excluding accrued interest, which is payable from the Interest Account) as shall be 
directed pursuant to a Request of the USDFA, except that the purchase price (exclusive of accrued 
interest) may not exceed the redemption price then applicable to the Bonds. 

Section 5.06. Investments.  All moneys in any of the funds or accounts that are established 
with the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee solely in Permitted 
Investments, which will, as nearly as practicable, mature on or before the dates when such moneys 
are anticipated to be needed for disbursement.  Such investments shall be directed by the USDFA 
pursuant to a Request of the USDFA filed with the Trustee at least two (2) Business Days in advance 
of the making of such investments (which directions shall be promptly confirmed to the Trustee in 
writing).  In the absence of any such directions from the USDFA, the Trustee shall invest any such 
moneys in Permitted Investments that are described in clause (C)(5) of the definition thereof; 
provided, however, that any such investment shall be made by the Trustee only if, prior to the date 
on which such investment is to be made, the Trustee shall have received a written direction from the 
District specifying a specific money market fund and, if no such written direction from the District is 
so received, the Trustee shall hold such moneys uninvested.  Obligations purchased as an investment 
of moneys in any fund shall be deemed to be part of such fund or account. 

305 of 567



 

Page 24 of 57 
 

All interest or gain derived from the investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts 
established hereunder (except for interest or gain derived from the Permitted Investment described 
in clause (C)(8) of the definition thereof, which shall be retained in such Permitted Investment) shall 
be deposited in the Interest Account unless otherwise provided in the Indenture.  For purposes of 
acquiring any investments hereunder, the Trustee may commingle funds (other than the Rebate 
Fund) held by it hereunder upon the Request of the USDFA.  The Trustee may act as principal or agent 
in the acquisition or disposition of any investment and may impose its customary charges therefor.  
The Trustee shall incur no liability for losses arising from any investments made pursuant to this 
Section 5.06. 

The Trustee shall furnish the USDFA with periodic cash transaction statements which include 
detail for all investment transactions that are effected by the Trustee or brokers that are selected by 
the USDFA.  Upon the USDFA’s election, such statements will be delivered via the Trustee’s online 
service and upon electing such service, paper statements will be provided only upon request.  The 
USDFA waives the right to receive brokerage confirmations of security transactions that are effected 
by the Trustee as they occur, to the extent permitted by law.  The USDFA further understands that 
trade confirmations for securities transactions that are effected by the Trustee will be available upon 
request and at no additional cost and other trade confirmations may be obtained from the applicable 
broker. 

The Trustee or any of its affiliates may act as sponsor, advisor or manager in connection with 
any investments made by the Trustee under the Indenture. 

The USDFA shall invest, or cause to be invested, all moneys in any fund or accounts 
established with the Trustee as provided in the Tax Certificate. 

For investment purposes, the Trustee may commingle the funds and accounts that are 
established hereunder, other than the Rebate Fund, but shall account for each separately.  In making 
any valuations of investments hereunder, the Trustee may utilize and rely on computerized securities 
pricing services that may be available to the Trustee, including those that are available through the 
Trustee’s accounting system. 

Section 5.07. Rebate Fund. 

(a) Establishment.  The Trustee shall establish a separate fund designated the 
“Rebate Fund” when required in accordance herewith.  Absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest with respect to the Bonds 
will not be adversely affected, the USDFA shall cause to be deposited in the Rebate Fund such 
amounts as are required to be deposited therein pursuant to this Section and the Tax Certificate.  All 
money at any time deposited in the Rebate Fund shall be held by the Trustee in trust for payment to 
the United States Treasury.  All amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund for the Bonds shall be 
governed by this Section and the Tax Certificate for the Bonds, unless and to the extent that the 
USDFA delivers to the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes of interest with respect to the Bonds will not be adversely affected, if 
such requirements are not satisfied.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Tax 
Certificate, the Trustee: (i) shall be deemed conclusively to have complied with the provisions thereof 
if it follows all Requests of the USDFA; (ii) shall have no liability or responsibility to enforce compliance 

306 of 567



 

Page 25 of 57 
 

by the USDFA with the terms of the Tax Certificate; (iii) may rely conclusively on the USDFA’s 
calculations and determinations and certifications relating to rebate matters; and (iv) shall have no 
responsibility to independently make any calculations or determinations or to review the USDFA’s 
calculations or determinations thereunder. 

(i) Annual Computation.  Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year (as 
such term is defined in the Tax Certificate), the USDFA shall calculate or cause to be calculated the 
amount of rebatable arbitrage, in accordance with Section 148(f)(2) of the Code and Section 1.148-3 
of the Treasury Regulations (taking into account any applicable exceptions with respect to the 
computation of the rebatable arbitrage, described, if applicable, in the Tax Certificate (e.g., the 
temporary investments exceptions of Section 148(f)(4)(B) and the construction expenditures 
exception of Section 148(f)(4)(C) of the Code), and taking into account whether the election pursuant 
to Section 148(f)(4)(C)(vii) of the Code (the “1½% Penalty”) has been made), for this purpose treating 
the last day of the applicable Bond Year as a computation date, within the meaning of 
Section 1.148-1(b) of the Treasury Regulations (the “Rebatable Arbitrage”).  The USDFA shall obtain 
expert advice as to the amount of the Rebatable Arbitrage to comply with this Section. 

(ii) Annual Transfer.  Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year, upon 
the Request of the USDFA, an amount shall be deposited to the Rebate Fund by the Trustee from any 
USDFA Revenues legally available for such purpose (as specified by the USDFA in the aforesaid 
Request), if and to the extent required so that the balance in the Rebate Fund shall equal the amount 
of Rebatable Arbitrage so calculated in accordance with clause (i) of this subsection (a).  In the event 
that immediately following the transfer required by the previous sentence, the amount then on 
deposit to the credit of the Rebate Fund exceeds the amount required to be on deposit therein, upon 
the Request of the USDFA, the Trustee shall withdraw the excess from the Rebate Fund and then 
credit the excess to the 2020A Bond Payment Fund. 

(iii) Payment to the Treasury.  The Trustee shall pay, as directed by 
Request of the USDFA, to the United States Treasury, out of amounts in the Rebate Fund: 

(A) Not later than 60 days after the end of: (X) the fifth Bond Year; 
and (Y) each applicable fifth Bond Year thereafter, an amount equal to at least 90% of the Rebatable 
Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such Bond Year; and 

(B) Not later than 60 days after the payment of all the Bonds, an 
amount equal to 100% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such applicable Bond 
Year, and any income attributable to the Rebatable Arbitrage, computed in accordance with 
Section 148(f) of the Code and Section 1.148-3 of the Treasury Regulations. 

In the event that, prior to the time of any payment required to be made from the Rebate 
Fund, the amount in the Rebate Fund is not sufficient to make such payment when such payment is 
due, the USDFA shall calculate or cause to be calculated the amount of such deficiency and deposit 
an amount received from any legally available source equal to such deficiency prior to the time such 
payment is due.  Each payment required to be made pursuant to this subsection (a) shall be made to 
the Internal Revenue Service Center, Ogden, Utah 84201 on or before the date on which such 
payment is due, and shall be accompanied by Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-T (prepared by the 
USDFA), or shall be made in such other manner as provided under the Code. 

307 of 567



 

Page 26 of 57 
 

(b) Disposition of Unexpended Funds.  Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund 
after redemption and payment of the Bonds and the payments described in subsection (a) above 
being made may be withdrawn by the USDFA and utilized in any manner by the USDFA. 

(c) Survival of Defeasance.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the 
contrary, the obligation to comply with the requirements of this Section shall survive the defeasance 
or payment in full of the Bonds. 

Section 5.08. Application of Funds and Accounts When No Bonds are Outstanding.  On the 
date on which all Bonds shall be retired hereunder or provision made therefor pursuant to Article X 
and after payment of all amounts due the Trustee hereunder, all moneys then on deposit in any of 
the funds or accounts (other than the Rebate Fund) established with the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture shall be withdrawn by the Trustee and paid to the USDFA for distribution in accordance 
with the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS 

Section 6.01. Punctual Payment.  The USDFA shall punctually pay or cause to be paid the 
principal and interest to become due in respect of all of the Bonds, in strict conformity with the terms 
of the Bonds and of the Indenture, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, but only out of 
USDFA Revenues and other assets pledged for such payment as provided in the Indenture. 

Section 6.02. Extension of Payment of Bonds.  The USDFA shall not directly or indirectly 
extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any 
claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds or by any other arrangement, and in case the 
maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any such claims for interest shall be extended, 
such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any default hereunder, to the benefits 
of the Indenture, except subject to the prior payment in full for the principal of all of the Bonds then 
Outstanding and of all claims for interest thereon which shall not have been so extended.  Nothing in 
this Section shall be deemed to limit the right of the USDFA to issue Bonds for the purpose of 
refunding any Outstanding Bonds, and such issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension 
of maturity of Bonds. 

Section 6.03. Against Encumbrances.  The USDFA shall not create, or permit the creation of, 
any pledge, lien, charge or other encumbrances upon the USDFA Revenues and other assets pledged 
or assigned under the Indenture while any of the Bonds are Outstanding, except the pledge and 
assignment created by the Indenture.  Subject to this limitation, the USDFA expressly reserves the 
right to enter into one or more other indentures for any of its corporate purposes, including other 
programs under the JPA Agreement, and reserves the right to issue other obligations for such 
purposes. 

Section 6.04. Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment.  The USDFA is duly 
authorized pursuant to law to issue the Bonds and to enter into the Indenture and to pledge and 
assign the USDFA Revenues and other assets that are pledged and assigned under the Indenture in 
the manner and to the extent that is provided in the Indenture.  The Bonds and the provisions of the 

308 of 567



 

Page 27 of 57 
 

Indenture are and will be the legal, valid and binding special obligations of the USDFA in accordance 
with their terms, and the USDFA and the Trustee shall at all times, subject to the provisions of Article 
VIII and to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect said pledge and assignment of 
USDFA Revenues and other assets and all the rights of the Bond Owners under the Indenture against 
all claims and demands of all persons whomsoever. 

Section 6.05. Accounting Records and Financial Statements.  The Trustee shall at all times 
keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account, prepared in accordance with 
corporate trust industry standards, in which complete and accurate entries shall be made of all 
transactions that are undertaken by it relating to the proceeds of Bonds, the USDFA Revenues and all 
funds and accounts that have been established by it pursuant to the Indenture.  Such books of record 
and account shall be available for inspection by the USDFA and the District upon reasonable prior 
notice during business hours and under reasonable circumstances. 

Section 6.06. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture or the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross 
income of the interest on the Bonds will not be adversely affected for federal income tax purposes, 
the USDFA covenants to comply with all applicable requirements of the Code that are necessary to 
preserve such exclusion from gross income with respect to the Bonds and specifically covenants, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as follows: 

(a) Private Activity.  The USDFA will take no action or refrain from taking any 
action, and the USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or of any other moneys or 
property, which would cause the Bonds to be “private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 
141 of the Code; 

(b) Arbitrage.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or of any 
other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the USDFA will not take any action or refrain 
from taking any action, which will cause the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of 
Section 148 of the Code; 

(c) Federal Guarantee.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds, 
and the USDFA will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the Bonds to be “federally 
guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code; 

(d) Information Reporting.  The USDFA will take or cause to be taken all necessary 
action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the Code which 
is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the Bonds pursuant to Section 103(a) of the 
Code; 

(e) Hedge Bonds.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or 
any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the USDFA will not take any action or 
refrain from taking any action, that would cause the Bonds to be considered “hedge bonds” within 
the meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code unless the USDFA takes all necessary action to assure 
compliance with the requirements of Section 149(g) of the Code to maintain the exclusion from gross 
income of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes; and 

309 of 567



 

Page 28 of 57 
 

(f) Miscellaneous.  The USDFA will not take any action or refrain from taking any 
action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the USDFA 
in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and will comply with the covenants and requirements 
that are stated therein and incorporated by reference herein. 

This Section and the covenants that are set forth herein shall not be applicable to, and nothing 
that is contained herein shall be deemed to prevent the USDFA from issuing revenue bonds or 
executing and delivering contracts that are payable on a parity with the Bonds, the interest with 
respect to which has been determined to be subject to federal income taxation. 

Section 6.07. Payments Under Installment Purchase Agreement.  The USDFA shall promptly 
collect all Series 2020 Installment Payments due from the District pursuant to the Installment 
Purchase Agreement and, subject to the provisions of Article VIII, shall enforce and take all steps, 
actions and proceedings which the USDFA or the Trustee determines to be reasonably necessary for 
the enforcement of all of the obligations of the District thereunder. 

The USDFA shall not enter into any amendments to the Installment Purchase Agreement 
except as permitted therein.  The Trustee shall give written consent only if: (a) such amendment, 
modification or termination will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Bond Owners; or 
(b) the Trustee first obtains the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding to such amendment, modification or termination. 

Section 6.08. Waiver of Laws.  The USDFA shall not at any time insist upon or plead in any 
manner whatsoever, or claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension law now or 
at any time hereafter in force that may affect the covenants and agreements contained in the 
Indenture or in the Bonds, and all benefit or advantage of any such law or laws is hereby expressly 
waived by the USDFA to the extent permitted by law. 

Section 6.09. Further Assurances.  The USDFA will make, execute and deliver any and all 
such further indentures, instruments and assurances as may be reasonably necessary or proper to 
carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance of the Indenture and for the better assuring 
and confirming unto the Owners of the Bonds of the rights and benefits provided in the Indenture. 

Section 6.10. Eminent Domain.  If all or any part of the 2020 Project or the Refunding Project 
shall be taken by eminent domain proceedings (or sold to a government entity that is threatening to 
exercise the power of eminent domain), the Net Proceeds therefrom shall be applied in the manner 
that is specified in Section 6.16 of the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF BOND OWNERS 

Section 7.01. Events of Default.  The following events shall be Events of Default hereunder: 

(a) Default by the USDFA in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any 
Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein 
expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by acceleration, or otherwise. 

310 of 567



 

Page 29 of 57 
 

(b) Default by the USDFA in the due and punctual payment of any installment of 
interest on any Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable. 

(c) Default by the USDFA in the observance of any of the other covenants, 
agreements or conditions on its part in the Indenture or in the Bonds contained, if such default shall 
have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after written notice thereof specifying such default and 
requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the USDFA by the Trustee or by the 
Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds Outstanding; provided, 
however, that if in the reasonable opinion of the USDFA the default stated in the notice can be 
corrected, but not within such sixty (60) day period, and corrective action is instituted by the USDFA 
within such sixty (60) day period and diligently pursued in good faith until the default is corrected, 
such default shall not be an Event of Default hereunder. 

(d) The USDFA shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or 
reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of 
America or any state therein, or a court of competent jurisdiction shall approve a petition filed with 
or without the consent of the USDFA seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal 
bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or 
if under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors any court of competent 
jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the USDFA or of the whole or any substantial part of 
its property. 

Section 7.02. Remedies Upon Event of Default.  If any Event of Default shall occur, then, and 
in each and every such case during the continuance of such Event of Default, the Trustee may, and, 
at the written direction of the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of 
the Bonds at the time Outstanding, shall, in each case, upon notice in writing to the USDFA and the 
District, declare the principal of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, 
to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall 
be immediately due and payable, anything in the Indenture or in the Bonds contained to the contrary 
notwithstanding. 

Nothing contained in the Indenture shall permit or require the Trustee or the USDFA to 
accelerate payments due under the Installment Purchase Agreement if the District, which is a party 
to such Installment Purchase Agreement, is not in default of its obligation thereunder. 

Any such declaration is subject to the condition that if, at any time after such declaration, but 
before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or 
entered, the USDFA or the District shall deposit with the Trustee an amount that is sufficient to pay 
all the principal of and installments of interest on the Bonds the payment of which is overdue, with 
interest on such overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds to the extent permitted 
by law, and the reasonable charges and expenses of the Trustee, and any and all other Events of 
Default known to the Trustee (other than in the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds 
that is due and payable solely by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to 
the satisfaction of the Trustee or provision deemed by the Trustee to be adequate shall have been 
made therefor, then, and in every such case the Trustee shall on behalf of the Owners of all of the 
Bonds, rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences and waive such Event of Default; but 

311 of 567



 

Page 30 of 57 
 

no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default or impair 
or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

Section 7.03. Application of USDFA Revenues and Other Funds After Default.  If an Event of 
Default shall occur and be continuing, all USDFA Revenues and any other funds then held or 
thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the Indenture (other than amounts 
held in the Rebate Fund) shall be applied by the Trustee as follows and in the following order: 

(a) To the payment of any expenses that are necessary in the opinion of the 
Trustee to protect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds and to the payment of reasonable fees 
and expenses of the Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel) incurred in 
and about the performance of its powers and duties under the Indenture; and 

(b) To the payment of the principal of and interest then due on the Bonds (upon 
presentation of the Bonds to be paid, and stamping or otherwise noting thereon of the payment if 
only partially paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid) in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture, in the following order of priority: 

First: To the payment to the persons that are entitled thereto of all 
installments of interest then due in the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount 
that is available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments maturing on the 
same date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due thereon, to the 
persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and 

Second: To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid 
principal of any Bonds which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by acceleration or 
redemption, with interest on the overdue principal at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum, and, 
if the amount that is available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds, together with such 
interest, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts of principal due on such date 
to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and 

Third:  If there shall exist any remainder after the foregoing payments, such 
remainder shall be paid to the USDFA. 

Section 7.04. Trustee to Represent Bond Owners.  The Trustee is hereby irrevocably 
appointed (and the successive respective Owners of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same, shall 
be conclusively deemed to have so appointed the Trustee) as trustee and true and lawful attorney in 
fact of the Owners of the Bonds for the purpose of exercising and prosecuting on their behalf such 
rights and remedies as may be available to such Owners under the provisions of the Bonds or the 
Indenture and applicable provisions of any other law.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of an 
Event of Default or other occasion giving rise to a right in the Trustee to represent the Bond Owners, 
the Trustee in its discretion may, and upon the written request of the Owners of a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, and upon being indemnified to its 
satisfaction therefor, shall proceed to protect or enforce its rights or the rights of such Owners by 
such appropriate action, suit, mandamus or other proceedings as it shall deem most effectual to 
protect and enforce any such right, at law or in equity, either for the specific performance of any 
covenant or agreement contained herein, or in aid of the execution of any power herein granted, or 

312 of 567



 

Page 31 of 57 
 

for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable right or remedy vested in the Trustee 
or in such Owners under the Bonds or the Indenture or any other law; and upon instituting such 
proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver of the 
USDFA Revenues and other assets pledged under the Indenture, pending such proceedings.  All rights 
of action under the Indenture or the Bonds or otherwise may be prosecuted and enforced by the 
Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any proceeding 
relating thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in 
the name of the Trustee for the benefit and protection of all the Owners of such Bonds, subject to 
the provisions of the Indenture. 

Section 7.05. Bond Owners’ Direction of Proceedings.  Anything in the Indenture to the 
contrary notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding shall have the right, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing that are 
executed and delivered to the Trustee, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable 
satisfaction to direct the method of conduct in all remedial proceedings taken by the Trustee 
hereunder, provided that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law and the 
provisions of the Indenture, and that the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such 
direction which in the opinion of the Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Bond Owners who are 
not parties to such direction. 

Section 7.06. Suit by Owners.  No Owner of any Bonds shall have the right to institute any 
suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy 
under the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, the JPA Agreement or any other 
applicable law with respect to such Bonds, unless: (a) such Owners shall have given to the Trustee 
written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default; (b) the Owners of not less than twenty-five 
percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have made written 
request upon the Trustee to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such suit, action 
or proceeding in its own name; (c) such Owner or Owners shall have tendered to the Trustee 
reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with 
such request; (d) the Trustee shall have failed to comply with such request for a period of sixty (60) 
days after such written request shall have been received by, and said tender of indemnity shall have 
been made to, the Trustee; and (e) no direction which is inconsistent with such written request shall 
have been given to the Trustee during such sixty (60) day period by the Owners of a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are hereby declared, 
in every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any remedy 
hereunder or under law; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds 
shall have any right in any manner whatever by their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security 
of the Indenture or the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce any right under the Bonds, 
the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, the JPA Agreement or other applicable law with 
respect to the Bonds, except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in 
equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein 
provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds, subject to the 
provisions of the Indenture. 

313 of 567



 

Page 32 of 57 
 

Section 7.07. Absolute Obligation of the USDFA.  Nothing in this Section or in any other 
provision of the Indenture or in the Bonds shall affect or impair the obligation of the USDFA, which is 
absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the respective 
Owners of the Bonds at their respective dates of maturity, or upon call for redemption, as herein 
provided, but only out of the USDFA Revenues and other assets herein pledged therefor, or affect or 
impair the right of such Owners, which is also absolute and unconditional, to enforce such payment 
by virtue of the contract embodied in the Bonds. 

Section 7.08. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, 
and each and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law, shall be cumulative and in addition 
to any other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. 

Section 7.09. No Waiver of Default.  No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Owner of 
the Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of any Event of Default shall 
impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or 
an acquiescence therein. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

THE TRUSTEE 

Section 8.01. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee.   

(a) The Trustee shall, prior to an Event of Default, and after the curing or waiver 
of all Events of Default which may have occurred, perform such duties and only such duties as are 
expressly and specifically set forth in the Indenture, and no implied covenants or duties shall be read 
into the Indenture against the Trustee.  The Trustee shall, during the existence of any Event of Default 
(which has not been cured or waived), exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by the 
Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent man would 
exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. 

(b) The USDFA may remove the Trustee at any time, unless an Event of Default 
shall have occurred and then be continuing, and shall remove the Trustee if at any time requested to 
do so by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by the Owners of not less than a 
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding (or their attorneys duly 
authorized in writing) or if at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with 
subsection (e) of this Section, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or 
insolvent, or a receiver of the Trustee or its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall 
take control or charge of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, 
conservation or liquidation, in each case by giving written notice of such removal to the Trustee.  The 
USDFA shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing.   

(c) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation 
to the USDFA and by giving the Bond Owners notice of such resignation by mail at the addresses 
shown on the Registration Books.  Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the USDFA shall 
promptly appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing. 

314 of 567



 

Page 33 of 57 
 

(d) Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a successor 
Trustee shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee.  If no 
successor Trustee shall have been appointed and have accepted appointment within forty-five (45) 
days of giving notice of removal or notice of resignation as aforesaid, the resigning Trustee or any 
Bond Owner (on behalf of himself and all other Bond Owners) may petition any court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may thereupon, after such 
notice (if any) as it may deem proper, appoint such successor Trustee.  Any successor Trustee that is 
appointed under the Indenture shall signify its acceptance of such appointment by executing and 
delivering to the USDFA and to its predecessor Trustee a written acceptance thereof, and thereupon 
such successor Trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all 
the moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such predecessor 
Trustee, with like effect as if originally named Trustee herein; but, nevertheless at the Request of the 
USDFA or the request of the successor Trustee, such predecessor Trustee shall execute and deliver 
any and all instruments of conveyance or further assurance and do such other things as may 
reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor 
Trustee all of the right, title and interest of such predecessor Trustee in and to any property held by 
it under the Indenture and shall pay over, transfer, assign and deliver to the successor Trustee any 
money or other property that is subject to the trusts and conditions herein set forth.  Upon request 
of the successor Trustee, the USDFA shall execute and deliver any and all instruments as may be 
reasonably required for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee 
all such moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations.  Upon acceptance 
of appointment by a successor Trustee as provided in this subsection, the USDFA shall mail or cause 
the successor trustee to mail a notice of the succession of such Trustee to the trusts hereunder to the 
Rating Agency and to the Bond Owners at the addresses shown on the Registration Books.  If the 
USDFA fails to mail such notice within fifteen (15) days after acceptance of appointment by the 
successor Trustee, the successor Trustee shall cause such notice to be mailed at the expense of the 
USDFA. 

(e) Any Trustee that is appointed under the provisions of this Section in 
succession to the Trustee shall be a trust company, banking association or bank having the powers of 
a trust company, having a combined capital and surplus of at least Seventy Five Million Dollars 
($75,000,000), and subject to supervision or examination for federal or state USDFA.  If such bank, 
banking association or trust company publishes a report of condition at least annually, pursuant to 
law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining USDFA that is referred to above, then for 
the purpose of this subsection, the combined capital and surplus of such trust company, banking 
association or bank shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most 
recent report of condition so published.  In case at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in 
accordance with the provisions of this subsection (e), the Trustee shall resign immediately in the 
manner and with the effect specified in this Section. 

Section 8.02. Merger or Consolidation.  Any trust company, banking association or bank into 
which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, any trust 
company, banking association or bank resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to 
which it shall be a party or any trust company, banking association or bank to which the Trustee may 
sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate trust business, provided that such trust company, 
banking association or bank shall be eligible under Section 8.01(e), shall be the successor to such 

315 of 567



 

Page 34 of 57 
 

Trustee, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act, anything herein to the 
contrary notwithstanding. 

Section 8.03. Liability of Trustee.   

(a) The recitals of facts herein and in the Bonds shall be taken as statements of 
the USDFA, and the Trustee shall not assume responsibility for the correctness of the same, or make 
any representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, nor shall the Trustee incur any responsibility in respect thereof, other than as 
expressly stated herein in connection with the respective duties or obligations herein or in the Bonds 
assigned to or imposed upon it.  The Trustee shall, however, be responsible for its representations 
contained in its certificate of authentication on the Bonds.  The Trustee shall not be liable in 
connection with the performance of its duties hereunder, except for its own negligence or willful 
misconduct.  The Trustee may become the Owner of Bonds with the same rights it would have if it 
were not Trustee, and, to the extent permitted by law, may act as depository for and permit any of 
its officers or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, any committee 
formed to protect the rights of Bond Owners, whether or not such committee shall represent the 
Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

(b) The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment that is made in good 
faith by a responsible officer, unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining 
the pertinent facts. 

(c) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to 
be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the Owners of not less than a majority 
(or such other percentage provided for herein) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the 
time Outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any 
remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee under 
the Indenture. 

(d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken by it in good faith and 
believed by it to be authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by the 
Indenture. 

(e) The Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any default or Event 
of Default hereunder or under the Installment Purchase Agreement or any other event which, with 
the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder or 
under the Installment Purchase Agreement unless and until a Responsible Officer of the Trustee shall 
have actual knowledge of such event or the Trustee shall have been notified in writing, in accordance 
with Section 11.07, of such event by the USDFA or the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the Bonds then Outstanding.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Trustee 
shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance by the USDFA or the 
District of any of the terms, conditions, covenants or agreements herein, or under the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, of any of the documents executed in connection with the Bonds or as to the 
existence of an Event of Default thereunder or an event which would, with the giving of notice, the 
passage of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default thereunder.  The Trustee shall not be 
responsible for the validity, effectiveness or priority of any collateral that is given to or held by it. 

316 of 567



 

Page 35 of 57 
 

(f) No provision of the Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its 
own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of its duties hereunder, or in 
the exercise of any of its rights or powers. 

(g) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or 
powers that are vested in it by the Indenture at the request or direction of Owners pursuant to the 
Indenture unless such Owners shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity 
against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in compliance with such 
request or direction.  No permissive power, right or remedy that is conferred upon the Trustee 
hereunder shall be construed to impose a duty to exercise such power, right or remedy. 

(h) Whether or not herein expressly so provided, every provision of the Indenture 
relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee shall be 
subject to the provisions of this Article VIII. 

(i) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, 
statement, or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material 
prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds. 

(j) The immunities that are extended to the Trustee also extend to its directors, 
officers, employees and agents. 

(k) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers of the Indenture and 
perform any of its duties through attorneys, agents and receivers and shall not be answerable for the 
conduct of the same if appointed by it with reasonable care. 

(l) The Trustee shall not be considered in breach of or in default in its obligations 
hereunder or progress in respect thereto in the event of enforced delay in the performance of such 
obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond its control and without its fault or negligence, 
including, but not limited to, acts of God or of the public enemy or terrorists, acts of a government, 
acts of the other party, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, 
earthquakes, explosions, mob violence, riots, inability to procure or general sabotage or rationing of 
labor, equipment, facilities, sources of energy, material or supplies in the open market, litigation or 
arbitration involving a party or others relating to zoning or other governmental action or inaction 
pertaining to the 2020 Project or the Refunding Project, malicious mischief, condemnation and 
unusually severe weather or delays of suppliers or subcontractors due to such causes or any similar 
event and/or occurrences beyond the control of the Trustee. 

(m) The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant 
to the Indenture sent by unsecured electronic mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured 
electronic methods, provided, however, that, for purposes of the Indenture, an electronic mail 
message does not constitute a notice, request or other communication hereunder but rather the 
portable document format or similar attachment attached to such electronic mail message shall 
constitute a notice, request or other communication hereunder; and provided further that the 
Trustee shall have received an incumbency certificate listing persons designated to give such 
instructions or directions and containing specimen signatures of such designated persons, which such 
incumbency certificate shall be amended and replaced whenever a person is to be added or deleted 

317 of 567



 

Page 36 of 57 
 

from the listing.  If the USDFA elects to give the Trustee electronic mail or facsimile instructions (or 
instructions by a similar electronic method) and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such 
instructions, the Trustee’s understanding of such instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The 
Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the 
Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance with such instructions notwithstanding the fact that such 
instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction.  The USDFA agrees to 
assume all risks arising out of the use of such electronic methods to submit instructions and directions 
to the Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized 
instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties. 

(n) The Trustee shall not be concerned with or accountable to anyone for the 
subsequent use or application of any moneys which shall be released or withdrawn in accordance 
with the provisions hereof. 

(o) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated herein shall not 
be construed as a duty and it shall not be answerable for other than its negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

Section 8.04. Right to Rely on Documents.  The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon 
any notice, resolution, requisition, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, notes, 
direction, facsimile transmission, electronic mail or other paper or document believed by it to be 
genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.  The Trustee may 
consult with counsel, who may be counsel of or to the USDFA, with regard to legal questions, and the 
opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any 
action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance therewith. 

The Trustee may treat the Owners of the Bonds appearing in the Trustee’s Registration Books 
as the absolute owners of the Bonds for all purposes and the Trustee shall not be affected by any 
notice to the contrary. 

Whenever in the administration of the trusts imposed upon it by the Indenture the Trustee 
shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering 
any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof is specifically prescribed 
herein) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a Certificate, Request or 
Requisition of the USDFA, and such Certificate, Request or Requisition shall be full warrant to the 
Trustee for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions of the Indenture in reliance 
upon such Certificate, Request or Requisition, but in its discretion the Trustee may, in lieu thereof, 
accept other evidence of such matter or may require such additional evidence as it may deem 
reasonable. 

Section 8.05. Preservation and Inspection of Documents.  All documents that are received 
by the Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture shall be retained in its possession and shall be 
subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the USDFA, the District and any Bond Owner, and 
their agents and representatives duly authorized in writing, at reasonable hours and under 
reasonable conditions. 

318 of 567



 

Page 37 of 57 
 

Section 8.06. Compensation and Indemnification.  The USDFA shall pay to the Trustee from 
time to time reasonable compensation for all services that are rendered under the Indenture, and 
also all reasonable expenses, charges, legal and consulting fees and other disbursements and those 
of their attorneys, agents and employees, incurred in and about the performance of their powers and 
duties under the Indenture. 

The USDFA shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Trustee, its officers, employees, 
directors and agents from and against any loss, costs, claims, liability or expense (including fees and 
expenses of its attorneys and advisors) incurred without negligence or bad faith on its part, arising 
out of or in connection with the execution of the Indenture, acceptance or administration of this 
trust, including costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with 
the exercise or performance of any of its powers hereunder.  The rights of the Trustee and the 
obligations of the USDFA under this Section 8.06 shall survive removal or resignation of the Trustee 
hereunder or the discharge of the Bonds and the Indenture. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE 

Section 9.01. Amendments Permitted.   

(a) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA, the Owners of the 
Bonds and the Trustee may be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by an 
indenture or indentures supplemental thereto, which the USDFA and the Trustee may enter into 
when the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then 
Outstanding, exclusive of Bonds that are disqualified as provided in Section 11.09, has been filed with 
the Trustee.  No such modification or amendment may: (1) extend the fixed maturity of any Bonds, 
or reduce the amount of principal thereof or premium (if any) thereon, or extend the time of 
payment, or change the rate of interest or the method of computing the rate of interest thereon, or 
extend the time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the Owner of each Bond so 
affected; or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is 
required to affect any such modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the 
USDFA Revenues and other assets pledged under the Indenture prior to or on a parity with the lien 
that is created by the Indenture except as permitted herein, or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of 
the lien created by the Indenture on such USDFA Revenues and other assets except as permitted 
herein, without the consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds then Outstanding.  It shall not be 
necessary for the consent of the Bond Owners to approve the particular form of any Supplemental 
Indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance thereof.  Promptly 
after the execution by the USDFA and the Trustee of any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to this 
subsection (a), the Trustee shall mail a notice, setting forth in general terms the substance of such 
Supplemental Indenture, to each Rating Agency and the Owners of the Bonds at the respective 
addresses shown on the Registration Books.  Any failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, 
shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such Supplemental Indenture. 

(b) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA, the Trustee and 
the Owners of the Bonds may also be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a 

319 of 567



 

Page 38 of 57 
 

Supplemental Indenture, which the USDFA and the Trustee may enter into without the consent of 
any Bond Owners, if the Trustee shall receive an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the 
provisions of such Supplemental Indenture shall not materially adversely affect the interests of the 
Owners of the Outstanding Bonds, including, without limitation, for any one or more of the following 
purposes: 

(1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the USDFA contained in 
the Indenture other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign 
additional security for the Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to surrender any right or power herein 
reserved to or conferred upon the USDFA; 

(2) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, 
inconsistency or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision, contained in the 
Indenture, or in regard to matters or questions arising under the Indenture, as the USDFA may deem 
necessary or desirable; 

(3) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to 
permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar 
federal statute hereunder in effect, and to add such other terms conditions and provisions as may be 
permitted by said act or similar federal statute; and 

(4) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to 
cause interest on the Bonds to remain excludable from gross income under the Code.  

(c) The Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into any 
such Supplemental Indenture that is authorized by subsections (a) or (b) of this Section which 
materially adversely affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under the Indenture or 
otherwise. 

(d) Prior to the Trustee entering into any Supplemental Indenture hereunder, 
there shall be delivered to the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel stating, in substance, that such 
Supplemental Indenture has been adopted in compliance with the requirements of the Indenture and 
that the adoption of such Supplemental Indenture will not, in and of itself, adversely affect the 
exclusion of interest on the Bonds from federal income taxation and from state income taxation. 

Section 9.02. Effect of Supplemental Indenture.  Upon the execution of any Supplemental 
Indenture pursuant to this Article, the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and amended in 
accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligations under the Indenture of the 
USDFA, the Trustee and all Owners of Bonds Outstanding shall thereafter be determined, exercised 
and enforced thereunder subject in all respects to such modification and amendment, and all the 
terms and conditions of any such Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed to be part of the terms 
and conditions of the Indenture for any and all purposes. 

Section 9.03. Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds.  Bonds delivered after the 
execution of any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to this Article may, and if the Trustee so 
determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the USDFA and 
the Trustee as to any modification or amendment provided for in such Supplemental Indenture, and, 

320 of 567



 

Page 39 of 57 
 

in that case, upon demand on the Owner of any Bonds Outstanding at the time of such execution and 
presentation of his or her Bonds for the purpose at the Office of the Trustee or at such additional 
offices as the Trustee may select and designate for that purpose, a suitable notation shall be made 
on such Bonds.  If the Supplemental Indenture shall so provide, new Bonds so modified as to conform, 
in the opinion of the USDFA and the Trustee, to any modification or amendment that is contained in 
such Supplemental Indenture, shall be prepared and executed by the USDFA and authenticated by 
the Trustee, and upon demand on the Owners of any Bonds then Outstanding shall be exchanged at 
the Office of the Trustee, without cost to any Bond Owner, for Bonds then Outstanding, upon 
surrender for cancellation of such Bonds, in equal aggregate principal amount of the same maturity. 

Section 9.04. Amendment of Particular Bonds.  The provisions of this Article shall not 
prevent any Bond Owner from accepting any amendment as to the particular Bonds held by such 
Bond Owner. 

ARTICLE X 
 

DEFEASANCE 

Section 10.01. Discharge of Indenture.  The Bonds may be paid by the USDFA in any of the 
following ways, provided that the USDFA also pays or causes to be paid any other sums payable 
hereunder by the USDFA: 

(a) by paying or causing to be paid the principal of and interest and redemption 
premiums (if any) on the Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable; 

(b) by depositing with the Trustee, in trust, at or before maturity, money or 
securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 10.03) to pay or redeem all Bonds then 
Outstanding; or 

(c) by delivering to the Trustee, for cancellation by it, all of the Bonds then 
Outstanding. 

If the USDFA shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums that are payable hereunder by 
the USDFA, then and in that case, at the election of the USDFA (as evidenced by a Certificate of the 
USDFA, filed with the Trustee, signifying the intention of the USDFA to discharge all such 
indebtedness and the Indenture), and notwithstanding that any Bonds shall not have been 
surrendered for payment, the Indenture and the pledge of USDFA Revenues and other assets under 
the Indenture and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the USDFA under the Indenture 
shall cease, terminate, become void and be completely discharged and satisfied.  In such event, upon 
the Request of the USDFA, the Trustee shall execute and deliver to the USDFA all such instruments as 
may be necessary or desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction, and the Trustee shall pay 
over, transfer, assign or deliver all moneys or securities or other property held by it pursuant to the 
Indenture which are not required for the payment or redemption of Bonds not theretofore 
surrendered for such payment or redemption to the USDFA. 

Section 10.02. Discharge of Liability on Bonds.  Upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, 
at or before maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 10.03) 

321 of 567



 

Page 40 of 57 
 

to pay or redeem any Outstanding Bonds (whether upon or prior to the maturity or the redemption 
date of such Bonds), provided that, if such Outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed prior to maturity, 
notice of such redemption shall have been given as provided in Article IV or provisions satisfactory to 
the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice, then all liability of the USDFA in 
respect of such Bonds shall cease, terminate and be completely discharged, and the Owners thereof 
shall thereafter be entitled only to payment out of such money or securities that are deposited with 
the Trustee as aforesaid for their payment, subject however, to the provisions of Section 10.04. 

The USDFA may at any time surrender to the Trustee for cancellation by it any Bonds that 
were previously issued and delivered, which the USDFA may have acquired in any manner 
whatsoever, and such Bonds, upon such surrender and cancellation, shall be deemed to be paid and 
retired. 

Section 10.03. Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee.  Whenever in the Indenture it is 
provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust by the Trustee money or securities 
in the necessary amount to pay or redeem any Bonds, the money or securities so to be deposited or 
held may include money or securities held by the Trustee in the funds and accounts established 
pursuant to the Indenture and shall be: 

(a) lawful money of the United States of America in an amount that is equal to 
the principal amount of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the 
case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior to maturity and in respect of which notice of such 
redemption shall have been given as provided in Article IV or provisions satisfactory to the Trustee 
shall have been made for the giving of such notice, the amount to be deposited or held shall be the 
principal amount of such Bonds and all unpaid interest and premium, if any, thereon to the 
redemption date; or 

(b) Federal Securities the principal of and interest on which when due will, in the 
written opinion of an Independent Certified Public Accountant filed with the USDFA and the Trustee, 
provide money in an amount that is sufficient to pay the principal of and all unpaid interest to 
maturity, or to the redemption date (with premium, if any), as the case may be, on the Bonds to be 
paid or redeemed, as such principal, interest and premium, if any, become due, provided that in the 
case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption 
shall have been given as provided in Article IV or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been 
made for the giving of such notice; 

provided, in each case, that: (i) the Trustee shall have been irrevocably instructed (by the terms of 
the Indenture or by Request of the USDFA) to apply such money to the payment of such principal, 
interest and premium, if any, with respect to such Bonds; and (ii) the USDFA shall have delivered to 
the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the USDFA and the Trustee to the effect that 
such Bonds have been discharged in accordance with the Indenture (which opinion may rely upon 
and assume the accuracy of the Independent Certified Public Accountant’s opinion referred to 
above). 

Section 10.04. Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture.  Notwithstanding any 
provisions of the Indenture, any moneys which are held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of 
the principal of, or interest on, any Bonds and which remain unclaimed for two (2) years after the 

322 of 567



 

Page 41 of 57 
 

principal of all of the Bonds has become due and payable (whether at maturity or upon call for 
redemption or by acceleration as provided in the Indenture), if such moneys were so held at such 
date, or two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if deposited after said date when all 
of the Bonds became due and payable, shall be repaid to the USDFA free from the trusts created by 
the Indenture upon receipt of an indemnification agreement that is acceptable to the USDFA and the 
Trustee indemnifying the Trustee with respect to claims of Owners of Bonds which have not yet been 
paid, and all liability of the Trustee with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease; provided, 
however, that before the repayment of such moneys to the USDFA as aforesaid, the Trustee shall at 
the written direction of the USDFA (at the cost of the USDFA) first mail to the Owners of Bonds which 
have not yet been paid, at the addresses shown on the Registration Books, a notice, in such form as 
may be deemed appropriate by the Trustee with respect to the Bonds so payable and not presented 
and with respect to the provisions relating to the repayment to the USDFA of the moneys held for 
the payment thereof. 

ARTICLE XI 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.01. Liability of USDFA Limited to USDFA Revenues.  Notwithstanding anything in 
the Indenture or the Bonds, the USDFA shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from 
any source other than the USDFA Revenues and other moneys pledged under the Indenture for any 
of the purposes of the Indenture, whether for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds 
or for any other purpose of the Indenture.  Nevertheless, the USDFA may, but shall not be required 
to, advance for any of the purposes hereof any funds of the USDFA which may be made available to 
it for such purposes. 

The Bonds are not a debt of the members of the USDFA, the State or any of its political 
subdivisions (other than the USDFA) and neither the members of the USDFA, said State nor any of its 
political subdivisions (other than the USDFA) is liable thereon.  The District shall have no liability or 
obligation herein except with respect to Series 2020 Installment Payments payable under the 
Installment Purchase Agreement.   

Section 11.02. Successor Is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor.  Whenever in 
the Indenture either the USDFA or the Trustee is named or referred to, such reference shall be 
deemed to include the successors or assigns thereof, and all covenants and agreements in the 
Indenture by or on behalf of the USDFA or the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 
respective successors and assigns thereof whether so expressed or not. 

Section 11.03. Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners.  Nothing in the Indenture or 
in the Bonds, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than 
the USDFA, the Trustee, the District and the Owners of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right, remedy 
or claim under or in respect of the Indenture or any covenant, condition or provision therein or herein 
contained; and all such covenants, conditions and provisions are and shall be held to be for the sole 
and exclusive benefit of the USDFA, the Trustee, the District and the Owners of the Bonds. 

Section 11.04. Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice.  Whenever in the Indenture 
the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing 

323 of 567



 

Page 42 of 57 
 

by the person who is entitled to receive such notice, and in any such case the giving or receipt of such 
notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such 
waiver.  Whenever in the Indenture any notice shall be required to be given by mail, such requirement 
shall be satisfied by the deposit of such notice in the United States mail, postage prepaid, by first class 
mail. 

Section 11.05. Destruction of Bonds.  Whenever in the Indenture provision is made for the 
cancellation by the Trustee and the delivery to the USDFA of any Bonds, the Trustee shall destroy 
such Bonds as may be allowed by law and deliver a certificate of such destruction to the USDFA. 

Section 11.06. Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the provisions 
contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable in any respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable from the 
remaining provisions contained in the Indenture and such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall 
not affect any other provision of the Indenture, and the Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid 
or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.  The USDFA hereby declares 
that it would have entered into the Indenture and each and every other Section, paragraph, sentence, 
clause or phrase hereof and authorized the issuance of the Bonds pursuant thereto irrespective of 
the fact that any one or more Sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of the Indenture 
may be held illegal, invalid or unenforceable. 

Section 11.07. Notices.  Any notice to or demand upon the USDFA or the Trustee shall be 
deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes by being sent by facsimile or by 
being deposited, first class mail, postage prepaid, in a post office letter box, addressed, as the case 
may be, to the USDFA, c/o Union Sanitary District, 5072 Benson Road, Union City, California 94587, 
Attention: General Manager (or such other address as may have been filed in writing by the USDFA 
with the Trustee), or to the Trustee at its Office by first class mail.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 
provisions of this Section 11.07, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have received, and shall not be 
liable for failing to act upon the contents of, any notice unless and until the Trustee actually receives 
such notice. 

Section 11.08. Evidence of Rights of Bond Owners.  Any request, consent or other instrument 
that is required or permitted by the Indenture to be signed and executed by Bond Owners may be in 
any number of concurrent instruments of substantially similar tenor and shall be signed or executed 
by such Bond Owners in person or by an agent or agents duly appointed in writing.  Proof of the 
execution of any such request, consent or other instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent, 
or of the holding by any person of Bonds transferable by delivery, shall be sufficient for any purpose 
of the Indenture and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the USDFA if made in the manner 
provided in this Section. 

The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such request, consent or other 
instrument or writing may be proved by the certificate of any notary public or other officer of any 
jurisdiction, authorized by the laws thereof to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the 
person signing such request, consent or other instrument acknowledged to him the execution 
thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution duly sworn to before such notary public or 
other officer. 

324 of 567



 

Page 43 of 57 
 

The Ownership of Bonds shall be proved by the Registration Books.  Any request, consent, or 
other instrument or writing of the Owner of any Bond shall bind every future Owner of the same 
Bond and the Owner of every Bond issued in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof, in respect of 
anything done or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the USDFA in accordance therewith or reliance 
thereon. 

Section 11.09. Disqualified Bonds.  In determining whether the Owners of the requisite 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent or 
waiver under the Indenture, Bonds which are known by the Trustee to be owned or held by or for the 
account of the USDFA, or by any other obligor on the Bonds, or by any person that is directly or 
indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the USDFA or 
any other obligor on the Bonds, shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding for the 
purpose of any such determination.  Bonds so owned which have been pledged in good faith may be 
regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this Section if the pledgee shall establish to the 
satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right to vote such Bonds and that the pledgee is not a person 
that is directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control 
with, the USDFA or any other obligor on the Bonds.  In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision 
by the Trustee taken upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee.  Upon request, 
the USDFA shall certify to the Trustee those Bonds that are disqualified pursuant to this Section 11.09 
and the Trustee may conclusively rely on such certificate. 

Section 11.10. Money Held for Particular Bonds.  The money held by the Trustee for the 
payment of the interest, principal or premium due on any date with respect to particular Bonds (or 
portions of Bonds in the case of registered Bonds redeemed in part only) shall, on and after such date 
and pending such payment, be set aside on its books and held in trust by it for the Owners of the 
Bonds entitled thereto, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 10.04 hereof, but without any 
liability for interest thereon. 

Section 11.11. Funds and Accounts.  Any fund or account that is required by the Indenture to 
be established and maintained by the Trustee may be established and maintained in the accounting 
records of the Trustee, either as a fund or an account, and may, for the purposes of such records, any 
audits thereof and any reports or statements with respect thereto, be treated either as a fund or as 
an account; but all such records with respect to all such funds and accounts shall at all times be 
maintained in accordance with corporate trust industry standards to the extent practicable, and with 
due regard for the requirements of Section 6.05 and for the protection of the security of the Bonds 
and the rights of every Owner thereof. 

Section 11.12. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No member, officer, agent, employee, consultant 
or attorney of the USDFA or the District shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of 
the principal of or premium or interest on the Bonds or subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason of the issuance thereof; but nothing herein contained shall relieve any such 
member, officer, agent, employee, consultant or attorney from the performance of any official duty 
provided by law or by the Indenture. 

Section 11.13. Execution in Several Counterparts.  The Indenture may be executed in any 
number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an 

325 of 567



 

Page 44 of 57 
 

original; and all such counterparts, or as many of them as the USDFA and the Trustee shall preserve 
undestroyed, shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 11.14. CUSIP Numbers.  Neither the Trustee nor the USDFA shall be liable for any 
defect or inaccuracy in the CUSIP number that appears on any Bond or in any redemption notice.  The 
Trustee may, in its discretion, include in any redemption notice a statement to the effect that the 
CUSIP numbers on the Bonds have been assigned by an independent service and are included in such 
notice solely for the convenience of the Bondholders and that neither the USDFA nor the Trustee 
shall be liable for any inaccuracies in such numbers. 

Section 11.15. Choice of Law.  THE INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA. 

Section 11.16. Notice to Rating Agency.  The Trustee shall provide the Rating Agency with 
written notice of each amendment to the Indenture and a copy thereof at least 15 days in advance 
of its execution.   

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

326 of 567



 

S-1 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the USDFA has caused the Indenture to be signed in its name by its 
Chair and attested by its Secretary, and the Trustee, in token of its acceptance of the trusts created 
hereunder, has caused the Indenture to be signed in its corporate name by its officer thereunto duly 
authorized, all as of the day and year first above written. 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:   
 Chair  
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Secretary  
 

 
 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee 
 
 
By:   
 Authorized Officer 

 
 

327 of 567



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

FORM OF BOND 
 
 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY 
(AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE) TO THE BOND REGISTRAR FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, 
EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. 
OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE 
DEPOSITORY (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS 
REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, 
PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS 
WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST 
HEREIN. 

No. ____ $__________ 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2020A 
 
 
 

INTEREST RATE MATURITY DATE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE CUSIP 
____% ______ 1, 20___ ______, 2020  ___ 

 
REGISTERED OWNER CEDE & CO. 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:  _________________________________________ DOLLARS 
 

The UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint exercise of powers agency 
that is duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California (the “USDFA”), for value 
received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified above or registered assigns (the 
“Registered Owner”), on the Maturity Date specified above (subject to any right of prior redemption 
hereinafter provided for), the Principal Amount specified above, in lawful money of the United States 
of America, and to pay interest thereon in like lawful money from the interest payment date next 
preceding the date of authentication of this Bond (unless: (i) this Bond is authenticated after the 
fifteenth day of the calendar month preceding an interest payment date, whether or not such day is 
a business day, and on or before the following interest payment date, in which event it shall bear 
interest from such interest payment date; or (ii) this Bond is authenticated on or before August 15, 
2020, in which event it shall bear interest from the Original Issue Date identified above; provided, 
however, that if as of the date of authentication of this Bond, interest is in default on this Bond, this 
Bond shall bear interest from the interest payment date to which interest has previously been paid 

328 of 567



 

 

or made available for payment on this Bond), at the Interest Rate per annum specified above, payable 
semiannually on September 1, 2020 and each March 1 and September 1 thereafter, calculated on the 
basis of a 360 day year composed of twelve 30 day months.  Principal hereof and premium, if any, 
upon early redemption hereof are payable by check of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender 
hereof at the Office (as defined in the hereinafter described Indenture) of U.S. Bank National 
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).  Interest hereon is payable by check of the Trustee sent by 
first class mail on the applicable interest payment date to the Registered Owner hereof at the 
Registered Owner’s address as it appears on the registration books of the Trustee as of the close of 
business on the fifteenth day of the month preceding each interest payment date (except that in the 
case of a registered owner of one million dollars ($1,000,000) or more in principal amount, such 
payment may, at such registered owner’s option, be made by wire transfer of immediately available 
funds to an account in the United States in accordance with written instructions provided to the 
Trustee by such registered owner prior to the fifteenth (15th) day of the month preceding such 
interest payment date). 

This Bond is not a debt of the members of the USDFA, the State of California, or any of its 
political subdivisions (other than the USDFA), and neither the members of the USDFA or said State, 
nor any of its political subdivisions (other than the USDFA), is liable hereon, nor in any event shall this 
Bond be payable out of any funds or properties of the USDFA other than the USDFA Revenues (as 
such term is defined in the Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Indenture”), by and 
between the USDFA and the Trustee) and other moneys pledged therefor under the Indenture.  The 
obligation of Union Sanitary District (the “District”) to make payments in accordance with the 
Installment Purchase Agreement (as such term is defined in the Indenture) is a limited obligation of 
the District as set forth in the Installment Purchase Agreement and the District shall have no liability 
or obligation in connection herewith except with respect to such Series 2020 Installment Payments 
to be made pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement.  The Bonds do not constitute an 
indebtedness of the USDFA in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or 
restriction. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the USDFA designated as the “Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A” (the “Bonds”), of an aggregate 
principal amount of ______ Million ________ Thousand Dollars ($_________), all of like tenor and 
date (except for such variation, if any, as may be required to designate varying series, numbers or 
interest rates) and all issued pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, 
dated January 13, 2020, by and between the District and California Municipal Finance USDFA, a public 
body, corporate and politic, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State, as amended from 
time to time (the “JPA Agreement”) and the laws of the State of California and pursuant to the 
Indenture and the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds.  Reference is hereby made to the 
Indenture (copies of which are on file at the office of the USDFA) and all supplements thereto for a 
description of the terms on which the Bonds are issued, the provisions with regard to the nature and 
extent of the USDFA Revenues, and the rights thereunder of the Owners of the Bonds and the rights, 
duties and immunities of the Trustee and the rights and obligations of the USDFA hereunder, to all of 
the provisions of which the Registered Owner of this Bond, by acceptance hereof, assents and agrees.  
The Bonds have been issued in fully registered form without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or 
any integral multiple thereof. 

329 of 567



 

 

The Bonds have been issued by the USDFA to finance certain public capital improvements and 
related costs, as more fully described in the Indenture.   

This Bond and the interest, premium, if any, hereon and all other Bonds and the interest and 
premium, if any, thereon (to the extent set forth in the Indenture) are special obligations of the 
USDFA, and are payable from, and are secured by a pledge and lien on the USDFA Revenues, including 
all Series 2020 Installment Payments received from the District by the USDFA or the Trustee, and any 
other amounts on deposit in certain funds and accounts created under the Indenture.  As and to the 
extent set forth in the Indenture, all of the USDFA Revenues are exclusively and irrevocably pledged 
in accordance with the terms hereof and the provisions of the Indenture, to the payment of the 
principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds. 

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA and the Owners of the Bonds and 
the Trustee may be modified or amended from time to time and at any time with the written consent 
of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding, exclusive 
of Bonds disqualified as set forth in the Indenture, in the manner, to the extent and upon the terms 
provided in the Indenture, but no such modification or amendment may: (i) extend the fixed maturity 
of any Bonds, or reduce the amount of principal thereof or premium (if any) thereon, or extend the 
time of payment, or change the method of computing the rate of interest thereon, or extend the time 
of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the owner of each Bond so affected; or (ii) 
reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to affect 
any such modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the USDFA Revenues and 
other assets pledged under the Indenture prior to or on a parity with the lien created by the Indenture 
except as permitted in the Indenture, or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the 
Indenture on such USDFA Revenues and other assets, except as expressly provided in the Indenture, 
without the consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA, the Trustee and the Owners of 
the Bonds may also be modified or amended for certain purposes described more fully in the 
Indenture at any time in the manner, to the extent and upon the terms provided in the Indenture by 
a supplemental indenture, which the USDFA and the Trustee may enter into without the consent of 
any Bond Owners, if the Trustee shall receive an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the 
provisions of such supplemental indenture will not materially adversely affect the interests of the 
Owners of the Outstanding Bonds. 

The Bonds are subject to extraordinary redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, 
as a whole or in part on any date in the order of maturity and within maturities as directed by the 
USDFA in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such lesser number of days acceptable 
to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the convenience of the Trustee) 
prior to such date in integral multiples of $5,000 from Net Proceeds, upon the terms and conditions 
of, and as provided for in, the Installment Purchase Agreement, at a Redemption Price equal to the 
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without 
premium. 

The Bonds with stated maturities on or after September 1, 20__, are subject to redemption 
prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part as directed by the USDFA in a Request 

330 of 567



 

 

provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such lesser number of days acceptable to the Trustee in 
the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the convenience of the Trustee) and by lot within 
each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000, on September 1, 20__ or any date thereafter at a 
Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon to the date 
fixed for redemption, without premium. 

The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 thereafter, in integral 
multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to 
the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following schedule: 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

  
  
  
  

*  
    
* Maturity. 

The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 thereafter, in integral 
multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to 
the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following schedule: 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

  
  
  
  

*  
    
* Final Maturity. 

As provided in the Indenture, notice of redemption shall be mailed by the Trustee by first 
class mail not less than twenty (20) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date 
to the respective Owners of any Bonds designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on 
the registration books of the Trustee, but neither the failure to receive such notice nor any defect in 
the notice or the mailing thereof shall affect the validity of the proceedings for redemption or the 
cessation of accrual of interest thereon from and after the date fixed for redemption. 

If this Bond is called for redemption and payment is duly provided therefor as specified in the 
Indenture, interest shall cease to accrue hereon from and after the date fixed for redemption. 

331 of 567



 

 

If an Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture, shall occur, the principal of all of the Bonds 
and the interest accrued thereon may be declared due and payable upon the conditions, in the 
manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture, but such declaration and its consequences 
may be rescinded and annulled as further provided in the Indenture. 

This Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof, in person or by his or her duly 
authorized attorney in writing, at said office of the Trustee but only in the manner, subject to the 
limitations and upon payment of the taxes and charges provided in the Indenture and upon surrender 
and cancellation of this Bond.  Upon registration of such transfer, a new Bond or Bonds of the same 
series, of authorized denomination or denominations, for the same aggregate principal amount of 
the same maturity will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. 

Bonds may be exchanged at said office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds of other authorized denominations of the same series and same maturity, but only in the 
manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of the taxes and charges provided in the 
Indenture. 

The Trustee shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of any Bond during the 
period in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for redemption or any Bond that has been selected for 
redemption. 

The USDFA and the Trustee may treat the Registered Owner hereof as the absolute owner 
hereof for all purposes, and the USDFA and the Trustee shall not be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 

It is hereby certified that all of the things, conditions and acts that are required to exist, to 
have happened or to have been performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond do exist, 
have happened or have been performed in due and regular time, form and manner as required by 
the JPA Agreement, and the laws of the State of California and that the amount of this Bond, together 
with all other indebtedness of the USDFA, does not exceed any limit under any laws of the State of 
California, and is not in excess of the amount of Bonds permitted to be issued under the Indenture. 

This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture or become valid or 
obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication hereon endorsed shall have been 
manually signed by the Trustee. 

332 of 567



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the USDFA has caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its 
behalf with the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair and attested to by the manual or facsimile 
signature of its Secretary, all as of the Original Issue Date specified above. 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:   
 Chair 

Attest: 
 
 
      
Secretary of the Board 
 
 

  

333 of 567



 

 

[FORM OF TRUSTEE’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
TO APPEAR ON BONDS] 

 
 

This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Indenture. 

Dated:  _______, 2020 U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee 
 
 
By:   
 Authorized Signatory 

 
 
 
 

[FORM OF LEGAL OPINION] 
 

The following is a true copy of the opinion rendered by Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a 
Professional Corporation, in connection with the issuance of, and dated as of the date of the original 
delivery of, the Bonds.  A signed copy is on file in my office. 

   
Secretary of the Board of the Union Sanitary District 
Financing Authority 

 

  

334 of 567



 

 

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 

 
For value received the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto   
  
  
  

(Name, Address and Tax Identification or 
Social Security Number of Assignee) 

 
the within registered Bond and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and appoint(s) __________________ 
_________________________ attorney, to transfer the same on the registration books of the Trustee 
with full power of substitution in the premises. 
 
Dated:     
 

  
Note: The signature(s) on this Assignment must 

correspond with the name(s) as written on the 
face of the within Bond in every particular 
without alteration or enlargement or any 
change whatsoever. 

 
Signature Guaranteed: 
 
 
       
Note: Signature guarantee shall be made by 
a guarantor institution participating in the 
Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program 
or in such other guarantee program 
acceptable to the Trustee. 

335 of 567



 

 
 

$_________ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

_________, 2020 

Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 

Union Sanitary District  
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) hereby offers to enter into this Bond Purchase 
Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with you, the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
(the “USDFA”) and the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), for the purchase by the Underwriter 
and the delivery by the USDFA of the above-referenced Bonds (the “Bonds”).  The proceeds of the 
Bonds will be used to: (i) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the “Wastewater 
System”) owned and operated by the District, (ii) refund the District’s obligations under various 
prior agreements with the California State Water Resources Control Board, the proceeds of which 
were used to finance improvements to the Wastewater System, and (iii) pay the costs of issuing the 
Bonds. This offer is subject to your acceptance prior to 11:59 p.m., California time, on the date 
hereof and if not so accepted will be subject to withdrawal by the Underwriter upon written notice 
delivered to the USDFA and the District at any time prior to the acceptance thereof by the USDFA 
and the District.  Upon such acceptance, this Purchase Agreement shall be in full force and effect in 
accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon you and the Underwriter.  All terms not 
defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture and the Installment Purchase 
Agreement (each defined below). 

The USDFA and the District acknowledge and agree that: (i) the purchase and sale of the 
Bonds pursuant to this Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction among the 
District, the USDFA and the Underwriter in which the Underwriter is acting solely as a principal and 
not as an agent of the USDFA or the District and the Underwriter is not acting as a municipal 
advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the USDFA or the District; (ii) the Underwriter has not 
assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the USDFA or the District with respect to the 
transaction contemplated by this Purchase Agreement and the discussions, undertakings or 
procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriter, or any affiliate of the 
Underwriter has provided other services or is currently providing other services to the USDFA or the 
District on other matters); (iii) the only obligations the Underwriter has to the USDFA and the 

336 of 567



2 
 

District with respect to the transaction contemplated by this Purchase Agreement are expressly set 
forth in this Purchase Agreement; and (iv) the USDFA and the District have consulted their own 
financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent the 
USDFA and the District have deemed appropriate. The USDFA acknowledges that it has previously 
provided the Underwriter with an acknowledgement of receipt of the required Underwriter 
disclosure under Rule G-17 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”). 

1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations herein set 
forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the USDFA for offering to the public, and the 
USDFA hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the Underwriter, all (but not less than all) of the 
$_________ aggregate principal amount of the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2020A to be dated the Closing Date, at a price of $________, being the principal 
amount of the Bonds, plus net original issue premium of $_______, less an Underwriter’s discount 
of $_______. 

The Bonds shall mature in the amounts and on the dates, and bear interest at the rates, set 
forth in Exhibit A hereto. The Bonds shall be as described in and shall be secured under and 
pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Indenture”), by and between 
the USDFA and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), substantially in the form 
previously submitted to the Underwriter with only such changes therein as shall be mutually agreed 
upon by the USDFA, the District, the Trustee and the Underwriter. 

The obligation of the USDFA to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds is a special 
obligation of the USDFA, payable solely from USDFA Revenues (as defined in the Indenture), and 
certain other amounts held under the Indenture. USDFA Revenues consist primarily of Installment 
Payments made by the District to the USDFA pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement (as 
defined below). The principal of and interest on the Bonds are not required to be paid from any 
other funds of the USDFA, including any proceeds of any taxes, and does not constitute a debt or 
pledge of the faith and credit of the USDFA or the State of California (the “State”) or any political 
subdivision thereof in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. 

The USDFA and the District hereby ratify the use by the Underwriter of the Preliminary 
Official Statement, dated January ___, 2020 relating to the Bonds (together with the cover page and 
all appendices thereto, and any supplements thereof, the “Preliminary Official Statement”), and 
authorizes the Underwriter to use and distribute the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official 
Statement (as defined below), the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
January 1, 2020, between the USDFA and the District (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”), the 
Continuing Disclosure Certificate as required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 
(“Rule 15c2-12”), and substantially in the form attached as an appendix to the Official Statement, 
dated February ___, 2020 (the “Continuing Disclosure Certificate”), executed by the District and 
this Purchase Agreement, and all information contained therein, and all other documents, 
certificates and statements furnished by the USDFA and the District to the Underwriter in 
connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter.  The USDFA and the District 
have heretofore “deemed final” the Preliminary Official Statement within the meaning of Rule 
15c2-12. 

337 of 567



3 
 

The District will undertake pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to provide 
certain annual financial and operating information and notices of the occurrence of certain events.  
A description of this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and will also be 
set forth in the final Official Statement.  This undertaking will be entered into in order to assist the 
Underwriter in complying with the Rule. 

2. The Underwriter agrees to offer all the Bonds to the public initially at the prices (or 
yields) set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement of the USDFA pertaining to the 
Bonds, dated February __, 2020 (together with all appendices thereto, and with such changes 
therein and supplements thereto and as are consented to in writing by the Underwriter, and with 
the Preliminary Official Statement, are herein called the “Official Statement”).  Subsequent to the 
initial public offering of the Bonds, the Underwriter reserves the right to change the public offering 
prices (or yields) as it deems necessary in connection with the marketing of the Bonds subject to 
Section 5 hereof.  The Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers at prices lower than such 
initial public offering prices. “Public Offering” shall include an offering to a representative number 
of institutional investors or registered investment companies, regardless of the number of such 
investors to which the Bonds are sold.  The Underwriter agrees that prior to the time the final 
Official Statement relating to the Bonds is available, the Underwriter will send to any potential 
purchaser of the Bonds, upon the request of such potential purchaser, a copy of the most recent 
Preliminary Official Statement.  Such Preliminary Official Statement shall be sent by first class mail 
or electronic distribution (or other equally prompt means) not later than the first business day 
following the date upon which each such request is received. 

3. The USDFA shall also deliver a sufficient number of copies of the Official Statement 
to enable the Underwriter to distribute a single copy of each Official Statement to any potential 
customer of the Underwriter requesting an Official Statement during the time period beginning 
when the Official Statement becomes available and ending on the End Date (defined below).  The 
USDFA shall deliver these copies to the Underwriter no later than the earlier of (i) seven (7) 
business days after the execution of this Purchase Agreement or (ii) one (1) business day prior to 
the Closing Date in order to permit the Underwriter to comply with Rule 15c2-12, and the 
applicable rules of the MSRB, with respect to distribution of the Official Statement.  The USDFA and 
the District shall prepare the Official Statement, including any amendments thereto, in word-
searchable PDF format as described in the MSRB’s Rule G-32 and shall provide the electronic copy 
of the word-searchable PDF format of the Official Statement to the Underwriter no later than one 
(1) business day prior to the Closing Date to enable the Underwriter to comply with MSRB Rule 
G-32. The Underwriter shall inform the District in writing of the End Date, and covenants to file the 
Official Statement with the MSRB on a timely basis. 

The Official Statement, as of its date, as of the Closing Date (as defined herein) and as of the 
date of any update, amendment or supplement thereto as required hereby subsequent to the 
Closing, up to and including the date which is twenty-five (25) days following the end (the “End 
Date”) of the Underwriting Period (as hereinafter defined), will be correct and complete in all 
material respects and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 

338 of 567



4 
 

If, after the date of this Purchase Agreement and until the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after 
the end of the “underwriting period” (as defined in Rule 15c2-12) (the “Underwriting Period”), or 
(ii) twenty-five (25) days following the end of the Underwriting Period if the Official Statement is 
available to any person from the MSRB as contemplated by Rule 15c2-12(b)(4), any event shall 
occur or circumstance shall exist of which the USDFA or the District have knowledge that would 
cause the Official Statement to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading, the USDFA or the District, as the case may be, shall notify 
the Underwriter (and for the purpose of this Section provide the Underwriter with such information 
as it may from time to time reasonably request), and, if in the opinion of the District, the USDFA or 
the Underwriter such event or circumstance requires the preparation and publication of a 
supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the USDFA and the District will, at their 
expense, supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and manner jointly approved by 
the District, the USDFA and the Underwriter and furnish to the Underwriter a reasonable number of 
copies of such supplement or amendment provided that the Underwriter agrees that it will 
promptly notify the USDFA and the District of the end of the Underwriting Period. 

4. At 8:30 a.m., Pacific Time, on February __, 2020, or at such other time or date as 
shall be agreed upon by the Underwriter, USDFA and the District (such time and date being herein 
referred to as the “Closing Date”), the USDFA will deliver to the Underwriter, the Bonds, in book-
entry form, through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company or its agent (all Bonds having 
had the CUSIP numbers assigned to them thereon), duly executed by an authorized officer of the 
USDFA as provided in the Indenture, and the other documents herein mentioned at the offices of 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California (“Bond 
Counsel”) or another place to be mutually agreed to by the District and the Underwriter and the 
Underwriter will accept such delivery and pay the purchase price of the Bonds as set forth in 
Section 1 in immediately available funds (such delivery and payment being herein referred to as the 
“Closing”). 

Upon initial issuance, the ownership of such Bonds shall be registered in the registration 
books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee of The Depository Trust 
Company. 

It is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be printed on the Bonds, but neither the failure to 
provide such numbers nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute a cause for failure or 
refusal by the Underwriter to accept delivery of the Bonds in accordance with the terms of this 
Purchase Agreement. 

5. A. The Underwriter agrees to assist the USDFA in establishing the issue price of 
the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the USDFA at Closing an “issue price” or similar 
certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, substantially 
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, with such modifications as may be appropriate or 
necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the USDFA  and Bond Counsel (as 
defined herein), to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering 
price or prices to the public of the Bonds.   

339 of 567



5 
 

B. Except as otherwise set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, the USDFA will 
treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public 
as the issue price of that maturity.  At or promptly after the execution of this Purchase Agreement, 
the Underwriter shall report to the USDFA the price or prices at which it has sold to the public each 
maturity of Bonds.  If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any maturity of the 
Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the USDFA the prices at which it sells the 
unsold Bonds of that maturity to the public. That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not 
the Closing Date has occurred, until either (i) the Underwriter has sold all Bonds of that maturity or 
(ii) the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the 
Underwriter’s reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or 
otherwise upon request of the USDFA or Bond Counsel.  For purposes of this Section, if Bonds 
mature on the same date but have different interest rates, each separate CUSIP number within that 
maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the Bonds. 

C. The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or 
before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering 
price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, except as 
otherwise set forth therein.  Exhibit A also sets forth, as of the date of this Purchase Agreement, the 
maturities, if any, of the Bonds for which the Underwriter represents that (i) the 10% test has been 
satisfied (assuming orders are confirmed by the close of the business day immediately following the 
date of this Purchase Agreement) and (ii) the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the 
USDFA  and the Underwriter agree that the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, 
which will allow the USDFA  to treat the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as 
of the sale date as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  So long as 
the hold-the-offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter 
will neither offer nor sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than 
the initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the 
earlier of the following: 

a. the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

b. the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that 
maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price 
to the public. 

The Underwriter will advise the USDFA promptly after the close of the fifth (5th) business 
day after the sale date whether it has sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price 
that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 

D. The Underwriter confirms that: 

 (i) any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement relating to 
the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will 
contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of the selling group and each broker-
dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement, as applicable: 

340 of 567



6 
 

 (A)(i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each 
maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of that 
maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter that the 10% test has 
been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the 
Closing Date may be reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter 
and (ii) to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, if and for so long as directed by 
the Underwriter,  

 (B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that, to its knowledge, 
are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below), and  

 (C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-dealer, 
the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to 
the public.   

(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, 
together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer that 
is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale 
of the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party 
distribution agreement to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of 
each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of 
that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter or the dealer that 
the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting 
obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request 
of the Underwriter or the dealer, and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, 
if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter or the dealer and as set forth in the related pricing 
wires. 

E. The USDFA acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this 
section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection 
with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of 
the selling group to comply with the requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, 
including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if 
applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and 
(ii) in the event that a third-party  distribution agreement was employed in connection with the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such 
agreement to comply with the requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, including, 
but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the 
Bonds, as set forth in the third-party distribution agreement and the related pricing wires. The 
USDFA further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer 
who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a third-party 
distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply with the 
requirements for establishing the issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its 
agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds. 

341 of 567



7 
 

F. The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is 
a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each 
such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this 
section.  Further, for purposes of this section: 

a. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related 
party; 

b. “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a 
written contract with the USDFA  (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that 
agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause 
(A) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including a member of a 
selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial 
sale of the Bonds to the public); 

c. a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an 
underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) 
more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if 
both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), 
(B) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both 
entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (C) 
more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation 
or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the 
applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other); and 

d. “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement 
by all parties. 

6. The Underwriter represents to and agrees with the USDFA and the District that, as 
of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date: 

(a) The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement and 
to take any action under this Purchase Agreement required to be taken by it; 

(b) The Underwriter is in compliance with MSRB Rule G-37 with respect to the 
USDFA and the District, and is not prohibited thereby from acting as the underwriter with respect to 
securities of the USDFA and the District; 

(c) The Underwriter has, and has had, no financial advisory relationship, as that 
term is defined in California Government Code Section 53590 (c) or MSRB Rule G-32, with the 
District with respect to the Bonds, and no investment firm controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with such Underwriter have or has had any such financial advisory relationship; 
and 

342 of 567



8 
 

(d) The Underwriter has reasonably determined that the undertaking to provide 
continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate is 
sufficient to effect compliance with Rule 15c2-12. 

7. The USDFA represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that: 

(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and validly 
existing pursuant to the laws of the State of California and has all necessary power and authority to 
enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement and this 
Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “Authority Documents”) and, when executed and delivered 
by the respective parties thereto, the Authority Documents will constitute the legal, valid and 
binding obligations of the USDFA in accordance with their respective terms. 
 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents, or the 
approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the 
USDFA’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions herein and 
therein contemplated, nor the fulfillment of the terms hereof and thereof, conflicts with or 
constitutes a breach of or default under nor contravenes any law, administrative regulation, 
judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other 
instrument to which the USDFA is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, nor does 
any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result in the security interest or encumbrance 
of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets of the USDFA under the terms of any 
such law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, 
resolution, agreement or other instrument, except as provided by the Authority Documents. 

(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any 
state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification 
by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the USDFA required for the execution and 
delivery of the Bonds or the consummation by the USDFA of the other transactions contemplated 
by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(d) To the best of the knowledge of the USDFA, there is, and on the Closing 
there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court 
or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the USDFA to restrain or enjoin the 
delivery of any of the Bonds, or the payments to be made pursuant to the Indenture, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the validity of the Authority Documents or of the USDFA to enter into the 
Authority Documents or contesting the powers of the USDFA to perform its obligations under any of 
the foregoing or in any way contesting the powers of the USDFA in connection with any action 
contemplated by this Purchase Agreement, or in any way questioning or challenging the tax status 
of the Bonds. 

(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and 
including the End Date, the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement 
will be complete and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit 
to state any material fact (unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 7(j) below) 
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

343 of 567



9 
 

made, not misleading.  As of its date and as of the date hereof, the information relating to the 
USDFA and the Bonds contained in the Official Statement is true and correct in all material respects 
and such information does not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or 
omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

(f) The USDFA agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to 
qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of 
the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that the USDFA will not be 
required to execute a special or general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction in which it 
is not now so subject or to qualify to do business as a foreign agency in any jurisdiction where it is 
not so qualified. 

(g) By official action of the USDFA prior to or concurrently with the execution 
hereof, the USDFA has duly approved the distribution of the Official Statement (excepting the 
information under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS” 
and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in Appendices B, D, G and H thereto), and has duly authorized 
and approved the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the USDFA of the obligations 
on its part contained in the Authority Documents and the consummation by it of all other 
transactions contemplated by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(h) The USDFA is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment 
or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument 
to which the USDFA is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, and no event has 
occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
constitute a default or an event of default under any such instrument. 

(i) The USDFA is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the 
payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the USDFA or successor of 
the USDFA or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the USDFA as guarantor or successor of a 
guarantor. 

(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event 
occurs, of which the USDFA has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to 
the USDFA or the USDFA’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement, 
as then supplemented or amended, to contain an untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to 
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in 
the light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading, the USDFA will notify 
the Underwriter, and if, in the opinion of the Underwriter, such event requires the preparation and 
publication of a supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the USDFA will cooperate 
with the Underwriter in the preparation of an amendment or supplement to the Official Statement 
in a form and in a manner approved by the Underwriter, provided all expenses thereby incurred will 
be paid for by the District. 

344 of 567



10 
 

(k) If the information relating to the USDFA, its functions, duties and 
responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the 
immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and 
(unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such subsection) at all times 
subsequent thereto up to and including the date of the Closing, the portions of the Official 
Statement so supplemented or amended (including any financial and statistical data contained 
therein) will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading. 

(l) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or 
regulatory authority that has not been obtained is or will be required of the USDFA for the delivery 
and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by this 
Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement, except as may be required under the state 
securities or blue sky laws in connection with the sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter. 

(m) The USDFA will deliver all opinions, Bonds, letters and other instruments and 
documents reasonably required to be delivered by the USDFA by the Underwriter and this Purchase 
Agreement. 

(n) Any certificate of the USDFA delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a 
representation and warranty by the USDFA to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein. 

(o) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of 
acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the USDFA does not and will not have outstanding any 
indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the USDFA Revenues superior to or on a parity with the 
lien of the Bonds thereon. 

(p) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the 
USDFA will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the 
Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money, or 
incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent. 

(q) The USDFA is not presently and as a result of the execution of the Authority 
Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation 
limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or statutes or any additional debt or 
similar provision of any bond, note, contract or other evidence of indebtedness to which the USDFA 
is a party or to which the USDFA is bound. 

(r) The USDFA will not knowingly take or omit to take any action, which action 
or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 
other than as provided in the Authority Documents, unless otherwise required by law. 

8. The District represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that: 

(a) The District is a sanitary district duly organized under the laws of the State of 
California, and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the 

345 of 567



11 
 

Installment Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and this 
Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “District Documents”) and, when executed and delivered by 
the respective parties thereto, the District Documents will constitute the legal, valid and binding 
obligations of the District in accordance with their respective terms. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the District Documents, or the 
approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the 
District’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions herein and 
therein contemplated, nor the fulfillment of the terms hereof and thereof, conflicts with or 
constitutes a breach of or default under nor contravenes any law, administrative regulation, 
judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other 
instrument to which the District is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, nor does 
any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result in the security interest or encumbrance 
of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets of the District under the terms of 
any such law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, 
resolution, agreement or other instrument, except as provided by the District Documents. 

(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any 
state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification 
by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the District required for the execution and 
delivery of the Bonds or the consummation by the District of the other transactions contemplated 
by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(d) To the best of the knowledge of the District, there is, and on the Closing 
there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court 
or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the District to restrain or enjoin the 
delivery of any of the Bonds, or the payments to be made pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement and Indenture, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the District 
Documents or of the District to approve or enter into the District Documents, or in any way 
questioning or challenging the tax status of the Bonds. 

(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and 
including the End Date, the information relating to the District, the Installment Purchase Agreement 
and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement will be complete and will not 
contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact 
(unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 8(j) below) necessary to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  
As of its date and as of the date hereof, the information relating to the District, the Installment 
Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement is true and 
correct in all material respects and such information does not contain any untrue or misleading 
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements 
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

(f) The District agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to 
qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of 
the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that the District will not be 

346 of 567



12 
 

required to execute a special or general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction in which it 
is not now so subject or to qualify to do business as a foreign agency in any jurisdiction where it is 
not so qualified. 

(g) By official action of the District prior to or concurrently with the execution 
hereof, the District has duly approved the distribution of the information in the Official Statement 
under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION,” “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS,” “INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS” 
and “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in Appendices B, D, G and H thereto, and has duly authorized 
and approved the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the District of the obligations 
on its part contained in the District Documents and the consummation by it of all other transactions 
contemplated by the Official Statement and this Purchase Agreement. 

(h) The District is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment 
or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument 
to which the District is a party or is otherwise subject in any material respect, and no event has 
occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
constitute a default or an event of default under any such instrument. 

(i) The District is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the 
payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the District or successor of 
the District or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the District as guarantor or successor of a 
guarantor. 

(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event 
occurs, of which the District has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to 
the District, the Wastewater System or the District’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained 
in the Official Statement, as then supplemented or amended, to contain an untrue statement of a 
material fact or to omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make 
such information therein, in the light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not 
misleading, the District will notify the Underwriter, and if, in the opinion of the Underwriter, such 
event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement or amendment to the Official 
Statement, the District will cooperate with the Underwriter in the preparation of an amendment or 
supplement to the Official Statement in a form and in a manner approved by the Underwriter, 
provided all expenses thereby incurred will be paid for by the District. 

(k) If the information relating to the Wastewater System, the District, its 
functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or 
supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement 
or amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such 
subsection) at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the date of the Closing, the portions 
of the Official Statement so supplemented or amended (including any financial and statistical data 
contained therein) will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading. 

347 of 567



13 
 

(l) The District covenants that it will comply with all tax covenants relating to it 
in the District Documents and the Tax Certificate of the District. 

(m) The written information supplied by the District to the Underwriter with 
respect to the financial information relating to the Wastewater System is true, correct and 
complete in all material respects for the purposes for which it was supplied. 

(n) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or 
regulatory agency that has not been obtained is or will be required of the District for the delivery 
and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by this 
Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement, except for such licenses, certificates, approvals, 
variances or permits which may be necessary for the construction or operation of the Wastewater 
System which the District has applied for (or will apply for in the ordinary course of business) and 
expects to receive, and except as may be required under the state securities or blue sky laws in 
connection with the sale of the Bonds by the Underwriter. 

(o) The District will not take or omit to take any action which action or omission 
will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner contrary to 
that provided in the Indenture and as described in the Official Statement, unless otherwise required 
by law. 

(p) The District will deliver all opinions, certificates, letters and other 
instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the District by the Underwriter 
and this Purchase Agreement. 

(q) Any certificate of the District delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a 
representation and warranty by the District to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein. 

(r) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of 
acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the District does not and will not have outstanding any 
indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the Revenues superior to or on a parity with the lien of 
the Bonds thereon. 

(s) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the 
District will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the 
Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money, or 
incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent payable from the Net Revenues. 

(t) The District is not presently and as a result of the execution of the District 
Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation 
limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or statutes or any additional debt or 
similar provision of any bond, note, contract or other evidence of indebtedness to which the District 
is a party or to which the District is bound. 

(u) The District will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate 
to provide annual reports and notices of certain events in accordance with the requirements of Rule 
15c2-12. 

348 of 567



14 
 

9. The Underwriter has entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the 
representations, warranties and agreements of the USDFA and the District contained herein, and 
the opinions of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, Counsel to the Trustee, counsel to the District 
and counsel to the USDFA required hereby.  The Underwriter’s obligations under this Purchase 
Agreement are and shall be subject to the following further conditions: 

(a) At the time of Closing, this Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement, and the Continuing Disclosure Certificate (collectively the “Legal 
Documents”), all as described in the Official Statement, shall be in full force and effect as valid and 
binding agreements between or among the various parties thereto, and the Legal Documents and 
the Official Statement shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented except as may have 
been agreed to in writing by the Underwriter, and there shall be in full force and effect such 
resolutions as, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, shall be necessary in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 

(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall receive the following 
documents, in each case satisfactory in form and substance to them: 

(1) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date 
of Closing, addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (or a reliance 
letter to the Underwriter), in substantially the form attached as Appendix E to the 
Official Statement. 

(2) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated as of the date of 
Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

(3) The negative assurance letter of Quint & Thimmig LLP, Disclosure 
Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect 
that, based upon the information made available to them in the course of their 
participation in the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement and Official 
Statement and without passing on and without assuming any responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness and fairness of the statements in the Official Statement, and 
having made no independent investigation or verification thereof, no facts have 
come to their attention that lead them to believe that the Preliminary Official 
Statement as of its date, and the Official Statement as of its date or as of the Closing 
Date (except for any CUSIP numbers, financial or statistical data or forecasts, 
numbers, charts, estimates, projections, assumptions or expressions of opinion, the 
information under the captions “LITIGATION,” “RATINGS” and “UNDERWRITING” 
and in the appendices thereto (excluding Appendix C - “FORM OF THE CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE,”), information with respect to the USDFA, any 
information about DTC and its book-entry only system, as to which no opinion or 
view need be expressed) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omitted to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  

349 of 567



15 
 

(4) An opinion of Counsel to the USDFA, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to 
the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the USDFA is a joint powers authority duly organized and 
validly existing under the laws of the State of California; 

(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement 
and the Authority Documents have been duly approved by the USDFA; 

(iii) the resolutions of the USDFA approving and authorizing the 
execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the Authority 
Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of 
the USDFA which were called and held pursuant to law and with all public 
notice required by law and at which a quorum was present and acting 
throughout and such resolutions have not been amended or modified and 
are in full force and effect; 

(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the USDFA, 
which would adversely impact the USDFA’s ability to complete the 
transactions described in and contemplated by the Official Statement, to 
restrain or enjoin the payments under, or in any way contesting or affecting 
the validity of the Authority Documents, or the transactions described and 
defined in the Official Statement wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or 
finding would adversely affect the validity and enforceability of the Authority 
Documents; 

(v) the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and 
the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions 
thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not 
and will not in any material respect conflict with or constitute on the part of 
the USDFA a breach of or default under any agreement or other instrument 
to which the USDFA is a party or by which it is bound or any existing law, 
regulation, court order or consent decree to which the USDFA is subject; 

(vi) the Authority Documents and the Official Statement have 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and, assuming 
due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the 
Authority Documents constitute legal, valid and binding agreements of the 
USDFA  enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as the 
enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by the 
application of equitable principles if sought and by the limitations on legal 
remedies imposed on actions against public agencies in the State of 
California; 

350 of 567



16 
 

(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the 
State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the 
State of California other than the USDFA is required for the valid 
authorization, execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement by the USDFA; and 

(viii) nothing has come to their attention which would lead them 
to believe that the information relating to the USDFA contained in the 
Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading. 

(5) An opinion of counsel to the District, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to 
the USDFA and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the District is a sanitary district created in accordance with 
the laws of the State of California; 

(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement 
and the District Documents have been duly approved by the District; 

(iii) the resolutions of the District approving and authorizing the 
execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the District Documents 
have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the District 
which were called and held pursuant to law and with all public notice 
required by law and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout 
and such resolutions have not been amended or modified and are in full 
force and effect; 

(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel , there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the 
District, which would adversely impact the District’s ability to complete the 
transactions described in and contemplated by the Official Statement, to 
restrain or enjoin the payments under the Installment Purchase Agreement, 
or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the District Documents, 
or the transactions described and defined in the Official Statement wherein 
an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the validity 
and enforceability of the District Documents; 

(v) the execution and delivery of the District Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions 
thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not 
and will not in any material respect conflict with or constitute on the part of 
the District a breach of or default under any agreement or other instrument 

351 of 567



17 
 

to which the District is a party or by which it is bound or any existing law, 
regulation, court order or consent decree to which the District is subject; 

(vi) the District Documents and the Official Statement have been 
duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District, and, assuming due 
authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the 
District Documents constitute legal, valid and binding agreements of the 
District enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as the 
enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by the 
application of equitable principles if sought and by the limitations on legal 
remedies imposed on actions against public agencies in the State of 
California; 

(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the 
State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the 
State of California other than the District is required for the valid 
authorization, execution and delivery of the District Documents and the 
approval of the Official Statement by the District; 

(viii) the District’s charges and fees with respect to the 
Wastewater System were duly approved and adopted by the District, and 
are valid and enforceable at the current levels levied by the District; and 

(ix) nothing has come to the such counsel’s attention which 
would lead such counsel to believe that the information relating to the 
District or the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement 
contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading. 

(6) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the date of Closing in 
form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, and 
addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that: 

(i) the Trustee is a national banking association duly organized 
and validly existing under the laws of the United States; 

(ii) the Trustee has duly authorized the execution and delivery of 
the Indenture; 

(iii) the Indenture has been duly entered into and delivered by 
the Trustee and assuming due, valid and binding authorization, execution 
and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding obligation of the Trustee enforceable against the Trustee in 
accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be 
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws affecting 

352 of 567



18 
 

the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, or by general principles of 
equity; 

(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds 
in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture; 

(v) acceptance by the Trustee of the duties and obligations 
under the Indenture and compliance with provisions thereof will not conflict 
with or constitute a breach of or default under any law or administrative 
regulation to which the Trustee is subject; and 

(vi) all approvals, consents and orders of any governmental 
authority or agency having jurisdiction in the matter which would constitute 
a condition precedent to the performance by the Trustee of its duties and 
obligations under the Indenture have been obtained and are in full force and 
effect. 

(7) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the 
Underwriter, of Kutak Rock LLP, counsel to the Underwriter (“Underwriter’s 
Counsel”), in such form as may be acceptable to the Underwriter. 

(8) A certificate, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized 
official of the USDFA satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and 
Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warranties of 
the USDFA contained in this Purchase Agreement; (b) certifying that the USDFA has 
complied with all agreements, covenants and conditions to be complied with by the 
USDFA at or prior to the Closing under the Authority Documents; and (c) certifying 
that to the best of such official’s knowledge, no event affecting the USDFA has 
occurred since the date of the Official Statement which either makes untrue or 
incorrect in any material respect as of the Closing the statements or information 
contained in the Official Statement with respect to the USDFA or is not reflected in 
the Official Statement but should be reflected therein in order to make the 
statements and information therein with respect to the USDFA not misleading in any 
material respect. 

(9) A certificate or certificates, dated the date of Closing, signed by a 
duly authorized official of the District satisfactory in form and substance to the 
Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations 
and warranties of the District contained in this Purchase Agreement; (b) certifying 
that the District has complied with all agreements, covenants and conditions to be 
complied with by the District at or prior to the Closing under the District Documents; 
and (c) certifying that to the best of such official’s knowledge, no event affecting the 
District has occurred since the date of the Official Statement which either makes 
untrue or incorrect in any material respect as of the Closing the statements or 
information contained in the Official Statement with respect to the Wastewater 
System or the District or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be 
reflected therein in order to make the statements and information therein with 

353 of 567



19 
 

respect to the Wastewater System or the District not misleading in any material 
respect. 

(10) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, 
signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA deeming the Preliminary Official 
Statement “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 except for the information with 
respect to the District.  

(11) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, 
signed by a duly authorized official of the District deeming the information 
contained in the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the District “final” for 
purposes of Rule 15c2-12. 

(12) An executed or certified copy of each of the Legal Documents. 

(13) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized 
officer of the District of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the District 
relating to the approval of the District Documents and the authorization, issuance, 
sale and delivery of the Bonds, together with a certificate dated as of the date of 
Closing of a duly authorized officer of the District to the effect that each included 
resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of the one duly adopted by the Board 
of Directors of the District and that none have been amended, modified or 
rescinded since adoption (except as reflected in said transcript or as may have been 
agreed to in writing by the Underwriter) and is in full force and effect as of the date 
of Closing. 

(14) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized 
officer of the USDFA of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the USDFA 
relating to the approval of the Authority Documents and the authorization, issuance, 
sale and delivery of the Bonds, together with a certificate dated as of the date of 
Closing of a duly authorized officer of the USDFA  to the effect that each included 
resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of the one duly adopted by the Board 
of Directors of the USDFA and that none have been amended, modified or rescinded 
since adoption (except as reflected in said transcript or as may have been agreed to 
in writing by the Underwriter) and is in full force and effect as of the date of Closing. 

(15) An executed copy of the Official Statement. 

(16) A certified copy of the general resolution of the Trustee authorizing 
the execution and delivery of certain documents by certain officers of the Trustee, 
which resolution authorizes the execution and delivery of documents such as the 
Bonds and the Indenture. 

(17) A Tax Certificate of the USDFA and the District in form and substance 
acceptable to Bond Counsel. 

(18) A Certificate of the Trustee, dated the Closing Date to the effect that: 

354 of 567



20 
 

(i) the Trustee is duly organized and existing as a national 
banking association in good standing under the laws of the United States, 
having the full power and authority to accept and perform its duties under 
the Indenture; 

(ii) subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee will 
apply the proceeds from the Bonds to the purposes specified in the 
Indenture;  

(iii) the Trustee has duly authorized and executed the Indenture; 
and  

(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds 
in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture. 

(19) Evidence that the Bonds have been given the ratings set forth in the 
Official Statement and that such ratings continue in effect as of the date of Closing. 

(20) Evidence that a federal tax information form 8038-G has been 
prepared for filing with respect to the Bonds. 

(21) A copy of the Notice of Final Sale required to be delivered to the 
California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission pursuant to Section 8855 of 
the California Government Code. 

(22) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments 
and other documents as Bond Counsel, the Underwriter and Underwriter’s Counsel 
may reasonably request to evidence compliance with legal requirements, the truth 
and accuracy, as of the time of Closing, of the representations contained herein and 
in the Official Statement and the due performance or satisfaction by the Trustee and 
the USDFA at or prior to such time of all agreements then to be performed and all 
conditions then to be satisfied. 

If the conditions to the Underwriter’s obligations contained in this Purchase Agreement are 
not satisfied or if the Underwriter’s obligations shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this 
Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall terminate and none of the Underwriter, the 
District nor the USDFA shall have any further obligation hereunder. 

10. The Underwriter may terminate its obligation to purchase the Bonds at any time 
before the Closing Date if the market price or marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the 
Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds shall be materially adversely affected in 
the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter by the occurrence of any of the following: 

(i) Legislation shall be enacted by or introduced in the Congress 
of the United States or recommended to the Congress for passage by the 
President of the United States, or the Treasury Department of the United 
States or the Internal Revenue Service or favorably reported for passage to 

355 of 567



21 
 

either House of the Congress by any committee of such House to which such 
legislation has been referred for consideration, a decision by a court of the 
United States or of the State or the United States Tax Court shall be 
rendered, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary or proposed), 
press release, statement or other form of notice by or on behalf of the 
Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal Revenue Service or 
other governmental agency shall be made or proposed, the effect of any or 
all of which would be to alter, directly or indirectly, federal income taxation 
upon interest received on obligations of the general character of the Bonds, 
or the interest on the Bonds as described in the Official Statement, or other 
action or events shall have transpired which may have the purpose or effect, 
directly or indirectly, of changing the federal income tax consequences of 
any of the transactions contemplated herein; or 

(ii) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by 
the Congress or an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or 
proposed), press release or other form of notice issued or made by or on 
behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any other 
governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter, to the effect 
that obligations of the general character of the Bonds are not exempt from 
registration under or other requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or that the Indenture is not exempt from qualification under or 
other requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or that 
the issuance, offering, or sale of obligations of the general character of the 
Bonds, as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement or otherwise, is 
or would be in violation of the federal securities law as amended and then in 
effect; or 

(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York 
Stock Exchange or any other national securities exchange, the establishment 
of minimum or maximum prices on any such national securities exchange, 
the establishment of material restrictions (not in force as of the date hereof) 
upon trading securities generally by any governmental authority or any 
national securities exchange, or any material increase of restrictions now in 
force (including, with respect to the extension of credit by, or the charge to 
the net capital requirements of, the Underwriter); or 

(iv) A general banking moratorium shall have been established by 
federal, New York or California authorities; or 

(v) Establishment of any new restrictions in securities materially 
affecting the free market for securities of the same nature as the Bonds 
(including the imposition of any limitations on interest rates) or the charge 
to the net capital requirements of the Underwriter established by the New 
York Stock Exchange, the Securities and Exchange Commission, any other 

356 of 567



22 
 

Federal or state agency or the Congress of the United States, or by Executive 
Order; or 

(vi) Any amendment to the federal or California Constitution or 
action by any federal or California court, legislative body, regulatory body or 
other authority materially adversely affecting the tax status of the USDFA or 
the District, its property, income or securities (or interest thereon), or the 
ability of the District to execute the Installment Purchase Agreement or the 
USDFA to issue the Bonds and pledge the USDFA Revenues as contemplated 
by the Indenture and the Official Statement; or 

(vii) There shall have occurred any (1) new material outbreak of 
hostilities (including, without limitation, an act of terrorism) or (2) new 
material other national or international calamity or crisis, or any material 
adverse change in the financial, political or economic conditions affecting 
the United States, including, but not limited to, an escalation of hostilities 
that existed prior to the date hereto; or 

(viii) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or 
clearance services affecting the Bonds shall have occurred; or 

(ix) Any event occurring, or information becoming known which, 
in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, makes untrue in any 
material respect any statement or information contained in the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement, or results in the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement containing any untrue statement 
of a material fact or omitting to state a material fact required to be stated 
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or  

(x) Any fact or event shall exist or have existed that requires or 
has required an amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement; or 

(xi) Any rating of the Bonds or other obligations of the USDFA or 
the District by a national rating agency shall have been withdrawn or 
downgraded or placed on negative outlook or negative watch. 

11. Performance by the USDFA and the District of their respective obligations under this 
Purchase Agreement is conditioned upon (i) performance by the Underwriter of its obligations 
hereunder, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriter of all opinions and certificates to be delivered at 
Closing by persons and entities other than the USDFA or the District. 

12. After the Closing and until the End Date (a) neither the USDFA nor the District will 
adopt any amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement to which the Underwriter shall 
object in writing, and (b) if any event relating to or affecting the USDFA or the District shall occur as 
a result of which it is necessary, in the opinion of the Underwriter, to amend or supplement the 
Official Statement in order to make the Official Statement not misleading in the light of the 

357 of 567



23 
 

circumstances existing at the time it is delivered to an initial purchaser of the Bonds, and the USDFA 
will forthwith prepare and furnish to the Underwriter a reasonable number of copies of an 
amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement (in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Underwriter) which will amend or supplement the Official Statement so that it will not contain an 
untrue statement of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances existing at the time the Official Statement is delivered to an initial purchaser of 
the Bonds, not misleading.  The costs of preparing any necessary amendment or supplement to the 
Official Statement to be utilized until the End Date shall be borne by the District.  For the purposes 
of this Section, the USDFA and the District will furnish such information with respect to itself as the 
Underwriter may from time to time request. 

13. (a) The Underwriter shall be under no obligation to pay, and the District or 
USDFA shall pay or cause to be paid out of the proceeds of the Bonds, all expenses incident to the 
performance of the USDFA’s and District’s obligations hereunder, including but not limited to: the 
cost of photocopying and delivering the Bonds to the Underwriter; the cost of preparing, printing 
(and/or word processing and reproducing), distributing and delivering the District Documents and 
the Authority Documents, and the cost of printing, distributing and delivering the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the Official Statement in such reasonable quantities as requested by the 
Underwriter; and the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, the Municipal 
Advisor, any accountants, financial advisors or other engineers or experts or consultants the USDFA 
or the District have retained in connection with the Bonds and expenses (included in the expense 
component of the Underwriter’s spread) incurred on behalf of the USDFA or District officers or 
employees which are incidental to implementing this Purchase Agreement, including, but not 
limited to, meals, transportation, and lodging of those officers or employees. 

(b) Whether or not the Bonds are delivered to the Underwriter as set forth 
herein, neither the USDFA nor the District shall be under any obligation to pay, and the USDFA and 
the District shall not pay, any expenses incurred by the Underwriter in connection with its public 
offering and distribution of the Bonds (except those specifically enumerated in subsection (a) of this 
section), including any advertising expenses and the fees of the California Debt and Investment 
Advisory Commission, CUSIP Services Bureau charges, the cost of preparation of any “blue sky” or 
legal investment memoranda, and the fees and disbursements of Underwriter’s Counsel. 

14. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter may be given by 
delivering the same to RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200, San 
Francisco, California 94111; Attention: Municipal Finance Department. Any notice or other 
communication to be given to the USDFA or the District may be given by delivering the same to 
addresses initially provided herein, Attention: Executive Director with respect to the USDFA and 
Attention: General Manager with respect to the District.  The approval of the Underwriter when 
required hereunder or the determination of satisfaction as to any document referred to herein shall 
be in writing signed by the Underwriter and delivered to you. 

15. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the USDFA, the District 
and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns thereof) and no other person shall acquire 
or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. 

358 of 567



24 
 

16. This Purchase Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

17. The representations and warranties of the USDFA and the District set forth in or 
made pursuant to this Purchase Agreement shall not be deemed to have been discharged, satisfied 
or otherwise rendered void by reason of the Closing or termination of this Purchase Agreement and 
regardless of any investigations made by or on behalf of the Underwriter (or statements as to the 
results of such investigations) concerning such representations and warranties of the USDFA and 
the District and regardless of delivery of and payment for the Bonds. 

18. The primary role of the Underwriter, as underwriter, is to purchase the Bonds for 
resale to investors in an arms-length commercial transaction among the District, the USDFA and the 
Underwriter.  The Underwriter, as underwriter, has financial and other interests that differ from 
those of the USDFA and the District. 

19. This Purchase Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the respective 
parties hereto upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by the USDFA, the District and the 
Underwriter, and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such acceptance. 

20. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  
This Purchase Agreement shall not be assigned by either party hereto. 

21. This Purchase Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, 
agreements and understandings between the parties hereto in relation to the sale of Bonds by the 
USDFA and the District and represents the entire agreement of the parties as to the subject matter 
herein. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

359 of 567



 

25 

22. Any provision of this Purchase Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in 
any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Purchase Agreement or 
affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction. 

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 
 
 
 
By:  

Robert L. Williams, Jr. 
Managing Director 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted as of the date first above written: 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:   

Authorized Officer 

Time of Execution: _____________ p.m. California time 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

Time of Execution: _____________ p.m. California time 

.  

 

[EXECUTION PAGE OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT – UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING 
AUTHORITY REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A]

360 of 567



 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

$______ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A 

Maturity 
(September 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate Yield Price 

10% Test 
Satisfied* 

10% Test 
Not 

Satisfied 

Subject to 
Hold-The-

Offering-Price 
Rule 

2020          
2021        
2022          
2023          
2024          
2025          
2026          
2027          
2028          
2029          
2030          
2031          
2032          
2033          
2034          
2035          
2036          
2037          
2038          
2039        
20__(T)        
20__(T)        
_________________ 
(T) Term Bond. 
(C) Priced to optional call at [par] on September 1, 20__. 
* At the time of execution of this Purchase Agreement and assuming orders are confirmed by the 
close of the business day immediately following the date of this Purchase Agreement. 

361 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

EXHIBIT B 

$_____ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A  
 
 

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC (“RBC”) hereby certifies as set forth 
below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”). 

 1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each 
Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was 
sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

 2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.   

 (a) RBC offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for purchase at the 
respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) on or before the 
Sale Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds is attached to this 
certificate as Schedule B. 

 (b) As set forth in the Purchase Agreement, RBC has agreed in writing that, (i) for each 
Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds 
of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such 
Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) 
any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the 
selling group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-
dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-
price rule.  Pursuant to such agreement, no Underwriter (as defined below) has offered or sold any 
Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective Initial 
Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period. 

 3. Defined Terms.   

 (a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in Schedule A 
hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in Schedule A 
hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the period 
starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the 
Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which RBC has sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price 

362 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturity. 

 (d) Issuer means Union Sanitary District Financing Authority. 

 (e) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 
are treated as separate maturities. 

 (f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 
Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 
more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a 
Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is February ___, 2020. 

(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Issuer 
(or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or 
indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution 
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

4. Yield.  RBC has provided the schedule attached in Schedule C with respect to the arbitrage 
yield on the Bonds. 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this 
certificate represents RBC’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The 
undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with 
respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to 
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Stradling Yocca Carlson & 
Rauth, a Professional Corporation in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the 
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the 
Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the 
Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds. 

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

 

By:______________________________________ 

363 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

Name:___________________________________ 

Dated:  February __, 2020  

364 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE A 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 
INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

(Attached)  

365 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE B 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

(Attached) 

366 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

SCHEDULE C 

ARBITRAGE YIELD PROOF 

(Attached) 

  

367 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

EXHIBIT C 

$_____ 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY  

REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2020A  
 
 

FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 
 

 

February __, 2020 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC 
Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, California 94111 

Re: $___________ Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority (the “USDFA”), a joint exercise of powers agency organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of California, of $_________ aggregate principal amount of Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A (the “Bonds”), under and 
pursuant to the provisions relating to the joint exercise of powers found in Chapter 5 of Division 7 
of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California, as amended (the “Government Code”) 
and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, 
the “Act”), and under and pursuant to the Indenture of Trust (the “Indenture”), dated as of January 
1, 2020 by and between the USDFA and U.S. Bank National Association., as trustee.  Capitalized 
terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the 
Indenture. 

On the date hereof, we delivered to the USDFA our opinion relating to, among other things, 
the validity of the Bonds and the Indenture (the “Approving Opinion”).  You are authorized to rely 
upon the Approving Opinion as if addressed to you. 

Based upon the foregoing and our review of such other information, documents and 
matters of law as we considered necessary and in reliance on the foregoing, as appropriate, we are 
of the opinion that: 

(i) The Bond Purchase Agreement, dated ______ __, 2020 (the “Purchase Agreement”), 
by and between the USDFA and RBC Capital Markets, LLC, as underwriter (the “Underwriter”), 

368 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

relating to the Bonds, has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and 
assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Underwriter, is a valid and binding 
agreement of the USDFA enforceable in accordance with its terms;  

(ii) The statements contained in the Official Statement under the captions 
[“INTRODUCTION-Security for the Bonds,” “THE BONDS,” ‘”SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 
FOR THE 2020 BONDS,” “TAX MATTERS,” in APPENDIX A – “SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL 
DOCUMENTS,” and in APPENDIX C – “FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION,”] insofar as such 
statements purport to summarize certain provisions of the Bonds and certain provisions of the 
Indenture and our Approving Opinion with respect to certain federal and state income tax matters 
related to the Bonds, are accurate in all material respects; and 

(iii) The Bonds are exempt from registration pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and the Indenture is exempt from qualification pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act of 
1939, as amended. 

The opinions expressed herein are based upon our analysis and interpretation of existing 
laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by 
such authorities.  We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Purchase 
Agreement, the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Bonds are subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or transfer and other 
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles if equitable 
remedies are sought, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on 
legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. 

By delivering this letter, we are not expressing any opinion with respect to any 
indemnification, contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed to 
constitute a penalty), right of set-off, arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum, 
choice of venue, non-exclusivity of remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the 
Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment Purchase Agreement, nor are we expressing any opinion 
with respect to the state or quality of title to or interest in any assets described in or as subject to 
the lien of the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment Purchase Agreement or the accuracy or 
sufficiency of the description of such assets, or the remedies available to enforce liens on, any such 
assets.   

Except as expressly set forth in the Approving Opinion, we express no opinion regarding any 
tax consequences with respect to the Bonds.  No opinion is expressed herein with respect to the 
compliance with, or applicability of, any “blue sky” laws of any state as they relate to the offer or 
sale of the Bonds. 

This opinion is limited to matters governed by the laws of California and federal securities 
laws, and we assume no responsibility with respect to the applicability or the effect of the laws of 
any other jurisdiction.   

This letter is being furnished to you solely for your benefit in connection with your purchase 
of the Bonds in accordance with the Purchase Agreement and is not to be used, circulated, quoted 

369 of 567



 

 Exhibit B 
 

 

or otherwise referred to or relied upon for any other purpose or by any other person without our 
prior written consent.  The Underwriter has been represented in connection with the purchase of 
the Bonds by its counsel; and no attorney-client relationship has existed or exists between the 
Underwriter and our firm in connection therewith or by virtue of this letter.   

Respectfully submitted, 

370 of 567



 
Th

is
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
O

ffi
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
he

re
in

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
or

 a
m

en
dm

en
t. 

Th
es

e 
se

cu
rit

ie
s 

m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ffe

rs
 to

 b
uy

 b
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 p
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

tim
e 

th
e 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t i

s 
de

liv
er

ed
 in

 fi
na

l f
or

m
. U

nd
er

 n
o 

ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l t

hi
s 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t c

on
st

itu
te

 a
n 

of
fe

r t
o 

se
ll 

or
 a

 s
ol

ic
ita

tio
n 

of
 a

n 
of

fe
r t

o 
bu

y 
no

r s
ha

ll 
th

er
e 

be
 a

ny
 s

al
e 

of
 th

es
e 

se
cu

rit
ie

s 
in

 a
ny

 ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

in
 w

hi
ch

 s
uc

h 
of

fe
r, 

so
lic

ita
tio

n 
or

 s
al

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

un
la

w
fu

l p
rio

r t
o 

re
gi

st
ra

tio
n 

or
 q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
n 

un
de

r t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 la

w
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

ju
ris

di
ct

io
n.

 
 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JANUARY 29, 2020 
 
NEW ISSUE—FULL BOOK-ENTRY RATINGS:  
 Fitch: “___” 
 S&P: “___” 
 See “RATINGS” herein 
 
In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation (“Bond Counsel”), under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the accuracy of certain representations 
and compliance with certain covenants and requirements described herein, interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference 
for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals.  In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein. 
 

 

 

$_________* 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

FINANCING AUTHORITY 
(Alameda County, California) 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 

 

 

Dated: As of Date of Delivery Due: September 1, as shown below 
 
The $________* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”) are being issued by the Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “Authority”), in fully 
registered form without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). Payments of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds will be made by U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee for the Bonds (the “Trustee”), to DTC, which is obligated in turn to remit such principal and interest to DTC participants for subsequent 
disbursement to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. The Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the “Indenture”), by and between the Authority and the Trustee. 
Interest on the Bonds will be payable semi-annually on each March 1 and September 1, commencing on September 1, 2020. 
 
The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to (i) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the “Wastewater System”) owned and operated by the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), (ii) 
refund the District’s obligations under various prior agreements with the California State Water Resources Control Board, the proceeds of which were used to finance improvements to the Wastewater 
System, and (iii) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds. See “THE FINANCING PLAN” herein. The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable from Authority Revenues (as defined herein) 
consisting primarily of installment payments (the “Installment Payments”) payable by the District under an installment purchase agreement, dated as of February 1, 2020, by and between the Authority, as 
seller, and the District, as purchaser (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”). 
  
The District is obligated under the Installment Purchase Agreement to make Installment Payments from Net Revenues of the Wastewater System, on a parity with obligations of the District (“Parity 
Obligations”) hereafter issued or incurred by the District. “Net Revenues” are the Gross Revenues of the Wastewater System, less Operating and Maintenance Costs of the Wastewater System. The 
Installment Payments are scheduled in an amount sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the Bonds. The District has covenanted under the Installment Purchase Agreement to prescribe, 
revise and collect such charges from the services and facilities of the Wastewater System which will produce gross revenues sufficient in each Fiscal Year to provide Net Revenues equal to at least 1.20 times 
the aggregate of obligations of the District with respect to the Installment Payments and payments with respect to the Parity Obligations in such Fiscal Year. The Installment Payments are not subject to 
abatement. A debt service reserve fund will not be funded for the Bonds. 
 
THE OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT TO MAKE THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS DESCRIBED HEREIN IS A SPECIAL OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
NET REVENUES OF THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE DISTRICT, ALAMEDA COUNTY, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OF ITS 
POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION. 
 
The Bonds are subject to optional redemption, redemption from insurance and condemnation proceeds and redemption from scheduled sinking fund payments, as described herein. See “THE 
BONDS—Redemption” herein. 
 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AUTHORITY REVENUES 
(PRIMARILY DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT) AND AMOUNTS HELD IN 
CERTAIN FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE. 
 

MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, YIELDS  AND PRICES 
 

CUSIP† Prefix: _____ 
 

Maturity Principal Interest   CUSIP†  Maturity Principal Interest   CUSIP† 
September 1 Amount Rate Yield Price Suffix  September 1 Amount Rate Yield Price Suffix 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             

 

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR GENERAL REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE OF BONDS. INVESTORS MUST READ THE 
ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE PURCHASE OF 
THE BONDS. 
 
The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter and subject to the approval as to their validity by Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California, 
Bond Counsel to the District. Certain legal matters will also be passed upon for the District by Quint & Thimmig LLP, Larkspur, California, as Disclosure Counsel, and by Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, 
California, counsel to the District. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, California. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter  by 
Kutak Rock LLP, Irvine, California. It is anticipated that the Bonds will be delivered in definitive form through the facilities of DTC on or about February 26, 2020. 

 
Dated: February __, 2020 
    
*Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Copyright 2020, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, operated by S&P Capital IQ. This data is not 
intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for CUSIP Global Services. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the Authority or the District and are 
included solely for the convenience of the registered owners of the Bonds. None of the Authority, the District or the Underwriter is responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers and no representation is made as 
to their correctness on the Bonds or as included herein. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the delivery of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, 
a refunding in whole or in part or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds. 

371 of 567



372 of 567



GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the Bonds, nor shall there be any sale of the 
Bonds in any state or other jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale in such state or jurisdiction. 
 
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. Statements contained in this Official 
Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as 
such and are not to be construed as representations of fact. No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the 
Authority, the District or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations other than as contained herein in 
connection with the offering of the Bonds, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as 
having been authorized by the Authority, the District or the Underwriter. 
 
All summaries of the documents referred to in this Official Statement are made subject to the provisions of such documents, respectively, 
and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions. 
 
The Underwriter has submitted the following statement for inclusion in this Official Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed the 
information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws 
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. 
 
Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so 
described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a representation of facts. The information set forth herein has 
been obtained from sources which are believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be 
construed as a representation by the Authority or the District. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change 
without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder, under any circumstances, shall create any 
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any party described herein subsequent to the date as of which such information 
is presented. 
 
When used in this Official Statement and in any continuing disclosure by the Authority or the District, in any press release and in any oral 
statement made with the approval of an authorized officer of the Authority or the District, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are 
expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “expect,” “intend” and similar expressions 
identify “forward looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking 
statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be realized 
and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual results, 
and those differences may be material. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and 
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder will, under any circumstances, give rise to any implication that 
there has been no change in the affairs of the Authority or the District since the date hereof. 
 
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS 
WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT 
OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 
ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITER MAY OFFER AND SELL THE BONDS TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND DEALER BANKS 
AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENTS AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER 
PAGE HEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE 
UNDERWRITER. 
 
THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE 
UPON AN EXCEPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE BONDS HAVE 
NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. 
 
The District maintains a website. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, the information presented on such website is not incorporated 
by reference as part of this Official Statement and should not be relied upon in making investment decisions with respect to the 
Certificates. 

373 of 567



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................. 1 
Issuance of Bonds ........................................................... 1 
Security for the Bonds .................................................... 1 
Installment Payments ...................................................... 2 
The Authority ................................................................. 4 
The District .................................................................... 4 
The Wastewater System ................................................. 4 
District Finances ............................................................. 5 
Tri-City Area and the County ......................................... 5 
Book-Entry System ......................................................... 5 
Continuing Disclosure .................................................... 5 
Tax Matters .................................................................... 6 
Certain Risk Factors ....................................................... 6 
Forward-Looking Statements ......................................... 6 
Other Information ........................................................... 6 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ......... 7 
THE FINANCING PLAN ................................................. 8 

Prepayment of SWRCB Agreements .............................. 8 
2020 Projects .................................................................. 8 
Costs of Issuance ............................................................ 9 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ................................ 9 
THE BONDS ................................................................... 10 

General ......................................................................... 10 
Transfer and Exchange of Bonds ................................... 11 
Redemption ................................................................... 11 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 
BONDS ............................................................................. 13 

General ......................................................................... 13 
Installment Purchase Agreement .................................. 14 

THE DISTRICT .............................................................. 17 
General Background ..................................................... 17 
Service Area and Land Use ........................................... 18 
District Board ............................................................... 19 
Management and Employees ........................................ 19 

WASTEWATER SYSTEM ............................................. 19 
Wastewater Treatment Plant ........................................ 20 
Regulatory Requirements .............................................. 21 
Wastewater Collection System ..................................... 21 
Wastewater System Customers .................................... 22 
Wastewater System Rates ............................................. 23 

Billing and Collection of Wastewater System 
Charges ........................................................................ 26 

DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION .................. 28 
Budget Process ............................................................. 28 
Financial Statements .................................................... 28 
Outstanding Debt ......................................................... 29 
Historical and Projected Operating Results and 
Debt Service Coverage ................................................. 29 
Capital Improvement Program ...................................... 30 
Risk Management .......................................................... 31 
Joint Ventures ............................................................... 31 
Employee Pension Plans ................................................ 32 
Other Post-Employment Benefits ................................. 36 

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS ........... 37 
Limited Obligations ....................................................... 37 
Net Revenues; Rate Covenant ...................................... 38 
Risks Related to Facilities and Operations .................... 38 
Future Land Use Regulations ........................................ 39 
Limitations on Rate Setting Under the 
California Constitution ................................................. 40 
Limited Recourse on Default ........................................ 43 
Limitations on Remedies ............................................... 43 
Initiatives ....................................................................... 43 
Bankruptcy ................................................................... 44 
Tax Exemption ............................................................. 44 
Future Parity Obligations ............................................. 44 
Secondary Market ........................................................ 44 
Risks Related to Cyber Security .................................... 45 
Climate Change ............................................................. 45 
Pension Benefit Liability ............................................... 45 

INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS ........................ 45 
TAX MATTERS .............................................................. 45 
CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS ....................................... 47 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR ................................................. 48 
LITIGATION .................................................................. 48 
RATINGS ........................................................................ 48 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ...................................... 48 
UNDERWRITING .......................................................... 49 
MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................ 49 
 

 
APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS 
APPENDIX B: COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT 

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE 
INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

APPENDIX C: FORM OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
APPENDIX D: TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
APPENDIX E: FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 
APPENDIX F: BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 
APPENDIX G: DISTRICT’S INVESTMENT POLICY 
APPENDIX H: CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE 
 

374 of 567



DISTRICT LOCATION AND SERVICE AREA MAPS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

375 of 567



 
 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
5072 Benson Road 

Union City, CA 94587-2508 
Phone: (510) 477-7500  

http://www.unionsanitary.com* 
 
 

Authority and District Boards of Directors 
 

Jennifer Toy, President, Ward 3 (Fremont) 
Tom Handley, Vice President, Ward 3 (Fremont) 

Pat Kite, Secretary, Ward 2 (Newark) 
Manny Fernandez, Member, Ward 1 (Union City) 

Anjali Lathi, Member, Ward 3 (Fremont) 
 
 

District Staff and Officials 
 

Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
Armando Lopez, Treatment & Disposal Services Manager 

Robert Simonich, Fabrication Maintenance & Construction Manager 
Sami Ghossain, Technical Services Manager 

James Schofield, Collection Services Manager 
Laurie Brenner, Finance & Acquisition Services Coach 

Karen W. Murphy, Esq., General Counsel 
 
 

Special Services 
 

Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP 
Oakland, California 

District Counsel 
 

Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc. 
Irvine, California 
Municipal Advisor 

 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation 

Newport Beach, California 
Bond Counsel 

 
Quint & Thimmig LLP 

Larkspur, California 
Disclosure Counsel 

 
U.S. Bank National Association 

San Francisco, California 
Trustee 

 
*Information therein is not incorporated by reference into this Official Statement. 

 

376 of 567



 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
 

$__________* 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY 

(Alameda County, California) 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 

This Introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description of, and 
guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the remainder of this 
Official Statement and the documents summarized or described herein. The offering of the above-
captioned Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement and 
potential investors should thoroughly review it prior to purchasing such Bonds.  

 
Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used in this Official Statement that are 

defined in the Indenture (defined below) will have the meanings set forth therein, some of which are set 
forth in APPENDIX A—SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS. 

 
Issuance of Bonds 

 
The $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority (Alameda County, California) 

Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”) are being issued by the Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority (the “Authority”) to provide funds to (a) finance improvements to the wastewater system (the 
“Wastewater System”) owned and operated by the Union Sanitary District (the “District”), (b) refund 
the District’s obligations under various prior agreements with the California State Water Resources 
Control Board (the “SWRCB”), the proceeds of which were used to finance improvements to the 
Wastewater System, and (c) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds. 

 
The Bonds will be issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of January 1, 2020 (the 

“Indenture”), by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”). The Bonds will be issued under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 
1 (commencing with section 6584) of the California Government Code and Article 11 of Chapter 3 of Part 
1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, the “Act”). See “THE BONDS” and 
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.” 

 
Security for the Bonds 

 
The Bonds are special limited obligations of the Authority payable from and secured by a pledge 

of the Authority Revenues, consisting primarily of installment payments (the “Installment Payments”) 
payable by the District under an Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and 
between the Authority, as seller, and the District, as purchaser (the “Installment Purchase Agreement”). 
See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.” 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

377 of 567



-2- 

 
A debt service reserve fund will not be funded for the Bonds. 
 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AMOUNTS HELD IN CERTAIN 
FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE AND THE AUTHORITY REVENUES 
DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE 
INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF 
THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA (THE “COUNTY”) OR 
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA (THE “STATE”) OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION 
THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT 
OR RESTRICTION, AND THEY DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE 
AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR 
PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR FOR WHICH THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS 
LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF TAXATION. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING 
POWER. 

 
Installment Payments 

 
In general, the District is required to pay to the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, the 

Installment Payments which are designed to be sufficient in both time and amount to pay, when due, the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

 
Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District is obligated to pay the Installment 

Payments described in the Installment Purchase Agreement. The obligation of the District to make the 
Installment Payments is a special obligation of the District secured solely from the Gross Revenues and 
other funds described in the Installment Purchase Agreement, and does not constitute a debt of the 
Authority, the District or of the State or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction and does not constitute an obligation for which the 
District is obligated to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for which the District has levied or pledged 
any form of taxation. 

 
In order to carry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained in the Installment Purchase 

Agreement, the District has agreed and covenanted that all Gross Revenues (as defined below), will be 
received by the District in trust thereunder and will be deposited when and as received in the Revenue 
Fund, which fund the District has agreed and covenanted to maintain so long as any Installment Payments 
remain unpaid. 

 
All amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund have been irrevocably pledged to the payment of the 

Installment Payments as provided in the Installment Purchase Agreement.  Such pledge constitutes a first 
lien on, subject to application of amounts on deposit therein as permitted in the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, the Revenue Fund for the payment of the Installment Payments and all other Parity 
Obligations (as defined below) in accordance with the terms of the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
“Gross Revenues” means all income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other moneys derived by the 

District from the ownership or operation of the Wastewater System, including, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing: (i) rates and charges collected by the District on the Alameda County, 
California tax roll in accordance with section 5473 et seq. of the California Health and Safety Code (or any 

378 of 567



-3- 

successor provisions thereto); (ii) all other income, rents, rates, fees, charges or other moneys derived by 
the District through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Wastewater 
System; (iii) the proceeds of any stand-by or availability charges, development fees and connection 
charges collected by the District; and (iv) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of 
amounts described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above and from District reserves; but excluding: (1) 
customers’ deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or advances 
have become the property of the District; (2) any proceeds of taxes or assessments which are restricted by 
law to be used by the District to pay bonds or other obligations heretofore or hereafter issued; and (3) gain 
or loss on the sale of any capital assets as permitted by the Installment Purchase Agreement.  

 
“Gross Revenues” also include all amounts transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the 

Revenue Fund in accordance with the Installment Purchase Agreement. “Net Revenues” do not include 
any amounts transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Parity Debt Reserve during any Fiscal Year in 
accordance with the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
“Operation and Maintenance Costs” means (i) costs spent or incurred for maintenance and 

operation of the Wastewater System calculated in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles, including (among other things) the reasonable expenses of management and repair and other 
expenses that are necessary to maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working 
order, and including administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the 
Wastewater System, including but not limited to salaries and wages of employees, payments to the Public 
Employees Retirement System, overhead, insurance, taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, 
attorneys or engineers and insurance premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of 
the District or charges (other than debt service payments) required to be paid by it to comply with the 
terms of the Installment Purchase Agreement or of the Indenture or any Parity Obligations or of any 
resolution or indenture authorizing the issuance of any Parity Obligations or of such Parity Obligations; 
and (ii) costs allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement which constitutes 
Operation and Maintenance Costs of the EBDA calculated on accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles; but excluding in all cases (x) depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges 
or reserves therefor and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, (y) all 
capital charges, and (z) all amounts allocable to the District under the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement for 
capital costs thereof, including principal and interest on any bonds, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness of EBDA. 

 
“Wastewater System” means the whole and each and every part of the wastewater collection, 

conveyance, treatment and disposal system of the District, including all real property and buildings, 
including the portion thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all additions, betterments, 
extensions and improvements to such wastewater system or any part thereof hereafter acquired or 
constructed, including recycled water facilities of the District and the District’s interest in the facilities of 
the EBDA pursuant to the EBDA Joint Powers Agreement and related agreements. 

 
The District has covenanted in the Installment Purchase Agreement to, the fullest extent 

permitted by law, fix and prescribe, at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the 
Wastewater Service which are reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year 
(i) Net Revenues equal to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal 
Year and (ii) Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) 
of Subordinate Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year. 

 

379 of 567



-4- 

The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make 
such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect 
unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably expected to be sufficient to 
meet the above requirements. 

 
For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth above, 

the failure of Net Revenues to meet the threshold set forth above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not 
constitute a default or an Event of Default so long as the District has made required adjustments to rates 
and charges for the Wastewater Service at the commencement of the succeeding Fiscal Year. 

 
The District may issue additional bonds or notes and may execute additional contracts which are 

secured by Gross Revenues and payable from Net Revenues on a parity with the Installment Payments.  
Such additional "Bonds" and "Contracts" (as such terms are defined in Appendix A hereto) are referred to 
in this Official Statement as "Parity Obligations." 

 
THE OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT TO MAKE THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR 
THE STATE OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT OR RESTRICTION, AND DOES NOT 
CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE 
COUNTY OR THE STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION 
OR FOR WHICH THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF 
TAXATION.  

 
The Authority 

 
The Authority is a joint exercise of powers entity duly organized and existing under and pursuant 

to that certain Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of January 13, 2020, between the District and 
the California Municipal Finance Authority, for the primary purpose of providing financial assistance to 
the District. The Board of Directors of the Authority consists of the Board of Directors of the District (the 
“Board”). 

 
The District 

 
The District was formed in 1918 to serve Newark and the Centerville area of what is now the city 

of Fremont. Between 1949 and 1962, the Niles, Decoto, Irvington and Alvarado Sanitary Districts joined 
the District. The District provides wastewater collection, treatment and disposal services to the residents 
and businesses of the cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City, commonly referred to as the “Tri-City 
Area,” with a combined population of approximately 356,100. The Tri-City Area is located along 
Interstates 680 and 880, between Oakland and San Jose in southern Alameda County. See “THE 
DISTRICT.” 

 
The Wastewater System 

 
The District owns and operates the Wastewater System consisting of 834 total miles of pipeline, 7 

pumping stations and a wastewater treatment plant in order to provide wastewater collection, treatment 
and disposal services to users in its service area. See “THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM.” 

 

380 of 567



-5- 

District Finances 
 
The District’s fiscal year 2018-19 sewer service charges totaled $57,330,651. Wastewater 

revenues account for approximately 96.3% of total District operating revenues. Other revenue sources 
include investment earnings and capital improvement fees. The District does not receive any property tax 
revenues. 

 
The District has the power and authority to establish charges for service without the review or 

approval of any other governmental body. The District’s rates and charges are established by ordinance of 
the Board. The District can refuse or terminate service to delinquent customers and can require full 
payment of delinquent amounts and reconnection charges to resume service. Unpaid charges may become 
a lien on real property by recordation of a notice thereof. 

 
For further information concerning District finances, see “DISTRICT FINANCIAL 

INFORMATION.” 
 

Tri-City Area and the County 
 
For further information concerning the Tri-City Area and the County, see APPENDIX D—

GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY. 
 

Book-Entry System 
 
The Bonds are being issued as fully registered bonds, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and ultimate purchasers of Bonds will not receive 
physical certificates representing their interests in the Bonds. Transfers and exchanges of Bonds will be 
conducted in accordance with DTC procedures. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 
Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners thereof means 
Cede & Co. as aforesaid, and not the Beneficial Owners (as defined in Appendix F) of the Bonds. See 
“THE BONDS—General” and APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 

 
Continuing Disclosure 
 

The ultimate security for the payments of principal and interest on the Bonds comes from the 
Installment Payments to be made by the District, and, therefore, the District, as an obligated person 
within the meaning of the Rule (defined below), has agreed to undertake the continuing disclosure 
responsibilities required by the Rule as applicable to the Bonds. The Authority has not undertaken a 
commitment to provide any continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds. 

 
The District has covenanted in a continuing disclosure certificate (the “Continuing Disclosure 

Certificate”) to provide, or cause to be provided, certain annual financial information and operating data 
including, but not limited to, its audited financial statements and, in a timely manner, notice of certain 
enumerated events for purposes of Rule 15c2–12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “Rule”). See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and APPENDIX C—FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE for a description of the specific nature of the annual 
reports and notices of certain enumerated events to be provided by the District, and a description of the 
terms of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate pursuant to which such reports and notices are to be made.  

 

381 of 567



-6- 

Tax Matters 
 

In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, 
California, Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest on 
the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item of tax 
preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the 
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax. See “TAX MATTERS.” 

 
Certain Risk Factors 
 

Certain events could affect the ability of the Authority to make payments when due on the Bonds 
and the ability of the District to make the Installment Payments when due. See “RISK FACTORS” for a 
discussion of some of the risk factors that should be considered, in addition to other matters set forth 
herein, in evaluating an investment in the Bonds. 

 
Forward-Looking Statements 

 
This Official Statement, and particularly the information contained under the headings entitled 

“THE FINANCING PLAN,” “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” “SECURITY 
FOR THE BONDS,” “THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM” AND APPENDIX D—TRI-CITY AREA 
AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION, contains statements relating to 
future results that are “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 2000. When used in this Official Statement, the words “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” 
“expect” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to 
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such 
forward-looking statements. Any forecast is subject to such uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions 
used to develop the forecasts will not be realized and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. 
Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecasts and actual results, and those differences 
may be material. The District is not obligated to issue any updates or revisions to the forward-looking 
statements if or when its expectations, or events, conditions or circumstances on which such statements 
are based occur. See “RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS.” 

 
Other Information 

 
There follows in this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices hereto, a 

brief description of the Authority, the District, the Wastewater System, the Bonds, the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and other documents, risk factors and certain other information relevant 
to the issuance of the Bonds. All references herein to the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement 
and other documents, agreements and statutes, and the description of the Bonds included in this Official 
Statement, do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and such summaries, references and 
descriptions are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document, agreement or statute, and 
to the form of the Bonds included in the Indenture. A summary of certain provisions of the Indenture and 
the Installment Purchase Agreement is included in APPENDIX A—SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL 
LEGAL DOCUMENTS. The audited financial statements of the District for fiscal years 2018 and 2019 
are included in APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE 
DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018. 

382 of 567



-7- 

 
During the initial offering period for the Bonds, copies of the Installment Purchase Agreement 

and the Indenture may be obtained, upon written request and payment of the costs of duplication and 
mailing, from the Authority, c/o Union Sanitary District, 5072 Benson Road, Union City, CA 94587-
2508, Attention: General Manager. After delivery of the Bonds, copies of such documents may be 
obtained from the Trustee. 

 
The information set forth herein and in the Appendices hereto has been furnished by the District 

and the Authority and includes information which has been obtained from other sources which are 
believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be construed as a 
representation by the District, the Authority or the Underwriter (hereinafter defined).  

 
The information and expressions of opinion herein speak only as of the date of this Official 

Statement and are subject to change without notice. Neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any 
sale made hereunder nor any future use of this Official Statement will, under any circumstances, create 
any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the District or the Authority since the date 
hereof. 

 
All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the 

District and the Authority from their records, except for information expressly attributed to other sources. 
The presentation of information is intended to show recent historic information and is not intended to 
indicate future or continuing trends in the financial or other affairs of the District and the Authority. No 
representation is made that past experience, as it might be shown by such financial and other information, 
will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. 

 
 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 
 

The estimated sources and uses of funds are as follows: 
 

Sources:  
Principal Amount of Bonds  
Plus: District Contribution  
Plus: Net Original Issue Premium  

TOTAL SOURCES  
  
Uses:   
Payment of the SWRCB Agreements (1)  
Payment to the District to finance the 2020 Projects (2)  
Costs of Issuance (3)  

TOTAL USES  
    
(1) Amount required to prepay the SWRCB Agreements. See “THE FINANCING PLAN—Prepayment of SWRCB 

Agreements.” 
(2) Amount required to finance the 2020 Projects. See “THE FINANCING PLAN—2020 Projects.” 
(3) Costs of Issuance include the Underwriter’s discount, legal fees, printing costs, rating agency fees and other miscellaneous 

expenses. 
 
 

383 of 567



-8- 

THE FINANCING PLAN 
 
Prepayment of SWRCB Agreements 

 
A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be applied, on the date of delivery of the Bonds, to the 

prepayment of the following agreements between the SWRCB and the District (the “SWRCB 
Agreements”): 

 
    Outstanding 
    Amount 
  Maturity Interest (As of Date 

SWRCB Agreement Project Financed Date Rate (of Delivery) 
2003 State Revolving Fund Loan Irvington Equalization Storage Facilities 8/30/23 2.4%  $ 3,424,735.81 
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Willow/Central Avenue Sanitary Sewer 

Rehabilitation 
11/16/27 2.4% 780,457.63 

     
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Newark Pump Station 1/26/30 2.7% 5,937,182.50 
2008 State Revolving Fund Loan Lower Hetch Hetchy Sewer 

Rehabilitation 
11/17/28 2.7% 1,102,542.68 

2009 State Revolving Fund Loan Cedar Boulevard Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation 

2/26/30 2.5% 1,114,567.15 

     
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan 
 

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Primary Clarifiers 

1/15/33 2.7% 6,394,372.67 

     
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan Replacement of Substation 1 2/28/32 2.6% 1,716,788.15 
2011 State Revolving Fund Loan Replacement of Boyce Road Lift Station 7/31/33 2.6% 4,772,589.15 
2014 State Revolving Fund Loan Thickener Control Building 

Improvements 
3/31/37 2.1% 11,516,874.09 

Total    $36,760,109.83 

 
2020 Projects 

 
In addition, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be transferred to the District and applied 

to finance the 2020 Projects. The 2020 Projects include the following: 
 

Primary Digester No. 7 Project. The Primary Digester No. 7 Project will improve the overall reliability, 
operational ease, and maintainability of the Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant’s solids treatment 
process. The project will include the construction of a new 2.4 million gallon anaerobic digester, 
installation of new biosolids conveyance equipment and piping systems, replacement of the hot water 
boiler, and construction of a new chemical storage and pump facility. 
  
Alvarado Influent Pump Station Improvements Project. The Alvarado Influent Pump Station 
Improvements Project is to replace or rehabilitate the mechanical and electrical equipment and structural 
assets that have reached or are near the end of their useful lives.  The project will include the replacement 
of the wastewater pumps and piping, variable frequency drives, isolation valves and gates, supply and 
exhaust fans, and electrical switchboard.  The project will also include the seismic retrofit of the pump 
station building’s structure and interior platforms, replacement of the building’s roofing, and repairs of 
the building’s interior reinforced concrete. 
  

384 of 567



-9- 

Headworks Screens Replacement Project. The Headworks Screens Replacement Project is to replace 
the existing mechanical bar screens that have reached the end of their useful lives with new mechanical 
bar screens that will capture more debris, such as rags, plastics, and fibrous materials from the influent 
wastewater.  The removal of debris from the influent wastewater at the beginning of the Alvarado 
Wastewater Treatment Plant will improve the downstream treatment process and reduce the wear of 
mechanical equipment and valves. 
 
Costs of Issuance 

 
In addition, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be applied to pay the costs of issuance the 

Bonds. 
 
 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Annual debt service on the Bonds (assuming no redemptions of the Bonds) is presented below. 
 

Maturity    

September 1 Principal Interest Total 

2020    
2021    
2022    
2023    
2024    
2025    
2026    
2027    
2028    
2029    
2030    
2031    
2032    
2033    
2034    
2035    
2036    
2037    
2038    
2039    
2040    
2041    
2042    
2043    
2044    
2045    
2046    
2047    
2048    
2049    
2050    

TOTALS    

385 of 567



-10- 

 
Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District is required to make Installment 

Payments which have been calculated to be sufficient to fund the scheduled interest and principal 
payments due on the Bonds. The Installment Payments are due on the last day of the month preceding 
each Interest Payment Date. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS—
Installment Payments.” 

 
 

THE BONDS 
 
General 

 
The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or 

any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will mature on September 1 in each of the years and in the 
amounts, and will bear interest (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) at the 
rates set forth on the cover page hereof. 

 
Interest on the Bonds will be payable semiannually on each March 1 and September 1, 

commencing September 1, 2020 (each, an “Interest Payment Date”), to the persons whose names appear 
on the Registration Books as the Owners thereof as of the 15th calendar day of the month immediately 
preceding each such Interest Payment Date (each, a “Record Date”), such interest to be paid by check of 
the Trustee mailed by first-class mail to the Owners at the respective addresses of such Owners as they 
appear on the Registration Books; provided, however, that payment of interest may be made by wire 
transfer in immediately available funds to an account in the United States of America to any Owner of 
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more who furnishes written wire instructions to 
the Trustee at least five days before the applicable Record Date. Principal of any Bond and any premium 
upon redemption will be paid by check of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender thereof at the 
corporate trust office of the Trustee, except as provided in APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 
Principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds will be payable in lawful money of the United 
States of America. 

 
Each Bond will be dated as of its date of authentication and will bear interest from the Interest 

Payment Date next preceding such date of authentication thereof, unless (a) it is authenticated after a 
Record Date and on or before the following Interest Payment Date, in which event it will bear interest 
from such Interest Payment Date, or (b) it is authenticated on or before August 15, 2020, in which event it 
will bear interest from the Closing Date; provided, however, that if, as of the date of authentication of any 
Bond, interest thereon is in default, such Bond will bear interest from the Interest Payment Date to which 
interest has previously been paid or made available for payment thereon. 

 
The Bonds, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC,” and together with any successor securities 
depository, the “Securities Depository”). DTC will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. Individual 
purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry form. Purchasers will not receive certificates 
representing their ownership interest in the Bonds. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 
Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or the Owners of the Bonds means 
Cede & Co. as aforesaid, and not the Beneficial Owners (as defined in Appendix F) of the Bonds. So long 
as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable by 
wire transfer of same day funds by the Trustee to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. DTC is obligated, in 

386 of 567



-11- 

turn, to remit such amounts to the Participants for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners. See 
APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM. 

 
Transfer and Exchange of Bonds 
 

Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred on the Registration Books by the 
person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his or her duly authorized attorney, upon surrender 
of such Bond at the Office of the Trustee for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written 
instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form acceptable to the Trustee. The Trustee shall not be 
required to register the transfer of any Bond during the period in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for 
redemption and any Bond that has been selected for redemption. 

 
Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Authority shall execute and 

the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denomination or 
denominations for a like series and aggregate principal amount of the same maturity. The Trustee shall 
require the Bond Owner requesting such transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge that is 
required to be paid with respect to such transfer. Following any transfer of Bonds, the Trustee will cancel 
and destroy the Bonds that it has received. 

 
Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of 

other authorized denominations of the same series and maturity. The Trustee shall not be required to 
exchange any Bond during the period in which the Trustee is selecting Bonds for redemption and any 
Bond that has been selected for redemption. The Trustee shall require the Bond Owner requesting such 
exchange to pay any tax or other governmental charge that is required to be paid with respect to such 
exchange. Following any exchange of Bonds, the Trustee will cancel and destroy the Bonds that it has 
received. 

 
Redemption 

 
Extraordinary Redemption of Bonds. The Bonds are subject to extraordinary redemption prior to 

their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the order of maturity and within 
maturities as directed by the Authority in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such 
lesser number of days acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the 
convenience of the Trustee) prior to such date in integral multiples of $5,000 from Net Proceeds of 
insurance or condemnation, upon the terms and conditions of, and as provided for in, the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest 
thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

 
Optional Redemption of Bonds. The Bonds with stated maturities on or after September 1, 20__, 

are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part as directed by 
the Authority in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or such lesser number of days 
acceptable to the Trustee in the sole discretion of the Trustee, such notice for the convenience of the 
Trustee) and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000, on September 1, 20__, or any 
date thereafter at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon 
to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. 

 
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__, are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part, by lot, on September 1, 20__, and each September 

387 of 567



-12- 

1 thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following 
schedule: 

 
Sinking Account 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

 
Principal Amount to be 

Redeemed 

  
  
  
  
  

    
†Maturity 

 
The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__, are subject to mandatory sinking fund 

redemption in part, by lot, on September 1, 20__, and each September 1 thereafter, in integral multiples 
of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for 
redemption, without premium, in accordance with the following schedule: 

 
Sinking Account 

Redemption Date 
(September 1) 

 
Principal Amount to be 

Redeemed 

  
  
  
  
  

    
†Maturity 

 
In the event that the Trustee redeems Bonds maturing on September 1, ____, or September 1, 

____, in part but not in whole pursuant to the other redemption provisions of the Indenture, the amount 
of the Bonds maturing on September 1, ____, or September 1, ___, to be redeemed in each subsequent 
year as described above will be reduced, by $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, as designated by the 
Authority in a Certificate of the Authority filed with the Trustee. 

 
Selection of Bonds for Redemption. Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for the redemption 

of less than all of the Bonds, the Trustee shall select the Bonds for redemption as a whole or in part on any 
date as directed by the Authority and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000 in 
accordance with the Indenture. The Trustee will promptly notify the Authority in writing of the numbers 
of the Bonds or portions thereof so selected for redemption. 

 
Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail not less than twenty 

(20) days nor more than sixty (60) days before any Redemption Date, to the respective Owners of any 
Bonds that are designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the Registration Books, to the 
Securities Depositories and the Information Services. Each notice of redemption shall state the date of 
notice, the redemption date, the place or places of redemption and the Redemption Price, and shall 
designate the maturities, CUSIP numbers, if any, and, in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, 
the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. Each such notice shall also state 

388 of 567



-13- 

that on the redemption date there will become due and payable on each of said Bonds or parts thereof that 
are designated for redemption the Redemption Price thereof or of said specified portion of the principal 
thereof in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part only, together with interest accrued thereon to the 
redemption date, and that (provided that moneys for redemption have been deposited with the Trustee) 
from and after such redemption date interest thereon shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such 
Bonds be then surrendered to the Trustee. Neither the failure to receive such notice nor any defect in the 
notice or the mailing thereof will affect the validity of the redemption of any Bond. Notice of redemption 
of Bonds shall be given by the Trustee, at the expense of the Authority, for and on behalf of the Authority. 

 
With respect to any notice of optional redemption of Bonds, such notice may state that such 

redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such 
redemption of moneys that are sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such 
Bonds to be redeemed and that, if such moneys shall not have been so received, said notice shall be of no 
force and effect and the Trustee shall not be required to redeem such Bonds. In the event that such notice 
of redemption contains such a condition and such moneys are not so received, the redemption shall not be 
made, and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner in which the 
notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received. 

 
Partial Redemption of Bonds. Upon surrender of any Bond redeemed in part only, the Authority 

shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the 
Authority, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations equal in aggregate principal amount to the 
unredeemed portion of the Bonds surrendered and of the same series, interest rate and maturity. 

 
Effect of Redemption. Notice of redemption having been duly given as aforesaid, and moneys for 

payment of the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption on, 
the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption being held by the Trustee, on the redemption 
date designated in such notice, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption shall become due 
and payable, interest on the Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, said Bonds (or portions 
thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture, and the Owners of said 
Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof. 
The Trustee shall, upon surrender for payment of any of the Bonds to be redeemed on their Redemption 
Dates, pay such Bonds at the Redemption Price. 

 
All Bonds redeemed pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture will be cancelled upon surrender 

thereof and destroyed. 
 
 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 
 

General 
 
The Bonds are special limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from and secured solely 

by the Authority Revenues pledged therefor under the Indenture, together with amounts on deposit from 
time to time in the funds and accounts (except the Rebate Fund) held by the Trustee under the Indenture. 
“Authority Revenues” means (a) all Installment Payments received by the Authority or the Trustee 
pursuant to or with respect to the Installment Purchase Agreement; and (b) all interest or gain derived 
from the investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts established under the Indenture. 

 

389 of 567



-14- 

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Authority, irrevocably assigns and transfers to the Trustee without 
recourse, for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds as set forth in the Indenture, all of its rights, title, and 
interest in all Installment Payments payable by the District pursuant to the Installment Purchase 
Agreement, including all rights of the Authority thereunder as may be necessary to enforce compliance 
with said provisions (including enforcement of payment obligations and rate covenants, if any, contained 
in the Installment Purchase Agreement, or otherwise to protect the interest of the Owners of the Bonds). 

 
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM AND SECURED SOLELY BY A PLEDGE OF AMOUNTS HELD IN CERTAIN 
FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS UNDER THE INDENTURE AND THE AUTHORITY REVENUES 
DERIVED FROM THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS MADE BY THE DISTRICT UNDER THE 
INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT. THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF 
THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE STATE OR OF ANY POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF IN CONTRAVENTION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR 
STATUTORY DEBT LIMIT OR RESTRICTION, AND THEY DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN 
OBLIGATION FOR WHICH THE AUTHORITY, THE DISTRICT, THE COUNTY OR THE 
STATE IS OBLIGATED TO LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR FOR WHICH 
THE DISTRICT OR THE STATE HAS LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF TAXATION. THE 
AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

 
Installment Purchase Agreement 
 

Special Obligation. The District’s obligation to pay the Installment Payments will be a special 
obligation limited solely to Net Revenues. Under no circumstances will the District be required to advance 
any moneys derived from any source of income other than the Net Revenues and other sources 
specifically identified in the Installment Purchase Agreement for the payment of the Installment 
Payments, nor will any other funds or property of the District be liable for the payment of the Installment 
Payments. 

 
Pledge of Gross Revenues. The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on deposit in the Revenue 

Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund and any other 
amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) which are held in any fund or account that is 
established pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement (except the Parity Debt Reserve (other than 
those amounts which are transferred by the District from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund)), 
are irrevocably pledged to the payment of the Installment Payments.  Except for the payment of the 
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the Gross Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose while any 
of the Installment Payments remain unpaid; provided that out of the Gross Revenues there may be 
apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted in the Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

 
Deposit to Revenue Fund; Transfer to Pay Installment Payments. In order to carry out and effectuate 

the pledge and lien contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District agrees and covenants 
therein that all Gross Revenues shall be received by the District in trust under the Installment Purchase 
Agreement and shall be deposited when and as received in a special fund designated as the “Revenue 
Fund.” 

 
The District shall withdraw from the Revenue Fund such amounts at such times as shall be 

required to pay all Operation and Maintenance Costs (including amounts which are reasonably required to 

390 of 567



-15- 

be set aside in contingency reserves for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not 
then immediately required)as they come due and payable. 

 
All remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund shall be set aside by the District at the following times 

in the following respective special funds in the following order of priority, and all moneys in each of such 
funds shall be held in trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn only for the purposes so authorized: 

 
(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund. On or before each Installment Payment Date, the District 

shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for deposit in 
the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the interest and principal 
payable and coming due on the next succeeding Installment Payment Date. The District 
shall also, from the moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the applicable trustee for 
deposit in the applicable payment fund, without preference or priority, and in the event of 
any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, any 
other Debt Service in accordance with the provisions of the Parity Obligation relating 
thereto. 
 
Any moneys which are on deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund on each Installment 
Payment Date (other than amounts required for the payment of past due principal or 
interest with respect to any Bonds not presented for payment) shall be credited to the 
payment of the Installment Payments due and payable on such date. No deposit need be 
made in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund as Installment Payments if the amount in the 
2020A Bond Payment Fund is at least equal to the amount of the Installment Payment 
that is due and payable on the next succeeding Installment Payment Date. 

 
(b) Reserve Funds. On or before each Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from 

remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or priority, and in 
the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or 
preference, transfer to the applicable trustee for deposit to such reserve fund or account 
for Parity Obligations an amount that is equal to the amount required to be deposited 
therein. 
 

(c) Surplus. Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make any of 
the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for 
any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of subordinated Debt, 
or deposited in the Parity Debt Reserve. 

 
Parity Debt Reserve.  Pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement, the District shall establish a 

special fund designated as the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under 
the Installment Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold such 
fund separate and apart from other funds so long as the Installment Payments and any Parity Obligations 
remain unpaid.  

 
The District may withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Parity Debt 

Reserve and transfer such amounts to the Revenue Fund for application in accordance with the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and described under (a) through (c) under "Deposit to Revenue Fund; 
Transfer to Pay Installment Payments" above or, in the event that all or a portion of the Installment 
Payments are discharged in accordance with the prepayment provisions of the Installment Purchase 

391 of 567



-16- 

Agreement, transfer all or any portion of such amounts for application in in connection with such 
prepayment; provided that any such withdrawals and transfers may be made up to and including the date 
that is 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year or 12 calendar month period for which such withdrawals 
and transfers will be taken into account in calculating Gross Revenues.  Any such amounts withdrawn 
from the Parity Debt Reserve and transferred to the Revenue Fund constitute Gross Revenues. 

 
Rates, Fees and Charges. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District will fix and prescribe, 

at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are 
reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year (i) Net Revenues equal to one 
hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year and (ii) Net Revenues 
remaining after payment of Debt Service equal to one hundred percent (100%) of Subordinate Debt 
Service payable in such Fiscal Year. 

 
The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make 

such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect 
unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and charges are reasonably expected to be sufficient to 
meet the above requirements. 

 
For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth above, 

the failure of Net Revenues to meet the threshold set forth above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not 
constitute a default or an Event of Default so long as the District has made required adjustments to rates 
and charges for the Wastewater Service at the commencement of the succeeding Fiscal Year. 

 
Incurrence of Parity Obligations. The District may at any time issue or incur Parity Obligations 

provided that: 
 
(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen 

calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the 
resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or the date of execution of the contract which are Parity 
Obligations, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or 
Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one 
hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such twelve month period; and 

 
(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen 

calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the 
resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or the date of execution of the contract which are Parity 
Obligations, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve month period to 
increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved and in effect as of the 
date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal 
to at least one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Debt Service for such twelve month period, plus the 
Debt Service which would have accrued on any Parity Obligations executed or Bonds issued since the end 
of such twelve month period, assuming that such Parity Obligations had been executed or issued at the 
beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued had such 
proposed additional Parity Obligations been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parity Obligations executed to refund the Bonds or Parity 

Obligations may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service in each 

392 of 567



-17- 

Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Parity Obligations are issued is not greater than 105% of the 
Debt Service which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such Parity 
Obligations. 

 
Subordinate Debt. The District may at any time execute or issue any Subordinate Debt in 

accordance herewith; provided that: 
 
(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve 

calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of issuance or 
execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent 
Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have 
produced a sum equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Subordinate Debt Service for such 
twelve month period. 

 
(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve 

calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the issuance or the execution 
of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such twelve month 
period to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Wastewater Service approved and in effect as 
of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant or Independent Municipal Advisor on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal 
to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Subordinate Debt Service for such twelve month period, 
plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would have accrued on any Subordinate Debt issued since the 
end of such twelve month period, assuming that such Subordinate Debt had been issued or executed had 
been issued at the beginning of such twelve month period, plus the Subordinate Debt Service which would 
have accrued had such proposed Subordinate Debt been executed or issued at the beginning of such 
twelve month period. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Subordinate Debt executed to refund Subordinate Debt may be 

delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service and Subordinate Debt Service 
in each Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Subordinate Debt issued or executed is not greater 
than 105% of the Debt Service and Subordinate Debt which would have been payable in each such Fiscal 
Year prior to the issuance of or execution of such Subordinate Debt. 

 
 

THE DISTRICT 
 

General Background 
 
The District was formed in 1918 to serve Newark and the Centerville area of what is now 

Fremont. Between 1949 and 1962, the Niles, Decoto, Irvington, and Alvarado Sanitary Districts joined 
the District. The District is an independent special district which provides wastewater collection 
treatment and disposal services to the residents and businesses of the cities of Fremont, Newark and 
Union City, commonly referred to as the Tri-City Area, with a combined population of approximately 
356,100. The Tri-City Area is located along Interstates 680 and 880, between Oakland and San Jose in 
southern Alameda County (the “County”). Independent special districts are voted into existence by the 
citizens they serve and are sanctioned under California law to perform specific local government functions 
within certain boundaries. The District was organized under sections 6400-6830 of the California Health 
& Safety Code, the Sanitary District Act of 1923. The District owns and operates the Wastewater System. 

393 of 567



-18- 

 
Service Area and Land Use 

 
The District serves a service area of approximately 60.2 square miles in the Tri-City Area of the 

County including most of the area of cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City. The developable portion 
of the District includes 97,870 distinct parcels comprised of a largely residential community with 
approximately 87,750 residential parcels (90%), 3,115 non-residential parcels (3%), and 7,005 parcels of 
vacant land (7%). The District maintains 834 miles of sewers (including the force main and all gravity 
sewers) in the Tri-City Area. 

 
A Map of the District’s Service area is as follows: 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SERVICE AREA 

 

 
 
Additional demographic and economic information relating to the Tri-City Area and the County 

is set forth in APPENDIX D—TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION. 

 

394 of 567



-19- 

District Board 
 
The District is governed by the five-member Board which is independently and directly elected by 

voters to staggered four-year terms.  
 
The Board appoints the General Manager to manage and oversee the day-to-day operations. The 

members of the Board, their occupations, and the expiration date of their terms are as follows: 
 

Name and Office Ward 
Current 

Term Expires 
Jennifer Toy, President 3 (Fremont) 2022 
Tom Handley, Vice President 3 (Fremont) 2022 
Pat Kite, Secretary 2 (Newark) 2020 
Manny Fernandez, Boardmember 1 (Union City) 2020 
Anjali Lathi, Boardmember 3 (Fremont) 2020 

 
Management and Employees 

 
The District employs approximately 136.45 full-time equivalent staff and is operates under the 

day-to-day direction of Paul Eldredge, the District’s General Manager and the District Engineer. District 
Departments are referred to as Workgroups. There are five Workgroups managed by directors and within 
the Workgroups there are teams managed by Coaches (mid-managers). The five Workgroups are Business 
Services (“BS”); Collection Services (“CS”); Fabrication Maintenance and Construction (“FMC”); 
Technical Support and Customer Service (“TSCS”); and Treatment and Disposal Services (“TDS”).  

 
 BS supports the District’s organization, employees and customers through its Finance, 

Purchasing, Materials Management, Organizational Support, and Human Resources. CS maintains the 
District’s sewer mains through construction, maintenance, and television-inspection of its lines. The 
group also provides planning and scheduling services, fleet and equipment maintenance, building and 
grounds maintenance and data administration support.  

 
FMC provides professional equipment installation, operation, service, and repair that supports 

the District’s plant, pump stations, and administrative offices and information technology activities. 
TSCS provides engineering and capital improvement project management services, enforcement of the 
District’s ordinances and specifications for sewer construction and repairs, calculation of sewer service 
charges, and implementation of environmental protection and compliance programs. TDS is responsible 
for safe, reliable, and effective operation of the District’s wastewater treatment plant and its associated 
equipment. The group provides plant operations, laboratory, and support services. 

 
 

WASTEWATER SYSTEM 
 
The District owns and manages the Wastewater System. Its service area is 60.2 square miles with 

over 356,100 residents and over 3,000 commercial or industrial customers. The number of sewer 
connections for all Wastewater System customers in fiscal year 2018-19 was 113,710. The District 
maintains 834 miles of gravity flow pipeline, 24 miles of pressurized force main pipeline, 7 remote pump 
stations and one wastewater treatment plant (the “WWTP”). The WWTP is a 33-acre facility located in 
Union City. The WWTP has a permitted capacity of 33 million gallons per day (mgd) and it treated an 
average of 23.73 gallons of wastewater each day in fiscal year 2018-19.  

395 of 567



-20- 

 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
 

The WWTP is owned and managed by the District. District staff is responsible for the treatment 
of wastewater in an environmentally safe manner to ensure its discharge meets the NPDES water quality 
requirements. The WWTP treats approximately eight billion gallons of sewage and beneficially reuses or 
disposes of 20,000 wet tons of biosolids each year. WWTP staff conduct thousands of laboratory tests 
each year to monitor the performance of the plant. The Environmental Compliance team administers the 
Industrial Pre-Treatment Program; and monitors Industrial User Compliance through daily observation 
and weekly analysis of discharge. WWTP operations are funded by user fees charged to customers for 
Sanitary Sewer Service. 

 
Treatment involves separating solids from water, then stabilizing them through a natural 

biological process. The stabilized solids are dewatered in a high-speed centrifuge, then hauled away in 
covered trucks for beneficial reuse. The water is further treated, clarified and disinfected before release in 
the deep waters of San Francisco Bay. The WWTP currently meets the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit requirements for secondary treatment by using activated sludge as 
its biological liquid treatment process. The District’s treatment also includes primary and secondary 
clarification, and chlorination. The solids are handled on site through sludge thickening, digestion, and 
dewatering. The WWTP has a cogeneration facility located next to the primary anaerobic digesters, which 
uses the digesters’ biogas to produce electricity and heat. 

 
The following table shows the 12-month daily average (in MGD) of influent to the Treatment 

Plant for each of the last ten years: 
 

Table 1 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

INFLUENT TO TREATMENT PLANT 
(Million Gallons per Day) 

 

Fiscal 
Year 

Influent 
Flow 

(MGD) 
2009-10 25.80 
2010-11 26.00 
2011-12 24.79 
2012-13 24.20 
2013-14 23.03 
2014-15 22.35 
2015-16 23.27 
2016-17 24.36 
2017-18 23.29 
2018-19 23.73 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
Note: The WWTP is permitted for a capacity of 33.00 MGD. 

 

396 of 567



-21- 

Regulatory Requirements 
 

The District is an agency member of the East Bay Dischargers Authority (“EBDA”), a Joint 
Powers Agency that consists of five local agencies. EBDA was formed in 1974 to collectively manage the 
wastewater treatment and disposal of the agencies. EBDA also provides services to the cities of 
Pleasanton, Dublin and Livermore through an agreement with the Livermore-Amador Valley Water 
Management Agency (“LAVWMA”). The combined final effluent from the EBDA and LAVWMA 
agencies is dechlorinated and discharged from the EBDA Common Outfall to Lower San Francisco Bay.  

 
Because the District discharges treated wastewater to waters of the state through the EBDA and 

the Hayward marsh, the District’s wastewater operations are subject to many regulatory requirements. 
These requirements are contained in the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, (the “Clean 
Water Act”), and in the State of California Porter Cologne Water Quality Control Act of 1969, as 
amended. Both federal and State regulations are administered through the California State Water 
Resources Control Board (“SWRCB”), and generally deal with the quality of effluent discharged from the 
sewer treatment facilities. 

 
The Environmental Protection Agency works with the SWRCB to enforce applicable water 

quality objectives by allowing the SWRCB to issue discharge permits called NPDES permits. The District 
has three NPDES permits, EBDA Permit (NPDES No. CA0037869), Old Alameda Creek (Emergency 
Wet Weather. NPDES No. CA0038733) and the Hayward Marsh (NPDES No. CA0038636). The 
District believes it is in compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements related to the Wastewater 
System. 

 
Wastewater Collection System 
 

All domestic, commercial, and light industrial wastewater is collected by the Wastewater System. 
Any industrial or commercial waste that does not meet District discharge requirements must be pre-
treated prior to discharging into the Wastewater System. Most commercial and industrial operations are 
monitored at various times, depending on their type of discharge. Everyone in the District is required to 
connect to the Wastewater System. 

 
The small pipes (typically 4 inches in diameter) that connect homes and businesses to the 

collection system sewer mains are called service laterals. The portion of the service laterals located within 
the public right-of-way (from the connection to the sewer main to the property line) in addition to the 
portion of the service lateral from the back of curb (property line) to the residence are owned by the 
private property owners who are responsible for their maintenance and repair. The wastewater generated 
within the District flows through the collection system to the WWTP. 

 
The District maintains approximately 834 miles of sewers (including the force main and all gravity 

sewers) in its service area with District equipment, including television camera inspection and 
hydrocleaning.  
 

397 of 567



-22- 

Wastewater System Customers 
 

In fiscal year 2018-19, the Wastewater System had 113,710 active customer accounts, of which 
110,595 (97.2%) were residential, 1,286 (1.1%) were commercial and 1,347 (1.2%) were industrial. The 
remaining 482 (0.5%) accounts belonged to Institutional and Other customers.  

 
The following tables shows the number of active sewer customer accounts for the most recent five 

fiscal years. 
 

Table 2 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

HISTORY OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS BY TYPE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Residential 107,740 107,916 108,688 109,611 110,595 
Commercial 1,287 1,288 1,283 1,283 1,286 
Industrial 1,348 1,346 1,351 1,350 1,347 
Institutional 233 232 234 232 228 
Other 257 256 257 256 254 

Total Accounts 110,865 111,038 111,813 112,732 113,710 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 

 
The tables below show the billings generated by each category of Wastewater System users for the 

most recent five fiscal years. 
 

Table 3 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

REVENUES BY USER CATEGORY(1) 
 
 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Residential $36,407,135 $38,232,125 $38,868,654 $40,572,233 $42,194,986 
Commercial 3,697,782 3,604,284 3,925,805 3,975,571 4,345,016 
Industrial 4,484,564 4,658,484 5,512,630 5,594,399 6,195,125 
Institutional 1,044,492 1,035,324 1,118,060 1,112,227 1,169,004 
Other 2,751,673 2,637,267 2,970,483 3,039,532 3,438,272 
   Total Revenues $48,385,648 $50,167,486 $52,395,633 $54,293,962 $57,342,403 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) The data in this table is compiled by City staff and does not directly correlate to the totals in the audited financial statements. 

 

398 of 567



-23- 

The following table lists the top ten 2018-19 industrial rate payers of the Wastewater System, 
including their percentage of the total 2019 Wastewater System billings. The top ten rate payers represent 
4.68% of the total Wastewater System sewer service charges.  
 

Table 4 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

TEN LARGEST INDUSTRIAL RATE PAYERS 
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019 

 
 

Customer 

Total 
Annual 
Billing 

% of Total  
Billings(1) 

1. Tesla $1,228,862 2.14% 
2. Washington Hospital 221,799 0.39 
3. US Pipe 216,296 0.38 
4. Western Digital 174,219 0.30 
5. Ranch 99/Warm Springs Shopping 157,421 0.27 
6. Ranch 99/Newark 152,401 0.27 
7. Marriott Hotel 141,572 0.25 
8. Union Square Shopping Center 138,482 0.24 
9. Lam Research 125,330 0.22 
10. Gateway Plaza Shopping Center 125,202 0.22 
    Total Top 10 $2,681,584 4.68% 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
(1) The District collected a total of $57,330,651 of customer billings in FY2018-19. 

 
Wastewater System Rates 
 

The District receives its revenue from four primary sources: sewer service charges; capacity fees; 
other minor operating revenues such as permits, inspections and outside work that is performed in 
cooperation with other municipalities; and interest earnings on reserve funds. 
 

The sewer service charges and capacity fees are established by ordinance adopted by a majority 
vote of the District Board. Prior to rate increases being implemented they must be presented to the rate 
payers through a Proposition 218 protest hearing process. This process has been completed for the rate 
increases associated with this financing. See “CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON 
APPROPRIATIONS AND FEES.” 
 

Sewer Service Charge. The sewer service charge is divided into four primary categories of 
customers: residential, commercial, institutional, and industrial. Sewer service charges for residential 
customers are based on a flat rate using a two-tiered system. On January 25, 2016, the District Board 
adopted Ordinance No. 31.39, which set sewer service charges to be charged in the District beginning in 
Fiscal Year 2016-17 and increasing in each Fiscal Year through 2020-21 to the amounts specified in the 
ordinance. The District is currently working on a new cost of service analysis that takes into consideration 
current and future operational and capital cost requirements for the net five years. This analysis is 
expected to be completed in March/April 2020. 

 
Charges for commercial and industrial customers are based on the volume and pollutant strength 

of the wastewater being treated. The volume of wastewater is determined from water meter records 

399 of 567



-24- 

obtained from the Alameda County Water District. Credit is given for water used that is not discharged to 
the sanitary sewer, such as landscape irrigation. Due to the lead time involved to get yearly charges placed 
on the County property tax statements, the Sewer Service Charges on the current year's tax statement 
reflect services already provided. Water use for purposes of computing the service charge is measured 
from March through February of the previous year. The Sewer Service Charge for this period is then 
placed on the property tax statement that is mailed out in October, with the first installment due 
December 10th. 

 
Pollutant strength is measured in samples of wastewater for two components: chemical oxygen 

demand (COD), and suspended solids (SS). Wastewater with high strength costs the District more to 
treat. For example, wastewater with high levels of suspended solids produces more sludge (a by-product 
of treatment). Sludge is treated and then disposed of at an agricultural site. If more sludge is produced, the 
District’s hauling and disposal costs are higher. Therefore, rates are structured so that customers are 
charged based on the volume of solids they contribute to the system. 

 
Most commercial and industrial customers, or properties that include several different types of 

businesses, are calculated by the General Assignment method. With this method, commercial and 
industrial customers are assigned a general strength of strong, moderate or weak. The three rate 
components, colume, COD, and SS are combined into one rate per 1,000 gallons of wastewater 
discharged.  
 

Charges for certain industrial customers with industrial discharge permits are calculated using a 
direct assessment method. Under this method, samples of wastewater are collected and sent to a 
laboratory for analysis. Both COD and SS are measured and then averaged with other samples taken that 
year to determine an average strength for use in calculating Sewer Service Charges. The sum of three 
components determines the total charge. 

 

400 of 567



-25- 

The following table lists sewer service charge rate table for Wastewater System customers as 
approved in Ordinance 31.39 and currently in effect:  

 
Table 5 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SEWER SERVICE CHARGE RATE TABLE 

Fiscal Years 2016-17 through 2020-21 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
RESIDENTIAL ($/dwelling unit)      

Single family residences $ 380.05 $ 393.35 $ 407.12 $ 421.37 $ 436.12 
Multifamily residences 329.50 341.03 352.97 365.32 378.11 

      
COMMERCIAL(1)      

Strong 9.59 9.93 10.28 10.64 11.01 
Moderate 4.74 4.90 5.07 5.25 5.43 
Weak 3.95 4.08 4.23 4.37 4.53 
Fast-Food Restaurant 8.97 9.29 9.61 9.95 10.30 
Full-Service Restaurant 11.89 12.30 12.73 13.18 13.64 

      
INDUSTRIAL(1)      

Volume ($/1,000 gals) 2.23 2.31 2.39 2.48 2.56 
COD ($/1,000 gals) 296.05 306.41 317.14 328.24 339.72 
SS ($/1,000 lbs) 688.62 712.72 737.66 763.48 790.20 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District Ordinance No. 31.39. 
(1) The District imposes a minimum charge per account for all non-residential customers. 
 

Capacity Fees. The purpose of the Capacity Charges is to provide revenue to recover costs for 
existing and future facilities that are of proportional benefit to the person or property being charged as 
they connect to the Wastewater System. On April 25, 2016, the Union Sanitary District Board of 
Directors adopted Ordinance No. 35.22, which set Capacity Charges to be charged in the District 
beginning in Fiscal Year 2015-16. The ordinance sets forth the Capacity Charges for new and existing 
users to buy a share of the District's system's capacity for the discharge of their wastewater. The Capacity 
Charges will increase each Fiscal Year from 2016-17 through 2019-20 to the amounts specified in the 
ordinance. 

 
The following table lists capacity charge rate table for residential Wastewater System customers 

as approved in Ordinance 35.22 and currently in effect. As they pertain to residential Wastewater System 
customers, capacity charges are applied to new construction only and do not apply to additions or repairs. 
Residential capacity charges are applied per dwelling unit. 

 

401 of 567



-26- 

Table 6 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

PER DWELLING UNIT CAPACITY CHARGE RATE TABLE 
FOR RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS 
Fiscal Years 2015-16 through 2019-20 

 
 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Single Family (<= 4,500 square feet) $5,595.66 $6,421.17 $7,246.69 $8,072.20 $8,897.71 
      
Single Family (> 4,500 square feet)(1) $5,595.66 $6,421.17 $7,246.69 $8,072.20 $8,897.71 
      
Multi-Family $4,796.28 $5,503.86 $6,211.45 $6,919.03 $7,626.61 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District Ordinance No. 35.22. 

(1) Dwelling units greater than 4,500 square feet are charged the per-unit charge plus a proportionate charge for per square 
foot above 4,500 square feet (ex. Capacity charge for 4,600 square feet unit is 4,600/4,500 * unit charge). 
 
Capacity charges for commercial, industrial and institutional customers are based on square 

footage and other factors as detailed in Ordinance No. 35.22. A copy of Ordinance No. 35.22 which 
includes the complete rate table for capacity charges applicable to all Wastewater System customers is 
attached to this Official Statement as APPENDIX H—CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE. 

 
Billing and Collection of Wastewater System Charges 
 

Billing Procedures. Each year the District transmits its sewer service charges to the County 
Treasurer-Tax Collector for collection on the County property tax roll. The property tax billings are due 
in two equal installments on December 10 and April 10. The District generally receives the first and 
second installments from the County in December and April, respectively, with final reconciliation 
payments in June and July. 

 
Delinquent Charges. The Board of Supervisors of the County has adopted the Alternative Method 

of Distribution of Tax Levies and Collections and of Tax Sale Proceeds (the "Teeter Plan"), as provided 
for in section 4701 et seq. of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. Under the Teeter Plan, each 
taxing entity receives 100% of the taxes and assessments levied, without regard to delinquencies. 

 
The District's wastewater rates and charges are currently covered under the County's Teeter 

Plan. However, there can be no assurance that the County will not choose to discontinue the Teeter Plan in the 
future, or modify its Teeter Plan to exclude or limit the coverage for sanitary districts, or choose to remove the 
District from its Teeter Plan coverage. At the date of this Official Statement, no such discontinuation or removal 
is under consideration. 

 
No Information Regarding Delinquencies. No information is available from the County regarding 

actual delinquency rates. All enforcement and collection is handled by the County. The District has no 
independent procedure for enforcing the collection of its rates and charges. 

 

402 of 567



-27- 

Rate Comparison 
 

The following table shows the District’s average annual wastewater rates as compared to other 
agencies in the region. 

 
Table 7 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
BAY AREA 2019-20 AVERAGE ANNUAL WASTEWATER RATE COMPARISON 

 
Agency Rate 

City of Berkeley $1,537 
City of San Carlos 1,228 
West Bay Sanitary District 1,177 
City of San Mateo 992 
City of Redwood City 981 
Ross Valley Sanitary District 961 
City of Richmond 880 
City of Oakland 874 
San Rafael Sanitary District 861 
City of Alameda 746 
City of South San Francisco 739 
North San Mateo County Sanitation District 710 
Stege Sanitary District 694 
City of Livermore 676 
City of Concord 637 
City of Sunnyvale 616 
City of Milpitas 615 
Central Contra Costa Sanitary District 598 
City of Pittsburg 589 
West Valley Sanitary District 586 
Cupertino Sanitary District 581 
West County Wastewater District 576 
City of Brentwood 569 
City of Antioch 563 
City of Santa Clara 529 
City of Mountain View 505 
City of Pleasanton 497 
City of Palo Alto 496 
City of San Jose 481 
Castro Valley Sanitary District 458 
Dublin San Ramon Services District 447 
City of San Leandro 446 
Union Sanitary District 421 
City of Hayward 412 
Oro Loma Sanitary District 275 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
 

 

403 of 567



-28- 

DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Budget Process 
 

The District holds a mid-year workshop with the Board in February or March. The purpose of 
this workshop is to provide current year-to-date budget vs. actual information, projections for the end of 
the year, and a first look at budget issues for the upcoming fiscal year. In April there is a subsequent 
workshop, providing the upcoming fiscal year’s projected budget, including revenue estimates, operating 
costs, capital projects, rates, and special projects. The budget workshops give the Board the opportunity 
to comment, ask questions, make recommendations for changes, and provide direction to staff. At the 
second Board meeting in May, the preliminary (draft) budget is brought to the Board as an information 
item, noting any changes since the workshop. The final budget is typically reviewed and considered at the 
second Board meeting in June. 

 
Budgetary controls are maintained by the District to ensure compliance with the annual budget 

adopted by the Board. All financial activities for the fiscal year are included in the annual budget, along 
with the 20-year capital improvement budget. Budgetary control is maintained at the Work Group level 
for administrative and operating budgets, and at the project level for capital improvements. Monthly 
budget reports are provided to the Executive Team and the Board. The Executive Team conducts a 
detailed quarterly review, as well. 

 
Financial Statements 

 
APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT 

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018, includes the audited financial statements of the District (the 
“Financial Statements”) for Fiscal Year 2018-19 prepared by the District and audited by Lance, Soll & 
Lunghard, LLP, Sacramento, California (the “Auditor”). The audited combined financial statements of 
the District for prior years are available upon request or by visiting the District website. 
 

The Auditor’s letter concludes that the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the District as of June 30, 2019, and the results of its operations and the 
cash flows for the Fiscal Year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. The Financial Statements should be read in their entirety. The District has 
not requested nor did the District obtain permission from the Auditor to include the audited financial 
statements as an appendix to this Official Statement. Accordingly, the Auditor has not performed any 
post-audit review of the financial condition or operations of the District. In addition, the Auditor has not 
reviewed this Official Statement. 
 

See APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE 
DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 for a more complete summary of the District’s accounting 
policies. 
 

404 of 567



-29- 

Outstanding Debt 
 

The only outstanding debt of the District are the SWRCB Agreements to be prepaid from the 
proceeds of the Bonds. 

 
Historical and Projected Operating Results and Debt Service Coverage 

 
The following two tables provide a history and projection of the operating results and debt service 

coverage of the District for ten fiscal years. 
 
The following table presents the Historical Summary of Operating Revenues, Operating Expenses 

and Debt Service Coverage for the past five fiscal years. Data for fiscal years 2014-15 through 2018-19 are 
based on figures from the District’s Audited Financial Statements.  

 
Table 8 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF OPERATING REVENUES, 

OPERATING EXPENSES AND DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
OPERATING REVENUES      

Charges for services $48,379,254 $50,112,566 $52,384,709 $54,260,096 $57,330,651 
Other revenues 1,581,031 1,791,783 2,154,364 1,631,870 2,188,027 

Total Operating Revenues $49,960,285 $51,904,349 $54,539,073 $55,891,966 $59,518,678 
      
NON-OPERATING REVENUES      

Developer Connection Fees(1) $4,820,637 $7,233,338 $12,595,637 $23,623,947 $16,158,027 
Investment earnings(2) 130,369 441,426 720,067 1,436,216 2,657,356 

Total Non-Operating Revenues $4,951,006 $7,674,764 $13,315,704 25,060,163 $18,815,383 
      
TOTAL REVENUES $54,911,291 $59,579,110 $67,854,777 $80,952,129 $78,334,061 
      
OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 
COSTS(3) 

$32,630,756 $33,609,699 $35,910,541 $40,442,197 $41,902,599 

      
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR 
DEBT SERVICE 

$22,280,535 $25,969,411 $31,944,236 $40,509,932 $36,431,462 

      
SWRCB Agreements Debt Service $3,127,110 $3,127,110 $3,127,111 $3,902,080 $3,902,104 
      
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 7.12x 8.30x 10.22x 10.38x 9.34x 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) Excludes contributed capital amounts which are non-cash items. 
(2) Excludes unrealized gains/losses in investments which are non-cash items. 
(3) Excludes depreciation, amortization, debt service and capital expenditures. 
 

405 of 567



-30- 

The following table presents the Projected Summary of Operating Revenues, Operating Expenses 
and Debt Service Coverage for the fiscal years 2019-20 through 2023-24 based upon certain assumptions 
which the District believes are reasonable. However, the District cannot guarantee that its actual results 
will not differ. 

 
Table 9 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
SUMMARY OF PROJECTED OPERATING REVENUES, 

OPERATING EXPENSES AND DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 
 

 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
OPERATING REVENUES      

Charges for services (1) $60,282,535 $62,640,224 $65,090,389 $67,636,664 $70,282,830 
Other revenues 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 1,336,550 

Total Operating Revenues $61,619,085 $63,976,774 $66,426,939 $68,973,214 $71,619,380 
      
NON-OPERATING REVENUES      

Developer Connection Fees $13,567,000 $5,700,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 
Interest Earnings (2) 864,301 1,997,271 2,292,222 2,095,807 2,081,507 

Total Non-Operating Revenues $14,431,301 $7,697,271 $5,292,222 $5,095,807 $5,081,507 
      
TOTAL REVENUES $76,050,386 $71,674,046 $71,719,161 $74,069,021 $76,700,888 
      
OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 
COSTS (3) $48,035,965 $46,915,276 $50,308,903 $52,912,592 $55,251,555 
      
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR 
DEBT SERVICE $28,014,421 $24,758,770 $21,410,258 $21,156,428 $21,449,333 
      
DEBT SERVICE      

SWRCB Agreements $3,902,088 — — — — 
2020 Installment Payments (4) — $4,874,332 $5,019,300 $5,022,400 $5,021,300 
2022 Installment Payments (5) — — 1,702,454 1,702,454 1,702,454 

Total Debt Service $3,902,088 $4,874,332 $6,721,754 $6,724,854 $6,723,754 
      
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 7.18x 5.08x 3.19x 3.15x 3.19x 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 
(1) The projected revenues assumes the overall increase in sewer accounts is less than 1% and an average annual increase in 

sewer service charges of 3.4%. 
(2) The projections assume  interest earnings on revenues and fund balances of  1% annually. 
(3) Excludes depreciation, amortization, debt service and capital expenditures. The projections assume annual Operation and 

Maintenance Costs of the Wastewater System will increase 4% annually, primarily as a result of inflation, increased pension 
costs and increased costs for operations and maintenance. 

(4) Preliminary, subject to change. 
(5) Assumes the District issues $28,700,000 of additional bonds in fiscal year 2020-21at an assumed interest rate of 4.2%. 
 
Capital Improvement Program 
 

The Capital Improvement Program, or CIP, is a 20-year plan that identifies capital projects, 
budget amounts and sources, as well as planning schedule and priority. Funding sources for the CIP 
program are usually through low interest loans from the California State Water Resources Board or pay-
as-you-go from the charges for service, connection fees and reserves. In addition, the District expects to 
issue approximately $28,700,000 of additional bonds in fiscal year 2020-21. For FY2019-20, the CIP 

406 of 567



-31- 

budget represents about 25.7% of the overall District budget. Capital projects are identified from studies 
and master plans, as well as customer needs and regulatory requirements. 

 
The proposed improvements and the sources for payment are described in the following table: 
 

Table 10 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

FIVE YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
PROJECT      

Administrative Facilities $    180,000 $      90,000 $    495,000 — $     270,000 
Collection Systems 1,395,000 1,350,000 1,706,400 $ 3,178,800 1,528,330 
Transport Systems 2,497,500 4,455,000 6,480,000 2,610,000 2,565,000 
Treatment Systems 14,872,500 32,315,448 42,705,000 25,830,000 23,220,000 
   Total $18,945,000 $38,210,448 $51,386,400 $31,618,800 $27,583,330 

      
FUNDING SOURCE      

Sewer Service Charges/Reserves $ 6,558,750 $16,515,000 $24,228,900 $18,343,800 $1,813,330 
State Revolving Fund Loans — — 630,000 900,000 6,660,000 
Bond Proceeds 10,800,000 16,880,448 22,050,000 18,800,000 4,500,000 
Capacity Fees 1,586,250 4,815,000 4,477,500 1,575,000 2,160,000 

Total $18,945,000 $38,210,448 $51,386,400 $31,618,800 $27,583,330 
    
Source: Union Sanitary District. 

 
Risk Management 

 
The District is a member of the California Sanitation Risk Management Authority (“CSRMA”). 

CSRMA covers general liability and workers’ compensation claims. In addition, commercial insurance is 
purchased for excess liability, property, and employee dishonesty coverage. The District has a $500,000 
deductible for general liability coverage, and no deductible for workers’ compensation coverage. 

 
Claims and judgments, including a provision for claims incurred but not reported, are recorded 

when a loss is deemed probable of assertion and the amount of the loss is reasonably determinable. As 
discussed above, the District has coverage for such claims, but it has retained the risk for the deductible or 
uninsured portion of these claims. The District’s liability for uninsured claims is limited to general liability 
claims, as discussed above. Settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three years. 

 
Joint Ventures 

 
Alameda County Water District Financing Authority. The Alameda County Water District 

Financing Authority, a Joint Powers Authority, was established through Joint Exercise of Powers 
Agreement between the Alameda County Water District (“ACWD”) and the District on November 14, 
2011 for the purpose of assisting in the financing and refinancing of capital improvement projects of the 
ACWD and to finance working capital for the ACWD. The assets, debts, liabilities, and obligations of the 
Authority do not constitute assets, debts, liabilities, and obligations of the District. The Authority is 
administered by the Board, which consists of one member from the District and five members from the 
Alameda County Water District. 

407 of 567



-32- 

 
Investment in East Bay Dischargers Authority. The District has an interest in the East Bay 

Discharges Authority (“EBDA”) by capacity, a joint powers authority established under the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act of the State. The District is entitled to 42.1 percent by capacity but is responsible 
for approximately 48.8% of the operating costs under the terms of the revised and restated JPA 
Agreement, dated January 1, 2020. As a separate legal entity, EBDA exercises full power and authority 
within the scope of the related Joint Powers Agreement, including the preparation of annual budgets, 
accountability for all funds, the power to make and execute contracts and the right to sue and be sued. 
Obligations and liabilities of EBDA are not those of the District and the other participating entities. 

 
EBDA constructed and operates an export pumping facility through which all treated wastewater 

in the area is discharged. The other participants (and their ownership percentages) are the City of 
Hayward (14.72 percent), the City of San Leandro (3.74 percent), and the Oro Loma and Castro Valley 
Sanitary Districts (collectively, 29.4 percent). The District has rights to 42.1 percent of EBDA’s capacity. 

 
EBDA is governed by a board of directors consisting of representatives from each member agency. 

The board controls the operations of EBDA, including selection of management and approval of operating 
budgets, independent of any influence by member agencies beyond their representation on the Board. 

 
Because the District has the ability to exercise influence over operating and financial policies of 

the EBDA, the District’s proportionate share of EBDA’s net position, excluding sole use of facilities, and 
the District’s share of its undivided ownership (18.7 percent) in EBDA’s total net equity, has been 
recorded as an investment in EBDA accounted for under the equity method. 

 
During fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the District was charged $1,231,219 by EBDA primarily 

for operating costs. Such costs are included in the wastewater treatment expenses by the District for 
financial reporting purposes. 

 
The financial statement for EBDA may be obtained from the EBDA, 2651 Grant Avenue, San 

Lorenzo, CA 94580-1841. 
 

Employee Pension Plans 
 

The information set forth below regarding the CalPERS program, other than the information provided by 
the District regarding its annual contributions thereto, has been obtained from publicly available sources which are 
believed to be reliable but are not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and should not to be construed as a 
representation by either the District or the Underwriter. 

 
Plan Description. All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in 

the District’s Miscellaneous Plan (the “Plan”), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”), which acts as a 
common investment and administrative agent for its participating member employers. Benefit provisions 
under the Plan is established by State statute and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available 
reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and 
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and 

death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on 

408 of 567



-33- 

years of credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment. Members with five years of total 
service are eligible to retire at age 50 to 62 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for 
non-duty disability benefits after five (5) years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the 
Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of 
living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  
 

Employees Covered. At June 30, 2019, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms 
for the Plan. 
 

Table 11 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 

CALPERS MISCELLANEOUS PLAN MEMBERSHIP 
 

Inactive employee or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 172 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 68 
Active employees 137 
   Total 377 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
 

Contributions. Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (“PERL”) 
requires that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by 
the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total plan 
contributions are determined through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer is 
required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of 
employees. Employer contribution rates may change if plan contracts are amended. Payments made by the 
employer to satisfy contribution requirements that are identified by the pension plan terms as plan 
member contribution requirements are classified as plan member contributions. 

 
Net Pension Liability. The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total 

pension liability, less the plan’s fiduciary net position. As of June 30, 2019, the District reported a net 
pension liability for the Plan of $46,738,719. 

 
Changes in the District’s net pension liability for the prior year are shown in the table below: 
 

409 of 567



-34- 

The following table shows the changes in net pension liability recognized over the measurement 
period for the Plan. 

 
Table 12 

UNION SANITY DISTRICT 
CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITIY 

During FY2018-19 
 

Service costs $ 2,751,248 
Interest on total pension liability 9,904,222 
Difference between actual and expected experience 810,456 
Changes in assumptions (1,225,530) 
Contribution – employer (3,473,052) 
Contribution – employee (1,296,037) 
Net investment income (7,910,460) 
Administrative expenses 426,382 
Benefit payments (incl. refunds of employee contributions) - 

Net changes (12,540) 
Balance at June 30, 2017 46,751,259 
Balance at June 30, 2018 $46,738,719 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 

 
Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. For the year ended June 30, 

2019, the District recognized pension expense of $7,340,061. At June 30, 2019, the District reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:  

 
Table 13 

UNION SANITY DISTRICT 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 
 Deferred Deferred 
 Outflows of inflows of 
 Resources Resources 
Contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 4,221,019 $ - 
Difference between actual and expected experience 1,029,233 - 
Changes in Assumptions 3,125,081 (885,105) 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments 270,326 - 
   Total $8,645,659 $(885,105) 

    
Source: Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 

 
For more information, including actuarial assumptions, a discussion of the discount rate used, and 

schedules of funding progress for the District’s pension plan, see APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018—Notes to 
Basic Financial Statements—NOTE 7. 

 
Recent Actions Taken by CalPERS. At its April 17, 2013, meeting, CalPERS’ Board of 

Administration (the “Board of Administration”) approved a recommendation to change the CalPERS 

410 of 567



-35- 

amortization and smoothing policies. Prior to this change, CalPERS employed an amortization and 
smoothing policy that spread investment returns over a 15-year period with experience gains and losses 
paid for over a rolling 30-year period. As a result, CalPERS now employs an amortization and smoothing 
policy that will pay for all gains and losses over a 20-year period with a five-year ramp-up, and five-year 
ramp-down, period. The new amortization and smoothing policy was used for the first time in the June 30, 
2013 actuarial valuations in setting employer contribution rates for fiscal year 2015-16. 

 
On February 18, 2014, the Board of Administration approved new demographic actuarial 

assumptions based on a 2013 study of recent experience. The largest impact, applying to all benefit 
groups, is a new 20-year mortality projection reflecting longer life expectancies and that longevity will 
continue to increase. Because retirement benefits will be paid out for more years, the cost of those benefits 
will increase as a result. The Board of Administration also assumed earlier retirements for Police 3%@50, 
Fire 3%@55, and Miscellaneous 2.7%@55 and 3%@60, which will increase costs for those groups. As a 
result of these changes, rates increased beginning in fiscal year 2016-17 (based on the June 30, 2014 
valuation) with full impact in fiscal year 2020-21.  

 
On November 18, 2015, the Board of Administration adopted a funding risk mitigation policy 

intended to incrementally lower its discount rate – its assumed rate of investment return – in years of good 
investment returns, help pay down the pension fund's unfunded liability, and provide greater 
predictability and less volatility in contribution rates for employers. The policy establishes a mechanism to 
reduce the discount rate by a minimum of 0.05 percentage points to a maximum of 0.25 percentage points 
in years when investment returns outperform the existing discount rate, currently 7.5%, by at least four 
percentage points. CalPERS staff modeling anticipates the policy will result in a lowering of the discount 
rate to 6.5% in about 21 years, improve funding levels gradually over time and cut risk in the pension 
system by lowering the volatility of investment returns. More information about the funding risk 
mitigation policy can be accessed through CalPERS’ web site. The reference to this Internet website is 
provided for reference and convenience only. The information contained within the website may not be current, has 
not been reviewed by the District or the Underwriter and is not incorporated in this Official Statement by 
reference. 

 
On December 21, 2016, the Board of Administration voted to lower its discount rate from the 

current 7.5% to 7.0% over the next three years according to the following schedule.  
 

Fiscal Year Discount Rate 
2017-18 7.375% 
2018-19 7.250 
2019-20 7.000 

 
For public agencies like the District, the new discount rate took effect on July 1, 2018. Lowering 

the discount rate means employers that contract with CalPERS to administer their pension plans will see 
increases in their normal costs and unfunded actuarial liabilities. Active members hired after January 1, 
2013, under the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act will also see their contribution rates rise. The 
three-year reduction of the discount rate will result in average employer rate increases of about 1% to 3% of 
normal cost as a percent of payroll for most miscellaneous retirement plans, and a 2% to 5% increase for 
most safety plans. Additionally, many CalPERS employers will see a 30 to 40% increase in their current 
unfunded accrued liability payments. These payments are made to amortize unfunded liabilities over 20 
years to bring the pension fund to a fully funded status over the long-term. 

 

411 of 567



-36- 

PERS Amortization Period Reform. On February 13, 2018, the CalPERS Board voted to shorten the 
period over which actuarial gains and losses are amortized from 30 years to 20 years for new pension 
liabilities. The new 20-year amortization period begins with new gains or losses accrued starting with the 
June 30, 2019 actuarial valuations. The first payments on the new 20-year amortization schedule will take 
place in 2021. 

 
A shorter amortization period will increase annual Unfunded Accrued Liability (“UAL”) 

contributions for public agencies that participate in CalPERS so long as CalPERS remains underfunded. 
The shortened amortization period will also lead to reductions of periods of negative amortization of the 
UAL, interest cost savings, and faster recoveries of funded status after market downturns.  

 
Public agencies that participate in CalPERS will also see additional volatility in their future UAL 

contributions due to market performance as gains or losses will be amortized faster under the new 
amortization period. 

 
The District cannot currently estimate the impact the shorter amortization period will have on its 

required contributions for the Plan. 
 
Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 

Plan Description. The District’s defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan provides medical 
benefits to employees who satisfy the requirements for retirement under CalPERS (attained age 50 with 
five years of service or satisfaction of the requirements for a disability retirement.) The amount of the 
retiree’s medical benefit is dependent upon both years of service with the District and the year the 
employee retires. 

 
The District contracts with CalPERS to administer its retiree health benefit plan (an agent 

multiple-employer plan) and to provide an investment vehicle, the California Employers’ Retiree Benefit 
Trust Fund, to prefund future OPEB costs. A menu of benefit provisions as well as other requirements is 
established by State statute within the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. The District chooses among 
the menu of benefit provisions and adopts certain benefit provisions by Board resolution. CalPERS issues 
a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. Copies of the CalPERS annual financial report may 
be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Office at 400 P Street, Sacramento, CA, 95814.  

 
Membership of the OPEB Plan as of June 30, 2019 consisted of 133 inactive employees or 

beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, 0 inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits, 
and 137 active employees. 

 
Funding Policy. The OPEB Plan and its contribution requirements are established by a 

Memorandum of Understanding with the applicable employee bargaining unit. The annual contribution is 
based on the actuarially determined contribution. For the year ended June 30, 2019 the District’s cash 
contributions were $708,037 in total payments, which were recognized as a reduction to the OPEB 
liability. 

 

412 of 567



-37- 

Net OPEB Liability. The following table shows the amount contributed to the plan, and changes in 
the City’s net OPEB liability in fiscal year 2018-19: 
 

Table 14 
UNION SANITY DISTRICT 

CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABLITY 
 During Fiscal Year 2018-19 

 
Service cost $  388,943 
Interest on OPEB Liability 773,775 
Expected investment income (358,335) 
Employer Contribution (920,935) 
Investment experience 32,143 
Administrative expenses 9,654 

Change in Fund Balance (74,755) 
Balance at June 30, 2017 6,239,652 
Balance at June 30, 2018 $6,164,897 

    
Source:  Union Sanitary District FY2018-19 CAFR. 
 

For additional information about the District’s OPEB Plan, see APPENDIX B—
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED 
JUNE 30, 2018, Note 8. 

 
 

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BONDS 
 
The following section describes certain special considerations and risk factors affecting the risk of 

nonpayment or the security for the Bonds. The following discussion is not meant to be an exhaustive or definitive 
description of the risks associated with a purchase of any Bond and does not necessarily reflect the relative 
importance of the various risks. Potential investors are advised to consider the following special factors regarding 
the Bonds, together with all other information in this Official Statement in order to make an informed investment 
decision with respect to the Bonds. There can be no assurance that other risk factors are not or will not become 
material in the future. 
 

Payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds depends primarily upon the revenues derived 
from operation of the Wastewater System. Some of the events which could affect the revenues received by 
the Wastewater System are set forth below. The following discussion of risks is not meant to be an 
exhaustive list of the risks associated with the purchase of the Bonds and the order in which the risks are 
discussed does not necessarily reflect the relative importance of the various risks. 

 
Limited Obligations 

 
The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Authority and are not secured by a legal or 

equitable pledge or charge or lien upon any property of the District or any of its income or receipts, except 
the Authority Revenues.  

 
The District is obligated under the Installment Purchase Agreement to make Installment 

Payments solely from Net Revenues. The obligation of the District to make Installment Payments from 

413 of 567



-38- 

Net Revenues does not constitute an obligation of the District to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for 
which the District has levied or pledged any form of taxation. There is no assurance that the District can 
succeed in operating the Wastewater System such that the Net Revenues in the future will be sufficient 
for that purpose. 

 
Net Revenues; Rate Covenant 

 
Net Revenues are dependent upon the demand for wastewater services, which can be affected by 

population factors, more stringent wastewater standards, wastewater regulations, water conservation, 
water shortages, problems with the District's wastewater collection and other factors, and increases in 
operation and maintenance expenses. There can be no assurance that wastewater service demand will be 
consistent with the levels contemplated in this Official Statement. A decrease in demand could require an 
increase in rates or charges in order generate sufficient Net Revenues to pay the Installment Payments and 
comply with the rate covenant contained in the Installment Purchase Agreement. 

 
The District's ability to meet its rate covenant and make Installment Payments may be dependent 

upon its ability to increase rates in the future to levels sufficient to make Installment Payments and 
payments with respect to any Parity Obligations. There can be no assurance that the District will be able to 
raise rates in the future in amounts sufficient to pay debt service or to meet the rate covenant. While the 
District has covenanted to comply with the rate covenant, the rate covenant is not a guarantee that there 
will be sufficient Net Revenues to make Installment Payments. 

 
Risks Related to Facilities and Operations 
 

The operation of the Wastewater System and physical condition of the Wastewater System 
facilities are subject to a number of risk factors that could adversely affect the reliability of sewer service or 
increase the operating expenses of the Wastewater System. Prolonged damage to the Wastewater System 
could interrupt the ability of the District to realize Net Revenues sufficient to make the Installment 
Payments, require substantial increases in rates or charges in order to make the Installment Payments and 
comply with the rate covenant in the Installment Purchase Agreement (which could drive down demand 
for wastewater and related services), or require the District to increase expenditures for repairs 
significantly enough to adversely impact the District's ability to make the Installment Payments. 

 
These factors could include, among others, the following: 
 

Aging Facilities. The Wastewater System's facilities are aging and in need of repair or 
replacement. Long-lived facilities result in decreased reliability due to unplanned outages and 
place a greater maintenance burden on District operations. 

 
Private Sewer Laterals. Private sewer laterals are not owned or operated by the District; 

however, faulty private sewer laterals can increase inflow and infiltration into the District's 
facilities. Excessive inflow and infiltration into the facilities due to faulty sewer laterals may cause 
damage to the District's facilities. 

 
Operation and Maintenance Expenses. There can be no assurance that operation and 

maintenance expenses of the District related to the Wastewater System will be consistent with the 
levels contemplated in this Official Statement.  

 

414 of 567



-39- 

Seismic Hazards and Natural Disasters. The Wastewater System is located in a seismically 
active region. From time to time, the service area of the District may be subject to other natural 
disasters, including without limitation wildfires, flooding and landslides, tsunamis, or manmade 
disasters that could interrupt operation of the Wastewater System or its wastewater treatment and 
disposal service provider, CMSA, or adversely affect economic activity in the District's service 
area. See "THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM – Environmental Hazards." 

 
There can be no assurance that the occurrence of any natural calamity would not cause 

substantial damage to the Wastewater System, including exacerbated infiltration and/or inflow of 
ground and other waters into the Wastewater System, or that the District would have insurance or 
other resources available to make repairs in order to generate sufficient Net Revenues to pay make 
the Installment Payments when due. The casualty and liability insurance maintained by the 
District may not cover damages and losses to the Wastewater System due to earthquake, fire or 
flood. 

 
Statutory and Regulatory Compliance. The operation of the Wastewater System is subject 

to a variety of federal and State statutory and regulatory requirements. Any failure by the District 
to comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in significant fines and penalties. See 
"—Risk of Additional Fines and Litigation." Further, compliance with these laws and regulations 
may result in significant increases in the capital and operating costs of the District. In the future, 
state and federal agencies could impose additional statutory or regulatory requirements on the 
operation of the Wastewater System.  Such could result in the District being required to construct 
facilities or alter operations to meet such requirements. At this time the District is not aware of 
any requirements to be imposed in the near or distant future. 
 

Casualty Losses. The Installment Purchase Agreement obligates the District to obtain and 
keep in force various forms of insurance or self-insurance, subject to deductibles, for repair or 
replacement of a portion of the Wastewater System in the event of damage or destruction to such 
portion of the Wastewater System. No assurance can be given as to the adequacy of any such self-
insurance or any additional insurance to fund necessary repair or replacement of any other portion 
of the Wastewater System. 

 
Future Land Use Regulations 

 
Development within the District’s service area is contingent upon the future construction and 

acquisition of a number of public improvements such as arterial streets, water distribution facilities, 
sewage collection and transmission facilities, drainage facilities and street lighting, as well as the necessary 
local in-tract improvements. The installation of the necessary infrastructure improvements and the 
construction of the residential development are subject to the receipt of discretionary approvals from a 
number of public agencies concerning the layout and design of the development, the nature and extent of 
the improvements, land use, health and safety requirements and other matters. The failure to obtain any 
such approval could adversely affect the planned land development within the District. 

 
In addition, there can be no assurance that land development operations within the District will 

not be adversely affected by future government policies, including, but not limited to, governmental 
policies to restrict or control development. 

 

415 of 567



-40- 

Limitations on Rate Setting Under the California Constitution 
 
On November 5, 2005, the voters of the State approved Proposition 218, a constitutional 

initiative, entitled the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act” (“Proposition 218”). Proposition 218 added Articles 
XIIIC and XIIID to the California Constitution and contained a number of interrelated provisions 
affecting the ability of local governments, including the District, to levy and collect both existing and 
future taxes, assessments, fees and charges. 
 

Section 3 of Article XIIIC expressly extends the initiative power to give voters the power to 
reduce or repeal local taxes, assessments, fees and charges, regardless of the date such taxes, assessments, 
fees or charges were imposed. Section 3 expands the initiative power to include reducing or repealing 
assessments, fees and charges, which had previously been considered administrative rather than legislative 
matters and therefore beyond the initiative power. This extension of the initiative power is not limited by 
the terms of Article XIIIC to fees imposed after November 6, 2005, the effective date of Proposition 218, 
and absent other legal authority could result in the reduction in any existing taxes, assessments or fees and 
charges imposed prior to November 6, 2005. 

 
“Fees” and “charges” are not expressly defined in Article XIIIC or in SB 919, the Proposition 

218 Omnibus Implementation Act enacted in 1997 to prescribe specific procedures and parameters for 
local jurisdictions in complying with Article XIIIC and Article XIIID (“SB 919”). However, on July 24, 
2006, the California Supreme Court ruled in Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Virjil (Kelley) (the 
“Bighorn Decision”) that charges for ongoing water delivery are property-related fees and charges within 
the meaning of Article XIIID and are also fees or charges within the meaning of Section 3 of Article XIIIC. 
The California Supreme Court held that such water service charges may, therefore, be reduced or 
repealed through a local voter initiative pursuant to Section 3 of Article XIIIC. 

 
In the Bighorn Decision, the Supreme Court did state that nothing in Section 3 of Article XIIIC 

authorizes initiative measures that impose voter-approval requirements for future increases in fees or 
charges for water delivery. The Supreme Court stated that water providers may determine rates and 
charges upon proper action of the governing body and that the governing body may increase a charge 
which was not affected by a prior initiative or impose an entirely new charge. 

 
The Supreme Court further stated in the Bighorn Decision that it was not holding that the 

initiative power is free of all limitations and was not determining whether the initiative power is subject to 
the statutory provision requiring that water service charges be set at a level that will pay debt service on 
bonded debt and operating expenses. Such initiative power could be subject to the limitations imposed on 
the impairment of contracts under the contract clause of the United States Constitution. Additionally, SB 
919 provides that the initiative power provided for in Proposition 218 “shall not be construed to mean that 
any owner or beneficial owner of a municipal security, purchased before or after [the effective date of 
Proposition 218] assumes the risk of, or in any way consents to, any action by initiative measure that 
constitutes an impairment of contractual rights” protected by the United States Constitution. No 
assurance can be given that the voters of the District will not, in the future, approve initiatives which 
repeal, reduce or prohibit the future imposition or increase of assessments, fees or charges, including the 
District’s sewer service fees and charges, which are the source of Net Revenues pledged to the payment of 
debt service on the Bonds or any additional Parity Obligations. 

 

416 of 567



-41- 

Notwithstanding the fact that sewer service charges may be subject to reduction or repeal by voter 
initiative undertaken pursuant to Section 3 of Article XIIIC, the District has covenanted to levy and 
charge rates which meet the requirements of the Indenture in accordance with applicable law. 

 
Article XIIID defines a “fee” or “charge” as any levy other than an ad valorem tax, special tax, or 

assessment imposed upon a parcel or upon a person as an incident of property ownership, including a user 
fee or charge for a property-related service. A “property-related service” is defined as “a public service 
having a direct relationship to a property ownership.” In the Bighorn Decision, the California Supreme 
Court held that a public water agency’s charges for ongoing water delivery are fees and charges within the 
meaning of Article XIIID. Article XIIID requires that any agency imposing or increasing any property-
related fee or charge must provide written notice thereof to the record owner of each identified parcel 
upon which such fee or charge is to be imposed and must conduct a public hearing with respect thereto. 
The proposed fee or charge may not be imposed or increased if a majority of owners of the identified 
parcels file written protests against it. As a result, the local government’s ability to increase such fee or 
charge may be limited by a majority protest. 

 
The District has ratified prior sewer rate measures and otherwise complied with the applicable 

notice and protest procedures of Article XIIID for its current sewer rates and charges. There has not been 
nor is there any pending challenge to any of the District’s sewer fees and charges approved since the 
effective date of Proposition 218. While the District’s counsel is of the opinion, based upon the judicial 
precedent in place during the period of these rate increases, that a reviewing court could reasonably 
uphold the validity of those increases, neither the District nor the District’s counsel can predict with 
certainty the outcome of a challenge to the increases in the District’s sewer rates and charges that were 
not approved in accordance with the notice and hearing requirements of Article XIIID if one were 
brought. 

 
In addition, Article XIIID also includes a number of limitations applicable to fees and charges 

including provisions to the effect that (i) revenues derived from the fee or charge shall not exceed the 
funds required to provide the property-related service; (ii) such revenues shall not be used for any purpose 
other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed; (iii) the amount of a fee or charge imposed upon 
any parcel or person as an incident of property ownership shall not exceed the proportional cost of the 
service attributable to the parcel; and (iv) no such fee or charge may be imposed for a service unless that 
service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property in question. Property-
related fees or charges based on potential or future use of a service are not permitted. 

 
On November 2, 2010, voters in the State approved Proposition 26. Proposition 26 amends 

Article XIIIC of the State Constitution to expand the definition of “tax” to include “any levy, charge, or 
exaction of any kind imposed by a local government” except the following: (1) a charge imposed for a 
specific benefit conferred or privilege granted directly to the payor that is not provided to those not 
charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of conferring the benefit 
or granting the privilege; (2) a charge imposed for a specific government service or product provided 
directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable 
costs to the local government of providing the service or product; (3) a charge imposed for the reasonable 
regulatory costs to a local government for issuing licenses and permits, performing investigations, 
inspections, and audits, enforcing agricultural marketing orders, and the administrative enforcement and 
adjudication thereof; (4) a charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the 
purchase, rental, or lease of local government property; (5) A fine, penalty, or other monetary charge 
imposed by the judicial branch of government or a local government, as a result of a violation of law; (6) a 

417 of 567



-42- 

charge imposed as a condition of property development; and (7) assessments and property-related fees 
imposed in accordance with the provisions of Article XIIID. Proposition 26 provides that the local 
government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other 
exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the 
governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or 
reasonable relationship to the payor’s burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity. 

 
Article XIIID establishes procedural requirements for the imposition of assessments, which are 

defined as any charge upon real property for a special benefit conferred upon the real property. Standby 
charges are classified as assessments. Procedural requirements for assessments under Article XIIID 
include conducting a public hearing and mailed protest procedure, with notice to the record owner of each 
parcel subject to the assessment. The assessment may not be imposed if a majority of the ballots returned 
oppose the assessment, with each ballot weighted according to the proportional financial obligation of the 
affected parcel. 

 
Existing, new or increased assessments are subject to the procedural provisions of Proposition 

218. However, certain assessments existing on November 6, 2005, are classified as exempt from the 
procedures and approval process of Article XIIID. Expressly exempt assessments include (i) an 
assessment imposed exclusively to finance capital costs or Operation and Maintenance expenses for 
sewers, water, flood control and drainage systems, but subsequent increases are subject to the procedures 
and approval requirements; (ii) an assessment imposed pursuant to a petition signed by all affected 
landowners (but subsequent increases are subject to the procedural and approval requirements); (iii) 
assessments, the proceeds of which are used exclusively to pay bonded indebtedness, where failure to pay 
would violate the U.S. Constitution’s prohibition against the impairment of contracts; and (iv) any 
assessment which has previously received approval by a majority vote of the voters (but subsequent 
increases are subject to the procedural and approval requirements). 

 
On July 14, 2008, the California Supreme Court ruled in Silicon Valley Taxpayers Association, Inc. 

v. Santa Clara County Open Space City (the “SCCOSA Decision”) that the Santa Clara County Open 
Space City’s county-wide assessment which was designed to fund the acquisition and maintenance of 
unspecified open-space lands in the County was invalid under Proposition 218. The Court held that 
deference should not be accorded to local agencies when Proposition 218 legislative acts are challenged. 
Under Proposition 218, courts must make an independent review of whether the assessment and 
formation of an assessment district meet the “special benefit” and proportionality requirements of Article 
XIIID. Further, while an assessment will not be invalidated because it confers a benefit upon the public at 
large, the “special benefit” must affect the assessed property in a distinct and particular manner not 
shared by other parcels and the public at large. Specifically, in the SCCOSA Decision the assessment did 
not meet the requirements of a “special benefit” and the assessment was not proportional to the special 
benefits conferred. Finally, the Court held that the Santa Clara Open Space City did not meet the 
proportionality requirement of Article XIIID because it did not specifically identify the improvements to 
be financed by the assessment and failed to sufficiently connect any costs of and benefits received from the 
open space assessment to the specific assessed parcels. 

 
The District and the District’s counsel are of the opinion that current sewer fees and charges that 

are subject to Proposition 218 comply with the provisions thereof. The District and the District’s counsel 
are also of the opinion that current sewer capacity fees are not subject to Proposition 218. Should it 
become necessary to increase the sewer fees and charges above current levels, the District would be 
required to comply with the requirements of Article XIIID in connection with such proposed increase. To 

418 of 567



-43- 

date, there have been no legal challenges to sewer rate increases implemented by the District pursuant to 
Proposition 218 or otherwise. It is unclear whether under existing standards, rates and charges may be 
established at levels which would permit deposits to a Rate Stabilization Fund or maintenance of 
uncommitted cash reserves. 

 
The interpretation and application of Proposition 218 will ultimately be determined by the courts 

or through implementing legislation with respect to a number of the matters described above, and it is not 
possible at this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determination or the nature or scope of 
any such legislation. 

 
Limited Recourse on Default 

 
Failure by the Authority to pay debt service on the Bonds constitutes an event of default under the 

Indenture and the Trustee is permitted to pursue remedies at law or in equity to enforce the Authority’s 
obligation to make such payments. Failure by the District to make the Installment Payments constitutes an 
event of default under the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority, 
is permitted to pursue remedies at law or in equity to enforce the District’s obligation to make such 
payments. Although the Trustee has the right to accelerate the total unpaid principal amount of the 
Bonds, there is no assurance that the District would have sufficient funds to pay the accelerated amounts. 

 
Limitations on Remedies 

 
The ability of the District to comply with its covenants under the Installment Purchase 

Agreement and to generate Net Revenues sufficient to make Installment Payments to pay principal of and 
interest on the Bonds may be adversely affected by actions and events outside of the control of the District 
and may be adversely affected by actions taken (or not taken) by voters, property owners, taxpayers or 
persons obligated to pay assessments, fees and charges. Furthermore, the remedies available to the owners 
of the Bonds upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Indenture are in many respects 
dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay and could prove both 
expensive and time consuming to obtain. 

 
In addition to the limitations on remedies contained in the Indenture, the rights and obligations 

under the Indenture may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent 
conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of 
equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal 
remedies against governmental entities in the State of California. The opinions to be delivered by Bond 
Counsel concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds will be subject to such limitations and the various 
other legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds will be similarly qualified. 
See APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. If the District fails to comply with its 
covenants in the Installment Purchase Agreement or fails to make Installment Payments to pay principal 
of and interest due on the Bonds, there can be no assurance of the availability of remedies adequate to 
protect the interest of the holders of the Bonds. 

 
Initiatives 

 
In recent years several initiative measures have been proposed or adopted which affect the ability 

of local governments to increase taxes and rates. There is no assurance that the electorate or the State 
legislature will not at some future time approve additional limitations which could affect the ability of the 

419 of 567



-44- 

District to implement rate increases which could reduce Net Revenues and adversely affect the security 
for the Bonds. 

 
Bankruptcy 

 
The rights and remedies provided in the Indenture may be limited by and are subject to the 

provisions of federal bankruptcy laws, to other laws or equitable principles that may affect the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to 
limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. The various opinions of 
counsel to be delivered with respect to the Bonds and the Indenture, including the opinion of Bond 
Counsel, will be similarly qualified. If the District were to file a petition under Chapter 9 of the 
Bankruptcy Code, the Owners of the Bonds and the District could be prohibited from taking any steps to 
enforce their rights under the Indenture. 

 
Tax Exemption  

 
The District has covenanted in the Installment Purchase Agreement that it will take all actions 

permitted by law and the Indenture to assure that interest paid on the Bonds is excluded from gross 
income for purposes of federal income taxes and that it will take no action that could result in such interest 
not being excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxes. Future actions or omissions of 
the District could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS.” 

 
Future Parity Obligations 

 
The Installment Purchase Agreement permits the District to issue Parity Obligations, under 

which its obligations would be secured by Gross Revenues and payable from Net Revenues on a parity 
with the payment of the Installment Payments. 

 
The coverage tests described in “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS—Limitations on Future 

Obligations Secured by Net Revenues” involve, to some extent, projections of Net Revenues. If Parity 
Obligations are issued, the debt service coverage for the Installment Payments could be diluted below 
what it otherwise would be. Moreover, there is no assurance that the assumptions that form the basis of 
such projections, if any, will be actually realized subsequent to the date of such projections. If such 
assumptions are not realized, the amount of future Net Revenues may be less than projected, and the 
actual amount of Net Revenues may be insufficient to provide for the payment of the Bonds and any 
future Parity Obligations. 
 
Secondary Market 

 
There can be no guarantee that there will be a secondary market for the Bonds or, if a secondary 

market exists, that any Bonds can be sold for any particular price. Occasionally, because of general market 
conditions or because of adverse history or economic prospects connected with a particular issue, 
secondary marketing practices in connection with a particular issue are suspended or terminated. 
Additionally, prices of issues for which a market is being made will depend upon then-prevailing 
circumstances. Such prices could be substantially different from the original purchase price. 

 

420 of 567



-45- 

Risks Related to Cyber Security 
 
The District faces various cyber security threats, including, but not limited to, hacking, viruses, 

malware, ransomware and other attacks on its computers and its networks. No assurance can be given that 
the District’s efforts to manage cyber threats and attacks will be successful in all cases, or that any such 
attack will not materially impact the operations or finances of the District to make timely payments on the 
Bonds. The District is also reliant on other entities and service providers. No assurance can be given that 
the District and these other entities will not be adversely affected by cyber threats and attacks in a manner 
that may affect owners of the Bonds. 

 
Climate Change 

 
The State has historically been susceptible to wildfires and hydrologic variability. As greenhouse 

gas emissions continue to accumulate in the atmosphere as a result of economic activity, climate change is 
expected to intensify, increasing the frequency, severity and timing of extreme weather events such as 
coastal storm surges, drought, wildfires, floods and heat waves and raising sea levels. The future fiscal 
impact of climate change on the District is difficult to predict but it could be significant and it could have a 
material adverse effect on the District’s finances by requiring greater expenditures to counteract the 
effects of climate change or by changing the business and activities of District customers. While the 
District has plans in place to mitigate the foreseeable effects of future climate change, no assurance can be 
given that such plans will be sufficient and future climate change could have unpredictable material 
adverse effects on the District’s finances. 

 
Pension Benefit Liability 

 
Many factors influence the amount of the District’s pension benefit liabilities, including, without 

limitation, inflationary factors, changes in statutory provisions of CalPERS retirement system laws, 
changes in the level of benefits provided or in the contribution rates of the District, increases or decreases 
in the number of covered employees, changes in actuarial assumptions or methods (including but not 
limited to the assumed rate of return), and differences between actual and anticipated investment 
experience of CalPERS. Any of these factors could give rise to additional liability of the District to its 
pension plans as a result of which the District would be obligated to make additional payments to its 
pension plans in order to fully fund the District’s obligations to its pension plans. It is expected that 
required contributions to CalPERS will go up in future years. 

 
 

INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS 
 

Moneys held by the District, including Wastewater System moneys, will be invested in 
accordance with the District’s adopted investment policies. See APPENDIX G—DISTRICT’S 
INVESTMENT POLICY. 

 
 

TAX MATTERS 
 

In the opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, 
California (“Bond Counsel”), under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest 
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item of tax 

421 of 567



-46- 

preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the 
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal 
income tax. 

 
The difference between the issue price of a Bond (the first price at which a substantial amount of 

the Bonds of a maturity is to be sold to the public) and the stated redemption price at maturity with 
respect to the Bond (to the extent the redemption price at maturity is greater than the issue price) 
constitutes original issue discount. Original issue discount accrues under a constant yield method, and 
original issue discount will accrue to a Beneficial Owner before receipt of cash attributable to such 
excludable income. The amount of original issue discount deemed received by a Beneficial Owner will 
increase the Beneficial Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the amount 
of original issue discount that accrues to the Beneficial Owner of a Bond is excluded from gross income of 
such Beneficial Owner for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of 
the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the amount 
of original issue discount that accrues to the Beneficial Owner of a Bond is exempt from State of California 
personal income tax. 

 
Bond Counsel’s opinion as to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of 

interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is based upon certain representations of fact and 
certifications made by the Authority and the District and others and is subject to the condition that 
Authority and the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”), that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to assure that 
interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds will not become includable in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements of the Code might cause the interest (and 
original issue discount) on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority and the District will covenant to comply 
with all such requirements. 

 
The amount by which a Beneficial Owner’s original basis for determining loss on sale or exchange 

in the applicable Bond (generally, the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on maturity (or on an 
earlier call date) constitutes amortizable bond premium, which must be amortized under Section 171 of the 
Code; such amortizable bond premium reduces the Beneficial Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond (and 
the amount of tax-exempt interest received), and is not deductible for federal income tax purposes. The 
basis reduction as a result of the amortization of bond premium may result in a Beneficial Owner realizing 
a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the Beneficial Owner for an amount equal to or less (under certain 
circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the Beneficial Owner. Purchasers of the Bonds should 
consult their own tax advisors as to the treatment, computation and collateral consequences of 
amortizable bond premium. 

 
Bond Counsel’s opinions may be affected by actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring (or 

not occurring) after the date hereof. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine, or to inform any 
person, whether any such actions or events are taken or do occur. The Indenture and the Tax Certificate 
relating to the Bonds permit certain actions to be taken or to be omitted if a favorable opinion of a bond 
counsel is provided with respect thereto. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to the effect on the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest (or original issue discount) on any 
Bond if any such action is taken or omitted based upon the advice of counsel other than Bond Counsel. 

 

422 of 567



-47- 

Although Bond Counsel will render an opinion that interest (and original issue discount) on the 
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes provided that the Authority and the 
District continue to comply with certain requirements of the Code, the ownership of the Bonds and the 
accrual or receipt of interest (and original issue discount) with respect to the Bonds may otherwise affect 
the tax liability of certain persons. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such tax 
consequences. Accordingly, before purchasing any of the Bonds, all potential purchasers should consult 
their tax advisors with respect to collateral tax consequences relating to the Bonds. 

 
The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has initiated an expanded program for the auditing of 

tax-exempt bond issues, including both random and targeted audits. It is possible that the Bonds will be 
selected for audit by the IRS. It is also possible that the market value of the Bonds might be affected as a 
result of such an audit of the Bonds (or by an audit of similar bonds). No assurance can be given that in the 
course of an audit, as a result of an audit, or otherwise, Congress or the IRS might not change the Code (or 
interpretation thereof) subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to the extent that it adversely affects the 
exclusion from gross income of interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds or their market value. 

 
SUBSEQUENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS THERE MIGHT BE FEDERAL, 

STATE, OR LOCAL STATUTORY CHANGES (OR JUDICIAL OR REGULATORY CHANGES TO 
OR INTERPRETATIONS OF FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW) THAT AFFECT THE 
FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL TAX TREATMENT OF THE BONDS INCLUDING THE 
IMPOSITION OF ADDITIONAL FEDERAL INCOME OR STATE TAXES ON OWNERS OF TAX-
EXEMPT STATE OR LOCAL OBLIGATIONS, SUCH AS THE BONDS. THESE CHANGES 
COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE MARKET VALUE OR LIQUIDITY OF THE BONDS. NO 
ASSURANCE CAN BE GIVEN THAT SUBSEQUENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS 
STATUTORY CHANGES WILL NOT BE INTRODUCED OR ENACTED OR JUDICIAL OR 
REGULATORY INTERPRETATIONS WILL NOT OCCUR HAVING THE EFFECTS DESCRIBED 
ABOVE. BEFORE PURCHASING ANY OF THE BONDS, ALL POTENTIAL PURCHASERS 
SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING POSSIBLE STATUTORY CHANGES 
OR JUDICIAL OR REGULATORY CHANGES OR INTERPRETATIONS, AND THEIR 
COLLATERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES RELATING TO THE BONDS. 

 
A copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Bonds is attached 

hereto in APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. 
 
 

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS 
 

The validity of the Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to the approving opinion of 
Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, A Professional Corporation, Newport Beach, California, Bond Counsel 
to the District. A complete copy of the proposed form of Bond Counsel opinion is contained in 
APPENDIX E—FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION. Bond Counsel undertakes no responsibility 
for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Certain legal matters will also be 
passed upon for the District by Quint & Thimmig LLP, Larkspur, California, as Disclosure Counsel. 
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the District by Burke Williams & Sorensen, LLP, Oakland, 
California, for the Authority for by Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, 
and for the Underwriter by Kutak Rock LLP, Irvine, California. Payment of the fees and expenses of Bond 
Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, counsel to the Authority and counsel to the Underwriter is contingent upon issuance 
of the Bonds. 

423 of 567



-48- 

 
 

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 
 

The District has retained Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc. of Irvine, California, as its 
municipal advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”) in connection with the authorization, issuance and sale of 
the Bonds. The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an 
independent verification or assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the 
information contained in this Official Statement. 

 
The Municipal Advisor is an independent financial advisory firm and is not engaged in the 

business of underwriting, trading or distributing municipal securities or other public securities. The 
payment of the fees of the Municipal Advisor is contingent upon the authorization, issuance and sale of 
the Bonds. 

 
LITIGATION 

 
To the best knowledge of the District, there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law 

or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the 
District to restrain or enjoin the authorization, execution or delivery of the Bonds, or the pledge of the Net 
Revenues or the collection of the payments to be made pursuant to the Indenture, or in any way contesting 
or affecting validity of the Bonds, the Indenture or the agreement for the sale of the Bonds, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the transactions described in this Official Statement. 

 
 

RATINGS 
 
Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) and S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 

business (“S&P”), have assigned the ratings of “___” and “___,” respectively, to the Bonds. Such 
ratings reflects only the view of Fitch and S&P and any desired explanation of the significance of such 
rating should be obtained from Fitch and S&P. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the 
information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There 
is no assurance such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such ratings will not be 
revised downward or withdrawn entirely by Fitch and/or S&P if in the judgment of Fitch and/or S&P, 
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an 
adverse effect on the market price for the Bonds. 

 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

The District has covenanted for the benefit of owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds to 
provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Wastewater System by not later 
than nine months following the end of the District’s fiscal year (currently ending June 30) (the “Annual 
Report”), commencing with the report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and to provide notices of 
the occurrence of certain enumerated events. The Annual Report and the notices of enumerated events 
will be filed by the District with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through the Electronic 
Municipal Access (EMMA) System. The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual 
Report or the notices of enumerated events is summarized below under the caption APPENDIX C—

424 of 567



-49- 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE. These covenants have been made in order 
to assist the Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”). The District has no 
prior obligations to provide continuing disclosure information under the Rule. 

 
 

UNDERWRITING 
 

The Bonds are being purchased by RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) at a price of 
$__________ (consisting of $___________ aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, plus 
$__________ of net original issue premium, less $__________ of Underwriter’s discount). The 
Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers and others at prices different from the prices 
stated on the cover page of this Official Statement. The offering prices may be changed from time to time 
by the Underwriter. 

 
The initial public offering prices stated on the cover of this Official Statement may be changed 

from time to time by the Underwriter. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers 
(including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts), dealer banks, banks acting as agent and others 
at prices lower than said public offering prices. 

 
The Underwriter and its respective affiliates are full-service financial institutions engaged in 

various activities that may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, municipal 
advisory, brokerage, and asset management. In the ordinary course of business, the Underwriter and its 
respective affiliates may actively trade debt and, if applicable, equity securities (or related derivative 
securities) and provide financial instruments (which may include bank loans, credit support or interest 
rate swaps). The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may engage in transactions for their own 
accounts involving the securities and instruments made the subject of this securities offering or other 
offering of the District. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may make a market in credit default 
swaps with respect to municipal securities in the future. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may 
also communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and publish 
independent research views in respect of this securities offering or other offerings of the District. 

 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

So far as any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion, assumptions, 
projections, anticipated events or estimates, whether or not expressly stated, they are set forth as such and 
not as representations of fact, and actual results may differ substantially from those set forth herein. 
Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing is to 
be construed as a contract with the owners of the Bonds. 

 
The summaries of certain provisions of the Bonds, statutes and other documents or agreements 

referred to in this Official Statement do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to each of them 
for a complete statement of their provisions. Copies are available for review by making requests to the 
District. 

 
The Appendices are an integral part of this Official Statement and must be read together with all 

other parts of this Official Statement. The audited financial statements of the District, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, are contained in 

425 of 567



-50- 

APPENDIX B—COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018. 

 
The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been authorized by the Authority 

and the District. 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCING 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By    
 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. 

Executive Director 
 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT  
 
 
 
By    
 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. 

General Manager 

426 of 567



Appendix A 

APPENDIX A 
 

SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS 
 
 

[TO COME] 
 

427 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

428 of 567



Appendix B 
Page 1 

APPENDIX B 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE DISTRICT FOR 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 WITH 

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

429 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

430 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 1 

APPENDIX C 
 

FORM OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
 

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and 
delivered by the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (the “District”) in connection with the issuance by the Union 
Sanitary District Financing Authority (the “Authority”) of its $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing 
Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to an indenture of 
trust, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the 
“Indenture”), and a resolution adopted by the Board Directors of the Authority on January 27, 2020. The District 
covenants and agrees as follows: 

 
Section 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth above and, in the Indenture, which apply to 

any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section 1, the following 
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

 
“Annual Report” means any Annual Report provided by the District pursuant to, and as described in, 

Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 
“Annual Report Date” means March 31 after the end of the District’s fiscal year. 
 
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean, initially, ____________, or any successor Dissemination Agent 

designed in writing by the District and which has been filed with the then current Dissemination Agent a written 
acceptance of such designation. 

 
“Fiscal Year” means any twelve–month period beginning on July 1 in any year and extending to the next 

succeeding June 30, both dates inclusive, or any other twelve–month period selected and designated by the District 
as its official fiscal year period under a Certificate of the District filed with the Trustee. 

 
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated by the Securities 

and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for purposes of the Rule, or any other 
repository of disclosure information that may be designated by the Securities and Exchange Commission as such for 
purposes of the Rule in the future. 

 
“Official Statement” means the final official statement executed by the District in connection with the 

issuance of the Bonds. 
 
“Participating Underwriter” means the original underwriter of the Bonds. 
 
“Rule” means Rule 15c2–12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
“Significant Events” means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate. 
 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

431 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 2 

Section 2. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed and delivered 
by the District for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the 
Participating Underwriter in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2– 12(b)(5). 

 
Section 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 
 
(a) The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than the Annual Report Date, 

commencing March 31, 2020, with the report for fiscal year 2018-19 provide to the MSRB, in an electronic format as 
prescribed by the MSRB, an Annual Report that is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure 
Certificate. The filing of the Official Statement with the MSRB shall satisfy the 2020 filing requirement. Not later 
than 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date, the District shall provide the Annual Report to the 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the District). If by 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date the 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the District) has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the Dissemination 
Agent shall contact the District to determine if the District is in compliance with the previous sentence. The Annual 
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package and may include by 
reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided that the audited 
financial statements of the District may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report, and later 
than the Annual Report Date, if not available by that date. If the District’s fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of 
such change in the same manner as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). The District shall provide a written 
certification with each Annual Report furnished to the Dissemination Agent to the effect that such Annual Report 
constitutes the Annual Report required to be furnished by the District hereunder. 

 
(b) If the District does not provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) an Annual Report by the 

Annual Report Date, the District in a timely manner shall provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) to 
the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, a notice in substantially the form attached as Exhibit 
A. 

 
(c) With respect to each Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall: 
 

(i) determine each year prior to the Annual Report Date the then–applicable rules and electronic 
format prescribed by the MSRB for the filing of annual continuing disclosure reports; and 

 
(ii) if the Dissemination Agent is other than the District, file a report with the District certifying 

that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate, and stating the date it was 
provided. 

 
Section 4. Content of Annual Reports. The District’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by 

reference the following: 
 
(a) The District’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. If the District’s audited financial statements are not available by the Annual Report Date, the 
Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained 
in the final Official Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual 
Report when they become available. 

 
 (b) Unless otherwise provided in the audited financial statements filed on or prior to the annual filing 

deadline for Annual Reports provided for in Section 3 above, financial information and operating data with respect to 
the District for preceding fiscal year, substantially similar to that provided in the Official Statement, as follows: 

 
(i) Revenues by User Category; 
(ii) Ten Largest Rate Payers; and 
(iii) Historical Debt Service Coverage.  

432 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 3 

 
(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under this Disclosure Certificate, 

the District shall provide such further material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the specifically 
required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. 

 
(d) Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, including 

official statements of debt issues of the District or related public entities, which are available to the public on the 
MSRB’s Internet web site or filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The District shall clearly identify 
each such other document so included by reference. 

 
Section 5. Reporting of Significant Events. 
 
(a) The District shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following Significant 

Events with respect to the Bonds: 
 

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
 
(ii) Non–payment related defaults, if material; 
 
(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 
 
 (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
 
(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701–TEB) or other material notices or 
determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events affecting the tax status 
of the security; 

 
(vii) Modifications to rights of security holders, if material; 
 
(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
 
(ix) Defeasances; 
 
(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material; 
 
(xi) Rating changes; 
 
(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the District or other obligated person; 
 
(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the District or an 

obligated person, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the District or an obligated person 
(other than in the ordinary course of business), the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an 
action, or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its 
terms, if material; or 

 
(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 

material; 
 

433 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 4 

(xv) The incurrence of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial 
obligation of the District or other obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material; or 

 
(xvi) A default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar 

events under the terms of a financial obligation of the District or other obligated person, any of which reflect 
financial difficulties.  

 
 (b) Whenever the District obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Significant Event, the District shall, or 

shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the District) to, file a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB, in an 
electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after the 
occurrence of the Significant Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of Significant Events described in 
subsection (a)(viii) above need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the 
underlying event is given to holders of affected Bonds under the Indenture. 

 
(c) The District acknowledges that the events described in subparagraphs (a)(ii), (a)(vii), (a)(viii) (if the 

event is a bond call), (a)(x), (a)(xiii), (a)(xiv) and (a)(xv) of this Section 5 contain the qualifier “if material.” The 
District shall cause a notice to be filed as set forth in paragraph (b) above with respect to any such event only to the 
extent that the District determines the event’s occurrence is material for purposes of U.S. federal securities law. The 
District intends that the words used in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) and the definition of “financial obligation” to have 
the meanings ascribed thereto in SEC Release No. 34-83885 (November 8, 2018) and/or any further guidance or 
releases provided by the SEC. 

 
 (d) For purposes of this Disclosure Certificate, any event described in paragraph (a)(xii) above is 

considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for 
the District in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or 
federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 
business of the District, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials 
or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry 
of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority 
having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the District. 

 
Section 6. Identifying Information for Filings with the MSRB. All documents provided to the MSRB under 

this Disclosure Certificate shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 
 
Section 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The District’s obligations under this Disclosure Certificate 

shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. If such termination 
occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the District shall give notice of such termination in the same manner 
as for a Significant Event under Section 5(b). 

 
Section 8. Dissemination Agent. The District may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination 

Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any 
Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. Any Dissemination Agent may 
resign by providing 30 days’ written notice to the District. 

 
Section 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the 

District may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, 
provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 

 
(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5(a), it may only be made in 

connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change 
in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted; 

 

434 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 5 

(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the opinion of nationally 
recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the 
Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in 
circumstances; and 

 
(c) the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the Bonds in the manner 

provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of holders, or (ii) does not, in the 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the holders or beneficial owners of 
the Bonds. 

 
If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is amended 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first annual financial information filed pursuant hereto containing the 
amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and 
the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

 
If an amendment is made to the undertaking specifying the accounting principles to be followed in preparing 

financial statements, the annual financial information for the year in which the change is made shall present a 
comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles 
and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative 
discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles 
on the presentation of the financial information, in order to provide information to investors to enable them to 
evaluate the ability of the District to meet its obligations. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall be 
quantitative. 

 
The Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any amendment increasing or affecting its 

duties or obligations hereunder. 
 
A notice of any amendment made pursuant to this Section 9 shall be filed in the same manner as for a 

Significant Event under Section 5(b). 
 
Section 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the 

District from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure 
Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice 
of occurrence of a Significant Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the 
District chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Significant Event in 
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the District shall have no obligation 
under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of 
occurrence of a Significant Event. 

 
Section 11. Default. If the District fails to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the 

Participating Underwriter or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may take such actions as may be necessary 
and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the District to comply 
with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed 
an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any 
failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance. 

 
Section 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. (a) Article VIII of the Indenture is 

hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Certificate as if this Disclosure Certificate were (solely for this purpose) 
contained in the Indenture. The Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections and limitations from 
liability afforded to the Trustee thereunder. The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically 
set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the District agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its 
officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which they may incur 
arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses 

435 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 6 

(including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the 
Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation 
to review any information provided to it by the District hereunder and shall not be deemed to be acting in any 
fiduciary capacity for the District, the Bond holders or any other party. The obligations of the District under this 
Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds. 

 
(b) The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the District for its services provided hereunder 

in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time, and shall be reimbursed for all expenses, legal 
fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of its duties hereunder. 

 
Section 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the District, the 

Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the owners and Beneficial Owners from time to time of the 
Bonds and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.  

 
Date: [Closing Date] 

 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
ACKNOWLEDGED: 
 
________________, as Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
  

436 of 567



Appendix C 
Page 7 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE TO EMMA OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Name of Issuer:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority 
 
Name of Obligor:  Union Sanitary District 
 
Name of Issue:  Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
 
Date of Issuance: [Closing Date] 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Obligor has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the 
above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, dated [Closing Date], furnished by the 
Obligor in connection with the Issue. The Obligor anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by 
_____________. 

 
Dated: ______________________ 

__________________, Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By    

Authorized Officer 
cc: Trustee 
 
 

437 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

438 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 1 

APPENDIX D 
 

TRI-CITY AREA AND ALAMEDA COUNTY 
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

 
 
The following information concerning the Tri-City Area and Alameda County is included only for the purpose of 

supplying general information regarding the community. The Bonds are not a debt of the cities of Fremont, Newark or Union 
City, the County, the State or any of its political subdivisions, and neither the cities of Fremont, Newark and Union City, the 
County, the State nor any of its political subdivisions is liable therefor. 

 
Although reasonable efforts have been made to include up-to-date information in this Appendix D, some of the 

information is not current due to delays in reporting of information by various sources. It should not be assumed that the 
trends indicated by the following data would continue beyond the specific periods reflected herein. 

 
Introduction 

 
The area consisting of the cities of Fremont, Newark (an enclave of Fremont), and Union City 

(formed from the communities of Alvarado and Decoto), is known as the Tri-City Area. 
 
The City of Fremont has a population of around 232,532. It is the fourth most populous city in 

the San Francisco Bay Area, and the largest suburb in the Tri-City Area. The City of Newark has a 
population of around 48,712 residents and is an enclave, surrounded by the city of Fremont. The City of 
Union City has over 74,916 residents. All of the Tri-City Area cities sit at the edge of Silicon Valley and 
shares in its economic pattern. 

 
Alameda County (the “County”) is located in the East San Francisco Bay Area of the State of 

California. The County seat is Oakland. The County was formed on March 25, 1853 from a large portion 
of Contra Costa County and a smaller portion of Santa Clara County. The County has a total area of 821 
square miles (2,130 km2), of which 739 square miles (1,910 km2) is land and 82 square miles (210 km2) 
(10.0%) is water. 

 
The San Francisco Bay borders the County on the west, and the city and county of San Francisco, 

California has a small land border with the city of Alameda due to land filling. The crest of the Berkeley 
Hills form part of the northeastern boundary, and reach into the center of the County. A coastal plain 
several miles wide lines the bay; it is home to Oakland and the most populous regions. Livermore Valley 
lies in the eastern part of the County. 

 

439 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 2 

Population 
 

The table below summarizes population of the Cities of the Tri-City Area, the County, and the 
State of California for the last five years. 
 

FREMONT, NEWARK, UNION CITY, ALAMEDA COUNTY, and CALIFORNIA 
Population 

 

Year 
City of 

Fremont 
City of 
Newark 

City of 
Union City 

Alameda  
County 

State of 
California 

2015 228,119 44,549 73,203 1,613,168 38,952,462 
2016 229,687 44,882 73,430 1,631,088 39,214,803 
2017 230,525 45,479 74,100 1,646,156 39,504,609 
2018 231,252 47,178 74,058 1,656,884 39,740,508 
2019 232,532 48,712 74,916 1,669,301 39,927,315 

    
Source: California Department of Finance, E-4 Population Estimate for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011-19, with 2010 

Census Benchmark. 
 

440 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 3 

Employment 
 

The following table summarizes historical employment and unemployment for the County, the 
State of California and the United States: 

 
ALAMEDA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, and UNITED STATES 

Civilian Labor Force, Employment, and Unemployment 
(Annual Averages) 

 
     Unemployment 

Year Area Labor Force Employment Unemployment Rate (1) 
2014 Alameda County 812,000 764,300 47,700 5.9% 

 California 18,811,400 17,397,100 1,414,300 7.5 
 United States 155,922,000 146,305,000 9,617,000 6.2 
      

2015 Alameda County 824,800 785,700 39,100 4.7 
 California 18,981,800 17,798,600 1,183,200 6.2 
 United States 157,130,000 148,834,000 8,296,000 5.3 
      

2016 Alameda County 837,900 802,400 35,500 4.2 
 California 19,102,700 18,065,000 1,037,700 5.4 
 United States 159,187,000 151,436,000 7,751,000 4.9 
      

2017 Alameda County 848,500 817,600 30,900 3.6 
 California 19,312,000 18,393,100 918,900 4.8 
 United States 160,320,000 153,337,000 6,982,000 4.4 
      

2018(2) Alameda County 848,200 822,800 25,400 3.0 
 California 19,398,200 18,582,800 815,400 4.2 
 United States 162,075,000 155,761,000 6,314,000 3.9 

    
Source: California Employment Development Department, Monthly Labor Force Data for Counties, Annual Average 2010-
2018, and US Department of Labor. 

(1) The unemployment rate is computed from unrounded data; therefore, it may differ from rates computed from rounded 
figures available in this table. 

(2) Latest available full-year data. 
 

441 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 4 

Major Employers 
 

The following table lists the top 10 employers within the County as of June 30, 2018. 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY 
Top 10 Employers 
as of June 30, 2018 

 
  % of 

Employer Employees Total  
Kaiser Permanente 2,305 4.21% 
Sutter Health 2,092 1.25 
Tesla 1,700 1.22 
Alameda County 1,602 1.17 
Safeway Inc. 1,600 1.15 
John Muir Health 850 0.79 
Chevron Corp. 750 0.64 
PG&E Corp. 700 0.62 
Wells Fargo Bank 600 0.62 
UPS 319 0.55 
   Total Top 10 99,925 12.21% 

    
Source: Alameda County fiscal year 2017-18 CAFR. 
 
Construction Activity 

 
The following table reflects the five-year history of building permit valuation for the County:  

 
ALAMEDA COUNTY 

Building Permits and Valuation 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

 
 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Permit Valuation:       

New Single-family  $ 400,498 $ 576,948 $ 791,891 $ 763,677 $ 689,529 
New Multi-family  392,331 456,361 497,341 1,307,093 1,431,985 
Res. Alterations/Additions  325,493 344,975 466,239 501,276 469,158 

Total Residential  1,118,323 1,378,285 1,755,471 2,572,048 2,590,673 
Total Nonresidential 1,026,771 1,146,437 1,332,034 1,587,834 1,762,395 

Total All Building  2,145,094 2,524,722 3,087,506 4,159,882 4,353,068 
      
New Dwelling Units:       

Single Family  1,076 1,671 2,348 2,175 1,867 
Multiple Family  2,048 3,370 3,171 6,889 6,540 

Total  3,124 5,041 5,519 9,064 8,407 
    
Source: Construction Industry Research Board: “Building Permit Summary.”  
Note:  Columns may not sum to totals due to independent rounding. 
 

442 of 567



Appendix D 
Page 5 

Median Household Income 
 
The following table summarizes the median household effective buying income for the Cities of 

the Tri-City Area, the County, the State of California and the nation for the past five years. 
 
UNION CITY, ALAMEDA COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND UNITED STATES 

Median Household Effective Buying Income 
 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Fremont $ 84,913 $ 88,392 $ 94,649 $ 101,688 $ 110,407 
Newark 73,560 76,872 81,833 87,798 92,618 
Union City 70,407 74,907 80,767 85,990 91,021 
Alameda County 64,030 67,631 73,633 79,446 84,835 
California 53,589 55,681 59,646 62,637 65,870 
United States 46,738 48,043 50,735 52,841 55,303 

 
    
Source: Nielsen, Inc. 

 

443 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

444 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 1 

APPENDIX E 
 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 
 
 

Upon issuance of the Bonds, Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, a Professional Corporation, Bond Counsel, 
proposes to render its final approving opinion in substantially the following form: 
 
 

[Closing Date] 
 
Union Sanitary District 
5072 Benson Road 
Union City, California 94587 
 

Re: $_______* Union Sanitary District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
 
Members of the Board of Directors: 
 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Union Sanitary District 
Financing Authority (the “Authority”), a joint exercise of powers agency organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of California, of $_________ aggregate principal amount of Union Sanitary 
District Financing Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Bonds”), under and pursuant to the 
provisions relating to the joint exercise of powers found in Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code of the State of California, as amended (the “Government Code”) and Article 11 of 
Chapter 3 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code (collectively, the “Act”), and under 
and pursuant to the Indenture of Trust (the “Indenture”), dated as of January 1, 2020 by and between the 
Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined 
herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. 

 
Our services as Bond Counsel were limited to a review of the legal proceedings required for the 

authorization and issuance of the Bonds. We have reviewed originals or copies identified to our 
satisfaction as being true copies of (i) the Indenture; (ii) the Installment Purchase Agreement (the 
“Installment Purchase Agreement”), dated as of January 1, 2020, between the Authority and the Union 
Sanitary District (the “District”); and (iii) certain other records of the Authority and the District. As to 
questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and other 
certifications of Authority and District officers and other officials of public agencies furnished to us 
without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigations. 

 
Based upon the foregoing and after the examination described above, and after examination of 

such questions of law as we have deemed relevant in the circumstances, but subject to the limitations set 
forth above, we are of the opinion that: 

 
1. The Authority has lawful authority under the Act to enter into the Indenture and the 

Installment Purchase Agreement, the Authority has duly authorized, executed and delivered the 
Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement and, assuming due authorization, execution and 
delivery by the respective other parties thereto, the Indenture and the Installment Purchase Agreement 
are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Authority enforceable in accordance with their terms. The 

445 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 2 

Indenture creates a valid pledge of the Authority Revenues, subject to the provisions thereof permitting 
the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein. 

 
2. The Authority has lawful authority to issue the Bonds and the Bonds have been duly and 

validly authorized and issued by the Authority in accordance with the Constitution and statutes of the 
State of California, including the Act and the Indenture. The Bonds constitute legal, valid and binding 
special obligations of the Authority enforceable in accordance with their terms. The Bonds are special 
obligations of the Authority payable solely from Authority Revenues and amounts on deposit in certain 
funds and accounts held under the Indenture. The Bonds are not an obligation of the State of California, 
any public agency thereof (other than the Authority) or any member of the Authority; and neither the 
faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of California or any public agency thereof, any member 
of the Authority is pledged for the payment of the Bonds. 

 
3. Under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the 

accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants and requirements described 
herein, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an 
item of tax preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on 
individuals. 

 
4. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of California personal income tax. 
 
5. The difference between the issue price of a Bond (the first price at which a substantial 

amount of the Bonds of a maturity are to be sold to the public) and the stated redemption price at maturity 
with respect to such Bond constitutes original issue discount. Original issue discount accrues under a 
constant yield method, and original issue discount will accrue to a Bond Owner before receipt of cash 
attributable to such excludable income. The amount of original issue discount deemed received by a Bond 
Owner will increase the Bond Owner’s basis in the applicable Bond. Original issue discount that accrues 
to the Bond Owner is excluded from the gross income of such owner for federal income tax purposes, is 
not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals 
and is exempt from State of California personal income tax. 

 
6. The amount by which a Bond owner’s original basis for determining loss on sale or 

exchange in the applicable Bond (generally, the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on maturity 
(or on an earlier call date) constitutes amortizable Bond premium, which must be amortized under Section 
171 of the Code; such amortizable Bond premium reduces the Bond owner’s basis in the applicable Bond 
(and the amount of tax-exempt interest received), and is not deductible for federal income tax purposes. 
The basis reduction as a result of the amortization of Bond premium may result in a Bond owner realizing 
a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the owner for an amount equal to or less (under certain 
circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the owner. 

 
The opinions expressed herein as to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes of interest (and original issue discount) on the Bonds is subject to the condition that the 
Authority and the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds to assure that such 
interest (and original issue discount) will not become includable in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements of the Code might cause interest (and original issue 
discount) on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the 
date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority and the District have covenanted to comply with all such 
requirements. 

446 of 567



Appendix E 
Page 3 

 
The opinions expressed herein may be affected by actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring 

(or not occurring) after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, 
whether any such actions or events are taken or occur. The Indenture and the Tax Certificate permit 
certain actions to be taken or to be omitted if a favorable opinion of Bond Counsel is provided with respect 
thereto. No opinion is expressed herein as to the effect on the exclusion from gross income of interest on 
the Bonds (and original issue discount) for federal income tax purposes with respect to any Bond if any 
such action is taken or omitted based upon the opinion or advice of counsel other than ourselves. Other 
than expressly stated herein, we express no other opinion regarding tax consequences with respect to the 
Bonds. 

 
The opinions expressed herein are based upon our analysis and interpretation of existing laws, 

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such 
authorities. We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Indenture, the 
Installment Purchase Agreement and the Bonds are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or transfer and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, to the 
application of equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought, to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the State of California. 

 
By delivering this letter, we are not expressing any opinion with respect to any indemnification, 

contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed to constitute a penalty), right of 
set-off, arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum, choice of venue, non-exclusivity of 
remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment 
Purchase Agreement, nor are we expressing any opinion with respect to the state or quality of title to or 
interest in any assets described in or as subject to the lien of the Indenture, the Bonds or the Installment 
Purchase Agreement or the accuracy or sufficiency of the description of such assets, or the remedies 
available to enforce liens on, any such assets.  

 
Our opinion is limited to matters governed by the laws of the State of California and federal law. 

We assume no responsibility with respect to the applicability or the effect of the laws of any other 
jurisdiction. 

 
We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official 

Statement (the “Official Statement”) relating to the Bonds or other offering material relating to the 
Bonds and expressly disclaim any duty to advise the owners of the Bonds with respect to matters 
contained in the Official Statement. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

447 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

448 of 567



Appendix F 
Page 1 

APPENDIX F 
 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 
 
 
The information in this Appendix F, concerning The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), 

and DTC’s book-entry system, has been furnished by DTC for use in official statements and the District takes no 
responsibility for the completeness or accuracy thereof. The District cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, DTC 
Participants or Indirect Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners (a) payments of principal of or interest on the 
Bonds, (b) certificates representing ownership interest in or other confirmation of ownership interest in the Bonds, or (c) 
redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as the registered owner of the Bonds, or that they will so 
do on a timely basis, or that DTC, DTC Participants or DTC Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this 
Appendix F. The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
current “Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC. Information Furnished 
by DTC Regarding its Book-Entry Only System  

 
1. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the 

Bonds (as used in this Appendix F, the “Securities”). The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security certificate will be issued for each maturity of the 
Securities, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the 
aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds $500 million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 
million of principal amount, and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any remaining principal 
amount of such issue.  

 
2. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 

New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of 
the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial 
Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, 
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s 
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct 
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement 
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is 
owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both 
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear 
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and 
www.dtc.org. 

 
3. Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which 

will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each 
Security (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial 
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, 
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their 
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. 
Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and 
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates 

449 of 567



Appendix F 
Page 2 

representing their ownership interests in Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the 
Securities is discontinued. 

 
4. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered 

in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such 
other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual 
Beneficial Owners of the Securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose 
accounts such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect 
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.  

 
5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants 

to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed 
by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to 
time. Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices 
of significant events with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed 
amendments to the Security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain that the 
nominee holding the Securities for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit the notices to Beneficial Owners. 
In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that 
copies of notices be provided directly to them.  

 
6. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being 

redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue 
to be redeemed.  

 
7. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the 

Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus 
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Securities 
are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).  

 
8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & 

Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit 
Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the District 
or the paying agent or bond trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s 
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary 
practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street 
name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the paying agent or bond 
trustee, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 
Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the District or the paying agent or 
bond trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants.  

 
9. DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by 

giving reasonable notice to the District or the paying agent or bond trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be printed and delivered.  

 
10. The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or 

a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.  
 
11. The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from 

sources that the District believes to be reliable, but the District takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 

450 of 567



Appendix G 
 

APPENDIX G 
 

DISTRICT’S INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

451 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

452 of 567



Appendix H 
 

APPENDIX H 
 

CAPACITY CHARGE ORDINANCE 
 

453 of 567



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

454 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 14 

 
TITLE: Consider a Resolution to Accept the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 

3 Rehabilitation Project from Monterey Mechanical Company. (This is a 
Motion Item) 

 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 

Derek Chiu, Assistant Engineer 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board consider a resolution to accept the construction of the Primary 
Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project (Project) from Monterey Mechanical Company (MMC) and 
authorize recordation of a Notice of Completion. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
January 23, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute an agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Carollo Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $158,813 for final design services 
for the Project. 
 
November 13, 2017, the Board awarded the construction contract for the Project to MMC in 
the amount of $1,956,000. 
 
December 4, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 
with Carollo Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $94,517 for engineering services during 
construction of the Project. 
 
 

455 of 567



Agenda Item No. 14 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
October 22, 2018, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 2 to 
Task Order No. 2 with Carollo Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $32,398 for additional 
engineering services during construction of the Project. 
 
October 22, 2018, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Contract Change 
Order No. 9 with MMC in the amount of $457,371 for replacement of the Primary Digester No. 
3 sludge mixing pipelines. 
 
Background 
 
The District has six primary and two secondary digesters at the Alvarado Wastewater 
Treatment Plant that require periodic cleaning to remove accumulated debris and to maintain 
treatment capacity.  Primary Digester No. 3 was originally constructed in 1962 and was last 
taken out of service for cleaning and assessment in 2010, which was followed by some 
rehabilitation work, primarily on the digester dome.  Staff removed Primary Digester No. 3 from 
service again in spring 2017 for cleaning and to re-assess its condition.  After Primary Digester 
No. 3 was cleaned, V&A Consulting Engineers completed a condition assessment of the 
structure in July 2017, and Carollo Engineers completed the Project design in August 2017. 
 
On November 13, 2017, the Board awarded the Project’s construction contract to MMC in the 
amount of $1,956,000.  The Project’s major elements included the following:  
 

• Repair of the foam insulation on the cover of Primary Digester No. 3. 
• Recoating of the interior and exterior appurtenances of Primary Digester No. 3 (i.e., 

steel dome cover, center column, mixing nozzles, piping, covers, center water seal, and 
others). 

• Installation of a lining system on the interior of Primary Digester No. 3 to stop seepage 
through the cracks in the wall. 

• Repair of minor cracks, spalled concrete, and dome coating identified from the 
condition assessment. 

• Addition of new circular viewports and the removal of existing rectangular ones. 
• Addition of two new side manways to Primary Digester No. 3 to permit at-grade access 

into the digester. 
• Replacement of the mixing piping between Primary Digester No. 3 and Heating and 

Mixing Building No. 2. 
• Temporary removal of the center column of Primary Digester No. 3 and CCTV inspection 

of the two 14-inch diameter sludge pipelines under the digester. 
• Modifications to the digester gas piping on top of Primary Digester No. 3. 
• Modifications to the sludge recirculation piping at Heating and Mixing Building No. 2. 
• Replacement of the existing digester gas flow meters at Primary Digesters No. 1, 2, and 

3. 

456 of 567



Agenda Item No. 14 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 

• Modifications to the electrical panel of the digester gas conditioning system blowers at 
the Cogeneration Building. 

• Installation of new emergency lights at the Cogeneration Building, Thickener Electrical 
Building, and Heating and Mixing Building No. 1. 

• Modifications of the piping, valves, pipe supports, and lighting power supply at the 
Thickener Control Building. 

• Structural modifications to the thickener scum pits at the Thickener Control Building. 
• Installation of new maintenance platform and associated piping and valves at the 

Thickener Control Building. 
 

The attached Figures 2 through 9 show the improvements completed at Primary Digester No. 3 
and the Thickener Control Building.  Staff provided construction management and inspection 
services for the Project. 
 
Construction Contract 
 
Staff issued the Notice to Proceed to MMC on December 4, 2017.  The 240-day project was 
initially scheduled to be completed on August 1, 2018.  Contract Change Order No. 9 extended 
the completion date to March 28, 2019, and MMC substantially completed all contract work on 
May 3, 2019.  Project completion was delayed by 36 calendar days primarily due to the 
following issue: 
 

Coatings 

Staff encountered unforeseen conditions with the coatings work inside Primary Digester 
No. 3.  The removal of the existing coatings on the underside of the digester cover took 
longer than expected.  And when completed, inspection revealed that additional repairs 
and surface preparation of the Digester cover and skirt were needed before new 
coatings could be applied.  Additionally, water infiltration was discovered in parts of the 
existing foam insulation section between the skirt and the digester wall that required 
some of the foam to be removed and re-applied before the new coatings could be 
applied over this section. 

 
The above issue resulted in additional costs and in the Project being delayed.  Negotiations on 
the unresolved matters pertaining to the coatings work inside the digester were recently 
concluded and included a resolution on costs and contract time extension.  MMC’s coating 
subcontractor had submitted a pass-through, potential claim for extra work performed during 
removal of the existing coating system on the interior of the digester dome.  The extra work 
was performed by the subcontractor without notifying the District as required in the 
construction contract.  By proceeding with the extra work, the subcontractor did not offer an 
opportunity for the District to assess the existing conditions, substantiate the subcontractor’s 
claim for changed site conditions, and the extent of the extra work. 
 

457 of 567



Agenda Item No. 14 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 4 
 
Staff, MMC, and the subcontractor agreed to resolve the outstanding claim and project issues 
through execution of Contract Change Order (CCO) Nos. 13 through 17 by MMC and the District 
and execution of waivers and releases and an agreement to settle the claims by the three 
parties, which the District will execute after the Board accepts the project.  CCO Nos. 14 
through 16 included extra work performed by the coating subcontractor that was not related to 
the work associated with the pass-through claim.  CCO No. 17 provided a time extension to 
MMC’s contract to adjust their substantial completion date to May 3, 2019. 
 
Change Orders 
 
The Project included 17 CCOs in the amount of $415,062, which is approximately 18.1% of the 
original contract amount.  A list of the CCOs is included in the attached Table 1.  A summary of 
the notable CCOs is provided below: 
 

1. CCO No. 9, Sludge Mixing Pipelines Replacement 

CCO No. 9 is in the amount of $457,371 and grants a 239 calendar-day time extension 
for the replacement of the digester sludge mixing pipelines.  Inspection of the interior of 
the pipelines during construction revealed several holes with active groundwater 
infiltration.  New sludge mixing pipelines were constructed within the digester.  On 
October 22, 2018, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute CCO No. 9. 

2. CCO No. 11, Bid Item Reconciliations 

CCO No. 11 is in the credit amount of $121,280.  The Project included a number of unit 
price bid items for concrete repairs.  After the contractor completed struvite removal 
from the concrete walls of the digester, inspection of the concrete revealed that 
concrete repairs were not necessary.  Therefore, unused amounts in these unit price bid 
items were credited back to the District. 

3. CCOs No. 14-17, Primary Digester No. 3 Coatings 

CCOs No. 14-16 are in the total amount of $90,461 for unforeseen conditions related to 
coatings work within Primary Digester No. 3.  After completion of the removal of 
existing coatings on the underside of the digester steel cover, additional repairs and 
surface preparation of the cover and skirt were necessary before the new coatings could 
be applied.  CCO No. 17 resolves the delay to the Project due to the coatings issues by 
granting a time extension of 36 calendar days. 

 
Staff recommends the Board consider a resolution to accept the construction of the Primary 
Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project from Monterey Mechanical Company and authorize 
recordation of a Notice of Completion. 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/DC;mb 
 

458 of 567



Agenda Item No. 14 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 5 
 
Attachment: Figure 1 – Site Plan 
 Figures 2 through 9 – Photos 
 Table 1 – CCO Summary 
 Resolution 
 Notice of Completion 

459 of 567



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIGURE 1  –  PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 3 REHABILITATION PROJECT

460 of 567



 

 

Figure 2 – Coated Underside of Primary Digester No. 3 Cover 

 

 

 

Figure 3 – New Sludge Mixing Pipelines inside Primary Digester No. 3 

461 of 567



 
Figure 4 – New At-Grade Access Manways (Total of 2) 

 

 
Figure 5 – New 14” Diameter Knife Gate Isolation Valves and Plug Valves on the Sludge 

Mixing Pipelines 

 

Knife Gate Valves 

Plug Valves 

Primary Digester No. 3 

Primary Digester No. 3 

Heating and Mixing 
Building No. 2 

462 of 567



 
Figure 6 – New Stainless Steel Digester Gas Piping on the Digester Cover 

 

 
 

Figure 7 – New Gas Handling Equipment on the Digester Cover 

 

New Gas Flowmeter 

Pressure 
Reducing 
Valves 

Flame Arrestors 

3-Way Plug Valve 

New Gas Handling 
Equipment Installation 
(See Figure 7) Maintenance 

Bypass Loop 

463 of 567



 

 

 

Figure 8 – New Maintenance Platform at the Thickener Control Building 

 
 

 
Figure 9 – Modifications to Thickener Scum Pits (Total of 2) at the Thickener Control Building 

Platform 

Sloped Sides Added for 
Improved Draining and 
Cleaning 

464 of 567



 
Table 1 

Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project 800-493 
Contract Change Order Summary 

 
No. Title Amount 
1 Piping Material and Lining Change on Digester Sludge Piping $(3,161) 
2 Digester Appurtenances $8,542 
3 Interim Milestone No. 2 Time Extension $0 
4 Scum Pit Bypass Piping Modifications $630 
5 Additional Ductile Iron Fittings at Heating and Mixing Building 

No. 2 
$2,151 

6 Delete the Replacement of the Primary Digester No. 3 South 
Overflow Box Piping 

$(19,906) 

7 Relocate Seal Water Panel within Heating and Mixing Building 
No. 2 

$1,653 

8 Pump Room No. 3 – Pump Base Modification Material Change $2,391 
9 Sludge Mixing Pipe Replacement $457,371 

10 Heating and Mixing Building No. 2 – 12” Valve Replacement $4,100 
11 Bid Item Reconciliations ($121,280) 
12 Polyurethane Foam Injection at Primary Digester No. 3 $4,153 
13 Additional Conduit at Heating and Mixing Building No. 2 $600 
14 Primary Digester No. 3 Cover Coatings and Skirt Foam 

Coatings Transition 
$67,022 

15 Primary Digester No. 3 Skirt Coatings Preparation $5,512 
16 Primary Digester No. 3 Cover Coatings Preparation $17,927 
17 Time Extension $0 

 Total $415,062 
 % Change Order ($1,956,000 Contract Amount) 18.1% 

 

465 of 567



RESOLUTION NO. ____ 
 

ACCEPT CONSTRUCTION OF THE  
PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 3 REHABILITATION PROJECT  

LOCATED IN THE CITY OF UNION CITY, CALIFORNIA  
FROM MONTEREY MECHANICAL COMPANY. 

 
 RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the UNION SANITARY 
DISTRICT that it hereby accepts the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation 
Project from Monterey Mechanical Company, effective January 27, 2020.   
 
 FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Board of Directors of the UNION 
SANITARY DISTRICT authorize the General Manager/District Engineer, or his 
designee, to execute and record a “Notice of Completion” for the Project. 
 
 
 
 On motion duly made and seconded, this resolution was adopted by the 
following vote on January 27, 2020 
 
 AYES: 
 
 NOES: 
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 ABSTAIN: 
 
 
   
 JENNIFER TOY 
 President, Board of Directors 
 Union Sanitary District  
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
  
PAT KITE 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
Union Sanitary District 
 

466 of 567



 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED  
RETURN TO: 
 
 Regina McEvoy 
 Union Sanitary District 
 5072 Benson Road 
 Union City, CA 94587 
 

NO RECORDING FEE – PER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTIONS 6103 & 27283 (R&T Code 11911) 

  
 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN by the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, Alameda County, 
California, that the work hereinafter described, the contract for the construction of which was 
entered into on November 13, 2017, by said District and MONTEREY MECHANICAL 
COMPANY, 8275 San Leandro Street, Oakland, CA 94621, Contractor for the Project, “Primary 
Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project,” was substantially completed on May 3, 2019 and 
accepted by said District on January 27, 2020. 
 
The name and address of the owner is the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, at 5072 Benson 
Road, Union City, CA  94587. 
 
The estate or interest of the owner is:  FEE SIMPLE ABSOLUTE. 
 
The description of the site where said work was performed and completed is the Union Sanitary 
District’s Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant, located at 5072 Benson Road, City of Union 
City, County of Alameda, State of California. 
 
The undersigned declares under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
Executed on __________________________ at UNION CITY, CALIFORNIA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 ________________________ 
 PAUL R. ELDREDGE, P.E. 
 GENERAL MANAGER/DISTRICT ENGINEER 
 UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

467 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 15 

 
TITLE: Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Carollo 

Engineers, Inc. for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project (This is a Motion Item) 
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 

Curtis Bosick, ETSU Assistant Program Manager 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Carollo Engineers, Inc. (Carollo) in the amount of $1,643,314 to provide construction 
management services for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project (Project). 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
November 14, 2016, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute an Agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $127,577 to provide preliminary 
design services for the Project. 
 
December 18, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $1,476,301 to provide final design services for the Project. 
 
November 12, 2018, the Board held a public hearing to receive comments regarding the Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Project. 
 
December 10, 2018, the Board adopted the Final Mitigated Negative Declaration of 
Environmental Impacts and Mitigation and Monitoring and Reporting Plan for the Project. 
 

468 of 567



Agenda Item No. 15 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
January 28, 2019, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 1 to 
Task Order No. 2 with Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $428,143 to provide additional design 
services for the Project. 
 
August 26, 2019, the Board rejected the sole bid received for the Project and authorized staff to 
re-bid the Project. 
 
January 13, 2020, the Board rejected the bid protest from Kiewit Infrastructure West Co. and 
awarded the construction contract for the Project to C. Overaa & Co. in the amount of 
$23,342,575. 
 
Background 
 
The Project was one of the outcomes of the Plant Solids System/ Capacity Assessment – Phase 1 
that was completed in November 2016.  The assessment concluded that the plant’s anaerobic 
digestion process was at or nearing capacity and Primary Digester No. 6, the largest existing 
digester, could not reliably be taken out of service for cleaning and maintenance until additional 
digestion capacity is provided.  
 
Brown and Caldwell completed the Project’s final design in June 2019.  The Project’s major 
elements are as follows:  
 

• Construction of a new 2.4-million-gallon anaerobic digester with submerged-fixed 
concrete cover and waffle bottom.  

• Installation of new heating, mixing, and conveyance equipment and piping within or 
adjacent to existing Heating and Mixing Building No. 4. 

• Integration of new digester equipment and piping with existing digester feed, withdrawal, 
transfer, heating and gas systems. 

• Improvements to the existing sludge conveyance and transfer systems. 

• Improvements to existing digester heat generation and conveyance systems. 

• Installation of electrical and instrumentation equipment for interfacing with existing 
electrical systems and controls. 

• Replacement of Boiler No. 6 and related plant hot water loop improvements. 

• Installation of a new chemical storage and pump facility for the purposes of hydrogen 
sulfide and struvite management. 

 
On January 13, 2020, C. Overaa & Co. was awarded the construction contract in the amount of 
$23,342,575.  Staff expects to issue the Notice to Proceed by early February 2020 and anticipates 
construction to be completed by September 2021.   

469 of 567



Agenda Item No. 15 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 
Task Order No. 1 
Through a Request for Proposal process, staff selected Carollo to provide construction 
management services for the Project because of the relevant experience of their staff with 
regards to similar types of construction projects. 
 
On November 28, 2018, staff executed an agreement and Task Order No. 1 in the amount of 
$49,408 with Carollo for providing biddability and constructability review services for the Project.  
Under Task Order No. 1, Carollo reviewed the 90 and 100 percent plans and specifications with 
regard to feasibility of construction considering factors such as project schedule, coordination of 
work between subcontractors and trades, site constraints, conflicts with existing facilities, and 
the ability to keep existing facilities in operation during construction.   
 
Task Order No. 2 
The purpose of Task Order No. 2 is for Carollo to provide construction management services for 
duration of the Project.  The scope of services for Task Order No. 2 will include the facilitation of 
a preconstruction conference, construction administration, facilitation of progress meetings with 
the contractor, processing of construction documents between the contractor and the design 
consultant, field quality control, coordination of field testing and training, and project closeout 
inspection and documentation.   
 
The scope and fee for Task Order No. 2 are summarized as follows: 
 

Description Fee 

Construction Management and Inspection Services 
(24-month duration) $1,385,704 

Subconsultants: 
• Electrical Support 
• Materials Testing and Special Inspection 
• Coating Inspection 
• 5% Mark-up on Subconsultants 

Subconsultant Total 

 
 $58,800 
 $40,000 
 $10,000 
 $  5,440  

$114,240 

Other Direct Costs $143,370 

Task Order No. 2 Not to Exceed Fee $1,643,314 
 
The total not to exceed fee of $1,643,314 is 7.0 percent of the construction contract amount of 
$23,342,575.  Staff has reviewed this fee proposal and found it to be reasonable.  As a comparison, 
the table below summarizes the final cost of construction management services for past projects. 
 

470 of 567



Agenda Item No. 15 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 4 
 

Project 
Construction 

Management and 
Inspection Cost (A) 

Construction 
Cost (B) 

Percentage 
of A to B 

Primary Clarifier Rehabilitation Project $707,593 $7,733,468 9.1% 

Cogenerations Project $1,091,435 $11,801,676 9.2% 

Thickener Control Building 
Improvements Project $1,298,476 $10,538,535 12.3% 

 
The total amounts for the Project’s agreement with Carollo are summarized in the table below: 

Description Amount 

Task Order No. 1 – Biddability and Constructability Review $49,408 
Task Order No. 2 – Construction Management Services $1,643,314 

Total for this Agreement $1,692,722 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Carollo Engineers in the amount of $1,643,314 to provide construction management services for 
the Primary Digester No. 7 Project. 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/CB;mb 
 
Attachment:   Task Order No. 2 
 

471 of 567



 

PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 7 PROJECT 
 

TASK ORDER NO. 2 
 

TO  
 

AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

 UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

AND 
 

CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. 
 

FOR 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 

Dated November 28, 2018 
 

 
1. PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of Task Order No. 2 is for Carollo Engineers, Inc. (Engineer) to provide construction 
management services for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project (Project).  
 
The District is currently contracted with Brown and Caldwell (design engineer) to provide the final 
design services for this project. The Project’s major scope items include: 

• Construction of a new anaerobic digester, Primary Digester No. 7, with an effective 
volume of approximately 2.4 million gallons.  

• Installation of new heating, mixing, and conveyance equipment and piping within or 
adjacent to existing Heating and Mixing Building No. 4. 

• Integration of new digester equipment and piping with existing digester feed, withdrawal, 
transfer, heating and gas systems. 

• Improvements to the existing sludge conveyance and transfer systems. 

• Improvements to existing digester heat generation and conveyance systems. 

• Installation of electrical and instrumentation equipment for interfacing with existing 
electrical systems and controls. 

• Replacement of Boiler No. 6 and related plant hot water loop improvements. 

• Installation of a new chemical storage and pump facility for the purposes of hydrogen 
sulfide and struvite management. 

 

472 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 2 
 

  

2. PROJECT COORDINATION 
 

All work related to this task order shall be coordinated through the District’s Project Manager, 
Curtis Bosick.  

 
3. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

The task numbers in this Scope of Services are associated with the cost data presented in Exhibit 
A. 

 
Task 1.0 – Preconstruction Phase 

 
Task 1.1 – Preconstruction Conference:  Construction Manager shall prepare the agenda for the 
meeting, facilitate the meeting, address administrative and non-design issues, and prepare 
meeting minutes of the meeting for distribution. 
 
Task 1.2 – Partnering Workshop:  Construction Manager shall attend the partnering workshop as 
described in the contract documents. 
 
Task 1.3 – Administration & Office set-up:  Construction Manager shall set up the files for the 
project prior to commencement of construction. 

 
Task 2.0 – Construction Phase 
 
Task 2.1 – Construction Administration: 
 
Task 2.1.1 – Project Coordination: Construction Manager shall act as the project coordinator and 
the point of contact for all communications with the Contractor.  Construction Manager shall 
coordinate the activities of the District, Design Consultant and Contractor. 
 
Task 2.1.2 – Document Tracking System: Construction Manager shall utilize the District’s Project 
Management Software, Projectmates, to implement and maintain a system for tracking all 
correspondence and documents on the project. 

 
Task 2.1.3 – Construction Administration Services: Carollo shall provide construction 
administrative and management services.  Carollo shall receive all correspondence from the 
Contractor and shall address all inquiries from the Contractor and all construction related 
correspondence.  The Design Consultant will be responsible for providing any design input. 
 
Task 2.2 – Meetings: 
 
Task 2.2.1 – Construction Manager shall prepare the agenda for the progress meetings and other 
construction meetings required during the project. 
 
Task 2.2.2 – Construction Manager shall facilitate and prepare the meeting minutes for the 
progress meetings and other construction meetings. 

473 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 3 
 

  

 
Task 2.3 – Submittals: 
 
Task 2.3.1 – Submittal Administration: Construction Manager shall establish, implement and 
coordinate the submittal processing. Construction Manager shall receive the submittals from the 
Contractor and check the submittals for general conformity with the Contract requirements.  If 
obvious deficiencies are apparent in the submittal, Construction Manager shall send the submittal 
back to the Contractor for correction. Construction Manager shall route the submittal to the 
Design Consultant for review and will route the reviewed submittal back to the Contractor.  
Construction Manager shall review comments on submittals to determine if additional follow-up 
with the contractor is warranted and to identify prospective scope changes. 
 
Task 2.3.2 – Submittal Tracking: Construction Manager shall maintain a log and tracking system 
for submittals.  Construction Manager shall track the status of submittal review with the Design 
Consultant and the status of shop drawing resubmittals with the Contractor. 

 
Task 2.4 - Clarification Processing: 

 
Task 2.4.1 – Clarification Administration: Construction Manager shall establish, implement and 
coordinate the system for processing clarifications. Construction Manager shall receive all 
requests for information (RFIs) from the Contractor and determine if the request is a valid RFI; if 
not, Construction Manager shall return the RFI to the Contractor.  Construction Manager shall 
provide a response to the Contractor for any administrative and general RFIs.  Construction 
Manager shall route all other RFIs to the Design Consultant at their home office.  The Design 
Consultant will review RFIs and provide design response.  Construction Manager shall review the 
Design Consultant’s response, verify acceptability of response and transmit the Clarification 
Response to the Contractor.  If the response materially affects the design, it will be reviewed with 
the District and/or the Design Consultant, as necessary, to verify that it is required.  If it is required, 
Construction Manager shall issue a change request.  The Design Consultant will prepare Design 
Clarifications where design issues are identified by Construction Manager, the Design Consultant, 
or the District.  Construction Manager shall prepare the Clarification Letter for transmittal to the 
Contractor of the Design Consultant’s Design Clarification and other clarifications 

 
Task 2.4.2 – Clarification Tracking: Construction Manager shall maintain a system for logging and 
tracking RFIs.  Construction Manager shall track the status of RFI review with the Design 
Consultant. 

 
Task 2.5 – Change Order Preparation, Negotiation, Processing and Tracking: 
 
Task 2.5.1 – Change Request Preparation: The Design Consultant shall prepare design details for 
change requests. Construction Manager shall prepare and issue the change request to the 
Contractor with the appropriate design documents. Construction Manager shall prepare an 
independent cost estimate and/or verify the acceptability of the Contractor’s cost proposal for 
each change request.  The Design Consultant’s input may be requested for specific equipment 
and material costs. 
 

474 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 4 
 

  

Task 2.5.2 – Change Order Negotiation:  In the event the Contractor encounters a time sensitive 
problem where time is not available to negotiate a settlement, Construction Manager shall issue 
a field order.  All work done under a field order will be completed on a time and material basis. 
Construction Manager shall have authority for issuing field orders to a maximum value of $2,500 
without prior notice or approval from the District only if Construction Manager can’t reach the 
District’s Representative.  As soon as practical dependent on field conditions, Construction 
Manager shall advise the District of the issuance of such field order, and the District will execute 
the field order.  Field orders with an allowance greater than $2,500 will be reviewed and approved 
with the District prior to issuance.  
 
Task 2.5.3 – Change Order Processing: Construction Manager shall review change orders with the 
District prior to initial and final negotiations with the Contractor.  Construction Manager shall 
prepare change orders for execution by the District and Contractor.  
 
Task 2.5.4 – Change Order Tracking: Construction Manager shall implement and maintain a 
system for logging and tracking changes. Construction Manager shall establish and maintain 
Potential Change Order Log.  The Potential Change Order Log will compile all data related to 
specific items that arise that may have cost or time impacts. 

 
Task 2.6 – Progress Payment Administration: Construction Manager shall review the initial cost 
breakdown prepared by the Contractor.  Construction Manager shall review and process the 
progress payment requests as required in the Contract Documents and by the California Public 
Contract Code. Construction Manager shall verify the quantity and acceptability of stored 
materials. Construction Manager shall verify the Contractor’s construction progress as it relates 
to the progress billing procedure. Construction Manager shall perform the administration, 
preparation and processing of the monthly progress payments. Construction Manager shall 
prepare the summary cover sheet for the progress payments which will be executed by 
Construction Manager, the Contractor, and the District.  When and if requested by the District, 
State or other agency or public inquiry, Construction Manager shall collect but not review the 
certified payroll from the Contractor. 
 
Task 2.7 – Schedule Review: Construction Manager shall review and work with the Contractor in 
the development of the initial Baseline schedule.  Construction Manager shall review and work 
with the Contractor in their review and preparation of the schedule updates.  Construction 
Manager shall provide written comments to the Contractor on the Baseline and update schedules. 
 
Task 2.8 – Field Quality Control:  
 
Task 2.8.1 – Construction Observation: Construction Manager’s Resident Engineer/Inspector shall 
monitor the contractor’s compliance with the Contract Documents, and prepare a daily report 
documenting field activities, field crews, Contractor equipment, and field problems. Construction 
Manager shall maintain a Corrective Work Item List.  The list will provide a current inventory of 
required corrections to aid in timely completion of such items. Construction Manager shall 
provide photographic documentation of the project prior to construction.  Construction Manager 
shall provide and maintain photographs of field activities for status monitoring of the project. 

475 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 5 
 

  

Construction Manager shall monitor the record documents on a monthly basis to determine if 
they are being maintained by the Contractor.  
 
Task 2.8.2 – Specialty Inspections and Materials Testing: Construction Manager shall contract with 
a separate firm to furnish the material testing and special inspections specified in the Contract 
Documents to be furnished by the District for the Project. Construction Manager shall schedule 
and coordinate the specialty inspections and material testing. Construction Manager shall have 
oversight responsibility for the specialty inspections and testing services. 
 
Task 2.8.3 – Electrical/Instrumentation & Control Inspections: Construction Manager shall retain 
Beecher Engineering to provide technical support and assistance on the electrical facets of the 
project.  Beecher Engineering shall be available to support electrical system shutdowns and 
provide the following project support:   

1. Review change requests from the project’s electrical sub-contractor as required and 
provide an analysis and opinion on first the merit of the request and second, the accuracy 
of the costs. 

2. Site inspection/meetings as required to review proposed electrical equipment installation 
and conduit routing. 

 
Task 2.9 – Testing & Training: Construction Manager shall provide oversight and administration of 
training and testing. Construction Manager shall coordinate training requirements and activities. 
Construction Manager shall work with the Contractor, Design Consultant and the District on the 
development of the Startup Plan.  The Design Consultant will provide design assistance during 
testing operations if determined necessary by the District. The scope and budget do not include 
Construction Manager’s participation in factory witness testing. 
 
Task 2.10 – Corrective Work Item List: Construction Manager shall prepare the Corrective Work 
Item list with input from the District and Design Consultant. Construction Manager shall confirm 
that the items identified in the Corrective Work Item list are completed in preparation for issuance 
of the Substantial Completion Certificate. Construction Manager shall prepare the Substantial 
Completion Certificate for execution by the District and Contractor when the Corrective Work 
Items are completed to the District’s and Construction Manager’s satisfaction. 
 
Task 2.11 – Final Inspection and Punchlist: Construction Manager shall have primary responsibility 
for conducting the final inspection. The District will participate and provide input on the final 
inspection. Design Consultant will provide input on final inspection items if determined 
necessary by the District. Construction Manager shall have oversight and final review 
responsibility for the final inspection. Construction Manager shall prepare the list of outstanding 
deficiencies.  Construction Manager shall prepare and issue the punchlist(s) from the list of 
deficiencies. Construction Manager shall have primary responsibility for verifying that punchlist 
work is complete.  
 
Task 2.12 – Warranty Coordination: Construction Manager shall maintain a warranty file 
throughout the duration of the contract. Coordination of warranty work after the Contract Period 
is not included in this Scope of Work or budget.  If the District determines at a later date that it 

476 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 6 
 

  

desires Construction Manager to provide this service and an amendment is issued for additional 
budget, Construction Manager shall coordinate warranty work with the District and Contractor 
during the warranty period. 
 
Task 2.13 – Project Closeout: Construction Manager shall prepare necessary District 
documentation recommending acceptance of the completed work by the Board. Construction 
Manager shall have full and complete access available to all files created by Construction Manager 
during the Project for up to ten (10) years after the completion of the Project.  Such access shall 
include the right to copy any and/or all such files at Construction Manager’s expense. 
 
Task 2.14 – Dispute Resolution: Resolution, when possible, of routine disagreements through the 
normal efforts of the day-to-day project site staff will be performed. Dispute resolution services 
using third parties or special processes (e.g. Mediation, Arbitration, Mini-Trials. Dispute 
Consultants), or those requiring extraordinary efforts by Construction Manager are not included 
in this Scope of Work.  If such non-routine dispute resolution services are required, either an 
amendment or a separate task order will be executed.   

 
Assumptions: 

• The Design Consultant will review all design related submittals.  The Design Consultant 
will review all submittals for temporary facilities. 

• No provision has been included in the scope of work or budget for observation, testing 
and handling of hazardous material. 

• No provisions have been included in the scope of work or budget for the services of a 
corrosion consultant to perform special inspection and/or testing for the Cathodic 
Protection Systems. 

• No time is currently included in the budget for overtime monitoring of construction 
operations. 

• An allowance is included in the Budget for materials testing and specialty inspection. 
Construction Manager shall review Consolidated Engineering Laboratories scope of work 
and budget with the District prior to executing their agreement.  The scope of work and 
actual costs will be dependent on the final design requirements and the Contractor’s 
operations. An amendment to this Task Order may be necessary if the allowance is not 
adequate to cover the actual work required. 

• District will provide Construction Manager with Bid Documents, Addenda and Conformed 
Documents (when available).  Contract Documents shall be provided in native format 
(Word, AutoCAD) as well as PDF to facilitate the contract administration. 

• Means and Methods: Construction Manager shall not have responsibility for directing the 
means and methods of construction. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the 
means and methods of construction.  

• Safety: Construction Manager shall comply with appropriate regulatory, project and 
District regulations regarding necessary safety equipment or procedures used during 
performance of Construction Manager’s work and shall take necessary precautions for 

477 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 7 
 

  

safe operation of Construction Manager’s work, and the protection of Construction 
Manager’s personnel from injury and damage from such work. Neither the professional 
activities of Construction Manager, nor the presence of Construction Manager’s 
employees or sub-consultants at the construction/project site, shall relieve the 
Contractor and any other entity of their obligations, duties and responsibilities including, 
but not limited to, construction means, methods, sequence, techniques or procedures 
necessary for performing, superintending, or coordinating their work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, District regulations, and any health or safety precautions 
required by any regulatory agencies.  Construction Manager and its personnel have no 
authority to exercise any control over any Contractor or other entity or their employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety precautions. Construction Manager 
shall follow the District’s confined space procedures for entry into any existing District 
confined spaces and will follow these procedures at its own risk.  Construction Manager’s 
reliance on the District’s fixed gas detection system will be at its own risk. 

 
4. PAYMENT TO THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER 
 

Payment to the Engineer shall be as called for in Article 2 of the Agreement.  The billing rate 
schedule is equivalent to an overall labor multiplier of 3.21 for office staff, and 2.90 for field staff, 
including profit.  Subconsultants and outside services will be billed at actual cost plus 5%; other 
direct costs will be billed at actual cost; and mileage will be billed at prevailing IRS standard rate. 

 
The not-to-exceed amount for Task Order No. 2 shall be $1,643,314.  A summary of the 
anticipated distribution of cost and manpower is shown in Exhibit A. 

 
The following table summarizes the previously-executed and proposed task orders and 
amendments under the Agreement: 

 

Task Order / Amendment Not to Exceed 
Amount 

Board 
Authorization 

Required? 

District Staff 
Approval 

Task Order No. 1 – Biddability 
and Constructability Review $49,408 No Sami Ghossain 

Task Order No. 2 – 
Construction Management 

Services 
$1,643,314 Yes Paul Eldredge 

Total $1,692,722  

 
 
  

478 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 2 
Page 8 
 

  

5. TIME OF COMPLETION 
 

All work defined in Task Order No. 2 shall be subject to the conditions of Article 3 of the 
Agreement.  A summary of the anticipated schedule of work is summarized as follows: 

• Notice to Proceed (NTP): January 28, 2020.  

• Complete Construction Closeout Activities: December 31, 2021. 
 

6. KEY PERSONNEL 
 

Engineering personnel assigned to this Task Order No. 2 are as follows: 
 
 Key Person to be Assigned Role 
 Scott Parker Principal in Charge 
 Michael Warriner  Construction Division  
 Sam Hawkins  Construction Manager 
 Jon Gudjohnsen  Resident Engineer/Inspector 
 Todd Beecher   Resident Electrical Engineer/Inspector 
 

Key personnel shall not be changed except in accordance with Article 8 of the Agreement. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Task Order No. 2 as of January 
______, 2020 and therewith incorporate it as part of the Agreement. 
 
 
DISTRICT ENGINEER 
 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________  By:     
 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. Scott E. Parker, P.E. 
 General Manager/District Engineer  Senior Vice President 
        

Date:   Date:   
 
 
 
   By:   
    Christopher T. Cleveland, P.E. 
        Senior Vice President 
   

    Date:   

479 of 567



STAFF ROLE Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov  Dec Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total Hours Hourly Rate Cost

Construction Project

Scott Parker Principal in Change ‐ oversight 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 48 $325 $15,600

Sam Hawkins CM Support 4 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 188 $229 $43,057

Jon Gudjohnson Resident Engineer  80 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 80 3856 $206 $792,515

Joe Juneau Inspector 0 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 168 80 80 80 80 0 3344 $160 $534,532

Subtotal B/C & Bid Period Carollo Labor Hours 86 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 346 258 258 258 258 90 7436 $1,385,704

Mileage Mileage 42960 $0.575/mile $24,702

PECE $13.00/labor hr $96,668

Inspector Housing Temp Housing 22 $1000/month $22,000

CM Subtotal $1,529,074

Subconsultants

CEL Concrete and Geotechnical QA Testing Allowance $40,000

Beecher Engineering Electrical Inspection and Change Order Support 4 4 4 4 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 16 16 16 40 40 24 24 8 8 280 $210 $58,800

Bay Area Coating Consultants Coating Inspection Allowance $10,000

Carollo 5% Mark‐up on Subs $5,440

Sub Expenses $114,240

Assumptions: TOTAL BUDGET: $1,643,314
1.  Estimated construction duration is 24 months, commencing in January 2020
2.  Budget is based upon an estimated level of effort 
3.  Construction trailers, utilities and field eqiupment not included.   
4.  Billings will be on a time and materials basis.
5.  Assumes quality control testing for geotech, concrete and coating provided by contractor. Testing services is an allowance for specialty inspection items and quality assurance testing.

Exhibit A

Labor and Fee Estimate
Construction Management and Inspection Services 

Union Sanitary District ‐ Primary Digester No. 7 Project

20212020

480 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 16 

 
TITLE: Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 3 with Brown and 

Caldwell for the Primary Digester No. 7 Project (This is a Motion Item) 
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 

Curtis Bosick, ETSU Assistant Program Manager 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 3 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $957,403 to provide engineering services during 
construction of the Primary Digester No. 7 Project (Project). 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
November 14, 2016, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute an Agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $127,577 to provide preliminary 
design services for the Project. 
 
December 18, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $1,476,301 to provide final design services for the Project. 
 
November 12, 2018, the Board held a public hearing to receive comments regarding the Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Project. 
 
December 10, 2018, the Board adopted the Final Mitigated Negative Declaration of 
Environmental Impacts and Mitigation and Monitoring and Reporting Plan for the Project. 
 

481 of 567



Agenda Item No. 16 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
January 28, 2019, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 1 to 
Task Order No. 2 with Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $428,143 to provide additional design 
services for the Project. 
 
August 26, 2019, the Board rejected the sole bid received for the Project and authorized staff to 
re-bid the Project. 
 
January 13, 2020, the Board rejected the bid protest from Kiewit Infrastructure West Co. and 
awarded the construction contract for the Project to C. Overaa & Co. in the amount of 
$23,342,575. 
 
Background 
 
The Project was one of the outcomes of the Plant Solids System/ Capacity Assessment – Phase 1 
that was completed in November 2016.  The assessment concluded that the plant’s anaerobic 
digestion process was at or nearing capacity and Primary Digester No. 6, the largest existing 
digester, could not reliably be taken out of service for cleaning and maintenance until additional 
digestion capacity is provided.  
 
Brown and Caldwell completed the Project’s final design in June 2019.  The Project’s major 
elements are as follows:  
 

• Construction of a new 2.4-million-gallon anaerobic digester with submerged-fixed 
concrete cover and waffle bottom.  

• Installation of new heating, mixing, and conveyance equipment and piping within or 
adjacent to existing Heating and Mixing Building No. 4. 

• Integration of new digester equipment and piping with existing digester feed, withdrawal, 
transfer, heating and gas systems. 

• Improvements to the existing sludge conveyance and transfer systems. 

• Improvements to existing digester heat generation and conveyance systems. 

• Installation of electrical and instrumentation equipment for interfacing with existing 
electrical systems and controls. 

• Replacement of Boiler No. 6 and related plant hot water loop improvements. 

• Installation of a new chemical storage and pump facility for the purposes of hydrogen 
sulfide and struvite management. 

On January 13, 2020, C. Overaa & Co. was awarded the construction contract in the amount of 
$23,342,575.  Staff expects to issue the Notice to Proceed by early February 2020 and anticipates 
construction to be completed by September 2021.   
 

482 of 567



Agenda Item No. 16 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
Task Order No. 3 
The scope of services and fee for Task Order No. 3 are summarized below: 
 

Task Task Description Amount 
1 Requests for Information $280,451 
2 Submittal Review $272,308 
3 Design Clarification Memoranda $78,982 
4 Meetings and Site Visits $152,687 
5 Conformed Documents $13,855 
6 Project Management $67,016 
7 Air Permitting Support $47,595 
8 Geotechnical Support Services $10,500 
9 Startup Support Services $34,009 

Task Order Not to Exceed Amount $957,403 
 
The total not to exceed fee of $957,403 is 4.1 percent of the construction contract amount of 
$23,342,575.  For a project of this size and scope, staff expects the fee to be in the range of 3 to 
5 percent.  As a comparison, the table below summarizes the final fees and percentages of 
engineering services during construction of past projects. 
 

Project 
Engineering Services 
During Construction 

Cost (A) 

Construction 
Cost (B) 

Percentage 
of A to B 

Dewatering Building Project $660,082 $13,420,188 4.9% 

Cogeneration Project $606,053 $11,801,676 5.1% 

Thickener Control Building Improvements 
Project $469,287 $10,538,535 4.5% 

 
The total amounts for the Project’s agreement with Brown and Caldwell are summarized in the 
table below: 

Description Amount 

Task Order No. 1 – Predesign Services $127,577 
Amendment No. 1 to Task Order No. 1 – Air Permitting 
Support 

$18,969 

Task Order No. 2 – Final Design Services $1,476,301 
Amendment No. 1 to Task Order No. 2 – Additional Final 
Design Services 

$428,143 

Task Order No. 3 – Engineering Services During Construction $957,403 
Total for this Agreement $3,008,393 

483 of 567



Agenda Item No. 16 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 4 
 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 3 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $957,403 to provide engineering services during 
construction of the Primary Digester No. 7 Project. 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/CB;mb 
 
Attachment:   Task Order No. 3 
 

484 of 567



PRIMARY DIGESTER NO.7 PROJECT 
 
 

TASK ORDER NO. 3 
 

TO 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

AND 
 

BROWN AND CALDWELL 
 

FOR 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 

Dated November 15, 2016 
 
 

1. PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of Task Order No. 3 is for Brown and Caldwell (Engineer) to 
provide engineering services during construction for the Primary Digester 
No. 7 Project (Project). Engineering services to be provided during 
construction include engineering support, attendance at meetings, submittal 
review, responses to requests for information (RFI), design clarifications, 
conformed drawing preparation, startup support services, and site visits. 
District staff will update record drawings based on markups provided by the 
Contractor and reviewed by the Construction Manager.   

 
 
2. PROJECT COORDINATION 
 
 All work related to this task order shall be coordinated through the Union 

Sanitary District’s (District’s) Project Manager, Curtis Bosick. 
 
 
3. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 The task numbers in this Scope of Services are associated with the cost 

data presented in Exhibit A. Engineer shall provide the following 
engineering support services during the construction of the project: 

485 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 2 
 
 
 

 
Task 1.0 – Requests for Information  
 
Engineer shall respond to Requests for Information (RFIs) on an as 
requested basis.  Engineer shall provide a written response on a response 
sheet and return the response sheet to the Construction Manager. Engineer 
shall complete review of the RFI, provide response, and return response 
within 10 calendar days after Engineer’s receipt of RFI. If for any reason the 
response cannot be completed within this period, Engineer shall notify 
Construction Manager and provide reason for delay prior to the end of the 
specified period.  All RFI documentation transmitted to the Engineer and 
responses transmitted back to the Construction Manager shall be electronic 
through the District’s web-based document management system. 

 
The Construction Manager will screen all RFIs for form, completeness, and 
general content conforming to that specified in the Contract Documents 
before transmitting them to Engineer. 
 
Engineer’s budget allowance for this task is based on reviewing 210 RFIs 
at an average effort of 6 hours per RFI. A portion of the RFIs shall be the 
responsibility of the Engineer’s structural subconsultant, Gannet Fleming. 
 
Task 2.0 – Submittal Review 
 
Engineer shall respond to requests for submittal review on an as requested 
basis. Engineer shall provide written review comments on a review 
comment sheet and return the review comment sheet to the Construction 
Manager. All submittal documentation transmitted to the Engineer and 
responses transmitted back to the Construction Manager shall be electronic 
through the District’s web-based document management system.  Submittal 
review does not include marking up or returning hard copies of submittals.   
 
Engineer shall complete review of submittal, provide comments, and return 
review comment sheet within 21 calendar days for normal submittals, after 
Engineer’s receipt of submittal. Review comments for critical path or 
expedited submittals shall be returned within 10 calendar days, after 
Engineer’s receipt of submittal. If for any reason the review cannot be 
completed within this period, Engineer shall notify Construction Manager 
and provide reason for delay prior to the end of the specified period. 
 
The Construction Manager will screen all submittals for form, completeness, 
and general content conforming to that specified in the Contract Documents 
before transmitting them to Engineer. Examples of submittals to be 

486 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 3 
 
 
 

reviewed by the Engineer include technical product data, shop drawings, 
temporary construction submittals, samples, test results, and operations 
and maintenance manuals.  Engineer’s submittal review is to determine 
compliance with the Contract Documents.  Submittal review is not intended 
as acceptance of the work. The review is not intended to relieve the 
Contractor of his or her full responsibility for performance as required by the 
Contract Documents. 
 
Engineer’s budget allowance for this task is based on reviewing 200 
submittals (including resubmittals, shop drawings and product data) 
requiring an average effort of 6 hours per submittal. A portion of the 
submittals shall be the responsibility of the Engineer’s structural 
subconsultant, Gannet Fleming. 
 
Task 3.0 – Design Clarification Memoranda 
 
Engineer shall issue Design Clarification Memoranda (DCM) where 
deemed necessary by the Engineer and on an as requested basis.  
Engineer shall provide a written clarification on a DCM (including 
specifications, sketches, or other information as necessary) and issue the 
DCM to the Construction Manager.  
 
DCM will be issued to 1) clarify Contract Documents when necessary, 2) in 
the event that modifications to the Contract Documents are desired by the 
District, or 3) to assist the Construction Manager with the preparation of 
contract change order requests. 
 
Engineer’s budget allowance for this task is based on preparing 20 DCM at 
an average of 16 hours per DCM.  A portion of the DCM effort shall be the 
responsibility of the Engineer’s structural subconsultant, Gannet Fleming. 
 
Task 4.0 – Meetings and Site Visits 
 
Engineer’s project manager and project engineer shall attend the partnering 
workshop/preconstruction meeting. Engineer’s budget allowance assumes 
16 total hours of effort for these meetings. 
 
Engineer shall have personnel attend weekly recurring construction 
meetings via teleconference on an as requested basis.  Budget allowance 
is based on Engineer’s Project Engineer attending approximately 2 
construction meetings per month or a total of 50 weekly meetings.  Meetings 
are budgeted on an average effort of two hours per meeting.  
 

487 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 4 
 
 
 

Engineer shall periodically visit the Project site to monitor the progress and 
quality of the Contractor’s work effort, including specialty site visits (civil, 
structural, mechanical, electrical, and instrumentation) and for preparation 
of a final punchlist. Engineer shall provide opinions and observations to the 
Construction Manager and/or District regarding general compliance with the 
Contract Documents for improvements that are observed by the Engineer 
at the time of Engineer’s site visits. 
 
Engineer’s budget allowance is based on 2 site visits per month by the 
Engineer. Site visits are budgeted at 6 hours each, which includes travel 
time.  
 
Task 5.0 – Conformed Drawings  
 
Engineer shall prepare conformed plans and specifications by incorporating 
the addenda into the contract documents. Engineer shall submit the 
documents electronically in PDF form to the District for reproduction. 
Engineer’s cost assumes 60 hours, total, for preparation of conformed 
documents.  
 
Task 6.0 – Project Management 
 
This task shall include project management activities, including day-to-day  
administration, monitoring task budgets, schedules and QA/QC, and 
managing project staff and subconsultants. 
 
Engineer’s cost assumes 16 hours total per month for this work. A portion 
of the effort shall be the responsibility of the Engineer’s structural 
subconsultant, Gannet Fleming. 
 
Task 7.0 – Air Permitting Support 
 
Engineer shall prepare and apply for an alteration to the Authority to 
Construct (ATC) for Primary Digester No. 7. This alteration application will 
document design changes associated with upsizing the volume of the 
digester from 1.8 million gallons (MG) to 2.4 MG.  In addition to the air permit 
alteration application, Engineer shall provide ongoing air permitting support, 
coordination with initial source testing and coordination with the Bay Area 
Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD), up to the limit of the budget.  
 

488 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 5 
 
 
 

Task 8.0 – Geotechnical Support Services 
 
Engineer shall review and provide response to the Contractor’s dewatering 
plan and shoring submittals. Engineer’s budget allowance assumes that the 
Engineer’s geotechnical subconsultant, Cal Engineering, will perform up to 
four site visits to observe excavations.  
 
Task 9.0 – Startup Support Services 
 
Engineer shall provide start-up services to assist the District in transferring 
finished work from a construction status to operating, functional system(s).  
Such services shall include review of Contarctor's start-up plan and 
preparation of a start-up plan and procedures for District personnel use. 
Engineer shall assist District personnel during a period of initial operation of 
the new systems, up to the limit of the budget. Engineer’s cost assumes 
100 hours total for this work. 
 

 
4. DELIVERABLES 

 
All deliverables shall be provided electronically via the District’s web-based 
document management system, Projectmates, in Word or PDF format.  
 
Deliverables shall include: 
 

• Responses to RFIs  

• Responses to submittals 

• DCM 

• Conformed Documents (Drawings and Specifications) 
 
 
5. PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER 
 
 Payment to the Engineer shall be as called for in Article 2 of the Agreement.  

The Multiplier for this work shall be 3.22, the profit shall be 13 percent, and 
the not-to-exceed amount shall be $957,403. A summary of the anticipated 
distribution of cost and manpower between tasks is shown in Exhibit A. 

 
  

489 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 6 
 
 
 

The following table summarizes the previously-executed and proposed task 
orders and amendments under the Agreement: 

 

Task Order / 
Amendment 

Not to 
Exceed 
Amount 

Board 
Authorization 

Required?  

District Staff 
Approval 

Task Order No. 1 –
Predesign Services 

$127,577 Yes Paul Eldredge 

Amendment No. 1 to 
Task Order No. 1 –
Air Permitting 
Support 

$18,969 No Sami Ghossain 

Task Order No. 2 – 
Final Design 
Services 

$1,476,301 Yes Paul Eldredge 

Amendment No. 1 to 
Task Order No. 2 – 
Additional Final 
Design Services 

$428,143 Yes Paul Eldredge 

Task Order No. 3 – 
Engineering Services 
During Construction 

$957,403 Yes Paul Eldredge 

Total $3,008,393   

 
 
8. TIME OF COMPLETION 

 
 All work defined in this Task Order No. 3 shall be completed during the 

construction period of this project, subject to the conditions of Article 3 of 
this Agreement. The anticipated milestone dates are as follows: 

  
Contractor Notice to Proceed February 2020 
Construction Complete September 2021 
Startup and Punchlist Complete December 2021 

 
 
  

490 of 567



Primary Digester No. 7 Project 
Task Order No. 3 
Page 7 
 
 
 
9. KEY PERSONNEL 
 

Key engineering personnel assigned to this Task Order No. 3 are as follows: 
 
 Role Key Person to be Assigned 
 

Principal in Charge  Mallika Ramanathan 
Project Manager  Adam Ross 
Project Engineer Mary Lou Romero 

    
Key personnel shall not be changed except in accordance with Article 8 of 
the Agreement. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Task 
Order No. 3 as of January ___, 2020 and therewith incorporate it as part of the 
Agreement. 

 
DISTRICT ENGINEER 
 
 
Union Sanitary District Brown and Caldwell 
 
 
By: ________________________  By:     

 Paul R. Eldredge, P.E.  Grace Chow, P.E. 
 General Manager/District Engineer Vice President 
 
 
Date:   Date:    

491 of 567



Exhibit A Union Sanitary District (CA) -- Digester 7 ESDC

R
o

s
s
,

A
d

a
m

 D

In
g

e
b

ri
g

ts
e

n
,

C
a

ra
 C

R
a

m
a

n
a

th
a

n
,

M
a

lli
k
a

R
o

m
e

ro
 

U
rb

in
a

,

M
a

ry
 L

o
u

S
le

z
a

k
,

L
lo

y
d

 A

T
ru

e
b

lo
o

d
,

D
o

n
a

ld
 C

G
e

rb
e

rt
,

L
y
n

n
e

tt
e

 K

B
u

rk
e

,

F
re

d

H
a

k
im

e
la

h
i,

H
a

m
e

d

P
a

g
e

n
d

a
rm

,

M
a

tt
h

e
w

 R

K
lit

ti
c
h

,

K
e

n
n

e
th

 D

S
a

le
rn

o
,

L
a

n
c
e

 P

Phase Phase Description  P
ro

je
c
t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

 P
ro

je
c
t 
A

n
a

ly
s
t 

 P
ri

n
c
ip

a
l-

in
-C

h
a

rg
e

 

 P
ro

je
c
t 
E

n
g

in
e

e
r 

 T
e

c
h

n
ic

a
l 
A

d
v
is

o
r 

 A
ir

 P
e

rm
it
ti
n

g
 

 A
ir

 P
e

rm
it
ti
n

g
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 C
A

D
 L

e
a

d
 

 C
iv

il 

 E
le

c
tr

ic
a

l 

 M
e

c
h

a
n

ic
a

l 

 S
ta

rt
u

p
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

1.0 Requests for Information 76 0 0 275 76 0 0 110 229 229 76 0 1,071 234,144 8,568 0 35,942 0 35,942 35,942 46,307 280,451

Leave Blank and Protected

2.0 Submittal Review 86 0 0 304 86 0 0 0 259 259 86 0 1,080 238,924 8,640 0 23,566 0 23,566 23,566 33,384 272,308

Leave Blank and Protected

3.0 Design Clarification Memoranda 40 0 0 40 32 0 0 60 16 80 20 0 288 70,624 2,304 0 5,765 0 5,765 5,765 8,357 78,982

Leave Blank and Protected

4.0 Meetings and Site Visits 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 28 0 0 628 139,941 5,024 2,000 5,450 0 5,450 7,450 12,747 152,687

Leave Blank and Protected

5.0 Conformed Drawings 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 8 0 0 60 13,375 480 0 0 0 0 0 480 13,855

Leave Blank and Protected

6.0 Project Management 74 49 49 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 246 55,768 1,968 1,000 7,886 0 7,886 8,886 11,248 67,016

Leave Blank and Protected

7.0 Air Permitting Support 12 0 0 32 0 60 100 0 0 0 0 0 204 45,963 1,632 0 0 0 0 0 1,632 47,595

Leave Blank and Protected

8.0 Geotechnical Support Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,500 10,500

Leave Blank and Protected

9.0 Startup Support Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 100 30,209 800 3,000 0 0 0 3,000 3,800 34,009

Leave Blank and Protected

GRAND TOTAL 596 49 49 1,025 194 60 100 214 504 604 182 100 3,677 828,947 29,416 6,000 78,609 10,000 88,609 94,609 128,455 957,403

Hours and Dollars are rounded to nearest whole number. 

Total Expense 

Effort
Total Effort

Total Labor 

Hours

Total Labor 

Effort
APC Total ODCs

G
a

n
n

e
t 
F

le
m

m
in

g

C
a

l 
E

n
g

in
e

e
ri

n
g

Total Sub 

Cost

Total Expense 

Cost

492 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 17 

 
TITLE: Award the Construction Contract for the Alvarado Influent Valve Box 

Rehabilitation Project to C. Overaa & Co. (This is a Motion Item) 
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 

Kevin Chun, Associate Engineer 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board award the construction contract, including Bid Alternates E and H, 
for the Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation Project (Project) to C. Overaa & Co. in the 
amount of $401,930. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
November 12, 2018, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute an agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Woodard & Curran (W&C) in the amount of $229,041 to provide predesign 
services for the Project. 
 
July 22, 2019, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with W&C 
in the amount of $89,046 to provide final design services for the Project. 
 
November 11, 2019, the Board authorized the General Manager to award a contract to Frank A. 
Olsen Company in the amount of $303,047.18 to purchase three knife gate valves for the Project. 
 

493 of 567



Agenda Item No. 17 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
Background 
 
During predesign of the Project, W&C conducted a condition assessment of the concrete, 
structural steel components, pipelines, gates, valves, and related equipment at Control Box No. 
1 (CB1), Alvarado Influent Valve Box (AIVB), Alvarado Influent Pump Station Valve Box at CB1, 
and the chemical containment areas at the Maintenance Shop Building and the Odor Control 
Building 
 
The recommended near-term improvements were included in the final design of the Project, 
which is included in the CIP budget as the “Alvarado Influent Valve Box Gate Valves 1-2” project 
in fiscal years 2020 and 2021.  The near-term improvements include the following: 
 

• Replacement of the east and west force main (FM) knife gate valves at the Alvarado 
Influent Valve Box and the West FM knife gate valve at the Headworks Valve Box. 
 

• Installation of a duckbill check valve at the Alvarado FM pipe penetration and steel 
standpipes at the east and west FM pipe penetrations inside CB1 to reduce grit 
accumulation inside the pipes. 
 

• Repair of FM pipelines, fittings, and pipeline coatings. 
 

• Rehabilitation of structural concrete within the various valve box structures. 
 

In November 2019, the Board authorized the General Manager to issue a purchase order to pre-
purchase the knife gate and duck bill check valves.  The pre-purchase of these valves will expedite 
the procurement to ensure they are delivered in time for the contractor’s installation.  Staff 
anticipates the valves will be delivered to the District by April 2020. 
 
Scope of Work 
W&C completed the design in December 2019.  Since the Engineer’s estimate for the Project 
exceeded the total budget, staff decided to bid the Project with some of the scope as bid 
alternates.  This allowed staff the opportunity to evaluate the bid prices and decide which of the 
bid alternates to award with the construction contract.  The Project’s major elements are as 
follows: 
 
 
 
  

494 of 567



Agenda Item No. 17 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
Bid Item Bid Item Scope 

Base Bid 

Alvarado Influent Pump Station Valve Box (AIVB)  
• Replace two 42-inch Knife Gate Valves and one electric motorized 

actuator furnished by District. 
• Perform interior lining repairs to the existing force main piping. 
• Perform exterior coating and metal repairs to the existing force main 

piping. 
Headworks Valve Box 

• Replace one 42-inch knife gate valve furnished by the District. 
CB1 

• Install one 40-inch District-furnished duckbill check valve on the 
existing pipe penetration for the Alvarado Pump Station force main 
pipe. 

• Install and remove two temporary bulkheads on the existing twin 
force main pipe penetrations.  

Bid Alternate A Builder's Risk Insurance 
Bid Alternate B Renew pipe coatings at the Alvarado Influent Pump Station Valve Box (AIVB) 

at CB1 
Bid Alternate C Perform Type A shallow concrete repairs in the AIVB 
Bid Alternate D Perform Type B deep concrete repairs and handrail support repairs in the 

AIVB 
Bid Alternate E Dewater force mains and Headworks Influent Channel 
Bid Alternate F Construct peroxide injection ports 
Bid Alternate G Furnish and install 42-inch pipe spools in AIVB 
Bid Alternate H Furnish and install force main pipe risers in CB1 
Bid Alternate I Furnish three 42-inch flange coupling adapters 

 
Bid Results 
The Project was advertised for bids on December 17, 2019.  Four bids were received and opened 
on January 14, 2020.  To encourage bidders to submit actual bid values for the base bid and bid 
alternates, staff utilized the “blind bid” process that was previously used for the Alvarado Influent 
Pump Station Improvements Project and the Primary Digester No. 2 Rehabilitation Project.  The 
details of this process were outlined in the staff report provided in Agenda Item No. 16 of the 
October 14, 2019 Board meeting. 
 
After assessing the Project scope and bid prices and reviewing the Capital Improvement Program 
budget, staff decided to include Bid Alternates E and H with the base bid in determining the 
apparent lowest bidder.  Bid Alternates A through D, F, G, and I were not selected.  While the 
total pricing provided by the apparent low bidder for the unselected bid alternates was below 
the Engineer’s Estimate, it exceeded the Project’s budget in the Capital Improvement Program 
(CIP) budget.  During preparation of the next CIP budget, staff will consider the scope from the 

495 of 567



Agenda Item No. 17 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 4 
 
unselected bid alternates and determine in which future project(s) they can be incorporated.  The 
bid results are summarized in the table below and in the attached Table 1: 
 

Contractor Total Base Bid Plus Bid Alternates E and H 

C. Overaa & Co. 
(Hayward, CA) $401,930 

TNT Industrial Contractors, Inc. 
(Sacramento, CA) $539,006 

Kiewit Infrastructure West Co. 
(Fairfield, CA) $599,301 

D.W. Nicholson Corporation 
(Hayward, CA) $609,988 

 

The Engineer’s Estimate for the Base Bid plus Bid Alternates E and H is $514,200.   
 
Staff reviewed the bid documents submitted by C. Overaa & Co. (Overaa) and found them to be 
in order.  The Notice of Intent to Award was posted on January 17, 2020.  No bid protests were 
received by the District.  Overaa has confirmed that they will construct the project as bid.  The 
District awarded the Primary Digester No. 7 Project to Overaa on January 13, 2020.  Staff had 
previously checked Overaa’s project references and was satisfied with their work performance. 
 
The contractor has 198 calendar days to complete the Project from Notice to Proceed, which puts 
the estimated substantial completion date in August 2020.  Construction management and 
inspection services will be performed by District Staff for this Project. 
 
Staff recommends the Board award the construction contract, including Bid Alternates E and H, 
for the Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation Project to C. Overaa & Co. in the amount of 
$401,930. 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/KC;mb 
 
Attachments: Figure 1 – Site Plan 
  Figure 2 – Control Box No.1 Drawing 
  Figures 3 through 7 - Photos 
  Table 1 – Bid Tabulation 
  Agreement 

496 of 567



Generator 
Bldg #2

Centrifuge Bldg

Odor Control
Bldg

Headworks

Primary Clarifiers
1 - 4

CB 1

Primary Clarifiers
5 - 6

Aeration Basins
5 - 7

CB 2

Lift Station #2

Aeration Basins
1 - 4 Secondary Clarifiers

5 - 6

Secondary Clarifiers
1 - 4

Chlorine 
Contact 

Tank

EBDA PS

CB4
Lift Station #1

CB3

Alvarado PS

Administration Bldg

Control Bldg

Field Operations
Bldg

Maintenance 
Shop

Generator
Bldg #1

Solar Carport Covered
Vehicle
Storage

H/M
#4

Pri 
Dig #6

Cogen

Generator
Bldg #3

Site Waste 
PS

Pri
Dig #3

Pri
Dig #1

Pri
Dig #2

H/M 1

Pri
Dig #5

Pri
Dig #4

H/M 3

Paint 
Shop

Thick 1

Thick 2

Thick 3

Thick 4

Sec
Dig #1

Sec
Dig #2

WAS Thick
BldgDegritter Bldg

Sub 2

Sub 1 Surge 
Tower

Thick Bldg

8171

60 61

79

51

52

66

72

53

54

55

56

50

82

58

77

65

62

74

70

68
78

73

H/M 2
76

64
90

80

86 84

83

69

63

Thick Elec 
Bldg

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT
ALVARADO WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT¥

NO SCALE

497 of 567

kevinch
Polygonal Line

kevinch
Text Box
42-in forcemain from Alvarado Influent PS

kevinch
Line

kevinch
Text Box
Force main segment from Alvarado Influent PS to Control Box No. 1

kevinch
Line

kevinch
Text Box
Figure No. 1 - Site Plan 

kevinch
Rectangle

kevinch
Callout
Control Box No. 1

kevinch
Polygonal Line

kevinch
Polygonal Line

kevinch
Polygonal Line

kevinch
Text Box
East and West 39-in  force mains from Newark  PS

kevinch
Line

kevinch
Line

Raymond-Std
Callout
Headworks Valve Box

Raymond-Std
Callout
Alvarado Influent Valve Box

Raymond-Std
Callout
Chemical Containment Area at the Odor Control Building

Raymond-Std
Callout
Chemical Containment Area at the Maintenance Shop Building



FIGURE 1

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT
CONTROL BOX 1 N.T.S.

498 of 567

kevinch
Text Box
Figure No. 2 - Control Box No. 1 Drawing

Raymond-Std
Text Box
Force Main Pipelines from Alvarado Influent PS

Raymond-Std
Text Box
Force Main Pipelines from Newark and Irvington Pump Stations

Raymond-Std
Text Box
Alvarado Influent Valve Box

Raymond-Std
Line

raymondc
Rectangle

kevinch
Rectangle

kevinch
Rectangle

Raymond-Std
Oval

Raymond-Std
Typewritten Text
REPLACE

Raymond-Std
Callout
INSTALL DUCKBILL CHECK VALVE AT THE ALVARADO INFLUENT PUMP STATION PIPE PENETRATION

Raymond-Std
Callout
INSTALL STANDPIPES AT THE EAST AND WEST FORCE MAIN PIPE PENETRATIONS

Raymond-Std
Callout
REPLACE THE 42" KNIFE GATE VALVE ON THE WEST FORCE MAIN LOCATED AT THE HEADWORKS VALVE BOX



 

 Figure 3 – East Knife Gate Valve at Alvarado Influent Valve Box 

 

Figure 4 –Corrosion at Maintenance Access on Upper Section of the West Knife 
Gate Valve at Headworks Valve Box 

 

499 of 567



 

 Figure 5 – Exterior corrosion on pipe at the Alvarado Influent Valve Box 

 

 Figure 6 – Detailed view of corrosion at on pipe at the Alvarado Influent Valve Box 

 

500 of 567



  

 Figure 7 – Rubber “Duckbill” Check Valve 

501 of 567



Table 1 - Bid Tabulation Sheet
Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation Project No. 800-541

Engineer's 
Estimate

Total Unit Bid Price Total Bid Price Unit Bid Price Total Bid Price Unit Bid Price Total Bid Price Unit Bid Price Total Bid Price

1

Completion of all Work included as part 
of the Contract Documents for Project 
No. 800-541, except as specified in Bid 
Items 2 thru 7, and the bid alternates.

                   1 LS LS $29,000 LS $43,726 LS $60,000 LS $44,490

2
Install District-Furnished Knife Gate 

Valves
                   1 LS LS $135,000 LS $132,888 LS $187,000 LS $202,400

3
Install District-Furnished Duckbill 

Check Valve
                   1 LS LS $50,000 LS $118,518 LS $67,000 LS $57,400

4 Install Steel Plate Pipe Patches                  30 SF $3,000 $90,000 $1,554 $46,620 $4,000 $120,000 $3,332 $99,960

5
Renew Pipe Coating Systems Alvarado 

Influent Valve Box
               650 SF $50 $32,500 $86 $55,900 $60 $39,000 $69 $44,850

6
Renew Pipe Lining Systems in Alvarado 

Influent Valve Box
                 20 SF $200 $4,000 $1,605 $32,100 $640 $12,800 $1,698 $33,960

7

Cost for providing all shoring and 
bracing on all Bid Items above 

including but not limited to that as 
required by Sections 6700-6708 of the 

Labor Code

                   1 LS LS $500 LS $824 LS $1 LS $0

417,000$           $341,000 $430,576 $485,801 $483,060

BID ALT E
Dewatering Force Mains and 
Headworks Influent Channel

        590,000 GAL  $            38,600 $0.035 $20,650 $0.10 $59,000 $0.05 $29,500 $0.111 $65,490

BID ALT H
Furnish and Install FM Pipe Risers in 

Control Box No. 1
2 EA  $            58,600 $20,140 $40,280 $24,715 $49,430 $42,000 $84,000 $30,719 $61,438

$514,200 $401,930 $539,006 $599,301 $609,988

BID ALT A Builder's Risk Insurance (Not Selected) 1 LS  $              6,100 LS $1,850 LS $0 LS $4,800 LS $5,660

BID ALT B

Renew Pipe Coatings in Alvarado 
Influent Pump Station Valve Box at 

Control Box No. 1 (Not Selected)
160 SF  $            12,940 $45 $7,200 $208 $33,280 $56 $8,960 $154 $24,640

BID ALT C

Type A Shallow Concrete Repairs in 
Alvarado Influent Valve Box (Not 

Selected)
15 SF  $              4,950 $335 $5,025 $1,048 $15,720 $1,250 $18,750 $1,729 $25,935

BID ALT D

Type B Deep Concrete Repairs and 
Handrail Support Repairs in Alvarado 

Influent Valve Box (Not Selected)
8 SF  $              9,300 $770 $6,160 $2,190 $17,520 $2,700 $21,600 $2,058 $16,464

BID ALT F
Construct Peroxide Injection Ports (Not 

Selected)
2 EA  $            52,000 $5,300 $10,600 $8,568 $17,136 $9,600 $19,200 $14,859 $29,718

BID ALT G

Furnish and Install 42” Pipe Spools at 
North Wall of Alvarado Influent Valve 

Box (Not Selected)
2 EA  $            26,000 $18,350 $36,700 $25,815 $51,630 $17,500 $35,000 $32,134 $64,268

BID ALT    I
Furnish 42” Flange Coupling Adapters 

(Not Selected)
3 EA  $            12,510 $4,385 $13,155 $4,824 $14,472 $8,500 $25,500 $18,110 $54,330

D.W. Nicholson CorporationKiewit Infrastructure West Co.
Unit

Total Base Bid

C. Overaa & Co.

Basis of Award - Total Base Bid plus Bid Alternates E and H

TNT Industrial Contractors, Inc.Bid Item 
No.

Bid Item
Estimated 
Quantity

502 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 1 of 9  

AGREEMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 
 

 Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation Project 
Project No. 800-541 

 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and concluded, in duplicate, this       __ day of January 2020, 
between the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (“District”), Union City, California, and C. 
OVERAA & CO. ("Contractor"), License No. 106793. 
 
 W I T N E S S E T H : 
 
1.That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter mentioned, to be 
made and performed by the District, and under the conditions expressed in the two bonds, 
bearing even date with these presents, and hereunto annexed, the Contractor agrees with the 
District, at his/her own proper cost and expense, to do all the work and furnish all the materials 
necessary to construct and complete in good workmanlike and substantial manner the project 
entitled: Alvarado Influent Valve Box Rehabilitation Project (Project No. 800-541) in strict 
conformity with the plans and specifications prepared therefor, which said plans and 
specifications are hereby specially referred to and by said reference made a part hereof. 
 
2. Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the parties 
herein contained and to be performed, the Contractor hereby agrees to complete the work in 
accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated in the Contract Documents for the sum 
of four hundred one thousand and nine hundred thirty dollars ($401,930) (the “Contract Price”) 
computed in accordance with Contractor’s accepted proposal dated January 8, 2020, which 
accepted proposal is incorporated herein by reference thereto as if herein fully set forth.  This 
sum includes the following bid alternates that have been accepted by the District and are 
hereby incorporated in the Agreement:  E and H.  Compensation shall be based upon the 
lump sum bid items plus the unit prices stated in the Bid Schedule times the actual quantities 
or units of work and materials performed or furnished.  The further terms, conditions, and 
covenants of this Agreement are set forth in the Contract Documents, each of which is by this 
reference made a part hereof.  Payments are to be made to the Contractor in accordance with 
the provisions of the Contract Documents and the Technical Specifications in legally executed 
and regularly issued warrants of the District, drawn on the appropriate fund or funds as 
required by law and order of the District thereof. 
 
3. The District hereby promises and agrees with the said Contractor to employ, and does 
hereby employ, the said Contractor to provide the materials and to do the work according to 
the terms and conditions herein contained and referred to, for the Contract Price, and hereby 
contracts to pay the same at the time, in the manner and upon the conditions set forth in the 
Contract Documents; and the said parties for themselves, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, do hereby agree to the full performance of the 
covenants herein contained. 
 
4. The Contractor and any subcontractor performing or contracting any work shall comply 
with all applicable provisions of the California Labor Code for all workers, laborers and 
mechanics of all crafts, classifications or types, including, but necessarily limited to the 

503 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 2 of 9  

following: 
 

(a) The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Section 1810 
to 1815, inclusive, of the California Labor Code relating to working hours.  The 
Contractor shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit the sum of twenty-five dollars ($25) 
for each worker employed in the execution of the Contract by the Contractor or by any 
subcontractor for each calendar day during which such worker is required or permitted 
to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day and forty (40) hours in any 
one calendar week, unless such worker receives compensation for all hours worked in 
excess of eight (8) hours at not less than 1-1/2 times the basic rate of pay. 

 
(b) Pursuant to the provision of California Labor Code, Sections 1770 et. seq., 
the Contractor and any subcontractor under him shall pay not less than the prevailing 
rate of per diem wages as determined by the Director of the California Department of 
Industrial Relations.  Pursuant to the provisions of California Labor Code Section 
1773.2, the Contractor is hereby advised that copies of the prevailing rate of per diem 
wages and a general prevailing rate for holidays, Saturdays and Sundays and overtime 
work in the  locality in which the work is to be performed for each  craft, classification, 
or type of worker required to execute the Contract, are on file in the office of the District,  
which copies shall be made available to any interested party on request.  The 
Contractor shall post a copy of said prevailing rate of per diem wages at each job site. 

 
(c) As required by Section 1773.1 of the California Labor Code, the Contractor 
shall pay travel and subsistence payments to each worker needed to execute the work, 
as such travel and subsistence payments are defined in the applicable collective 
bargaining agreements filed in accordance with this Section. 

 
(d) To establish such travel and subsistence payments, the representative of 
any craft, classification, or type of workman needed to execute the contracts shall file 
with the Department of Industrial Relations fully executed copies of collective 
bargaining agreements for the particular craft, classification or type of work involved.  
Such agreements shall be filed within 10 days after their execution and thereafter shall 
establish such travel and subsistence payments whenever filed 30 days prior to the 
call for bids. 

 
(e) The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of Section 1775 of the 
California Labor Code and shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit not more than two 
hundred dollars ($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid 
less than the prevailing rate of per diem wages for each craft, classification, or type of 
worker needed to execute the contract.  The Contractor shall pay each worker an 
amount equal to the difference between the prevailing wage rates and the amount paid 
worker for each calendar day or portion thereof for which a worker was paid less than 
the prevailing wage rate. 

 
(f) As required under the provisions of Section 1776 of the California Labor 
Code, Contractor and each subcontractor shall keep an accurate payroll record, 
showing the name, address, social security number, work classification, and straight 
time and overtime hours worked each day and week, and the actual per diem wages 

504 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 3 of 9  

paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by him or 
her in connection with the public work.  Said payroll shall be certified and shall be 
available for inspection at all reasonable hours at the principal office of the Contractor 
on the following basis: 

 
(1) A certified copy of an employee's payroll record shall be made 
available for inspection or furnished to the employee or his or her authorized 
representative on request. 

 
(2) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in Paragraph 4(f), 
herein, shall be made available for inspection or furnished upon request to the 
District, the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, and the Division of 
Apprenticeship Standards of the Department of Industrial Relations. 

 
(3) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in Paragraph 4(f), 
herein, shall be made available upon request by the public for inspection or 
for copies thereof; provided, however, that a request by the public shall be 
made through the District, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, or the 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement.  If the requested payroll records 
have not been provided pursuant to subparagraph 4(e) herein, the requesting 
party shall, prior to being provided the records, reimburse the costs of 
preparation by the Contractor, subcontractors, and the entity through which 
the request was made.  The public shall not be given access to the records at 
the principal offices of the Contractor. 

 
The certified payroll records shall be on forms provided by the Division of 
Labor Standards Enforcement or shall contain the same information as the 
forms provided by the division. 
 
Certified payroll records shall be submitted electronically as required under 
California Labor Code Section 1776 to the Labor Commissioner pursuant to 
California Code of Regulations Chapter 8, Section 16404. 

 
Each Contractor shall file a certified copy of the records, enumerated in 
Paragraph 4(f) with the entity that requested the records within 10 days after 
receipt of a written request.  Any copy of records made available for inspection 
as copies and furnished upon request to the public or any public agency by 
the District, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor 
Standards Enforcement shall be marked or obliterated in such a manner as 
to prevent disclosure of an individual's name, address, and social security 
number.  The name and address of the Contractor awarded the contract or 
performing the contract shall not be marked or obliterated.  The Contractor 
shall inform the District of the location of the records enumerated under 
Paragraph 4(f) including the street address, city and county, and shall, within 
5 working days, provide a notice of change of location and address.  The 
Contractor shall have 10 days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of 
written notice specifying in what respects the Contractor must comply with this 
Paragraph 4(f).  In the event that the Contractor fails to comply within the 10-

505 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 4 of 9  

day period, he or she shall, as a penalty to the state or the District, forfeit one 
hundred dollars ($100) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each 
worker, until strict compliance is effectuated.  Upon the request of the Division 
of Apprenticeship Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, 
these penalties shall be withheld from progress payments then due.  
Responsibility for compliance with Paragraph 4(f) lies with the Contractor. 

 
(g) The Contractor and any subcontractors shall, when they employ any person 
in any apprenticeable craft or trade, apply to the joint apprenticeship committee 
administering the apprenticeship standards of the craft or trade in the area of the 
construction site for a certificate approving the Contractor or subcontractor under the 
apprenticeship standards for the employment and training of apprentices in the area 
or industry affected; and shall comply with all other requirements of Section 1777.5 of 
the California Labor Code.  The responsibility of compliance with California Labor Code 
Section 1777.5 during the performance of this contract rests with the Contractor.  
Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 1777.7, in the event the Contractor willfully 
fails to comply with the provisions of California Labor Code Section 1777.5, the 
Contractor shall be denied the right to bid on any public works contract for up to three 
(3) years from the date noncompliance is determined and be assessed civil penalties. 

 
(h) In accordance with the provisions of Article 5, Chapter 1, Part 7, Division 2 
(commencing with Section 1860), and Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 4 (commencing with 
Section 3700) of the California Labor Code, the Contractor is required to secure the 
payment of compensation to its employees and for that purpose obtain and keep in 
effect adequate Workers' Compensation Insurance.  If the Contractor, in the sole 
discretion of the District satisfies the District of the responsibility and capacity under 
the applicable Workers' Compensation Laws, if any, to act as self-insurer, the 
Contractor may so act, and in such case, the insurance required by this paragraph 
need not be provided. 

 
The Contractor is advised of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor 
Code, which requires every employer to be insured against liability for Workers' 
Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that 
Code and shall comply with such provisions and have Employer’s Liability limits of 
$1,000,000 per accident before commencing the performance of the work of this 
Contract. 

 
The Notice to Proceed with the Work under this Contract will not be issued, and the 
Contractor shall not commence work, until the Contractor submits written evidence that 
it has obtained full Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage for all persons whom 
it employs or may employ in carrying out the work under this Contract.  This insurance 
shall be in accordance with the requirements of the most current and applicable state 
Workers' Compensation Insurance Laws.  In accordance with the provisions of Section 
1861 of the California Labor Code, the Contractor in signing this agreement certifies to 
the District as true the following statement:  "I am aware of the provisions of Section 
3700 of the Labor Code which requires every employer to be insured against liability 
for Workers' Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the 
provisions of that Code, and I will comply with such provisions before commencing the 

506 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 5 of 9  

performance of the work of this contract." 
 

A subcontractor is not allowed to commence work on the project until verification of 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance coverage has been obtained and verified by the 
Contractor and submitted to the Construction Manager for the District’s review and 
records. 

 
(i) In accordance with the provisions of Section 1727 of the California Labor 
Code, the District, before making payment to the Contractor of money due under a 
contract for public works, shall withhold and retain therefrom all wages and penalties 
which have been forfeited pursuant to any stipulation in the contract, and the terms of 
Chapter 1, Part 7, Division 2 of the California Labor Code (commencing with Section 
1720).  But no sum shall be withheld, retained or forfeited, except from the final 
payment, without a full investigation by either the Division of Labor Standards 
Enforcement or by the District. 

 
5. It is further expressly agreed by and between the parties hereto that should there be 
any conflict between the terms of this Agreement the instrument and the bid proposal of said 
Contractor, then this Agreement instrument shall control, and nothing herein contained shall 
be considered as an acceptance of the said terms of said proposal conflicting herewith. 
 
6. The Contractor agrees to provide and maintain insurance coverage, and to indemnify 
and save harmless the parties named and in the manner set forth in Section 00800-2.0, 
LIABILITY AND INSURANCE, of the Supplementary General Conditions of the 
Specifications. 
 
The duty of Contractor to indemnify and save harmless, as set forth herein, shall include a 
duty to defend as set forth in Section 2778 of the California Civil Code; provided, however, 
that nothing herein shall be construed to require Contractor to indemnify against any 
responsibility or liability in contravention of Section 2782 of the California Civil Code. 
 
7. The Contractor shall diligently prosecute the work so that it shall be substantially 
completed within the time specified in Section 00800-1.1, Time Allowed for Completion. 
 
8. Except as otherwise may be provided herein, Contractor hereby expressly guarantees 
for one (1) full year from the date of the substantial completion of the work under this 
agreement and acceptance thereof by the District, to repair or replace any part of the work 
performed hereunder which constitutes a defect resulting from the use of inferior or defective 
materials, equipment or workmanship.  If, within said period, any repairs or replacements in 
connection with the work are, in the opinion of the District, rendered necessary as the result 
of the use of inferior or defective materials, equipment or workmanship, Contractor agrees, 
upon receipt of notice from District, and without expense to District, to promptly repair or 
replace such material or workmanship and/or correct any and all defects therein.  If Contractor, 
after such notice, fails to proceed promptly to comply with the terms of this guarantee, District 
may perform the work necessary to effectuate such correction and recover the cost thereof 
from the Contractor and/or its sureties. 
 
In special circumstances where a particular item of work or equipment is placed in continuous 

507 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 6 of 9  

service before substantial completion of the Work, the correction period for that item may start 
to run from an earlier date.  This date shall be agreed upon in writing by the Contractor and 
District on or before the item is placed in continuous service. 
 
Any and all other special guarantees which may be applicable to definite parts of the work 
under this agreement shall be considered as an additional guarantee and shall not reduce or 
limit the guarantee as provided by Contractor pursuant to this paragraph during the first year 
of the life of such guarantee. 
 
9. The Contractor shall provide, on the execution of this Agreement, a good and sufficient 
corporate surety bond in the penal sum of one hundred percent (100%) of the Contract Price, 
which bond shall be on the form provided by the District in Section 00610, FORM OF 
PERFORMANCE BOND, and be conditioned upon the faithful performance of all work 
required to be performed by the Contractor under this Agreement.  Said bond shall be liable 
for any and all penalties and obligations which may be incurred by Contractor under this 
Agreement.  The corporate surety bond shall be issued by a corporate surety that possesses 
a minimum rating from A. M. Best Company of A:VII and that is approved by the District.  The 
corporate surety shall be authorized to conduct business in California.  At its discretion, the 
District may request that a certified copy of the certificate of authority of the insurer issued by 
the Insurance Commissioner of the State of California be submitted by the surety to the 
District.  At its discretion, the District may also require the insurer to provide copies of its most 
recent annual statement and quarterly statement filed with the Department of Insurance 
pursuant to Article 10 (commencing with Section 900) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 1 of 
the Insurance Code. 
 
10. In addition to the bond required under Paragraph 9, hereof, Contractor shall furnish a 
good and sufficient corporate surety bond in the penal sum of one hundred percent (100%) of 
the Contract Price, which bond shall be on the form provided by the District in Section 00620, 
PAYMENT BOND, and conform strictly with the provisions of Sections 9550 et seq. of the 
Civil Code, and all amendments thereto.  The corporate surety bond shall be issued by a 
corporate surety that possesses a minimum rating from A. M. Best Company of A:VII and that 
is approved by the District.  The corporate surety shall be authorized to conduct business in 
California.  At its discretion, the District may request that a certified copy of the certificate of 
authority of the insurer issued by the Insurance Commissioner of the State of California be 
submitted by the surety to the District.  At its discretion, the District may also require the insurer 
to provide copies of its most recent annual statement and quarterly statement filed with the 
Department of Insurance pursuant to Article 10 (commencing with Section 900) of Chapter 1 
of Part 2 of Division 1 of the Insurance Code. 
  
11. The Contractor may substitute securities for the amounts retained by the District to 
ensure performance of the work in accordance with the provisions of Section 22300 of the 
Public Contract Code.   
 
12. The Contractor shall be provided the time period specified in Section 01340-2.0, 
MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT SUBSTITUTIONS,  for submission of data substantiating a 
request for a substitution of an “or equal" item. 
 
13. As required by Section 6705 of the California Labor Code and in addition thereto, 

508 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 7 of 9  

whenever work under the Contract involves the excavation of any trench or trenches five feet 
or more in depth, the Contractor shall submit in advance of excavations, a detailed plan 
showing the design of shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker 
protection from the hazard of caving ground during the excavation of such trench or trenches.  
If such plan varies from the shoring system standards established by the Construction Safety 
Orders of the Division of Industrial Safety in Title 8, Subchapter 4, Article 6, California Code 
of Regulations, the plan shall be prepared by a registered civil or structural engineer employed 
by the Contractor, and all costs therefore shall be included in the price named in the Contract 
for completion of the work as set forth in the Contract Documents.  Nothing in this Section 
shall be deemed to allow the use of a shoring, sloping, or other protective system less effective 
than that required by the Construction Safety Orders.  Nothing in this Section shall be 
construed to impose tort liability on the District, the Design Consultant, Construction Manager 
or any of their agents, consultants, or employees.  The District’s review of the Contractor’s 
excavation plan is only for general conformance to the California Construction Safety Orders. 
 
Prior to commencing any excavation, the Contractor shall designate in writing to the 
Construction Manager the “competent person(s)” with the authority and responsibilities 
designated in the Construction Safety Orders. 
 
14. In accordance with Section 7104 of the Public Contract Code, whenever any work 
involves digging trenches or other excavations that extend deeper than four feet below the 
surface, the provisions of Section 00700-7.2, Differing Site Conditions, shall apply. 
 
15. In accordance with Section 7103.5 of the Public Contract Code, the Contractor and 
subcontractors shall conform to the following requirements.  In entering into a public works 
contract or a subcontract to supply goods, services, or materials pursuant to a public works 
contract, the Contractor or subcontractor offers and agrees to assign to the District all rights, 
title, and interest in and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act 
(15 U.S.C. Section 15) or under the Cartwright Act [Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 
16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code], arising from purchases 
of goods, materials or services pursuant to this Contract or the subcontract.  Such assignment 
shall be made and become effective at the time the District tenders final payment to the 
Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties. 
 
16. In accordance with Section 4552 of the Government Code, the Contractor shall 
conform to the following requirements.  In submitting a bid to the District, the Contractor offers 
and agrees that if the bid is accepted, it will assign to the District all rights, title, and interest 
in and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Section 
15) or under the Cartwright Act [Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of 
Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code], arising from purchase of goods, materials, 
or services by the Contractor for sale to the District pursuant to the bid.  Such assignment 
shall be made and become effective at the time the District tenders final payment to the 
Contractor. 
 
17. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 7100, the acceptance by the Contractor of 
an undisputed payment made under the terms of the Contract shall operate as, and shall be, 
a release to the District, and their duly authorized agents, from all claim of and/or liability to 
the Contractor arising by virtue of the contract related to those amounts.  Disputed contract 

509 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 8 of 9  

claims in stated amounts may be specifically excluded by the Contractor from the operation 
of the release. 
 
18. In accordance with California Business and Professions Code Section 7030, the 
Contractor is required by law to be licensed and regulated by the Contractors’ State License 
Board which has jurisdiction to investigate complaints against contractors if a complaint 
regarding a patent act or omission is filed within four years of the date of the alleged violation.  
A complaint regarding a latent act or omission pertaining to structural defects must be filed 
within 10 years of the date of the alleged violation.  Any questions concerning the Contractor 
may be referred to the Registrar, Contractors’ State License Board, P.O. Box 26000, 
Sacramento, California 95826. 
 
19.  INDEMNIFICATION.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify 
and hold harmless the District from any claims, choses in action or lawsuits, whereby any 
subcontractor, material or equipment supplier, laborer or any person who supplies work or 
materials to said work of improvement may claim damages, losses and expenses thereto 
arising out of or resulting from any claim for performance of work, including the legal defense 
of any stop notice action as well as attorney fees and costs.  District may be required to 
engage separate legal counsel from that of the Contractor should District and Contractor be 
both named as defendants, cross-defendants or other parties to any such stop notice action 
in District’s sole discretion.  Contractor shall be fully liable for any judgment or damages 
resulting from any claim for stop notice relief or other liability regarding payment for materials, 
supplies, labor or equipment under this contract.  In claims against any person or entity 
indemnified under this paragraph by an employee of Contractor, a subcontractor, anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by them for whose acts they may be liable, the indemnification 
obligation under this paragraph shall not be limited in amount or type of damages, 
compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a subcontractor.  In all cases, 
indemnification shall include attorney fees and court costs. 
 
Unless arising solely out of the active negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of 
the District or the Design Consultant, the Contractor shall indemnity, defend and hold 
harmless: (1) the District and its Board of Directors, officers, employees, agents and 
representative; (ii) the Design Consultant and its consultants for the Work and their respective 
agents and employees; and (iii) if one is designated by the District for the work, the 
Construction Manager and its agents and employees (collectively “the Indemnified Parties”).  
The Contractor’s obligations hereunder include indemnity, defense and hold harmless of the 
Indemnified Parties from and against any and all damages, losses, claims, demands or 
liabilities whether for damages, losses or other relief, including, without limitation attorney’s 
fees and costs which arise, in whole or in part, from the Work, the Contract Documents or the 
acts, omissions or other conduct of the Contractor or any subcontractor or any person or entity 
engaged by them for the Work.  The Contractor’s obligations under the foregoing include 
without limitation:  (i) injuries to or death of persons; (ii) damage to property; or (iii) theft or 
loss of property; (iv) stop notice claims asserted by any person or entity in connection with the 
Work; and (v) other losses, liabilities, damages or costs resulting from, in whole or part, any 
acts, omissions or other conduct of Contractor, any of Contractor’s Subcontractors, of any tier, 
or any other person or entity employed directly or indirectly by Contractor in connection with 
the Work and their respective agents, officers or employees.  If any action or proceeding, 
whether judicial, administrative, arbitration or otherwise, shall be commenced on account of 

510 of 567



 
Project No. 800-541 
Agreement Page 9 of 9  

any claim, demand or liability subject to Contractor’s obligations hereunder, and such action 
or proceeding names any of the Indemnified Parties as a party thereto, the Contractor, at its 
sole cost and expense, shall defend the District and the Design Consultant in such action or 
proceeding with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Parties named in such 
action or proceeding.  In the event that there shall be any judgment, award, ruling, settlement, 
or other relief arising out of any such action or proceeding to which any of the Indemnified 
Parties are bound by, Contractor shall pay, satisfy or otherwise discharge any such judgment, 
award, ruling, settlement or relief.  Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
Indemnified Parties from any and all liability or responsibility arising out of any such judgment, 
award, ruling, settlement or relief.  The Contractor’s obligations hereunder are binding upon 
Contractor’s Performance Bond Surety and these obligations shall survive notwithstanding 
Contractor’s completion of the Work or the termination of the Contract. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement this ________day 
of January 2020. 
 
 
C. OVERAA & CO. 
 
 
 
By:     
  Christopher Manning 
   President 
Address: 200 Parr Boulevard, Richmond, California 94801 
 
 
 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT 
 
 
By:     
       Pat Kite 
 Board Secretary 
Address: 5072 Benson Road, Union City, California 94587 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
     
  Karen W. Murphy 
 Attorney for Union Sanitary District 
 
 

 

511 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 18 

 
TITLE: Update on the Subsurface Investigation at the Alvarado Wastewater 

Treatment Plant (This is an Information Item) 
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 

Derek Chiu, Assistant Engineer 
 
Recommendation 
 
Information only. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None. 
 
Background 
 
The Alameda County Water District (ACWD) is responsible for regulating the groundwater 
supply within our service area, most of which is underlain by aquifers that provide drinking 
water for the three cities.  In 1999, pursuant to ACWD’s request to investigate potential 
releases of petroleum hydrocarbons into soil and groundwater beneath the treatment plant 
property, the District initiated environmental investigation activities in three areas of the plant.  
These areas are shown in Figure 1 and are summarized as follows: 
 

• Former Boneyard Area – The District conducted an environmental investigation and 
remediation in this area (Figure 2), which was previously used for equipment storage 
and maintenance.  The investigation indicated a subsurface petroleum impact of 
primarily diesel-range hydrocarbons.  In the summer of 1999, a source removal 

512 of 567



Agenda Item No. 18 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 

operation was conducted with approximately 5,000 cubic yards of impacted soil 
excavated and disposed offsite.  Upon completing the soil removal, the District 
backfilled the excavation with clean fill, installed three groundwater monitoring wells 
(MW-1 through MW-3) and initiated monitoring these wells. 
 

• Former 550-Gallon Gasoline Underground Storage Tank (UST) Area – In August 1999, a 
subsurface investigation was initiated in this area (Figure 3) after the observation of 
hydrocarbon odors emanating from an excavation performed during construction at the 
facility.  In September 2000, the District removed this UST under the oversight of the 
Union City Environmental Program Department (UCEPD) and the ACWD.  Observations 
made during the UST removal indicated that the subsurface petroleum hydrocarbons 
likely originated from a leak in an underground fuel line beneath a fuel dispenser. The 
District over-excavated impacted soil in the suspected source area. 
 
In 2000, another subsurface investigation was conducted at the Site to assess whether 
petroleum hydrocarbons were present in soil near a 10,000-gallon diesel UST and a 
1,000-gallon waste oil UST. This investigation was conducted at the request of the 
UCEPD after pressure testing indicated potential failures of the secondary containment 
systems of these USTs.  The investigation included collecting soil and grab groundwater 
samples from borings advanced throughout the area. The laboratory results indicated 
the presence of hydrocarbons associated with gasoline, primarily methyl tertiary butyl 
ether (MTBE), and not diesel or waste oil. It was concluded that these hydrocarbons 
were likely from the former 550-gallon gasoline UST. 
 
In 2003, the District installed and initiated monitoring of five groundwater monitoring 
wells (MW-5 through MW-9) in this area.  Well MW-4 was an existing well in the area 
and was included in the groundwater monitoring program. 
 

• Closed-in-place 6,000-gallon Diesel UST Area – The subsequent investigation conducted 
in 2000 also included sampling the subsurface in the vicinity of a 6,000-gallon diesel UST 
located in the southwest corner of the plant (Figure 4). The soil and grab groundwater 
samples collected adjacent to this UST contained detectable concentrations of 
petroleum hydrocarbons in the diesel range. The 6,000-gallon diesel UST was closed-in-
place by the District in June 2005 under oversight from UCEPD and the ACWD. 
 
In 2003, the District installed and initiated monitoring of one groundwater well (MW-10) 
in this area. 

 

513 of 567



Agenda Item No. 18 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
Groundwater Monitoring Program 
 
The purpose of the plant’s groundwater monitoring program is to document groundwater 
conditions in the areas of concern.  The monitoring is performed to evaluate changes in water 
levels and groundwater flow direction and gradient, establish water quality conditions, and 
assess hydrocarbon concentration trends.  The ten groundwater monitoring wells were initially 
monitored quarterly but upon approval of the ACWD, the frequency was reduced to semi-
annual or annual in subsequent years.  Due to the analytical results at wells MW-4, MW-9, and 
MW-10, the ACWD approved the removal of these wells from the monitoring program and the 
District closed the wells in 2008. 
 
The current sampling schedule of the remaining seven wells is summarized in Table 1 below: 
 

Table 1 – Summary of Sampling Schedule 

Well Sampling 
Frequency Sampling Constituents 

MW-1 Annual TPH-D, TPH-MO, Monthly Purging 
MW-2 Annual TPH-D, TPH-MO 
MW-3 Annual TPH-D, TPH-MO 
MW-5 Annual MTBE, TBA 

MW-6 Removed from 
Sampling 

Groundwater Level Measurement 
Only 

MW-7 Removed from 
Sampling 

Groundwater Level Measurement 
Only 

MW-8 Annual MTBE, TBA 
 
Legend 
TBA = tertiary-butyl alcohol 
MTBE = methyl tertiary-butyl ether 
TPH-D = total petroleum hydrocarbons as diesel 
TPH-MO = total petroleum hydrocarbons as motor oil 

 
Since 2007, staff has conducted monthly purging of the light, non-aqueous phase liquid (LNAPL) 
present in well MW-1.  The objective of this purging is to eliminate the LNAPL layer observed in 
this monitoring well and mitigate the elevated dissolved petroleum hydrocarbons present in 
the groundwater in its vicinity. 
 
Following the 2015 annual monitoring event, and in consultation with ACWD, staff switched to 
placing a hydrocarbon absorbent sock in MW-1 to remove LNAPL in place of the monthly 
purging.  It was expected to be more efficient in removing the hydrocarbons than the monthly 
purging.  However, the results of the 2016 annual monitoring event indicated otherwise.  Staff 

514 of 567



Agenda Item No. 18 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 4 
 
has discontinued the use of the hydrocarbon absorbent sock and resumed monthly purging of 
MW-1.  
 
Annual 2019 Groundwater Monitoring Event 
 
In September 2019, staff hired Brown and Caldwell to sample the groundwater from the wells, 
analyze the test results, and prepare a report.  The conclusions from the annual 2019 
groundwater monitoring event were as follows: 
 

1. Groundwater elevations in the Former Boneyard Area and the Former 550-Gallon UST 
Area have remained consistent throughout the year with previous years, with the 
groundwater flow direction corresponding with the results from the previous 
monitoring events. 

 
2. Two of five monitoring wells (MW-2 and MW-5) measured groundwater with an 

electrical conductivity that exceeded the State Water Resources Control Board’s 
(SWRCB’s) acceptable limits for a groundwater source to be considered suitable, or 
potentially suitable, for domestic or municipal drinking water supply.  Electrical 
conductivity in water is a measurement to determine the concentration of total 
dissolved solids. 

 
3. A less than 0.1-foot thick layer of LNAPL was encountered in well MW-1 during the 

Annual 2019 event.  This layer of LNAPL decreased from 2018 and is the lowest 
encountered for the past five years. 

 
4. From August 2007 to September 2015 and November 2016 to August 2019, the District 

has conducted 125 purging events on MW-1 removing a total of 710 gallons of 
groundwater/LNAPL mixture and removing approximately 4.85 gallons of LNAPL.   
 

5. Drinking water environmental screening levels (ESLs) were exceeded in the groundwater 
samples collected from monitoring wells MW-5 and MW-8 for MTBE and well MW-1 for 
TPH-D and TPH-MO.  Non-drinking water ESLs were not exceeded in the monitoring 
wells for any constituent of concern, with the exception of MW-1 for TPH-D and TPH-
MO. 
 
The overall sampling results has improved as compared to 2018’s results.  There were 
significant decreases in the levels of TPH-D and TPH-MO recorded in MW-1 and MW-3.  
The levels of TPH-D and TPH-MO remained consistent for MW-2, as well as TBA and 
MTBE in MW-5, indicating that the hydrocarbon plume is not increasing and is likely 
stable to decreasing in aerial extent. 

 
The analytical test results are included in Table 2. 

515 of 567



Agenda Item No. 18 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 5 
 
 
Next Steps 
 
The last requirement in the Path to Closure Plan is to remove free product to the maximum 
extent practicable.  The sampling results from the 2019 groundwater monitoring event does 
not support the District’s case for closure.  Staff will continue the monthly purging of MW-1 and 
will perform the next sampling during the 2020 groundwater monitoring event.  
 
PRE/SEG/RC/DC;mb 
 
Attachments: Figures 1 through 4 
 Table 2 
 

516 of 567



Figure 1
Alvarado WWTP SIte Plan

NO SCALE

January 16th, 2018

COVERED VEHICLE
STORAGE

FIELD OPERATIONS
BLDG. ADMINISTRATION

BLDG.

FACILITIES MAINT.
BLDG

GENERATOR
5 & 6 BLDG.

CENTRIFUGE
BLDG.

FIGURE 2 - FORMER 
BONEYARD AREA

FIGURE 3 - FORMER 
VEHICLE FUELING AREA

FIGURE 4 - FORMER 
6,000 GALLON DIESEL UST p

517 of 567



Figure 2
Former Boneyard Area

NO SCALE

MW-3

FUEL PUMP ISLAND
GASOLINE AND
DIESEL UST

p

VEASY STREET

MW-2

COVERED VEHICLE STORAGE 

LEGEND

             EXISTING UNDERGROUND 
                 MONITORING WELL

MW-1

January 16, 2018

518 of 567



Figure 3
Former Vehicle Fueling Area

NO SCALE

FUEL PUMP ISLAND
EXISTING 1,000 GALLON
WASTE OIL TANK

p

Primary 
Digester #6

MW-7

Cogeneration Building

LEGEND

             EXISTING UNDERGROUND 
                 MONITORING WELL

             DESTRUCTED GROUNDWATER 
                 MONITORING WELL

January 16, 2018

Generator Building

MW-4

FORMER 550 GALLON GASOLINE
UST AND FUEL PUMPSMW-6

Maintenance Building

MW-9

MW-8

EXISTING 10,000 
GALLON DIESEL UST

MW-5

519 of 567



q/

CENTRIFUGE
BUILDING

LEGEND

/

Figure 4
Closed-in-Place 6,000 Gallon Diesel UST

ODOR CONTROL
BUILDING

GENERATOR
BUILDING NO. 2

CLOSED-IN-PLACE 6,000
GALLON DIESEL UST

MW-10DESTRUCTED GROUNDWATER
MONITORING WELL

520 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

MW-1 11/8/1999 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 61
a

150
b

<250 ND

6/8/2000
NF

---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ----

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <1.0 <50 570
ndp

700 ND

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 51
ndp

<500 ND

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ND

12/15/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 1,500
h

1,300
l

----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 960
h

1,000
l

----

3/21/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 3,100
h

3,600
l

----

6/28/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 160
hy

19,000
h

16,000
l

----

6/28/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 18,000
h

14,000
l

----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 17,000
h

13,000
l

----

9/11/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 13,000
h

10,000
l

----

4/10/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 1,600
h,y

1,200
h,l

----

4/10/2007 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 4,700
h,y

3,800
h,l

----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 390
h

340
h,l

----

3/7/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 450 <300 ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 300
y

<300 ----

3/17/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 540
y

<300 ----

9/30/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 120 
y

<300 ----

4/21/2010 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 890 
y

550 ----

4/21/2010 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 210 
y

<300 ----

9/17/2010 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 350 
y

<300 ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 510 360 ----

10/28/2011 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 320 150 ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <55 <110 ----

9/14/2012 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 210 140 ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 1300 1300 ----

9/24/2013 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 320 330 ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 1300 1400 ----

9/23/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 86 <100 ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 6100 5500 ----

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 6700 6300 ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 20000 22000 ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 710 720 ----

MW-2 ** 11/8/1999 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <250 ND

11/8/99 Dup <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

6/8/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 170
ndp

<500 ND

6/8/2000 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ND

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.0 <50 <50 <500 ND

9/18/2000 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.1 <50 <50 <500 ND

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 240
ndp

3,700 ----

12/21/2000 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 200
ndp

4,000 ----

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 (0.86*) <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 56
ldr

1,100 ----

2/27/2001 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 71
ldr

1,400 ----

12/13/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 2.2 <50 61
ldr

<300 ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.2 <50 65
h

650 ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.2 <50 <50 <300 ----

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 1 of 8

521 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.0 <50 <50 <300 ----

4/10/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 430
h

----

9/24/2007 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/7/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/7/2008 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/8/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/17/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 350 ----

3/17/2009 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/29/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/29/2009 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/17/2010 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/17/2010 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 69 430 ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <53 <110 ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <54 370 ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <52 <100 ----

9/29/2014 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <53 <110 ----

9/23/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <52 <100 ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 140 230 ----

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 680 2700 ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 150 270 ----

9/26/2018 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 200 810 ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <48 <96 ----

9/19/2019 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <49 <97 ----

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 2 of 8

522 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

MW-3 ** 11/8/1999 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 110
c

<250 ND

6/8/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ND

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 2.1 <50 <50 <500 ND

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 (0.97*) <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ----

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ----

12/13/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 1.9 <50 <50 <300 ----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 <50 <300 ----

6/28/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 <50 <300 ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 <50 <300 ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/8/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 72
y

<300 ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/17/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/30/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/17/2010 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <54 <110 ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <55 <110 ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <51 <100 ----

9/25/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <100 ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 160 270

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 790 1100 ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 230 340 ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <49 <98 ----

MW-4* 9/3/1999 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.5 <50 100 ---- ----

6/8/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 80
g

<50 <500 5.2
bp

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <1.0 <50 <50 <500 ND

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ----

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 <50 <500 ----

12/14/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 <50 <300 ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 <50 ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 <50 <50 ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- ----

MW-5
**

12/14/2005 <0.83 <0.83 <0.83 <0.83 <17 <0.83 <0.83 <0.83 180 <83 <50 ---- ----

12/14/2005 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 0.52 180 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 910 <50 78 <300 ----

3/21/2006 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 870 <50 ---- ---- ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 320 <50 210
hy

---- ----

6/27/2006 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 690 <50 ---- ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 430 <50 <50 ---- ----

9/11/2006 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 510 <50 ---- ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 110 ---- ---- ---- ----

4/11/2007 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 100 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <14 ---- ---- ---- 200 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <14 ---- ---- ---- 130 ---- ---- ---- ----

3/7/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- 32 ---- ---- ---- 460 ---- ---- ---- ----

3/7/2008 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <170 ---- ---- ---- 960 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/8/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <25 ---- ---- ---- 290 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/8/2008 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <25 ---- ---- ---- 390 ---- ---- ---- ----

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 3 of 8

523 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

9/30/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- <25 ---- ---- ---- 130 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/30/09 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <33 ---- ---- ---- 200 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/17/2010 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <83 ---- ---- ---- 470 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/17/2010 Dup <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <100 ---- ---- ---- 680 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 130 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/28/2011 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 40 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- 63 ---- ---- ---- 570 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/14/2012 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- 44 ---- ---- ---- 460 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 230 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2013 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 230 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- <200 ---- ---- ---- 720 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2014 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <200 ---- ---- ---- 750 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/23/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 600 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- <400 D ---- ---- ---- 710 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 170 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- 44 ---- ---- ---- 550 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/26/2018 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <200 ---- ---- ---- 240 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 190 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/19/2019 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- <100 ---- ---- ---- 190 ---- ---- ---- ----

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 4 of 8

524 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

MW-6* 12/14/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 <50 <300 ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 0.7 <50 <50 ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 0.6 <50 <50 ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 0.7 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 0.6 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 0.6 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/30/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- < 0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

MW-7* 12/15/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 0.59 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 <50 <300 ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 1.0 <50 <50 ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 1.2 <50 <50 ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 1.0 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 0.8 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 0.8 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/30/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- < 0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

MW-8** 12/15/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 58 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 37 <50 78 <300 ----

6/28/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 16 <50 61
y

---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- 33 <50 55
y

---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 61 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 32 ---- ---- ---- ----

3/7/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 48 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 69 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- < 10 ---- ---- ---- 51 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/17/2010 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 ---- ---- ---- 78 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 36 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- 7.2 ---- ---- ---- 24 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- 65 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 9.7 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/23/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 16 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 22 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 160 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 0.59 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- 5.3 ---- ---- ---- ----

MW-9* 12/14/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 52 <300 ----

6/28/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 <50 ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 <50 <50 ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- ----

MW-10* 12/14/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 <50 ---- ----

3/21/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 83 <300 ----

3/21/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 120 <300 ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 68
y

---- ----

6/27/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 62
y

---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 <50 76
y z

---- ----

9/11/2006 Dup ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 ---- ----

4/10/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- 55
y

---- ----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ----

6/8/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----Field 

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 5 of 8

525 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <1.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 <50 <300 ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 <50 <300 ---- ----

9/24/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

3/7/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/8/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/9/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

3/17/2009 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <50 <300 ----

9/17/2010 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- <4 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

Equipment 

Blank

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 6 of 8

526 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

Trip Blank 11/8/1999 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

6/8/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

9/18/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <1.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

12/21/2000 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

2/27/2001 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <5.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

12/14/2005 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <10 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <50 ---- ---- ----

3/20/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.50 <50 ---- ---- ----

6/27/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

9/11/2006 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 <0.50 ---- ---- ---- ---- <2.0 <50 ---- ---- ----

4/11/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/25/2007 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/8/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/30/2008 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/17/2010 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/28/2011 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/14/2012 ---- ---- ---- ---- <4 ---- ---- --- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/24/2013 ---- ---- ---- ---- <10 ---- ---- --- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/29/2014 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/23/2015 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

10/4/2016 ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- ----

10/10/2017 ---- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- --- ---- ---- ---- ----

9/26/2018 ---- ---- ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

9/19/2019 ---- ---- <20 ---- ---- ---- <0.5 ---- ---- ---- ----

ESL - DW 1.0 40 30 20 12 NE NE NE 5.0 100 100 100
46 130 43 100 18,000 NE NE NE 1,800 500 640 640

Notes:

ug/L = micrograms per liter

D = Dilution factor on sample increased reporting limit.

Benzene analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8020, 8021B or 8260B

Toluene analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8020, 8021B or 8260B

Ethylbenzene analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8020, 8021B or 8260B

Xylenes analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8020, 8021B or 8260B (concentration reported is total of m,p- and o-xylenes).

tBA = tert-Butyl Alcohol analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260B

DIPE = Isopropyl Ether analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260B

EtBE = Ethyl tert-Butyl Ether analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260B

tAME = Methyl tert-Amyl Ether analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260B

MtBE = Methyl tert-Butyl Ether analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260A or 8260B

TPH-G = Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons as Gasoline analyzed following modified EPA Method 8015

TPH-D = Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons as Diesel analyzed following modified EPA Method 8015 and prepared with silica gel clean-up

TPH-MO = Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons as Motor Oil analyzed following modified EPA Method 8015 and prepared with silica gel clean-up

PNAs = Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8270A

ESL-DW = San Francisco Regional Water Quality Control Board Environmental Screening Level for sites where groundwater is a current or potential drinking water source, Table F-1a, May 2008

ESL-NDW = San Francisco Regional Water Quality Control Board Environmental Screening Level for sites where groundwater is not a current or potential drinking water source, Table F-1b, May 2008

Dup = Duplicate sample

<n  = Not detected above the laboratory reporting limit of n  ug/L

ND = Not detected above laboratory reporting limits for respective individual compounds

NF = Well not found

NE = Not established

---- = Not analyzed
a
 = Heavier gasoline range compounds are significant, chromatogram possibly shows aged gasoline pattern.

b
 = Medium boiling point pattern that does not match diesel, chromatogram possibly shows aged kerosene pattern.

c
 = Diesel range compounds are significant; no recognizable pattern.

h
 = Heavier hydrocarbons contributed to the quantitation.

ESL - NDW

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 7 of 8

527 of 567



Table 2.  Analytical Results - Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant

Well ID Sample Date

Benzene

(ug/L)

Toluene

(ug/L)

Ethylbenzene

(ug/L)

Xylenes

(ug/L)

tBA

(ug/L)

DIPE

(ug/L)

EtBE

(ug/L)

tAME

(ug/L)

MtBE

(ug/L)

TPH-G

(ug/L)

TPH-D

(ug/L)

TPH-MO

(ug/L)

PNAs          

(ug/L)

l
 = Lighter hydrocarbons contributed to the quantitation.
y
 = Sample exhibits chromotagraphic pattern which does not resemble standard

z = Sample analyzed outside EPA Method's holding time

bp = bis (2-Ethylhexyl) phthalate concentration reported
g
 = Hydrocarbon reported in the gasoline range does not match laboratory's gasoline standard

ndp = Hydrocarbon reported does not match the pattern of laboratory's diesel standard

ldr = Hydrocarbon reported is in the late diesel range, and does not match laboratory's diesel standard

* = Analyzed following U.S. EPA Method 8260A

Bold = Current groundwater monitoring event

Italicized  = Concentration exceeds the respective ESL-DW

Underline = Concentration exceeds the respective ESL-NDW
* 
= Discontinued sampling groundwater monitoring well per approval from Alameda County Water District; MW-4, MW-9 and MW-10 were destructed on May 2, 2008

**
 = Well sampled annually per approval from Alameda County Water District.

\\bcwckfp01\projects\152000\152674 - USD GW Monitoring thru 2020\Reports\2019 Annual\Tables\Annual Report 2019 Tables 1-2 DRAFT Page 8 of 8

528 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM # 19 

 
TITLE: Solar and Cogeneration Facilities Operational Update (This is an Information 

Item)  
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Technical Services Work Group Manager 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Team Coach 
 Somporn Boonsalat, Associate Engineer 
  
Recommendation 
 
Information only. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None. 
 
Background 
 
Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant Solar Carport 
 
The District completed construction of the solar carport facility located at the Alvarado 
Wastewater Treatment Plant at a cost of $884,000 and began operation in September 2011.  
The system consists of 637 solar panels and is rated at 125 kilowatt (kW).  The system rating is 
based on the California Energy Commission’s calculation that takes into account the number of 
panels, the rating of each panel and the inverter efficiency. 
 
The District applied for the California Solar Initiative (CSI) incentive that would rebate $0.2568 
per kilowatt-hour (kWh) of power generated by the system for a period of five years from 
September 2011 through August 2016.  PG&E, the administrator of the CSI program, approved 

529 of 567



Agenda Item No. 19 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 
an estimated incentive amount of $252,850.  In September 2016, the District received its final 
CSI incentive disbursement.   
 
Through December 31, 2019, the Solar Carport facility has generated a total of 1,913,175 kWh 
of power, which equates to $353,510 in energy savings at the Plant.  Additionally, the District 
has received $276,030 or approximately 109% of the estimated CSI incentive rebate from 
PG&E.  The total benefit of the Solar Carport is $629,540, which represents 70.7% of simple 
payback for the initial construction and maintenance costs of the facility. 
 
Irvington Pump Station Solar Facility 
 
The District completed construction of the solar facility located at the Irvington Pump Station at 
a cost of $2.85 million and began operation in April 2012.  The system consists of 1,680 solar 
panels and is rated at 408 kW. 
 
The District applied for the CSI incentive that would rebate $0.15 per kWh of power generated 
by the system for a period of five years from June 2012 through May 2017.  PG&E approved an 
estimated incentive amount of $623,370.  In February 2017, the District received its final CSI 
incentive disbursement.   
 
Through December 31, 2019, the solar facility has generated a total of 6,631,605 kWh of power, 
which equates to $2,199,096 in energy savings at the Irvington Pump Station.  Additionally, the 
District has received $680,632 or 109% of the estimated CSI incentive rebate from PG&E.  The 
total benefit of the solar facility is $2,879,728, which represents 100.8% of simple payback for 
the initial construction and maintenance costs of the facility. 
 
Cogeneration Facility 
 
The District completed construction of the Cogeneration Facility located at the Alvarado 
Wastewater Treatment Plant at a construction cost of $11.8 million and the facility was fully 
operational in late November 2014.  The facility consists of two 850-kW biogas-fueled engine 
generators and a packaged biogas conditioning system. 
 
The District applied for the Self-Generation Incentive Program (SGIP) that provides financial 
incentives for the installation of new, qualifying self-generation equipment installed to meet all 
or a portion of the electric energy needs of a facility.  PG&E, the administrator of the SGIP in 
Northern California, approved the District’s application for a maximum rebate of $3.38 million.  
The District received half of the total rebate from PG&E in 2015 upon successful operational 
testing of the facility.  The other half will be paid to the District annually over the next five years 
and will depend on the actual electric energy generated by the facility and the actual amount of 
engine and exhaust heat recovered and utilized to heat the biosolids in the primary digesters. 
 

530 of 567



Agenda Item No. 19 
Meeting of January 27, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 
Through December 31, 2019, the facility has generated a total of 54,973,688 kWh of power, 
which equates to approximately $5,340,373 in energy savings at the plant.  Additionally, the 
District has received $2,869,608 or 85% of the SGIP incentive rebate from PG&E.  The total 
benefit of the cogeneration facility is $8,209,981, which represents 61.9% of simple payback for 
the initial construction and maintenance costs of the facility. 
 
USD labor and equipment costs have not been factored into the maintenance costs of these 
facilities. The rationale is that no personnel or equipment has been acquired specifically for the 
maintenance and the work has been accommodated to date with existing resources. 
 
Staff will provide the Board with an operational update of the solar and cogeneration facilities 
on a semi-annual basis. The attached Table 1 summarizes the operational data that was 
discussed in this update. 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/SB;mb 
 
Attachment: Table 1 – Solar and Cogeneration Facilities Operational Data 

531 of 567



Union Sanitary District
Table 1 - Solar and Cogeneration Facilities Operational Data

Facility
System 
Rating1

(kW)

Energy 
Generated 

This 
Period2

(kWh)

Total Energy 
Generated To 

Date (kWh)

Value of 
Energy 

Generated 
To Date 

($)

Rebates 
Received 
To Date

($)

Total 
Received or 
Generated 

($)

Construction 
Cost
($)

Maintenance 
Costs 

To Date4

($)

Total Costs
Incurred 
To Date

($)

Simple 
Payback 
To Date 

(%)

Simple 
Payback

Term
(Years)

Original 
Payback

Term5

(Years)

Comments

Alvarado WWTP Solar 
Carport

125 97,872 1,913,175 353,510 276,030 629,540 884,000 6,225 890,225 70.7% 14.7
System began operation in        

September 2011.  Values are current 
through December 31, 2019.

Irvington Pump Station 
Solar Facility

408 438,133 6,631,605 2,199,096 680,632 2,879,728 2,850,000 7,694 2,857,694 100.8% 8.0 10.0
System began operation in April 2012.  

Values are current through 
December 31, 2019.

Cogeneration Facility3 1,700 4,260,794 54,973,688 5,340,373 2,869,608 8,209,981 11,800,000 1,464,772 13,264,772 61.9% 11.2 8.9
System began operation in late 

November 2014.  Values are current 
through December 31, 2019.

1)  System Rating for the solar facilities is based on the number of panels, the rating of each panel, and the inverter efficiency.
2)  Period is from July 2019 through December 2019.
3)  The cogeneration equipment consists of two 850-kW engine generators.
4)  Maintenance costs do not include USD labor or equipment costs.
5)  Original payback terms for the Irvington Pump Station Solar Facility and Cogeneration Facility were calculated during the design phase.  A payback period was not calculated for the Alvarado WWTP Solar 

Carport  at the time the project was designed. 

532 of 567



UN ON

SANITARY
DISTRICT

Directors

Manny Fernandez

Tom Handley

Pat Kite

Anjali Lathi
Jennifer Toy

Officers

Paui R. Eidredge
General Manager/
District Engineer

Karen W. Murphy

Attorney

JANUARY 27, 2020

BOARD Of DIRECTORS MEETING

AGENDA ITEM #20

TITLE: Board Expenses for 2nd Quarter of Fiscal Year 2020 (This is an Information

Item)

SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eidredge, General Manager/District Engineer
Laurie Brenner, FAST Team Coach

Recommendation

Information only.

Previous Board Action

None

Background

Please see attached the Board of Directors Quarterly Travel and Training Expenditure Report for
the 2nd quarter of Fiscal Year 2020.

533 of 567



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
QUARTERLY TRAVEL AND TRAINING EXPENDITURE REPORT

1ST QTR, FISCAL YEAR 2020

Board Members Description IstQtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

Beginning

Balance

Y-T-D

Eapense

Balance

Available

FERNANDEZ, MANNY

Union City Weicome Luncheon for Manager Malioy &

Superintendent Thompson 25.00

TOTAL 0.00 25.00 0.001 6.1)0 SOOOJiO: : :: 25.00 4975^

HANDLEY, TOM

CASA Conference Registration
Airfare • Annual CASA Conference

Union City Welcome Luncheon for Manager Mailoy &

Superintendent Thompson

CASA Conference: Lodging
CASA Conference; Parking
CASA Conference: Mileage
CASA Conference: Per Diem

CASA Conference: Taxi

S9S.00

325.96

25.00

353.29

51.06

22.79

196.50

21.68

TOTAL|: : ::: :::92D;96:|:x : : ::670.32 I 0.00 I : : :O.QQ: ::SOOQ.OO: : : : : 1,591.28^^^^^ ^ ^ ^ 3^^

HARRISON, JENNIFER

TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 sooaoo

KITE, PAT

Online Anti-Discrimination and Harassment Training

Lorman All Access Education Pass

55.00;

537.01

TOTAL! 55.00 1 : : : : :;S37.0t1 O.OQi 0.00

LATHI, ANJALI

Union City Welcome Luncheon for Manager Mailoy &

Superintendent Thompson 25.00

TOTAL 0.00:1::: :: : :::25:.00:l::

3C
0:00 0.00 5000.00:: ::25.:00:: 4975.00

GRANDTOTA 975 1,257.33 0.00 0.00 25000.00 2,233.29 22766.71

The Board of Directors' Quarterly Expenditure
Report Is attached as part of the check register

in accordance with Board Member Business

Expense policy adopted September 5,1991

534 of 567



 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

 
JANUARY 27, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
AGENDA ITEM #21    

 
TITLE: CAL-Card Quarterly Merchant Activity Report (This is an Information Item)  
  
 
SUBMITTED: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 

Laurie Brenner, Business Services Coach 
Skip Calvo, Purchasing Agent 

  
 
Recommendation 
 
Information only. 
 
Previous Board Action 
 
None. 
 
Background 
 
The attached CAL-Card Merchant Spend Analysis details the CAL-Card activity for the second 
quarter of FY 2020. This covers transactions from the CAL-Card billing period October 23, 2019 
through December 23, 2019. During this quarter, we had 312 transactions totaling $68,303.19. 
 
 
Attachments:  Merchant Spend Analysis Report 
 

 

535 of 567



State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

373694 8699 8699 CALIFORNIA 510-3827800 CA $ 3,950.00 18 $ 219.44 $ 0.00 0 $ 3,950.00 5.78% 18 $ 0.00

WATER ENVIRONM

47963 BUSINESS 9399 CITY OF FREMONT FREMONT CA 3,240.00 2 1,620.00 0.00 0 3,240.00 4.74% 2 0.00

EXPENS DEV SVCS

47979 WHOLESALE 5099 LED PROS 661-645-1071 CA 2,468.37 1 2,468.37 60.45 1 2,407.92 3.53% 2 0.00

TRADE WORLDWIDE

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 INDUSTRIAL 178-633-2283 FL 2,280.19 1 2,280.19 0.00 0 2,280.19 3.34% 1 0.00

TRADE SAFETY PRODUCT

47979 WHOLESALE 5099 ZEMARC 323-721-5598 CA 2,180.84 1 2,180.84 0.00 0 2,180.84 3.19% 1 177.06

TRADE CORPORATION

47979 WHOLESALE 5047 TFS*THERMOELEC 800-532-4752 FL 2,070.00 1 2,070.00 0.00 0 2,070.00 3.03% 1 0.00

TRADE TRONNORT

47979 WHOLESALE 5211 PLATT ELECTRIC 503-641-6121 OR 1,814.19 1 1,814.19 0.00 0 1,814.19 2.66% 1 0.00

TRADE 800

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 TOGOS - UNION UNION CITY CA 1,599.05 9 177.67 0.00 0 1,599.05 2.34% 9 0.00

G CITY

47972 OTHER 5732 WIRECABLEGO 855-880-8010 IL 1,580.06 2 790.03 0.00 0 1,580.06 2.31% 2 0.00

47979 WHOLESALE 5047 IN *I.R.I. 209-5451691 CA 1,384.57 2 692.29 0.00 0 1,384.57 2.03% 2 114.57

TRADE PRODUCTS, PRO-

47978 VEHICLE 5533 FLOSCAN INC 714-557-3805 WA 1,319.00 2 659.50 0.00 0 1,319.00 1.93% 2 0.00

EXPENSE

47972 OTHER 7299 IN *GENERAL 305-4719566 FL 1,260.00 1 1,260.00 0.00 0 1,260.00 1.84% 1 0.00

POWER LIMITED

47969 MRO SUPPLIES 5969 FLUID 760-7446950 CA 1,205.45 1 1,205.45 0.00 0 1,205.45 1.76% 1 0.00

COMPONENTS INTL

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 TRUPARCOM 800-775-9856 CA 1,169.77 1 1,169.77 0.00 0 1,169.77 1.71% 1 0.00

TRADE

47979 WHOLESALE 5399 WWW COSTCO 800-955-2292 WA 1,137.41 2 568.71 0.00 0 1,137.41 1.67% 2 0.00

TRADE COM

47972 OTHER 5999 SQ *SCHWALM USA 415-375-3176 SC 1,117.03 2 558.52 0.00 0 1,117.03 1.64% 2 92.14

LLC

47970 OFFICE 7394 PETERSON POWER 510-618-2294 CA 946.80 1 946.80 0.00 0 946.80 1.39% 1 0.00

SERVICES

47979 WHOLESALE 5300 COSTCO WHSE HAYWARD CA 898.70 11 81.70 0.00 0 898.70 1.32% 11 0.00

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     1

536 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126086712&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=510-3827800&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20WATER%20ENVIRONM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126086712&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=510-3827800&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20WATER%20ENVIRONM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=137553455&MCC=9399&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=CITY%20OF%20FREMONT%20DEV%20SVCS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=137553455&MCC=9399&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=CITY%20OF%20FREMONT%20DEV%20SVCS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206817534&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=661-645-1071&MNM=LED%20PROS%20WORLDWIDE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206817534&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=661-645-1071&MNM=LED%20PROS%20WORLDWIDE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=267492160&MCC=5085&MST=FL&MCITY=178-633-2283&MNM=INDUSTRIAL%20SAFETY%20PRODUCT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=267492160&MCC=5085&MST=FL&MCITY=178-633-2283&MNM=INDUSTRIAL%20SAFETY%20PRODUCT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266115034&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=323-721-5598&MNM=ZEMARC%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266115034&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=323-721-5598&MNM=ZEMARC%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=247871011&MCC=5047&MST=FL&MCITY=800-532-4752&MNM=TFS*THERMOELECTRONNORT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=247871011&MCC=5047&MST=FL&MCITY=800-532-4752&MNM=TFS*THERMOELECTRONNORT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=218743007&MCC=5211&MST=OR&MCITY=503-641-6121&MNM=PLATT%20ELECTRIC%20800
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=218743007&MCC=5211&MST=OR&MCITY=503-641-6121&MNM=PLATT%20ELECTRIC%20800
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=279268881&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=TOGOS%20-%20UNION%20CITY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=279268881&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=TOGOS%20-%20UNION%20CITY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=180457481&MCC=5732&MST=IL&MCITY=855-880-8010&MNM=WIRECABLEGO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=5047&MST=CA&MCITY=209-5451691&MNM=IN%20*I.R.I.%20PRODUCTS,%20PRO-
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=5047&MST=CA&MCITY=209-5451691&MNM=IN%20*I.R.I.%20PRODUCTS,%20PRO-
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=288168638&MCC=5533&MST=WA&MCITY=714-557-3805&MNM=FLOSCAN%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7299&MST=FL&MCITY=305-4719566&MNM=IN%20*GENERAL%20POWER%20LIMITED
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7299&MST=FL&MCITY=305-4719566&MNM=IN%20*GENERAL%20POWER%20LIMITED
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=151605214&MCC=5969&MST=CA&MCITY=760-7446950&MNM=FLUID%20COMPONENTS%20INTL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=151605214&MCC=5969&MST=CA&MCITY=760-7446950&MNM=FLUID%20COMPONENTS%20INTL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5085&MST=CA&MCITY=800-775-9856&MNM=TRUPARCOM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=157536718&MCC=5399&MST=WA&MCITY=800-955-2292&MNM=WWW%20COSTCO%20COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=157536718&MCC=5399&MST=WA&MCITY=800-955-2292&MNM=WWW%20COSTCO%20COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=830829147&MCC=5999&MST=SC&MCITY=415-375-3176&MNM=SQ%20*SCHWALM%20USA%20LLC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=830829147&MCC=5999&MST=SC&MCITY=415-375-3176&MNM=SQ%20*SCHWALM%20USA%20LLC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165768150&MCC=7394&MST=CA&MCITY=510-618-2294&MNM=PETERSON%20POWER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126138663&MCC=5300&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=COSTCO%20WHSE%20%231061


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47979 TRADE #1061

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 THE CARY 630-629-6600 IL 881.06 1 881.06 0.00 0 881.06 1.29% 1 0.00

TRADE COMPANY

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 UGSI CHEMICAL 856-8962160 NJ 854.73 1 854.73 0.00 0 854.73 1.25% 1 8.55

TRADE FEED, INC

47970 OFFICE 7311 IN *TRI-CITY VOICE 510-4941999 CA 830.00 2 415.00 0.00 0 830.00 1.22% 2 0.00

SERVICES NEWSPA

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW GOVT 800-808-4239 IL 702.13 1 702.13 0.00 0 702.13 1.03% 1 62.38

TRADE #VVN3919

47979 WHOLESALE 5065 STEVEN 650-588-9200 CA 663.91 2 331.96 0.00 0 663.91 0.97% 2 55.22

TRADE ENGINEERING

47970 OFFICE 7361 ZIPRECRUITER, 855-747-5493 CA 658.75 3 219.58 0.00 0 658.75 0.96% 3 0.00

SERVICES INC.

47979 WHOLESALE 5039 OWEN EQUIPMENT 503-2559055 OR 654.28 1 654.28 0.00 0 654.28 0.96% 1 55.43

TRADE COMPANY

47970 OFFICE 7399 IN *KEN GRADY 415-9902667 CA 620.57 1 620.57 0.00 0 620.57 0.91% 1 51.34

SERVICES COMPANY, IN

47979 WHOLESALE 5072 C H BULL COMPANY 6508378400 CA 617.18 1 617.18 0.00 0 617.18 0.90% 1 0.00

TRADE

373694 8699 8699 WEF MAIN 703-684-2400 VA 595.00 2 297.50 0.00 0 595.00 0.87% 2 0.00

47970 OFFICE 8911 PAYPAL *HWEA 402-935-7733 HI 560.00 1 560.00 0.00 0 560.00 0.82% 1 0.00

SERVICES

47979 WHOLESALE 5111 OFFICESUPPLY.CO 866-302-5397 WI 542.89 2 271.45 0.00 0 542.89 0.79% 2 0.00

TRADE M

47963 BUSINESS 8299 WWW.LORMAN.CO WWW.LORMAN.C WI 537.01 1 537.01 0.00 0 537.01 0.79% 1 0.00

EXPENS M O

47978 VEHICLE 5532 AMERICAS-TIRE-C UNION CITY CA 529.41 1 529.41 0.00 0 529.41 0.78% 1 46.41

EXPENSE O CAN-14

47971 OFFICE 5943 SNFRD/DYMO/PKR 800-323-0749 CT 529.24 1 529.24 0.00 0 529.24 0.77% 1 45.33

SUPPLIES PN/ELMER

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 EPASALES 423-876-4366 TN 527.89 1 527.89 0.00 0 527.89 0.77% 1 0.00

TRADE

47972 OTHER 5999 CAL OSHA 916-774-4000 CA 495.00 1 495.00 0.00 0 495.00 0.72% 1 0.00

REPORTER

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     2

537 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126138663&MCC=5300&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=COSTCO%20WHSE%20%231061
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134392500&MCC=5085&MST=IL&MCITY=630-629-6600&MNM=THE%20CARY%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134392500&MCC=5085&MST=IL&MCITY=630-629-6600&MNM=THE%20CARY%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=285218271&MCC=5085&MST=NJ&MCITY=856-8962160&MNM=UGSI%20CHEMICAL%20FEED,%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=285218271&MCC=5085&MST=NJ&MCITY=856-8962160&MNM=UGSI%20CHEMICAL%20FEED,%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=510-4941999&MNM=IN%20*TRI-CITY%20VOICE%20NEWSPA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=510-4941999&MNM=IN%20*TRI-CITY%20VOICE%20NEWSPA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VVN3919
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VVN3919
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206559798&MCC=5065&MST=CA&MCITY=650-588-9200&MNM=STEVEN%20ENGINEERING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206559798&MCC=5065&MST=CA&MCITY=650-588-9200&MNM=STEVEN%20ENGINEERING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266456774&MCC=7361&MST=CA&MCITY=855-747-5493&MNM=ZIPRECRUITER,%20INC.
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266456774&MCC=7361&MST=CA&MCITY=855-747-5493&MNM=ZIPRECRUITER,%20INC.
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134332780&MCC=5039&MST=OR&MCITY=503-2559055&MNM=OWEN%20EQUIPMENT%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134332780&MCC=5039&MST=OR&MCITY=503-2559055&MNM=OWEN%20EQUIPMENT%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7399&MST=CA&MCITY=415-9902667&MNM=IN%20*KEN%20GRADY%20COMPANY,%20IN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=7399&MST=CA&MCITY=415-9902667&MNM=IN%20*KEN%20GRADY%20COMPANY,%20IN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=226801341&MCC=5072&MST=CA&MCITY=6508378400&MNM=C%20H%20BULL%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=163193326&MCC=8699&MST=VA&MCITY=703-684-2400&MNM=WEF%20MAIN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=838340553&MCC=8911&MST=HI&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*HWEA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227761621&MCC=5111&MST=WI&MCITY=866-302-5397&MNM=OFFICESUPPLY.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227761621&MCC=5111&MST=WI&MCITY=866-302-5397&MNM=OFFICESUPPLY.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=290158169&MCC=8299&MST=WI&MCITY=WWW.LORMAN.CO&MNM=WWW.LORMAN.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=290158169&MCC=8299&MST=WI&MCITY=WWW.LORMAN.CO&MNM=WWW.LORMAN.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=220277662&MCC=5532&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=AMERICAS-TIRE-CO%20CAN-14
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=220277662&MCC=5532&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=AMERICAS-TIRE-CO%20CAN-14
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=188779505&MCC=5943&MST=CT&MCITY=800-323-0749&MNM=SNFRD/DYMO/PKRPN/ELMER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=188779505&MCC=5943&MST=CT&MCITY=800-323-0749&MNM=SNFRD/DYMO/PKRPN/ELMER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=121014885&MCC=5085&MST=TN&MCITY=423-876-4366&MNM=EPASALES
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=152556272&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=916-774-4000&MNM=CAL%20OSHA%20REPORTER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=152556272&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=916-774-4000&MNM=CAL%20OSHA%20REPORTER


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47966 MAIL/TELEPHON 5964 ULINE  *SHIP 800-295-5510 WI $ 493.01 2 $ 246.51 $ 0.00 0 $ 493.01 0.72% 2 $ 37.70

E SUPPLIES

47962 BUILDING 780 REED AND 408-287-1400 CA 490.84 1 490.84 0.00 0 490.84 0.72% 1 0.00

SERVIC GRAHAM INC

373694 8699 8699 AMERICAN 210-226-4600 TX 489.00 1 489.00 0.00 0 489.00 0.72% 1 0.00

PAYROLL ASSOC

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 469.68 1 469.68 0.00 0 469.68 0.69% 1 41.73

SUPPLIES US*B35HO6T33 AM

373694 8699 8699 ASQ ECOMMERCE 414-2728575 WI 468.00 2 234.00 0.00 0 468.00 0.69% 2 0.00

373694 8699 8699 CALIFORNIA 800-592-1970 CA 450.00 1 450.00 0.00 0 450.00 0.66% 1 30.42

ASSOCIATION OF

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*SS7 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 419.76 1 419.76 0.00 0 419.76 0.61% 1 37.29

SUPPLIES 8C5ZW3 AMZN

373694 8699 8699 GOVERNMENT CHICAGO IL 418.73 4 104.68 0.00 0 418.73 0.61% 4 0.00

FINANCE OFFIC

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 417.06 1 417.06 0.00 0 417.06 0.61% 1 37.06

SUPPLIES US*SG8W35VO3

47979 WHOLESALE 5200 LOWES #01132* UNION CITY CA 398.11 6 66.35 0.00 0 398.11 0.58% 6 35.37

TRADE

47960 AIRLINE 3066 SOUTHWES    800-435-9792 TX 375.96 1 375.96 0.00 0 375.96 0.55% 1 0.00

5262130787902

47965 HOTELS 3516 LA QUINTA INNS  BANNOCKBURN IL 374.07 1 374.07 0.00 0 374.07 0.55% 1 0.00

7001

47979 WHOLESALE 5065 BURLINGTON 888-8171412 CA 365.10 1 365.10 0.00 0 365.10 0.53% 1 7.30

TRADE SAFETY LABORAT

47962 BUILDING 780 REED AND SAN JOSE CA 363.28 1 363.28 0.00 0 363.28 0.53% 1 0.00

SERVIC GRAHAM INC

47972 OTHER 5712 IKEA CLICK &AMP 888-434-4532 MD 362.71 1 362.71 0.00 0 362.71 0.53% 1 20.53

AMP  COLL

373694 8699 8699 NASSCO INC 410-442-7473 MD 347.46 1 347.46 0.00 0 347.46 0.51% 1 0.00

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 GRAINGER 877-2022594 IL 344.83 1 344.83 0.00 0 344.83 0.50% 1 29.65

TRADE

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 342.42 1 342.42 0.00 0 342.42 0.50% 1 30.42

SUPPLIES US*SQ3B20S53 AM

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     3

538 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206502333&MCC=5964&MST=WI&MCITY=800-295-5510&MNM=ULINE%20%20*SHIP%20SUPPLIES
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=206502333&MCC=5964&MST=WI&MCITY=800-295-5510&MNM=ULINE%20%20*SHIP%20SUPPLIES
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131481407&MCC=780&MST=CA&MCITY=408-287-1400&MNM=REED%20AND%20GRAHAM%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131481407&MCC=780&MST=CA&MCITY=408-287-1400&MNM=REED%20AND%20GRAHAM%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=137162010&MCC=8699&MST=TX&MCITY=210-226-4600&MNM=AMERICAN%20PAYROLL%20ASSOC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=137162010&MCC=8699&MST=TX&MCITY=210-226-4600&MNM=AMERICAN%20PAYROLL%20ASSOC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*B35HO6T33%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*B35HO6T33%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=151400018&MCC=8699&MST=WI&MCITY=414-2728575&MNM=ASQ%20ECOMMERCE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=251164140&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=800-592-1970&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20ASSOCIATION%20OF
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=251164140&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=800-592-1970&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20ASSOCIATION%20OF
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*SS78C5ZW3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*SS78C5ZW3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=270062175&MCC=8699&MST=IL&MCITY=CHICAGO&MNM=GOVERNMENT%20FINANCE%20OFFIC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=270062175&MCC=8699&MST=IL&MCITY=CHICAGO&MNM=GOVERNMENT%20FINANCE%20OFFIC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*SG8W35VO3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*SG8W35VO3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=207476732&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=LOWES%20%2301132*
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262130787902
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262130787902
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=170028741&MCC=3516&MST=IL&MCITY=BANNOCKBURN&MNM=LA%20QUINTA%20INNS%20%207001
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=170028741&MCC=3516&MST=IL&MCITY=BANNOCKBURN&MNM=LA%20QUINTA%20INNS%20%207001
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=299454802&MCC=5065&MST=CA&MCITY=888-8171412&MNM=BURLINGTON%20SAFETY%20LABORAT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=299454802&MCC=5065&MST=CA&MCITY=888-8171412&MNM=BURLINGTON%20SAFETY%20LABORAT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131481407&MCC=780&MST=CA&MCITY=SAN%20JOSE&MNM=REED%20AND%20GRAHAM%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131481407&MCC=780&MST=CA&MCITY=SAN%20JOSE&MNM=REED%20AND%20GRAHAM%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5712&MST=MD&MCITY=888-434-4532&MNM=IKEA%20CLICK%20%26AMP%20AMP%20%20COLL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5712&MST=MD&MCITY=888-434-4532&MNM=IKEA%20CLICK%20%26AMP%20AMP%20%20COLL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=255207659&MCC=8699&MST=MD&MCITY=410-442-7473&MNM=NASSCO%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165820315&MCC=5085&MST=IL&MCITY=877-2022594&MNM=GRAINGER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*SQ3B20S53%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*SQ3B20S53%20AM


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 341.32 1 $ 341.32 $ 0.00 0 $ 341.32 0.50% 1 $ 30.33

SUPPLIES US*ZF7AL7CM3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 340.10 1 340.10 0.00 0 340.10 0.50% 1 30.20

SUPPLIES US*JI7IB35R3

47971 OFFICE 4812 METRO MOBILE 650-3671992 CA 326.00 2 163.00 0.00 0 326.00 0.48% 2 27.98

SUPPLIES COMMUNICATIO

360474 VTAOtherTravel 5811 EZCATERFAMOUS 800-488-1803 MA 325.73 1 325.73 0.00 0 325.73 0.48% 1 28.94

DAVES B

47978 VEHICLE 5533 PEPBOYS STORE  UNION CITY CA 313.86 1 313.86 0.00 0 313.86 0.46% 1 27.26

EXPENSE 816

47970 OFFICE 7394 CELEBRATION 510-8870727 CA 310.00 2 155.00 0.00 0 310.00 0.45% 2 2.00

SERVICES PARTY EQUIPME

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 CHIPOTLE ONLINE 303-595-4000 CO 307.91 4 76.98 0.00 0 307.91 0.45% 4 0.00

G

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW GOVT 800-808-4239 IL 305.82 1 305.82 0.00 0 305.82 0.45% 1 27.17

TRADE #VDS1136

47971 OFFICE 5734 FS *TECHSMITH 877-3278914 CA 298.50 1 298.50 0.00 0 298.50 0.44% 1 0.00

SUPPLIES

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 296.33 1 296.33 0.00 0 296.33 0.43% 1 26.33

SUPPLIES US*LH9EL7XP3

373694 8699 8699 ASCE PURCHASING 800-5482723 VA 295.00 1 295.00 0.00 0 295.00 0.43% 1 0.00

371673 8398 8398 PAYPAL *CWEA 402-935-7733 CA 290.00 1 290.00 0.00 0 290.00 0.42% 1 0.00

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 MOUNTAIN MIKES UNION CITY CA 287.09 2 143.54 0.00 0 287.09 0.42% 2 0.00

G PIZZA

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 283.45 1 283.45 0.00 0 283.45 0.41% 1 25.19

SUPPLIES US*DH69Q8YS3

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 THAI BBQ UNION CITY CA 267.16 3 89.05 0.00 0 267.16 0.39% 3 0.00

G

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 258.74 1 258.74 0.00 0 258.74 0.38% 1 22.98

SUPPLIES US*5R08O0E53

371673 8398 8398 ASSOCIATION FOR 510-4325959 CA 258.00 2 129.00 0.00 0 258.00 0.38% 2 0.00

CALIFORNI

47971 OFFICE 5734 NEOGOV HTTPSWWW.NEO CA 255.00 2 127.50 0.00 0 255.00 0.37% 2 0.00

SUPPLIES G

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     4

539 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZF7AL7CM3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZF7AL7CM3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*JI7IB35R3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*JI7IB35R3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231318344&MCC=4812&MST=CA&MCITY=650-3671992&MNM=METRO%20MOBILE%20COMMUNICATIO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231318344&MCC=4812&MST=CA&MCITY=650-3671992&MNM=METRO%20MOBILE%20COMMUNICATIO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=279248500&MCC=5811&MST=MA&MCITY=800-488-1803&MNM=EZCATERFAMOUS%20DAVES%20B
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=279248500&MCC=5811&MST=MA&MCITY=800-488-1803&MNM=EZCATERFAMOUS%20DAVES%20B
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=143055408&MCC=5533&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=PEPBOYS%20STORE%20%20816
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=143055408&MCC=5533&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=PEPBOYS%20STORE%20%20816
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=140031375&MCC=7394&MST=CA&MCITY=510-8870727&MNM=CELEBRATION%20PARTY%20EQUIPME
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=140031375&MCC=7394&MST=CA&MCITY=510-8870727&MNM=CELEBRATION%20PARTY%20EQUIPME
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=217837005&MCC=5814&MST=CO&MCITY=303-595-4000&MNM=CHIPOTLE%20ONLINE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VDS1136
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VDS1136
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=274589151&MCC=5734&MST=CA&MCITY=877-3278914&MNM=FS%20*TECHSMITH
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LH9EL7XP3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LH9EL7XP3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=270240597&MCC=8699&MST=VA&MCITY=800-5482723&MNM=ASCE%20PURCHASING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=804927217&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*CWEA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=157508225&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MOUNTAIN%20MIKES%20PIZZA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=157508225&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MOUNTAIN%20MIKES%20PIZZA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*DH69Q8YS3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*DH69Q8YS3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=128630771&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=THAI%20BBQ
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*5R08O0E53
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*5R08O0E53
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=262913796&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=510-4325959&MNM=ASSOCIATION%20FOR%20CALIFORNI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=262913796&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=510-4325959&MNM=ASSOCIATION%20FOR%20CALIFORNI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=125769997&MCC=5734&MST=CA&MCITY=HTTPSWWW.NEOG&MNM=NEOGOV


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 246.87 1 $ 246.87 $ 0.00 0 $ 246.87 0.36% 1 $ 21.95

SUPPLIES US*IZ9LM5LM3

47963 BUSINESS 8299 LYNDA.COM, INC. 888-3359632 CA 239.88 1 239.88 0.00 0 239.88 0.35% 1 0.00

EXPENS

47979 WHOLESALE 5411 LUCKY #782 UNION UNION CITY CA 239.44 9 26.60 0.00 0 239.44 0.35% 9 0.00

TRADE CI

47966 MAIL/TELEPHON 5964 PRINT-2-MAIL 866-667-2861 CA 235.35 1 235.35 0.00 0 235.35 0.34% 1 0.00

E

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW GOVT 800-808-4239 IL 234.04 1 234.04 0.00 0 234.04 0.34% 1 20.79

TRADE #VGC9081

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW GOVT 800-808-4239 IL 233.14 1 233.14 0.00 0 233.14 0.34% 1 20.71

TRADE #VQP0621

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 CKE*IKE'S LOVE HAYWARD CA 231.40 1 231.40 0.00 0 231.40 0.34% 1 0.00

G AND SANDWI

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 227.07 1 227.07 0.00 0 227.07 0.33% 1 20.16

SUPPLIES US*AA7AW5Q03 AM

47970 OFFICE 7361 BOARD CERT SAFE 317-593-4800 IN 227.00 1 227.00 0.00 0 227.00 0.33% 1 0.00

SERVICES PRO

373694 8699 8699 CAPIO - CA 530-9245444 CA 225.00 1 225.00 0.00 0 225.00 0.33% 1 0.00

ASSOCIATION OF

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 224.97 1 224.97 0.00 0 224.97 0.33% 1 19.98

SUPPLIES US*LR7VV8DS3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 224.81 1 224.81 0.00 0 224.81 0.33% 1 19.98

SUPPLIES US*XO0WG0SH3 AM

47960 AIRLINE 3066 SOUTHWES    800-435-9792 TX 223.96 1 223.96 0.00 0 223.96 0.33% 1 0.00

5262120744317

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 GLOBALTEST 910-442-2164 NC 220.73 1 220.73 0.00 0 220.73 0.32% 1 0.00

TRADE SUPPLY

47962 BUILDING 7342 A-PRO PEST 408-5590933 CA 216.00 1 216.00 0.00 0 216.00 0.32% 1 0.00

SERVIC CONTROL

47970 OFFICE 7394 PETERSON SAN 510-357-6200 CA 215.63 2 107.82 0.00 0 215.63 0.32% 2 0.00

SERVICES LEANDRO

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 ZORO TOOLS INC 855-2899676 IL 214.59 2 107.30 0.00 0 214.59 0.31% 2 0.00

TRADE

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     5

540 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*IZ9LM5LM3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*IZ9LM5LM3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227786321&MCC=8299&MST=CA&MCITY=888-3359632&MNM=LYNDA.COM,%20INC.
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=230048625&MCC=5411&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=LUCKY%20%23782%20UNION%20CI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=230048625&MCC=5411&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=LUCKY%20%23782%20UNION%20CI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=237997742&MCC=5964&MST=CA&MCITY=866-667-2861&MNM=PRINT-2-MAIL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VGC9081
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VGC9081
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VQP0621
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-808-4239&MNM=CDW%20GOVT%20%23VQP0621
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=835990879&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=CKE*IKE%27%27S%20LOVE%20AND%20SANDWI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=835990879&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=CKE*IKE%27%27S%20LOVE%20AND%20SANDWI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*AA7AW5Q03%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*AA7AW5Q03%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266030677&MCC=7361&MST=IN&MCITY=317-593-4800&MNM=BOARD%20CERT%20SAFE%20PRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266030677&MCC=7361&MST=IN&MCITY=317-593-4800&MNM=BOARD%20CERT%20SAFE%20PRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=146372040&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=530-9245444&MNM=CAPIO%20-%20CA%20ASSOCIATION%20OF
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=146372040&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=530-9245444&MNM=CAPIO%20-%20CA%20ASSOCIATION%20OF
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LR7VV8DS3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LR7VV8DS3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*XO0WG0SH3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*XO0WG0SH3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262120744317
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262120744317
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=292319038&MCC=5085&MST=NC&MCITY=910-442-2164&MNM=GLOBALTEST%20SUPPLY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=292319038&MCC=5085&MST=NC&MCITY=910-442-2164&MNM=GLOBALTEST%20SUPPLY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=128716203&MCC=7342&MST=CA&MCITY=408-5590933&MNM=A-PRO%20PEST%20CONTROL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=128716203&MCC=7342&MST=CA&MCITY=408-5590933&MNM=A-PRO%20PEST%20CONTROL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=148951557&MCC=7394&MST=CA&MCITY=510-357-6200&MNM=PETERSON%20SAN%20LEANDRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=148951557&MCC=7394&MST=CA&MCITY=510-357-6200&MNM=PETERSON%20SAN%20LEANDRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=234629077&MCC=5085&MST=IL&MCITY=855-2899676&MNM=ZORO%20TOOLS%20INC


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 210.52 1 $ 210.52 $ 0.00 0 $ 210.52 0.31% 1 $ 18.68

SUPPLIES US*QE0R01L53 AM

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 TOMATINA UNION UNION CITY CA 201.12 3 67.04 0.00 0 201.12 0.29% 3 0.00

G CITY

47978 VEHICLE 7538 CATS AUTOMOTIVE FREMONT CA 200.44 1 200.44 0.00 0 200.44 0.29% 1 0.00

EXPENSE

47970 OFFICE 8911 BROWN AND 925-2102277 CO 200.00 1 200.00 0.00 0 200.00 0.29% 1 0.00

SERVICES CALDWELL

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 197.40 1 197.40 0.00 0 197.40 0.29% 1 17.60

SUPPLIES US*3F9ZF0Q73

47979 WHOLESALE 5311 EBAY 800-4563229 CA 195.57 1 195.57 0.00 0 195.57 0.29% 1 0.00

TRADE O*05-04263-61550

47963 BUSINESS 8999 SOCIETYFORHUMA 800-2837476 VA 192.00 1 192.00 0.00 0 192.00 0.28% 1 0.00

EXPENS NRESOURCE

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 PANERA BREAD 314-984-3970 CA 191.58 1 191.58 0.00 0 191.58 0.28% 1 0.00

G #601101

373694 8699 8699 NATIONAL 703-7368900 VA 190.00 1 190.00 0.00 0 190.00 0.28% 1 0.00

INSITUTE OF GOVE

47979 WHOLESALE 5251 HARBOR FREIGHT HAYWARD CA 187.77 3 62.59 0.00 0 187.77 0.27% 3 16.68

TRADE TOOLS 494

47978 VEHICLE 5533 AUTOZONE 4099 510-404-2390 CA 179.98 1 179.98 0.00 0 179.98 0.26% 1 15.99

EXPENSE

47979 WHOLESALE 5072 DWYER 2198798868 IN 173.87 1 173.87 0.00 0 173.87 0.25% 1 0.00

TRADE INSTRUMENTS, INC

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 GIH*GLOBALINDUS 800-645-2986 FL 171.34 1 171.34 0.00 0 171.34 0.25% 1 15.22

TRADE TRIALEQ

47960 AIRLINE 3066 SOUTHWES    800-435-9792 TX 167.96 1 167.96 0.00 0 167.96 0.25% 1 0.00

5262143396855

47966 MAIL/TELEPHON 5965 NASCO  FORT 920-5685511 WI 167.76 1 167.76 0.00 0 167.76 0.25% 1 14.90

E ATKINSON

47979 WHOLESALE 5311 EBAY 800-4563229 CA 164.57 1 164.57 0.00 0 164.57 0.24% 1 0.00

TRADE O*15-04260-94739

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 OMEGA  203-359-1660 CT 158.02 1 158.02 0.00 0 158.02 0.23% 1 0.00

TRADE *ENGINEERING

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     6

541 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*QE0R01L53%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*QE0R01L53%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=82512776&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=TOMATINA%20UNION%20CITY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=82512776&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=TOMATINA%20UNION%20CITY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=272194622&MCC=7538&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=CATS%20AUTOMOTIVE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266183293&MCC=8911&MST=CO&MCITY=925-2102277&MNM=BROWN%20AND%20CALDWELL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266183293&MCC=8911&MST=CO&MCITY=925-2102277&MNM=BROWN%20AND%20CALDWELL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*3F9ZF0Q73
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*3F9ZF0Q73
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5311&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4563229&MNM=EBAY%20O*05-04263-61550
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5311&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4563229&MNM=EBAY%20O*05-04263-61550
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=263048335&MCC=8999&MST=VA&MCITY=800-2837476&MNM=SOCIETYFORHUMANRESOURCE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=263048335&MCC=8999&MST=VA&MCITY=800-2837476&MNM=SOCIETYFORHUMANRESOURCE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=265830737&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=314-984-3970&MNM=PANERA%20BREAD%20%23601101
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=265830737&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=314-984-3970&MNM=PANERA%20BREAD%20%23601101
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=217107317&MCC=8699&MST=VA&MCITY=703-7368900&MNM=NATIONAL%20INSITUTE%20OF%20GOVE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=217107317&MCC=8699&MST=VA&MCITY=703-7368900&MNM=NATIONAL%20INSITUTE%20OF%20GOVE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=129171965&MCC=5251&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=HARBOR%20FREIGHT%20TOOLS%20494
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=129171965&MCC=5251&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=HARBOR%20FREIGHT%20TOOLS%20494
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=191102927&MCC=5533&MST=CA&MCITY=510-404-2390&MNM=AUTOZONE%204099
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=253498750&MCC=5072&MST=IN&MCITY=2198798868&MNM=DWYER%20INSTRUMENTS,%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=253498750&MCC=5072&MST=IN&MCITY=2198798868&MNM=DWYER%20INSTRUMENTS,%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=169899405&MCC=5085&MST=FL&MCITY=800-645-2986&MNM=GIH*GLOBALINDUSTRIALEQ
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=169899405&MCC=5085&MST=FL&MCITY=800-645-2986&MNM=GIH*GLOBALINDUSTRIALEQ
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262143396855
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=257752520&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SOUTHWES%20%20%20%205262143396855
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=166024694&MCC=5965&MST=WI&MCITY=920-5685511&MNM=NASCO%20%20FORT%20ATKINSON
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=166024694&MCC=5965&MST=WI&MCITY=920-5685511&MNM=NASCO%20%20FORT%20ATKINSON
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5311&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4563229&MNM=EBAY%20O*15-04260-94739
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5311&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4563229&MNM=EBAY%20O*15-04260-94739
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=172388169&MCC=5085&MST=CT&MCITY=203-359-1660&MNM=OMEGA%20%20*ENGINEERING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=172388169&MCC=5085&MST=CT&MCITY=203-359-1660&MNM=OMEGA%20%20*ENGINEERING


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 INDUSTRIAL FILTER 812-8674730 IN $ 157.45 1 $ 157.45 $ 0.00 0 $ 157.45 0.23% 1 $ 7.87

TRADE

47972 OTHER 5999 SQ *SCHWALM USA 415-375-3176 SC 153.83 1 153.83 0.00 0 153.83 0.23% 1 12.69

LLC

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 151.12 1 151.12 0.00 0 151.12 0.22% 1 13.42

SUPPLIES US*Z298Y2MP3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*JG0 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 149.53 1 149.53 0.00 0 149.53 0.22% 1 13.45

SUPPLIES 3T5573 AMZN

47963 BUSINESS 8299 SKILLPATH / 913-3623900 KS 149.00 1 149.00 0.00 0 149.00 0.22% 1 5.96

EXPENS NATIONAL

378973 4899 4899 AUTOPAY/DISH 800-333-3474 CO 131.82 2 65.91 0.00 0 131.82 0.19% 2 0.00

NTWK

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*DV9 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 131.68 1 131.68 0.00 0 131.68 0.19% 1 11.70

SUPPLIES 1B7TH3

371673 8398 8398 PAYPAL *AWWEE 402-935-7733 CA 125.00 1 125.00 0.00 0 125.00 0.18% 1 0.00

47978 VEHICLE 5533 MACSCUSTOMTIED 800-666-1586 WA 124.95 1 124.95 0.00 0 124.95 0.18% 1 0.00

EXPENSE OWNS

47979 WHOLESALE 5169 MAR-LEN SUPPLY 510-782-3555 CA 123.42 1 123.42 0.00 0 123.42 0.18% 1 0.00

TRADE INC -CLV

47961 AUTO/RV 5561 AMERICAN TRUCK 800-4998985 CA 121.03 1 121.03 0.00 0 121.03 0.18% 1 9.36

DEALERS AND TRAILE

47963 BUSINESS 9399 CA DEPT PEST 916-4453891 CA 120.00 2 60.00 0.00 0 120.00 0.18% 2 0.00

EXPENS REGS LICENSI

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 118.46 1 118.46 0.00 0 118.46 0.17% 1 10.53

SUPPLIES US*G26NI1273 AM

47972 OTHER 5941 CAMPWORLD/GAN 844-635-7285 KY 116.57 1 116.57 0.00 0 116.57 0.17% 1 0.00

DER/OVERT

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 109.42 1 109.42 0.00 0 109.42 0.16% 1 9.72

SUPPLIES US*A83FZ5ZL3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 108.98 1 108.98 0.00 0 108.98 0.16% 1 9.68

SUPPLIES US*AQ60V6WD3

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 CHIPOTLE 1529 UNION CITY CA 106.08 1 106.08 0.00 0 106.08 0.16% 1 0.00

G

47963 BUSINESS 8999 THE BUSINESS 800-486-3289 NC 105.00 1 105.00 0.00 0 105.00 0.15% 1 0.00

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     7

542 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=122987821&MCC=5085&MST=IN&MCITY=812-8674730&MNM=INDUSTRIAL%20FILTER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=809715907&MCC=5999&MST=SC&MCITY=415-375-3176&MNM=SQ%20*SCHWALM%20USA%20LLC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=809715907&MCC=5999&MST=SC&MCITY=415-375-3176&MNM=SQ%20*SCHWALM%20USA%20LLC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*Z298Y2MP3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*Z298Y2MP3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*JG03T5573%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*JG03T5573%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236110855&MCC=8299&MST=KS&MCITY=913-3623900&MNM=SKILLPATH%20/%20NATIONAL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236110855&MCC=8299&MST=KS&MCITY=913-3623900&MNM=SKILLPATH%20/%20NATIONAL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227123648&MCC=4899&MST=CO&MCITY=800-333-3474&MNM=AUTOPAY/DISH%20NTWK
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227123648&MCC=4899&MST=CO&MCITY=800-333-3474&MNM=AUTOPAY/DISH%20NTWK
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*DV91B7TH3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*DV91B7TH3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=174730456&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*AWWEE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231968141&MCC=5533&MST=WA&MCITY=800-666-1586&MNM=MACSCUSTOMTIEDOWNS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231968141&MCC=5533&MST=WA&MCITY=800-666-1586&MNM=MACSCUSTOMTIEDOWNS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=220633792&MCC=5169&MST=CA&MCITY=510-782-3555&MNM=MAR-LEN%20SUPPLY%20INC%20-CLV
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=220633792&MCC=5169&MST=CA&MCITY=510-782-3555&MNM=MAR-LEN%20SUPPLY%20INC%20-CLV
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264303636&MCC=5561&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4998985&MNM=AMERICAN%20TRUCK%20AND%20TRAILE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264303636&MCC=5561&MST=CA&MCITY=800-4998985&MNM=AMERICAN%20TRUCK%20AND%20TRAILE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=230702021&MCC=9399&MST=CA&MCITY=916-4453891&MNM=CA%20DEPT%20PEST%20REGS%20LICENSI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=230702021&MCC=9399&MST=CA&MCITY=916-4453891&MNM=CA%20DEPT%20PEST%20REGS%20LICENSI
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*G26NI1273%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*G26NI1273%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=263465000&MCC=5941&MST=KY&MCITY=844-635-7285&MNM=CAMPWORLD/GANDER/OVERT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=263465000&MCC=5941&MST=KY&MCITY=844-635-7285&MNM=CAMPWORLD/GANDER/OVERT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*A83FZ5ZL3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*A83FZ5ZL3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208709828&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*AQ60V6WD3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208709828&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*AQ60V6WD3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=140434126&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=CHIPOTLE%201529
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=268515288&MCC=8999&MST=NC&MCITY=800-486-3289&MNM=THE%20BUSINESS%20JOURNALS


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47963 EXPENS JOURNALS

47979 WHOLESALE 5047 TELEDYNE 402-4640231 CA 102.07 1 102.07 0.00 0 102.07 0.15% 1 0.00

TRADE INSTRUMENTS INC

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 97.29 1 97.29 0.00 0 97.29 0.14% 1 8.65

SUPPLIES US*LU9T628I3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*E10 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 93.28 1 93.28 0.00 0 93.28 0.14% 1 8.29

SUPPLIES ZC9VO3

47979 WHOLESALE 5399 SMARTSIGN 718-797-1900 NY 92.03 1 92.03 0.00 0 92.03 0.13% 1 7.50

TRADE

373183 5046 5046 KLEEN-RITE 717-6846721 PA 91.52 2 45.76 0.00 0 91.52 0.13% 2 6.14

CORPORATION

47970 OFFICE 7311 FACEBK 650-5434800 CA 91.51 1 91.51 0.00 0 91.51 0.13% 1 0.00

SERVICES DHA4WM24A2

373694 8699 8699 NATIONAL 702-989-8095 NV 90.00 1 90.00 0.00 0 90.00 0.13% 1 0.00

PROCUREMENT 

INST

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 89.98 1 89.98 0.00 0 89.98 0.13% 1 7.99

SUPPLIES US*ZY0DD14O3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*LF36 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 87.79 1 87.79 0.00 0 87.79 0.13% 1 7.80

SUPPLIES E6TD3 AMZN

373183 5046 5046 BIG JOE HANDLING 510-785-6900 CA 86.44 1 86.44 0.00 0 86.44 0.13% 1 0.00

SYSTEMS

47979 WHOLESALE 5200 THE HOME DEPOT UNION CITY CA 85.34 1 85.34 0.00 0 85.34 0.12% 1 7.58

TRADE 635

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 82.29 1 82.29 0.00 0 82.29 0.12% 1 7.31

SUPPLIES US*WT9F848S3

47970 OFFICE 7311 FACEBK 650-5434800 CA 80.80 1 80.80 0.00 0 80.80 0.12% 1 0.00

SERVICES VCEC6MN3A2

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 L & L HAWAIAN UNION CITY CA 78.13 1 78.13 0.00 0 78.13 0.11% 1 0.00

G BARBECUE

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 76.61 1 76.61 0.00 0 76.61 0.11% 1 6.81

SUPPLIES US*9Z8ZI8CR3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 75.73 1 75.73 0.00 0 75.73 0.11% 1 6.73

SUPPLIES US*YN2PF3N03

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     8

543 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=268515288&MCC=8999&MST=NC&MCITY=800-486-3289&MNM=THE%20BUSINESS%20JOURNALS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266058107&MCC=5047&MST=CA&MCITY=402-4640231&MNM=TELEDYNE%20INSTRUMENTS%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=266058107&MCC=5047&MST=CA&MCITY=402-4640231&MNM=TELEDYNE%20INSTRUMENTS%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LU9T628I3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LU9T628I3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*E10ZC9VO3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*E10ZC9VO3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=157141254&MCC=5399&MST=NY&MCITY=718-797-1900&MNM=SMARTSIGN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=148712009&MCC=5046&MST=PA&MCITY=717-6846721&MNM=KLEEN-RITE%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=148712009&MCC=5046&MST=PA&MCITY=717-6846721&MNM=KLEEN-RITE%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20DHA4WM24A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20DHA4WM24A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198014205&MCC=8699&MST=NV&MCITY=702-989-8095&MNM=NATIONAL%20PROCUREMENT%20INST
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198014205&MCC=8699&MST=NV&MCITY=702-989-8095&MNM=NATIONAL%20PROCUREMENT%20INST
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198014205&MCC=8699&MST=NV&MCITY=702-989-8095&MNM=NATIONAL%20PROCUREMENT%20INST
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZY0DD14O3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZY0DD14O3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*LF36E6TD3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*LF36E6TD3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123017854&MCC=5046&MST=CA&MCITY=510-785-6900&MNM=BIG%20JOE%20HANDLING%20SYSTEMS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123017854&MCC=5046&MST=CA&MCITY=510-785-6900&MNM=BIG%20JOE%20HANDLING%20SYSTEMS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165965521&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=THE%20HOME%20DEPOT%20635
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165965521&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=THE%20HOME%20DEPOT%20635
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*WT9F848S3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*WT9F848S3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20VCEC6MN3A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20VCEC6MN3A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=140240504&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=L%20%26%20L%20HAWAIAN%20BARBECUE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=140240504&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=L%20%26%20L%20HAWAIAN%20BARBECUE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*9Z8ZI8CR3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*9Z8ZI8CR3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*YN2PF3N03
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*YN2PF3N03


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 75.63 1 $ 75.63 $ 0.00 0 $ 75.63 0.11% 1 $ 6.73

SUPPLIES US*CV66X66T3

235401 REGISTRATION 8111 LIEBERTCASS 310-981-2000 CA 75.00 1 75.00 0.00 0 75.00 0.11% 1 0.00

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*ZS1 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 73.04 1 73.04 0.00 0 73.04 0.11% 1 6.48

SUPPLIES 2X3T43 AMZN

47970 OFFICE 7311 FACEBK 650-5434800 CA 71.73 1 71.73 0.00 0 71.73 0.11% 1 0.00

SERVICES CED93NW3A2

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*Y296 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 71.33 1 71.33 0.00 0 71.33 0.10% 1 6.34

SUPPLIES M1IJ3 AMZN

5942 AMAZON.COM*670 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 71.33 1 71.33 0.00 0 71.33 0.10% 1 6.34

G887V3

5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 71.33 1 71.33 0.00 0 71.33 0.10% 1 0.00

US*0Z6I35C63

47979 WHOLESALE 5085 GRAINGER 877-2022594 IL 70.36 1 70.36 0.00 0 70.36 0.10% 1 5.28

TRADE

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 70.23 1 70.23 0.00 0 70.23 0.10% 1 6.24

SUPPLIES US*F29KY23D3 AM

47970 OFFICE 8911 IN *BURLINGAME 925-9435200 CA 69.78 1 69.78 0.00 0 69.78 0.10% 1 4.78

SERVICES ENGINEERS

289779 COMPUTER 4816 DRI*CLOUDBERRY 952-908-4084 MN 68.00 2 34.00 0.00 0 68.00 0.10% 2 0.00

LAB(TM)

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW DIR #VKZ6552 800-800-4239 IL 66.13 1 66.13 0.00 0 66.13 0.10% 1 5.19

TRADE

378973 4899 4899 DISH 800-333-3474 CO 65.91 1 65.91 0.00 0 65.91 0.10% 1 0.00

NETWORK-ONE 

TIME

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 TOGO'S FREMONT 510-796-5100 CA 65.80 1 65.80 0.00 0 65.80 0.10% 1 0.00

G 331963O

47972 OTHER 7999 ACT*MSA SAN 877-551-5560 VA 65.00 1 65.00 0.00 0 65.00 0.10% 1 0.00

FRANCISCO

371673 8398 8398 CWEA SCVS OAKLAND CA 65.00 1 65.00 0.00 0 65.00 0.10% 1 0.00

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 63.41 1 63.41 0.00 0 63.41 0.09% 1 4.56

SUPPLIES US*JN0F33YU3

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 MR PICKLES 325 - UNION CITY CA 63.15 1 63.15 0.00 0 63.15 0.09% 1 0.00

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page     9

544 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*CV66X66T3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*CV66X66T3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231426840&MCC=8111&MST=CA&MCITY=310-981-2000&MNM=LIEBERTCASS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*ZS12X3T43%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*ZS12X3T43%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20CED93NW3A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264048084&MCC=7311&MST=CA&MCITY=650-5434800&MNM=FACEBK%20CED93NW3A2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*Y296M1IJ3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*Y296M1IJ3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*670G887V3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*670G887V3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*0Z6I35C63
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*0Z6I35C63
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=270704289&MCC=5085&MST=IL&MCITY=877-2022594&MNM=GRAINGER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*F29KY23D3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*F29KY23D3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=8911&MST=CA&MCITY=925-9435200&MNM=IN%20*BURLINGAME%20ENGINEERS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=198058927&MCC=8911&MST=CA&MCITY=925-9435200&MNM=IN%20*BURLINGAME%20ENGINEERS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=210324654&MCC=4816&MST=MN&MCITY=952-908-4084&MNM=DRI*CLOUDBERRY%20LAB%28TM%29
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=210324654&MCC=4816&MST=MN&MCITY=952-908-4084&MNM=DRI*CLOUDBERRY%20LAB%28TM%29
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-800-4239&MNM=CDW%20DIR%20%23VKZ6552
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227123648&MCC=4899&MST=CO&MCITY=800-333-3474&MNM=DISH%20NETWORK-ONE%20TIME
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227123648&MCC=4899&MST=CO&MCITY=800-333-3474&MNM=DISH%20NETWORK-ONE%20TIME
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227123648&MCC=4899&MST=CO&MCITY=800-333-3474&MNM=DISH%20NETWORK-ONE%20TIME
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=158669948&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=510-796-5100&MNM=TOGO%27%27S%20FREMONT%20331963O
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=158669948&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=510-796-5100&MNM=TOGO%27%27S%20FREMONT%20331963O
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236148591&MCC=7999&MST=VA&MCITY=877-551-5560&MNM=ACT*MSA%20SAN%20FRANCISCO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236148591&MCC=7999&MST=VA&MCITY=877-551-5560&MNM=ACT*MSA%20SAN%20FRANCISCO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=263076713&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=OAKLAND&MNM=CWEA%20SCVS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*JN0F33YU3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*JN0F33YU3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123472685&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MR%20PICKLES%20325%20-%20UNION


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47964 G UNION

371673 8398 8398 BAY NATURE 510-528-8550 CA 62.95 1 62.95 0.00 0 62.95 0.09% 1 0.00

47979 WHOLESALE 5200 THE HOME DEPOT HAYWARD CA 62.54 1 62.54 0.00 0 62.54 0.09% 1 5.56

TRADE #1017

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 61.86 1 61.86 0.00 0 61.86 0.09% 1 5.50

SUPPLIES US*LB65W6BF3

47979 WHOLESALE 5411 SAFEWAY #309 FREMONT CA 61.47 1 61.47 0.00 0 61.47 0.09% 1 0.00

TRADE

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 61.26 1 61.26 0.00 0 61.26 0.09% 1 4.41

SUPPLIES US*637XW1C73

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*TS6 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 60.92 1 60.92 0.00 0 60.92 0.09% 1 5.41

SUPPLIES N88JZ3 AMZN

371511 7216 7216 GREEN LEAF FREMONT CA 60.00 2 30.00 0.00 0 60.00 0.09% 2 0.00

CLEANERS

47979 WHOLESALE 5200 LOWES #01895* FREMONT CA 58.80 1 58.80 0.00 0 58.80 0.09% 1 4.98

TRADE

47978 VEHICLE 5599 WWW.KISCOSALES. 661-327-7786 CA 58.63 1 58.63 0.00 0 58.63 0.09% 1 4.34

EXPENSE COM

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 58.36 1 58.36 0.00 0 58.36 0.09% 1 0.00

SUPPLIES US*XH7KS1PC3

47979 WHOLESALE 5039 BEST ACCESS ANCASTER ON 55.20 1 55.20 0.00 0 55.20 0.08% 1 0.00

TRADE DOORS

47972 OTHER 5970 MICHAELS STORES UNION CITY CA 52.68 1 52.68 0.00 0 52.68 0.08% 1 0.00

2076

373183 5046 5046 BOBCAT OF FREMONT CA 50.74 1 50.74 0.00 0 50.74 0.07% 1 0.00

FREMONT

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5812 BRONCO BILLY'S UNION CITY CA 50.38 1 50.38 0.00 0 50.38 0.07% 1 0.00

G PIZZA

47971 OFFICE 5734 CBI*CLEVERBRIDG 800-799-9570 IL 49.95 1 49.95 0.00 0 49.95 0.07% 1 0.00

SUPPLIES E.NET

47971 OFFICE 5943 FRANKLINCOVEYP 800-819-1812 UT 49.88 1 49.88 0.00 0 49.88 0.07% 1 0.00

SUPPLIES RODUCTS

47963 BUSINESS 8299 EDX, INC. 617-2544049 MA 49.00 1 49.00 0.00 0 49.00 0.07% 1 0.00

EXPENS

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page    10

545 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123472685&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MR%20PICKLES%20325%20-%20UNION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=142881123&MCC=8398&MST=CA&MCITY=510-528-8550&MNM=BAY%20NATURE
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165768246&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=THE%20HOME%20DEPOT%20%231017
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=165768246&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=HAYWARD&MNM=THE%20HOME%20DEPOT%20%231017
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LB65W6BF3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*LB65W6BF3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=243988427&MCC=5411&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=SAFEWAY%20%23309
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*637XW1C73
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*637XW1C73
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*TS6N88JZ3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*TS6N88JZ3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236876372&MCC=7216&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=GREEN%20LEAF%20CLEANERS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236876372&MCC=7216&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=GREEN%20LEAF%20CLEANERS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=180145415&MCC=5200&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=LOWES%20%2301895*
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=146556327&MCC=5599&MST=CA&MCITY=661-327-7786&MNM=WWW.KISCOSALES.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=146556327&MCC=5599&MST=CA&MCITY=661-327-7786&MNM=WWW.KISCOSALES.COM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*XH7KS1PC3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*XH7KS1PC3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=183101031&MCC=5039&MST=ON&MCITY=ANCASTER&MNM=BEST%20ACCESS%20DOORS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=183101031&MCC=5039&MST=ON&MCITY=ANCASTER&MNM=BEST%20ACCESS%20DOORS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131656481&MCC=5970&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MICHAELS%20STORES%202076
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=131656481&MCC=5970&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=MICHAELS%20STORES%202076
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=179700693&MCC=5046&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=BOBCAT%20OF%20FREMONT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=179700693&MCC=5046&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=BOBCAT%20OF%20FREMONT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=162830978&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=BRONCO%20BILLY%27%27S%20PIZZA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=162830978&MCC=5812&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=BRONCO%20BILLY%27%27S%20PIZZA
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=203559071&MCC=5734&MST=IL&MCITY=800-799-9570&MNM=CBI*CLEVERBRIDGE.NET
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=203559071&MCC=5734&MST=IL&MCITY=800-799-9570&MNM=CBI*CLEVERBRIDGE.NET
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231351604&MCC=5943&MST=UT&MCITY=800-819-1812&MNM=FRANKLINCOVEYPRODUCTS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231351604&MCC=5943&MST=UT&MCITY=800-819-1812&MNM=FRANKLINCOVEYPRODUCTS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=166342005&MCC=8299&MST=MA&MCITY=617-2544049&MNM=EDX,%20INC.


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 46.05 1 $ 46.05 $ 0.00 0 $ 46.05 0.07% 1 $ 4.08

SUPPLIES US*ZB93G7IQ3

47963 BUSINESS 8299 PESTICIDE 916-4412272 CA 45.00 1 45.00 0.00 0 45.00 0.07% 1 0.00

EXPENS APPLICATORS PRO

47979 WHOLESALE 5310 WAL-MART #2031 UNION CITY CA 43.81 4 10.95 0.00 0 43.81 0.06% 4 1.46

TRADE

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5814 SK DONUT UNION CITY CA 43.80 2 21.90 0.00 0 43.80 0.06% 2 0.00

G

289779 COMPUTER 5968 WEB*NETWORKSO 888-6429675 FL 41.97 1 41.97 0.00 0 41.97 0.06% 1 0.00

LUTIONS

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 41.66 1 41.66 0.00 0 41.66 0.06% 1 3.70

SUPPLIES US*RD8BM9FG3

47979 WHOLESALE 5261 SINGLE CYLINDER 510-558-1112 CA 41.52 1 41.52 0.00 0 41.52 0.06% 1 0.00

TRADE REPAIR 2

47979 WHOLESALE 5099 WORKSMAN 718-322-2000 SC 40.73 1 40.73 0.00 0 40.73 0.06% 1 2.58

TRADE CYCLES COMPANY

47970 OFFICE 8911 CA SURVEYING & SACRAMENTO CA 38.63 1 38.63 0.00 0 38.63 0.06% 1 2.34

SERVICES DRAFTNG

47979 WHOLESALE 5231 ROADRUNNER FREMONT CA 38.24 1 38.24 0.00 0 38.24 0.06% 1 0.00

TRADE GLASS

47964 EATING/DRINKIN 5462 ANDERSEN UNION UNION CITY CA 34.85 1 34.85 0.00 0 34.85 0.05% 1 0.00

G LANDING

47972 OTHER 5712 PAYPAL 4029357733 31.94 1 31.94 0.00 0 31.94 0.05% 1 0.00

*SHIXINETWOR

47972 OTHER 5941 CROWN AWARDS 800-227-1557 NY 29.36 1 29.36 0.00 0 29.36 0.04% 1 0.03

INC

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*DG7 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 27.40 1 27.40 0.00 0 27.40 0.04% 1 2.43

SUPPLIES 1U9I43 AMZN

5942 AMAZON.COM*RX1 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 27.40 1 27.40 0.00 0 27.40 0.04% 1 0.00

CJ0903

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 26.04 1 26.04 0.00 0 26.04 0.04% 1 2.31

SUPPLIES US*MP9FZ6VF3

47960 AIRLINE 3066 SWA*EARLYBRD52 800-435-9792 TX 25.00 1 25.00 0.00 0 25.00 0.04% 1 0.00

69850268246

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page    11

546 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZB93G7IQ3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*ZB93G7IQ3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276115275&MCC=8299&MST=CA&MCITY=916-4412272&MNM=PESTICIDE%20APPLICATORS%20PRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276115275&MCC=8299&MST=CA&MCITY=916-4412272&MNM=PESTICIDE%20APPLICATORS%20PRO
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=189015403&MCC=5310&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=WAL-MART%20%232031
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=160260012&MCC=5814&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=SK%20DONUT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134617336&MCC=5968&MST=FL&MCITY=888-6429675&MNM=WEB*NETWORKSOLUTIONS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=134617336&MCC=5968&MST=FL&MCITY=888-6429675&MNM=WEB*NETWORKSOLUTIONS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*RD8BM9FG3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*RD8BM9FG3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=154368930&MCC=5261&MST=CA&MCITY=510-558-1112&MNM=SINGLE%20CYLINDER%20REPAIR%202
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=154368930&MCC=5261&MST=CA&MCITY=510-558-1112&MNM=SINGLE%20CYLINDER%20REPAIR%202
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=229673451&MCC=5099&MST=SC&MCITY=718-322-2000&MNM=WORKSMAN%20CYCLES%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=229673451&MCC=5099&MST=SC&MCITY=718-322-2000&MNM=WORKSMAN%20CYCLES%20COMPANY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=145650686&MCC=8911&MST=CA&MCITY=SACRAMENTO&MNM=CA%20SURVEYING%20%26%20DRAFTNG
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=145650686&MCC=8911&MST=CA&MCITY=SACRAMENTO&MNM=CA%20SURVEYING%20%26%20DRAFTNG
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123346794&MCC=5231&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=ROADRUNNER%20GLASS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123346794&MCC=5231&MST=CA&MCITY=FREMONT&MNM=ROADRUNNER%20GLASS
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=217493571&MCC=5462&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=ANDERSEN%20UNION%20LANDING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=217493571&MCC=5462&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=ANDERSEN%20UNION%20LANDING
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=842457077&MCC=5712&MST=%20&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*SHIXINETWOR
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=842457077&MCC=5712&MST=%20&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*SHIXINETWOR
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264929643&MCC=5941&MST=NY&MCITY=800-227-1557&MNM=CROWN%20AWARDS%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=264929643&MCC=5941&MST=NY&MCITY=800-227-1557&MNM=CROWN%20AWARDS%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*DG71U9I43%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*DG71U9I43%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RX1CJ0903
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RX1CJ0903
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*MP9FZ6VF3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*MP9FZ6VF3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=280320977&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SWA*EARLYBRD5269850268246
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=280320977&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SWA*EARLYBRD5269850268246


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47960 AIRLINE 3066 SWA*EARLYBRD52 800-435-9792 TX $ 25.00 1 $ 25.00 $ 0.00 0 $ 25.00 0.04% 1 $ 0.00

69850268247

47972 OTHER 7999 ACT*MSA SF BAY 877-551-5560 VA 25.00 1 25.00 0.00 0 25.00 0.04% 1 0.00

AREA CH

47978 VEHICLE 4784 FASTRAK CSC 415-486-8655 CA 25.00 1 25.00 0.00 0 25.00 0.04% 1 0.00

EXPENSE

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 24.03 1 24.03 0.00 0 24.03 0.04% 1 2.14

SUPPLIES US*Q64O39EM3 AM

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*YI0M AMZN.COM/BILL WA 22.25 1 22.25 0.00 0 22.25 0.03% 1 1.98

SUPPLIES H5ZK3 AMZN

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*TZ46 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 21.94 1 21.94 0.00 0 21.94 0.03% 1 1.95

SUPPLIES F9UA3 AMZN

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*F801 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 21.92 1 21.92 0.00 0 21.92 0.03% 1 1.95

SUPPLIES 27VE3 AMZN

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*417F AMZN.COM/BILL WA 21.90 1 21.90 0.00 0 21.90 0.03% 1 1.95

SUPPLIES O3TR3 AMZN

5942 AMAZON.COM*RJ88 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 21.90 1 21.90 0.00 0 21.90 0.03% 1 1.95

J97F3

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 19.74 1 19.74 0.00 0 19.74 0.03% 1 0.00

SUPPLIES US*8D1K06NU3

47972 OTHER 5999 PAYPAL *EBAY 402-935-7733 CA 19.45 1 19.45 0.00 0 19.45 0.03% 1 0.00

WILLIAMTOT

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 19.21 1 19.21 0.00 0 19.21 0.03% 1 1.71

SUPPLIES US*029RB9IB3 AM

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*UU5 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 17.10 1 17.10 0.00 0 17.10 0.03% 1 1.52

SUPPLIES 931UR3 AMZN

47979 WHOLESALE 5331 PAYPAL 4029357733 15.98 1 15.98 0.00 0 15.98 0.02% 1 0.00

TRADE *SMILEYHOMEY

47979 WHOLESALE 5411 SMART AND FINAL UNION CITY CA 13.62 1 13.62 0.00 0 13.62 0.02% 1 1.21

TRADE 523

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 12.02 1 12.02 0.00 0 12.02 0.02% 1 1.07

SUPPLIES US*M38FI1JS2

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*IO61 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 11.61 1 11.61 0.00 0 11.61 0.02% 1 1.03

SUPPLIES H30J3 AMZN

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page    12

547 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=280320977&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SWA*EARLYBRD5269850268247
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=280320977&MCC=3066&MST=TX&MCITY=800-435-9792&MNM=SWA*EARLYBRD5269850268247
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236148591&MCC=7999&MST=VA&MCITY=877-551-5560&MNM=ACT*MSA%20SF%20BAY%20AREA%20CH
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=236148591&MCC=7999&MST=VA&MCITY=877-551-5560&MNM=ACT*MSA%20SF%20BAY%20AREA%20CH
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208468198&MCC=4784&MST=CA&MCITY=415-486-8655&MNM=FASTRAK%20CSC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*Q64O39EM3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*Q64O39EM3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*YI0MH5ZK3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*YI0MH5ZK3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*TZ46F9UA3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*TZ46F9UA3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*F80127VE3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*F80127VE3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*417FO3TR3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*417FO3TR3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RJ88J97F3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RJ88J97F3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*8D1K06NU3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*8D1K06NU3
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123020046&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*EBAY%20WILLIAMTOT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=123020046&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*EBAY%20WILLIAMTOT
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*029RB9IB3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*029RB9IB3%20AM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*UU5931UR3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*UU5931UR3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5331&MST=%20&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*SMILEYHOMEY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5331&MST=%20&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*SMILEYHOMEY
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227038431&MCC=5411&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=SMART%20AND%20FINAL%20523
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=227038431&MCC=5411&MST=CA&MCITY=UNION%20CITY&MNM=SMART%20AND%20FINAL%20523
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*M38FI1JS2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*M38FI1JS2
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*IO61H30J3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*IO61H30J3%20AMZN


State of California

Report Date: 01/13/2020

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail  

Merchant

Category Merchant Nbr of Average Nbr of % of

Code Group Merchant State/ Debit Debit Spend per Credit Credit Total Total Nbr of Total

MCCG Description MCC Merchant Name City Province Amount Trans Debit Trans Amount Trans Spend Spend Trans Sales Tax

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*RU6 AMZN.COM/BILL WA $ 10.96 1 $ 10.96 $ 0.00 0 $ 10.96 0.02% 1 $ 0.98

SUPPLIES 3A9II3 AMZN

5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 10.96 1 10.96 0.00 0 10.96 0.02% 1 0.98

US*0U7YM0F03

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP AMZN.COM/BILL WA 7.06 1 7.06 0.00 0 7.06 0.01% 1 0.63

SUPPLIES US*FV1SW2Q93

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMAZON.COM*OG2 AMZN.COM/BILL WA 6.12 1 6.12 0.00 0 6.12 0.01% 1 0.54

SUPPLIES 503VT3 AMZN

289779 COMPUTER 4816 PAYPAL *EBAY 402-935-7733 CA 1.22 1 1.22 0.00 0 1.22 0.00% 1 0.00

EBAY INC

47978 VEHICLE 5599 PETERSON 510-357-6200 CA 38.33 1 38.33 38.33 1 0.00 0.00% 2 0.00

EXPENSE TRUCKS SL

47971 OFFICE 5942 AMZN MKTP US AMZN.COM/BILL WA 0.00 0 0.00 26.04 1 (26.04) 0.00% 1 2.31

SUPPLIES

47979 WHOLESALE 5045 CDW DIR #VTV8369 800-800-4239 IL 0.00 0 0.00 58.38 1 (58.38) 0.00% 1 5.19

TRADE

47972 OTHER 5999 CAL OSHA 9167744000 CA 0.00 0 0.00 68.00 1 (68.00) 0.00% 1 0.00

REPORTER

373694 8699 8699 CALIFORNIA OAKLAND CA 0.00 0 0.00 145.00 1 (145.00) 0.00% 1 0.00

WATER ENVIRONM

47979 WHOLESALE 5099 ZEMARC LOS ANGELES CA 0.00 0 0.00 197.55 1 (197.55) 0.00% 1 0.00

TRADE CORPORATION

47963 BUSINESS 8299 PAYPAL 4029357733 CA 0.00 0 0.00 250.00 1 (250.00) 0.00% 1 0.00

EXPENS *PIPEUSERSGR

Total $69,146.94 $ 843.75 $68,303.19 312 $ 1,796.26

Total Number of Records:         220

End of Report

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08  Page    13

548 of 567

https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RU63A9II3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*RU63A9II3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*0U7YM0F03
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*0U7YM0F03
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*FV1SW2Q93
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=208609722&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US*FV1SW2Q93
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*OG2503VT3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=276996299&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMAZON.COM*OG2503VT3%20AMZN
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=174730456&MCC=4816&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*EBAY%20EBAY%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=174730456&MCC=4816&MST=CA&MCITY=402-935-7733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*EBAY%20EBAY%20INC
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=166228790&MCC=5599&MST=CA&MCITY=510-357-6200&MNM=PETERSON%20TRUCKS%20SL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=166228790&MCC=5599&MST=CA&MCITY=510-357-6200&MNM=PETERSON%20TRUCKS%20SL
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=223701625&MCC=5942&MST=WA&MCITY=AMZN.COM/BILL&MNM=AMZN%20MKTP%20US
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=231258991&MCC=5045&MST=IL&MCITY=800-800-4239&MNM=CDW%20DIR%20%23VTV8369
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=152556272&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=9167744000&MNM=CAL%20OSHA%20REPORTER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=152556272&MCC=5999&MST=CA&MCITY=9167744000&MNM=CAL%20OSHA%20REPORTER
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126086712&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=OAKLAND&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20WATER%20ENVIRONM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=126086712&MCC=8699&MST=CA&MCITY=OAKLAND&MNM=CALIFORNIA%20WATER%20ENVIRONM
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=LOS%20ANGELES&MNM=ZEMARC%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=0&MCC=5099&MST=CA&MCITY=LOS%20ANGELES&MNM=ZEMARC%20CORPORATION
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=174730456&MCC=8299&MST=CA&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*PIPEUSERSGR
https://www.access.usbank.com/cpsApp1/AxolComReportServlet?REPORT_ID=MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855&IBIF_ex=CCRMSA3R&IBIC_server=EDUCCRP1&IBIWF_msgviewer=off&APP_PARM=BEACON&BK=NONE&MID=174730456&MCC=8299&MST=CA&MCITY=4029357733&MNM=PAYPAL%20*PIPEUSERSGR


State of California
Report Date: 01/13/2020            

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail Output Parameter Page

Cycle Close Date Range: 10/2019 to 12/2019
Report Type: Detail

Merchant Profile Source: Association
Merchant Names: All

Merchant Category Code Group: All
Merchant States: All

Sort Report By: (1) Total Spend, (2) No Sort, (3) No Sort, (4) No Sort
Break/Subtotal Level: No Break/Subtotal

 Processing Hierarchy Position: Bank Agent Company Division Department

1425 3135 51756 All All

Merchant Spend Analysis - Detail / Teixeira1 / 01/13/2020 12:12:08 / MerchantSpendAnalysisReport1578939126612_6750_618395445296855  Page    14

549 of 567



 

  Summary of the EBDA Commission Meeting 
Thursday, December 19, 2019, at 9:30 a.m. 

Prepared by: P. Eldredge 
 
• Commissioners Cutter, Handley, Johnson, Mendall, and Walters were present.  

 
• Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the Commission Meeting Minutes of November 21, 2019, , 

List of Disbursements for November 2019, and the November 2019 Treasurer’s Report.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Johnson and carried 5-0 (Walters, Handley, Johnson, Mendall, Cutter; ayes). 

 
• The Commission unanimously approved the reports from the Managers Advisory, Financial 

Management, Personnel, and Operations & Maintenance. The following items were discussed: 
 
• General Managers Report - The General Manager (GM) reported that all five agencies have approved 

the Amended and Restated JPA and Fourth Amendment to the JPA (the extension). Each Agency 
confirmed that they will put due diligence into getting the documents signed before December 31st.  
 
The GM reported that the East Bay Regional Park District has agreed to collaborate with EBDA on the 
First Mile Horizontal Levee Project, which will evaluate a site south of Oro Loma treatment plant. The 
design phase will focus on working through permitting issues and collaborating with other agencies 
pursuing similar projects in other locations. EBDA plans on submitting the First Mile Project in the 
second half of 2020 to the Bay Restoration Regulatory Integration Team, a Measure AA Bay 
Restoration Program offshoot, which brings regulators together to streamline permitting of 
restoration projects.  
 
The GM also noted the annual expense of printing Commission Agenda Packets and requested any 
parties interested in going paperless to notify EBDA. 
 
The GM reported on her attendance at the Bay Area One Water Network workshop on water reuse in 
the Bay Area. The GM will share the forthcoming report from the workshop once it becomes available. 
An additional larger workshop will be held in April covering the outcomes of the water reuse 
workshop along with the workshop held previously on stormwater reuse.  
 
Lastly, there was discussion as to whether timecards for Commissioners are a necessary component 
for compliance, or whether the minutes and committee supplemental report can serve as sufficient 
documentation of attendance at meetings. Staff will continue to explore this. 

 
• Managers Advisory Committee (MAC) met with the General Manager on December 12, 2019. The MAC 

continued to discuss possible outsourcing options for HR and accounting functions to the member 
agencies and/or contracted firms. The MAC also discussed key terms of renewing the LAVWMA 
agreement. 

550 of 567



 

• Financial Management Committee The Financial Management Committee met with the GM on 
December 16, 2019, where they reviewed the List of Disbursements and Treasurer’s Report for 
November. The Committee recommended approval of the continued Resolution from November’s 
Commission meeting for Hanson Bridgett, and reviewed and recommended approval of the Resolution 
for OPEB and pension liability payments. The Finance Committee will review in the future whether there 
are any benefits for EBDA to use CALPERS’ new pension trusts offering. 

 
• Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Committee – The Operations and Maintenance Committee met 

on December 17, 2019, and discussed the status of the EBDA facilities. The GM stated that since the 
Regulatory Committee will now meet every other month or as needed, the tables showing compliance 
for NPDES testing will now be within the O&M agenda. The O&M Manager reviewed the NPDES Status 
Report, referencing graphs and tables showing compliance for CBOD, TSS, and bacteria limits, noting 
one high fecal coliform sample in November, still within regulatory compliance. The O&M Manager 
noted another high reading for fecal coliform in December, still within compliance. The GM will look 
into engaging a consulting expert on bacterial regrowth and bring that item to the Regulatory 
Committee for approval. EBDA will also discuss with the MAC an SOP for hypochlorite dosing and 
bacterial management going forward.  
 
The O&M Manager provided an update on current projects. For AEPS, the O&M Committee 
recommends approval of a resolution for a new impeller for pump number six. EBDA staff has also 
provided comments to Carollo Engineers on the Draft Cavitation Study Project Memorandum, which 
will be brought to the MAC after revisions are complete. At HEPS, the O&M manager reviewed 
recently completed work on the effluent diversion pipe. At OLEPS, as part of the Electrical 
Improvements Project, the installation of conduits and water lines is complete under the newly paved 
area between OLEPS and OLSD. The O&M Manager gave an update on Cyber Security, USA’s and 
Special Projects. The GM noted the Disaster Recovery Plan is nearly complete and a training session 
date is being selected. For the AQPI project, the contracting portion is almost complete, and despite 
not having the MOU complete, the radar is projected to be installed in March 2020. Despite the late 
installation, the agencies will still have access to the regional system for wet weather data projections 
this wet season. 
 

• Personnel Committee met with the GM on December 16, 2019, and discussed Commissioner 
compensation and the Commission Calendar. The Committee recommends leaving Commissioner 
compensation unchanged and not increasing the four maximum allowable meetings per month for 
billing. The Commission discussed preferences for the Commission Calendar and directed staff to 
continue to cancel Committee and/or Commission meetings if no Commission direction or approvals 
are needed.  The Personnel Committee and GM will continue to discuss possible schedule alterations 
in preparation for the new fiscal year. The Committee also recommends approval of changes to the 
Personnel Policy which defines more clearly terms for provisional and temporary employees. Lastly, 
the GM gave an update on staffing. 
 

• Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Amend the Agreement with Hanson Bridgett, LLP in 
the Amount of $50,000, for a Total Contract Value of $150,000 
Commissioner Mendall moved to adopt the Resolution authorizing the GM to amend the agreement 
with Hanson Bridgett, LLP. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Handley and carried 
unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.   
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 

551 of 567



 

Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 

• Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Make Lump Sum Payments to the Authority’s OPEB 
and Pension Accounts, to Apply FY2018-19 Credits To Each Agency’s Share of those Lump Sum 
Payments, and to Invoice the Agencies for Any Outstanding Portion of their Lump Sum Allocation. 

 
Commissioner Handley moved to adopt the Resolution authorizing the General Manager to make 
lump sum payments to the Authority’s OPEB and pension accounts, to apply FY2018-19 credits to 
each agency’s share of those lump sum payments, and to invoice the agencies for any outstanding 
portion of their lump sum allocation. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Johnson and carried 
unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.   
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 

 
• Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Issue a Purchase Order to Pump Repair Service 

Company in the Amount of $32,961 for a Replacement Impeller for Effluent Pump No. 6 at the 
Alvarado Effluent Pump Station.  
 
Commissioner Handley moved to adopt the Resolution authorizing the GM to issue a purchase order 
to Pump Repair Service Company. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Johnson and carried 
unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.   
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 
 

• Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Amend the Professional Services Agreement with 
Pacific EcoRisk Laboratory in the Amount of $13,500 for Acute Toxicity Testing Services through FY 
21/22 for a Total Contract Value of $61,500. 
 
Commissioner Walters moved to adopt the Resolution authorizing the General Manager to amend the 
Professional Services Agreement with Pacific EcoRisk Laboratory. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Mendall and carried unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.  
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 

552 of 567



 

• Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Issue a Purchase Order for the Period January 2020 
through June 2021 to Azyura in the Amount of $30,000 for Waterbits Licensing and Reporting 
Services. 
 
Commissioner Johnson moved to adopt the Resolution authorizing the General Manager to issue a 
purchase order for the period January 2020 through June 2021 to Azyura. The motion was seconded 
by Commissioner Handley and carried unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.  
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 

• Commission Input to LAVWMA Negotiation 
The GM sought direction on how the Commission would like to provide input to the LAVWMA 
negotiation. The Commission recommended that unless the negotiations necessitate more time than 
is available, discussion of the negotiations can be contained within the Finance Committee meetings. 
The Commission recommended not splitting negotiations into multiple committees. The GM will bring 
the item back to the Commission for further recommendation if circumstances mandate.  
 

• Resolution of Appreciation for Roberta Larson 
 
Commissioner Handley moved to adopt the Resolution of Appreciation for Roberta Larson. The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Johnson and carried unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.  
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 

• Resolution of Appreciation for David Williams 
 
Commissioner Walters moved to adopt the Resolution of Appreciation for David Williams. The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Mendall and carried unanimously, 5-0 by roll call vote.  
 
Ayes: Commissioners Mendall, Walters, Handley, Johnson, Chair Cutter. 
Noes: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 

 
• Items from the Commission and Staff 

The Commission restated the urgency of collecting signatures from all parties for the Fourth 
Amendment to the JPA and the Amended and Restated JPA before December 31st. 

553 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

SRF LOAN #C065085110 - NEWARK PS20191209.1173407 $685,404.62 $685,404.62SWRCB - STATE WATER RESOURCES1/16/2020

POOLED LIABILITY INSURANCE - 12/31/2019 - 12/31/20206568173307 $200,362.00 $200,362.00CAL SANITATION RISK MNGT AUTH1/9/2020

CALCIUM THIOSULFATE CHEMICAL TANK13290173319 $124,856.69 $124,856.69DW NICHOLSON CORP1/9/2020 143

COGENERATION FEASIBILITY STUDY1200236544173327 $39,500.45 $39,500.45HDR ENGINEERING INC1/9/2020 143

GAS SKID MEDIA CHANGE OUT23370173347 $37,071.12 $37,071.12PROMINENT SYSTEMS INC1/9/2020 170

SULFA MEDIA REPLACEMENT1900049173348 $35,688.72 $35,688.72PSC INDUSTRIAL OUTSOURCING LP1/9/2020 171

ALVARADO INFLUENT PS PUMPS AND VFDS183089173311 $1,412.97 $31,250.48CAROLLO ENGINEERS1/9/2020 143

3RD SLUDGE DEGRITTER SYSTEM183158 $4,556.001/9/2020 143

ALVARADO INFLUENT PS PUMPS AND VFDS183090 $5,095.311/9/2020 143

PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 2 REHABILITATION183213 $20,186.201/9/2020 143

1 STORAGE CONTAINER31778173360 $4,307.69 $29,001.44TRANSPORT PRODUCTS UNLIMITED1/9/2020 170

2 STORAGE CONTAINERS31777 $24,693.751/9/2020 171

MONTHLY CAL-CARD REPORT - DEC 2019533620191223173410 $27,485.17 $27,485.17US BANK CORP PAYMENT SYSTEM1/16/2020

FY20 Q DESKTOPS PHASE II10356452672173316 $25,965.48 $25,965.48DELL MARKETING LP C/O DELL USA1/9/2020

2019 GOVERNMENT AUDIT35279173331 $3,535.00 $24,675.00LANCE, SOLL & LUNGHARD LLP1/9/2020 136

2019 DISTRICT AUDIT - YEAR END FIELDWORK34128 $21,140.001/9/2020 136

Page 1 of 11554 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

OLD ALAMEDA CREEK ROWB171203173367 $1,559.75 $24,189.42WOODARD & CURRAN INC1/9/2020 143

FLOW MODEL & CAPACITY ANALYSIS (NEWPARK MALL)171123 $7,184.251/9/2020 141

HEADWORKS SCREENS REPLACEMENT171017 $15,445.421/9/2020 143

RENTAL AGREEMENT5004173357 $24,000.00 $24,000.00SCHWALM USA LLC1/9/2020 120

45,540LBS FERROUS CHLORIDE9017658582173394 $7,233.17 $21,708.64KEMIRA WATER SOLUTIONS INC1/16/2020 110

44,780 LBS FERROUS CHLORIDE9017656420 $7,041.871/16/2020 110

47,100 LBS FERROUS CHLORIDE9017658642 $7,433.601/16/2020 110

CENTRIFUGE 4 REBUILD PARTS8480093659173371 $18,141.20 $18,141.20ANDRITZ SEPARATION INC1/16/2020 170

COMPREHENSIVE SEWER RATE STUDY9716821173390 $17,323.44 $17,323.44HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC1/16/2020 136

SERV TO 12/25/19 NEWARK PS761520191226173343 $16,757.53 $17,099.95PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC1/9/2020 170

SERV TO 12/22/19 CS TRAINING TRAILER224720191230 $28.201/9/2020 110

SERV TO 12/04/19 IRVINGTON PS140120191213 $25.461/9/2020 170

SERV TO 01/01/20 CHERRY ST PS380420200102 $244.011/9/2020 110

SERV TO 01/01/2020 CATHODIC PROJECT096020200102 $44.751/9/2020 170

1 BELT1649173328 $16,567.42 $16,567.42HYDRO INTERNATIONAL WASTEWATER1/9/2020

DELL LATITUDE 5424 RUGGED LAPTOP10360169895173385 $15,413.31 $15,413.31DELL MARKETING LP C/O DELL USA1/16/2020

ETSU TEMPORARY OFFICE SPACE2007881173337 $13,428.60 $13,428.60MOBILE MODULAR MANAGEMENT CORP1/9/2020 110

Page 2 of 11555 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

4 SURFACE PROSWFG6796173312 $6,860.03 $13,340.03CDW GOVERNMENT LLC1/9/2020 173

SINGLEWIRE PAGING ANNUAL SUPPORTWFK9996 $1,625.001/9/2020 173

FY20 NETWORK HARDWARE REFRESH 2/2WFH0487 $4,855.001/9/2020

ETSU TRAILER FIBER INSTALL191544173413 $13,220.00 $13,220.00W BRADLEY ELECTRIC INC1/16/2020 143

DECEMBER 2019 DENTAL3745236C173317 $10,390.00 $11,831.09DELTA DENTAL SERVICE1/9/2020

DECEMBER 2019 DENTAL3745236A $1,441.091/9/2020

SPECIALTY FINANCE SERVICES CONSULTANT21173339 $10,495.24 $10,495.24MUSGRAVES CONSULTING SERVICES1/9/2020 130

LIFE & DISABILITY INSURANCE - JAN 202037432220200101173334 $8,660.65 $8,660.65LINCOLN NATIONAL LIFE INS COMP1/9/2020

FURNITURE FOR ETSU TRAILER67848173375 $8,308.08 $8,308.08BETTER SOURCE LIQUIDATORS, LLC1/16/2020 114

REFUND # 2260610249173356 $3,707.50 $7,822.50SC BUILDERS1/9/2020

REFUND # 2260710194 $4,115.001/9/2020

47,160 LBS FERROUS CHLORIDE9017657741173330 $7,442.71 $7,442.71KEMIRA WATER SOLUTIONS INC1/9/2020 110

4899.8 GALS SODIUM HYPOCHLORITE977898173363 $3,539.49 $7,009.77UNIVAR SOLUTIONS USA INC1/9/2020 110

4804 GALS SODIUM HYPOCHLORITE977644 $3,470.281/9/2020 110

42,000 LBS CLARIFLOC WE-5391415412173401 $5,725.00 $5,725.00POLYDYNE INC1/16/2020 110

SERV TO: 1/8/20 - FREMONT BLVD4017274120200109173368 $5,182.18 $5,182.18ALAMEDA COUNTY WATER DISTRICT1/16/2020 170

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT / ADVISORY SERVICES111914358173345 $4,093.98 $4,093.98PFM ASSET MANAGEMENT LLC1/9/2020 130

Page 3 of 11556 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

SERV:  11/20/19 - 12/19/1914075634173302 $220.00 $3,989.42AT&T1/9/2020

SERV:  11/20/19 - 12/19/1914075612 $3,748.041/9/2020

SERV:  11/20/19 - 12/19/1914075610 $21.381/9/2020

SEWER SERVICE CHARGE DATA SERV JAN - MAR 20201219000215173341 $3,275.55 $3,275.55NBS1/9/2020 141

RECYCLE & ROLL OFF - JAN 2020916004048091173351 $3,139.99 $3,139.99REPUBLIC SERVICES #9161/9/2020 120

LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE SERVICES - DEC 201917506173373 $3,120.00 $3,120.00BAYSCAPE LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT1/16/2020 122

CALCIUM THIOSULFATE CHEMICAL TANK6500202173332 $3,051.24 $3,051.24LEE & RO INC1/9/2020 143

4 SURFACE PROSWFP8411173379 $985.64 $2,847.11CDW GOVERNMENT LLC1/16/2020 173

AIRWATCH MOBILE DEVICE MANAGER ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTIONWGD6727 $1,861.471/16/2020 173

LEGAL SERVICES - GENERAL1490452173333 $2,744.00 $2,744.00LIEBERT CASSIDY WHITMORE1/9/2020 132

NOV 2019 SERVICE FEES2522249453173304 $836.79 $2,646.14BANK OF NEW YORK1/9/2020 136

SEP 2019 SERVICE FEES2522234630 $876.771/9/2020 136

OCT 2019 SERVICE FEES2522243236 $932.581/9/2020 136

COGEN #1 EXCITER REPAIR908662173411 $2,537.24 $2,537.24VINCENT ELECTRIC MOTOR CO1/16/2020 170

REFUND # 2261810019173377 $2,500.00 $2,500.00BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE DEVEL1/16/2020

REFUND # 226159531173387 $2,500.00 $2,500.00FREMONT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRCT1/16/2020

12/19 - ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS20191225173383 $2,358.08 $2,358.08DALE HARDWARE INC1/16/2020

LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE - FMC - NOV 2019114436173342 $2,305.00 $2,305.00NEW IMAGE LANDSCAPING CO1/9/2020 170

Page 4 of 11557 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

30 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS1205085173320 $495.00 $2,245.00ENTHALPY ANALYTICAL LLC1/9/2020 113

40 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS1205411 $660.001/9/2020 113

44 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS1205084 $775.001/9/2020 113

2 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS1205892 $315.001/9/2020 113

9 CERT & 6 MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS - CS 14 EMPLOYEES20191223173382 $2,008.00 $2,008.00CWEA1/16/2020 120

SERVICE CALL: BLDG 8220796173346 $1,894.00 $1,894.00PRIME MECHANICAL SERVICE INC1/9/2020 122

MTHLY MAINTENANCE BASED ON USE4031137052173310 $314.40 $1,736.18CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC1/9/2020 173

MTHLY MAINTENANCE BASED ON USE4030840127 $670.801/9/2020 173

MTHLY MAINTENANCE BASED ON USE4031136267 $750.981/9/2020 173

ASTD ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES1947961002173355 $111.90 $1,704.42SAN LEANDRO ELECTRIC SUPPLY1/9/2020

ASTD ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES1947961001 $1,592.521/9/2020

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24075230173399 $1,648.79 $1,698.47MOTION INDUSTRIES INC1/16/2020

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24074749 $49.681/16/2020

1 ROUND BODY HEAVY DUTY ROOT CUTTER KIT68949173296 $1,651.82 $1,651.823T EQUIPMENT COMPANY INC1/9/2020 121

WIRELESS SERV 11/21/19-12/20/19 & (6) IPADS9844674389173365 $1,643.11 $1,643.11VERIZON WIRELESS1/9/2020

GRIT HAULING 12/13 & 12/16/201919121963173354 $1,585.00 $1,585.00S&S TRUCKING1/9/2020 110

Page 5 of 11558 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS9373498337173324 $700.05 $1,535.77GRAINGER INC1/9/2020

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS9376328796 $677.991/9/2020 170

3 CABLE TIE MOUNTING PAD9373795757 $28.041/9/2020 170

1 STORAGE TOTE9372324476 $14.071/9/2020 111

2 HALF MASK RESPIRATOR9372182684 $52.661/9/2020 121

1 BLACK RIBBON9375311207 $62.961/9/2020 111

GRIT BIN RENTAL 12/01/201919122013173403 $750.00 $1,491.45S&S TRUCKING1/16/2020 110

GRIT HAULING 12/02/201919122014 $741.451/16/2020 110

MONTHLY AUTO PARTS STMT - OCT 201920191027173400 $684.49 $1,246.66NAPA AUTO PARTS1/16/2020 122

MONTHLY AUTO PARTS STMT - DEC 201920191231 $562.171/16/2020

1 WIRELESS JOBSITE SPEAKER9380071572173388 $161.31 $1,227.10GRAINGER INC1/16/2020 171

2 RAIN JACKET9377688891 $112.301/16/2020

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS9378011713 $953.491/16/2020

WIRE FOR POWER ETSU TRAILER5221730173299 $1,222.83 $1,222.83ALL INDUSTRIAL ELECTRIC SUPPLY1/9/2020 170

13 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS605706173309 $899.75 $1,149.83CALTEST ANALYTICAL LABORATORY1/9/2020 113

3 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS605724 $111.151/9/2020 113

3 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS605608 $138.931/9/2020 113

40 RAGS102374173300 $1,049.21 $1,049.21AMERICAN TEXTILE & SUPPLY INC1/9/2020

12.24 TONS 1/2 MAX HMA TYPE A-R2083919173325 $1,011.11 $1,011.11HANSON AGGREGATES INC1/9/2020 123

Page 6 of 11559 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24074440173338 $730.62 $938.34MOTION INDUSTRIES INC1/9/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24073665 $207.721/9/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24996861173336 $76.45 $921.32MCMASTER SUPPLY INC1/9/2020 170

1 HIGH PRESSURE TUBING26140315 $122.631/9/2020

1 VIBRATION RESISTANT PRESSURE GAUGE26627752 $41.401/9/2020 170

2 THREAD REPAIR SURFACE FILLER24810492 $54.051/9/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS24910674 $512.071/9/2020

2 LONG LIFE LARGE CELL BATERIES26806611 $114.721/9/2020 170

SIT STAND STATION FOR ART DIOSDADO14591280173376 $700.15 $912.31BLAISDELL'S1/16/2020 132

ASTD OFFICE SUPPLIES14599730 $90.801/16/2020 141

ASTD OFFICE SUPPLIES14594580 $121.361/16/2020 120

SERVICE CALL: BLDG 7020906173402 $891.70 $891.70PRIME MECHANICAL SERVICE INC1/16/2020 122

SERV:  11/11/19 - 12/10/19938642502173303 $882.85 $882.85AT&T1/9/2020 173

ANNUAL FIRE OPERATIONAL PERMIT20200101173361 $858.00 $858.00CITY OF UNION CITY1/9/2020 170

ANNUAL SUPPORT RENEWAL38360173308 $857.33 $857.33CALERO HOLDINGS INC1/9/2020 173

FUME HOOD CERTIFICATION & ALARM CALIBRATION238234173408 $798.00 $798.00TECHNICAL SAFETY SERVICES LLC1/16/2020 170

STORAGE TANK MAINT FEE 201912312019173406 $790.68 $790.68STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION1/16/2020 120

JANITORIAL & BREAKROOM SUPPLIES730311384001173358 $300.70 $759.22STAPLES CONTRACT & COMMERCIAL1/9/2020

JANITORIAL & BREAKROOM SUPPLIES730303158901 $458.521/9/2020

Page 7 of 11560 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

AWS CLOUD STORAGE - NOV 2019459028173318 $741.99 $741.99DLT SOLUTIONS, LLC1/9/2020 173

GEOEXPRESS SWM RENEWAL1526379173386 $710.00 $710.00EXTENSIS1/16/2020 173

ALVARADO INFLUENT VALVE BOX REHABILITATION21254515173297 $707.00 $707.00ABC IMAGING, INC1/9/2020 143

UNIFORM LAUNDERING SERVICE1102289234173370 $368.70 $706.20AMERIPRIDE SERVICES INC1/16/2020

ASTD DUST MOPS, WET MOPS & TERRY TOWEL1102289259 $47.581/16/2020 122

UNIFORM LAUNDERING & RUGS1102289223 $289.921/16/2020

HOT WATER LOOP SERVICE162065173353 $690.75 $690.75ROCHESTER MIDLAND CORPORATION1/9/2020 170

MONTHLY HARDWARE STMT - DEC 201976852091227173391 $679.68 $679.68HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES1/16/2020 170

JAN 2020 EAP PREMIUMS200114687173313 $653.20 $653.20CLAREMONT BEHAVIORAL SERVICES1/9/2020 132

PETTY CASH REPLENSHMENT20191219173344 $610.60 $610.60PETTY CASH1/9/2020

UNIFORM LAUNDERING SERVICE1102285260173301 $337.60 $583.96AMERIPRIDE SERVICES INC1/9/2020

UNIFORM LAUNDERING & RUGS1102285255 $246.361/9/2020

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS1902214001173350 $550.09 $550.09R&B COMPANY1/9/2020 170

REFUND # 2259910577173359 $500.00 $500.00THE PLUMBING SOLUTION1/9/2020

REFUND # 2260810174173364 $500.00 $500.00VALLEY HOME DEVELOPMENT CORP1/9/2020

REFUND # 2262110552173389 $500.00 $500.00GRANDY LUXURY BUILDERS1/16/2020

REFUND # 2261910459173397 $500.00 $500.00ANUPAMA MOKA1/16/2020

REFUND # 2262210570173398 $500.00 $500.00MONARCH PLUMBING & ROOTER INC1/16/2020

REFUND # 2262910438173404 $500.00 $500.00SIGMA CORPORATION1/16/2020

Page 8 of 11561 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

LAB SUPPLIES8088345443173412 $53.85 $444.18VWR INTERNATIONAL LLC1/16/2020 113

LAB SUPPLIES8088708710 $150.371/16/2020 113

LAB SUPPLIES8088695167 $90.431/16/2020 113

LAB SUPPLIES8088760987 $149.531/16/2020 113

PER DIEM - WELDING TRAINING COURSE20200106173384 $393.00 $393.00MICHAEL DELA ROSA1/16/2020 122

2 TIRES1841089636173323 $377.24 $377.24GOODYEAR COMM TIRE & SERV CTRS1/9/2020 122

3 PG&E FILL SAND315814173314 $197.55 $375.35CLARK'S HOME AND GARDEN INC1/9/2020 123

2.7 PG&E FILL SAND315655 $177.801/9/2020 123

ARC FLASH STUDY121964173374 $320.00 $320.00BEECHER ENGINEERING1/16/2020 170

EXP REIMB: TPO ANNUAL RECOGNITION20200107173315 $285.72 $285.72MITCHELL COSTELLO1/9/2020 110

RETIREMENT GIFT - 19 YEARS OF SERVICE20200115173393 $285.00 $285.00PAULETTE JACOBS-ROBERSON1/16/2020 120

ULTRA-BARRIER MINI BOX1868173362 $274.38 $274.38UNISEC INC1/9/2020 122

SERVICE: ROLL UP DOOR REPAIR39917173349 $265.00 $265.00R & S ERECTION OF S ALAMEDA1/9/2020 122

PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE - EXERCISE CLUB EQUIPMENT167686173322 $249.00 $249.00FITGUARD INC1/9/2020

3 DOZEN G-TEK GLOVES4766012173335 $119.37 $240.97MALLORY SAFETY AND SUPPLY LLC1/9/2020

12 DOZ GLV NITRILE4760485 $121.601/9/2020

ASTD PVC PARTS & MATERIALS3O2933173326 $170.13 $223.18HARRINGTON INDUSTRIAL PLASTICS1/9/2020

ASTD PVC PARTS & MATERIALS3O2860 $53.051/9/2020 170

SAFETY SHOES: B. MEDEIROS23089800173305 $208.00 $208.00BECK'S SHOES1/9/2020 123

Page 9 of 11562 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

ASTD METAL, STEEL, STAINLESS & ALUMINUM210009173340 $191.45 $191.45NAYLOR STEEL INC1/9/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS27607761173396 $47.34 $179.29MCMASTER SUPPLY INC1/16/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS27123795 $87.741/16/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS25215891 $44.211/16/2020 170

TUITION REIMB - LEADERSHIP SCHL FALL 201920200113173395 $169.17 $169.17MATTHEW LUBINA1/16/2020

3 NITRITE VACU VIALS KIT5928436173321 $149.74 $149.74FISHER SCIENTIFIC1/9/2020 113

JANUARY 2020 PAGER SERVICE20191231173405 $132.84 $132.84SPOK INC1/16/2020 141

PEST CONTROL - RODENTS701528173372 $125.00 $125.00A-PRO PEST CONTROL INC1/16/2020 170

REKEY 2 LOCKS314214173380 $110.00 $110.00CENTERVILLE LOCKSMITH1/16/2020 122

EXP REIMB: MILEAGE FOR SWRCB HEARING20200106173329 $86.94 $86.94DANIEL JACKSON1/9/2020 113

ASTD OFFICE SUPPLIES14587490173306 $35.65 $83.55BLAISDELL'S1/9/2020 141

1 WALL CALENDAR14561190 $23.951/9/2020 141

1 WALL CALENDAR14562770 $23.951/9/2020 141

SERV TO: 12/20/19 - BOYCE ROAD4088644120191226173298 $80.94 $80.94ALAMEDA COUNTY WATER DISTRICT1/9/2020 170

1/4 YD CONCRETE 6SK316028173381 $54.88 $54.88CLARK'S HOME AND GARDEN INC1/16/2020 123

5 FILTERS392428173352 $41.16 $41.16RKI INSTRUMENTS INC1/9/2020 170

1 LAB SAMPLE ANALYSIS1785853173378 $24.15 $24.15BUREAU VERITAS/ANALYSTS INC1/16/2020 170

ASTD PARTS & MATERIALS5221729173369 $22.93 $22.93ALL INDUSTRIAL ELECTRIC SUPPLY1/16/2020 170

ASTD LUMBER SUPPLIES548608173392 $21.30 $21.30HULBERT LUMBER SUPPLY1/16/2020

Page 10 of 11563 of 567



Invoice No. Description Check AmtInvoice AmtDate Vendor

01/04/2020-01/17/2020
CHECK REGISTER

Check No.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

Dept

SHIPPING CHARGES W/E 12/21/1998XW53519173409 $19.36 $19.36UPS - UNITED PARCEL SERVICE1/16/2020 136

LAB SUPPLIES8088612937173366 $14.98 $14.98VWR INTERNATIONAL LLC1/9/2020 113

19

46

3

113

Credit Memos :

$0 - $1,000 :

$1,000 - $10,000 :

$10,000 - $100,000 :

Over $100,000 :

Total:

Invoices:

0

181

1,010,623.31

402,913.05

166,832.60

38,701.07

Checks:

$10,000 - $100,000 :

Total:

Over $100,000 :

$1,000 - $10,000 :

$0 - $1,000 :

1,619,070.03

23,691.92

117,358.60

467,396.20

1,010,623.31

1,619,070.03

56

38

21

3

118

Page 11 of 11564 of 567



 

Three Marin sewage treatment plants fined 
despite upgrades 
By RICHARD	HALSTEAD | rhalstead@marinij.com | Marin Independent Journal 

PUBLISHED: January 6, 2020 at 5:40 pm | UPDATED: January 7, 2020 at 6:27 am 

Three Marin County sewage treatment plants are being fined a total of $39,000 by the 
California Regional Water Quality Control Board for exceeding limits for discharging 
effluents into San Francisco Bay. 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District is being fined $6,000; the Las Gallinas 
Valley Sanitary District is being fined $9,000; and Sewerage Agency of Southern 
Marin (SASM) is being fined $24,000. 

All three of the plants are in the midst of making major upgrades to their facilities. 

The water quality control board has posted the proposed fines on its website for 30 
days to allow for public comment. The fines for the Marin County plants are among 15 
“mandatory minimum” fines totaling $207,000 being proposed by the board. The 
largest fine, $84,000, is being charged to Richmond Municipal Sewer District Water 
Pollution Control Plant. 

Bill Johnson, chief of the control board’s wastewater and enforcement division, said 
the mandatory minimum fines are assessed when a violation isn’t considered serious 
enough to merit a “discretionary penalty,” which requires the use of a mandated 
methodology to determine the size. For example, in 2012 the Ross Valley Sanitary 
District was fined $1.5 million for past sanitary sewer overflows. Sewer overflows are 
not covered by mandatory minimum fines. 

Johnson said the control board and the Marin sanitary districts have already reached 
agreement on the payment of the fines. The comment period is designed to allow 
members of the public to weigh in, if anyone feels the fines are too low. The control 
board could still decide to increase them, although it is unlikely. 

The SASM plant was fined eight times for discharging more ammonia than its permit 
allows on either a daily or monthly basis. The violations occurred while a $20 million 
upgrade was being implemented. 

565 of 567



Mark Grushayev, manager of the SASM plant, said his agency hired a consultant and 
spent hundreds of thousands of dollars on temporary equipment to prevent such 
occurrences but was unsuccessful. 

“We did everything in our power to avoid exceedance,” Grushayev said. “We feel 
bitter about that. But feelings are feelings, and the law is the law. We’re at peace with 
that.” 

Johnson said SASM did the upgrade in two phases, shutting down half of the plant 
while it upgraded the other half. He said half of the plant wasn’t capable of handling 
the ammonia that it was getting. 

“I’m not sure in this case what they could have done differently,” Johnson said. “It’s 
kind of unfortunate that they got the fines because we want them to upgrade.” 

Johnson said the only basis on which SASM could have contested the fine would 
have been to challenge the fact it discharged that amount of ammonia. 

“The law says under these circumstances you’re required to pay a mandatory 
minimum penalty,” Johnson said. “There is no discretion on our part that allows us to 
go lower.” 

Grushayev said that while SASM discharges through the same pipe as Sanitary 
District No. 5, which serves Tiburon and Belvedere, District No. 5 is permitted to 
discharge much higher levels of ammonia. SASM’s permit limits it to a monthly 
average of 12.3 milligrams per liter; District No. 5 is allowed to discharge a monthly 
average of 100 milligrams per liter. Johnson wasn’t sure why the permitted levels are 
so different but speculated that it might be due to when the permits were issued. 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District received two $3,000 fines for discharging 
too high a concentration of organic material in its effluent. The district’s general 
manager, Jeffrey Kingston, said the violations occurred while the plant was 
undergoing a $25 million upgrade. 

“No good deed goes unpunished,” he said. 

Kingston said temporary equipment was installed to avoid such violations but a 
contractor hired by the district failed to operate it currently. He said the district will 
seek reimbursement from the contractor for the fine. 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District received two $3,000 fines for discharging too 
much chlorine and one $3,000 for exceeding its limit of suspended solids. The district 
began a $50 million upgrade of its plant a year ago, but Mike Prinz, Las Gallinas’ 
general manager, said the violations were unrelated to that project. 

566 of 567



Ian Wren, a staff scientist with San Francisco Baykeeper, a nonprofit environmental 
advocacy organization, said the mandatory minimum fines serve a purpose by 
shaming agencies into sticking to their permit obligations. 

“But I am somewhat sympathetic to those agencies that are trying to do extensive 
upgrades,” Wren said, “particularly when they might involve more innovative 
approaches. I do think the current structure disincentivizes innovation and good 
stewardship of the bay.” 

Wren said the control board should consider suspending or reducing fines during 
times of construction or testing of new, innovative systems. 

 

567 of 567


	1 01272020_Agenda REVISED
	2 01272020 BOD Mtg Cmte Ags REVISED
	01232020 Legal Community Affairs Cmte Ag
	01242020 Engineering and Information Technology Cmte Ag

	4 01132020 Minutes
	5 01142020 Board Workshop Minutes
	UCALL TO ORDER
	President Toy called the special meeting to order at 4:30 p.m.
	URoll Call
	PRESENT: Anjali Lathi, President
	Manny Fernandez, Vice President
	Jennifer Toy, Secretary
	Tom Handley, Director
	Pat Kite, Director
	STAFF: Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer
	UPUBLIC COMMENT
	UBOARD WORKSHOP

	6 December 2019 Monthly Ops
	6.1 December 2019 Monthly Ops Summary
	6.2 December 2019 Odor Report
	6.3 Odor Report Map December 2019
	6.4 BS December 2019 Monthly Ops
	1. Hours Worked
	Charts122419
	Charts for Report

	Report122419
	Report


	2. Budget & Finance Report
	Dist Summary

	3. Revenues & Expenses
	Charts

	4. Business Services Group Activities Report
	5. Portfolio Holdings Charts
	6. Portfolio Holdings Report
	7. Portfolio Activity Report
	8. Retiree Medical Fund Report
	Dec19

	9. Retiree Medical Fund CalPERS Report

	6.5 TS12-2019_MOR.Dec
	6.6 CS December 2019 Ops Rpt
	6.7 FMC_Ops_Report_December2019
	New Report Page

	6.8 TD_Ops_Dec_2019

	9 USD Board Authorizing Bonds
	9.1 BOARD Staff Report - Bonds
	9.2 BOARD Resolution - Bonds
	9.3  Installment Purchase Agreement
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are defined in this section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement hereto and of any report or other document that is mentioned herein o...

	ARTICLE II   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	Section 2.01. Representations by the District.  The District makes the following representations:
	(a) The District is a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California.
	(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement, carry out its obligations hereunder and carry out and consummate all other transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Ag...
	(c) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement.
	(d) The District will not take or, to the extent within its power, permit any action to be taken which results in the interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment ...
	(e) The District has determined that it is necessary and proper for District uses and purposes within the terms of the Law that the District finance and acquire the 2020 Project and refinance the Refunding Project in the manner that is provided for in...

	Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA.  The USDFA makes the following representations and warranties:
	(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized under the JPA Agreement and in good standing under the laws of the State of California, has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreeme...
	(b) The execution and delivery of this Installment Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated will not violate any provision of law, any order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, material ...
	(c) The USDFA will not take or permit any action to be taken which results in interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in the...


	ARTICLE III   THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT
	Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project.  The USDFA hereby agrees to cause the 2020 Project and any additions or modifications thereto to be constructed, acquired and installed by the District as its agent.  The District shall e...
	Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project.  The District may substitute other improvements for those listed as components of the 2020 Project in Exhibit A, but only if the District first files with the USDFA and the Trustee a statement of the District...
	Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA.  In consideration for assistance in refinancing the Refunding Project, the District agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the Corporation and the Corporation agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases...
	Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project.  In consideration for the Series 2020 Installment Payments, the USDFA agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the District, and the District agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases, from ...
	Section 3.05. Title.  All right, title and interest in the Refunding Project shall vest in the District immediately upon the original execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase Agreement. Each component of the 2020 Project shall vest in the Di...
	Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund.  The District shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Acquisition Fund.”  The moneys in the Acquisition Fund shall be held by the District in trust and applied by the Treasurer of ...

	ARTICLE IV   INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
	Section 4.01. Purchase Price.
	(a) The Purchase Price to be paid by the District hereunder to the USDFA is the sum of the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount from the effective date here...
	(b) The principal amount of the payments to be made by the District hereunder is set forth in Exhibit C.
	(c) The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount is as specified in Section 4.02 and Exhibit C, and shall be paid by the District as and constitute interest paid on the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder.

	Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to its rights of prepayment provided in Article VII, pay the USDFA the Purchase Price in installment payments of interest and principal in the amounts and on the Series 2020 ...

	ARTICLE V   SECURITY
	Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues.  The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on deposit in the Revenue Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund as described in Section 5.06, and any other amounts (in...
	Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Gross Revenues shall be received by the District in trust hereunder and shall be deposit...
	(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the inte...
	(b) Reserve Funds.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without...
	(c) Surplus.  Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make any of the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of Subo...

	Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds.  The District may at any time execute any Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, in accordance herewith; provided that:
	(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the da...
	(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the da...

	Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt.  The District may at any time execute or issue any Subordinate Debt in accordance herewith; provided that:
	(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of issuance or execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special rep...
	(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the issuance or the execution of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give eff...

	Section 5.05. Investments.  All moneys which are held by the District in the Revenue Fund, the Acquisition Fund and the Parity Debt Reserve shall be invested in Permitted Investments, and the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in such...
	Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve.  The District shall establish a special fund designated as the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under the Installment Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maint...

	ARTICLE VI   COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT
	Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary Agreements.  The District will punctually pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments in strict conformity with the terms hereof, and will faithfully observe and perform all of th...
	Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances.  The District will not make any pledge of or place any lien on Gross Revenues or the moneys in the Revenue Fund except as provided herein.  In addition, the District may at any time, or from time to time, issue evid...
	Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not enter into any agreement or lease which materially impairs the operation of the Wastewater System or any part thereof which is necessary to secure adequate Gross Reven...
	Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities.  The District will not, to the extent permitted by law, acquire, construct, maintain or operate and will not, to the extent permitted by law and within the scope of its powers, permit any other public or p...
	Section 6.05. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Installment Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the 2020 Bonds will not be adversely affected for federa...
	(a) Private Activity.  The District will take no action or refrain from taking any action, and the District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other moneys or property, which would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “private activity...
	(b) Arbitrage.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, which will cause the 2020 Bonds...
	(c) Federal Guarantee.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds, and the District will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of th...
	(d) Information Reporting.  The District will take or cause to be taken all necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the Code which is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the 2020 Bond...
	(e) Hedge Bonds.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds ...
	(f) Miscellaneous.  The District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the District in connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds and will c...

	Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction.  The District will take all necessary and appropriate steps to acquire and construct the 2020 Project, as agent of the USDFA, with all practicable dispatch and in an expeditious manner and in conformi...
	Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System.  The District will maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working order at all times, operate the Wastewater System in an efficient and economical manner and pay...
	Section 6.08. Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Gross Revenues or the funds or accounts created hereunder or under the Indent...
	Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts.  The District will comply with, keep, observe and perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, which are required to be performed by it contained in all contracts for the use of ...
	Section 6.10. Insurance.
	(a) The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured and maintained insurance on the Wastewater System, excluding coverage for earthquake damage or destruction, with responsible insurers in such amounts and against such risks (including ...
	(b) The District will procure and maintain such other insurance which it shall deem advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the USDFA, which insurance shall afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are u...
	(c) Any insurance that is required to be maintained by paragraph (a) above and, if the District determines to procure and maintain insurance pursuant to paragraph (b) above, such insurance, may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as s...

	Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports.
	(a) The District will keep appropriate accounting records in which complete and correct entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Wastewater System, which records shall be available for inspection by the USDFA and the Trustee at reason...
	(b) The District will prepare and file with the USDFA or its assignee, annually within two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2020) financial statements of the District for t...

	Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA.  The District will preserve and protect the security hereof and the rights of the USDFA to the Series 2020 Installment Payments hereunder and will warrant and defend such rights against all...
	Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations.  The District will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Wastewater System, or any part the...
	Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges.
	(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District shall fix and prescribe, at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal...
	The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and...
	(b) For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth in Section 6.14(a) above, the failure of Net Revenues to meet the thresholds set forth in Section 6.14(a) above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not const...

	Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges.  The District will have in effect at all times by-laws, rules and regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable to the Wastewater Service to such customer’s land and providin...
	Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Wastewater System shall be taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows:
	(a) If: (1) the District files with the USDFA and the Trustee a certificate showing: (i) the estimated loss of annual Net Revenues, if any, suffered or to be suffered by the District by reason of such eminent domain proceedings; (ii) a general descrip...
	(b) If the foregoing conditions are not met, then such Net Proceeds shall be applied in part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for ...

	Section 6.17. Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any and all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance here...
	Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts.  So long as any of the 2020 Bonds are outstanding, the District will not voluntarily consent to or permit any rescission of, nor will it consent to any amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in conne...

	ARTICLE VII   PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
	Section 7.01. Prepayment.
	(a) The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay from Net Proceeds as provided herein the Series 2020 Installment Payments in whole, or in part, on any date in the order of payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal...
	(b) The District may prepay the Series 2020 Installment Payments as a whole, or in part, on September 1, 20__ or any date thereafter in the order of payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount of the S...
	(c) Notwithstanding any such prepayment, the District shall not be relieved of its obligations hereunder, including its obligations under Article IV, until the Purchase Price shall have been fully paid (or provision for payment thereof shall have been...

	Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to Section 7.01, the District shall, within five (5) days following the event permitting the exercise of such right to prepay or creating such obligation to prepay, give writte...

	ARTICLE VIII   EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY
	Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities.  If one or more of the following Events of Default shall happen:
	(1) if default shall be made by the District in the due and punctual payment of any Series 2020 Installment Payment or any Contract or Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable;
	(2) if default shall be made by the District in the performance of any of the agreements or covenants which are required herein to be performed by it, and such default shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after the District shall have ...
	(3) if the District shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall...
	(4) if payment of the principal of any Contract or Bond is accelerated in accordance with its terms;

	Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration.  Upon the date of the declaration of acceleration as provided in Section 8.01, all Gross Revenues thereafter received by the District shall be applied in the following order:
	Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA.  The USDFA shall have the right:
	(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce its rights against the District or any director, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the District or any such director, officer or employee to perform and carr...
	(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the rights of the USDFA; or
	(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the District and its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust.

	Section 8.04. Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall affect or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments to the USDFA at the respective ...
	Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy that is conferred upon or reserved to the USDFA herein is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given here...

	ARTICLE IX   DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS
	Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations.  When:
	(a) all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have become due and payable in accordance herewith or a written notice of the District to prepay all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have been filed with...
	(b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee at or prior to the Series 2020 Installment Payment Date or dates specified for prepayment, in trust for the benefit of the USDFA or its assigns and irrevocably appropriated and set aside to the paym...
	(c) provision shall have been made for paying all fees and expenses of the Trustee, then and in that event, the right, title and interest of the USDFA herein and the obligations of the District hereunder shall, with respect to all or such portion of t...


	ARTICLE X   MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 10.01. Liability Limited.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the District shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other than the Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds provided herei...
	Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District or the USDFA any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto, ...
	Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  Whenever either the District or the USDFA is named or referred to herein, such reference shall be deemed to include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that a...
	Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the District shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments, but nothing contained herein shall relieve any director,...
	Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or titles of the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the mea...
	Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or portions thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the USDFA shall be contrary to law, then such agreement or agreements, such ...
	Section 10.07. Assignment.  The Installment Purchase Agreement and any rights hereunder may be assigned by the USDFA, as a whole or in part, without the necessity of obtaining the prior consent of the District.  In addition to the rights and remedies ...
	Section 10.08. Net Contract.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed and construed to be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely net during the term hereof the Series 2020 Installment Payments and all other payments required ...
	Section 10.09. California Law.  THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
	Section 10.10. Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given by mail to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at such other address as such party may provide to the other party in writing from time to time,...
	Section 10.11. Effective Date.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon its execution and delivery, and shall terminate when the Purchase Price shall have been fully paid (or provision for the payment thereof shall have been mad...
	Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts.  The Installment Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
	Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA.  The District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the USDFA and its assigns and its officers and directors if and to the extent permitted by law, from and against all claims, advances, damages and loss...
	Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted.
	(a) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding when t...
	(b) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds may also be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding upon adoption, witho...



	9.4 Continuing Disclosure Certificate
	9.5 Bond Purchase Agreement
	1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations herein set forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the USDFA for offering to the public, and the USDFA hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the Underwriter, all (...
	The USDFA and the District hereby ratify the use by the Underwriter of the Preliminary Official Statement, dated January ___, 2020 relating to the Bonds (together with the cover page and all appendices thereto, and any supplements thereof, the “Prelim...
	2. The Underwriter agrees to offer all the Bonds to the public initially at the prices (or yields) set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement of the USDFA pertaining to the Bonds, dated February __, 2020 (together with all appendices...
	3. The USDFA shall also deliver a sufficient number of copies of the Official Statement to enable the Underwriter to distribute a single copy of each Official Statement to any potential customer of the Underwriter requesting an Official Statement duri...
	4. At 8:30 a.m., Pacific Time, on February __, 2020, or at such other time or date as shall be agreed upon by the Underwriter, USDFA and the District (such time and date being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”), the USDFA will deliver to the Un...
	5. A. The Underwriter agrees to assist the USDFA in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the USDFA at Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent commu...
	B. Except as otherwise set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, the USDFA will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity.  At or promptly after the execut...
	C. The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A at...
	a. the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or
	b. the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public.

	D. The Underwriter confirms that:
	(i) any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of t...
	(A)(i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by t...
	(B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that, to its knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined b...
	(C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-dealer, the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to the public.
	(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be e...
	E. The USDFA acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of eac...
	F. The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the...
	a. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party;
	b. “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the USDFA  (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agr...
	c. a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both en...
	d. “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by all parties.


	6. The Underwriter represents to and agrees with the USDFA and the District that, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date:
	(a) The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement and to take any action under this Purchase Agreement required to be taken by it;
	(b) The Underwriter is in compliance with MSRB Rule G-37 with respect to the USDFA and the District, and is not prohibited thereby from acting as the underwriter with respect to securities of the USDFA and the District;
	(c) The Underwriter has, and has had, no financial advisory relationship, as that term is defined in California Government Code Section 53590 (c) or MSRB Rule G-32, with the District with respect to the Bonds, and no investment firm controlling, contr...
	(d) The Underwriter has reasonably determined that the undertaking to provide continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate is sufficient to effect compliance with Rule 15c2-12.

	7. The USDFA represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that:
	(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and validly existing pursuant to the laws of the State of California and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture, the Installme...
	(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents, or the approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the USDFA’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions...
	(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the USDFA requir...
	(d) To the best of the knowledge of the USDFA, there is, and on the Closing there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the USDFA t...
	(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the End Date, the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement will be complete and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a ma...
	(f) The USDFA agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that t...
	(g) By official action of the USDFA prior to or concurrently with the execution hereof, the USDFA has duly approved the distribution of the Official Statement (excepting the information under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT...
	(h) The USDFA is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement...
	(i) The USDFA is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the USDFA or successor of the USDFA or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the USDFA as gu...
	(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event occurs, of which the USDFA has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to the USDFA or the USDFA’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained in ...
	(k) If the information relating to the USDFA, its functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement or amendment there...
	(l) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or regulatory authority that has not been obtained is or will be required of the USDFA for the delivery and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions conte...
	(m) The USDFA will deliver all opinions, Bonds, letters and other instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the USDFA by the Underwriter and this Purchase Agreement.
	(n) Any certificate of the USDFA delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the USDFA to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein.
	(o) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the USDFA does not and will not have outstanding any indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the USDFA Revenues superior to or on a pa...
	(p) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the USDFA will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for ...
	(q) The USDFA is not presently and as a result of the execution of the Authority Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or sta...
	(r) The USDFA will not knowingly take or omit to take any action, which action or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner other than as provided in the Authority Documents, unless otherwise requ...

	8. The District represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that:
	(a) The District is a sanitary district duly organized under the laws of the State of California, and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the Installment Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Continuing Di...
	(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the District Documents, or the approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the District’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactio...
	(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the District req...
	(d) To the best of the knowledge of the District, there is, and on the Closing there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the Dist...
	(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the End Date, the information relating to the District, the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement will be complet...
	(f) The District agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, tha...
	(g) By official action of the District prior to or concurrently with the execution hereof, the District has duly approved the distribution of the information in the Official Statement under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT F...
	(h) The District is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreem...
	(i) The District is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the District or successor of the District or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the Di...
	(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event occurs, of which the District has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to the District, the Wastewater System or the District’s functions, duties an...
	(k) If the information relating to the Wastewater System, the District, its functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each sup...
	(l) The District covenants that it will comply with all tax covenants relating to it in the District Documents and the Tax Certificate of the District.
	(m) The written information supplied by the District to the Underwriter with respect to the financial information relating to the Wastewater System is true, correct and complete in all material respects for the purposes for which it was supplied.
	(n) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or regulatory agency that has not been obtained is or will be required of the District for the delivery and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions conte...
	(o) The District will not take or omit to take any action which action or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner contrary to that provided in the Indenture and as described in the Official Stat...
	(p) The District will deliver all opinions, certificates, letters and other instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the District by the Underwriter and this Purchase Agreement.
	(q) Any certificate of the District delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the District to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein.
	(r) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the District does not and will not have outstanding any indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the Revenues superior to or on a parit...
	(s) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the District will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations f...
	(t) The District is not presently and as a result of the execution of the District Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or s...
	(u) The District will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to provide annual reports and notices of certain events in accordance with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12.

	9. The Underwriter has entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements of the USDFA and the District contained herein, and the opinions of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, Counsel to the Trustee, c...
	(a) At the time of Closing, this Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, and the Continuing Disclosure Certificate (collectively the “Legal Documents”), all as described in the Official Statement, shall be in full force ...
	(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall receive the following documents, in each case satisfactory in form and substance to them:
	(1) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing, addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (or a reliance letter to the Underwriter), in substantially the form attached as Appendix E to the Official Stat...
	(2) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated as of the date of Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
	(3) The negative assurance letter of Quint & Thimmig LLP, Disclosure Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that, based upon the information made available to them in the course of their participation in the pr...
	(4) An opinion of Counsel to the USDFA, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the USDFA is a joint powers authority duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of California;
	(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement and the Authority Documents have been duly approved by the USDFA;
	(iii) the resolutions of the USDFA approving and authorizing the execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the Authority Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the USDFA which were called and held pursuant to ...
	(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel, there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the USDFA, which would adversely impact the...
	(v) the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not and will not in any material respect conf...
	(vi) the Authority Documents and the Official Statement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the Authority Documents constitute legal, val...
	(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the State of California other than the USDFA is required for the valid authorization, execution and delivery of t...
	(viii) nothing has come to their attention which would lead them to believe that the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements ...

	(5) An opinion of counsel to the District, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to the USDFA and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the District is a sanitary district created in accordance with the laws of the State of California;
	(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement and the District Documents have been duly approved by the District;
	(iii) the resolutions of the District approving and authorizing the execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the District Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the District which were called and held pursuan...
	(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel , there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the District, which would adversely impact...
	(v) the execution and delivery of the District Documents and the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not and will not in any material respect confl...
	(vi) the District Documents and the Official Statement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the District Documents constitute legal, va...
	(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the State of California other than the District is required for the valid authorization, execution and delivery o...
	(viii) the District’s charges and fees with respect to the Wastewater System were duly approved and adopted by the District, and are valid and enforceable at the current levels levied by the District; and
	(ix) nothing has come to the such counsel’s attention which would lead such counsel to believe that the information relating to the District or the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a ...

	(6) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, and addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the Trustee is a national banking association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States;
	(ii) the Trustee has duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Indenture;
	(iii) the Indenture has been duly entered into and delivered by the Trustee and assuming due, valid and binding authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Trustee enfo...
	(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture;
	(v) acceptance by the Trustee of the duties and obligations under the Indenture and compliance with provisions thereof will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any law or administrative regulation to which the Trustee is subje...
	(vi) all approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction in the matter which would constitute a condition precedent to the performance by the Trustee of its duties and obligations under the Indenture have bee...

	(7) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, of Kutak Rock LLP, counsel to the Underwriter (“Underwriter’s Counsel”), in such form as may be acceptable to the Underwriter.
	(8) A certificate, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warranties of the USDFA cont...
	(9) A certificate or certificates, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized official of the District satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warrantie...
	(10) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA deeming the Preliminary Official Statement “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 except for the information with respect to the ...
	(11) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, signed by a duly authorized official of the District deeming the information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the District “final” for purposes of...
	(12) An executed or certified copy of each of the Legal Documents.
	(13) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized officer of the District of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the District relating to the approval of the District Documents and the authorization, issuance, sale and deliv...
	(14) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized officer of the USDFA of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the USDFA relating to the approval of the Authority Documents and the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery o...
	(15) An executed copy of the Official Statement.
	(16) A certified copy of the general resolution of the Trustee authorizing the execution and delivery of certain documents by certain officers of the Trustee, which resolution authorizes the execution and delivery of documents such as the Bonds and th...
	(17) A Tax Certificate of the USDFA and the District in form and substance acceptable to Bond Counsel.
	(18) A Certificate of the Trustee, dated the Closing Date to the effect that:
	(i) the Trustee is duly organized and existing as a national banking association in good standing under the laws of the United States, having the full power and authority to accept and perform its duties under the Indenture;
	(ii) subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee will apply the proceeds from the Bonds to the purposes specified in the Indenture;
	(iii) the Trustee has duly authorized and executed the Indenture; and
	(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture.

	(19) Evidence that the Bonds have been given the ratings set forth in the Official Statement and that such ratings continue in effect as of the date of Closing.
	(20) Evidence that a federal tax information form 8038-G has been prepared for filing with respect to the Bonds.
	(21) A copy of the Notice of Final Sale required to be delivered to the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission pursuant to Section 8855 of the California Government Code.
	(22) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments and other documents as Bond Counsel, the Underwriter and Underwriter’s Counsel may reasonably request to evidence compliance with legal requirements, the truth and accuracy, a...


	10. The Underwriter may terminate its obligation to purchase the Bonds at any time before the Closing Date if the market price or marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds shall be mate...
	(i) Legislation shall be enacted by or introduced in the Congress of the United States or recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States, or the Treasury Department of the United States or the Internal Revenue Service or...
	(ii) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by the Congress or an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of competent jurisdiction, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or proposed), press release or other ...
	(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York Stock Exchange or any other national securities exchange, the establishment of minimum or maximum prices on any such national securities exchange, the establishment of material restri...
	(iv) A general banking moratorium shall have been established by federal, New York or California authorities; or
	(v) Establishment of any new restrictions in securities materially affecting the free market for securities of the same nature as the Bonds (including the imposition of any limitations on interest rates) or the charge to the net capital requirements o...
	(vi) Any amendment to the federal or California Constitution or action by any federal or California court, legislative body, regulatory body or other authority materially adversely affecting the tax status of the USDFA or the District, its property, i...
	(vii) There shall have occurred any (1) new material outbreak of hostilities (including, without limitation, an act of terrorism) or (2) new material other national or international calamity or crisis, or any material adverse change in the financial, ...
	(viii) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services affecting the Bonds shall have occurred; or
	(ix) Any event occurring, or information becoming known which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, makes untrue in any material respect any statement or information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, ...
	(x) Any fact or event shall exist or have existed that requires or has required an amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement; or
	(xi) Any rating of the Bonds or other obligations of the USDFA or the District by a national rating agency shall have been withdrawn or downgraded or placed on negative outlook or negative watch.

	11. Performance by the USDFA and the District of their respective obligations under this Purchase Agreement is conditioned upon (i) performance by the Underwriter of its obligations hereunder, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriter of all opinions and ce...
	12. After the Closing and until the End Date (a) neither the USDFA nor the District will adopt any amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement to which the Underwriter shall object in writing, and (b) if any event relating to or affecting the...
	13.
	(b) Whether or not the Bonds are delivered to the Underwriter as set forth herein, neither the USDFA nor the District shall be under any obligation to pay, and the USDFA and the District shall not pay, any expenses incurred by the Underwriter in conne...

	14. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter may be given by delivering the same to RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200, San Francisco, California 94111; Attention: Municipal Finance Department. Any not...
	15. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns thereof) and no other person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.
	16. This Purchase Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
	17. The representations and warranties of the USDFA and the District set forth in or made pursuant to this Purchase Agreement shall not be deemed to have been discharged, satisfied or otherwise rendered void by reason of the Closing or termination of ...
	18. The primary role of the Underwriter, as underwriter, is to purchase the Bonds for resale to investors in an arms-length commercial transaction among the District, the USDFA and the Underwriter.  The Underwriter, as underwriter, has financial and o...
	19. This Purchase Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the respective parties hereto upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such acc...
	20. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  This Purchase Agreement shall not be assigned by either party hereto.
	21. This Purchase Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, agreements and understandings between the parties hereto in relation to the sale of Bonds by the USDFA and the District and represents the entire agreement of the parties as t...
	22. Any provision of this Purchase Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of...

	9.6 Preliminary Official Statement
	POSCover58
	Blank
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	Blank
	Blank


	10 Financing Authority Staff Report - Presenation of JPA and Report from Paul (002)
	11 Financing Authority Staff Report - Appointment of General Counsel
	12 Financing Authority Staff Report - Adoption of Policies
	13 USDFA Authorizing Bonds
	13.1 USDFA Staff Report - Bonds
	13.2 USDFA Resolution - Bonds
	______________________________

	13.3 Installment Purchase Agreement (002)
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are defined in this section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement hereto and of any report or other document that is mentioned herein o...

	ARTICLE II   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	Section 2.01. Representations by the District.  The District makes the following representations:
	(a) The District is a sanitary district that is duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California.
	(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreement, carry out its obligations hereunder and carry out and consummate all other transactions that are contemplated by this Installment Purchase Ag...
	(c) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement.
	(d) The District will not take or, to the extent within its power, permit any action to be taken which results in the interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment ...
	(e) The District has determined that it is necessary and proper for District uses and purposes within the terms of the Law that the District finance and acquire the 2020 Project and refinance the Refunding Project in the manner that is provided for in...

	Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the USDFA.  The USDFA makes the following representations and warranties:
	(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers agency that is duly organized under the JPA Agreement and in good standing under the laws of the State of California, has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase Agreeme...
	(b) The execution and delivery of this Installment Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated will not violate any provision of law, any order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, material ...
	(c) The USDFA will not take or permit any action to be taken which results in interest that is paid for the installment purchase of the 2020 Project and the Refunding Project under the terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement being included in the...


	ARTICLE III   THE 2020 PROJECT AND THE REFUNDING PROJECT
	Section 3.01. Acquisition and Construction of the 2020 Project.  The USDFA hereby agrees to cause the 2020 Project and any additions or modifications thereto to be constructed, acquired and installed by the District as its agent.  The District shall e...
	Section 3.02. Changes to the 2020 Project.  The District may substitute other improvements for those listed as components of the 2020 Project in Exhibit A, but only if the District first files with the USDFA and the Trustee a statement of the District...
	Section 3.03. Sale of the Refunding Project to USDFA.  In consideration for assistance in refinancing the Refunding Project, the District agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the Corporation and the Corporation agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases...
	Section 3.04. Purchase of 2020 Project and the Refunding Project.  In consideration for the Series 2020 Installment Payments, the USDFA agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to the District, and the District agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases, from ...
	Section 3.05. Title.  All right, title and interest in the Refunding Project shall vest in the District immediately upon the original execution and delivery of the Installment Purchase Agreement. Each component of the 2020 Project shall vest in the Di...
	Section 3.06. Acquisition Fund.  The District shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Acquisition Fund.”  The moneys in the Acquisition Fund shall be held by the District in trust and applied by the Treasurer of ...

	ARTICLE IV   INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
	Section 4.01. Purchase Price.
	(a) The Purchase Price to be paid by the District hereunder to the USDFA is the sum of the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount from the effective date here...
	(b) The principal amount of the payments to be made by the District hereunder is set forth in Exhibit C.
	(c) The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount is as specified in Section 4.02 and Exhibit C, and shall be paid by the District as and constitute interest paid on the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder.

	Section 4.02. Series 2020 Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to its rights of prepayment provided in Article VII, pay the USDFA the Purchase Price in installment payments of interest and principal in the amounts and on the Series 2020 ...

	ARTICLE V   SECURITY
	Section 5.01. Pledge of Gross Revenues.  The Gross Revenues, and all amounts that are on deposit in the Revenue Fund, amounts that are transferred from the Parity Debt Reserve to the Revenue Fund as described in Section 5.06, and any other amounts (in...
	Section 5.02. Allocation of Gross Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Gross Revenues shall be received by the District in trust hereunder and shall be deposit...
	(a) 2020A Bond Payment Fund.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, transfer to the Trustee for deposit in the 2020A Bond Payment Fund an amount that is equal to the inte...
	(b) Reserve Funds.  On or before each Series 2020 Installment Payment Date, the District shall, from remaining moneys in the Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without...
	(c) Surplus.  Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund which are not necessary to make any of the payments which are required above may be expended by the District at any time for any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to payment of Subo...

	Section 5.03. Additional Contracts and Bonds.  The District may at any time execute any Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, in accordance herewith; provided that:
	(a) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the da...
	(b) The Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the da...

	Section 5.04. Subordinate Debt.  The District may at any time execute or issue any Subordinate Debt in accordance herewith; provided that:
	(a) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the date of issuance or execution of such Subordinate Debt, as evidenced by a special rep...
	(b) The Net Revenues remaining after payment of Debt Service for any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding the issuance or the execution of such Subordinate Debt, including adjustments to give eff...

	Section 5.05. Investments.  All moneys which are held by the District in the Revenue Fund, the Acquisition Fund and the Parity Debt Reserve shall be invested in Permitted Investments, and the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in such...
	Section 5.06. Parity Debt Reserve.  The District shall establish a special fund designated as the “Parity Debt Reserve,” which shall be held by the District in trust under the Installment Purchase Agreement.  The District agrees and covenants to maint...

	ARTICLE VI   COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT
	Section 6.01. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Ancillary Agreements.  The District will punctually pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments in strict conformity with the terms hereof, and will faithfully observe and perform all of th...
	Section 6.02. Against Encumbrances.  The District will not make any pledge of or place any lien on Gross Revenues or the moneys in the Revenue Fund except as provided herein.  In addition, the District may at any time, or from time to time, issue evid...
	Section 6.03. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not enter into any agreement or lease which materially impairs the operation of the Wastewater System or any part thereof which is necessary to secure adequate Gross Reven...
	Section 6.04. Against Competitive Facilities.  The District will not, to the extent permitted by law, acquire, construct, maintain or operate and will not, to the extent permitted by law and within the scope of its powers, permit any other public or p...
	Section 6.05. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Installment Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the 2020 Bonds will not be adversely affected for federa...
	(a) Private Activity.  The District will take no action or refrain from taking any action, and the District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other moneys or property, which would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “private activity...
	(b) Arbitrage.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or of any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, which will cause the 2020 Bonds...
	(c) Federal Guarantee.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds, and the District will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of th...
	(d) Information Reporting.  The District will take or cause to be taken all necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the Code which is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the 2020 Bond...
	(e) Hedge Bonds.  The District will make no use of the proceeds of the 2020 Bonds or any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, that would cause the 2020 Bonds ...
	(f) Miscellaneous.  The District will not take any action or refrain from taking any action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the District in connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds and will c...

	Section 6.06. Prompt Acquisition and Construction.  The District will take all necessary and appropriate steps to acquire and construct the 2020 Project, as agent of the USDFA, with all practicable dispatch and in an expeditious manner and in conformi...
	Section 6.07. Maintenance and Operation of the Wastewater System.  The District will maintain and preserve the Wastewater System in good repair and working order at all times, operate the Wastewater System in an efficient and economical manner and pay...
	Section 6.08. Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Gross Revenues or the funds or accounts created hereunder or under the Indent...
	Section 6.09. Compliance with Contracts.  The District will comply with, keep, observe and perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, which are required to be performed by it contained in all contracts for the use of ...
	Section 6.10. Insurance.
	(a) The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured and maintained insurance on the Wastewater System, excluding coverage for earthquake damage or destruction, with responsible insurers in such amounts and against such risks (including ...
	(b) The District will procure and maintain such other insurance which it shall deem advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the USDFA, which insurance shall afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are u...
	(c) Any insurance that is required to be maintained by paragraph (a) above and, if the District determines to procure and maintain insurance pursuant to paragraph (b) above, such insurance, may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as s...

	Section 6.11. Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports.
	(a) The District will keep appropriate accounting records in which complete and correct entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Wastewater System, which records shall be available for inspection by the USDFA and the Trustee at reason...
	(b) The District will prepare and file with the USDFA or its assignee, annually within two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2020) financial statements of the District for t...

	Section 6.12. Protection of Security and Rights of the USDFA.  The District will preserve and protect the security hereof and the rights of the USDFA to the Series 2020 Installment Payments hereunder and will warrant and defend such rights against all...
	Section 6.13. Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations.  The District will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Wastewater System, or any part the...
	Section 6.14. Amount of Rates and Charges.
	(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District shall fix and prescribe, at the commencement of each Fiscal Year, rates and charges for the Wastewater Service which are reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal...
	The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect unless the Net Revenues from such reduced rates and...
	(b) For avoidance of doubt, so long as the District has complied with its obligations set forth in Section 6.14(a) above, the failure of Net Revenues to meet the thresholds set forth in Section 6.14(a) above at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not const...

	Section 6.15. Collection of Rates and Charges.  The District will have in effect at all times by-laws, rules and regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable to the Wastewater Service to such customer’s land and providin...
	Section 6.16. Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Wastewater System shall be taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows:
	(a) If: (1) the District files with the USDFA and the Trustee a certificate showing: (i) the estimated loss of annual Net Revenues, if any, suffered or to be suffered by the District by reason of such eminent domain proceedings; (ii) a general descrip...
	(b) If the foregoing conditions are not met, then such Net Proceeds shall be applied in part to the prepayment of Series 2020 Installment Payments as provided in Article VII and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for ...

	Section 6.17. Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any and all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance here...
	Section 6.18. Enforcement of Contracts.  So long as any of the 2020 Bonds are outstanding, the District will not voluntarily consent to or permit any rescission of, nor will it consent to any amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in conne...

	ARTICLE VII   PREPAYMENT OF SERIES 2020 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
	Section 7.01. Prepayment.
	(a) The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay from Net Proceeds as provided herein the Series 2020 Installment Payments in whole, or in part, on any date in the order of payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal...
	(b) The District may prepay the Series 2020 Installment Payments as a whole, or in part, on September 1, 20__ or any date thereafter in the order of payment date as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount of the S...
	(c) Notwithstanding any such prepayment, the District shall not be relieved of its obligations hereunder, including its obligations under Article IV, until the Purchase Price shall have been fully paid (or provision for payment thereof shall have been...

	Section 7.02. Method of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to Section 7.01, the District shall, within five (5) days following the event permitting the exercise of such right to prepay or creating such obligation to prepay, give writte...

	ARTICLE VIII   EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY
	Section 8.01. Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities.  If one or more of the following Events of Default shall happen:
	(1) if default shall be made by the District in the due and punctual payment of any Series 2020 Installment Payment or any Contract or Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable;
	(2) if default shall be made by the District in the performance of any of the agreements or covenants which are required herein to be performed by it, and such default shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after the District shall have ...
	(3) if the District shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall...
	(4) if payment of the principal of any Contract or Bond is accelerated in accordance with its terms;

	Section 8.02. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration.  Upon the date of the declaration of acceleration as provided in Section 8.01, all Gross Revenues thereafter received by the District shall be applied in the following order:
	Section 8.03. Other Remedies of the USDFA.  The USDFA shall have the right:
	(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce its rights against the District or any director, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the District or any such director, officer or employee to perform and carr...
	(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the rights of the USDFA; or
	(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the District and its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust.

	Section 8.04. Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall affect or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the Series 2020 Installment Payments to the USDFA at the respective ...
	Section 8.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy that is conferred upon or reserved to the USDFA herein is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given here...

	ARTICLE IX   DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS
	Section 9.01. Discharge of Obligations.  When:
	(a) all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have become due and payable in accordance herewith or a written notice of the District to prepay all or any portion of the Series 2020 Installment Payments shall have been filed with...
	(b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee at or prior to the Series 2020 Installment Payment Date or dates specified for prepayment, in trust for the benefit of the USDFA or its assigns and irrevocably appropriated and set aside to the paym...
	(c) provision shall have been made for paying all fees and expenses of the Trustee, then and in that event, the right, title and interest of the USDFA herein and the obligations of the District hereunder shall, with respect to all or such portion of t...


	ARTICLE X   MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 10.01. Liability Limited.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the District shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other than the Gross Revenues, the Revenue Fund and the other funds provided herei...
	Section 10.02. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District or the USDFA any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto, ...
	Section 10.03. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  Whenever either the District or the USDFA is named or referred to herein, such reference shall be deemed to include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that a...
	Section 10.04. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the District shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the Series 2020 Installment Payments, but nothing contained herein shall relieve any director,...
	Section 10.05. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or titles of the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the mea...
	Section 10.06. Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or portions thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the USDFA shall be contrary to law, then such agreement or agreements, such ...
	Section 10.07. Assignment.  The Installment Purchase Agreement and any rights hereunder may be assigned by the USDFA, as a whole or in part, without the necessity of obtaining the prior consent of the District.  In addition to the rights and remedies ...
	Section 10.08. Net Contract.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed and construed to be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely net during the term hereof the Series 2020 Installment Payments and all other payments required ...
	Section 10.09. California Law.  THE INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
	Section 10.10. Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given by mail to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at such other address as such party may provide to the other party in writing from time to time,...
	Section 10.11. Effective Date.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon its execution and delivery, and shall terminate when the Purchase Price shall have been fully paid (or provision for the payment thereof shall have been mad...
	Section 10.12. Execution in Counterparts.  The Installment Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
	Section 10.13. Indemnification of USDFA.  The District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the USDFA and its assigns and its officers and directors if and to the extent permitted by law, from and against all claims, advances, damages and loss...
	Section 10.14. Amendments Permitted.
	(a) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding when t...
	(b) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the USDFA and the District and of the Owners of the 2020 Bonds may also be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding upon adoption, witho...



	13.4 Indenture - USD
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS; CONTENT OF CERTIFICATES AND OPINIONS
	Section 1.01. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms that are defined in this Section 1.01 shall, for all purposes of the Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto and of any certificate, opinion or other document that...
	Section 1.02. Content of Certificates and Opinions.  Every certificate or opinion that is provided for in the Indenture, except the certificate of destruction that is provided for in Section 11.05 hereof, with respect to compliance with any provision ...
	Section 1.03. Interpretation.
	(a) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words expressed in the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and the use of the neuter, masculine, or feminine gender is for convenience only and shall be deemed to include the neuter, masculine ...
	(b) Headings of articles and sections herein and the table of contents hereof are solely for convenience of reference, do not constitute a part hereof and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof.
	(c) All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are to the corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of the Indenture; the words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereby,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to the...


	ARTICLE II   THE BONDS
	Section 2.01. Authorization of Bonds.  The USDFA hereby authorizes the issuance hereunder from time to time of the Bonds, which shall constitute special obligations of the USDFA, for the purpose of financing the 2020 Project and refinancing the Refund...
	Section 2.02. Terms of the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.
	Section 2.03. Transfer of Bonds.  Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred on the Registration Books by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his or her duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond at th...
	Section 2.04. Exchange of Bonds.  Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of other authorized denominations of the same series and maturity.  The Trustee shall not be required to exchange any Bond duri...
	Section 2.05. Registration Books.  The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept, at the Office of the Trustee, sufficient records for the registration and transfer of ownership of the Bonds, which shall upon reasonable notice and at reasonable times be o...
	Section 2.06. Form and Execution of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A.  The Bonds shall be executed in the name and on behalf of the USDFA with the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair, attested by the m...
	Section 2.07. Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen.  If any Bond shall become mutilated, the USDFA, at the expense of the Owner of said Bond, shall execute, and the Trustee shall thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor, seri...
	Section 2.08. Book-Entry System.
	(a) Election of Book-Entry System.  Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the USDFA may provide that such Bonds shall be initially issued as book-entry Bonds.  If the USDFA shall elect to deliver any Bonds in book-entry form, then the USDFA shall cause ...
	(b) Delivery of Letter of Representations.  In order to qualify the book-entry Bonds for the Depository’s book-entry system, the USDFA shall execute and deliver to the Depository a Letter of Representations.  The execution and delivery of a Letter of ...
	(c) Selection of Depository.  In the event that: (i) the Depository determines not to continue to act as securities depository for book-entry Bonds; or (ii) the USDFA determines that continuation of the book-entry system is not in the best interest of...
	(d) Payments To Depository.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, so long as all Outstanding Bonds are held in book-entry form and registered in the name of the Nominee, all payments of principal of, redemption premium...
	(e) Transfer of Bonds to Substitute Depository.
	(i) The Bonds shall be initially issued as provided in Section 2.01 hereof.  Registered ownership of such Bonds, or any portions thereof, may not thereafter be transferred except:
	(A) to any successor of DTC or its nominee, or of any substitute depository designated pursuant to clause (B) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.08(e) (“Substitute Depository”); provided that any successor of DTC or Substitute Depository shall be qua...
	(B) to any Substitute Depository, upon: (1) the resignation of DTC or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository; or (2) a determination by the USDFA that DTC (or its successor) is no longer able to ...
	(C) to any person as provided below, upon: (1) the resignation of DTC or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository; or (2) a determination by the USDFA that DTC or its successor (or Substitute Depos...

	(ii) In the case of any transfer pursuant to clause (A) or clause (B) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.08(e), upon receipt of all Outstanding Bonds by the Trustee, together with a written request of the USDFA to the Trustee designating the Substitu...
	(iii) In the case of a partial redemption or an advance refunding of any Bonds evidencing a portion of the principal maturing in a particular year, DTC or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its successor) shall make an appropriate notation...
	(iv) The USDFA and the Trustee shall be entitled to treat the person in whose name any Bond is registered as the Owner thereof for all purposes of the Indenture and any applicable laws, notwithstanding any notice to the contrary received by the Truste...



	ARTICLE III   ISSUANCE OF BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS
	Section 3.01. Issuance of the Bonds.  At any time after the execution of the Indenture, the USDFA may execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and, upon the Request of the USDFA, deliver the Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $_________.
	Section 3.02. Application of Proceeds of the Bonds.  The proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited in trust with the Trustee, who shall apply such proceeds as follows pursuant to a Direction of the USDFA or the District:
	(a) The Trustee shall pay $_______ to the SWRCB in accordance with a Direction from an Authorized Officer;
	(b) The Trustee shall deposit the amount of $_______ in the Costs of Issuance Fund.
	(c) The Trustee shall transfer the amount of $__________ to the District for deposit by the District in the Acquisition Fund to finance a portion of the costs of the 2020 Project.

	Section 3.03. Establishment and Application of Costs of Issuance Fund.  The Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Costs of Issuance Fund.”  The moneys in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be used and wit...
	Section 3.04. Validity of Bonds.  The validity of the authorization and issuance of the Bonds is not dependent on and shall not be affected in any way by any proceedings taken by the USDFA, the District or the Trustee with respect to or in connection ...

	ARTICLE IV   REDEMPTION OF BONDS
	Section 4.01. Terms of Redemption.
	(a) The Bonds shall be subject to extraordinary redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the order of maturity and within maturities as directed by the USDFA in a Request provided to the Trustee at l...
	(b) The Bonds with stated maturities on or after September 1, 20__, shall be subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part as directed by the USDFA in a Request provided to the Trustee at least 35 days (or su...
	(c) The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal am...
	(a) The Bonds with stated maturities on September 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part (by lot) on September 1, 20__ and each September 1 thereafter, in integral multiples of $5,000 at a Redemption Price of the principal am...

	Section 4.02. Selection of Bonds for Redemption.  Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for the redemption of less than all of the Bonds, the Trustee shall select the Bonds for redemption as a whole or in part on any date as directed by the USDF...
	Section 4.03. Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail not less than twenty (20) days nor more than sixty (60) days before any Redemption Date, to the respective Owners of any Bonds that are designated for redemp...
	Section 4.04. Partial Redemption of Bonds.  Upon surrender of any Bond redeemed in part only, the USDFA shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the USDFA, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized d...
	Section 4.05. Effect of Redemption.  Notice of redemption having been duly given as aforesaid, and moneys for payment of the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption on, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so ca...

	ARTICLE V   REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST
	Section 5.01. Pledge and Assignment; 2020A Bond Payment Fund.
	(a) All of the USDFA Revenues and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account that is established pursuant to the Indenture (except the Rebate Fund) are hereby irrevocably pledged to secure the payment o...
	(b) The USDFA, for good and valuable consideration in hand received, does hereby irrevocably assign and transfer to the Trustee without recourse, for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds as set forth herein, all of its rights, title, and interest in...
	(c) There is hereby established with the Trustee the 2020A Bond Payment Fund, which the Trustee covenants to maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it so long as any Series 2020 Installment Payments remain unpaid.  Exce...

	Section 5.02. Allocation of USDFA Revenues.  The Trustee shall transfer from the 2020A Bond Payment Fund and deposit into the following respective accounts the following amounts in the following order of priority and at the following times, the requir...
	(a) Not later than the day preceding each date on which the interest on the Bonds shall become due and payable hereunder, the Trustee shall deposit in the Interest Account that sum, if any, required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Inte...
	(b) Not later than the day preceding each date on which the principal of the Bonds shall become due and payable hereunder, the Trustee shall deposit in the Principal Account that sum, if any, required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Pr...

	Section 5.03. Application of Interest Account.  All amounts in the Interest Account shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds as it shall become due and payable (including accrued interest on any...
	Section 5.04. Application of Principal Account.  All amounts in the Principal Account shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely to pay the principal amount of the Bonds at maturity, mandatory sinking fund redemption, purchase or acceleration; ...
	Section 5.05. Application of Redemption Fund.  There is hereby established with the Trustee, when needed, a special fund designated as the “Redemption Fund.”  All amounts in the Redemption Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the...
	Section 5.06. Investments.  All moneys in any of the funds or accounts that are established with the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee solely in Permitted Investments, which will, as nearly as practicable, mature on or...
	Section 5.07. Rebate Fund.
	(a) Establishment.  The Trustee shall establish a separate fund designated the “Rebate Fund” when required in accordance herewith.  Absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest with...
	(i) Annual Computation.  Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year (as such term is defined in the Tax Certificate), the USDFA shall calculate or cause to be calculated the amount of rebatable arbitrage, in accordance with Section 148(f)(2) of the C...
	(ii) Annual Transfer.  Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year, upon the Request of the USDFA, an amount shall be deposited to the Rebate Fund by the Trustee from any USDFA Revenues legally available for such purpose (as specified by the USDFA in ...
	(iii) Payment to the Treasury.  The Trustee shall pay, as directed by Request of the USDFA, to the United States Treasury, out of amounts in the Rebate Fund:
	(A) Not later than 60 days after the end of: (X) the fifth Bond Year; and (Y) each applicable fifth Bond Year thereafter, an amount equal to at least 90% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such Bond Year; and
	(B) Not later than 60 days after the payment of all the Bonds, an amount equal to 100% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such applicable Bond Year, and any income attributable to the Rebatable Arbitrage, computed in accordance wit...


	(b) Disposition of Unexpended Funds.  Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund after redemption and payment of the Bonds and the payments described in subsection (a) above being made may be withdrawn by the USDFA and utilized in any manner by the USDFA.
	(c) Survival of Defeasance.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, the obligation to comply with the requirements of this Section shall survive the defeasance or payment in full of the Bonds.

	Section 5.08. Application of Funds and Accounts When No Bonds are Outstanding.  On the date on which all Bonds shall be retired hereunder or provision made therefor pursuant to Article X and after payment of all amounts due the Trustee hereunder, all ...

	ARTICLE VI   PARTICULAR COVENANTS
	Section 6.01. Punctual Payment.  The USDFA shall punctually pay or cause to be paid the principal and interest to become due in respect of all of the Bonds, in strict conformity with the terms of the Bonds and of the Indenture, according to the true i...
	Section 6.02. Extension of Payment of Bonds.  The USDFA shall not directly or indirectly extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds or by any ot...
	Section 6.03. Against Encumbrances.  The USDFA shall not create, or permit the creation of, any pledge, lien, charge or other encumbrances upon the USDFA Revenues and other assets pledged or assigned under the Indenture while any of the Bonds are Outs...
	Section 6.04. Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment.  The USDFA is duly authorized pursuant to law to issue the Bonds and to enter into the Indenture and to pledge and assign the USDFA Revenues and other assets that are pledged and assig...
	Section 6.05. Accounting Records and Financial Statements.  The Trustee shall at all times keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account, prepared in accordance with corporate trust industry standards, in which complete and accurate en...
	Section 6.06. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture or the Installment Purchase Agreement, absent an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds will not be adversely affecte...
	(a) Private Activity.  The USDFA will take no action or refrain from taking any action, and the USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or of any other moneys or property, which would cause the Bonds to be “private activity bonds” within t...
	(b) Arbitrage.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or of any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the USDFA will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, which will cause the Bonds to be “arbitrag...
	(c) Federal Guarantee.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds, and the USDFA will not take or omit to take any action, that would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code;
	(d) Information Reporting.  The USDFA will take or cause to be taken all necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the Code which is necessary to preserve the exclusion of interest on the Bonds pursua...
	(e) Hedge Bonds.  The USDFA will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, and the USDFA will not take any action or refrain from taking any action, that would cause the Bonds to be considered...
	(f) Miscellaneous.  The USDFA will not take any action or refrain from taking any action which is inconsistent with its expectations stated in the Tax Certificate executed by the USDFA in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and will comply with ...

	Section 6.07. Payments Under Installment Purchase Agreement.  The USDFA shall promptly collect all Series 2020 Installment Payments due from the District pursuant to the Installment Purchase Agreement and, subject to the provisions of Article VIII, sh...
	Section 6.08. Waiver of Laws.  The USDFA shall not at any time insist upon or plead in any manner whatsoever, or claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension law now or at any time hereafter in force that may affect the covenants a...
	Section 6.09. Further Assurances.  The USDFA will make, execute and deliver any and all such further indentures, instruments and assurances as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance of the Ind...
	Section 6.10. Eminent Domain.  If all or any part of the 2020 Project or the Refunding Project shall be taken by eminent domain proceedings (or sold to a government entity that is threatening to exercise the power of eminent domain), the Net Proceeds ...

	ARTICLE VII   EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF BOND OWNERS
	Section 7.01. Events of Default.  The following events shall be Events of Default hereunder:
	(a) Default by the USDFA in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by acceleration, or otherwise.
	(b) Default by the USDFA in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable.
	(c) Default by the USDFA in the observance of any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions on its part in the Indenture or in the Bonds contained, if such default shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after written notice thereo...
	(d) The USDFA shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or a court of competent jurisdiction shall approve ...

	Section 7.02. Remedies Upon Event of Default.  If any Event of Default shall occur, then, and in each and every such case during the continuance of such Event of Default, the Trustee may, and, at the written direction of the Owners of not less than a ...
	Section 7.03. Application of USDFA Revenues and Other Funds After Default.  If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, all USDFA Revenues and any other funds then held or thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the...
	(a) To the payment of any expenses that are necessary in the opinion of the Trustee to protect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds and to the payment of reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements of i...
	(b) To the payment of the principal of and interest then due on the Bonds (upon presentation of the Bonds to be paid, and stamping or otherwise noting thereon of the payment if only partially paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid) in accordance wit...

	Section 7.04. Trustee to Represent Bond Owners.  The Trustee is hereby irrevocably appointed (and the successive respective Owners of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same, shall be conclusively deemed to have so appointed the Trustee) as trustee ...
	Section 7.05. Bond Owners’ Direction of Proceedings.  Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, by an instrument or concurrent ...
	Section 7.06. Suit by Owners.  No Owner of any Bonds shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy under the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement...
	Section 7.07. Absolute Obligation of the USDFA.  Nothing in this Section or in any other provision of the Indenture or in the Bonds shall affect or impair the obligation of the USDFA, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and in...
	Section 7.08. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law...
	Section 7.09. No Waiver of Default.  No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Owner of the Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of any Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a...

	ARTICLE VIII   THE TRUSTEE
	Section 8.01. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee.
	(a) The Trustee shall, prior to an Event of Default, and after the curing or waiver of all Events of Default which may have occurred, perform such duties and only such duties as are expressly and specifically set forth in the Indenture, and no implied...
	(b) The USDFA may remove the Trustee at any time, unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing, and shall remove the Trustee if at any time requested to do so by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by the...
	(c) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation to the USDFA and by giving the Bond Owners notice of such resignation by mail at the addresses shown on the Registration Books.  Upon receiving such notice of resignat...
	(d) Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee.  If no successor Trustee shall have been appointed and have accepted appointment withi...
	(e) Any Trustee that is appointed under the provisions of this Section in succession to the Trustee shall be a trust company, banking association or bank having the powers of a trust company, having a combined capital and surplus of at least Seventy F...

	Section 8.02. Merger or Consolidation.  Any trust company, banking association or bank into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, any trust company, banking association or bank resulting from any merger, co...
	Section 8.03. Liability of Trustee.
	(a) The recitals of facts herein and in the Bonds shall be taken as statements of the USDFA, and the Trustee shall not assume responsibility for the correctness of the same, or make any representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the Indentur...
	(b) The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment that is made in good faith by a responsible officer, unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts.
	(c) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the Owners of not less than a majority (or such other percentage provided for herein) in aggregate prin...
	(d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken by it in good faith and believed by it to be authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by the Indenture.
	(e) The Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any default or Event of Default hereunder or under the Installment Purchase Agreement or any other event which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an Event...
	(f) No provision of the Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.
	(g) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers that are vested in it by the Indenture at the request or direction of Owners pursuant to the Indenture unless such Owners shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable...
	(h) Whether or not herein expressly so provided, every provision of the Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of this Article VIII.
	(i) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement, or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds.
	(j) The immunities that are extended to the Trustee also extend to its directors, officers, employees and agents.
	(k) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers of the Indenture and perform any of its duties through attorneys, agents and receivers and shall not be answerable for the conduct of the same if appointed by it with reasonable care.
	(l) The Trustee shall not be considered in breach of or in default in its obligations hereunder or progress in respect thereto in the event of enforced delay in the performance of such obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond its control and wit...
	(m) The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant to the Indenture sent by unsecured electronic mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured electronic methods, provided, however, that, for purposes of the In...
	(n) The Trustee shall not be concerned with or accountable to anyone for the subsequent use or application of any moneys which shall be released or withdrawn in accordance with the provisions hereof.
	(o) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated herein shall not be construed as a duty and it shall not be answerable for other than its negligence or willful misconduct.

	Section 8.04. Right to Rely on Documents.  The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, resolution, requisition, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, notes, direction, facsimile transmission, electronic mail or other pap...
	Section 8.05. Preservation and Inspection of Documents.  All documents that are received by the Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture shall be retained in its possession and shall be subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the USD...
	Section 8.06. Compensation and Indemnification.  The USDFA shall pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for all services that are rendered under the Indenture, and also all reasonable expenses, charges, legal and consulting fees ...

	ARTICLE IX   MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE
	Section 9.01. Amendments Permitted.
	(a) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA, the Owners of the Bonds and the Trustee may be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by an indenture or indentures supplemental thereto, which the USDFA and the Trustee may...
	(b) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the USDFA, the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds may also be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which the USDFA and the Trustee may enter into withou...
	(c) The Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into any such Supplemental Indenture that is authorized by subsections (a) or (b) of this Section which materially adversely affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immuni...
	(d) Prior to the Trustee entering into any Supplemental Indenture hereunder, there shall be delivered to the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel stating, in substance, that such Supplemental Indenture has been adopted in compliance with the requirement...

	Section 9.02. Effect of Supplemental Indenture.  Upon the execution of any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to this Article, the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligat...
	Section 9.03. Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds.  Bonds delivered after the execution of any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to this Article may, and if the Trustee so determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form ...
	Section 9.04. Amendment of Particular Bonds.  The provisions of this Article shall not prevent any Bond Owner from accepting any amendment as to the particular Bonds held by such Bond Owner.

	ARTICLE X   DEFEASANCE
	Section 10.01. Discharge of Indenture.  The Bonds may be paid by the USDFA in any of the following ways, provided that the USDFA also pays or causes to be paid any other sums payable hereunder by the USDFA:
	(a) by paying or causing to be paid the principal of and interest and redemption premiums (if any) on the Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable;
	(b) by depositing with the Trustee, in trust, at or before maturity, money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 10.03) to pay or redeem all Bonds then Outstanding; or
	(c) by delivering to the Trustee, for cancellation by it, all of the Bonds then Outstanding.

	Section 10.02. Discharge of Liability on Bonds.  Upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, at or before maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 10.03) to pay or redeem any Outstanding Bonds (whether upon or ...
	Section 10.03. Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee.  Whenever in the Indenture it is provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust by the Trustee money or securities in the necessary amount to pay or redeem any Bonds, the...
	(a) lawful money of the United States of America in an amount that is equal to the principal amount of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior to maturity and in respect ...
	(b) Federal Securities the principal of and interest on which when due will, in the written opinion of an Independent Certified Public Accountant filed with the USDFA and the Trustee, provide money in an amount that is sufficient to pay the principal ...

	Section 10.04. Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture.  Notwithstanding any provisions of the Indenture, any moneys which are held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of the principal of, or interest on, any Bonds and which remain unclaimed...

	ARTICLE XI   MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 11.01. Liability of USDFA Limited to USDFA Revenues.  Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture or the Bonds, the USDFA shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source other than the USDFA Revenues and other moneys pledged ...
	Section 11.02. Successor Is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor.  Whenever in the Indenture either the USDFA or the Trustee is named or referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors or assigns thereof, and all cove...
	Section 11.03. Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners.  Nothing in the Indenture or in the Bonds, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the USDFA, the Trustee, the District and the Owners of th...
	Section 11.04. Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice.  Whenever in the Indenture the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the person who is entitled to receive such notice, a...
	Section 11.05. Destruction of Bonds.  Whenever in the Indenture provision is made for the cancellation by the Trustee and the delivery to the USDFA of any Bonds, the Trustee shall destroy such Bonds as may be allowed by law and deliver a certificate o...
	Section 11.06. Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the provisions contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, then such provision or provisions ...
	Section 11.07. Notices.  Any notice to or demand upon the USDFA or the Trustee shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes by being sent by facsimile or by being deposited, first class mail, postage prepaid, in a post of...
	Section 11.08. Evidence of Rights of Bond Owners.  Any request, consent or other instrument that is required or permitted by the Indenture to be signed and executed by Bond Owners may be in any number of concurrent instruments of substantially similar...
	Section 11.09. Disqualified Bonds.  In determining whether the Owners of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent or waiver under the Indenture, Bonds which are known by the Trustee to...
	Section 11.10. Money Held for Particular Bonds.  The money held by the Trustee for the payment of the interest, principal or premium due on any date with respect to particular Bonds (or portions of Bonds in the case of registered Bonds redeemed in par...
	Section 11.11. Funds and Accounts.  Any fund or account that is required by the Indenture to be established and maintained by the Trustee may be established and maintained in the accounting records of the Trustee, either as a fund or an account, and m...
	Section 11.12. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No member, officer, agent, employee, consultant or attorney of the USDFA or the District shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on the Bonds o...
	Section 11.13. Execution in Several Counterparts.  The Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original; and all such counterparts, or as many of them as the USDFA...
	Section 11.14. CUSIP Numbers.  Neither the Trustee nor the USDFA shall be liable for any defect or inaccuracy in the CUSIP number that appears on any Bond or in any redemption notice.  The Trustee may, in its discretion, include in any redemption noti...
	Section 11.15. Choice of Law.  THE INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
	Section 11.16. Notice to Rating Agency.  The Trustee shall provide the Rating Agency with written notice of each amendment to the Indenture and a copy thereof at least 15 days in advance of its execution.


	13.5 Bond Purchase Agreement (002)
	1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations herein set forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the USDFA for offering to the public, and the USDFA hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the Underwriter, all (...
	The USDFA and the District hereby ratify the use by the Underwriter of the Preliminary Official Statement, dated January ___, 2020 relating to the Bonds (together with the cover page and all appendices thereto, and any supplements thereof, the “Prelim...
	2. The Underwriter agrees to offer all the Bonds to the public initially at the prices (or yields) set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement of the USDFA pertaining to the Bonds, dated February __, 2020 (together with all appendices...
	3. The USDFA shall also deliver a sufficient number of copies of the Official Statement to enable the Underwriter to distribute a single copy of each Official Statement to any potential customer of the Underwriter requesting an Official Statement duri...
	4. At 8:30 a.m., Pacific Time, on February __, 2020, or at such other time or date as shall be agreed upon by the Underwriter, USDFA and the District (such time and date being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”), the USDFA will deliver to the Un...
	5. A. The Underwriter agrees to assist the USDFA in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the USDFA at Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent commu...
	B. Except as otherwise set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, the USDFA will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity.  At or promptly after the execut...
	C. The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A at...
	a. the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or
	b. the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public.

	D. The Underwriter confirms that:
	(i) any selling group agreement and any third-party distribution agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of t...
	(A)(i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either all Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by t...
	(B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that, to its knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined b...
	(C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or broker-dealer, the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to the public.
	(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be e...
	E. The USDFA acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of eac...
	F. The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the...
	a. “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party;
	b. “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the USDFA  (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agr...
	c. a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both en...
	d. “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by all parties.


	6. The Underwriter represents to and agrees with the USDFA and the District that, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date:
	(a) The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement and to take any action under this Purchase Agreement required to be taken by it;
	(b) The Underwriter is in compliance with MSRB Rule G-37 with respect to the USDFA and the District, and is not prohibited thereby from acting as the underwriter with respect to securities of the USDFA and the District;
	(c) The Underwriter has, and has had, no financial advisory relationship, as that term is defined in California Government Code Section 53590 (c) or MSRB Rule G-32, with the District with respect to the Bonds, and no investment firm controlling, contr...
	(d) The Underwriter has reasonably determined that the undertaking to provide continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate is sufficient to effect compliance with Rule 15c2-12.

	7. The USDFA represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that:
	(a) The USDFA is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and validly existing pursuant to the laws of the State of California and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture, the Installme...
	(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents, or the approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the USDFA’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions...
	(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the USDFA requir...
	(d) To the best of the knowledge of the USDFA, there is, and on the Closing there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the USDFA t...
	(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the End Date, the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement will be complete and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a ma...
	(f) The USDFA agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, that t...
	(g) By official action of the USDFA prior to or concurrently with the execution hereof, the USDFA has duly approved the distribution of the Official Statement (excepting the information under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT...
	(h) The USDFA is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement...
	(i) The USDFA is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the USDFA or successor of the USDFA or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the USDFA as gu...
	(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event occurs, of which the USDFA has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to the USDFA or the USDFA’s functions, duties and responsibilities contained in ...
	(k) If the information relating to the USDFA, its functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each supplement or amendment there...
	(l) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or regulatory authority that has not been obtained is or will be required of the USDFA for the delivery and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions conte...
	(m) The USDFA will deliver all opinions, Bonds, letters and other instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the USDFA by the Underwriter and this Purchase Agreement.
	(n) Any certificate of the USDFA delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the USDFA to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein.
	(o) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the USDFA does not and will not have outstanding any indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the USDFA Revenues superior to or on a pa...
	(p) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the USDFA will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for ...
	(q) The USDFA is not presently and as a result of the execution of the Authority Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or sta...
	(r) The USDFA will not knowingly take or omit to take any action, which action or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner other than as provided in the Authority Documents, unless otherwise requ...

	8. The District represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter that:
	(a) The District is a sanitary district duly organized under the laws of the State of California, and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its duties under the Installment Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Continuing Di...
	(b) Neither the execution and delivery of the District Documents, or the approval and execution of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions on the District’s part contained therein, nor the consummation of any other of the transactio...
	(c) Except as may be required under blue sky or other securities laws of any state, there is no consent, approval, authorization or other order of, or filing with, or certification by, any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the District req...
	(d) To the best of the knowledge of the District, there is, and on the Closing there will be, no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court or governmental agency or body pending or threatened against the Dist...
	(e) As of the date thereof and at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the End Date, the information relating to the District, the Installment Purchase Agreement and the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement will be complet...
	(f) The District agrees to cooperate with the Underwriter in endeavoring to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may request; provided, however, tha...
	(g) By official action of the District prior to or concurrently with the execution hereof, the District has duly approved the distribution of the information in the Official Statement under the captions “THE DISTRICT,” “WASTEWATER SYSTEM,” “DISTRICT F...
	(h) The District is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreem...
	(i) The District is not in default, nor has been in default at any time, as to the payment of principal or interest with respect to an obligation issued by the District or successor of the District or with respect to an obligation guaranteed by the Di...
	(j) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the End Date an event occurs, of which the District has knowledge, which might or would cause the information relating to the District, the Wastewater System or the District’s functions, duties an...
	(k) If the information relating to the Wastewater System, the District, its functions, duties and responsibilities contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to the immediately preceding subsection, at the time of each sup...
	(l) The District covenants that it will comply with all tax covenants relating to it in the District Documents and the Tax Certificate of the District.
	(m) The written information supplied by the District to the Underwriter with respect to the financial information relating to the Wastewater System is true, correct and complete in all material respects for the purposes for which it was supplied.
	(n) No consent, approval, authorization or other action by a governmental or regulatory agency that has not been obtained is or will be required of the District for the delivery and sale of the Bonds or the consummation of the other transactions conte...
	(o) The District will not take or omit to take any action which action or omission will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner contrary to that provided in the Indenture and as described in the Official Stat...
	(p) The District will deliver all opinions, certificates, letters and other instruments and documents reasonably required to be delivered by the District by the Underwriter and this Purchase Agreement.
	(q) Any certificate of the District delivered to the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the District to the Underwriter as to the statements made therein.
	(r) Other than as described in the Official Statement, as of the time of acceptance hereof and as of the Closing, the District does not and will not have outstanding any indebtedness which is secured by a lien on the Revenues superior to or on a parit...
	(s) Between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, the District will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, except as disclosed in the Official Statement, offer or issue any bonds, notes or other obligations f...
	(t) The District is not presently and as a result of the execution of the District Documents and the sale of the Bonds will not be in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any other provision of the California Constitution or s...
	(u) The District will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to provide annual reports and notices of certain events in accordance with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12.

	9. The Underwriter has entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements of the USDFA and the District contained herein, and the opinions of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, Counsel to the Trustee, c...
	(a) At the time of Closing, this Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Installment Purchase Agreement, and the Continuing Disclosure Certificate (collectively the “Legal Documents”), all as described in the Official Statement, shall be in full force ...
	(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall receive the following documents, in each case satisfactory in form and substance to them:
	(1) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing, addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (or a reliance letter to the Underwriter), in substantially the form attached as Appendix E to the Official Stat...
	(2) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated as of the date of Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
	(3) The negative assurance letter of Quint & Thimmig LLP, Disclosure Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that, based upon the information made available to them in the course of their participation in the pr...
	(4) An opinion of Counsel to the USDFA, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the USDFA is a joint powers authority duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of California;
	(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement and the Authority Documents have been duly approved by the USDFA;
	(iii) the resolutions of the USDFA approving and authorizing the execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the Authority Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the USDFA which were called and held pursuant to ...
	(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel, there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the USDFA, which would adversely impact the...
	(v) the execution and delivery of the Authority Documents and the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not and will not in any material respect conf...
	(vi) the Authority Documents and the Official Statement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the USDFA, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the Authority Documents constitute legal, val...
	(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the State of California other than the USDFA is required for the valid authorization, execution and delivery of t...
	(viii) nothing has come to their attention which would lead them to believe that the information relating to the USDFA contained in the Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements ...

	(5) An opinion of counsel to the District, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, addressed to the USDFA and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the District is a sanitary district created in accordance with the laws of the State of California;
	(ii) the preparation and distribution of the Official Statement and the District Documents have been duly approved by the District;
	(iii) the resolutions of the District approving and authorizing the execution and delivery of the Official Statement and the District Documents have been duly adopted at meetings of the governing body of the District which were called and held pursuan...
	(iv) to the best knowledge of such counsel , there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, threatened against or affecting the District, which would adversely impact...
	(v) the execution and delivery of the District Documents and the approval of the Official Statement, and compliance with the provisions thereof and hereof, under the circumstances contemplated thereby, do not and will not in any material respect confl...
	(vi) the District Documents and the Official Statement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, the District Documents constitute legal, va...
	(vii) no authorization, approval, consent, or other order of the State of California or any other governmental authority or agency within the State of California other than the District is required for the valid authorization, execution and delivery o...
	(viii) the District’s charges and fees with respect to the Wastewater System were duly approved and adopted by the District, and are valid and enforceable at the current levels levied by the District; and
	(ix) nothing has come to the such counsel’s attention which would lead such counsel to believe that the information relating to the District or the Wastewater System contained in the Official Statement contains an untrue statement or omits to state a ...

	(6) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the date of Closing in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, and addressed to the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, to the effect that:
	(i) the Trustee is a national banking association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States;
	(ii) the Trustee has duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Indenture;
	(iii) the Indenture has been duly entered into and delivered by the Trustee and assuming due, valid and binding authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Trustee enfo...
	(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture;
	(v) acceptance by the Trustee of the duties and obligations under the Indenture and compliance with provisions thereof will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any law or administrative regulation to which the Trustee is subje...
	(vi) all approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction in the matter which would constitute a condition precedent to the performance by the Trustee of its duties and obligations under the Indenture have bee...

	(7) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, of Kutak Rock LLP, counsel to the Underwriter (“Underwriter’s Counsel”), in such form as may be acceptable to the Underwriter.
	(8) A certificate, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warranties of the USDFA cont...
	(9) A certificate or certificates, dated the date of Closing, signed by a duly authorized official of the District satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, (a) confirming as of such date the representations and warrantie...
	(10) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, signed by a duly authorized official of the USDFA deeming the Preliminary Official Statement “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 except for the information with respect to the ...
	(11) A certificate, dated the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, signed by a duly authorized official of the District deeming the information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the District “final” for purposes of...
	(12) An executed or certified copy of each of the Legal Documents.
	(13) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized officer of the District of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the District relating to the approval of the District Documents and the authorization, issuance, sale and deliv...
	(14) One counterpart original or copy certified by a duly authorized officer of the USDFA of a complete transcript of all proceedings of the USDFA relating to the approval of the Authority Documents and the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery o...
	(15) An executed copy of the Official Statement.
	(16) A certified copy of the general resolution of the Trustee authorizing the execution and delivery of certain documents by certain officers of the Trustee, which resolution authorizes the execution and delivery of documents such as the Bonds and th...
	(17) A Tax Certificate of the USDFA and the District in form and substance acceptable to Bond Counsel.
	(18) A Certificate of the Trustee, dated the Closing Date to the effect that:
	(i) the Trustee is duly organized and existing as a national banking association in good standing under the laws of the United States, having the full power and authority to accept and perform its duties under the Indenture;
	(ii) subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee will apply the proceeds from the Bonds to the purposes specified in the Indenture;
	(iii) the Trustee has duly authorized and executed the Indenture; and
	(iv) the Trustee has duly authenticated and delivered the Bonds in its capacity as trustee under the Indenture.

	(19) Evidence that the Bonds have been given the ratings set forth in the Official Statement and that such ratings continue in effect as of the date of Closing.
	(20) Evidence that a federal tax information form 8038-G has been prepared for filing with respect to the Bonds.
	(21) A copy of the Notice of Final Sale required to be delivered to the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission pursuant to Section 8855 of the California Government Code.
	(22) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments and other documents as Bond Counsel, the Underwriter and Underwriter’s Counsel may reasonably request to evidence compliance with legal requirements, the truth and accuracy, a...


	10. The Underwriter may terminate its obligation to purchase the Bonds at any time before the Closing Date if the market price or marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds shall be mate...
	(i) Legislation shall be enacted by or introduced in the Congress of the United States or recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States, or the Treasury Department of the United States or the Internal Revenue Service or...
	(ii) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by the Congress or an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of competent jurisdiction, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or proposed), press release or other ...
	(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York Stock Exchange or any other national securities exchange, the establishment of minimum or maximum prices on any such national securities exchange, the establishment of material restri...
	(iv) A general banking moratorium shall have been established by federal, New York or California authorities; or
	(v) Establishment of any new restrictions in securities materially affecting the free market for securities of the same nature as the Bonds (including the imposition of any limitations on interest rates) or the charge to the net capital requirements o...
	(vi) Any amendment to the federal or California Constitution or action by any federal or California court, legislative body, regulatory body or other authority materially adversely affecting the tax status of the USDFA or the District, its property, i...
	(vii) There shall have occurred any (1) new material outbreak of hostilities (including, without limitation, an act of terrorism) or (2) new material other national or international calamity or crisis, or any material adverse change in the financial, ...
	(viii) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services affecting the Bonds shall have occurred; or
	(ix) Any event occurring, or information becoming known which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, makes untrue in any material respect any statement or information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, ...
	(x) Any fact or event shall exist or have existed that requires or has required an amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement; or
	(xi) Any rating of the Bonds or other obligations of the USDFA or the District by a national rating agency shall have been withdrawn or downgraded or placed on negative outlook or negative watch.

	11. Performance by the USDFA and the District of their respective obligations under this Purchase Agreement is conditioned upon (i) performance by the Underwriter of its obligations hereunder, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriter of all opinions and ce...
	12. After the Closing and until the End Date (a) neither the USDFA nor the District will adopt any amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement to which the Underwriter shall object in writing, and (b) if any event relating to or affecting the...
	13.
	(b) Whether or not the Bonds are delivered to the Underwriter as set forth herein, neither the USDFA nor the District shall be under any obligation to pay, and the USDFA and the District shall not pay, any expenses incurred by the Underwriter in conne...

	14. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter may be given by delivering the same to RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Two Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200, San Francisco, California 94111; Attention: Municipal Finance Department. Any not...
	15. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns thereof) and no other person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.
	16. This Purchase Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
	17. The representations and warranties of the USDFA and the District set forth in or made pursuant to this Purchase Agreement shall not be deemed to have been discharged, satisfied or otherwise rendered void by reason of the Closing or termination of ...
	18. The primary role of the Underwriter, as underwriter, is to purchase the Bonds for resale to investors in an arms-length commercial transaction among the District, the USDFA and the Underwriter.  The Underwriter, as underwriter, has financial and o...
	19. This Purchase Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the respective parties hereto upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by the USDFA, the District and the Underwriter, and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such acc...
	20. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  This Purchase Agreement shall not be assigned by either party hereto.
	21. This Purchase Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, agreements and understandings between the parties hereto in relation to the sale of Bonds by the USDFA and the District and represents the entire agreement of the parties as t...
	22. Any provision of this Purchase Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of...

	13.6 Preliminary Official Statement (002)
	POSCover58
	Blank
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	ILB
	Blank
	Blank


	14 AcceptDig3finalred
	The District has six primary and two secondary digesters at the Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant that require periodic cleaning to remove accumulated debris and to maintain treatment capacity.  Primary Digester No. 3 was originally constructed in 1...

	15 Board_D7_TO2_CMred
	2 D7_TO2_Carollo.pdf
	D7_TO2_Carollo
	1. PURPOSE
	2. PROJECT COORDINATION
	3. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	Task 1.0 – Preconstruction Phase
	Task 2.0 – Construction Phase
	UTask 2.10 – Corrective Work Item List:U Construction Manager shall prepare the Corrective Work Item list with input from the District and Design Consultant. Construction Manager shall confirm that the items identified in the Corrective Work Item list...
	Assumptions:
	4. PAYMENT TO THE CONSTRUCTION MANAGER
	5. TIME OF COMPLETION
	6. KEY PERSONNEL


	D7_TO2_ExhibitA_Carollo


	16 D7_TO3_ESDCred
	2 D7_TO3_ESDC.pdf
	Task 1.0 – Requests for Information
	Task 2.0 – Submittal Review
	Task 3.0 – Design Clarification Memoranda
	Task 4.0 – Meetings and Site Visits
	Task 5.0 – Conformed Drawings
	Task 6.0 – Project Management
	Task 7.0 – Air Permitting Support
	Task 8.0 – Geotechnical Support Services
	Engineer shall review and provide response to the Contractor’s dewatering plan and shoring submittals. Engineer’s budget allowance assumes that the Engineer’s geotechnical subconsultant, Cal Engineering, will perform up to four site visits to observe ...
	Task 9.0 – Startup Support Services


	17 Awd AIVB_C. Overaa
	2 Figures 1-2red.pdf
	Fig 1 - Site Plan
	Site Plan Map

	Fig 2 - CB1 Drawing


	18 Subsurface Investigation AWTP
	2 Figsred.pdf
	Alvarado WWTP Figure 4 - Rev 20080902


	19 Solar Cogen Facilities Update
	20 Board Expenses, 2nd Qtr, FY20
	21 FY 2020 Q2 Cal-Card Merchant Activity Report
	FY 2020 Q2 Cal-Card Quarterly Merchant Activity Report - BOARD MEMO
	FY 2020 Q2 Merchant Spend Analysis Report

	22 EBDA Meeting of December 19
	23 Bd Ck Reg Rpt01172020
	01272020 BOD Pkt Articles



